Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 750

# Hans U. Lutz Editor

# Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)





Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)

#### ADVANCES IN EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY

Editorial Board: NATHAN BACK, State University of New York at Buffalo IRUN R. COHEN, The Weizmann Institute of Science ABEL LAJTHA, N.S. Kline Institute for Psychiatric Research JOHN D. LAMBRIS, University of Pennsylvania RODOLFO PAOLETTI, University of Milan

Recent Volumes in this Series

Volume 742 ADVANCES IN MITROCHONDRIAL MEDICINE Roberto Scatena

Volume 743 HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 (HIV-1) AND BREASTFEEDING Athena Kourtis and Marc Bulterys

Volume 744 RAMPs William S. Spielman and Narayanan Parameswaran

Volume 745

NEW TECHNOLOGIES FOR TOXICITY TESTING Michael Balls, Robert D. Combes and Nirmala Bhogal

Volume 746 GLIOMA: IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC APPROACHES Ryuya Yamanaka

Volume 747 PROTEIN DIMERIZATION AND OLIGOMERIZATION IN BIOLOGY Jacqueline M. Matthews

Volume 748

MITOCHONDRIAL OXIDATIVE PHOSPHORYLATION: NUCLEAR-ENCODED GENES, ENZYME REGULATION, AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY Bernhard Kadenbach

Volume 749 BIOCHEMICAL ROLES OF EUKARYOTIC CELL SURFACE MACROMOLECULES Perumana R. Sudhakaran and Avadhesha Surolia

Volume 750 NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES (NAbs) Hans U. Lutz

A Continuation Order Plan is available for this series. A continuation order will bring delivery of each new volume immediately upon publication. Volumes are billed only upon actual shipment. For further information please contact the publisher.

# Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)

Edited by

Hans U. Lutz

Institute of Biochemistry, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Hönggerberg Zurich, Switzerland

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC Landes Bioscience

#### Springer Science+Business Media, LLC Landes Bioscience

Copyright ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media, LLC

All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher, with the exception of any material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system; for exclusive use by the Purchaser of the work.

Printed in the USA.

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, 233 Spring Street, New York, New York 10013, USA http://www.springer.com

Please address all inquiries to the publishers: Landes Bioscience, 1806 Rio Grande, Austin, Texas 78701, USA Phone: 512/ 637 6050; FAX: 512/ 637 6079 http://www.landesbioscience.com

The chapters in this book are available in the Madame Curie Bioscience Database. http://www.landesbioscience.com/curie

*Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)*, edited by Hans U. Lutz. Landes Bioscience / Springer Science+Business Media, LLC dual imprint / Springer series: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology.

ISBN 978-1-4614-3460-3 ISBN 978-1-4614-3461-0 (eBook)

DOI 10.1007/978-1-4614-3461-0

While the authors, editors and publisher believe that drug selection and dosage and the specifications and usage of equipment and devices, as set forth in this book, are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication, they make no warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to material described in this book. In view of the ongoing research, equipment development, changes in governmental regulations and the rapid accumulation of information relating to the biomedical sciences, the reader is urged to carefully review and evaluate the information provided herein.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) / edited by Hans U. Lutz.

p. ; cm. -- (Advances in experimental medicine and biology ; v. 750)
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-1-4614-3460-3
I. Lutz, Hans U., 1942- II. Series: Advances in experimental medicine and biology ; v. 750. 0065-2598
[DNLM: 1. Antibodies--immunology. W1 AD559 v.750 2012 / QW 575]
LC classification not assigned
616.07'98--dc23

2012005554

# **DEDICATION**

Dedicated to my wife, Ivanka Lutz, for supporting my efforts in editing this book

# PREFACE

Welcome to a subject that is new for some and barely understood by others: **naturally occurring antibodies**. The term "naturally occurring (auto)antibodies" (NAbs) stands for physiological antibodies, or autoantibodies generated in healthy humans and/or vertebrates, in contrast to those that are induced by exogenous antigens. In the years passed, some authors in the field used instead the term "natural (auto)antibodies". Though "induced" and "naturally occurring" antibodies differ in many aspects from each other, both are "natural" in the sense that they are produced by nature. Therefore, other authors have coined the term "(auto)antibodies produced constitutively", implying that such (auto)antibodies are produced without stimulation by exogenous antigen molecules. For simplicity, we use here the term "naturally occurring (auto)antibodies", abbreviated as NAbs.

The existence of NAbs in healthy beings contrasted with the immunologic dogma, formulated in 1959 by Burnet, according to whom "auto-reactive cell clones do not exist in healthy beings, because they are deleted in ontogeny." During the next 30 years or so, a few hundred scientists in different countries nevertheless dared to continue to investigate NAbs and their unique properties, so to say in the backyard of immunology. These scientists learned that upon investigation NAbs have close to germline immunoglobulin chain sequences and their production does not require induction by exogenous antigens. It is certain that NAbs have developed over millions of years. NAbs are produced spontaneously and some can be upregulated by the presence of autoantigens (rather than induced).

In order to give the reader an idea of the fascinating potential of NAbs, this volume illustrates first the functional properties of NAbs. Authors from pioneering groups report in their chapters on the tissue homeostatic, tissue regenerating and regulatory properties of NAbs and NAbs in pooled human IgG (Chapters 1-4, 6-7 discuss these findings). They found for the first time that many NAbs are involved in the clearance of senescent, apoptotic and oxidatively damaged cells, as well as tumor cells. Another group of researchers (Chapter 5) has been interested in how NAbs exert their effects and has found that some NAbs gain functionality not only by binding to their antigens but by modifying bound antigens enzymatically. Others (Chapter 8) discovered NAbs that have a protective effect against viral and bacterial infections (first line defense), or that have a disease-inhibiting potential in so far uncurable diseases, as it is emerging for multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease (Chapters 4 and 7).

Scientists interested in the regulation and modulation of components of the immune system found a whole variety of NAbs to cytokines with regulatory and protective functions and NAbs that modulate, e.g., dendritic cells, regulatory T cells, B cells and granulocytes (Chapters 9-12). Two chapters (13,14) report that NAbs with beneficial roles can become initiators of disease following the destruction of biological compartments or following proteolytic modification of NAbs.

Thorough studies of the unique properties of NAbs (Chapters 15-17) have increased our understanding of their stepwise generation in ontogeny and the phenomenon of polyspecificity. Many studies on NAbs have been carried out on pooled human IgG and later on IVIG (immunoglobulin for intravenous application) prepared from human IgG. Considering the large plasma pools and initial difficulties in preparing IVIG that does not induce adverse effects upon infusion into recipients, this volume ends with a historical chapter on how pooled human plasma was fractionated and the IgG component pretreated for a safe intravenous application (Chapter 18). The first positive effects of immunoglobulin molecules in IVIG were observed in 1981 in treating patients with an iatrogenic IgG deficiency and secondary ITP. This result called for similar IVIG treatments of other autoimmune diseases, as reported later in numerous publications. The clinical success combined with the low adverse event profile of IVIG therapies stimulated the interest in NAbs, the potential mediators of the beneficial effects of IVIG.

My thanks go to the contributing authors for the effort and enthusiasm they have devoted to their subject and to this task. Along with my coauthors we thank Landes Bioscience for having offered the opportunity to compose this work and provide the first open platform on NAbs. We hope to have triggered your interest.

> Hans U. Lutz Zurich, Switzerland

# **ABOUT THE EDITOR...**



HANS U. LUTZ, born May 5, 1942 is a Swiss citizen. He completed his studies in microbiology and biochemistry with a PhD at the University of Zurich in 1971 and received "summa cum laude" for the exam and his dissertation on photophosphorylation in chromatophores of Rhodospirillum rubrum in the group of Prof. R. Bachofen. During his postdoctoral period he got familiar with the characterization of artificial membranes (Prof. P. Läuger, University of Konstanze, Germany) and with membrane biochemistry at the Worcester Foundation for Experimental Biology, Shrewsbury, USA, in collaborating with Prof. J. Palek and G. Fairbanks. His interest in red blood cell (RBC) membrane biochemistry was the basis for the discovery that ATP-depletion of RBC results in the release of hemoglobin-filled vesicles that lack the cytoskeleton. In returning to Switzerland in 1976 he joined the Institute of Biochemistry at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH), where he eventually had a tenure position until his retirement, some teaching duties in biochemistry and immunology (complement), for some years extra responsibilities in the research commission of the ETH, the European group for red cell membrane research, the Board of the European complement network, and throughout the time he had the freedom of an investigator to get grant money and bright PhD students. He developed his own research field related to RBC aging. In the late 70s and early 80s he isolated and described the first IgG naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) to red blood cell membrane proteins (to spectrin and to band 3 protein) and presented evidence for their role in tissue homeostasis. The low affinity IgG anti-band 3 NAbs directed to the anion transport protein bind bivalently to oligomerized band 3 protein as generated during erythrocyte aging and oxidative damage. In trying to understand how such low titer, low affinity NAbs can effectively opsonize erythrocytes, he found with his group that immune-complexed anti-band 3 NAbs preferentially capture dimeric C3b because these NAbs have a rare affinity for C3 within the Fab portion. Indeed, artificially generated C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes stimulated complement amplification 750 times better than C3b. In extending these findings his group discovered that dimeric C3b deposits best to any immune complex formed from  $F(ab')_2$  because the lack of the Fc portion facilitates deposition of dimeric C3b, but dimeric C3b deposits only if the  $F(ab')_2$ -IC is rigidified by bound IgG anti-hinge NAbs. Thus, anti-hinge NAbs that normally downregulate antibody production by B cells (Terness et al) contribute to initiation of a systemic inflammatory reaction when proteases released from neutrophils and pathogens (primarily elastase) cleave IgG molecules into  $F(ab')_2$  fragments. He could verify with his group and clinicians that at the onset of a systemic inflammatory response in sepsis stimulation of complement amplification (factor Bb) is proportional to  $F(ab')_2$  production and both parameters depend linearly on liberated elastase.

# PARTICIPANTS

Jan-Philipp Bach Department of Neurology Philipps-University Marburg Marburg Germany

Klaus Bendtzen Institute for Inflammation Research Department of Rheumatology Copenhagen University Hospital Copenhagen Denmark

Eshel Ben-Jacob School of Physics and Astronomy Tel Aviv University Tel Aviv Israel and The Center for Theoretical and Biological Physics University of California San Diego La Jolla, California

Christoph J. Binder Department of Laboratory Medicine Medical University of Vienna and Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy of Sciences Vienna Austria Hicham Bouhlal INSERM UMR 925 Université Jules Verne Picardie (UPJV) UFR de Médecine Amiens France

Sharron Bransburg-Zabary Faculty of Medicine School of Physics and Astronomy Tel Aviv University Tel Aviv Israel

Irun R. Cohen Department of Immunology Weizmann Institute of Science Rehovot Israel

Jordan D. Dimitrov INSERM UMRS 872 Paris France

Richard Dodel Department of Neurology Philipps-University Marburg Germany

#### PARTICIPANTS

Keith B. Elkon Department of Medicine and Immunology University of Washington Seattle, Washington USA

Sherry D. Fleming Division of Biology Kansas State University Manhattan, Kansas USA

Carl V. Hanson Viral and Rickettsial Disease Laboratory California Department of Public Health Richmond, California USA

Richard R. Hardy Fox Chase Cancer Center Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Kyoko Hayakawa Fox Chase Cancer Center Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Srini Kaveri Unité 872 INSERM and Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers Equipe 16 – Immunopathology and Therapeutic Immunointervention Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris 6 UMR S 872 and International Associated Laboratory IMPACT INSERM, France - Indian Council of Medical Research, India and Université Paris Descartes UMR S 872 Paris France

Dror Y. Kenett School of Physics and Astronomy Tel Aviv University Tel Aviv Israel Jaap Kwekkeboom Laboratory of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Erasmus MC – University Medical Centre Rotterdam Rotterdam The Netherlands

Hans U. Lutz Institute of Biochemistry Swiss Federal Institute of Technology ETH Hönggerberg Zurich Switzerland

Asaf Madi Faculty of Medicine School of Physics and Astronomy Tel Aviv University Tel Aviv Israel

Thierry Martin Clinical Immunology Department National Referral Center for Systemic Autoimmune Diseases Nouvel Hôpital Civil Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg Strasbourg France

Richard J. Massey Covalent Bioscience Inc Houston, Texas USA

Claus H. Nielsen Institute for Inflammation Research Department of Rheumatology Copenhagen University Hospital Copenhagen Denmark

Yasuhiro Nishiyama Chemical Immunology Research Center Department of Pathology University of Texas Houston Medical School Houston, Texas USA

#### xii

#### PARTICIPANTS

Anastas D. Pashov Institute of Microbiology Bulgarian Academy of Sciences Sofia Bulgaria

Jean Louis Pasquali Clinical Immunology Department National Referral Center for Systemic Autoimmune Diseases Nouvel Hôpital Civil Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg Strasbourg France

Sudhir Paul Chemical Immunology Research Center Department of Pathology University of Texas Houston Medical School and Covalent Bioscience Inc Houston, Texas USA

Larry R. Pease Departments of Neurology and Immunology Mayo Clinic Rochester, Minnesota USA

Stephanie A. Planque Chemical Immunology Research Center Department of Pathology University of Texas Houston Medical School Houston, Texas USA

Moses Rodriguez Departments of Neurology and Immunology Mayo Clinic Rochester, Minnesota USA Reinhard Schwartz-Albiez German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) Department of Translational Immunology Heidelberg Germany

Gregg J. Silverman Department of Medicine and Pathology New York University School of Medicine New York City, New York USA

Hans-Uwe Simon Institute of Pharmacology University of Bern Bern Switzerland

Peter J. Späth Institute of Pharmacology University of Bern Bern Switzerland

Virginia Van Keulen Departments of Neurology and Immunology Mayo Clinic Rochester, Minnesota USA

Tchavdar L. Vassilev Institute of Microbiology Bulgarian Academy of Sciences Sofia Bulgaria

Stephan von Gunten Institute of Pharmacology University of Bern Bern Switzerland

Arthur E. Warrington Departments of Neurology and Immunology Mayo Clinic Rochester, Minnesota USA

# CONTENTS

# SECTION I: NAbs IN TISSUE REPAIR AND TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

1. NATURALLY OCCURRING IgM ANTIBODIES TO OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES2
Christoph J. Binder
Abstract       2         Introduction       2         Oxidation-Specific Epitopes as "Danger Associated Molecular Patterns"       3         Oxidation-Specific Epitopes Are Bound by Specific Antibodies       4         Oxidation-Specific Epitopes Are Prominent Targets of IgM NAbs       5         Functional Role of IgM NAbs with Specificity for Oxidation-Epitopes       6         Naturally Occurring IgM Antibodies in Atherosclerosis       9         Naturally Occurring IgM Antibodies as Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease       10         Conclusion       10
2. NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES TO APOPTOTIC CELLS
Keith B. Elkon and Gregg J. Silverman
Abstract
Autoimmune Disease

# 

Reinhard Schwartz-Albiez

Abstract	
Introduction	
Characterization and Origin of Anti-Carbohydrate Antibodies	
Tumor-Associated Carbohydrate Antigens as Target Structures	
for Anti-Tumor Antibodies	
Mechanisms of Cell Lysis	
Protection Mechanisms of Tumor Cells	
Therapeutic Approaches	
Conclusion and Perspectives	
4. NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES	
AS THERAPEUTICS FOR NEUROLOGIC DISEASE:	
CAN HUMAN MONOCLONAL IgMs REPLACE	
THE LIMITED RESOURCE IVIG?	44
Arthur E. Warrington, Virginia Van Keulen, Larry R. Pease and Moses Rodriguez	Z
Abstract	
Introduction	
Current Use of IVIG in Neurologic Disease	
IVIG to Treat Optic Neuritis	
Lessons from NAbs to Promote CNS Remyelination	
Human Antibodies That Promote Remyelination	
Development of a Recombinant Expression Vector for Human IgMs	
Evidence That the IgM Isotype is Superior to IgG in Repair	
of the Nervous System	50
Ca <sup>2+</sup> Signaling is a Common Link in IgMs That Promote Remyelination	
Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies in the Treatment of Alzheimer Disease	
Conclusion	53
5. NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES	56
Sudhir Paul Stephanie A. Planque, Yasuhiro Nishiyama, Carl V. Hanson	
and Richard J. Massey	

Abstract	
Introduction	
Constitutive or "Naturally-Occurring" Antibodies	
Beyond Binding: Catalytic Antibodies	
Promiscuous Catalytic Antibodies	
Catalytic Autoantibodies	
Catalytic Antibodies in Defense against Microbes	
Catalytic Antibodies as Second Generation Therapeutics	
Catalytic and Covalent Vaccination	
Conclusion	

# 

Hans U. Lutz

Abstract	76
Introduction to Tissue Homeostasis	76
Means to Clear Senescent Red Blood Cells	77
The Specificity of NAbs Involved in Clearance of Senescent	
Red Blood Cells	78
The Fine Specificity of Anti-Band 3 NAbs	81
Functional Properties of NAbs and How a Low Affinity IgG NAb,	
Like Anti-Band 3, Stimulates Complement Amplification	83
Anti-Band 3 Autoantibodies or Anti-Band 3 NAbs in Anemia	85
What Alterations are Required for Anti-Band 3 NAbs to Bind	
to Band 3 Clusters	86
Conclusion and Outlook	87

## 7. NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST

β-AMYLOID ......91

Jan-Philipp Bach and Richard Dodel

Abstract	91
Introduction	91
Isolation of Anti-Aβ NAbs	92
Origin of Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies	93
Epitope	94
Glycosylation	94
Assays Used to Detect Autoantibodies against Aβ	95
Metabolism of Anti-Aβ NAbs	95
Clinical Studies in Alzheimer Disease	95
Conclusion	96

# 8. MULTI-FACETED ROLE OF NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES IN FIGHTING PATHOGENS.......100

Hicham Bouhlal and Srini Kaveri

Abstract	100
Introduction	100
NAbs in the Treatment of Bacterial Infections	101
NAbs in the Control of Viral Infection	101
Conclusion	109

# SECTION II: NAbs MODULATING AND REGULATING CELLS OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

9. IMMUNOREGULATION BY NATURALLY OCCURRING AND DISEASE-ASSOCIATED AUTOANTIBODIES: BINDING TO CYTOKINES AND THEIR ROLE	
IN REGULATION OF T-CELL RESPONSES	
Claus H. Nielsen and Klaus Bendtzen	
Abstract	116
Introduction	117
Autoantibodies against Cytokines	
Immunoregulatory NAbs against Non-Cytokine Self-Antigens	
Regulation of T-Cell Responses by NAbs and Complement	
Conclusion	
10. MODULATION OF DENDRITIC CELLS AND REGULATORY	
T CELLS BY NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES	
Jaap Kwekkeboom	
Abstract	133
Introduction	
NAbs and Dendritic Cells	
NAbs and T Cells	
NAbs and Regulatory T Cells	
Conclusion	
11. CONTROL OF B CELLS EXPRESSING NATURALLY	1.45
OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES	145
Jean Louis Pasquali and Thierry Martin	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Structure-Activity Relationships among NAbs	
Regulation of Autoimmunity	
Conclusion	
12. GRANULOCYTE DEATH REGULATION BY NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES	
Stephan von Gunten and Hans-Uwe Simon	
Abstract	157
Introduction	157
Siglecs	
Neutrophil Death Induced by Natural Anti-Siglec-9 Autoantibodies	

#### CONTENTS

Eosinophil Death Induced by Natural Anti-Siglec-8 Autoantibodies:	
A Role in Allergic Disease?	164
Similarities and Differences between Granulocyte Death-Inducing	
Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies	165
Regulation of Granulocyte Death-Inducing Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies	167
Anti-Fas and Anti-Siglec Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies	
in Intravenous Immunoglobulin: Clinical Implications	168
Conclusion	168

# SECTION III: NAbs CAN INDUCE DISEASES WHEN COMPARTMENT BORDERS BREAK OR PROTEASES DEGRADE IgG

## 

Sherry D. Fleming

Abstract	
Introduction	
Ischemia/Reperfusion-Induced Tissue Damage and Inflammation	
Naturally Occurring Antibodies and Ischemia/Reperfusion	
Antigens Recognized by NAbs in Rodent Models of IR	
Nonmuscle Myosin Type II A and C and Glycogen Phosphorylase	
NAb Recognition of Annexin IV	
Anti-Phospholipid and Beta 2 Glycoprotein I Recognition by Antibodies	
Other Possible Antigens and NAb Antigen Summary	
Complement Activation in Response to NAb Binding to Tissue	
Mechanism of Complement Activation by NAbs	
Multiple Human NAbs in IVIG Appear Protective	
Conclusion and Future Directions	
AND ANY F(ab') <sub>2</sub> CAN MEDIATE EXCESSIVE COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION	186
Abstract	
Introduction	
Stimulation of Complement Amplification by C3b <sub>2</sub> -IgG Containing Immune Complexes	
Anti-Hinge NAbs Rigidify F(ab') <sub>2</sub> -IC to Capture Dimeric C3b	
and to Stimulate Complement Amplification	
F(ab') <sub>2</sub> -Containing Immune Complexes Form Secondary IC with Anti-Hinge	
NAbs in Plasma of Septic Patients	
How to Prevent F(ab') <sub>2</sub> -IC from Stimulating	
Complement Amplification?	
Conclusion	

# **SECTION IV: UNIQUE PROPERTIES OF NAbs**

## 

Asaf Madi, Sharron Bransburg-Zabary, Dror Y. Kenett, Eshel Ben-Jacob and Irun R. Cohen

Abstract	
Introduction	
The Maternal and Newborn Autoantibody Repertoires	
Antigen-Reactivity Correlations	
Modular Organization and Antigen Cliques	
Immune Network Architecture and Immune Trees	
Antigen Dependency Networks and Influential Antigen-Reactivities	
Discussion	
Conclusion	

## 16. ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY: WHAT DOES IT MATTER? ......213

Jordan D. Dimitrov, Anastas D. Pashov and Tchavdar L. Vassilev

Abstract	
Introduction	
Biophysical Mechanisms of Polyspecific Antigen Binding	
Biological Functions of Polyspecific Antibodies	
Induced Polyspecificity—Posttranslational Tuning of Antigen-Binding	
In Vivo Induction of Antibody Polyspecificity-the Role of ROS	
Therapeutic Potential of Antibodies with Induced Polyspecificity	222
Conclusion	223

## 

Richard R. Hardy and Kyoko Hayakawa

Abstract	227
Introduction	
A Naturally Occurring Autoantibody Specific for Thymocytes	
ATA-µ Transgenic Mice: Evidence for B-Cell Positive Selection	
ATA-μκ Transgenic Mice: Evidence for B-Cell Negative Selection	
Altering ATA BCR Crosslinking: Marginal Zone B-Cell Development	
Developmental Changes in Natural Autoantibody B-Cell Selection	
Importance of Specificity of Natural Autoantibodies	
Conclusion	

# 18. NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES/AUTOANTIBODIES IN POLYCLONAL IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATES......239

Peter J. Späth and Hans U. Lutz

Abstract	
Introduction NAbs in Immunoglobulin Concentrates: Historical Aspect of the Detection	
The Origin of NAbs and Their Fractionation	
into Immunoglobulin Concentrates	
Conclusion	
Addendum	
INDEX	

SECTION I

# NAbs IN TISSUE REPAIR AND TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

# CHAPTER 1

# NATURALLY OCCURRING IgM ANTIBODIES TO OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES

#### Christoph J. Binder

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria; and the Center for Molecular Medicine of the Austrian Academy of Sciences, Vienna, Austria Email: christoph.binder@meduniwien.ac.at

Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) have specificity for both microbial and Abstract: self antigens, which allows them to act in the first line defense against invading pathogens, as well as in tissue homeostasis by mediating the clearance of cellular debris. This latter recognition of self by NAbs was often thought to reflect the polyreactivity of low affinity antibodies. The finding that oxidation-specific epitopes are dominant targets of naturally occurring IgM antibodies shed light on this and provided novel insights into the understanding of the house keeping functions of NAbs. Oxidation-specific epitopes represent stress-induced or altered self structures that are generated as a consequence of lipid peroxidation during many physiological and pathological situations. Importantly, the same structures have been found in the membranes of dving cells. Only oxidized lipids and dving cells-but not native membrane lipids or viable cells-are recognized by this set of NAbs. Thus, oxidation-specific epitopes represent ideal marks that identify biological waste for its clearance and the neutralization of its pro-inflammatory properties. Furthermore, this binding property of NAbs has also important implications for various chronic inflammatory diseases, including atherosclerosis.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### House Keeping Functions of Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)

NAbs are typically characterized by variable regions that are encoded by germline  $V_H$  and  $V_L$  genes with no or very few mutations. Therefore, they exhibit a restricted and stable repertoire of binding specificities that is thought to be a product of natural

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

selection. This provides NAbs with broad reactivity for phylogenetically conserved structures of nucleic acids, (glyco)proteins, and (phospho)lipids,<sup>1,2</sup> which allows them to bind microbial antigens and mediate important non-redundant functions in the first line defense against invading pathogens, such as bacteria and viruses.<sup>3</sup> In addition to their capacity to bind microbial structures, NAbs also recognize self structures and therefore have frequently been considered to be autoreactive.<sup>4</sup> However, in many cases these "self structures" represent altered or stress-induced neo-self structures that are generated during various biological processes. This subtle binding property allows NAbs to selectively recognize and identify body waste, most prominently dying cells, which contain a variety of eat-me tags that are bound by NAbs.<sup>5</sup> Thereby, NAbs mediate critical homeostatic house-keeping functions by facilitating the clearance of damaged cells and cellular debris. This is important because excessive accumulation of cellular debris activates adaptive immune responses against self-constituents and triggers autoimmunity, such as systemic lupus erythematosus. Indeed, lupus-prone lymphoproliferative (lpr) mice develop more severe autoimmunity when bred with mice deficient in serum IgM (sIgM), which represent to large extent IgM NAbs.<sup>6</sup> Moreover, an increased accumulation of body waste may also lead to direct activation of inflammatory reactions that could trigger and/or propagate a variety of pathologies. In fact, a number of structurally altered self-components are recognized as "danger signals" by innate immune receptors.<sup>7</sup> Thus, in addition to their role in antimicrobial host defense, NAbs have another important and non-redundant function in mediating house keeping functions.

## OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES AS "DANGER ASSOCIATED MOLECULAR PATTERNS"

In recent years it has become increasingly clear that innate immune responses have also the capacity to recognize and respond to the presence of endogenous molecular structures, which in analogy to microbial pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are commonly termed danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). There is growing evidence that oxidized lipids and the derivatives thereof represent prominent examples of such endogenous "danger signals.<sup>8</sup>" Both cellular membranes and lipoprotein particles contain various lipid species that can easily become oxidized by multiple mechanisms under physiological and pathological conditions, in which lipid peroxidation occurs. As a consequence highly reactive lipid products are generated, which in turn can covalently attach to and modify autologous molecules such as proteins, lipids, and even DNA. These newly formed structures represent antigenic neo-self epitopes that have been termed "oxidation-specific" epitopes, and have been shown to be recognized by a whole array of innate immune responses (recently reviewed in ref. 8). Accordingly, many products of lipid peroxidation have also been shown to possess robust pro-inflammatory properties in vitro and in vivo. In fact, common oxidation products such as malondialdehyde (MDA)-a classical biomarker of increased oxidative stress-have been documented in tissues of various inflammatory conditions. These include atherosclerosis, acute lung injury, renal and liver diseases, as well as multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease among others (for references see ref. 9).

Of greatest importance, however, is the finding that cells undergoing apoptosis—but not viable cells—also accumulate oxidation-specific epitopes in their membranes.<sup>10,11</sup>

Thus, oxidation-specific epitopes are perfect tags for the discrimination of dying cells from viable cells and the identification of biological waste by NAbs.<sup>12</sup>

#### OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES ARE BOUND BY SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES

The discovery that lipid-peroxidation leads to the generation of novel structures that are recognized by specific antibodies arose from the serendipitous observation by Witztum et al. that even very subtle modifications such as non-enzymatic glycation of autologous low density lipoprotein (LDL) resulted in its rapid clearance when injected intravenously into diabetic subjects.<sup>13</sup> Subsequently, it was shown that this was due to immune recognition of modified LDL and that a variety of modifications can generate neo-self determinants that render LDL immunogenic.<sup>14</sup> Interestingly, active immunization with differently modified antigens induced antibodies that were shown to recognize the same modification also when it was present on a different protein backbone than the immunizing agent, indicating that the induced responses were hapten-specific. In analogy to these findings, Witztum and colleagues later demonstrated that breakdown products that are formed during the oxidation of LDL could generate similar immunogenic modifications on oxidized LDL (OxLDL).15-17 OxLDL has a central role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.<sup>18</sup> It is generated in the process of atherosclerotic lesion formation, where it has been shown to accumulate in the vascular wall. Multiple enzymatic and non-enzymatic oxidative processes have been identified that promote the oxidation of several constituents of LDL, such as phospholipids.<sup>19</sup> For example, the major phospholipid of LDL, phosphatidylcholine, contains an oxidation-prone polyunsaturated fatty acid in the sn-2 position, which upon oxidation among others gives rise to highly reactive breakdown products such as malondialdehyde (MDA) with its many complex condensation products, and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE).<sup>20</sup> These reactive aldehydes can form covalent adducts with  $\varepsilon$ -amino groups of lysine residues in ApoB (the major protein of LDL) or any other protein, as well as amino groups of phospholipids, such as phosphatidylethanolamine, and give rise to newly formed adducts. Moreover, the residual oxidized phospholipid backbone 1-palmitoyl-2-(5-oxovaleroyl)-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine (POVPC) with the truncated fatty acid in position 2 can also form adducts, which in this case consist of the entire oxidized phospholipids. Because any phospholipid containing a polyunsaturated fatty acid is susceptible to oxidation, generation of these antigenic neo-epitopes can also occur on cellular membranes, e.g. of cells undergoing apoptosis. Immunization with oxidatively modified LDL was found to give rise to specific IgG and IgM antibodies, and these modifications have also been shown to be recognized by antibodies in a hapten-specific manner.<sup>15,16</sup> Moreover, using model antigens such as Cu<sup>2+</sup>-oxidized LDL and MDA-modified LDL (MDA-LDL), the presence of autoantibodies with specificity for oxidation-epitopes could be documented in the sera of animal models of atherosclerosis and humans.<sup>15,21</sup> Interestingly, IgM Abs against oxidation-specific epitopes are present in the sera of naïve, non-immunized mice and their titers are greatly increased in atherosclerotic LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> or ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice.<sup>21,22</sup> Moreover, we have shown that even completely germ-free mice have IgM antibodies to these same epitopes in their serum, suggesting that most of these IgM Abs are in fact IgM NAbs.23

5

# OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES ARE PROMINENT TARGETS OF IgM NAbs

The fact that atherosclerotic mice have high titers of antibodies against OxLDL enabled Dr. Witztum and colleagues to clone a large set of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) with specificity for OxLDL from the spleens of non-immunized ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice that had received an atherogenic diet.<sup>24</sup> Surprisingly, all mAbs-termed EO-were found to be of the IgM class. The subsequent characterization of a prototypic clone with specificity for Cu<sup>2+</sup>-oxidized LDL, called EO6, revealed that it specifically recognized the phosphocholine-headgroup (PC) of oxidized, but not native phosphatidylcholine.<sup>25</sup> EO6 was also found to bind the surface of apoptotic, but not viable cells,<sup>10</sup> which was consistent with the later mass spectrometrical demonstration of an increased content of oxidized phospholipids in membranes of apoptotic cells.<sup>11</sup> A detailed analysis of the variable region of EO6 then revealed that both the  $V_{\rm H}$  and  $V_{\rm L}$  sequence were 100% germline-encoded.<sup>26</sup> Moreover, the same germline gene usage has been reported for a prototypic NAb, called T15,27 which has been studied extensively for its capacity to bind PC covalently linked to (lipo) teichoic acid of the capsular polysaccharide of S. pneumonia. In fact, T15 is known to provide optimal protection from pneumococcal infections in mice.28 The fact that T15/EO6 IgM mAbs bind both microbial antigens as well as neo-self epitopes elegantly demonstrates the dual reactivity that has been discussed as a property of many if not most IgM NAbs.29

In addition to PC of oxidized phospholipids a whole range of other lipid peroxidation-derived structures are generated; many of which could serve as oxidation-specific epitopes for NAbs. Indeed, other germline encoded IgM Abs against OxLDL could be isolated, using an analogous approach to the isolation of EO hybridomas. For example, LRO1 has been cloned from the spleens of cholesterol-fed LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and it was found to specifically bind an epitope of oxidized—but not native—cardiolipin.<sup>30</sup> Similar to EO6, LRO1 was also shown to bind apoptotic cells. Moreover, we found that sera of germ-free mice contain IgM NAbs against yet other oxidation-epitopes, including MDA-derived and 4-HNE-derived adducts, suggesting the existence of IgM NAbs with these specificities as well.<sup>23</sup> Of note, the antibody titers to some but not all of these epitopes increased when germ-free mice were colonized with commensal gut bacteria, which further supports the notion of a dual reactivity for microbial antigens and oxidation-epitopes as equivalent self-structures, and demonstrates the capacity to upregulate IgM NAbs with such specificities.

All these insights and the examples of EO6 and LRO1 suggested that oxidation-specific epitopes in general could represent targets for a whole set of IgM NAbs. Thus, many more clones with reactivity for other oxidation-derived structures may exist. We therefore formally tested this hypothesis by studying the repertoire of IgM Abs derived from B-1 cells, which are the major source of IgM NAbs in mice.<sup>23</sup> To do this, B-1 cells were isolated from naïve mice and cultured with various toll-like receptor agonists and IL-5 to induce plasma cell differentiation and IgM secretion. These in vitro stimulations resulted in the production of IgM Abs against Cu<sup>2+</sup>-oxidized LDL, 4-HNE-modified LDL, and most prominently MDA-LDL, among others. Interestingly, the levels of IgM that specifically bound MDA-LDL were substantially higher than those against  $\alpha$ 1,3-Dextran, which is a prototypic microbial B-1 cell antigen. In a subsequent approach we selectively reconstituted RAG1<sup>-/-</sup> mice with B-1 cells from naïve donors to generate a mouse model that only expresses B-1 cell derived IgM NAbs. Plasma from these mice contained primarily IgM

NAbs, which included antibodies against a whole panel of oxidation-specific epitopes. Moreover, antigen absorption studies with plasma of reconstituted mice showed that as much as 30% of all plasma IgM had specificity for various oxidation-epitopes. Among these IgM NAbs the titers to MDA-type adducts were the most prominent ones, which is consistent with the data obtained from in vitro stimulated B-1 cells. In fact, ELISpot analyses of the spleens of these as well as naïve wild type mice revealed that on average 12% of all IgM-secreting cells (ISC) had specificity for MDA-LDL. The existence of an IgM NAb with specificity for the highly abundant oxidation-epitope MDA was further confirmed when we obtained hybridomas using splenocytes of B-1 cell reconstituted mice and cloned a set of monoclonal Abs against MDA-LDL. One exemplary clone, termed NA17, was analyzed in more detail and was found to have complete germline gene usage of the  $V_{\rm H}$  rearrangement and only one nucleotide insertion (C) at the splice site of the  $V_{\rm L}$  and J<sub>L</sub> germline gene segments. Additional MDA-specific IgM clones with complete germline gene usage in their variable regions have been identified since then (K. Hartvigsen and J.L. Witztum, personal communication). Therefore, oxidation-specific epitopes are prominent targets of IgM NAbs in mice. To demonstrate that this observation is not only true for the murine system, we characterized the specificity of IgM Abs in umbilical cord blood.<sup>23</sup> Unlike IgG. IgM antibodies in human cord blood are exclusively derived from the infant and thus a good surrogate for NAbs.31 In support of our murine data, IgM Abs in human umbilical cord blood contained specificities for MDA-LDL and Cu2+-oxidized LDL. Moreover, when these specific titers were corrected for the reduced total IgM levels in cord blood compared with matched maternal blood samples, it could be shown that oxidation-epitope-specific IgM antibodies were actually enriched in the umbilical cord blood samples.

Therefore, multiple lines of evidence show that oxidation-epitopes are major targets of IgM NAbs in mice and humans. It is unlikely that this newly found property of NAbs simply reflects the polyreactivity that has been attributed to them,<sup>32</sup> because studies with monoclonal IgM NAbs show great specificity for one, but not the other oxidation-specific epitope tested. For example, the PC-specific IgM T15/EO6 does not bind MDA-epitopes, while the MDA-specific NA17 does not bind PC-epitopes (Fig. 1). Both epitopes can be found on the surface of apoptotic cells<sup>10</sup> (Fig. 2). It seems that the prominent representation of IgM with specificities for oxidation-epitopes reflects the ubiquitous presence of these structures, which in some cases have been shown to possess robust pro-inflammatory activities. Thus, there is a great demand for mechanisms that prevent and/or protect from their accumulation in the organism. The pentameric nature of IgM molecules should further improve this activity in vivo, as oxidation-specific epitopes are typically repetitive in nature.

# FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF IgM NAbs WITH SPECIFICITY FOR OXIDATION-EPITOPES

Given the fact that oxidation-specific epitopes are prominently found on the surface of dying cells, it can be assumed that NAbs specific for these structures mediate important house keeping functions through the recognition of dying cells and cellular debris. Indeed, monoclonal IgM Abs, such as EO6, EO14, LRO1, and NA17 that were all cloned for their ability to bind epitopes of OxLDL, also strongly stain the surface of apoptotic cells.<sup>10,23,30</sup> Similarily, IgM antibodies in human umbilical cord blood bind the



**Figure 1.** IgM NAbs against oxidation-specific epitopes have defined specificities. Monoclonal antibodies, NA-17 and EO6, having germline configuration have been studied for their binding to LDL modified by either MDA or Cu2<sup>+</sup>-mediated oxidation. Shown is an ELISA of IgM binding to the coated antigens MDA-LDL and CuOx-LDL, which is enriched in PC-containing oxidized phospholipids. NA-17 binds MDA-LDL, but not CuOx-LDL. In contrast, EO6 binds CuOx-LDL, but not MDA-LDL. However, both mAbs derived from IgM NAbs bind apoptotic cell, which carry many different oxidation-sepcific epitopes (see refs. 23 and 26).

surface of apoptotic cells and approximately 50% of this binding could be competed by soluble MDA-BSA,<sup>23</sup> suggesting that the binding of IgM NAbs is to a large extent mediated by the recognition of MDA-epitopes. This notion is further supported by the fact that immunization of mice with syngeneic apoptotic cells resulted in high IgM titers against epitopes of OxLDL, and that a majority of the induced antibodies that bound apoptotic cells had specificity for OxLDL.<sup>11</sup> Thus, oxidation-epitopes are major neo-determinants on apoptotic cells.

A non-redundant role of IgM in the clearance of apoptotic cells has been established by the observation that mice deficient in secreted IgM (sIgM), which lack NAbs, show an increased propensity to develop autoimmune disease when crossed with lupus prone mice.<sup>6</sup> In line with this, it could be specifically shown that purified preparations of T15<sup>id+</sup> IgM were able to normalize the impaired in vivo clearance of apoptotic cells in sIgM-deficient and B-cell deficient mice, respectively.<sup>33,34</sup> In an analogous experiment we could show that the MDA-specific naturally occurring IgM NA17 also significantly increased the macrophage-mediated in vivo clearance of apoptotic cells that were injected intraperitoneally into RAG1<sup>-/-</sup> mice.<sup>23</sup> In contrast, equal amounts of the KLH-specific control IgM, which does not bind apoptotic cells, did not have an effect. Thus, NAbs specific for oxidation-epitopes provide an important homeostatic house keeping function by promoting the C1q-dependent clearance of dying cells by macrophages (see also Chapter 2 by Elkon and Silverman).

7



Figure 2. IgM NAbs bind OxLDL and dying cells via the same oxidation-specific epitopes. Oxidation-specific epitopes are found on the surface of OxLDL and dying cells, but not viable cells and native LDL, respectively. MDA = Malondialdehyde-derived adducts; POVPC = 1-palmitoyl-2-(5-oxovaleroyl)-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine; 4-HNE = 4-hydroxynonenal-derived adducts; OxCL = Oxidized cardiolipin.

On the other hand, IgM NAbs against epitopes of OxLDL have also been shown to inhibit the uptake of apoptotic cells by macrophages in the presence of heat inactivated serum,<sup>10</sup> suggesting inhibition of complement-independent uptake mechanisms. Therefore, this subset of IgM NAbs could potentially prevent the recognition of apoptotic cells by other cellular receptors that induce inflammatory responses. Indeed, in addition to their role in the complement-dependent clearance and removal of apoptotic cells. NAbs with specificity for oxidation-epitopes also possess an important function by preventing inflammatory reactions induced by the same oxidized lipids that they recognize. This has been demonstrated by assessing the capacity of apoptotic cells and their blebs, which carry oxidation-specific epitopes, to induce endothelial cell activation as determined by monocyte adhesion.<sup>11,35</sup> This pro-inflammatory activity of apoptotic cells was fully abolished in the presence of T15/EO6 IgM antibodies, while T15/EO6 had no effect on the LPS-induced activation of endothelial cells. In addition, T15/EO6 IgM also blocked the activity of BSA-conjugated oxidized phosphatidylcholine to induce the secretion of IL-6 by macrophages in vitro.<sup>36</sup> Thus, the recognition of oxidation-specific epitopes does not only allow NAbs to identify cellular debris for clearance, but it also allows NAbs to directly prevent inflammatory reactions that could result from an excessive accumulation of dying cells. Both functions of this set of NAbs are likely to be critical in vivo, especially under pathological situations of increased oxidative stress. Additional anti-inflammatory activities of T15<sup>id+</sup> IgM are discussed elsewhere in this book (see also Chapter 2 by Elkon and Silverman).

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING IgM ANTIBODIES IN ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Increased oxidative stress is associated with many diseases, and therefore the body's need to respond to the consequences thereof is of great importance. Atherosclerosis is a prototypic disease in which increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation are critical pathogenic components. It is a chronic inflammatory disease of the vessel walls, the underlying cause for heart attacks and a majority of strokes. It is now well established that in addition to dyslipidemia, inflammatory processes are equally involved in its pathogenesis.<sup>37</sup> Moreover, both innate and adaptive immunity have been found to profoundly modulate atherogenesis.<sup>38,39</sup> In this regard, Lewis and colleagues demonstrated recently a significant role for IgM antibodies in murine atherosclerosis.<sup>40</sup> They could show that atherosclerosis-prone LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice have significantly accelerated plaque formation when they were also deficient for secreted IgM. Because most IgM in uninfected mice are NAbs,<sup>1</sup> these data suggest a protective role for IgM NAbs in atherosclerosis.

Our observation that more than 30% of all naturally occurring IgM antibodies are directed against oxidation-epitopes, suggests that a major part of the protective effect is mediated by this specific subset of NAbs, because products of lipid peroxidation are key mediators of the atherosclerotic disease process. Indeed, all oxidation-specific epitopes that are recognized by NAbs have also been documented inside atherosclerotic lesions. One specific example is PC of oxidized phospholipids, which is recognized by the natural IgM T15/EO6.<sup>26</sup> We could show earlier that immunization of LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice with heat-killed PC-containing pneumococcal extracts (R36a) gave rise to robust IgM titers against OxLDL, reflecting the molecular mimicry between PC of S. pneumonia and the PC of oxidized phospholipids of OxLDL.<sup>41</sup> Further characterization of these thymus independent Type 2 (TI-2) antibody responses, which typically occur as a result of multivalent cross-linking of the B-cell receptor in the absence of cognate T-cell help,<sup>42</sup> revealed that the increased anti-OxLDL titers were predominantly of the T15/EO6 clonotype. Importantly, this boosting of T15/EO6 plasma levels significantly decreased atherosclerotic lesion formation in LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice when fed an atherogenic diet. In a subsequent study Faria-Neto et al. confirmed the atheroprotective role of T15/EO6 IgM by demonstrating that administration of purified T15<sup>id+</sup> IgM significantly delayed lesion formation in a vein graft atherosclerosis model.<sup>43</sup> Therefore, the naturally occurring IgM T15/EO6 mediates a beneficial effect in the chronic inflammatory disease of atherosclerosis. The protective mechanism of T15/EO6 is likely mediated by its recognition of OxLDL and apoptic cells, both of which accumulate in atherosclerotic lesions. For example, it could be shown that purified T15/EO6 as well as plasma from R36a-immunized mice have the capacity to block the binding and uptake of OxLDL by macrophages.<sup>25,41</sup> This in turn results in decreased scavenger receptor mediated foam cell formation in vivo and limits the pro-inflammatory activities of OxLDL. Moreover, because the accumulation and impaired clearance of apoptotic cells has been implicated in the development of atherosclerotic lesions,44 T15/EO6 IgM may also limit atherogenesis by aiding the clearance of apoptotic cells that contain oxidized phospholipids in their membranes. Whether NAbs could also promote the clearance of circulating OxLDL is still under debate. In this regard Reardon et al. did not observe any difference in the clearance rate of injected LDL or OxLDL between immune-competent ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice and immune-deficient ApoE-/-RAG-/- mice, which lack antibodies.45

## NATURALLY OCCURRING IgM ANTIBODIES AS BIOMARKERS OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

The initial demonstration of autoantibodies to OxLDL in humans<sup>15,46</sup> has elicited a whole array of epidemiological studies that aimed at identifying a clinical diagnostic benefit of measuring anti-OxLDL antibody titers to predict cardiovascular disease (CVD). Indeed, a number of studies could demonstrate a significant correlation of autoantibody titers to OxLDL with surrogate markers of CVD or even clinical events.<sup>47</sup> However, other studies did not find anti-OxLDL antibodies to be independent predictors of CVD. Only recently stronger emphasis was put on the analyses of different isotypes in the antibody response to OxLDL in humans, and these studies revealed that serum levels of IgM—but not IgG antibodies- to epitopes of OxLDL show an inverse association with markers of CVD, such as intima-media thickness of carotid arteries<sup>48</sup> or stenosis of coronary arteries,<sup>49</sup> respectively. Because a large part of IgM in uninfected individuals are considered NAbs, these insights suggest a potential role of NAbs in human CVD as well. Clearly, the simple measurement of antibody titers to models of OxLDL, which carries multiple different epitopes, does not identify them as true NAbs in the sense of germline encoded antibodies. Nevertheless, in analogy to naturally occurring T15/EO6 IgM, IgM antibodies with specificity for PC exist in humans as well. For instance, we could show a significant correlation between IgM antibodies to Cu2+-oxidized LDL and PC-containing capsular polysaccharides in patients with known pneumococcal pneumonia.<sup>41</sup> Moreover, significant IgM titers to PC-BSA conjugates have been documented in selected patient populations with increased CVD risk, and low anti-PC IgM levels were suggested to be an independent risk factor.<sup>50-52</sup> It remains to be shown that these specific antibodies really represent NAbs. Nonetheless, the emerging evidence suggesting a beneficial role for NAbs in human atherosclerosis is intriguing. To fully establish this, future studies need to focus on identifying methods that allow the selective determination of IgM NAb levels with specificity for oxidation-epitopes in humans.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, the finding that oxidation-specific epitopes are dominant targets of IgM NAbs identified a novel mechanism by which NAbs distinguish body waste from healthy tissues. Moreover, the characterization of oxidation-epitopes as stress-induced self structures provides important insights into the non redundant house-keeping functions of NAbs. The ubiquitous presence of oxidation-epitopes on the surface of dying cells and in various inflammatory conditions identifies them as common targets in many different physiological and pathological situations. Likely, the continuous generation of these epitopes throughout life has contributed to the positive selection of NAbs with respective specificities. NAbs with specificity for oxidation-epitopes therefore may represent a generalized defense mechanism against the consequences of oxidative stress, including chronic inflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis.

The exact mechanisms by which this set of NAbs mediates its beneficial functions in vivo will clearly be a major focus of future studies. It is also not known whether the entire repertoire of oxidation-epitope specific IgM is needed for optimal house keeping functions, or whether isolated NAbs with selected specificities alone can mediate protective effects. A better insight into these questions will lay the foundation for the development of novel NAb-based therapies for atherosclerosis and other chronic inflammatory diseases.

#### REFERENCES

- Baumgarth N, Tung JW, Herzenberg LA. Inherent specificities in natural antibodies: a key to immune defense against pathogen invasion. Springer Semin Immunopathol 2005; 26:347-62. PMID:15633017 doi:10.1007/s00281-004-0182-2
- Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. Nat Rev Immunol 2011; 11:34-46. PMID:21151033 doi:10.1038/nri2901
- Boes M. Role of natural and immune IgM antibodies in immune responses. Mol Immunol 2000; 37:1141-9. PMID:11451419 doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00025-6
- Bendelac A, Bonneville M, Kearney JF. Autoreactivity by design: innate B and T lymphocytes. Nat Rev Immunol 2001; 1:177-86. PMID:11905826 doi:10.1038/35105052
- Lutz HU, Binder CJ, Kaveri S. Naturally occurring auto-antibodies in homeostasis and disease. Trends Immunol 2009; 30:43-51. PMID:19058756 doi:10.1016/j.it.2008.10.002
- Boes M, Schmidt T, Linkemann K et al. Accelerated development of IgG autoantibodies and autoimmune disease in the absence of secreted IgM. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:1184-9. PMID:10655505 doi:10.1073/pnas.97.3.1184
- 7. Chen GY, Nunez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol 2010; 10:826-37. PMID:21088683 doi:10.1038/nri2873
- Miller YI, Choi SH, Wiesner P et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger-associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. Circ Res 2011; 108:235-48. PMID:21252151 doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223875
- Chou MY, Hartvigsen K, Hansen LF et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are important targets of innate immunity. J Intern Med 2008; 263:479-88. PMID:18410591 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.01968.x
- Chang MK, Bergmark C, Laurila A et al. Monoclonal antibodies against oxidized low-density lipoprotein bind to apoptotic cells and inhibit their phagocytosis by elicited macrophages: evidence that oxidation-specific epitopes mediate macrophage recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:6353-8. PMID:10339591 doi:10.1073/pnas.96.11.6353
- Chang MK, Binder CJ, Miller YI et al. Apoptotic cells with oxidation-specific epitopes are immunogenic and proinflammatory. J Exp Med 2004; 200:1359-70. PMID:15583011 doi:10.1084/jem.20031763
- Binder CJ. Natural IgM antibodies against oxidation-specific epitopes. J Clin Immunol 2010; 30(Suppl 1):S56-60. PMID:20387104 doi:10.1007/s10875-010-9396-3
- Witztum JL, Steinbrecher UP, Kesaniemi YA et al. Autoantibodies to glucosylated proteins in the plasma of patients with diabetes mellitus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:3204-8. PMID:6587346 doi:10.1073/ pnas.81.10.3204
- Steinbrecher UP, Fisher M, Witztum JL et al. Immunogenicity of homologous low density lipoprotein after methylation, ethylation, acetylation, or carbamylation: generation of antibodies specific for derivatized lysine. J Lipid Res 1984; 25:1109-16. PMID:6439810
- 15. Palinski W, Rosenfeld ME, Yla-Herttuala S et al. Low density lipoprotein undergoes oxidative modification in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86:1372-6. PMID:2465552 doi:10.1073/pnas.86.4.1372
- Palinski W, Yla-Herttuala S, Rosenfeld ME et al. Antisera and monoclonal antibodies specific for epitopes generated during oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. Arteriosclerosis 1990; 10:325-35. PMID:1693068
- 17. Hörkko S, Binder CJ, Shaw PX et al. Immunological responses to oxidized LDL. Free Radic Biol Med 2000; 28:1771-9. PMID:10946219 doi:10.1016/S0891-5849(00)00333-6
- Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2010; 30:2311-6. PMID:21084697 doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179697
- Bochkov VN, Oskolkova OV, Birukov KG et al. Generation and biological activities of oxidized phospholipids. Antioxid Redox Signal 2010; 12:1009-59. PMID:19686040 doi:10.1089/ars.2009.2597
- Esterbauer H, Schaur RJ, Zollner H. Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. Free Radic Biol Med 1991; 11:81-128. PMID:1937131 doi:10.1016/0891-584 9(91)90192-6
- 21. Palinski W, Ord VA, Plump AS et al. ApoE-deficient mice are a model of lipoprotein oxidation in atherogenesis. Demonstration of oxidation-specific epitopes in lesions and high titers of autoantibodies to malondialdehyde-lysine in serum. Arterioscler Thromb 1994; 14:605-16. PMID:7511933 doi:10.1161/01. ATV.14.4.605
- 22. Palinski W, Tangirala RK, Miller E et al. Increased autoantibody titers against epitopes of oxidized LDL in LDL receptor-deficient mice with increased atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1995; 15:1569-76. PMID:7583529 doi:10.1161/01.ATV.15.10.1569
- Chou MY, Fogelstrand L, Hartvigsen K et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are dominant targets of innate natural antibodies in mice and humans. J Clin Invest 2009; 119:1335-49. PMID:19363291 doi:10.1172/ JCI36800

- 24. Palinski W, Horkko S, Miller E et al. Cloning of monoclonal autoantibodies to epitopes of oxidized lipoproteins from apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Demonstration of epitopes of oxidized low density lipoprotein in human plasma. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:800-14. PMID:8698873 doi:10.1172/JCI118853
- 25. Hörkko S, Bird DA, Miller E et al. Monoclonal autoantibodies specific for oxidized phospholipids or oxidized phospholipid-protein adducts inhibit macrophage uptake of oxidized low-density lipoproteins. J Clin Invest 1999; 103:117-28. PMID:9884341 doi:10.1172/JCI4533
- Shaw PX, Horkko S, Chang MK et al. Natural antibodies with the T15 idiotype may act in atherosclerosis, apoptotic clearance, and protective immunity. J Clin Invest 2000; 105:1731-40. PMID:10862788 doi:10.1172/JCI8472
- Claflin JL, Cubberley M. Clonal nature of the immune response to phosphocholine. VII. Evidence throughout inbred mice for molecular similarities among antibodies bearing the T15 idiotype. J Immunol 1980; 125:551-8. PMID:7391569
- Briles DE, Forman C, Hudak S et al. Anti-phosphorylcholine antibodies of the T15 idiotype are optimally protective against Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Exp Med 1982; 156:1177-85. PMID:7153709 doi:10.1084/ jem.156.4.1177
- Binder CJ, Shaw PX, Chang MK et al. The role of natural antibodies in atherogenesis. J Lipid Res 2005; 46:1353-63. PMID:15897601 doi:10.1194/jlr.R500005-JLR200
- Tuominen A, Miller YI, Hansen LF et al. A natural antibody to oxidized cardiolipin binds to oxidized low-density lipoprotein, apoptotic cells, and atherosclerotic lesions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006; 26:2096-102. PMID:16794225 doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000233333.07991.4a
- Merbl Y, Zucker-Toledano M, Quintana FJ et al. Newborn humans manifest autoantibodies to defined self molecules detected by antigen microarray informatics. J Clin Invest 2007; 117:712-8. PMID:17332892 doi:10.1172/JCI29943
- Notkins AL. Polyreactivity of antibody molecules. Trends Immunol 2004; 25:174-9. PMID:15039043 doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.02.004
- 33. Ogden CA, Kowalewski R, Peng Y et al. IgM is required for efficient complement mediated phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in vivo. Autoimmunity 2005; 38:259-64. PMID:16206508 doi:10.1080/08916930500124452
- 34. Chen Y, Park YB, Patel E et al. IgM antibodies to apoptosis-associated determinants recruit C1q and enhance dendritic cell phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. J Immunol 2009; 182:6031-43. PMID:19414754 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804191
- 35. Huber J, Vales A, Mitulovic G et al. Oxidized membrane vesicles and blebs from apoptotic cells contain biologically active oxidized phospholipids that induce monocyte-endothelial interactions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22:101-7. PMID:11788468 doi:10.1161/hq0102.101525
- Imai Y, Kuba K, Neely GG et al. Identification of oxidative stress and Toll-like receptor 4 signaling as a key pathway of acute lung injury. Cell 2008; 133:235-49. PMID:18423196 doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.043
- 37. Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:1685-95. PMID:15843671 doi:10.1056/NEJMra043430
- Binder CJ, Chang MK, Shaw PX et al. Innate and acquired immunity in atherogenesis. Nat Med 2002; 8:1218-26. PMID:12411948 doi:10.1038/nm1102-1218
- Hansson GK, Hermansson A. The immune system in atherosclerosis. Nat Immunol 2011; 12:204-12. PMID:21321594 doi:10.1038/ni.2001
- Lewis MJ, Malik TH, Ehrenstein MR et al. Immunoglobulin M is required for protection against atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Circulation 2009; 120:417-26. PMID:19620499 doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.868158
- Binder CJ, Horkko S, Dewan A et al. Pneumococcal vaccination decreases atherosclerotic lesion formation: molecular mimicry between Streptococcus pneumoniae and oxidized LDL. Nat Med 2003; 9:736-43. PMID:12740573 doi:10.1038/nm876
- 42. Berland R, Wortis HH. Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. Annu Rev Immunol 2002; 20:253-300. PMID:11861604 doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064833
- 43. Faria-Neto JR, Chyu KY, Li X et al. Passive immunization with monoclonal IgM antibodies against phosphorylcholine reduces accelerated vein graft atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-null mice. Atherosclerosis 2006; 189:83-90. PMID:16386745 doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2005.11.033
- 44. Thorp E, Cui D, Schrijvers DM et al. Mertk receptor mutation reduces efferocytosis efficiency and promotes apoptotic cell accumulation and plaque necrosis in atherosclerotic lesions of apoe-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008; 28:1421-8. PMID:18451332 doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.167197
- 45. Reardon CA, Miller ER, Blachowicz L et al. Autoantibodies to OxLDL fail to alter the clearance of injected OxLDL in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Lipid Res 2004; 45:1347-54. PMID:15102879 doi:10.1194/ jlr.M400075-JLR200
- Salonen JT, Yla-Herttuala S, Yamamoto R et al. Autoantibody against oxidised LDL and progression of carotid atherosclerosis. Lancet 1992; 339:883-7. PMID:1348295 doi:10.1016/0140-6736(92)90926-T

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING IGM ANTIBODIES TO OXIDATION-SPECIFIC EPITOPES 13

- Hulthe J. Antibodies to oxidized LDL in atherosclerosis development–clinical and animal studies. Clin Chim Acta 2004; 348:1-8. PMID:15369729 doi:10.1016/j.cccn.2004.05.021
- 48. Karvonen J, Paivansalo M, Kesaniemi YA et al. Immunoglobulin M type of autoantibodies to oxidized low-density lipoprotein has an inverse relation to carotid artery atherosclerosis. Circulation 2003; 108:2107-12. PMID:14530200 doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000092891.55157.A7
- 49. Tsimikas S, Brilakis ES, Lennon RJ et al. Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies to oxidized low density lipoprotein with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular events. J Lipid Res 2007; 48:425-33. PMID:17093289 doi:10.1194/jlr.M600361-JLR200
- Sjöberg BG, Su J, Dahlbom I et al. Low levels of IgM antibodies against phosphorylcholine-A potential risk marker for ischemic stroke in men. Atherosclerosis 2009; 203:528-32. PMID:18809177 doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2008.07.009
- 51. Anania C, Gustafsson T, Hua X et al. Increased prevalence of vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques and low levels of natural IgM antibodies against phosphorylcholine in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther 2010; 12:R214. PMID:21092251 doi:10.1186/ar3193
- 52. Su J, Georgiades A, Wu R et al. Antibodies of IgM subclass to phosphorylcholine and oxidized LDL are protective factors for atherosclerosis in patients with hypertension. Atherosclerosis 2006; 188:160-6. PMID:16307748 doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2005.10.017

# CHAPTER 2

# NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES TO APOPTOTIC CELLS

# Keith B. Elkon<sup>\*,1</sup> and Gregg J. Silverman<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine and Immunology, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine and Pathology, New York University School of Medicine, New York City, New York, USA \*Corresponding Author: Keith B. Elkon—Email: elkon@uw.edu

Abstract: Subsets of IgM naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) bind to the cell surface membranes of dying cells. The antibodies predominantly have specificities against lipid antigens or oxidized lipids. Chief among these lipid antigens are phosphorylcholine (PC) and malondialdehyde (MDA). Antibodies to negatively charged phospholipids such as phosphatidylserine (PS) have been described and there is controversy as to whether these antibodies are related to anticardiolipin antibodies observed in disease states. IgM NAbs that bind to apoptotic cells recruit classical complement pathway components and facilitate phagocytosis by both macrophages and dendritic cells, and may block inflammatory pathways. Under these circumstances, pathologic immune responses to self (autoimmunity) are avoided, whereas mice lacking serum IgM develop a lupus-like disease with associated IgG autoantibody responses. Based on these observations, IgM anti-PC NAbs were found to attenuate inflammation in mouse models of arthritis. IgM NAbs antibodies therefore appear to play pivotal roles in the dampening inflammation and maintenance of tolerance.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies: Nature and Specificities

Numerous studies in the past have suggested that healthy individuals have naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) that recognize self-antigens in their bodies.<sup>1</sup> In mice, reactivity to self appears to be more prominent with IgM antibodies produced by CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1a lymphocytes that are a distinct population of mature B lymphocytes. B-1 cells are

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

most abundant in the peritoneal and pleural cavities and are believed to be self-replenishing, while they primarily traffic to the spleen to produce the IgM that contributes more than 50% of the circulating IgM.<sup>1-4</sup> While B-1 cells have also been shown to contribute to defense against infection,<sup>5,6</sup> recent studies indicate that some B-1 cell derived IgM NAbs enhance the efficiency of removal of senescent, damaged as well as dead and dying cells. Rapid removal of these cells by macrophages prevents the release of self-antigens that are potential ligands for pro-inflammatory innate immune receptors, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs). In addition, macrophage interactions with apoptotic cells can positively suppress inflammatory responses (reviewed in ref. 7), and suppression has also been demonstrated with IgM NAbs that form complexes with apoptotic cells.<sup>8</sup> The best characterized type of IgM NAbs with homeostatic properties are those that recognize the small phosphorylcholine (PC) head group in cell-membrane associated phospholipids, that is exposed on the surface of cells undergoing apoptotic cell death.

There is also another set of NAbs that recognizes a different type of cell membrane-associated determinant associated with damaged red cells. Within the repertoire of B-1 cells, one of the most characteristic differences from the repertoires of other types of B cells are the clonal expansions of VH11 and VH12-expressing B-1 cells that can represent 5–15% of the pool.<sup>9</sup> This type of B-1 cell IgM NAbs specifically recognize mouse red blood cells treated with bromelain.9-11 This distinct determinant appears to also become expressed on aging sheep red cells, which in the past reports appeared to have cross-reactivity with phosphatidyl choline containing liposomes.<sup>12</sup> However, the PC-specific NAbs mentioned above have little or no reactivity with red cells of most species, whether young or senescent. This may be explained, in part, by the special biology of mature red cells, which lack mitochondria and the machinery required to initiate the intrinsic programmed cell death pathway that is associated with high levels of oxidative damage (see below). While healthy humans also generally express NAbs to PC (see Chapter 1 by Binder) and senescent red cells (see Chapter 6 by Lutz), lupus patients can also develop antibodies against cardiolipin and  $\beta 2$  glycoprotein I, as well as to single stranded (ss) DNA,<sup>13-15</sup> which may become exposed or deposited on dead and dying cells and therefore may play secondary roles for the immune recognition of dead and dying cells. In this chapter, we will focus on NAbs that directly bind to apoptotic cells, discuss anticardiolipin antibodies as well as the possible roles of these antibodies in health and disease.

#### CELL SURFACE MEMBRANE CHANGES DURING CELL DEATH

Three common pathways of cell death are now well recognized: apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. Apoptosis is the 'physiological' form of cell death that occurs as cells approach the end of their normal lifespan and this form of cell death is also observed during homeostatic processes such as thymic negative selection or cell number contraction that occurs during resolution of inflammation (reviewed in ref. 16). Although some of the changes in the cell membrane discussed below may briefly be observed following necrotic or autophagic cell death, for the purposes of this discussion we will focus on cell surface alterations that occur during apoptosis.

During cell death, multiple alterations to cell membranes occur. The early stages are associated with the exposure on the cell surface of phosphatidylserine (PS), which in health is sequestered to the inner leaflet of the membrane. Apoptosis-associated PS exposure

is caused by the reduced function of a translocase and possibly by activation of a lipid scramblase.<sup>17</sup> Depending on the precise mode of cell death and the speed with which the cell is subsequently phagocytosed, PS may become oxidized by reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated by the mitochondria during apoptosis.<sup>18,19</sup> ROS modify polyunsaturated lipids to generate the highly reactive aldehyde, malondialdehyde (MDA) on the cell surface. Another very important change affects the abundant neutral phospholipid, phosphatidylcholine, that, in contrast to PS, is normally concentrated in the outer leaflet of the cell membrane. Kim et al.<sup>20</sup> have shown that during apoptosis, caspase-activated iPLA2 (Ca<sup>2+</sup> independent phospholipase A2) is responsible for the generation of lyso-PC (PC that lacks a fatty acid in the sn-2 position). This modified lipid is present on the cell surface in an altered conformation as compared with its parent molecule, but may also diffuse away from the cell membrane and serve as a chemoattractant for macrophages ('find me' signal).<sup>21,22</sup> While PS may become diffusely displayed on the surface of dying cells, during the activation of some types of healthy cells, including lymphocytes, there can be transient expression of localized membrane PS patches, which may facilitate certain types of cell-cell interactions. In addition, in healthy cells the negatively charged phospholipid, cardiolipin, is normally limited to the inner leaflet of mitochondria, where it interacts with cytochrome C. Following cell injury and especially after oxidation, it may redistribute to the outer mitochondrial membrane.

# ANTIBODIES TO CELL SURFACE ANTIGENS THAT BECOME EXPOSED ON APOPTOTIC CELLS

As mentioned above, numerous alterations to the surface of dying cells have been observed and many of these changes involve lipids. Lipid modification leads to the generation of neo-epitopes that are recognized by antibodies, as discussed below. These modified phospholipid residues can also be specifically recognized by a range of cellular receptors as well as by soluble factors that act as bridging molecules for the recognition and clearance of dead and dying cells. These serum opsonins (bridging proteins) include collectins such as C1q, mannose binding lectin (MBL), Annexin I, Growth Arrest Specific-6 (GAS6), Protein S,  $\beta 2$  glycoprotein I ( $\beta 2$ -GPI) and milk fat globule epidermal growth factor 8 (MFGE-8), among others (reviewed in ref. 23). While the binding of bridging proteins is essential for apoptotic clearance and the maintenance of homeostasis, binding of antibodies to apoptotic cells may further facilitate the clearance of dying cells by amplifying the efficiency of the recruitment by certain opsonins (see below).

# Antibodies to PC, Malondialdehyde (MDA) and Lipoproteins (see Fig. 1 for Lipid Structures)

Healthy humans and non-autoimmune strains of mice commonly express IgM NAbs to PC and to the oxidation-associated neo-determinant, malondialdehyde.<sup>5,24</sup> All immunocompetent strains of mice produce structurally related anti-PC NAbs that share T15 idiotypic markers, that predominantly, or solely, arise in the B-1 B-cell compartment discussed above. T15-related B cells dominate the immune responses to PC-antigens and are required for effective defense from infection by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, as PC is an immunodominant determinant in the cell wall polysaccharide shared by all pneumococcal strains.<sup>25</sup>


**Figure 1.** Phospholipid related antigens involved in NAb responses to apoptotic cells. Phosphorylcholine (PC) is the head group in neutral phospholipids that is inaccessible in the native phosphatidyl choline (PtC) on the surface of healthy cells. In contrast, on apoptotic cells PC is thought to become accessible to recognition by NAbs through the release of the sn-2 fatty acid by phospholipase A2 and/or oxidative processes that induce a conformational change. Oxidation generates 1-palmitoyl-2-(5-oxovaleroyl)-sn glycero-3-phosphocholine (POVPC) as shown. Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a reactive aldehyde that is formed by interactions of reactive oxygen species with lipids. MDA can become expressed on the surface of cells dying by apoptosis.

The prototypic T15 antibody expresses canonical VH and Vk gene re-arrangements of the VHS107.1 gene paired with a Vk22Jk5 light re-arrangement. The VHS107.1 germline gene appears to have been selected during the evolution of the murine immune system for its capacity to enable PC-antigen binding, as mice with targeted deletion of the VHS107.1 gene are functionally impaired in the recognition of microbial or neo-self apoptosis-associated antigens.<sup>8,26,27</sup> Yet wild-type mice raised under germ-free conditions display the same developmental program with high representation of anti-PC B cells and antibodies during the early neonatal period as mice raised under standard conditions.<sup>28</sup> This suggests that microbial ligands are not required for the clonal selection of these B cells during early development. Due to the ubiquity of apoptotic cells, especially during development, and the known resistance of B-1 cells to self-ligand mediated negative selection, it has been postulated that B cells expressing these anti-PC NAbs are in fact positively selected by modified apoptotic cell membrane-associated ligands during the early development of the B-cell compartment, probably in the fetal liver.

Low density lipoproteins (LDL) are complex macromolecules containing both phospholipids and a number of specialized proteins involved in lipoprotein transport and regulation. Witztum and colleagues found that in hyperlipidemic mice (secondary to deficiency of Apoliporotein E or low density lipoprotein receptor), there was a spontaneous and progressive expansion of NAb responses that recognized determinants on oxidatively modified LDL, but not reduced native LDL.<sup>29</sup> During early disease, these antibodies were predominantly IgM but later, IgG became more prevalent. When B-cell hybridomas were generated from unstimulated splenocytes from Apo-E deficient mice, serologic surveys demonstrated that ~30% of wells contained IgM antibodies that bound to oxidized LDL, but not native LDL or MDA-modified LDL.29 Later studies of fractionated atherosclerotic plaques, which contained the apoptotic cells and oxidized LDL-stuffed macrophages, demonstrated that many of the OxLDL-reactive monoclonal IgM recognized the modified lipid, 1-palmitoyl-2-(5-oxovaleroyl)-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POVPC). Further immunogenetic characterization of these B-cell hybridomas showed that POVPC recognition was restricted to clones that expressed antibody gene re-arrangements identical to those of the classical T15 clone.<sup>30</sup> In fact, a number of these hybridomas, typified by the EO6 clone, expressed identical re-arrangements without a single point mutation, and their antibody products bound PC and expressed the T15 idiotype.<sup>30</sup>

The biologic relevance of this NAb response was evaluated in studies demonstrating that the EO6/T15 monoclonal antibody bound to apoptotic porcine aortic endothelial cells but not to healthy cells,<sup>31</sup> and that this binding was dose-dependently inhibited by PC chloride or by PC-albumin conjugate, which suggests that the determinants recognized on apoptotic cells are PC-containing determinants and/or use a similar antigenic binding site on this prototypic antibody.<sup>30,32</sup> This murine antibody therefore appears similar to those described by Kim et al.,<sup>20</sup> in which IgM NAbs were shown to recognize lyso-phosphatidyl choline and related neo-antigens on apoptotic cells. Therefore, there is a type of human and murine IgM NAbs that bind to oxidized phosphorylcholine (PC)-containing phospholipids and also POVPC protein adducts, but not to native low density lipoprotein (LDL) or non-oxidized phosphatidylcholine such as in 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonyl-sn-glyceroyl-3-phosphorylcholine (PAPC).<sup>30,32</sup>

PC determinants may also be immunodominant during in vivo responses in non-autoimmune mice. Chen et al. showed that following intravenous infusion of syngeneic apoptotic thymocytes more than 25% of induced IgM-secreting cells in the spleen recognized PC antigens, and these apoptotic cell infusions induced antibodies that also expressed the T15 idiotype.<sup>8</sup> In addition, there was also a comparable high frequency of NAb-secreting B cells that instead recognized MDA. In earlier studies Mevorach et al.<sup>33</sup> showed that infusion of apoptotic cells also enhanced the production of antibodies to single stranded DNA and to cardiolipin.

#### Antibodies to Cardiolipin

Both PS and CL are negatively charged phospholipids. It is therefore possible that PS exposure on apoptotic cells contributes to the stimulation of anti-CL and/or that anti-CL bind to PS on dying cells. Despite the fact that neither of these possibilities have been clearly proven, we briefly discuss aCL. Anti-CL antibodies were first described in infectious diseases, initially syphilis, and more recently, tuberculosis and HIV-1. These antibodies are a diagnostic criterion for the primary anti-phospholipid syndrome (PAPS) and are detected in approximately a third of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus

(SLE). If cardiolipin becomes exposed on a cell surface or apoptotic bleb, it forms a complex with the 50 kDa serum glycoprotein,  $\beta$ 2-GPI (also termed apolipoprotein H), that is present at high levels in the circulation (~200 µg/ml).<sup>34</sup> Importantly, antibodies that specifically recognize the complex of CL and  $\beta$ 2-GPI do not commonly arise during infections and are more specific for SLE and PAPS.

In contrast to NAbs of the IgM isotype, IgG anti-CL and IgG anti- $\beta$ 2-GPI are considered disease markers<sup>35</sup> and these may potentially be directly "pathogenic" (associated with the clinical complications of fetal loss, thrombosis and thrombocytopenia). In SLE patients, IgG anti- $\beta$ 2-GPI antibodies are predominantly of the IgG2 subclass,<sup>36</sup> which may suggest that their pathogenic features involve the blocking of the functional properties of  $\beta$ 2-GPI by an IgG autoantibody. As human IgG2 antibodies have limited capacity to form immune complexes that trigger activating Fc $\gamma$ R, the predominant expression of the IgG2 subclass among anti- $\beta$ 2-GPI antibodies likely indicates that Fc $\gamma$ R mediated pathways are not central to the pathogenesis of these responses. While it remains to be shown precisely how these antibodies are associated with clinical complications, murine models have implicated complement activation.<sup>37</sup> It should also be mentioned that although IgM anti- $\beta$ 2-GPI has been added as a criteria for the diagnosis of the Anti-Phospholipid syndrome, this association has been challenged, and recent studies have shown an association with protection from lupus nephritis.<sup>38</sup>

## **BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF NAbs TO APOPTOTIC CELLS**

The proposed functions of NAbs binding to apoptotic cells were initially controversial as some studies suggested that these antibodies block apoptotic cell phagocytosis,<sup>31</sup> while others suggested that phagocytosis was facilitated through activation of the classical pathway of complement.<sup>20</sup> Most recent studies strongly support the role of anti-PC NAbs in promotion of apoptotic cell clearance following recruitment of C1q and/or mannose binding lectin (MBL).<sup>8</sup> Furthermore, phagocytosis of NAb-opsonized apoptotic cells was also shown to promote the anti-inflammatory properties of apoptotic cells (see below).

#### Binding of NAbs to Apoptotic Cell Recruits Complement

Previous studies revealed that complement opsonization is required for efficient phagocytosis of dying cells in vitro<sup>39,40</sup> and that uptake of these opsonized cells is associated with expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, TGF-β.<sup>40</sup> The fact that C1q binds to apoptotic cells in vitro,<sup>41</sup> that apoptotic cells accumulate in the kidneys of mice deficient in C1q,<sup>42</sup> and that complement activation on apoptotic cells promotes phagocytosis of these cells by macrophages in vitro, suggested a pivotal role for complement in the non-inflammatory clearance of dying cells. Since mice deficient in the secreted form of IgM NAbs developed IgG autoantibodies and a lupus-like disease,<sup>43,44</sup> Kim et al.<sup>20</sup> proposed that IgM deficiency may contribute to the pathogenesis of lupus because IgM NAbs are necessary for complement recruitment and the efficient clearance of apoptotic cells. In support of this hypothesis, it was observed in these in vitro studies that, in the absence of IgM, much less C3 and C3 breakdown products were deposited on apoptotic cells. As C3 recruitment is a downstream consequence of IgM there was much less complement recruitment to apoptotic cells. Quartier et al.<sup>45</sup> and Ogden

et al.<sup>46</sup> later provided additional support for these findings in studies that used sera from genetically manipulated mice with complement deficiencies. Using the prototypic T15 monoclonal IgM NAb from the EO6 hybridoma, Chen et al.<sup>8</sup> directly demonstrated that IgM NAb mediated C1q recruitment onto apoptotic cells. In sum, these studies demonstrate the contribution of IgM NAbs which may form immune complexes with exposed cellular neo-determinants resulting in conformational changes in the IgM constant region that facilitates the recruitment of C1q<sup>47</sup> which can result in activation of the classical complement cascade.

Chen et al. observed that IgM anti-PC NAbs also enhanced MBL deposition on IgM or on the apoptotic cell membrane itself.<sup>8</sup> MBL is a multimeric collectin immune recognition protein that initiates the lectin pathway of complement activation that can result in downstream C3 deposition.

Under normal physiologic conditions, C1q or MBL binding can initiate the catalytic complement cascade resulting in substantial deposition of C3b on the cell surface membrane. C3b/C3bi is a potent ligand for the abundant receptors on macrophage cell surface, CR3 and CR4, that enhance ingestion of opsonized cells.<sup>39</sup> Moreover, complement activation can proceed and lead to membrane attack complex formation, which results in lysis (post apoptotic necrosis). The lysis-induced release of intracellular constituents can stimulate an inflammatory immune responses. An important question then arises: if NAbs can recruit complement regulatory proteins CD55 (DAF) and CD46 (MCP) that function to deactivate complement and prevent bystander activation. Second, under normal circumstances, the flagging by IgM of apoptotic cells with high levels of C1q, MBL and C3b/C3bi is likely to result in clearance that is so efficient and rapid that cell corpses are removed without substantial release of their contents, which thus prevents an inflammatory response (Fig. 2).

#### NAbs That Bind Apoptotic Cells Facilitate Phagocytosis by Macrophages

As mentioned above, in the absence of IgM, there was a significant relative defect in clearance of apoptotic cells by macrophages both in vitro and in vivo.<sup>45,46</sup> The efficiency of apoptotic cell clearance by macrophages was restored following addback of sera with IgM, and complement was required for this effect. These studies therefore strongly validate the role of NAbs in the clearance of apoptotic cells through activation of complement.

#### Binding of NAbs to Apoptotic Cell Facilitates Phagocytosis by Dendritic Cells

In many settings, macrophages are primarily responsible for the clearance of apoptotic cells, a process that is essential to prevent the release of pro-inflammatory factors and autoantigens that can select pathogenic B- and T-cell clones. There are also subsets of dendritic cells (DCs) that share the phagocytic properties of activated macrophages, especially at early stages of differentiation and/or those expressing CD103 and high levels of CD11c. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by such DCs is part of a process of constant steady-state sampling and presentation of self-Ags, which in vivo experiments suggest actively reinforces immune tolerance.<sup>48</sup> Yet DCs also serve as sentinel immune cells and when induced to full maturity, lose the phagocytic capacity, upregulate costimulatory molecules and chemokine receptors, migrate to draining lymph nodes, and become potent



**Figure 2.** Role of IgM NAbs in the clearance of apoptotic cells. When cells die, a series of biochemical pathways are initiated which result in numerous biochemical alterations to membrane lipids on the cell surface membrane. Among these, IgMNAbs recognize phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphorylcholine (PC) andmalondialdehyde (MDA) (see Fig. 1). Once bound to the cell surface neoantigens, IgMs recruit C1q, which in turn may directly bind to receptors on phagocytes and also activate the classical complement pathway. The classical complement proteins, particularly C1q and C3b, opsonize the dying cells for ingestion by macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). C3b is recognized by the CR3 and CR4 (CD11b) receptors whereas C1q receptors remain controversial.<sup>53</sup> Phagocytosisof apoptotic cells ingested by macrophages and DC prevent inflammatory responses and help produce tolerance to self. Note that other ligands and receptors are also involved in the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, as discussed in the text and the differential expression of receptors and macrophages has not formally been compared. See reference 16 for a fuller discussion of these topics.

antigen presenting cells (APCs). When DCs are fully activated they can also be high-level producers of a range of cytokines and chemokines.

NAbs, such as the prototypic monoclonal T15 IgM (from the E06 hybridoma), not only enhanced the in vivo clearance of apoptotic cells by peritoneal macrophages, but also similarly enhanced the in vitro ingestion of apoptotic cells by DCs.<sup>8</sup> Notably, T15 IgM mediated apoptotic cell engulfment by DCs was almost entirely C1q- and/or MBL-dependent. Moreover, circulating NAbs to PC and MDA related determinants in murine neonatal and adult sera had similar properties for enhancing apoptotic cell phagocytosis by DCs.<sup>8</sup> It should be noted that as phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by DCs

occurs in serum-free media supplemented with either MBL or C1q, and in serum-free cultures supplemented with sera from C4-deficient and C3-deficient mice,<sup>27</sup> it suggests that IgM NAb-mediated enhancement of DC phagocytosis of apoptotic cells does not have an absolute requirement for C4, C3, iC3b nor for activation of the downstream complement cascade.<sup>8</sup> Conversely, while it was reported that complement can be directly deposited onto apoptotic cells,<sup>20</sup> in replicate cultures only small amounts of complement were deposited on apoptotic cells in the absence of IgM.<sup>8</sup>

### IgM Anti-PC Antibodies Block Inflammatory Responses of Macrophages and DCs

Inflammation is a protective host response to foreign challenge or tissue injury that is ultimately beneficial as it leads to the restoration of tissue structure and function. The resolution of an inflammatory response is therefore essential for homeostasis and involves numerous pathways. Not only the clearance of apoptotic cells, but the exposure to the membranes of apoptotic cells have been recognized as important mechanisms for the control and resolution of inflammation in vivo (reviewed in ref. 7).

Recent in vitro studies have shown that the IgM anti-PC antibodies to apoptotic cells blocked inflammatory cytokine (IL-6, IL-12p70, IL-17, TNFa) responses by bone marrow derived DCs to Toll-like receptors (TLR) (agonist in parenthesis): TLR3 (poly (I:C), TLR4 (LPS), TLR7(imiquimod) and TLR9 (CpG DNA).<sup>27</sup> IgM antibodies also suppressed IFN related genes, including IP-10<sup>27</sup> and IFN- $\beta$ 1 and IRF-4 (unpublished). However, we were surprised to find that the IgM antibodies did not induce bone marrow-derived DCs to produce IL-10 or TGF- $\beta$ , factors implicated in the suppression of inflammatory responses in other settings. During these incubations a certain proportion of cells died with the characteristic features of apoptosis, and complexes spontaneously formed with the IgM anti-PC. Hence, the anti-inflammatory effects demonstrated were likely the result of the influence of IgM-apoptotic cell complexes. In addition, it should be noted that C1q can, even when bound to IgG containing immune complexes, lead to anti-inflammatory effects especially to Type 1 interferons.<sup>49</sup>

To confirm the biologic relevance of these findings, C57BL/6 mice received infusions of the T15 IgM or isotype control and then were challenged with LPS or poly(I:C) in vivo. The T15 IgMNAb also inhibited these in vivo responses as evidenced by suppression of blood levels of IL-6, IL-12p70, IL-17, TNF $\alpha$  and the chemokines, MIP-1a, MCP-1, KC (analogous to human IL-8) and IP-10, which have all been implicated in human autoimmune disease.<sup>27</sup> In mice treated with this anti-PC IgM, challenge with LPS also appeared to result in lower levels of activation markers on splenic macrophages and DCs, which included CD40, CD86 and MHC II, though this could also have reflected changes in the cellular trafficking of these cells.<sup>27</sup> These findings provided the first demonstration that IgM NAbs to apoptotic cells can regulate inflammatory responses from innate immune cells in vivo.

### **REGULATORY NAbs MAY BLOCK DEVELOPMENT OF INFLAMMATORY AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE**

Apoptotic cells have previously been shown to attenuate collagen-induced arthritis (CIA).<sup>50</sup> Specifically evaluating the role of IgM, Chen et al.<sup>27</sup> reported that pretreatment

with the T15 anti-PC NAb markedly reduced clinical disease activity, synovial leukocytic infiltrates, and bone and joint damage in CIA. Notably, there were no differences in IgG anti-collagen Type II (CII) levels induced by collagen immunization in the different treatment groups, which suggested that T15-NAb was primarily inhibiting the end-organ inflammatory response and not the autoimmune responses from B cells.

To further define the role of the adaptive immune system in this process, studies were also performed in the model of arthritis induced by passive transfer of anti-CII IgG, in which the innate immune system dominates pathogenic pathways. Pretreatment with the IgM T15-NAb significantly diminished joint swelling.<sup>27</sup> Taken together, these findings indicate that NAbs to apoptotic cell membrane determinants, such as PC, can convey immunoregulatory properties in models of arthritis by acting to blunt pro-inflammatory effector mechanisms mediated by the recruitment of IgG-autoantibody immune complexes. These findings confirmed the in vivo anti-inflammatory properties of regulatory NAbs to apoptotic cells and suggested that this is mediated by inhibition of both TLR responses as well as IgG-immune complex mediated inflammatory responses.<sup>27</sup>

# CONCLUSION: UNANSWERED QUESTIONS AND FUTURE APPLICATIONS

Recent findings with IgM NAbs raise a number of questions. A better understanding of their genesis as well as their role in clearance of dying cells in the spleen and sites of inflammation is necessary. Specifically, we need to understand how IgM NAbs fit in with the plethora of other molecules implicated in the clearance of apoptotic cells. Furthermore, we need to better characterize the nature of the cell surface interactions that are involved in phagocytosis (see also ref. 51). Are anti-CL antibodies generated in response to modified lipids on mitochondrial or even cell surface membranes? Could modulation of IgM/IgG ratios influence in vivo function and clinical outcomes?

Results from other studies examining the representation of human IgM antibodies to PC in different patient populations have suggested that higher levels may reflect protective properties while low levels may predispose to comorbid conditions.<sup>52</sup> It remains to be determined whether human IgM NAbs have comparable functional properties related to cellular immune responses. Future investigations are therefore needed to understand the potential roles of regulatory NAbs in health, and how such factors may protect or modulate the pathogenesis of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

KBE acknowledges support from the NIH RO1 AR48796 and R01 NS065933 and from the Alliance for Lupus Research. (GJS) acknowledges support from the NIH; R01AI090118, R01AI068063 and ARRA supplement, R01AI090118, and from the ACR REF Within Our Reach campaign, the Alliance for Lupus Research, the Arthritis Foundation and the P. Robert Majumder Charitable Trust.

#### REFERENCES

- Casali P, Schettino EW. Structure and function of natural antibodies. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1996; 210:167-79. PMID:8565555
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR. Normal, autoimmune, and malignant CD5+ B-cells: The LY-1 B lineage? Annu Rev Immunol 1988; 6:197-218. PMID:3289567 doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.06.040188.001213
- Foerster J. Autoimmune hemolytic anemias. In: Lee G et al., eds. Wintrobe's Clinical Hematology, 9th ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, 1993:1170-1196.
- Thurnheer MC, Zuercher AW, Cebra JJ et al. B1 cells contribute to serum IgM, but not to intestinal IgA, production in gnotobiotic Ig allotype chimeric mice. J Immunol 2003; 170:4564-71. PMID:12707334
- Briles DE, Nahm M, Schroer K et al. Antiphosphocholine antibodies found in normal mouse serum are protective against intravenous infection with type 3 streptococcus pneumoniae. J Exp Med 1981; 153:694-705. PMID:7252411 doi:10.1084/jem.153.3.694
- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC et al. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2000; 192:271-80. PMID:10899913 doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.271
- Erwig LP, Henson PM. Immunological consequences of apoptotic cell phagocytosis. Am J Pathol 2007; 171:2-8. PMID:17591947 doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.070135
- Chen Y, Park YB, Patel E et al. IgM antibodies to apoptosis-associated determinants recruit C1q and enhance dendritic cell phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. J Immunol 2009; 182:6031-43. PMID:19414754 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804191
- Mercolino TJ, Arnold LW, Hawkins LA et al. Normal mouse peritoneum contains a large population of Ly-1+ (CD5) B-cells that recognize phosphatidyl choline. Relationship to cells that secrete hemolytic antibody specific for autologous erythrocytes. J Exp Med 1988; 168:687-98. PMID:3045250 doi:10.1084/ jem.168.2.687
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Honda M et al. Ly-1 B-cells: functionally distinct lymphocytes that secrete IgM autoantibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:2494-8. PMID:6609363 doi:10.1073/pnas.81.8.2494
- Cox KO, Hardy SJ. Autoantibodies against mouse bromelain-modified RBC are specifically inhibited by a common membrane phospholipid, phosphatidylcholine. Immunology 1985; 55:263-9. PMID:4007927
- Mercolino TJ, Arnold LW, Haughton G. Phosphatidyl choline is recognized by a series of Ly-1+ murine B-cell lymphomas specific for erythrocyte membranes. J Exp Med 1986; 163:155-65. PMID:2416866 doi:10.1084/jem.163.1.155
- 13. Pisetsky DS. Anti-DNA and autoantibodies. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2000; 12:364-8. PMID:10990170 doi:10.1097/00002281-200009000-00002
- Rovere P, Manfredi AA, Vallinoto C et al. Dendritic cells preferentially internalize apoptotic cells opsonized by anti-beta2-glycoprotein I antibodies. J Autoimmun 1998; 11:403-11. PMID:9802923 doi:10.1006/ jaut.1998.0224
- Sorice M, Circella A, Misasi R et al. Cardiolipin on the surface of apoptotic cells as a possible trigger for antiphospholipids antibodies. Clin Exp Immunol 2000; 122:277-84. PMID:11091286 doi:10.1046/ j.1365-2249.2000.01353.x
- Elkon KB. Cell survival and death in the rheumatic diseases. In: Firestein GS, Budd RC et al., eds. Kelley's Textbook of Rheumatology, 6th ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company, 2009:379-395.
- Verhoven B, Schlegel RA, Williamson P. Mechanisms of phosphatidylserine exposure, a phagocyte recognition signal, on apoptotic T-lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1995; 182:1597-601. PMID:7595231 doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1597
- Jiang J, Serinkan BF, Tyurina YY et al. Peroxidation and externalization of phosphatidylserine associated with release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. Free Radic Biol Med 2003; 35:814-25. PMID:14583346 doi:10.1016/S0891-5849(03)00429-5
- Greenberg ME, Sun M, Zhang R et al. Oxidized phosphatidylserine-CD36 interactions play an essential role in macrophage-dependent phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. J Exp Med 2006; 203:2613-25. PMID:17101731 doi:10.1084/jem.20060370
- Kim SJ, Gershov D, Ma X et al. I-PLA(2) activation during apoptosis promotes the exposure of membrane lysophosphatidylcholine leading to binding by natural immunoglobulin M antibodies and complement activation. J Exp Med 2002; 196:655-65. PMID:12208880 doi:10.1084/jem.20020542
- Lauber K, Bohn E, Krober SM et al. Apoptotic cells induce migration of phagocytes via caspase-3-mediated release of a lipid attraction signal. Cell 2003; 113:717-30. PMID:12809603 doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(03)00422-7
- 22. Chen R, Roman J, Guo J et al. Lysophosphatidic acid modulates the activation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Stem Cells Dev 2006; 15:797-804. PMID:17253943 doi:10.1089/scd.2006.15.797
- Nagata S, Hanayama R, Kawane K. Autoimmunity and the clearance of dead cells. Cell 2010; 140:619-30. PMID:20211132 doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.014

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES TO APOPTOTIC CELLS

- Chou MY, Fogelstrand L, Hartvigsen K et al. Oxidation-specific epitopes are dominant targets of innate natural antibodies in mice and humans. J Clin Invest 2009; 119:1335-49. PMID:19363291 doi:10.1172/ JCI36800
- Sørensen UB, Henrichsen J. Cross-reactions between pneumococci and other streptococci due to C polysaccharide and F antigen. J Clin Microbiol 1987; 25:1854-9. PMID:3499450
- 26. Mi QS, Zhou L, Schulze DH et al. Highly reduced protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae after deletion of a single heavy chain gene in mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:6031-6. PMID:10811914 doi:10.1073/pnas.110039497
- Chen Y, Khanna S, Goodyear CS et al. Regulation of dendritic cells and macrophages by an anti-apoptotic cell natural antibody that suppresses TLR responses and inhibits inflammatory arthritis. J Immunol 2009; 183:1346-59. PMID:19564341 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900948
- Etlinger HM, Heusser CH. T15 dominance in BALB/c mice is not controlled by environmental factors. J Immunol 1986; 136:1988-91. PMID:3485136
- Palinski W, Horkko S, Miller E et al. Cloning of monoclonal autoantibodies to epitopes of oxidized lipoproteins from apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Demonstration of epitopes of oxidized low density lipoprotein in human plasma. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:800-14. PMID:8698873 doi:10.1172/JCI118853
- Shaw PX, Horkko S, Chang MK et al. Natural antibodies with the T15 idiotype may act in atherosclerosis, apoptotic clearance, and protective immunity. J Clin Invest 2000; 105:1731-40. PMID:10862788 doi:10.1172/JCI8472
- 31. Chang MK, Bergmark C, Laurila A et al. Monoclonal antibodies against oxidized low-density lipoprotein bind to apoptotic cells and inhibit their phagocytosis by elicited macrophages: evidence that oxidation-specific epitopes mediate macrophage recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:6353-8. PMID:10339591 doi:10.1073/pnas.96.11.6353
- Shaw PX, Goodyear CS, Chang MK et al. The autoreactivity of anti-phosphorylcholine antibodies for atherosclerosis-associated neo-antigens and apoptotic cells. J Immunol 2003; 170:6151-7. PMID:12794145
- Mevorach D, Zhou J-L, Song X et al. Systemic exposure to irradiated apoptotic cells induces autoantibody production. J Exp Med 1998; 188:387-92. PMID:9670050 doi:10.1084/jem.188.2.387
- 34. Matsuura E, Igarashi Y, Yasuda T et al. Anticardiolipin antibodies recognize beta 2-glycoprotein I structure altered by interacting with an oxygen modified solid phase surface. J Exp Med 1994; 179:457-62. PMID:7507506 doi:10.1084/jem.179.2.457
- 35. Miyakis S, Lockshin MD, Atsumi T et al. International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). J Thromb Haemost 2006; 4:295-306. PMID:16420554 doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01753.x
- 36. Guerin J, Casey E, Feighery C et al. Anti-Beta 2-glycoprotein I antibody isotype and IgG subclass in antiphospholipid syndrome patients. Autoimmunity 1999; 31:109-16. PMID:10680749 doi:10.3109/08916939908994054
- Girardi G, Redecha P, Salmon JE. Heparin prevents antiphospholipid antibody-induced fetal loss by inhibiting complement activation. Nat Med 2004; 10:1222-6. PMID:15489858 doi:10.1038/nm1121
- Mehrani T, Petri M. Association of IgA Anti-beta2 glycoprotein I with clinical and laboratory manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2011; 38:64-8. PMID:20952463 doi:10.3899/jrheum.100568
- Mevorach D, Mascarenhas J, Gershov DA et al. Complement-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells by human macrophages. J Exp Med 1998; 188:2313-20. PMID:9858517 doi:10.1084/jem.188.12.2313
- 40. Gershov D, Kim S, Brot N et al. C-reactive protein binds to apoptotic cells, protects the cells from assembly of the terminal complement components and sustains an antiinflammatory innate immune response. Implications for systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med 2000; 192:1353-64. PMID:11067883 doi:10.1084/ jem.192.9.1353
- Korb LC, Ahearn JM. C1q binds directly and specifically to surface blebs of apoptotic human keratinocytes. J Immunol 1997; 158:4525-8. PMID:9144462
- Botto M, Dell'Agnola C, Bygrave AE et al. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. Nat Genet 1998; 19:56-9. PMID:9590289 doi:10.1038/ng0598-56
- Ehrenstein MR, Cook HT, Neuberger MS. Deficiency in serum immunoglobulin (Ig)M predisposes to development of IgG autoantibodies. J Exp Med 2000; 191:1253-8. PMID:10748243 doi:10.1084/ jem.191.7.1253
- 44. Boes M. Role of natural and immune IgM antibodies in immune responses. Mol Immunol 2000; 37:1141-9. PMID:11451419 doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00025-6
- 45. Quartier P, Potter PK, Ehrenstein MR et al. Predominant role of IgM-dependent activation of the classical pathway in the clearance of dying cells by murine bone marrow-derived macrophages in vitro. Eur J Immunol 2005; 35:252-60. PMID:15597324 doi:10.1002/eji.200425497
- 46. Ogden CA, Kowalewski R, Peng YF et al. IgM is required for efficient complement mediated phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in vivo. Autoimmunity 2005; 38:259-64. PMID:16206508 doi:10.1080/08916930500124452

- Czajkowsky DM, Shao Z. The human IgM pentamer is a mushroom-shaped molecule with a flexural bias. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106:14960-5. PMID:19706439 doi:10.1073/pnas.0903805106
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2003; 21:685-711. PMID:12615891 doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141040
- 49. Santer DM, Hall BE, George TC et al. C1q deficiency leads to the defective suppression of IFN-alpha in response to nucleoprotein containing immune complexes. J Immunol 2010; 185:4738-49. PMID:20844193 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001731
- Gray M, Miles K, Salter D et al. Apoptotic cells protect mice from autoimmune inflammation by the induction of regulatory B-cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104:14080-5. PMID:17715067 doi:10.1073/ pnas.0700326104
- Silverman GJ. Regulatory natural autoantibodies to apoptotic cells: Pallbearers and protectors. Arthritis Rheum 2011; 63:597-602. PMID: 21360488, doi: 10.1002/art.30140.
- 52. Anania C, Gustafsson T, Hua X et al. Increased prevalence of vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques and low levels of natural IgM antibodies against phosphorylcholine in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther 2010; 12:R214. PMID:21092251 doi:10.1186/ar3193
- Ogden CA, deCathelineau A, Hoffmann PR et al. C1q and mannose binding lectin engagement of cell surface calreticulin and CD91 initiates macropinocytosis and uptake of apoptotic cells. J Exp Med 2001; 194:781-95. PMID:11560994 doi:10.1084/jem.194.6.781

# CHAPTER 3

# NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES DIRECTED AGAINST CARBOHYDRATE TUMOR ANTIGENS

### Reinhard Schwartz-Albiez

German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Department of Translational Immunology, Heidelberg, Germany Email: r.s-albiez@dkfz.de

Abstract: Healthy persons carry within their pool of circulating antibodies immunoglobulins preferentially of IgM isotype, which are directed against a variety of tumor-associated antigens. In closer scrutiny of their nature, some of these antibodies could be defined as naturally occurring antibodies due to the germline configuration of the variable immunoglobulin region. The majority of these immunoglobulins recognize carbohydrate antigens which can be classified as oncofetal antigens. Many of these IgM antibodies present in the peripheral blood circulation can bind to tumor cells and of these a minor portion are also able to destroy tumor cells by several mechanisms, as for instance complement-mediated cytolysis or apoptosis. It was postulated that anti-carbohydrate antibodies are part of an anti-tumor immune response, while their presence in the peripheral blood of healthy donors is still waiting for a plausible explanation. It may be that recognition of defined epitopes, including carbohydrate sequences, by naturally occurring antibodies constitutes the humoral arm of an anti-tumor immune response as part of the often postulated tumor surveillance. The cytotoxic capacity of these antibodies inspired several research groups and pharmaceutical companies to design novel strategies of immunoglobulin-based anti-tumor immunotherapy.

## INTRODUCTION

Several research groups have reported that the peripheral blood of healthy persons contains antibodies which recognize carbohydrate structures. High throughput screening by means of glycan-array technology revealed that these antibodies react with a range of distinct carbohydrates consisting for example of blood groups (apart from the ABO

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

<sup>©2012</sup> Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

system, Le<sup>x</sup> (CD15), sulfated Le<sup>x</sup> (CD15u), Le<sup>y</sup> (CD174), I-antigen, P1, P<sup>k</sup> and more complex N- and O-linked oligosaccharides).<sup>1-5</sup> The respective antigens may occur as a carbohydrate moiety of glycoproteins or glycosphingolipids either as soluble molecules or as integral glycoconjugates of the cell membrane. Some of the glycan epitopes recognized by antibodies are present under healthy conditions; some are distinctly associated with malignant processes. A variety of human anti-carbohydrate antibodies act against antigens which occur frequently in bacteria or non-human mammalians and are like those against the  $\alpha$ -gal epitope (Gal $\alpha$ 1–3Gal $\beta$ 1–4GlcNAc)<sup>6,7</sup> produced in considerable concentrations (according to the literature, the amount of these antibodies comprises approximately 1% of immunoglobulins). Another example are circulating antibodies against terminal N-glycolylneuraminic acid-containing sialoglycans.<sup>8</sup> N-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc) is a variant of neuraminic acid which is not produced in humans. For antibodies against Neu5Gc the major antigen source seems to be food of mammalian origin.

There is considerable evidence that many tumor-associated antigens consist of carbohydrate structures and further that carbohydrate-specific naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) can recognize these antigens. Many issues with regard to these carbohydrate-specific NAbs are still unsolved and open a wide field of fundamental, immunological research.

For most of the anti-carbohydrate antibodies in peripheral blood we do not know whether they belong to the class of NAbs or to those antibodies produced after contact with an exogenous antigen. Certainly, both types of antibodies are present. Another question is: why do we produce such a great variety of carbohydrate-directed antibodies recognizing foreign and autoantigens? We will summarize our current knowledge and discuss prominent hypotheses concerning these issues. Anti-carbohydrate antibodies in the blood of healthy persons may not only bind to tumor cells but a small percentage are also able to destroy them. Are these cytotoxic antibodies part of the immune system responsible for tumor surveillance? We have some evidence that the cellular branch of the immune system, for instance represented by natural killer (NK) cells, is responsible for monitoring and destroying tumor cells, especially in the early phase of tumor growth.<sup>9</sup> On the side of humoral immunity some experimental results indicate a role of NAbs in tumor defense.<sup>10,11</sup> Nevertheless, it is not known whether anti-carbohydrate NAbs have a function in tumor surveillance.

# CHARACTERIZATION AND ORIGIN OF ANTI-CARBOHYDRATE ANTIBODIES

A majority of anti-carbohydrate antibodies seems to be derived from the pool of NAbs produced already during fetal life, which do not need a stimulus by an exogenous antigen. Evidence for this is based on the genetic analysis of immunoglobulin structure of autoantibodies including those against carbohydrates. Nonmutated germline variable region configuration of genes encoding heavy and light chains is a feature of NAbs.<sup>12</sup> For those NAbs isolated from cancer patients it was found that light chains are primarily and in contrast to most circulating antibodies of the lambda type. More than 80% of these antibodies were encoded by  $V_{\rm H}$  genes of the  $V_{\rm H3}$  family and within this family especially of the germline genes *DP47* and *DP49*.<sup>13</sup> These NAbs are produced over a long period if not lifelong. The mechanisms of this continuous antibody production are not yet clear.

#### NAbs DIRECTED AGAINST CARBOHYDRATE TUMOR ANTIGENS

In particular our knowledge about half-lives and replenishment of these antibodies is still very limited.

On the other hand a certain amount of anti-carbohydrate antibodies is produced during early stages of childhood when the gastrointestinal tract is colonized by bacteria. The presence of these anti-carbohydrate antibodies reflects the large variety of bacterial oligosaccharides the young organisms are confronted with.

Competition between invading pathogenic microorganisms and the host defense system against these attacks may also have been the driving force to create the diversity of surface oligosaccharides on both sides—pathogens and host—and for the pathogens to continuously invent new mechanisms of mimicry to escape recognition by the immune system.<sup>14</sup> The complexity of carbohydrate structures of our body may have further arisen "in part from our need to both evade pathogenic relationships and to co-evolve symbiotic relationships with our non-pathogenic resident microbes.<sup>15</sup>" For this interdependent process Gordon coined the term "glycan legislation.<sup>16</sup>" Similarily, apart from antibodies, the host defense system has also developed glycan recognition proteins (lectins) during evolution which function both in the control of innate and adaptive immune responses. There are many lectins like those of the selectin and siglec family and the galectins, which function for example in antigen presentation and lymphocyte activation.<sup>17-19</sup>

During breast feeding another rich source of carbohydrates is offered to the young organism. We can find over 200 different oligosaccharides in mothers' milk.<sup>20</sup> When these carbohydrates reach the infant's gastrointestinal tract they can exert beneficial protective effects against bacterial attacks. Bacteria use oligosaccharide structures of the host by means of their fimbriae as attachment sites.<sup>21</sup> Oligosacharides derived of the mothers' milk can serve as soluble, anti-adhesive competitors with the cell surface glycans and thus may prevent infection at an early stage. Do oligosaccharides of the mother's milk stimulate anti-carbohydrate antibody production? To my knowledge the relationship between breast feeding and production of anti-carbohydrate antibodies has not yet been investigated.

B lymphocytes producing these antibodies belong to the splenic marginal zone B lymphocytes and the B1 type of the peritoneal and pleural cavities.<sup>22</sup> They are described as a B-cell subset already active during fetal life. Earlier, these B lymphocytes were characterized by the expression of CD5; now human B1 cells of umbilical cord and adult peripheral blood were closer defined in that they additionally express a distinct pattern of surface markers (CD20<sup>+</sup>, CD27<sup>+</sup>, CD43<sup>+</sup>, CD70<sup>-</sup>).<sup>23</sup> Although the majority of these B1 cells are CD5 positive, there exist also CD5<sup>+</sup>, CD27<sup>+</sup> and CD43<sup>-</sup> B lymphocytes which belong to the subgroup of B memory cells. Therefore a closer definition of B1 cells by several CD markers is useful and also reflects the complexity within the differentiation of B lymphocytes. B1 cells can be further separated according to their function into B1a and B1b cells. While B1a cells produce NAbs, which are stimulated by so-called danger signals via non-specific Toll-like receptor activation as part of the innate immune system, B1b cells and those B cells of the splenic marginal zone seem to be responsible for the production of anti-carbohydrate NAbs. In contrast to the marginal zone B cells which are mainly responsible for the production of plasma cells, the B1b have the capability both to proliferate and produce plasma cells and thus may be the source of memory cells securing the long lasting production of anti-carbohydrate antibodies.<sup>24</sup> Interestingly and opposite to the dogma that only B2 cells undergo affinity maturation, there may also occur somatic hypermutations in peritoneal B1 cells mainly of IgA and much less of IgM antibodies of B1b cells.<sup>25</sup> Whether the population of long-living B1a lymphocytes, responsible for the production of circulating NAbs against bacterial pathogens and autoantigens, also produce anti-carbohydrate antibodies is not yet known.<sup>26</sup>

One may also find anti-carbohydrate antibodies of the IgG isotype with somatic mutations in the V genes, which is consistent with an antigen-driven process. Although NAbs of IgG isotype reactive against tumor antigens have been identified, to our knowledge NAbs described to react with a carbohydrate epitope belong exclusively to the IgM class.<sup>27</sup>

Although many of the anti-carbohydrate antibodies of peripheral blood may originate from the pool of NAbs, we cannot exclude, as we have seen, the presence of those produced by an antigen-driven process. Thus, as a cautionary remark, we cannot assume that all anti-carbohydrate antibodies in peripheral blood, even those of IgM isotype, are of the same origin. This also applies to anti-carbohydrate antibodies in IVIG preparations, which contain a small percentage of IgM or IgA immunoglobulins.

Most NAbs are polyreactive antibodies, which means that the antigen-binding pocket of these antibodies is more flexible and thus can bind to several antigens albeit in different intensities. Polyreactive antibodies are a predominant part of the newborn's antibody repertoire.<sup>28</sup> It is estimated that about 20% of B lymphocytes in the peripheral blood produce polyreactive antibodies; most of these immunoglobulins belong to the IgM class.<sup>29</sup> The polyreactive nature of NAbs may explain why anti-carbohydrate antibodies can recognize both bacterial antigens and autoantigens provided these carbohydrates have similar structural characteristics, as for example charged side groups at a given carbon atom or a typical conformational pattern of hydrobobic and hydrophilic sites within the molecule. The antigen-binding pocket of polyreactive antibodies seems to be relatively flexible and multiple three-dimensional conformations may exist before antigen contact. It can also be that changes within the antigen-binding pocket of the antibody take place during antigen contact.<sup>29</sup> However, the high specificity of anti-carbohydrate antibodies recognizing even small anomeric differences in glycosidic bonds of sugar remains to be explained in more depth. Using a carbohydrate microarray carrying specific carbohydrates in varied densities, significant differences in the binding capacity of serum antibodies were observed. This may point to the presence of subpopulations of serum antibodies with different affinities to distinct carbohydrate epitopes.<sup>30</sup>

Why do antibodies recognize carbohydrate autoantigens and how did these antibodies evolve? For some glycans a close structural relationship between autoantigens and, e.g., bacterial antigens has been described and led to the "molecular mimicry hypothesis.<sup>31</sup>" For instance, the ganglioside GM1 has some structural similarity to the *Campylobacter jejuni* lipopolysaccharide, carrying a GM1-like glycan. The Guillain-Barré syndrome develops in a significant portion of patients subsequent to an infection with Campylobacter, and in patients suffering from the Guillain-Barré syndrome high titers of anti-GM1 antibodies of different isotypes are found.<sup>31</sup> Another hint to the link between bacterial infections and anti-carbohydrate autoantibodies is given by the better survival of patients suffering from seems to be correlated with higher titers of the Thomsen-Friedenreich carbohydrate antigen.<sup>32</sup>

The production of xenoreactive, anti-carbohydrate antibodies as observed for the lifelong production of  $\alpha$ -Gal antibodies can be explained by continuous stimulation by carbohydrate antigens of gastrointestinal bacteria of the microflora.<sup>7</sup> Antibodies against sialoglycans containing a terminal N-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc) may be produced due to dietary habits, i.e., consumption of red meat or milk.<sup>33</sup> In further consequence of this hypothesis strict vegetarians should possess less or no anti-Neu5Gc antibodies. To my knowledge this has not yet been verified in a respective epidemiological study. Notably

and in contrast to the majority of naturally occurring anti-carbohydrate antibodies these xenoreactive immunoglobulins are to the largest extent of IgG isotype. Regardless of the antibodies' origin it seems that certain features of glycan structures such as the terminal sugar and the configuration of the glycosidic bonds are decisive for antibody recognition.

Several central questions have to be answered concerning the relation between serum titers of anti-carbohydrate antibodies and tumor diagnosis and therapy: are distinct antibodies related to the outcome and progression of tumors? In particular, is the production of these antibodies against tumor-associated antigens initiated by the presence of a growing tumor mass or are these antibodies already present in healthy persons, thus contributing to a tumor surveillance system? From a practical perspective: are these antibodies only of diagnostic value or do they have a direct tumor cytotoxic capacity? In order to elaborate on these issues we should first have a closer look on the pecularities of tumor-associated glycosylation.

### TUMOR-ASSOCIATED CARBOHYDRATE ANTIGENS AS TARGET STRUCTURES FOR ANTI-TUMOR ANTIBODIES

Malignant cells differ from their normal counterparts in their varied expression of distinct macromolecular structures which provide an advantage for tumor survival in relation to their interaction with the environment, as for instance suspended growth control, enhanced metastatic potential or escape from immune surveillance. These tumor-associated structures can be classified into several categories: (i) tumor-specific mutated oncogenes, (ii) oncoviral antigens, (iii) abnormal expression of gene products, preferentially those involved in growth regulation, (iv) reappearance of early differentiation antigens ("oncofetal antigens") and (v) abnormal posttranslational modifications, as for instance changes in the glycosylation of distinct structures. Changes, especially those summarized under (iv) and (v), are to a large extent caused by alterations in cell surface expressed glycans. Most cell surface proteins are glycosylated and in addition, a variety of glycosphingolipids are expressed in different composition on the cell surface depending on differentiation stage and tissue. Due to changes in the transcription of glycosyltransferases during tumorigenesis, oligosaccharide structures of glycosylated macromolecules on tumor cells occur in different amounts and composition.<sup>34</sup> There are examples for elongated and also for shortened oligosaccharide sequences on defined glycoproteins of tumor cell surfaces (Fig. 1).<sup>35</sup> For instance, the Muc-1 glycoprotein on tumor cells is characterized by its shortened O-linked oligosaccharide chains, which can be defined as the Tn (T-nouvelle structure, CD175) and the Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen (CD176).<sup>36-38</sup> Another example is the CD55 (decay acceleration factor, DAF) which on stomach carcinoma cells is expressed with a tumor-specific carbohydrate epitope recognized by an antibody.<sup>39</sup>

Expression of glycans such as the Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen is closely related to the malignancy process of tumors as stage-specific oncofetal antigens (Fig. 2).<sup>40-42</sup> In colorectal cancers the staining intensity with monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) against CD176 is increased in liver metastasis of this tumor class.<sup>43</sup> Moreover, patients with CD176-positive primary tumors have a much higher risk to develop liver metastases and importantly, normal mucosa was always found to be negative for this antigen.<sup>43</sup> The nonsialylated CD176 is rarely found in normal human cells. For instance all hematopoietic cells express its  $\alpha$ 2,3 sialylated and thus negatively charged form.<sup>44</sup> An exception are certain T-cell subsets including thymocytes expressing in a limited differentiation or



**Figure 1.** Changes of glycoprotein glycosylation during tumorigenesis. During tumorigenesis alterations in the glycosylation machinery, as for example a switch in glycosyltransferases, occurs so that instead of mucins with complex O-linked oligosaccharide chains those with much shorter oligosaccharides (Tn/ CD175, TF/CD176) are expressed on the cell surface. Tn (T nouvelle)/CD175 consist of a single sugar, N-acetylgalactosamine,  $\alpha$ 1- O-linked to serine or threonine. The Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF, CD176) glycan structure is defined as the O-linked disaccharide Gal $\beta$ 1–3GalNAc which can either occur as TF $\alpha$  ( $\alpha$ 1-linked to the protein, core-1) or as TF $\beta$  ( $\beta$ -1 attached to the protein backbone). The T $\alpha$  form is predominantly carried by glycoproteins of the mucin type, whereas the TF $\beta$  form is exclusively part of glycosphingolipids (Type 4 histo-blood group antigens). As a consequence of this tumor-specific change, antibodies against CD175 or CD176 can now bind to the tumor-associated mucin.

activation phase the nonsialylated CD176 antigen. T cells containing nonsialylated CD176 for a longer period are eliminated, possibly by apoptosis.<sup>45-48</sup> The key enzyme for the transition to the sialylated state of CD176 is the  $\alpha$ 2,3 sialyltransferase (ST3Gal1).<sup>47</sup> In a few cases leukemia cells express nonsialylated CD176. Indeed, these cells could be destroyed in vitro by treatment with a CD176-specific monoclonal antibody. In the same line desialylation of CD176 by exogenous sialidase and subsequent monoclonal antibody treatment had the same effect.<sup>44</sup> Therefore it seems that in the normal healthy tissue and maybe in some tumors unmasked CD176 is a "danger signal." The question remains why colorectal tumor cells apparently have a selective advantage in expressing higher amounts of unmasked CD176? It was proposed that expression of CD176 favors adhesion to the asialoglycoprotein receptor on liver cells.<sup>49</sup> With regard to the prognostic value of CD176 expression in breast cancer there exists a controversial opinion. It was reported that CD176-positive breast cancers had a significantly better prognosis than CD176-negative tumors.<sup>50</sup> One has to consider that the routes of dissemination in breast cancer cells



# The Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen (CD176)

Structure of the Thomsen Friedenreich antigen  $Gal\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-R

• The TF disaccharide (core-1 structure) is exposed on cancer cells due to truncated glycosylation of cell surface glycoproteins.

• It is strongly expressed on human carcinomas (primary colon carcinoma are to 60% positive for CD176, liver metastases to 91%).

• It is an independent prognostic marker in colorectal cancer (patients with TF+ primary tumors have a significantly higher risk to develop metastases than patients with TF-tumors (57% vs 14%).

• In tumor patients the anti-CD176 titer is strongly reduced.

• Soluble TF is released by tumor cells into the blood – this may cause a consumption of anti-TF antibodies.

Figure 2. Structure and expression of the Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen /CD176.

primarily metastasize to lung, pleura and bones.<sup>50</sup> An important aspect is that healthy persons contain in their serum a considerable concentration of anti-CD176 antibodies whereas patients suffering from colorectal cancer have much lower serum titers of anti-CD176 antibodies.<sup>51</sup> These antibodies were primarily of IgM and much less of IgG isotype. Antibodies against the Tn antigen (CD175), which also shows an increased expression on some cancer types, were also detected. Thus anti-CD176 antibodies may be part of a humoral tumor surveillance system. The anti-tumor effect of CD176 antibodies was further corroborated in an in vivo experimental system in which liver metastases of the colon cell line Colo 26 were prevented by treatment with a CD176 monoclonal antibody.<sup>52</sup>

Also TF structures have been successfully applied as vaccines and CD176 monoclonal antibodies as anti-tumor therapeutic reagents.<sup>53</sup>

Another example is the serological tumor marker CA19–9, which consists of a glycan attached to mucins expressed on breast, ovarian and pancreatic tumors (Table 1).<sup>54</sup> In some tumors like melanoma, sarcoma and neuroblastoma the quantity of gangliosides GM2,

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES (NAbs)

Tumor	Carbohydrate Antigens		
Neuroblastoma	GD1a, GD3 (CD60a), GD2, GM1		
Melanoma	GM1, GM2, GM3, GD2, GD3 (CD60a), 9-O-acetylated GD3 (CD60b), 7-O-acetylated GD3 (CD60c)		
Sarcoma	GM2, GM3, GD1a, GD2, GT1b, polysialylated glycans (NCAM/CD56)		
Breast carcinoma	GM2, sialyl Tn (CD715s), Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF/CD176), Lewis <sup>y</sup> (CD174), sialyl Lewis <sup>a</sup> (CA 19–9), sialyl Lewis <sup>x</sup> (CD15s)		
Colon carcinoma	GM2, CD175s, CD176, sialyl Lewis <sup>a</sup> , CD174		
Pancreatic carcinoma	GM2, GD1b, sialyl Lewis <sup>a</sup> , CD15s		

Table 1. Carbohydrate markers of various human tumors

The carbohydrate markers listed here are a collection of the most common glycan markers on these tumors based on findings described in the literature. Certainly there are many more variations in the tumor cell glycosylation, as for instance those of prominent mucin glycoproteins. Strikingly, many glycan tumor markers are found in the class of gangliosides and blood group antigens.

GD2 and GD3 is very high (Table 1).<sup>55</sup> A prominent marker for neuroblastoma cells is the ganglioside GD2. Consequently, anti-GD2 monoclonal antibodies have been applied in anti-neuroblastoma therapeutic trials.<sup>56</sup> In some of these trials an improved outcome in patients with high-risk neuroblastoma was observed as compared with standard therapies. Anti-GD2 antibodies of healthy donors have cytotoxic capacity against neuroblastoma cells. The cytotoxic capacity of anti-GD2 antibodies derived from peripheral blood was demonstrated when purified GD2 added to the test system abolished the cytotoxic effect.57 Apparently, the titers of these anti-carbohydrate antibodies in neuroblastoma patients were negligible.58,59 A successful treatment of neuroblastoma with these antibodies of healthy donors was performed in a nude rat model bearing solid human neuroblastoma tumors<sup>57,60</sup> and further in a small clinical study of nine neuroblastoma children patients suffering from late stage neuroblastoma.<sup>61</sup> Neuroblastoma patients had undergone several different treatments like chemotherapy, surgery, bone marrow transplantations and application of anti-GD2 monoclonal antibodies before they were included in this study. Several treatments with plasma containing high titers of anti-neuroblastoma cytotoxic antibodies led to a considerable life prolongation in one patient and curation from the tumor in another patient.<sup>61</sup> Large-scale screening of sera from healthy donors revealed that a considerably small percentage of approximately 1-2% donors in the Western world have high titers of cytotoxic antibodies against several human tumors like neuroblastoma and melanoma (Schwartz-Albiez, unpublished results). Although only few donors carry cytotoxic anti-tumor antibodies of IgM isotype in their peripheral blood, almost all healthy persons have anti-tumor binding antibodies. Interestingly, IgG of peripheral blood only rarely had tumor-binding capacity (Schwartz-Albiez, unpublished results). Also, notably, the cytotoxic activity was only found in the IgM and not in the IgG pool of serum antibodies.<sup>62</sup> In our experience the amount of bound IgM to tumor cells did not positively correlate with the anti-tumor cytotoxic effect of the respective IgM fraction. For instance, some IgM samples with comparatively low IgM binding capacity showed a higher cytotoxicity than other samples with higher IgM binding to melanoma or neuroblastoma target cells. In conclusion, the group of cytotoxic IgM within the pool of peripheral blood IgM may vary from person to person. Further, a

#### NAbs DIRECTED AGAINST CARBOHYDRATE TUMOR ANTIGENS

cytotoxic antibody has to attach to a specific antigen which then, after antibody contact, may render a cytotoxic signal as pointed out in more detail below.

Possibly, the history of an individual's infections may influence the titer and the diversity of cytotoxic antibodies. In a small comparative study it was shown that the age distribution of high titer anti-tumor cytotoxic IgM antibodies in an African population was significantly broader compared with that of Europeans.<sup>63</sup> This phenomenon is not easy to interpret and requires more sophisticated research for its explanation. In general, Africans are confronted with more and maybe more virulent pathogens than Europeans; correspondingly their antibody repertoire should also be much wider. Whether the plasma cells producing these IgMs are derived from unmutated B-cell memory cells of a T-cell dependent (TD) pathway receiving an antigen rechallenge or are derived from T-cell independent Type 2 (TI2) lymphocytes is not clear. At this point we do not know whether plasma cells producing NAbs can be challenged by external antigen stimuli. In conclusion, by some unknown mechanism the frequency and variety of crossreactive, cytotoxic IgMs seemed to be boosted by infections.

Although genetic predispositions may play a role in the outgrowth of neuroblastoma, an observed correlation between the incidence of neuroblastoma and the standard of living (implying also a different history of infections) may contribute to the generation of these tumors. Indication for this correlation was a significantly lower rate of neuroblastomas in some African countries in comparison to Western countries.<sup>64,65</sup> Therefore it would be a rewarding task to investigate the functional impact of cytotoxic IgM antibody production on neuroblastoma incidence since this would shed more light on the role of humoral tumor surveillance.

CD174 (Lewis<sup>y</sup>) antibodies are also present in the blood of healthy persons. CD174 is, like CD176, a marker for malignancy in colorectal tumors.<sup>66</sup> At the same time CD174 is also expressed on activated vascular endothelium of inflammatory tissue in close proximity to tumors.<sup>66</sup> Tumors, for example colorectal cancer, are often accompanied by strong inflammatory processes in the surrounding tissue. Inflammatory disturbances in the neighboring vasculature may help tumor cells to intra- and extravasate during metastasis formation. Possibly in this context CD174 is a homing signal for invading tumor cells.

In order to exploit the anti-tumor recognition of NAbs, Vollmers et al. have isolated and cloned antibodies derived from cancer patients.<sup>67</sup> One of these antibodies, SC-1, derived from a patient with stomach cancer, detects a tumor-specific N-linked oligosaccharide of CD55, the decay accelerating factor (DAF).<sup>68,69</sup> Another example is the antibody PAM-1 which reacts with a glycan structure of CFR-1, the cysteine-rich fibroblast growth factor receptor, present on human carcinomas.<sup>70</sup> Further, SAM-6 binds to a carbohydrate moiety of the heat shock protein (HSP) GRP78.<sup>71</sup> While these antibodies were isolated from cancer patients their presence in healthy persons has to our knowledge not been studied. For some of these NAb-derived monoclonal antibodies an apoptotic function was described as outlined in more detail below.

From the literature available it seems that titers of antibodies against antigens like CD176, CD174 of GD2 and GD3 are higher in healthy persons than in cancer patients. Few reports describe the opposite situation. For example, Indian patients suffering from childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia had significantly higher antibody titers against a 9-O-acetylated sialoglycan than normal persons.<sup>72,73</sup>

Thus, due to changes in the glycome machinery of tumor cells one may say that these oncofetal antigens appear at the wrong time and place, when compared with normal ontogeny. Without exaggeration more tumor-associated changes are found in the glycan than in the protein moiety of surface structures. Therefore they are not only potential targets for new tumor diagnostic markers but also for immunotherapeutic anti-tumor strategies.

#### MECHANISMS OF CELL LYSIS

Naturally occurring anti-tumor antibodies of the IgM class exert in principle 2 direct mechanisms of cytotoxicity: complement-dependent cell lysis<sup>74</sup> or apoptosis.<sup>75,76</sup>

Clinical and experimental data support a potential role of complement in the control of neoplastic cells. In cancer patients, endogenous complement activation has been demonstrated with subsequent deposition of complement components on tumor tissue.<sup>77</sup> Certain monoclonal antibodies applied in immunotherapy of cancer were also shown to deposit complement on malignant cells.<sup>78,79</sup> After screening of sera from healthy donors for their cytotoxicity on human tumor target cells we found that the major mechanism of cytotoxicity in an in vitro assay system was complement-dependent lysis (Schwartz-Albiez, unpublished results). Binding of distinct IgM antibodies from the pool of immunoglobulins to the tumor cells is the important step, followed by complement lysis along the classical complement lysis pathway.

Tumor cells are, however, able to protect themselves against a complement-mediated cell lysis as outlined in more detail in the next paragraph.

For some NAbs an apoptotic tumor lysis has been reported. For instance, the monoclonal antibodies PAM-1, SAM-6 and SC-1 directed against tumor-associated carbohydrates and derived from NAbs induce apoptosis in carcinoma. Antibody PAM-1 derived from a patient with stomach cancer identifies a variant of the cysteine-rich fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (CFR-1) and inhibits cell growth and induces apoptosis.<sup>80</sup> SAM-6 binds to a cell surface receptor and to oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL).<sup>71</sup> The antibody/LDL complex is internalized, lipid depots are formed and cytochrome c is released from mitochondria followed by activation of caspases. The antibody SC-1 reacts with a glycosylation variant of the decay accelerating factor (DAF/CD55).<sup>69</sup> After binding of SC-1 the surface expression of CD55 variant is enhanced followed by internalization of the antigen/antibody complex and activation of caspase-6. Interestingly the wild type CD55, also present on the surface of the tumor cells, is not affected. In this context it has to be noted that CD55 is an important inhibitory regulator of complement-dependent cytotoxicity. Although not characterized for their epitope specificity, immunoglobulins of IgM isotype from IVIG preparations were described to lyse human leukemia cell lines via apoptosis.<sup>76</sup>

The CD95/FAS receptor, also named APO-1, is a prominent death receptor on the cell surface; its activation by binding of the FAS ligand or CD95-specific monoclonal antibodies leads to apoptosis. It seems that sialylation of CD95 regulates its sensitivity toward apoptotic signaling. Treatment of leukemic cells with *Vibrio cholerae* sialidase prior to application of CD95-specific antibody rendered the cell more susceptible to apoptotic signaling.<sup>81</sup> Looking from a different angle at the same phenomenon, monoclonal CD176 antibodies reacting with the nonsialylated Thomsen-Friedenreich oligosaccharide had in vitro a cytotoxic, apoptotic effect on certain human tumor cell lines carrying the unmasked nonsialylated CD176 on their surfaces.<sup>44</sup> The CD176 glycan structure may be part of the carbohydrate moiety of CD95 and given its sterical accessibility, CD176 antibodies may also induce CD95-mediated apoptosis.<sup>82</sup> These findings are in accordance with previous observations that binding of lectins (or antibodies) to unmasked CD176 on thymocytes can induce apoptosis as mentioned earlier in this chapter.



Possible mechanisms of apoptosis induced by anti-carbohydrate antibodies

**Figure 3.** Possible mechanisms of apoptosis induced by anti-carbohydrate antibodies. Several modes of how anti-carbohydrate antibodies can induce apoptosis are illustrated: 1) Antibodies directed against surface-expressed glycosphingolipids (GSL) may crosslink these GSL so that in the fluid membrane they are pulled together modifying at the same time the raft formation on the cell surface. A consequence of these lateral shifts apoptosis receptors like CD95 molecules become aggregated which further entails inside the cell the clustering of apoptosis relevant protein complexes that induce apoptosis. 2) Binding of antibodies to a specific oligosaccharide structure of CD176 on CD95 (or the Trail receptor 4) may lead to concentrated assembly of CD95 on the cell surface with the consecutive intracellular consequences as described under (1). 3) In tumor cells the GPI-linked decay accelerating factor CD55 occurs in a glycan modified version. Antibodies against this tumor-associated CD55 variant lead to enhanced expression of this particular CD55, further to the internalization of the antigen/antibody complexes and finally to apoptosis.

Interestingly this effect could not be observed with CD175 (Tn) antibodies. Although sera of healthy donors contain both CD175- and CD176-specific antibodies, only those against CD176 seem to have a cytotoxic effect.

Also, certain galectins are able to induce apoptosis of target cells when bound to carbohydrates such as CD176.<sup>47</sup> The exact apoptotic mechanisms induced by cell surface glycan interactions with either carbohydrate-directed antibodies or lectins are not explored in detail. Several modes of action may be possible: (i) binding to certain membrane glycolipids which aggregate lipid rafts containing CD95 (clusters of apoptotic signaling molecule enriched rafts, CASMER),<sup>83,84</sup> (ii) binding to the glycan moiety of distinct receptors involved in apoptosis induction as for instance to CD95/

CD176<sup>81,82</sup> or (iii) crosslinking of complement receptors on the cell surface (Fig. 3).<sup>13</sup> Induction of raft formation and its possible functional consequences is dependent on the respective composition of the rafts. Therefore not only apoptosis but also activation may result from raft formation or reorganization. In human lymphocytes complexation of rafts by antibodies against the surface-expressed 9-O-acetylated or 7-O-acetylated ganglioside GD3 (CD60b, CD60c) entails cell activation.<sup>85</sup> A link between anti-carbohydrate IgM NAbs and natural killer (NK) cells' cell-mediated ADCC can be imagined at this point by accumulation of C3-derived complement components at the surface of target cells during IgM-mediated complement lysis and subsequent triggering of the CR3 (CD11b/CD18) receptor on NK cells by accumulated C3b and iC3b.

#### PROTECTION MECHANISMS OF TUMOR CELLS

Tumors may have several mechanisms to escape immunosurveillance. These mechanisms include avoidance of cell death, autonomy from growth factors and ignorance of growth-inhibitory signals.<sup>86</sup> Among these, complement resistance represents a hindrance for the efficiency of antibody-dependent tumoricidal effects. In order to generate a protective microenvironment, tumor cells secrete several soluble complement inhibitors and express on their surface ecto-proteases which degrade complement proteins or ecto-protein kinases which impair the functional activity of certain complement components.<sup>87,88</sup>

Like normal cells, neoplastic cells are protected from autologous complement attack by several cell-surface complement inhibitors, such as CD35 (complement receptor Type 1, CR1), CD55 (decay accelerating factor, DAF), CD46 (membrane cofactor protein, MCP), and CD59 (Protectin).<sup>89</sup> These regulators control the cascade reaction at the level of C3 activation (CD35, CD46, CD55) or prevent the insertion of the membrane attack complex (CD59).

It is evident from numerous studies that almost all tumors studied express at least one of the membrane complement regulatory proteins (mCRP), like CD46, CD55 and CD59.<sup>88,90</sup> CD35 has only been identified on follicular dendritic cell tumors and malignant endometrial tissue. Increased mCRP expression on cancer cells compared with the corresponding normal tissue may be the consequence of a selective force, which is driven by multiple events of complement attack during neoplastic transformation.<sup>90</sup>

The importance of complement resistance is underlined by various experiments leading to neutralisation of mCRPs, which sensitizes tumor cells to complement attack. This has been demonstrated by (a) the use of blocking antibodies against CD55, CD46 and CD59<sup>91</sup>; (b) the removal of CD55 and CD59 by phosphatidylinositol-phospholipase C (PI-PLC)<sup>92</sup> and (c) knock down of mCRP expression by antisense strategies.<sup>93</sup>

Expression of CD55 and CD59 on melanoma cells seems to be correlated with their resistance against complement-mediated cell lysis. Contrary to this observation, neuroblastoma cells are sensitive to antibody-mediated complement lysis despite their high expression of CD55/CD59.

### THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

The presence of elevated levels of certain glycans in human tumors has inspired many groups to either induce an anti-carbohydrate response in tumor patients by vaccines consisting of selected oligosaccharides, mimotopes resembling oligosaccharide or by induction of an anti-idiotypic response against tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens. For treatment of tumor patients with naturally occurring anti-carbohydrate antibodies 2 strategies have been followed up so far:

- a. Isolation of B lymphocytes from tumor patients producing these antibodies and production of monoclonal antibodies thereof for further treatment.<sup>67</sup> This strategy has been used for generation of mAbs like SAM-6 and PAM-1 as described above.
- b. Screening of sera/plasma from healthy donors for their cytotoxic capacity and subsequent application of highly cytotoxic plasma for tumor treatment. This strategy, using pooled anti-neuroblastoma cytotoxic plasma, had been prescribed for the treatment of children patients suffering from neuroblastoma.<sup>61</sup>

Isolation of anti-carbohydrate tumor-directed IgM antibodies from pooled immunoglobulin fractions requires a sophisticated separation procedure, in particular when these preparations shall be produced at industrial large scale for tumor treatment in a standardized form.

### **CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

Evidence has been mounted which shows that naturally occurring IgM antibodies directed against carbohydrate epitopes are able to kill distinct human tumor cells both in vivo and in vitro. Interestingly these antibodies are found in much larger quantities in healthy persons than in tumor patients. This observation may point to a function in tumor surveillance which, however, could not be proven directly. Malignant tumors, as for instance melanomas, exert escape mechanisms which can protect them against a complement-mediated antibody attack. In order to design successful strategies for therapeutic application of NAbs in cancer treatment, efforts have to be intensified to understand the molecular basis of anti-carbohydrate antibody tumor cytotoxicity and to design methods to isolate these antibodies or at least exploit their killing function for further therapeutic application. Despite these difficulties which have to be overcome, naturally occurring anti-tumor cytotoxic antibodies either in their native form or biotechnologically modified may represent a new generation of immunotherapeutic tumor drugs.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. An HJ, Miyamoto S, Lancaster KS et al. Profiling of glycans in serum for the discovery of potential biomarkers for ovarian cancer. J Proteome Res 2006; 5:1626-35. PMID:16823970 doi:10.1021/pr060010k
- Blixt O, Head S, Mondala T et al. Printed covalent glycan array for ligand profiling of diverse glycan binding proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101:17033-8. PMID:15563589 doi:10.1073/pnas.0407902101
- Huflejt ME, Vuskovic M, Vasiliu D et al. Anti-carbohydrate antibodies of normal sera: findings, surprises and challenges. Mol Immunol 2009; 46:3037-49. PMID:19608278 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2009.06.010

- Lekakh IV, Bovin NV, Bezyaeva GP et al. Natural hidden autoantibodies react with negatively charged carbohydrates and xenoantigen Bdi. Biochem (Moscow) 2001; 66:163-167 doi:10.1023/A:1002887430209.
- 5. Yasuda T, Ueno J, Naito Y et al. Antiglycolipid antibodies in human sera. Adv Exp Med Biol 1982; 152:457-65. PMID:7136929
- Agostino M, Sandrin MS, Thompson PE et al. In silico analysis of antibody-carbohydrate interactions and its application to xenoreactive antibodies. Mol Immunol 2009; 47:233-46. PMID:19828202 doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2009.09.031
- Macher BA, Galili U. The Galα1,3Galβ1,4GlcNAc-R (α-Gal) epitope: A carbohydrate of unique evolution and clinical relevance. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008; 1780:75-88. PMID:18047841
- Ghaderi D, Taylor RE, Padler-Karavani V et al. Implications of the presence of N-glycolylneuraminic acid in recombinant therapeutic glycoproteins. Nat Biotechnol 2010; 28:863-7. PMID:20657583 doi:10.1038/ nbt.1651
- Jakóbisiak M, Lasek W, Golab J. Natural mechanisms protecting against cancer. Immunol Lett 2003; 90:103-22. PMID:14687712 doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2003.08.005
- Bohn J. Are natural antibodies involved in tumour defence? Immunol Lett 1999; 69:317-20. PMID:10528795 doi:10.1016/S0165-2478(99)00111-X
- Lutz HU, Binder CJ, Kaveri S. Naturally occurring auto-antibodies in homeostasis and disease. Trends Immunol 2009; 30:43-51. PMID:19058756 doi:10.1016/j.it.2008.10.002
- Siminovitch KA, Misener V, Kwong PC et al. A natural autoantibody is encoded by germline heavy and lambda light chain variable region genes without somatic mutations. J Clin Invest 1989; 84:1675-8. PMID:2509520 doi:10.1172/JCI114347
- Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. The "early birds": natural IgM antibodies and immune surveillance. Histol Histopathol 2005; 20:927-37. PMID:15944943
- Gagneux P, Varki A. Evolutionary considerations in relating oligosaccharide diversity to biological functions. Glycobiology 1999; 9:747-55. PMID:10406840 doi:10.1093/glycob/9.8.747
- Hooper LV, Gordon JI. Glycans as legislators of host-microbial interactions: spanning the spectrum from symbiosis to pathogenicity. Glycobiology 2001; 11:1R-10R. PMID:11287395 doi:10.1093/glycob/11.2.1R
- Patsos G, Corfield A. Management of the human mucosal defensive barrier: evidence for glycan legislation. Biol Chem 2009; 390:581-90. PMID:19335202 doi:10.1515/BC.2009.052
- Aarnoudse CA, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Saeland E et al. Recognition of tumor glycans by antigen-presenting cells. Curr Opin Immunol 2006; 18:105-11. PMID:16303292 doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005.11.001
- van Kooyk Y, Rabinovich GA. Protein-glycan interactions in the control of innate and adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 2008; 9:593-601. PMID:18490910 doi:10.1038/ni.f.203
- Varki A. Multiple changes in sialic acid biology during human evolution. Glycoconj J 2009; 26:231-45. PMID:18777136 doi:10.1007/s10719-008-9183-z
- Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: prebiotics and beyond. Nutr Rev 2009; 67(Suppl 2):S183-91. PMID:19906222 doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00239.x
- Khan AS, Kniep B, Oelschlaeger TA et al. Receptor structure for F1C fimbriae of uropathogenic Escherichia coli. Infect Immun 2000; 68:3541-7. PMID:10816509 doi:10.1128/IAI.68.6.3541-3547.2000
- Pashov A, Monzavi-Karbassi B, Kieber-Emmons T. Immune surveillance and immunotherapy: lessons from carbohydrate mimotopes. Vaccine 2009; 27:3405-15. PMID:19200843 doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.01.074
- Griffin DO, Holodick NE, Rothstein TL. Human B1 cells in umbilical cord and adult peripheral blood express the novel phenotype CD20+ CD27+ CD43+CD70-. J Exp Med 2011; 208:67-80. PMID:21220451 doi:10.1084/jem.20101499
- Foote JB, Kearney JF. Generation of B cell memory to the bacterial polysaccharide alpha-1,3 dextran. J Immunol 2009; 183:6359-68. PMID:19841173 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902473
- Roy B, Shukla S, Lyszikiewicz M et al. Somatic hypermutation in peritoneal B1b cells. Mol Immunol 2009; 46:1613-9. PMID:19327839 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2009.02.026
- Duan B, Morel L. Role of B1a cells in autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 2006; 5:403-8. PMID:16890894 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2005.10.007
- Schatz N, Brändlein S, Rückl K et al. Diagnostic and therapeutic potential of a human antibody cloned from a cancer patient that binds to a tumor-specific variant of transcription factor TASF15. Cancer Res 2010; 70:398-408. PMID:20048082 doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2186
- Chen ZJ, Wheeler CJ, Shi W et al. Polyreactive antigen-binding B cells are the predominant cell type in the newborn B cell repertoire. Eur J Immunol 1998; 28:989-94. PMID:9541594 doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199803)28:03<989::AID-IMMU989>3.0.CO;2-1
- Notkins AL. Polyreactivity of antibody molecules. Trends Immunol 2004; 25:174-9. PMID:15039043 doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.02.004
- Oyelaran O, Li Q, Farnsworth D et al. Microarrays with varying carbohydrate density reveal distinct subpopulations of serum antibodies. J Proteome Res 2009; 8:3529-38. PMID:19366269 doi:10.1021/ pr9002245

#### NAbs DIRECTED AGAINST CARBOHYDRATE TUMOR ANTIGENS

- Nores GA, Lardone RD, Comín R et al. Anti-GM1 antibodies as a model of the immune response to self-glycans. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008; 1780:538-545. PMID: 18029096
- 32. Kurtenkov O, Klaamas K, Sergeyev B et al. Better survival of Helicobacter pylori infected patients with early gastric cancer is related to a higher level of Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen-specific antibodies. Immunol Invest 2003; 32:83-93. PMID:12722944 doi:10.1081/IMM-120019210
- 33. Taylor RE, Gregg CJ, Padler-Karavani V et al. Novel mechanism for the generation of human xeno-autoantibodies against the nonhuman sialic acid N-glycolylneuraminic acid. J Exp Med 2010; 207:1637-46. PMID:20624889 doi:10.1084/jem.20100575
- 34. Kannagi R, Izawa M, Koike T et al. Carbohydrate-mediated cell adhesion in cancer metastasis and angiogenesis. Cancer Sci 2004; 95:377-84. PMID:15132763 doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2004.tb03219.x
- 35. Kobata A, Amano J. Altered glycosylation of proteins produced by malignant cells, and application for the diagnosis and immunotherapy of tumours. Immunol Cell Biol 2005; 83:429-39. PMID:16033539 doi:10.1111/j.1440-1711.2005.01351.x
- 36. Cao Y, Karsten U, Otto G et al. Expression of MUC1, Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen, Tn, sialosyl-Tn, and alpha2,6-linked sialic acid in hepatocellular carcinomas and preneoplastic hepatocellular lesions. Virchows Arch 1999; 434:503-9. PMID:10394884 doi:10.1007/s004280050375
- 37. Cao Y, Blohm D, Ghadimi BM et al. Mucins (MUC1 and MUC3) of gastrointestinal and breast epithelia reveal different and heterogenous tumor-associated aberrations in glycosylation. J Histochem Cytochem 1997; 45:1547-57. PMID:9358856 doi:10.1177/002215549704501111
- 38. Goletz S, Thiede B, Hanisch FG et al. A sequencing strategy for the localization of O-glycosylation sites of MUC1 tandem repeats by PSD-MALDI mass spectrometry. Glycobiology 1997; 7:881-96. PMID:9363430 doi:10.1093/glycob/7.7.881
- Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. Tumors: too sweet to remember? Mol Cancer 2007; 6:78. PMID:18053197 doi:10.1186/1476-4598-6-78
- 40. Cao Y, Stosiek P, Springer G et al. Thomsen-Friedenreich-related carbohydrate antigens in normal adult tissues: A systematic and comparative study. Histochem Cell Biol 1996; 106:197-207. PMID:8877380 doi:10.1007/BF02484401
- Hakomori S. Possible functions of tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens. Curr Opin Immunol 1991; 3:646-53. PMID:1684510 doi:10.1016/0952-7915(91)90091-E
- Springer GF. Immunoreactive T and Tn epitopes in cancer. Diagnosis, prognosis, and immunotherapy. J Mol Med 1997; 75:594-602. PMID:9297627 doi:10.1007/s001090050144
- 43. Cao Y, Karsten UR, Liebrich W et al. Expression of Thomsen-Friedenreich-related antigens in primary and metastatic colorectal carcinomas. A reevaluation. Cancer 1995; 76:1700-8. PMID:8625037 doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19951115)76:10<1700::AID-CNCR2820761005>3.0.CO;2-Z
- 44. Cao Y, Merling A, Karsten UR et al. Expression of CD175 (Tn), CD175s (sialosyl-Tn) and CD176 (Thomsen–Friedenreich antigen) on malignant human hematopoietic cells. Int J Cancer 2008; 123:89-99. PMID:18398838 doi:10.1002/ijc.23493
- 45. Baum LG, Pang M, Perillo NL et al. Human thymic epithelial cells express an endogenous lectin, galectin-1, which binds to core 2 O-glycans on thymocytes and T lymphoblastoid cells. J Exp Med 1995; 181:877-87. PMID:7869048 doi:10.1084/jem.181.3.877
- 46. Gillespie W, Paulson JC, Kelm S et al. Regulation of α2,3 sialyltransferase expression correlates with conversion of peanut agglutinin (PNA+ to PNA- phenotype in developing thymocytes. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:3801-4. PMID:8440675
- Marth JD, Grewal PK. Mammalian glycosylation in immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2008; 8:874-886. PMID:18846099 doi:10.1038/nri2417
- Priatel JJ, Chui D, Hiraoka N et al. The ST3Gall sialyltransferase controls CD8+ T lymphocyte homeostasis by modulating O-glycan biosynthesis. Immunity 2000; 12:273-83. PMID:10755614 doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80180-6
- Springer GF, Cheingsong-Popov R, Schirrmacher V et al. Proposed molecular basis of murine tumor cell-hepatocyte interaction. J Biol Chem 1983; 258:5702-6. PMID:6304095
- Schindlbeck C, Jeschke U, Schulze S et al. Prognostic impact of Thomsen-Friedenreich tumor antigen and disseminated tumor cells in the bone marrow of breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res 2007; 101:17-25 doi:10.1007/s10549-006-9271-3.
- Butschak G, Karsten U. Isolation and characterization of Thomsen-Friedenreich-specific antibodies from human serum. Tumour Biol 2002; 23:113-22. PMID:12218291 doi:10.1159/000064026
- Shigeoka H, Karsten U, Okumo K et al. Inhibition of liver metatsases from neuraminidase-treated colon 26 cells by an anti-Thomsen-Friedenreich-specific monoclonal antibody. Tumour Biol 1999; 20:139-46. PMID:10213921 doi:10.1159/000030056
- Irazoqui FJ, Nores GA. Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide immunogenicity. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2003; 3:433-43. PMID:14683501 doi:10.2174/1568009033481714

- 54. Nakagoe T, Sawai T, Tsuji T et al. Difference in prognostic value between sialyl Lewis a and sialyl Lewis x antigen levels in the preoperative serum of gastric cancer patients. J Clin Gastroenterol 2002; 34:408-15. PMID:11907351 doi:10.1097/00004836-200204000-00005
- Livingston PO, Zhang S, Lloyd KO. Carbohydrate vaccines that induce antibodies against cancer. 1.Rationale. Cancer Immunol Immunother 1997; 45:1-9. PMID:9353421 doi:10.1007/s002620050394
- Raffaghello L, Marimpietri D, Pagnan G et al. Anti-GD2 monoclonal antibody immunotherapy: a promising strategy in the prevention of neuroblastoma relapse. Cancer Lett 2003; 197:205-9. PMID:12880983 doi:10.1016/S0304-3835(03)00100-9
- Ollert MW, David K, Vollmert C et al. Mechanisms of in vivo anti-neuroblastoma activity of human natural IgM. Eur J Cancer 1997; 33:1942-8. PMID:9516829 doi:10.1016/S0959-8049(97)00285-2
- 58. Fukuda M, Nozaki C, Ishiguro Y et al. Distribution of natural antibody against human neuroblastoma among children with or without neuroblastoma. Med Pediatr Oncol 2001; 36:147-8. PMID:11464870 doi:10.1002/1096-911X(2001010)36:1<147::AID-MPO1035>3.0.CO;2-R
- Ollert MW, David K, Schmitt C et al. Normal human serum contains a natural IgM antibody cytotoxic for human neuroblastoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:4498-503. PMID:8633097 doi:10.1073/ pnas.93.9.4498
- 60. David K, Ollert MW, Juhl H et al. Growth arrest of solid human neuroblastoma xenografts in nude rats by natural IgM from healthy humans. Nat Med 1996; 2:686-9. PMID:8640561 doi:10.1038/nm0696-686
- Erttmann R. Treatment of neuroblastoma with human natural antibodies. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:496-500. PMID:18558369 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.03.014
- Schwartz-Albiez R, Laban S, Eichmüller S. Cytotoxic natural antibodies against human tumours: an option for anti-cancer immunotherapy? Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:491-5. PMID:18558368 doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2008.03.012
- Erttmann R, David K, Schmitt C et al. Immunosurveillance by natural IgM antibodies may be responsible for the low neuroblastoma (NB) incidence in Africa. Proc AACR Annual Meeting 1998; 39:533-534.
- 64. Miller RW. Rarity of neuroblastoma in East Africa. Lancet 1990; 335:659-60. PMID:1969032 doi:10.1016/0140-6736(90)90444-A
- Stiller CA, Parkin DM. International variations in the incidence of neuroblastoma. Int J Cancer 1992; 52:538-43. PMID:1399133 doi:10.1002/ijc.2910520407
- 66. Moehler TM, Sauer S, Witzel M et al. Involvement of alpha 1-2-fucosyltransferase I (FUT1) and surface-expressed Lewis(y) (CD174) in first endothelial cell-cell contacts during angiogenesis. J Cell Physiol 2008; 215:27-36. PMID:18205178 doi:10.1002/jcp.21285
- Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. Natural human immunoglobulins in cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy 2009; 1:241-8. PMID:20635944 doi:10.2217/1750743X.1.2.241
- Beutner U, Lorenz U, Illert B et al. Neoadjuvant therapy of gastric cancer with the human monoclonal IgM antibody SC-1: impact on the immune system. Oncol Rep 2008; 19:761-9. PMID:18288413
- Hensel F, Hermann R, Schubert C et al. Characterization of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked molecule CD55/decay-accelerating factor as the receptor for antibody SC-1-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res 1999; 59:5299-306. PMID:10537313
- Brändlein S, Eck M, Strobel P et al. PAM-1, a natural human IgM antibody as a new tool for detection of breast and prostate precursors. Hum Antibodies 2004; 13:97-104. PMID:15719499
- 71. Brändlein S, Rauschert N, Rasche L et al. The human IgM antibody SAM-6 induces tumor-specific apoptosis with oxidized low-density lipoprotein. Mol Cancer Ther 2007; 6:326-33. PMID:17237291 doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0399
- Pal S, Chatterjee M, Bhattercharya DK et al. O-acetyl sialic acid specific IgM in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Glycoconj J 2001; 18:529-37. PMID: 12151714 doi:10.1023/A:1019692329568
- 73. Pal S, Bandyopadhyay S, Chatterjee M et al. Antibodies against 9-O-acetylated sialoglycans: a potent marker to monitor clinical status in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Biochem 2004; 37:395-403. PMID:15087256 doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2004.01.001
- 74. Larkin JM, Norsworthy PJ, A'Hern RP et al. Anti-alphaGal-dependent complement-mediated cytotoxicity in metastatic melanoma. Melanoma Res 2006; 16:157-63. PMID:16567971 doi:10.1097/01. cmr.0000200490.62723.b0
- Brändlein S, Lorenz J, Ruoff N et al. Human monoclonal IgM antibodies with apoptotic activity isolated from cancer patients. Hum Antibodies 2002; 11:107-19. PMID:12775891
- 76. Varambally S, Bar-Dayan Y, Bayry J et al. Natural human polyreactive IgM induce apoptosis of lymphoid cell lines and human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Int Immunol 2004; 16:517-24. PMID:14978025 doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh053
- Lucas SD, Karlsson-Parra A, Nilsson B et al. Tumour-specific deposition of immunoglobulin G and complement in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Hum Pathol 1996; 27:1329-35. PMID:8958307 doi:10.1016/ S0046-8177(96)90346-9

#### NAbs DIRECTED AGAINST CARBOHYDRATE TUMOR ANTIGENS

- Idusogie EE, Wong PY, Presta LG et al. Engineered antibodies with increased activity to recruit complement. J Immunol 2001; 166:2571-5. PMID:11160318
- 79. Di Gaetano N, Cittera E, Nota R et al. Complement activation determines the therapeutic activity of rituximab in vivo. J Immunol 2003; 171:1581-7. PMID:12874252
- Brändlein S, Pohle T, Vollmers C et al. CFR-1 receptor as target for tumor-specific apoptosis induced by the natural human monoclonal antibody PAM-1. Oncol Rep 2004; 11:777-84. PMID:15010872
- Peter ME, Heilbardt S, Schwartz-Albiez R et al. Cell surface sialylation plays a role in modulating sensitivity towards APO-1-mediated apoptotic cell death. Cell Death Differ 1995; 2:163-71. PMID:17180039
- Yi B, Zhang M, Schwartz-Albiez R et al. Mechanisms of the apoptosis induced by CD176 antibody in human leukemic cells. Int J Oncol 2011; 38:1565-73. PMID:21455576
- Gajate C, Gonzalez-Camacho F, Mollinedo F. Lipid raft connection between extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009; 380:780-4. PMID:19338752 doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2009.01.147
- 84. Gajate C, Gonzalez-Camacho F, Mollinedo F. Involvement of raft aggregates enriched in Fas/CD95 death-inducing signaling complex in the antileukemic action of edelfosine in Jurkat cells. PLoS ONE 2009; 4:e5044 Epub 2009 Apr 7. PMID:19352436 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005044
- Erdmann M, Wipfler D, Merling A et al. Differential surface expression and possible function of 9-Oand 7-O-acetylated GD3 (CD60 b and c) during activation and apoptosis of human tonsillar B and T lymphocytes. Glycoconj J 2006; 23:627-38. PMID:17115281 doi:10.1007/s10719-006-9000-5
- Ullrich E, Bonnert M, Mignot G et al. Tumor stress, cell death and the ensuing immune response. Cell Death Differ 2008; 15:21-8. PMID:17992190 doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402266
- Kirschfink M. Targeting complement in therapy. Immunol Rev 2001; 180:177-89. PMID:11414360 doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1800116.x
- Kirschfink M, Fishelson Z. Tumor cell resistance to complement-mediated lysis. In: Szebeni J, ed. The Complement System: Novel roles in health and disease. Amsterdam: Kluwer Academic Publ, 2004: 265-304.
- Fishelson Z, Donin N, Zell S et al. Obstacles to cancer immunotherapy: expression of membrane complement regulatory proteins (mCRPs) in Tumours. Mol Immunol 2003; 40:109-23. PMID:12914817 doi:10.1016/ S0161-5890(03)00112-3
- 90. Gorter A, Meri S. Immune evasion of tumour cells using membrane-bound complement regulatory proteins. Immunol Today 1999; 20:576-82. PMID:10562709 doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01537-6
- Jurianz K, Ziegler S, Donin N et al. K562 erythroleukemic cells are equipped with multiple mechanisms of resistance to lysis by complement. Int J Cancer 2001; 93:848-54. PMID:11519047 doi:10.1002/ijc.1406
- Brasoveanu LI, Altomonte M, Fonsatti E et al. Levels of cell membrane CD59 regulate the extent of complement-mediated lysis of human melanoma cells. Lab Invest 1996; 74:33-42. PMID:8569195
- 93. Zell S, Geis N, Rutz R et al. Downregulation of CD55 and CD46 expression by anti-sense phosphorothioate oligonucleotides (S\_ODNs) sensitizes tumour cells to complement attack. Clin Exp Immunol 2007; 150:576-584. PMID:17903221 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03507.x

## CHAPTER 4

# NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES AS THERAPEUTICS FOR NEUROLOGIC DISEASE: Can Human Monoclonal IgMs Replace the Limited Resource IVIG?

## Arthur E. Warrington,\* Virginia Van Keulen, Larry R. Pease and Moses Rodriguez

Departments of Neurology and Immunology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minnesota, USA Corresponding Author: Arthur E. Warrington—Email: warrington.arthur@mayo.edu

Naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) are common in normal humans. The Abstract: majority of NAbs are IgMs, but a small proportion are IgGs. Therefore a certain portion of pooled whole human IgG (IVIG) can be considered NAbs. While the applications of IVIG to modulate human disease have increased dramatically, the use of IgMs as drugs has lagged. In fact, much of the contaminating IgM component of IVIG is disposed of as waste. However, a number of model studies, including those targeting Alzheimer and multiple sclerosis (MS) suggest that IgMs may better modulate disease at much lower doses than IVIG. Our own studies in a model of MS show that polyclonal human IgM promotes better remyelination than IVIG and that monoclonal IgMs promote greater remyelination than monoclonal IgGs containing identical variable region sequences. We propose that this difference is due to the ability of IgM to cross link cell surface antigens better than IgGs and induce signals in nervous system cells. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that promote remyelination induce a transient Ca2+ influx in myelin forming cells, whereas IgGs with identical variable sequences do not. MAbs that promote remyelination were identified in human serum and in EBV-immortalized human B-cell lines obtained from normal adults, fetal cord blood, and rheumatoid arthritis and MS patients. Therefore therapeutic mAbs are present and common in normal circulation. All therapeutic mAbs were IgMs and bound to nervous system cells, however, the tissue binding patterns suggest that binding any one of multiple antigens induces repair. An expression vector was constructed that can manufacture gram quantities of recombinant monoclonal human IgM. Therefore the technology exists to determine

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

whether human monoclonal NAbs can modulate human disease. IVIG can modulate neurologic disease, but using IVIG to treat these chronic diseases is unsustainable. A long-term solution is to identify the functional component of IVIG and test whether a recombinant human monoclonal can replicate its efficacy.

## INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) are part of the human immunoglobulin repertoire.<sup>1,2</sup> NAbs are frequently derived from germline immunoglobulin genes, often react with self antigens, are of relatively low affinity, are polyreactive and are typically IgMs. In contrast, conventional antibodies contain somatic mutations, react with non-self foreign antigens, and are usually high affinity IgGs. NAbs provide an important host defense mechanism against invading pathogens. Accumulating evidence also supports the concept that NAbs are natural systemic surveillance molecules, signaling damaged or stressed cells or eliminating toxic cellular debris.

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is a preparation of human polyclonal immunoglobulin G (IgG) obtained by pooling thousands of units of plasma from normal healthy blood donors. IVIG typically contains more than 95% unmodified IgG, and trace amounts of immunoglobulin A (IgA) or immunoglobulin M (IgM). IVIG is typically prepared using a cold ethanol fractionation process followed by ultrafiltration and ion exchange chromatography and packaged as sterile lyophilized powder or in solution. Because some IgGs are NAbs and IVIG contains a broad spectrum of antibodies from across the population, a proportion of IVIG contains NAbs.

The use of IVIG began in the 1980s as treatment for antibody deficiencies, autoimmune, and inflammatory disorders, such as immune thrombocytopenic purpura, and has now expanded to a number of conditions that impact the nervous system.<sup>3</sup> The proposed mechanism of action of IVIG involves interactions with many aspects of the immune system, including altering immune cells, interaction with Fc receptors, inhibition of complement, induction of apoptosis, and interference with cytokines and anti-idiotypic responses. The result of treatment with IVIG is often referred to as restoring homeostasis.

Homeostatic regulation is also a trait associated with NAbs. The use of other isotype antibodies isolated from human plasma, including IgM, seriously lags behind the published uses of IVIG. In fact, much of the plasma IgM and IgA removed from IVIG is disposed of as waste. We believe there is convincing evidence for the potential use of polyclonal and monoclonal human IgM as disease modifying drugs.

#### CURRENT USE OF IVIG IN NEUROLOGIC DISEASE

IVIG is now the drug of choice for the treatment of Guillian-Barré syndrome, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and multifocal motor neuropathy. The use of IVIG in multiple sclerosis (MS) is less definitive. Initial positive clinical trials in MS have been followed by a number of trials that failed to demonstrate efficacy. Over the same time span a number of disease modifying drugs were marketed for MS, decreasing the focus on IVIG. MS is a common neurological disease affecting approximately 400,000 people in the USA. After trauma, it is the most common cause of severe disability in young adults.<sup>4</sup> MS is an inflammatory demyelinating disease with progressive axon loss

and disability. The illness commonly begins with clearly defined acute attacks which resolve (relapsing-remitting MS; RRMS). Many patients will ultimately develop worsening neurological deficits over the first 15 years of their disease (secondary-progressive MS; SPMS), but approximately 10–15% of MS patients will develop a continuously progressive disease without periods of exacerbation (primary progressive MS; PPMS). Therefore early treatment during the early period of RRMS has been the design of most clinical trials with the hope to improve disease course.

Several randomized, double-blind studies in RRMS have shown a beneficial effect of IVIG in MS, including a reduction in the relapse rate and CNS lesion activity as detected by magnetic resonance imaging.<sup>5-7</sup> More recent studies did not find a beneficial effect of IVIG in RRMS,<sup>8</sup> or in secondary progressive MS.<sup>9</sup> In the first study patients received 0.2 or 0.4 g/kg of IVIG every 4 weeks for a year. At that point there were no differences from placebo in the proportion of relapse-free patients nor in the extent of lesions observed by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) which was followed weekly. However, there were notable differences between the later negative trials and the earlier positive ones. Among these, later studies of IVIG in RRMS often used smaller dosages and, patients were treated at different stages in disease. As alternative drugs for MS expanded, patients in later trials were often using prescribed medications prior to being treated with IVIG. The therapeutic dose of IVIG is typically 2 g per kg of body weight administered as 5 daily doses of 400 mg per kg—clearly a large and expensive dose of drug, but at present there is little data supporting a minimum effective dose or an established dosing regimen for MS. For example, one positive trial treated patients monthly for two years with IVIG to observe a reduction in disability and relapse rate in RRMS.<sup>5</sup> In addition, positive trials treated MS patients at the time of exacerbation. If MS patients were treated at a time in disease progression, when extensive axon loss had occurred, IVIG could not reverse these deficits. The possible importance of length of treatment may also be a factor in the outcome of IVIG trials for optic neuritis.

#### IVIG TO TREAT OPTIC NEURITIS

Visual problems, including decreased color vision, visual field deficits and visual acuity loss, are common in  $MS^{10}$  with optic neuritis occurring in up to 65% of patients. IVIG treatment has been tested in patients with optic neuritis who failed to recover visual acuity after six months,<sup>11</sup> and in patients during the acute phase of optic neuritis.<sup>12</sup> Both trials treated patients over the course of three months. In the first study patients had moderately advanced deficits, often for several years. Neither study showed a beneficial effect on long-term visual acuity. The Noseworthy study<sup>13</sup> reported that although there was no improvement in visual acuity, the stated endpoint of the trial, an improvement in visual field measurements nearly approached significance. A recent trial in optic neuritis by Tselis<sup>14</sup> which did report a recovery of visual acuity, initiated IVIG treatment early and continued its use for six months. Another difference in this third trial was that IVIG was administered after patients failed to respond to high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone. These studies indicate that dosage and timing of IVIG therapy are important variables. Therefore, failure to demonstrate clinically significant improvements in optic neuritis by using IVIG may reflect arbitrary choices in treatment regimens. If treatment is begun after severe or irreversible axonal loss or is not sustained for a sufficient period, potential benefits could be missed

#### LESSONS FROM NAbs TO PROMOTE CNS REMYELINATION

The observation that natural antibodies could promote CNS repair was first described in the mouse model of TMEV-induced demyelination. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV)–mediated disease results in spinal cord lesion pathology nearly identical to that observed in human progressive multiple sclerosis (MS) with progressive neurologic deficits.<sup>15</sup> Spinal cord demyelination begins at 21 days post virus infection and plateaus at 90 days post infection. After this point, the disease involves primarily axonal injury and the accumulating dropout of large caliber axons, accounting for progressive clinical deficits.<sup>16-18</sup> This model provides a platform for testing reagents designed to promote remyelination as well as to protect axons.

To test the hypothesis that virus-induced autoimmunity could be exacerbated by a subsequent autoimmune response to CNS antigens, mice with chronic TMEV-induced demyelination were immunized with complete spinal cord homogenate in incomplete Freund's adjuvant. However, when the spinal cords of these mice were examined five weeks later, rather than more extensive demyelination, significant remyelination was observed.<sup>19</sup> Passive-transfer studies in which antisera or purified immunoglobulins from uninfected mice immunized with myelin antigens were transferred into mice with chronic TMEV-mediated spinal cord demyelination also demonstrated extensive remyelination after five weeks compared with mice that received control antisera.<sup>20</sup> An identical spinal cord immunization protocol performed in mice with spinal cord injury described a greater number of regenerating new axons through the injury site,<sup>21,22</sup> suggesting that this autoreactive polyclonal response can affect a number of aspects of CNS repair.

To determine whether a monoclonal antibody could also promote remyelination, hundreds of supernatants from mouse monoclonal clones directed against spinal cord homogenate were tested in groups of 10 in TMEV-infected mice for the ability to improve spinal remyelination. If a group of supernatants was positive, the individual clones were then tested for the ability to improve remyelination. This resulted in identifying the first remyelination-promoting mAb, an IgM designated spinal cord homogenate 94.03 (SCH 94.03).<sup>23</sup> As little as 10 µg of SCH94.03 injected intraperitoneally into TMEV-infected mice, induced four fold greater remyelinated lesion area than isotype control treated mice. Upon characterizing SCH94.03, it bound to the surface of living oligodendrocytes.<sup>24</sup> At that point we hypothesized that monoclonal IgM-mediated remyelination required recognition of oligodendrocyte plasma membrane antigens. Several well-characterized mouse IgMs which recognize glycolipids on the surface of living oligodendrocytes (A2B5, O1, O4, HNK-1) and myelin in live slices of  $CNS^{25}$  were tested in the TMEV model and all promoted remyelination.<sup>26</sup> In contrast, a mouse IgG directed against ganglioside GD3 (R24) did not promote remyelination, providing the first evidence that the IgM isotype may be necessary for in vivo efficacy. These repair-promoting monoclonals had some characteristics of NAbs. They were all of the IgM isotype, and were polyreactive with low affinity with a range of structurally unrelated, self and non-self antigens, specifically cytoskeleton, nuclear proteins and DNA.24,27,28

### HUMAN ANTIBODIES THAT PROMOTE REMYELINATION

Armed with the observation that NAbs of the IgM isotype bind to oligodendrocytes and induced remyelination we asked whether similar NAbs were present in the human population and if so, could these antibodies promote remyelination? We employed two strategies to identify potential therapeutic human antibodies.

The first strategy employed the use of the Mayo Clinic serum bank, a collection of over 140,000 samples archived over 50 years. The archive was searched for samples from patients with monoclonal gammopathies; diseases such as lymphoma, Waldenstrom's syndrome, myeloma and monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance, which result in an immortalized B-cell clone and a high level of serum monoclonal protein. Samples with more than 10 µg/ml of monoclonal protein were screened for binding to slices of live mouse cerebellum and to the surface of primary mixed glial cells in culture.<sup>29</sup> Six of 52 serum-derived human IgMs (sHIgM) and 0 of 50 serum-derived human IgGs (sHIgG) bound in these assays. The histories of the patients synthesizing these positive samples were examined to ensure that there were no neurologic- or antibody-associated diseases. Monoclonal antibodies were purified and then tested for the ability to promote remyelination. A single 500 µg peripheral dose of either of two human IgMs (sHIgM22 and sHIgM46) promoted significant remyelination in chronically TMEV-infected mice.<sup>29</sup>Oligodendrocytes isolated from human tissue from patients undergoing temporal lobectomy for epilepsy demonstrated that both human IgMs bound to the surface of human oligodendrocytes in vitro. This provided evidence that these IgMs may be effective in promoting remyelination in humans. We concluded that reparative NAbs do exist in the human population.

Our second strategy to obtain human monoclonal antibodies employed the use of Epstein Barr virus to immortalize human peripheral B-cell lymphocytes.<sup>30</sup> Cells isolated from blood samples obtained from fetal umbilical cord, patients with multiple sclerosis, patients with rheumatoid arthritis and normal adults, were transformed with EBV. Clones were selected and expanded and the supernatants assayed for monoclonal protein. Our experience was similar to that reported by Brown and Miller<sup>30</sup> in that the majority of B-cell clones secreted a monoclonal IgM (60 of 96). Clones that produced at least 2 ug/ ml of mAb were screened further. Eleven antibodies were identified that bound strongly to structures in unfixed slices of mouse cerebellum and sufficient mAb was isolated from the supernatant of eight cell lines to test in vivo at a dose of 500 µg per mouse for the ability to promote remyelination.

Four of eight human IgMs produced by EBV-immortalized cell lines that bound to live slices of mouse cerebellum promoted significant remyelination (Table 1) in the TMEV model of spinal cord demyelination (p > 0.05) when compared with saline-treated mice. Two were from cells isolated from MS patients, and one each from cells from a normal adult and fetal umbilical cord blood. From this result we concluded that B cells producing CNS-reactive mAbs are common in the human immune repertoire regardless of age or state of health. The fact that so many monoclonal IgMs can promote remyelination<sup>26</sup> emphasizes that the exact antigen bound by the IgM is not critical. What is important is that the antigen be on the membrane of oligodendrocytes and myelin and that the IgM induce a signal to the cell. The underlying mechanism of remyelination is likely common.

It is possible to use one of these cell lines to generate a remyelination promoting IgM to test in humans. However, the presence of EBV in the process of creating a certified production cell line for a molecule that may be used in a clinical trial creates a tremendous amount of additional manufacturing and safety testing when submitting to the Food and Drug Administration. To avoid this hurdle in drug development we chose to sequence the variable regions of several IgMs that promote remyelination and to construct an expression vector capable of receiving any human heavy and light chain variable region sequence to generate large quantities of pure recombinant mAb in a virus free system.

mAb	# of Mice	Area of White Matter (mm <sup>2</sup> )	Area of Myelin Pathology (mm <sup>2</sup> )	Area of CNS-Type Remyelination (mm <sup>2</sup> )	Area of CNS-Type Remyelination (%)
AKJR4	4	$8.7\pm0.8$	$1.1 \pm 0.2$	$0.05\pm0.03$	$4.2 \pm 2.0$
AKJR8	6	$10.0\pm0.7$	$1.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.12\pm0.02$	$13.3 \pm 2.2$
CB2BG8	12	$10.2\pm0.5$	$1.2 \pm 0.2$	$0.26\pm0.04$	23.5 ± 3.1 *
CB2GE7	5	$8.9\pm1.3$	$1.2 \pm 0.4$	$0.14\pm0.03$	$14.3\pm4.1$
MSI10E10	5	$9.3\pm1.4$	$1.9\pm0.6$	$0.18\pm0.04$	$11.3 \pm 3.7$
MSI11G4	5	$8.4\pm0.6$	$1.1\pm0.3$	$0.24\pm0.07$	22.8 ± 6.1 *
MSI19D10	13	$8.1\pm0.3$	$1.1 \pm 0.1$	$0.27\pm0.05$	24.4 ± 2.9 *
NA8FE7	5	$8.5 \pm 0.8$	$0.9 \pm 0.2$	$0.14\pm0.04$	16.5 ± 3.6 *
Saline	12	$9.9 \pm 0.4$	$1.1 \pm 0.1$	$0.07\pm0.01$	$8.3 \pm 1.4$

**Table 1.** Human monoclonal IgMs isolated from EBV immortalized B-cell lines promote

 CNS remyelination

Eight human monoclonal IgMs that bound to live slices of live mouse cerebellum were tested for the ability to induce remyelination—four were positive. This result indicates that NAbs that can promote CNS repair are common in the human Ig profile. SJL mice with chronic TMEV-mediated spinal cord demyelination received 0.5 mg of purified human IgM intraperitoneally and the extent of repair was assessed five weeks later by histologic examination of spinal cord lesions.<sup>29</sup> Antibody nomenclature indicates the origin of peripheral B cells used for EBV immortalization: AKJR, rheumatoid arthritis patients, CB, fetal umbilical cord blood, MSI, multiple sclerosis patients, NA, normal adult. Values represent the mean±standard error of the mean. Statistics by t-test of the percentage of area of CNS-type remyelination per area of white matter pathology in mice treated with human IgMs as compared with those treated with PBS. Only animals with areas of white matter pathology  $\geq$  5% were included in statistical analysis. \* indicates p < 0.05.

# DEVELOPMENT OF A RECOMBINANT EXPRESSION VECTOR FOR HUMAN IgMs

Using the expression vector described<sup>31</sup> and derivations of it we have constructed cell lines that synthesize pure recombinant human IgMs with a mouse or human J chain as part of the final pentameric molecule. The first recombinant human IgM produced using this vector was called rHIgM22. This antibody promoted spinal cord remyelination in the TMEV model equal to or better than the serum-derived form.<sup>31</sup> The recombinant IgM, rHIgM22 binds strongly to the surface of live oligodendrocytes and myelin and accelerates CNS remyelination in a toxin-induced model of MS as well.<sup>32</sup> Spinal cord remyelination by rHIgM22 is induced after a single low dose of 25 µg/kg,<sup>33</sup> similar to the low doses required for efficacy of the mouse IgM, SCH94.03. It is remarkable that a single peripheral injection of the IgM promotes maximal tissue repair within five weeks in a model of chronic progressive MS that normally presents with little spontaneous repair over the lifespan of the animals. Spinal cord myelin repair by rHIgM22 was also assayed non-invasively using T1 and T2 weighted MRI.<sup>34</sup> Every one of 13 mice treated with rHIgM22 showed a remarkable decrease in overall lesion volume load in the spinal cord after five weeks as detected by MRI after just a single dose of human IgM.

It has been generally accepted that IgMs, with a molecular weight of close to 1 million, are too large to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and enter the CNS. However, evidence is accumulating that some IgMs can cross the BBB.<sup>35,36</sup> We have shown that<sup>35</sup> S-methionine labeled SCH94.03 administered intraperitoneally accumulated in the brain and spinal cord of normal and TMEV-infected mice-to approximately 0.4% of the administered35 S dose. We also tracked rHIgM22 in vivo in TMEV-infected mice by MRI using a 7-Tesla magnet.<sup>34</sup> rHIgM22 entered the brain and accumulated at demyelinated lesions. In mice that were not infected with the virus or did not have demyelination, rHIgM22 did not accumulate in the CNS nor did a control human IgM that does not bind to myelin or oligodendrocytes. These data support the concept that some IgMs can cross the BBB with low efficiency, enter the CNS, and accumulate within injured regions of the CNS. It should be stressed that very little drug is required in the CNS to produce a therapeutic effect. Only 0.02% of a peripheral dose of morphine enters the brain, yet this is sufficient for analgesia. For most CNS therapeutics on the market, less than 0.2% of a peripheral dose enters the CNS. If an antibody of interest does not enter the CNS sufficiently well pumps can now reliably deliver small volumes directly to the sub arachnoid space and the cerebral spinal fluid.

# EVIDENCE THAT THE IGM ISOTYPE IS SUPERIOR TO IGG IN REPAIR OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

There is now strong evidence supporting the hypothesis that the monoclonal IgMs that promote remyelination do so by direct signaling of specific nervous system cells rather than by a homeostatic mechanism attributed to the larger multiple doses of IVIG. 37,38 IVIG and polyclonal human IgM were tested for the ability to promote remyelination in the TMEV model.<sup>29</sup> Both were effective, but polyclonal IgM and two human monoclonal IgMs were far superior. In the lysolecithin model of demyelination a single dose of human polyclonal IgM accelerated remyelination similar to the monoclonal IgMs, while IVIG was no different than the saline-treated control group.<sup>32</sup> Recognition of the appropriate tissues or cells appears to be an important defining characteristic even of polyclonal Ig preparations. Polyclonal human IgM binds well to the surface of live oligodendrocytes, whereas IVIG does not. The concept to treat patients with chronic optic neuritis with IVIG<sup>11</sup> was driven by the observation that IVIG improved the extent of spinal cord remyelination in our mouse model of MS.<sup>29</sup> Our clinical and experimental data suggest that polyclonal human IgM, monoclonal human IgMs that bind to oligodendrocytes or a subfraction of IVIG with an affinity for myelin and/or oligodendrocytes may be better reagents for trial in chronic optic neuritis.

Based on the observation that polyclonal IgM bound to oligodendrocytes, whereas IVIG did not, we tested whether the monoclonal IgMs that promoted remyelination remained effective as fragments. Monomers or  $F(ab')_2$  fragments of the human monoclonal sHIgM22 did not bind to oligodendrocytes with sufficient affinity to be detected by flow cytometry or immunocytochemistry.<sup>39</sup> An IgG<sub>4</sub> form of rHIgM22 did not bind detectably to the surface of oligodendrocytes. Pre-clustering the IgG<sub>4</sub> form with a secondary antibody increases oligodendrocyte binding to detectable levels, but still without the intensity of the IgM form (unpublished). A natural IgG<sub>1</sub> switch variant was isolated from cells synthesizing the mouse IgM, SCH94.03.<sup>39</sup> The switch variant was characterized by sequence analysis of protein and the cDNA isolated from a cloned cell

#### NAbs AS THERAPEUTICS FOR NEUROLOGIC DISEASE

line. The variable region of the heavy and light chains of the IgM and IgG<sub>1</sub> antibodies were identical differing only in the heavy chain constant region used for assembly into a pentameric or monomeric form. The IgG<sub>1</sub> form did not bind to live cerebellar slices or to the surface of live oligodendrocytes. When tested in vivo for the ability to promote remyelination SCH94.03 IgG<sub>1</sub> did induce remyelination (22.7% of spinal cord quadrants, p = 0.025) compared with the endogenous level of repair (20.1%), but far from the level of repair induced by SCH94.03 IgM (41.0% p < 0.001). A comparison indicated that all three treatment groups were different from each other again supporting the concept that the IgM is more effective than the IgG form.

We concluded that the individual variable region binding sites of the reparative IgMs have a low affinity for their target, but that the avidity of the pentameric IgM structure with 10 potential binding sites facilitates the biologic activity. Avidity describes the combined strength of multiple interactions. Avidity is distinct from affinity, which describes the strength of a single interaction. Avidity describes a synergistic increase in binding sites can simultaneously interact with several of the same antigens. When an IgM is bound to a fluid target on a cell membrane any individual variable region binding interactions of a single site prevents the loss of the overall multivalent structure.<sup>40</sup>

# Ca<sup>2+</sup> SIGNALING IS A COMMON LINK IN IgMs THAT PROMOTE REMYELINATION

To establish a connection between an antibody's ability to bind to oligodendrocytes and a direct signaling event in those cells, we studied Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. Transient elevation of  $Ca^{2+}$  in cells is associated with cell survival, whereas persistent elevation of  $Ca^{2+}$  is associated with cell death. The remyelination-promoting antibodies SCH94.03, SCH79.08, O4, sHIgM22, sHIgM46, and CB2BG8 all induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> responses in oligodendrocytes (OL) (Table 2). Isotype control antibodies CH12, AKJR4, sHIgM12, sHIgM14, and sHIgM47 which do not promote remyelination, do not evoke Ca<sup>2+</sup>responses. These data demonstrate a strong relationship between antibody-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling and promotion of remyelination (p = 0.015, Fisher exact). We also showed that signaling in oligodendrocytes is mediated by ligand-gated ion channel glutamate receptors<sup>37</sup> and that Ca<sup>2+</sup> flows in from external sources. Disrupting oligodendrocyte lipid microdomains (lipid rafts) by the detergent B-methyl cyclodextrin prevents Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling<sup>41</sup> suggesting that the  $Ca^{2+}$  channels are functionally linked within microdomains. The IgG<sub>1</sub> switch variant of SCH94.03 was not able to induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals in oligodendrocytes.<sup>39</sup> However, pre-treating oligodendrocytes with the IgG1 form could block Ca2+ flux induced by the IgM, indicating that the  $IgG_1$  can bind to the target cells sufficiently well to prevent the IgM from accessing enough antigen on the membrane to allow signaling. The  $IgG_1$ form of SCH94.03 did not block the ability of rHIgM22 to induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> flux indicating that the IgG<sub>1</sub> is not blocking overall antibody binding and signaling, but is interfering only with the ability of SCH94.03 IgM to broadly access the plasma membrane. These studies again stress the concept that the absolute oligodendrocyte surface antigen of an IgM is not important in the ability to promote remyelination. What is important is the ability to bind well enough to signal the target cells.

Antibody	Species	Remyelination	OL Surface Binding	% Responding OLs
O4	mouse	yes	yes	21*
SCH94.03	mouse	yes	yes	27*
SCH79.08	mouse	yes	no	25*
sHIgM22	human	yes	yes	10*
sHIgM46	human	yes	yes	11*
CB2BG8	human	yes	yes	22*
AKJR8	human	yes	no	36*
CH12	mouse	no	no	0
sHIgM12	human	no	no	0
sHIgM14	human	no	yes	0
sHIgM47	human	no	yes	0
AKJR4	human	no	no	0

Table 2. IgM induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> response correlates with the ability to promote remyelination

The ability of 10 µg/ml of IgM to induce  $Ca^{2+}$  flux in mixed primary glial cultures was performed as described.<sup>37</sup> Between 60 and 125 individual OLs were examined for each treatment group. An IgM's ability to bind to the surface of OLs as determined by immunocytochemistry did not correlate with the ability to promote remyelination in the TMEV model of spinal cord demyelination. However, an IgM's ability to induce a  $Ca^{2+}$  response did correlate with the ability to promote remyelination. Human IgMs were compared with sHIgM12, and mouse IgMs were compared with CH12, a human and mouse IgM, respectively, that do not bind to mature OLs or promote remyelination in vivo. Comparisons of induced  $Ca^{2+}$  flux in OLs using Z-test revealed a significant difference \*(p < 0.002). All other comparisons did not reach p < 0.05.

# NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES IN THE TREATMENT OF ALZHEIMER DISEASE

IVIG contains NAbs directed against  $\beta$  amyloid (A $\beta$ ) and IVIG may be effective in attenuating cognitive impairment in Alzheimer disease.<sup>42,43</sup> Endogenous autoantibodies, of both IgG and IgM isotypes, directed against Aß are common in normal humans<sup>44,45</sup> suggesting a role in the normal homeostasis of AB. It is well established that anti-AB antibodies delivered to the brains of mice that overexpress Aß can reverse histologic and cognitive impairment<sup>46,47</sup> and these observations underlie the Aß immunization strategies in human trials. Monoclonal antibodies against  $A\beta$ , primarily high affinity IgGs, are under development as drugs after the failure of  $A\beta$  protein immunization trials in humans, but there is also a growing interest in anti-Aß IgMs. Lindhagen-Persson<sup>48</sup> found that naturally occurring human anti-A $\beta$  IgMs bound strongly to oligometric A $\beta$ . The authors suggest that IgM avidity can be exploited to target oligometric A $\beta$  in vivo and that the normal role of human anti-Aß IgMs may be protective. A study by Banks et al.<sup>36</sup> evaluated the use of human monoclonal IgMs directed against  $A\beta$  to improve a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Antibodies were delivered by intracerebral injection or intravenously. The IgM that accumulated in the brains of normal and diseased mice improved both memory and learning deficits in this model.
#### NAbs AS THERAPEUTICS FOR NEUROLOGIC DISEASE

#### CONCLUSION

IVIG use has expanded greatly since 1980 and its efficacy is proven in several neurologic diseases. However, the use of IVIG to treat long-term chronic diseases such as multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer is not realistic. IVIG in these diseases may be replaced with monoclonal antibody therapy if the appropriate targets can be identified. Focusing the use of IVIG for diseases which actually require all of the Ig components will eliminate the occasional shortages of IVIG.

The serum of healthy humans contains naturally occurring autoantibodies directed against the surface of oligodendrocytes, neurons and A $\beta$ . Targeting these molecules with mAbs, especially monoclonal IgMs, may modulate disease. One recombinant human monoclonal antibody, rHIgM22, derived from the NAb repertoire binds to lipid rafts on oligodendrocytes, induces calcium influx through ligand-gated ion channels, induces the phosphorylation of specific signaling molecules and induces in vivo remyelination. Long-term treatment of primary oligodendrocytes in culture with rHIgM22 prevented apoptotic signaling and inhibited oligodendrocyte differentiation by Lyn.<sup>38</sup> In contrast to current therapies for multiple sclerosis aimed at modulating inflammation, remyelination-promoting IgMs are designed to induce tissue repair by acting within the CNS at sites of damage on the cells responsible for myelin synthesis. We propose that those monoclonal IgMs that promote remyelination do so by initiating a cascade of events, beginning with binding to the oligodendrocyte plasma membrane, likely to a sphingolipid. The pentameric IgM rearranges membrane microdomains and the associated signaling molecules, whereby calcium influx initiates the activation of signal transduction molecules. Activated signal transduction molecules lead to changes at the level of protein transcription that alters oligodendrocyte survival and ultimately the extent of new myelin that protects axons from further damage.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (R01s GM092993, NS024180, NS032129, NS048357, R21 NS073684), the National Multiple Sclerosis Society (CA1060A11), the Applebaum Foundation, the Hilton Foundation, the Minnesota Partnership for Biotechnology and Medical Genomics, and Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.

Patents for IgM mediated repair of the central nervous system are issued and are owned by Mayo Clinic. Therefore, the authors and Mayo Clinic disclose a potential financial conflict of interest.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kaveri SV, Mouthon L et al. Self-reactive antibodies (natural autoantibodies) in healthy individuals. J Immunol Methods 1998; 216:117-37. PMID:9760219 doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(98)00074-X
- Coutinho A, Kazatchkine MD, Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies. Curr Opin Immunol 1995; 7:812-8. PMID:8679125 doi:10.1016/0952-7915(95)80053-0
- Gold R, Stangel M, Dalakas MC. Drug Insight: the use of intravenous immunoglobulin in neurology– therapeutic considerations and practical issues. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2007; 3:36-44. PMID:17205073 doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0376

- Noseworthy JH, Lucchinetti C, Rodriguez M et al. Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:938-52. PMID:11006371 doi:10.1056/NEJM200009283431307
- Fazekas F, Deisenhammer F, Strasser-Fuchs S et al. Randomised placebo-controlled trial of monthly intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Austrian Immunoglobulin in Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Lancet 1997; 349:589-93. PMID:9057729 doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(96)09377-4
- Sorensen PS, Wanscher B, Jensen CV et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin G reduces MRI activity in relapsing multiple sclerosis. Neurology 1998; 50:1273-81. PMID:9595974
- Haas J, Maas-Enriquez M, Hartung HP. Intravenous immunoglobulins in the treatment of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis-results of a retrospective multicenter observational study over five years. Mult Scler 2005; 11:562-7. PMID:16193894 doi:10.1191/1352458505ms1224oa
- Fazekas F, Lublin FD, Li D et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a dose-finding trial. Neurology 2008; 71:265-71. PMID:18645164 doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000318281.98220.6f
- Hommes OR, Sorensen PS, Fazekas F et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 364:1149-56. PMID:15451222 doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(04)17101-8
- McDonald WI, Barnes D. The ocular manifestations of multiple sclerosis. 1. Abnormalities of the afferent visual system. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1992; 55:747-52. PMID:1402963 doi:10.1136/jnnp.55.9.747
- Noseworthy JH, O'Brien PC, Petterson TM et al. A randomized trial of intravenous immunoglobulin in inflammatory demyelinating optic neuritis. Neurology 2001; 56:1514-22. PMID:11402108
- Roed HG, Langkilde A, Sellebjerg F et al. A double-blind, randomized trial of IV immunoglobulin treatment in acute optic neuritis. Neurology 2005; 64:804-10. PMID:15753413 doi:10.1212/01. WNL.0000152873.82631.B3
- Noseworthy JH, O'Brien PC, Weinshenker BG et al. IV immunoglobulin does not reverse established weakness in MS. Neurology 2000; 55:1135-43. PMID:11071491
- 14. Tselis A, Perumal J, Caon C et al. Treatment of corticosteroid refractory optic neuritis in multiple sclerosis patients with intravenous immunoglobulin. Eur J Neurol 2008; 15:1163-7. PMID:18727675 doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02258.x
- Rodriguez M, Oleszak E, Leibowitz J. Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis: a model of demyelination and persistence of virus. Crit Rev Immunol 1987; 7:325-65. PMID:2827957
- McGavern DB, Murray PD, Rivera-Quinones C et al. Axonal loss results in spinal cord atrophy, electrophysiological abnormalities and neurological deficits following demyelination in a chronic inflammatory model of multiple sclerosis. Brain 2000; 123:519-31. PMID:10686175 doi:10.1093/ brain/123.3.519
- McGavern DB, Murray PD, Rodriguez M. Quantitation of spinal cord demyelination, remyelination, atrophy, and axonal loss in a model of progressive neurologic injury. J Neurosci Res 1999; 58:492-504. PMID:10533042 doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19991115)58:4<492::AID-JNR3>3.0.CO;2-P
- McGavern DB, Zoecklein L, Drescher KM et al. Quantitative assessment of neurologic deficits in a chronic progressive murine model of CNS demyelination. Exp Neurol 1999; 158:171-81. PMID:10448429 doi:10.1006/exnr.1999.7082
- Rodriguez M, Lennon VA, Benveniste EN et al. Remyelination by oligodendrocytes stimulated by antiserum to spinal cord. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1987; 46:84-95. PMID:2432195 doi:10.1097/00005072-198701000-00008
- Rodriguez M, Lennon VA. Immunoglobulins promote remyelination in the central nervous system. Ann Neurol 1990; 27:12-7. PMID:2301922 doi:10.1002/ana.410270104
- Huang DW, McKerracher L, Braun PE et al. A therapeutic vaccine approach to stimulate axon regeneration in the adult mammalian spinal cord. Neuron 1999; 24:639-47. PMID:10595515 doi:10.1016/ S0896-6273(00)81118-6
- Ellezam B, Bertrand J, Dergham P et al. Vaccination stimulates retinal ganglion cell regeneration in the adult optic nerve. Neurobiol Dis 2003; 12:1-10. PMID:12609484 doi:10.1016/S0969-9961(02)00013-X
- Miller DJ, Sanborn KS, Katzmann JA et al. Monoclonal autoantibodies promote central nervous system repair in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci 1994; 14:6230-8. PMID:7931575
- Asakura K, Miller DJ, Murray K et al. Monoclonal autoantibody SCH94.03, which promotes central nervous system remyelination, recognizes an antigen on the surface of oligodendrocytes. J Neurosci Res 1996; 43:273-81. PMID:8714516 doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19960201)43:3<273::AID-JNR2>3.0.CO;2-G
- Warrington AE, Pfeiffer SE. Proliferation and differentiation of O4+ oligodendrocytes in postnatal rat cerebellum: analysis in unfixed tissue slices using anti-glycolipid antibodies. J Neurosci Res 1992; 33:338-53. PMID:1453495 doi:10.1002/jnr.490330218
- Asakura K, Miller DJ, Pease LR et al. Targeting of IgMkappa antibodies to oligodendrocytes promotes CNS remyelination. J Neurosci 1998; 18:7700-8. PMID:9742140

#### NAbs AS THERAPEUTICS FOR NEUROLOGIC DISEASE

- 27. Asakura K, Miller DJ, Pogulis RJ et al. Oligodendrocyte-reactive O1, O4, and HNK-1 monoclonal antibodies are encoded by germline immunoglobulin genes. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1995; 34:283-93. PMID:8750831 doi:10.1016/0169-328X(95)00190-4
- Avrameas S, Ternynck T, Tsonis IA et al. Naturally occurring B-cell autoreactivity: a critical overview. J Autoimmun 2007; 29:213-8. PMID:17888629 doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2007.07.010
- Warrington AE, Asakura K, Bieber AJ et al. Human monoclonal antibodies reactive to oligodendrocytes promote remyelination in a model of multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:6820-5. PMID:10841576 doi:10.1073/pnas.97.12.6820
- Brown NA, Miller G. Immunoglobulin expression by human B lymphocytes clonally transformed by Epstein Barr virus. J Immunol 1982; 128:24-9. PMID:6274955
- 31. Mitsunaga Y, Ciric B, Van Keulen V et al. Direct evidence that a human antibody derived from patient serum can promote myelin repair in a mouse model of chronic-progressive demyelinating disease. FASEB J 2002; 16:1325-7. PMID:12154009
- 32. Bieber AJ, Warrington A, Asakura K et al. Human antibodies accelerate the rate of remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination in mice. Glia 2002; 37:241-9. PMID:11857682 doi:10.1002/glia.10033
- Warrington AE, Bieber AJ, Ciric B et al. A recombinant human IgM promotes myelin repair after a single, very low dose. J Neurosci Res 2007; 85:967-76. PMID:17304578 doi:10.1002/jnr.21217
- 34. Pirko I, Ciric B, Gamez J et al. A human antibody that promotes remyelination enters the CNS and decreases lesion load as detected by T2-weighted spinal cord MRI in a virus-induced murine model of MS. FASEB J 2004; 18:1577-9. PMID:15319372
- Hunter SF, Miller DJ, Rodriguez M. Monoclonal remyelination-promoting natural autoantibody SCH 94.03: pharmacokinetics and in vivo targets within demyelinated spinal cord in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci 1997; 150:103-13. PMID:9268236 doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00080-4
- 36. Banks WA, Farr SA, Morley JE et al. Anti-amyloid beta protein antibody passage across the blood-brain barrier in the SAMP8 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: an age-related selective uptake with reversal of learning impairment. Exp Neurol 2007; 206:248-56. PMID:17582399 doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.05.005
- 37. Paz Soldán MM, Warrington AE, Bieber AJ et al. Remyelination-promoting antibodies activate distinct Ca2+ influx pathways in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes: relationship to the mechanism of myelin repair. Mol Cell Neurosci 2003; 22:14-24. PMID:12595235 doi:10.1016/S1044-7431(02)00018-0
- Watzlawik J, Holicky E, Edberg DD et al. Human remyelination promoting antibody inhibits apoptotic signaling and differentiation through Lyn kinase in primary rat oligodendrocytes. Glia 2010; 58:1782-93. PMID:20645409 doi:10.1002/glia.21048
- Ciric B, Howe CL, Paz Soldan M et al. Human monoclonal IgM antibody promotes CNS myelin repair independent of Fc function. Brain Pathol 2003; 13:608-16. PMID:14655764 doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2003. tb00489.x
- Schroeder HW Jr., Cavacini L. Structure and function of immunoglobulins. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125(Suppl 2):S41-52. PMID:20176268 doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.09.046
- Howe CL, Bieber AJ, Warrington AE et al. Antiapoptotic signaling by a remyelination-promoting human antimyelin antibody. Neurobiol Dis 2004; 15:120-31. PMID:14751777 doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2003.09.002
- 42. Dodel R, Hampel H, Depboylu C et al. Human antibodies against amyloid beta peptide: a potential treatment for Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 2002; 52:253-6. PMID:12210803 doi:10.1002/ana.10253
- 43. Dodel RC, Du Y, Depboylu C et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins containing antibodies against beta-amyloid for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2004; 75:1472-4. PMID:15377700 doi:10.1136/jnnp.2003.033399
- 44. Geylis V, Kourilov V, Meiner Z et al. Human monoclonal antibodies against amyloid-beta from healthy adults. Neurobiol Aging 2005; 26:597-606. PMID:15708434 doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.06.008
- Szabo P, Relkin N, Weksler ME. Natural human antibodies to amyloid beta peptide. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:415-20. PMID:18558354 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.03.007
- 46. Schenk D, Barbour R, Dunn W et al. Immunization with amyloid-beta attenuates Alzheimer-disease-like pathology in the PDAPP mouse. Nature 1999; 400:173-7. PMID:10408445 doi:10.1038/22124
- 47. Bard F, Cannon C, Barbour R et al. Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Nat Med 2000; 6:916-9. PMID:10932230 doi:10.1038/78682
- 48. Lindhagen-Persson M, Brannstrom K, Vestling M et al. Amyloid-beta oligomer specificity mediated by the IgM isotype–implications for a specific protective mechanism exerted by endogenous auto-antibodies. PLoS ONE 2010; 5:e13928. PMID:21085663 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013928

### CHAPTER 5

## NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

# Sudhir Paul,<sup>\*,1,2</sup> Stephanie A. Planque,<sup>1</sup> Yasuhiro Nishiyama,<sup>1</sup> Carl V. Hanson<sup>3</sup> and Richard J. Massey<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Chemical Immunology Research Center, Department of Pathology, University of Texas–Houston Medical School, Houston, Texas, USA; <sup>2</sup>Covalent Bioscience Inc, Houston, Texas, USA; <sup>3</sup>Viral and Rickettsial Disease Laboratory, California Department of Public Health, Richmond, California, USA

\*Corresponding Author: Sudhir Paul-Email: sudhir.paul@uth.tmc.edu

Abstract: Immunoglobulins (antibodies) frequently express constitutive functions. Two such functions are nucleophilic catalysis and the reversible binding to B-cell superantigens. Constitutive or "naturally-occurring" antibodies are produced spontaneously from germline genetic information. The antibody structural elements mediating the constitutive functions have originated over millions of years of phylogenic evolution, contrasting with antigen-driven, somatic sequence diversification of the complementarity determining regions (CDR) that underlies the better-known high affinity antigen binding function of antibodies. Often, the framework regions (FRs) play a dominant role in antibody constitutive functions. Catalytic antibody subsets with promiscuous, autoantigen-directed and microbe-directed specificities have been identified. Mucosal antibodies may be specialized to express high-level catalytic activity against microbes transmitted by the mucosal route, exemplified by constitutive production of IgA class antibodies in mucosal secretions that catalyze the cleavage of HIV gp120. Catalytic specificity can be gained by constitutive noncovalent superantigen binding at the FRs and by adaptive development of noncovalent classical antigen or superantigen binding, respectively, at the CDRs and FRs. Growing evidence suggests important functional roles for catalytic antibodies in homeostasis, autoimmune disease and protection against infection. Adaptive antibody responses to microbial superantigens are proscribed under physiological circumstances. Covalent electrophilic immunogen binding to constitutively expressed nucleophilic sites in B-cell receptors bypasses the restriction on adaptive antibody production, and simultaneous occupancy of the CDR binding site by a stimulatory antigenic epitope can also overcome the downregulatory effect of superantigen binding at the FRs. These concepts may be useful for developing novel vaccines that capitalize and improve on constitutive antibody functions for protection against microbes.

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Structural stability of proteins is vital for maintaining higher-order life functions, and keeping proteins free of somatic mutations within the life-time of an individual is a hallmark of the disease-free state. The adaptive immune system is an exception. Immune molecules are specialized to mutate adaptively by somatic means, exemplified by the six complementarity determining regions (CDRs) of the immunoglobulin light and heavy chain variable domains ( $V_L$  and  $V_H$  domains). Within days to weeks, the CDRs acquire the ability to bind target antigens specifically with high affinity, a crucial property for defense against microbial infections.

The inherited antibody repertoire is usually conceived as a plastic starting point for adaptive development of specific, high affinity antigen binding sites formed by the CDRs. In humans, the inherited repertoire of germline genes that ultimately gives rise to the antibody V domains consists of about 50 light and heavy chain  $V_L$  and  $V_H$  region genes each, tens of diversity (D) genes, and tens of joining (J) genes. The lowest extant organisms in the phylogenetic tree of life expressing recognizable immunoglobulin molecules are the jawed fish (Fig. 1).<sup>1</sup> The ability to mutate antibodies had already



Figure 1. A) Domain organization of human IgM, IgG and secretory IgA. B) Domain organization of immunoglobulin isoforms in cartilaginous fish. C) Organization of complementarity determining regions (CDRs) and framework regions (FRs) of a typical variable (V) domain. Gray and white, respectively, heavy chain V and constant domains; Stippled and black, respectively, light chain V and constant domains. In fish (panel B), IgW refers to an isoform containing two forms of the heavy chain, a long seven domain form and a short 3 domain form. IgNAR (NAR, novel antigen receptor) is a heavy chain homodimer free of light chains. IgM1gj (gj, germline-joined) contains a V<sub>H</sub> domain joined without somatic diversification at the V-D-J junctions. The monomeric IgM form is found in blood. Three L chain isotypes that cannot be classified as either  $\kappa$ - or  $\lambda$ -like have been identified in cartilaginous fish. Summarized from reference 1. In panel (C), binding of B-cell superantigens and traditional antigens is dominated, respectively, by the FRs and CDRs. A color version of this figure is available online at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

appeared at this stage, albeit at a rudimentary level compared with higher organisms. No extant organism with immutable immunoglobulins has been identified. The missing link of a less sophisticated pre-form suggests an abrupt evolutionary advantage due to the development of somatically mutable immunoglobulins. This inspired John Marchalonis and coworkers to suggest the "big-bang" theory of adaptive immunity.<sup>2</sup> The concept of adaptive immunity mediated by the V domains is a central tenet of modern immunology, and it has been applied to great advantage in biotechnology, witnessed, for example, by the current > \$15 billion/year market for therapy with monoclonal antibodies displaying specific, high affinity antigen binding activities acquired by adaptive means.

Interspersed between the V domain CDRs are the framework regions (FRs). Like the CDRs, the FRs undergo random sequence diversification by somatic hypermutation. However, classical antigens generally fail to select the FR mutations, as their primary contact amino acids are located in the CDRs. Thus, it is often stated that the FRs merely form a scaffold enabling the CDRs to fulfill their adaptive function in the somatic immune response. This view is no longer tenable given structural and functional evidence concerning subsets of antibodies with catalytic activity and reversible binding activity for microbial superantigens. These antibody subsets express constitutive V domain functions expressed without the requirement for antigen-driven somatic selection, often entailing a central participation of the FRs. There is growing realization of the beneficial and harmful effects of these functions in homeostasis, microbial infection and autoimmune disease (Table 1). FR and CDR encoded constitutive antibody functions have presumably improved over the course of phylogenic evolution under the influence of discrete selection pressures. CDR loop sequences, for instance, could undergo improvement if they enjoy superior conformational flexibility enabling adaptive development of binding to diverse epitopes in concert with random structural diversification. A more refined appreciation of the constitutive V domain functions may help explain long-standing immunological uncertainties and could offer innovative solutions for diseases that have remained intractable by conventional vaccine and immune therapy approaches, e.g., HIV infection, Staphyloccus aureus infection and Alzheimer disease.

#### **CONSTITUTIVE OR "NATURALLY-OCCURRING" ANTIBODIES**

There is no precise meaning of the terms "naturally-occurring" antibodies and "natural antibodies." The terms were coined to explain observations of antibody reactivities that can be differentiated functionally or structurally from those of antibodies induced by stimulation of the immune system with a known antigen. The "natural" and "induced" antibodies" are actually "induced," e.g., their production may depend on autoantigen-driven adaptive selection of B cells. Therefore, the authors prefer to avoid these terms except when it is demonstrably clear that the antibodies are synthesized free of the influence of antibodies with the ability to bind two or more antigenic epitopes.<sup>3,4</sup> Polyreactive antibodies often recognize epitopes with no discernible structural resemblance. Thus, it is difficult to explain their binding pattern on the basis of cross-reactivity. Despite modest to low affinity, polyreactive antibodies are important for immunological defense because of their high concentrations in biological fluids. Indeed, large proportions of antibodies found in blood and mucosal secretions are thought to express polyreactive binding activity.

ī Table 1. Antibody subset expression and functions in various immune states. The classical antibody subset is composed of antibodies that develop high affinity antigen binding activity by traditional B-cell clonal selection. Constitutive antibodies included in the table are the catalytic, superantigen-binding and polyreactive antibody subsets.

	Classical Antibodies	<ul> <li>No high affinity antibody synthesis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pathogenic autoantigen binding</li> <li>Beneficial toxic autoantigen binding (e.g., amyloid)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Beneficial microbe binding</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Beneficial microbe binding</li> </ul>
	Constitutive Antibodies	<ul> <li>Polyreactive autoantigen binding</li> <li>Promiscuous catalytic clearance of autoantigens</li> <li>Catalytic mucosal defense against microbial superantigens</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Diminished catalytic clearance of small autoantigen peptides</li> <li>Pathogenic, specific catalytic destruction of autoantigens</li> <li>Beneficial, specific catalytic destruction of toxic autoantigens (e.g., amyloid)</li> <li>Beneficial and harmful catalytic activation of zymogens</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Diminished catalytic clearance of small microbial peptides</li> <li>Downregulated superantigen binding</li> <li>Very slow adaptive amplification of superantigen catalytic cleavage</li> <li>Adaptive catalytic response to CDR-binding antigens?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Adaptive covalent vaccine-induced covalent and catalytic activity</li> <li>Covalent vaccine-induced bypass of forbidden adaptive response to superantigens</li> </ul>
•	Immune Phenotype	Homeostasis	Autoimmune reactions	Response to microbial infection	Response to vaccination

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

Polyreactive antibodies are produced constitutively without stimulation by an exogenous antigen molecule. The clonal selection theory holds that antigen binding to the B-cell receptor (BCR; antibody complexed to signal transducing proteins expressed on the B-cell surface) drives B-cell clonal proliferation and adaptive selection of mutant BCRs expressing the greatest antigen binding affinity. The constitutively-expressed repertoire is generated by pairing of discrete  $V_L/V_H$  domains that are in turn produced from about 150 distinct V, D and J germline genes by V-(D)-J gene recombination, a step entailing extensive removal and addition of nucleotides defining the structure of CDR3 of each subunit. Structural diversity attributable to the V-(D)-J gene recombination and combinatorial pairing is constitutive or innate in the sense that it is produced randomly prior to arrival of the antigen on the scene. This innate, constitutive repertoire is enormous, estimated to be ~10<sup>13</sup> B-cell clones expressing antibodies with unique structures.

The central point in resolving etymological debates about constitutive vs. somatically adapted antibody subsets concerns the role of antigen. Polyreactive antigen binding by constitutively produced antibodies depends at least in part on CDR3 of the  $V_H$  domain.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, V-D-J somatic diversification must contribute to acquisition of the polyreactive binding activity. Germ-free animals produce polyreactive antibodies, indicating that stimulation with exogenous antigens is not essential. A role for self-antigen in driving polyreactive antibody formation can be conceived, as these antibodies often bind self-antigens.<sup>3,4</sup> On the other hand, mitogen and cytokine stimulation alone is sufficient to drive differentiation of the constitutive B-cell clones into polyreactive antibody-producing plasma cells.<sup>5</sup> Also, the polyreactive BCR may be capable of autonomous positive signaling in a pre-BCR manner with no requirement of antigen signaling.<sup>6</sup>

#### **BEYOND BINDING: CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES**

The field of catalytic antibodies emerged from an interesting nurture vs. nature conundrum that lasted more than a decade. The idea that catalysts can be applied for efficient chemical transformation of biological and industrial molecules inspired chemical engineers to conduct immunizations with tetrahedral transition state analogs (TSAs) of ester substrates. The resultant antibodies were advertised as "nurtured" molecules with a tailored ability to catalyze ester hydrolysis attributable to noncovalent stabilization of the negatively charged transition state of the esterase reaction.<sup>7</sup> Later studies identified protease antibodies<sup>8</sup> and nuclease antibodies<sup>9</sup> that were generated by *bona fide* natural mechanisms with no reliance on immunization with artificial antigens. Mechanistic studies suggested that some antibodies raised by immunization with the TSAs actually use the same nucleophilic mechanism for chemical catalysis as naturally-occurring catalytic antibodies.<sup>10</sup> Moreover, it turned out that the immunogens thought to be chemically inert TSAs actually express electrophilic reactivity sufficient to bind covalently to the constitutive nucleophilic sites of antibodies.<sup>11</sup> This suggested that the TSAs stimulate adaptive improvement of the constitutive nucleophilic site. Clearly, nature played no small role in what was then thought to be the "nurtured" esterase function of the antibodies. A better example of nurtured catalysis may be the induction of a lactamase antibody by immunization with an anti-idiotypic antibody to a  $\beta$  lactamase enzyme.<sup>12</sup> In this molecular imprinting strategy, the anti-idiotypic antibody is assumed to express a surface complementary to the enzyme active site, thereby inducing an antibody with enzymatic activity.



Figure 2. Antibody subsets with distinct functions and structural genesis. Note overlapping regions of the catalytic and other antibody subsets that impart to the catalytic antibodies their functional characteristics in homeostasis, autoimmune disease and microbial infections. The ? symbol denotes current lack of example antibodies that can effectively combine the catalytic function with noncovalent CDR-based recognition of microbial antigens. In contrast, numerous examples of autoantigen-specific catalytic antibodies are available. Assuming that autoantigen noncovalent binding occurs largely at the CDRs, it may be concluded that expression of the catalytic function in the CDR-driven autoimmune response is feasible. Both catalysis and ability to bind microbial superantigens noncovalently at the FRs are germline V gene functions expressed by constitutively-produced antibodies. Initial examples of combined expression of these functions are available. A color version of this figure is available online at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

Kohler and Paul summarized the evidence for antibody interactions with ligands and substrates outside the classical antigen binding sites formed by the CDRs, including the interactions enabling chemical catalysis.<sup>13</sup> The immune genesis and functional roles of various catalytic antibody subsets is distinct from the classical antigen-binding antibodies (Fig. 2). As for classical antibodies, the initial step in catalysis by antibodies is noncovalent antigen binding (Fig. 3; noncovalent immune complex). Thereafter, a nucleophilic catalytic site in the spatial vicinity of the antigen binding site catalyzes the chemical conversion of the polypeptide antigen (Fig. 3; covalent immune complex 1 and 2).<sup>14</sup> The catalytic amino acids are located in part in the FRs and in part in the CDRs.<sup>15-17</sup> Catalysts turn over repeatedly to cleave multiple antigen molecules, and catalytic antibodies utilize the nucleophilic sites to form covalent immune complexes without proceeding to completion of the catalytic cycle. Such antibodies express enhanced antigen neutralizing activity due to their "infinite affinity" for the antigen. A review of catalytic antibodies and their relationship with other major antibody subsets follows.



**Figure 3.** Mechanism of antigen-specific proteolysis by antibodies. Specificity is derived from noncovalent epitope-paratope binding. The antibody nucleophile attacks the weakly electrophilic peptide bond carbonyl. Covalent immune complex 1 is a resonant stable complex prior to expulsion of the C-terminal antigen fragment. Covalent immune complex 2 is an acyl-Ab complex. Ag' and Ag'' are components of the epitope recognized by the Ab. Ag'Lys-OH is the N-terminal antigen fragment and NH<sub>2</sub>-Ag'' is the C-terminal antigen fragment. Covalent antigen binding alone is sufficient to enhance neutralizing potency compared with reversibly-binding antibodies, as the covalent reaction results in non-dissociable immune complexes. If catalysis occurs (that is, if active Ab is regenerated), this enhances potency further by reuse of a single catalyst molecule to permanently inactivate multiple target antigen molecules.

#### **PROMISCUOUS CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES**

Healthy humans and animals express catalytic antibodies that catalyze the hydrolysis of small amide and peptide substrates.<sup>18-20</sup> Other than requiring a positively charged Arg/Lys on the N-terminal side of the cleavage site, this catalytic antibody subset is promiscuous, displaying very low noncovalent binding affinity (Km values in the high micromolar range) and little or no dependence on the structure of the 'microantigen' substrate. Clearly, these antibodies fulfill their catalytic function without dependence on the classical adaptive development of noncovalent antigen recognition forces. The catalytic function itself is germline encoded. Each of the amino acids constituting the nucleophilic, catalytic triad of an antibody V<sub>L</sub> domain are encoded by its germline V gene counterpart.<sup>16</sup> The adaptively-matured V<sub>L</sub> contained certain somatic mutations remote from the nucleophilic triad. There was no loss of catalytic activity after reversion of the remote, somatically-derived amino acids to their germline counterparts.<sup>16</sup> Evidently, catalysis is a constitutive property acquired over phylogenic antibody evolution, not a de novo function developed by antigen-driven affinity maturation.

Studies on polyclonal antibodies isolated from blood provide initial insight to the fate of the catalytic function over the course of adaptive B-cell differentiation. IgMs, the first antibody class produced by B cells, expressed the promiscuous catalytic activity at high levels, whereas class-switched IgG antibodies were poorly catalytic.<sup>19</sup> Monomeric IgM also expressed superior catalysis compared with IgG, ruling out avidity effects as the cause of differing catalytic rates seen for the two antibody classes. IgMs and IgGs are distinguished by their differing constant domain architecture. The integrity of catalytic sites is dependent on precise, sub-Ångstrom-level spatial positioning of amino functional groups that is highly susceptible to changes in backbone movements, even movements caused by structural changes remote from the catalytic site. The feasibility of Ångstrom-level movements of V domain amino acid side chains upon attachment to the constant domains has been documented.<sup>21</sup> Therefore, a loss of catalytic site integrity due

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

to  $\mu \rightarrow \gamma$  constant domain replacement cannot be ruled out. Alternatively, as IgM $\rightarrow$ IgG class-switching occurs concomitantly with increasing accumulation of CDR mutations by the somatic hypermutation process, loss of the catalytic function activity may derive from remote CDR mutations.

Interestingly, blood-borne IgA antibodies express the promiscuous catalytic activity at levels even superior to IgM antibodies.<sup>22</sup> Improved activity of the class-switched, mature IgA antibodies is inconsistent with arguments of promiscuous catalysis as a vestigial property that could have been important at an early stage in antibody phylogeny but is functionally inconsequential in higher organisms. Patients with septic shock who die express low levels of promiscuous catalytic antibodies compared with patients who survive.<sup>20</sup> Patients with autoimmune disease also express lower levels of promiscuous catalytic antibodies class.<sup>18</sup> A homeostatic function for promiscuous catalytic antibodies appears likely. Metabolic clearance of undesired proteins by antibodies with polyreactive antigen binding activity has been suggested, e.g., clearance of toxic microbial proteins and autoantigens that have outlived their utility.

Small peptides but not large proteins are cleaved rapidly by antibodies. IgA, IgM and IgG concentrations in blood are 2–10 mg/ml, compared with the nanogram/ml levels of classical protease enzymes. Promiscuous catalysis is readily detected at antibody concentrations magnitudes of orders lower than the physiological antibody concentrations. A strong case is available, thus, for metabolic clearance of small peptides by catalytic antibodies as a homeostatic function.

Consistent with observations that the free antibody light chain subunits express catalytic activities greater than intact antibodies,<sup>23</sup> robust peptide bond cleaving activities have been described for monoclonal light chains from multiple myeloma patients.<sup>24,25</sup> Some catalytic light chains induce cell death through an apoptotic pathway, an effect with potential significance for renal light chain accumulation and kidney failure in multiple myeloma patients.<sup>26</sup>

#### CATALYTIC AUTOANTIBODIES

The catalytic activity of antibodies was discovered as an autoantigen-specific function. Catalytic autoantibodies specific for vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP),8 DNA,9 RNA,27 thyroglobulin,<sup>28</sup> prothrombin,<sup>29,30</sup> Factor VIII,<sup>31</sup> Factor IX,<sup>32</sup> myelin basic protein,<sup>33</sup> and amyloid  $\beta$  peptide<sup>34</sup> have been reported. Catalytic antibodies may exert beneficial or deleterious effects depending on the biological context (see details below). Unlike the promiscuous catalysts in the preceding paragraph, these autoantibodies display catalytic specificity for individual autoantigens. Molecular interactions conferring specificity to the catalytic reaction can be understood from the split-site model,<sup>35</sup> in which noncovalent antigen binding and the subsequent catalytic cleavage step occur at two distinct but coordinated subsites (Fig. 4A,B). For the autoantigenic peptide VIP, mutations at certain antibody CDR residues resulted in loss of noncovalent binding activity without loss of catalytic rate constants.<sup>15</sup> Conversely, mutations at catalytic residues did not cause loss of binding affinity. Monoclonal antibodies with proteolytic activity cleave their specific substrate at multiple peptide bonds. Consistent with the split-site reaction model, the catalytic site can be oriented in register with alternate peptide bonds of the antigen in the noncovalently associated immune complex, resulting in cleavage at different bonds in the ensuing catalytic step of the reaction (Fig. 4C).



**Figure 4.** Split-site catalytic antibody model. A) Noncovalent epitope–paratope binding. Epitope component shown as a beaded structure. B) Noncovalent epitope–paratope binding coordinated with placement of a peptide bond of the antigen in register with the nucleophilic subsite (mostly localized in FR), initiating peptide bond hydrolysis. C) Two-step antigen recognition enabling cleavage at alternate peptide bonds. Intramolecular interactions impart nucleophilicity to an antibody residue (triangle activated by general base). Initial noncovalent binding rigidifies the peptide epitope but not the remote scissile peptide bond region. In the second step of the reaction, the nucleophile can be placed in register with alternate peptide bonds, resulting in cleavage at alternate sites by the antibody. Ab, antibody; Ag, antigen). A color version of this figure is available online at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

Most proteolytic reactions produce functionally inactive products, e.g., the Factor VIII products obtained by antibody digestion are unable to mediate the cofactor function of intact FVIII in blood coagulation.<sup>36</sup> However, autoantibody-catalyzed cleavage of the precursor proteins prothrombin<sup>29,30</sup> and Factor IX<sup>32</sup> can generate the opposite result, that is, production of enzymatically active thrombin-like and Factor IXa-like products with the ability to promote coagulation. Catalytic autoantibodies were originally described as pathogenic mediators, analogous to the traditional conception of reversibly binding antigen-specific autoantibodies as mediators of Ehrlich's *horror autotoxicus* theory of autoimmunity. The Factor IX-activating catalytic autoantibodies found in acquired hemophilia patients, in contrast, are proposed to exert a beneficial pro-coagulant effect. Hemophilia in these patients is thought to be mediated at least in part by the anti-coagulant effect of FVIII binding autoantibodies. The procoagulant effect of anti-FVIII autoantibodies.

The story of amyloid  $\beta$  peptide is also of interest. Accumulation of amyloid  $\beta$  aggregates in the brain is the hallmark of Alzheimer disease and amyloid  $\beta$  oligomer toxicity may underlie progressive neurodegeneration in this disease. Overproduction of amyloid  $\beta$ peptide with advancing age is devoid of any known physiological function. Catalytic autoantibodies that hydrolyze amyloid  $\beta$  peptide are proposed to be beneficial by virtue of their ability to impede formation of amyloid aggregates, dissolve the aggregates and block the toxic effects of the peptide oligomers.<sup>34</sup> Given that self-antigens can fulfill both

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

biologically essential and toxic functions, catalytic autoimmune reactions can be conceived to be functionally harmful when directed against biologically essential self-antigens and beneficial when directed against toxic self-antigens.

Unlike the non-covalent binding function, stimulation of the immune system by exogenous antigens generally fails to induce rapid improvement of catalysis by IgG antibodies. At the terminal step of the catalytic cycle, BCRs will release the antigen fragments produced by the proteolytic reaction. Adaptive improvement of catalysis, therefore, militates against the B-cell clonal selection theory, which holds that prolonged BCR occupancy by antigen is necessary for immune selection. Autoantibodies, on the other hand, can frequently express antigen-specific catalytic activity, and the frequent expression of catalysis by autoantibodies demands an explanation.

The answer may lie in electrophilic autoantigens that bind B cells and induce adaptive improvement of the germline encoded catalytic function. Engineered antigens containing artificial electrophiles are capable of inducing proteolytic antibodies by binding covalently to nucleophilic BCR sites.<sup>14,19</sup> This indicated that the nucleophilic reactivity underlying catalysis is selectable over the course of B-cell differentiation. Autoimmune diseases are often associated with increased post-translational generation of autoantigen adducts with lipid peroxidation metabolites and advanced glycation end products.<sup>37</sup> Such adducts contain reactive electrophiles capable of stimulating adaptive immune selection of catalytic antibody nucleophilicity. Yet another possibility is that under the abnormal B-cell regulatory pathways found in autoimmune disease, peptide bond cleavage by catalytic BCRs is itself a selectable event. Productive use of the energy liberated upon noncovalent antigen-BCR binding (binding energy) is central to initiation of signal transduction processes that eventually culminate in B-cell division and antibody synthesis. The process entails transduction of the binding energy into a remote conformational change that activates various stimulatory metabolic pathways. The cleavage reaction is a highly exothermic process. BCR signal transduction permitting productive use of the "catalytic energy" can be conceived, that is, the energy liberated from the catalytic reaction may cause a conformational change in the BCR that drives production of second messengers that in turn stimulate B-cell division. In view of accumulating evidence for autoantigen-specific catalytic autoantibodies, further study of non-traditional B-cell stimulatory mechanisms is warranted.

#### CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES IN DEFENSE AGAINST MICROBES

Do catalytic antibodies help the immune system fulfill its *raison d'être*, protection against microbes? As noted above, despite its promiscuous nature, the constitutive catalytic function of antibodies could potentially be useful in clearing small microbial peptides. Antibodies with DNase and RNase activity found in milk are proposed to hydrolyze viral and bacterial nucleic acids, although antibody access to internal microbial constituents was not shown.<sup>38</sup> Cleavage of protease-activated-receptor-2 by secretory IgA in milk induces a signal transducing pathway in intestinal epithelial cells that results in expression of anti-microbial  $\beta$ -defensins, which are known to help reduce neonatal infections.<sup>39</sup>

In addition, there is a strong connection between constitutive production of the subset of antibodies with catalytic activity and the subset that recognizes microbial B-cell superantigens by noncovalent means. Superantigens are defined as molecules recognized by antibodies with no requirement for adaptive B-cell differentiation or prior

exposure to the superantigen. Reversible antibody binding to the superantigenic sites of *Staphylococcus aureus* Protein A,<sup>40</sup> HIV gp120<sup>41</sup> and *Peptostreptococcus magnus*<sup>42</sup> is dominated by noncovalent interactions at antibody FRs, and certain CDR residues can also be involved. Like catalysis, superantigen binding is a constitutive antibody function derived from germline-encoded V domain elements. Discussion of the impact of reversibly binding and catalytic antibody mediated defense against other microbes expressing B-cell superantigens remains to be investigated.

The immunodominant epitopes expressed by the HIV coat protein gp120 are highly mutable. However, the gp120 determinant that binds the primary HIV receptor on host cells, cell surface CD4, is essential for infection and is maintained in mostly constant form. The CD4 binding site (CD4BS) displays little structural variability in HIV-1 strains found across the world. This is one of the few immune vulnerabilities of HIV. Despite exposure of the CD4BS on the HIV surface, the immune system fails to mount a sufficiently protective antibody response to the CD4BS. The CD4BS core (CD4BS<sup>core</sup>) is composed of residues 421–433. It overlaps the B-cell superantigen determinant of the protein.<sup>43,44</sup> Superantigens bind specifically to constitutively produced antibodies expressed as BCRs on the surface of B lymphocytes. Unlike the stimulatory binding of traditional antigens to the CDRs, superantigen binding at the FRs causes downregulation of B-cell differentiation, premature cell death and failure to mount an adaptive antibody response. We suggested that the constitutive ability of antibodies to bind superantigens was originally developed by Darwinian evolution processes over millions of years as a defense against primordial microbes.<sup>45</sup> The superantigenic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> epitope may be HIV's answer. Development of a CD4BS with superantigenic character leaves HIV open to constitutive immunity, but it also minimizes virus neutralization by downregulating the adaptive antibody response.

A subset of the antibodies to the superantigenic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> proceed to catalyze the breakdown of peptide bonds, destroying gp120 permanently.<sup>46</sup> The catalytic sites are present in antibodies produced without requirement for prior HIV infection.<sup>46,47</sup> Sexual transmission of HIV generally occurs through the rectal and vaginal mucosal surfaces. Only a minority of sexual intercourse events with an infected individual causes virus transmission. Remarkably, secretory IgA class antibodies found at mucosal surfaces of non-infected humans rapidly catalyze the cleavage of gp120 and neutralize HIV in tissue culture.<sup>47</sup> Blood-borne IgA and IgM antibodies display lower catalytic proficiencies. A single catalytic antibody molecule is reused to cleave thousands of gp120 molecules. The neutralization potency of catalytic antibodies, therefore, is superior to traditional antibodies that bind the antigen reversibly on a 1:1 basis. It may be hypothesized that the catalytic secretory IgAs represent a constitutive defense against mucosal HIV transmission.

The CD4BS<sup>core</sup> appears to be the proverbial Achilles heel of the virus. Potent HIV neutralizing antibodies have been isolated from non-infected patients with lupus,<sup>48</sup> an autoimmune disease that is associated with resistance to HIV infection<sup>49</sup> and increased catalytic antibody production.<sup>50</sup> Catalytic antibody light chains to the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> have been reported.<sup>51</sup> It is not clear whether an autonomous BCR signaling event or a discrete antigen drives amplification of the antibodies. No structural homology is evident between the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> and human protein sequences available in the databanks. However, we found partial CD4BS<sup>core</sup> sequence identity with certain human endogenous retroviral sequences (HERVs).<sup>45</sup> HERVs are evolutionary remnants of retroviral integration into the

host genome. About 2–10% of the human genome is composed of HERVs, and HERV expression is amplified in lupus patients.<sup>52</sup>

An explicit example of adaptive production of antibodies to the superantigenic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> is provided by patients who survived HIV infection over a prolonged period of about two decades.<sup>53</sup> IgA class antibodies specific for the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> identified in the blood of the survivors neutralized heterologous viral strains potently. The IgAs contained an antibody subset that binds gp120 non-covalently and another antibody subset that proceeds to hydrolyze gp120. It appears that adaptive production of the antibodies to the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> is proscribed, but in the rare circumstances that adaptive anti-CD4BS<sup>core</sup> antibodies are generated, they neutralize HIV strains from across the world with exceptional potency. The immune response to microbial infection is a stochastic process relying on occurrence of immunologically favored, high probability B lymphocyte differentiation events. Low probability events are manifested with passage of time. Understanding how B cells from HIV survivors bypass physiological restriction on adaptive production of antibodies to the superantigenic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> could furnish insight to design a vaccine that induces similar antibodies. The potential bypass mechanisms are: (a) The B cells may slowly produce antibodies that bind the CD4BS via their CDRs with no utilization of the pre-existing CD4BS binding site programmed genetically into the FRs; and (b) Cellular downregulation due to CD4BS binding to the antibody FR site may be effectively counteracted by a favorable differentiation signal generated upon simultaneous engagement of another epitope on the same gp120 molecule by the CDRs.

In addition to gp120, two other HIV proteins essential for virus infection are cleaved by catalytic antibodies from HIV infected patients, reverse transcriptase and integrase.<sup>54,55</sup> Sufficient details of patient clinical history and antibody specificity have not been provided, making it difficult to assess whether the catalytic antibodies are produced via the classical adaptive response pathway. Also, the authors reported enrichment of the catalytic antibody subset in the Protein A binding fraction, raising questions whether Protein A binding to discrete V domain FRs responsible for superantigen epitope recognition was a contributory factor in identifying the catalysts. There is no evidence for the expression of superantigenic epitopes by HIV integrase or reverse transcriptase, but this is not an inconceivable feature of these proteins. Note that a rapid adaptive catalytic antibody response to microbial antigens akin to the classical adaptive binding response is feasible only if the catalytic event itself is immunologically selectable via productive use of the catalytic energy for driving B-cell maturation.

#### CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES AS SECOND GENERATION THERAPEUTICS

Reversibly binding monoclonal antibodies and polyclonal IgG from healthy humans have emerged as a paradigm for therapy of cancer, neurological disease and autoimmune disease. Yet cost and limited efficacy are substantial concerns. Catalytic antibodies hold potential for improved efficacy, and in some instances, lesser side effects. According to Thomas Kuhn, for a new paradigm candidate to be accepted by a scientific community, "First, the new candidate must seem to resolve some outstanding and generally recognized problem that can be met in no other way. Second, the new paradigm must promise to preserve a relatively large part of the concrete problem solving activity that has accrued to science through its predecessors." With the exceptions noted below, the current therapeutic antibody paradigm derives from the notion of antibodies as "magic bullets" that target defined antigens with minimal collateral damage to other antigens. A high level specificity for individual antigens, therefore, is an important property for minimizing catalytic antibody side effects. Maximizing efficacy will depend on the rapidity of catalysis. Any future paradigm of catalytic antibodies as second generation therapeutics will depend on identifying antibody preparations with sufficient specificity and turnover rate.

#### **Catalytic IVIG?**

Intravenously administered formulations of pooled human IgG (IVIG) are largely composed of constitutively produced antibodies. IVIG provides incremental benefit in patients with certain autoimmune diseases and immunodeficiency states. In addition, the use of IVIG and its IgM-containing counterpart IVIGM for treatment and prevention of bacterial infection has been debated. The manufacturing procedure includes use of the Cohn-Oncley cold ethanol fractionation method developed in the 1940s. While V domain binding functions are usually maintained, IVIG is essentially devoid of catalytic activity,<sup>22</sup> presumably because the catalytic sites are disrupted by stringent solvent treatments. A commercial IVIGM preparation also displayed minimal catalytic activity. Moreover, IVIG is generally formulated using only IgG class antibodies, which express catalytic activities orders of magnitude lower than native IgM and IgA antibodies. As the promiscuous catalytic function of endogenous antibodies is likely to fulfill a homeostatic role, it is reasonable to examine the potential benefits of catalytic IVIG formulations composed of IgM/IgA class antibodies purified under non-denaturing conditions.

#### **Alzheimer Immunotherapy**

No therapy for a sustained improvement of cognition is available for Alzheimer's disease. In amyloid  $\beta$  overexpressing transgenic mice, small amounts of intravenously infused monoclonal antibodies that bind amyloid  $\beta$  peptide enter the brain, clear brain deposits of the peptide and improve cognition.<sup>56</sup> However, human trials have raised concern about limited therapeutic efficacy and side effects. A monoclonal IgG to the amyloid ß peptide modestly reduced the risk of cognitive decline in patients negative for the ApoE4 allele, a genetic trait associated with delayed onset of Alzheimer disease.<sup>57</sup> Microglia, the brain's resident macrophages, fulfill the beneficial function of clearing antibody-amyloid  $\beta$  immune complexes by uptake through their Fc receptors. However, microglial activation by this pathway holds the risk of inflammatory mediator release, potentially exacerbating the already inflamed state of the Alzheimer brain. Immune complex deposition in the vascular walls can cause cerebral microbleeds. Provided that the antibodies cleave amyloid β peptide with sufficient specificity, catalytic antibodies hold many of the advantages and none of the disadvantages of reversibly binding antibodies. Because catalysts do not form long-lived immune complexes, the risks of vascular immune complex deposition and microglial release of inflammatory mediators occurring as a result of Fc-receptor mediated immune complex uptake is minimized. High turnover catalytic  $V_1$  domains to amyloid  $\beta$  with serine protease character have been isolated using phage display library methods<sup>21</sup> and a single chain catalytic Fv is also available<sup>58</sup> for further development.

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

#### **Infectious Disease**

Uda and coworkers have developed a strategy to isolate high turnover catalytic subunits from monoclonal antibodies. They apply molecular modeling to identify potential catalytic triads in the antibodies raised to ordinary polypeptide antigens, prepare the individual heavy and light chains, and screen for catalytic cleavage of the polypeptide antigen. The strategy was successful in preparing catalytic light chains capable of rapid cleavage of *Helicobacter pylori* urease. This bacterium is the etiologic agent in several gastroduodenal diseases. Oral administration of the light chain reduced the number of *H. pylori* in the stomachs of mice.<sup>59</sup>

HIV immunotherapy is plagued by the problems of poor potency and emergence of antibody-resistant viral mutants. Can catalytic antibodies be used for passive HIV immunotherapy? The answer depends on the epitope specificity and neutralizing potency of the catalysts. Targeting the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> minimizes the opportunity for developing antibody-resistant strains, as mutations in the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> are predicted to result in loss of viral infectivity. Indeed, anti-CD4BS<sup>core</sup> antibodies from long-term survivors of HIV infection neutralized the autologous HIV strain potently, arguing against emergence of resistant strains despite the selective pressure imposed by the antibodies over prolonged durations. Catalytic monoclonal antibodies to the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> raised by immunization with an electrophilic peptide mimetic neutralize diverse HIV strains in tissue culture, supporting their potential therapeutic utility.<sup>60,61</sup>

HIV infected individuals produce catalytic antibodies to the viral integrase and reverse transcriptase enzymes. Intracellular expression of catalytic antibodies to these proteins holds potential for early blockade of viral propagation via interference with copying viral RNA into proviral DNA and DNA integration into the host genome. Gene therapy protocols for intracellular antibody expression<sup>62</sup> can be conceived for persistent delivery of catalytic anti-HIV antibodies. Reactivation of HIV infection can occur due to integration of the viral genome into host DNA. Drugs that deplete proviral DNA reservoirs are under investigation to address the problem of HIV latency.<sup>63</sup> Catalytic antibodies combined with a proviral DNA-depleting drug may be suitable for consideration as an alternative therapy for the infection.

#### CATALYTIC AND COVALENT VACCINATION

In the case of HIV, a clear path to a vaccine that induces broadly neutralizing antibodies can be foreseen if the following milestones can be reached: (a) Reproduction of the correct CD4BS<sup>core</sup> conformation in the vaccine candidate, and (b) Rapid adaptive production of neutralizing anti-CD4BS<sup>core</sup> antibodies upon administration of the vaccine candidate. Preclinical studies of the 'covalent vaccination' strategy are promising.<sup>60,61</sup> Central points are:

The covalent binding of B cells by an electrophilic polypeptide containing the CD4BS<sup>core</sup>, the vaccine candidate, induces production of broadly neutralizing antibodies. The polypeptide is activated chemically by linking lysine side chains to the strongly electrophilic phosphonate diester group. Naturally-occurring nucleophilic sites are found ubiquitously in BCRs.<sup>19,64</sup> Noncovalent CD4BS<sup>core</sup> epitope binding to BCRs positions the electrophilic group within covalent binding

distance of nucleophilic groups. Like the catalytic reaction discussed above, covalent bonding between the electrophile and nucleophile liberates a very large amount of energy. Alone, noncovalent CD4BS<sup>core</sup> binding to BCRs does not stimulate antibody synthesis. As administration of covalently reactive CD4BS<sup>core</sup> containing antigens to experimental animals induced neutralizing anti-CD4BS<sup>core</sup> antibodies, it appears that the binding energy released from the covalent antigen-BCR reaction is used productively to induce a remote BCR conformational change that stimulates signal transduction processes permitting differentiation of B cells into plasma cells producing class-switched neutralizing antibodies.

• A unique feature of the strategy is recruitment and clonal expansion of the small subset of B cells capable of producing antibodies with constitutive, pre-existing specificity directed to the CD4BS<sup>core</sup>. The induced antibodies neutralized diverse HIV strains, a long-sought objective in HIV vaccine research (see example of a neutralizing antibody in Fig. 5A). The CD4BS<sup>core</sup> binds at a site located mainly in the FRs. Neutralizing antibody production occurs without dependence on typical adaptive mutational processes occurring in the CDRs. However, adaptive improvement of the antibodies due to FR mutations is feasible, indicated by evidence from immunization of animals with electrophilic gp120 and an electrophilic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> peptide mimetic.<sup>60,61</sup> Robust neutralization of diverse HIV strains by the antibodies in tissue culture was evident. The antibodies displayed specific recognition of the CD4BS<sup>core</sup>, confirming mimicry of the native CD4BS<sup>core</sup> by the vaccine candidates.



**Figure 5.** Binary epitope reactivity of neutralizing antibodies raised by immunization with electrophilic gp120. A) Representative HIV neutralization data for monoclonal antibody 3A5. Clade C, CCR5-dependent HIV, strain ZA009. Host cells, peripheral blood mononuclear cells. B) Fab YZ23 structure solved by crystallography (2.5Å resolution, PDB 3CLE) showing the classical antigen binding cavity formed by the heavy and light chain CDRs (HCDR3, HCDR1, a small HCDR2 segment and LCDR3) filled with a <u>red</u> object and a second cavity dominated by heavy chain FR1 and FR3 (HFR1, FFR3) filled with a <u>yellow</u> object. A segment of heavy chain CDR2 (HCDR2) distant from the classical antigen binding cavity helps form the second cavity. The CDR-dominated and FR-dominated cavity bind, respectively, gp120 residues 301–311 and the CD4BScore. Double headed arrow indicates inter-cavity centroid to centroid distance. Cavity surface areas are indicated within red and yellow objects. Neutralization data and the crystal structure are from reference 60.

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

- Immunization with full-length electrophilic gp120 revealed another novel mechanism for overcoming the physiological hurdle in producing anti-CD4BS<sup>core</sup> antibodies.<sup>60</sup> Neutralizing antibodies to electrophilic gp120 displayed binary epitope reactivity, that is, the ability to bind the CD4BS<sup>core</sup> at the antibody FRs and a second spatially distant epitope composed of gp120 residues 301–311 at the antigen binding cavity formed by the CDRs (Fig. 5B). The binary reactivity suggests that simultaneous stimulatory binding of the second immunogenic epitope at the CDRs compensates for the downregulatory CD4BS<sup>core</sup> binding at the framework regions.
- In addition to inducing reversibly-binding antibodies, covalent binding of the electrophilic vaccine candidate selects BCRs with the greatest nucleophilic reactivity.<sup>14,65</sup> In turn, the improved nucleophilic reactivity enhances antibody inactivation of HIV as follows. First, specific pairing of the antibody nucleophile with the weakly electrophilic carbonyls of gp120 forms stable immune complexes with covalent character (Fig. 3). Binary epitope-reactive antibodies were induced by immunization with the electrophilic analog of full-length gp120 and similar antibodies with single epitope reactivity were induced by immunization with an electrophilic analog, a synthetic gp120 peptide corresponding to an immunodominant epitope located in the third variable domain of gp120.14,65 As the covalent bond is very strong, the antibody-HIV complexes did not dissociate, increasing the HIV neutralization potency. Second, the subset of antibodies, containing combining sites that support water attack on the covalent gp120-antibody complex, is capable of catalyzing gp120 cleavage. A subset of catalytic antibodies capable of rapidly catalyzing the cleavage of gp120 was obtained by immunization with the electrophilic CD4BS<sup>core</sup> peptide.<sup>61</sup>

Enzyme active sites have evolved to undergo precise active site conformational readjustments that fulfill the changing requirements of individual steps in the catalytic reaction cycle, that is, initial noncovalent binding, nucleophilic attack and transition state binding, water attack on the covalent acyl-antibody complex and product release (Fig. 3). Note that inducing efficient antibody catalysis is more feasible in case of superantigen epitope targeting,-as catalytic antibodies to the superantigens are produced constitutively. For such targets, the electrophilic antigen analog must merely amplify the pre-existing, constitutive subset of catalytic antibody producing B cells. For non-superantigenic targets, de novo induction of the catalytic function is required, a more onerous hurdle. Monoclonal anti-gp120 IgGs with slow catalytic activity have been identified following immunization with an electrophilic analog of full-length  $gp 120^{14}$  and a gp120 pentapeptide without evident superantigenic character.<sup>66</sup> Successful vaccination requires induction of robust polyclonal antibody responses in biological fluids. The monoclonal antibodies with low-level catalytic activity do not justify projections of vaccine-relevant antibody catalysis. Indeed, monoclonal antibodies capable of slow, antigen-specific proteolytic activity are induced even by routine immunization with polypeptides devoid of exogenously-introduced electrophiles.67,68

Despite caveats concerning induction of efficient de novo catalysis, the electrophilic antigen analogs offer indisputable value by virtue of their ability to induce adaptively strengthened antibody nucleophilic activity resulting in covalent recognition of the target antigen.<sup>65,69</sup> This applies regardless of the superantigenic character of the target. Side-by-side immunizations using an electrophilic antigen analog and the control antigen

devoid of exogenous electrophiles revealed the superiority of the former immunogen, evident from enhanced antigen neutralization by polyclonal antibodies attributable to covalent immune complexation.<sup>65</sup>

#### CONCLUSION

The field of antibody catalysis has a secure place alongside other constitutive antibody functions in helping develop novel concepts that offer insight to immune homeostasis, autoimmune reactions and protection against infection. The field is also increasingly closer to realizing its utilitarian potential for developing novel therapies and vaccine strategies directed at intractable diseases.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors' research was funded by the National Institutes of Health, University of Texas Houston Medical School, Abzyme Research Foundation and Covalent Bioscience Inc. We thank our coauthors named in previous publications for collaborations.

#### **CONFLICT STATEMENT**

Sudhir Paul, Stephanie Planque and Yasuhiro Nishiyama have a financial interest in patents covering the covalent immunization and catalytic antibody areas. Sudhir Paul and Richard Massey have a financial interest in Covalent Bioscience Inc., and Sudhir Paul is a scientific advisor for the company. Carl V. Hanson declares no competing financial interest.

#### REFERENCES

- Dooley H, Flajnik MF. Antibody repertoire development in cartilaginous fish. Dev Comp Immunol 2006; 30:43-56; PMID:16146649; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2005.06.022.
- Schluter SF, Bernstein RM, Bernstein H et al. 'Big Bang' emergence of the combinatorial immune system. Dev Comp Immunol 1999; 23:107-11; PMID:10227478.
- Casali P, Schettino EW. Structure and function of natural antibodies. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1996; 210:167-79; PMID:8565555.
- Guilbert B, Dighiero G, Avrameas S. Naturally occurring antibodies against nine common antigens in human sera. I. Detection, isolation and characterization. J Immunol 1982; 128:2779-87; PMID:6176652.
- Barbouche R, Forveille M, Fischer A et al. Spontaneous IgM autoantibody production in vitro by B lymphocytes of normal human neonates. Scand J Immunol 1992; 35:659-67; PMID:1376488; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.1992.tb02972.x.
- Köhler F, Hug E, Eschbach C et al. Autoreactive B cell receptors mimic autonomous pre-B cell receptor signaling and induce proliferation of early B cells. Immunity 2008; 29:912-21; PMID:19084434; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.013.
- Tramontano A, Janda KD, Lerner RA. Catalytic antibodies. Science 1986; 234:1566-70; PMID:3787261; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.3787261.
- Paul S, Volle DJ, Beach CM et al. Catalytic hydrolysis of vasoactive intestinal peptide by human autoantibody. Science 1989; 244:1158-62; PMID:2727702; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.2727702.
- Shuster AM, Gololobov GV, Kvashuk OA et al. DNA hydrolyzing autoantibodies. Science 1992; 256:665-7; PMID:1585181; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1585181.

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

- Zhou GW, Guo J, Huang W et al. Crystal structure of a catalytic antibody with a serine protease active site. Science 1994; 265:1059-64; PMID:8066444; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.8066444.
- Nishiyama Y, Taguchi H, Luo JQ et al. Covalent reactivity of phosphonate monophenyl esters with serine proteinases: an overlooked feature of presumed transition state analogs. Arch Biochem Biophys 2002; 402:281-8; PMID:12051675; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00087-5.
- Avalle B, Thomas D, Friboulet A. Functional mimicry: elicitation of a monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody hydrolizing beta-lactams. FASEB J 1998; 12:1055-60; PMID:9707178.
- Kohler H, Paul S. Superantibody activities: new players in innate and adaptive immune responses. Immunol Today 1998; 19:221-7; PMID:9613040; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(97)01234-6.
- Paul S, Planque S, Zhou YX et al. Specific HIV gp120-cleaving antibodies induced by covalently reactive analog of gp120. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:20429-35; PMID:12665517; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M300870200.
- Gao QS, Sun M, Rees AR et al. Site-directed mutagenesis of proteolytic antibody light chain. J Mol Biol 1995; 253:658-64; PMID:7473741; http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.1995.0580.
- Gololobov G, Sun M, Paul S. Innate antibody catalysis. Mol Immunol 1999; 36:1215-22; PMID:10684961; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0161-5890(99)00141-8.
- Sharma V, Heriot W, Trisler K et al. A human germ line antibody light chain with hydrolytic properties associated with multimerization status. J Biol Chem 2009; 284:33079-87; PMID:19801545; http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M109.036087.
- Kalaga R, Li L, O'Dell JR et al. Unexpected presence of polyreactive catalytic antibodies in IgG from unimmunized donors and decreased levels in rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol 1995; 155:2695-702; PMID:7650397.
- 19. Planque S, Bangale Y, Song XT et al. Ontogeny of proteolytic immunity: IgM serine proteases. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:14024-32; PMID:14726510; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M312152200.
- Lacroix-Desmazes S, Bayry J, Kaveri SV et al. High levels of catalytic antibodies correlate with favorable outcome in sepsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102:4109-13; PMID:15743915; http://dx.doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0500586102.
- Taguchi H, Planque S, Sapparapu G et al. Exceptional amyloid beta peptide hydrolyzing activity of nonphysiological immunoglobulin variable domain scaffolds. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:36724-33; PMID:18974093; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M806766200.
- Mitsuda Y, Planque S, Hara M et al. Naturally occurring catalytic antibodies: evidence for preferred development of the catalytic function in IgA class antibodies. Mol Biotechnol 2007; 36:113-22; PMID:17914190; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12033-007-0003-7.
- Sun M, Li L, Gao QS et al. Antigen recognition by an antibody light chain. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:734-8; PMID:8276876.
- Matsuura K, Yamamoto K, Sinohara H. Amidase activity of human Bence Jones proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 204:57-62; PMID:7945392; http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1994.2425.
- Paul S, Li L, Kalaga R et al. Natural catalytic antibodies: peptide-hydrolyzing activities of Bence Jones proteins and VL fragment. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:15257-61; PMID:7797511; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.270.25.15257.
- Matsuura K, Ohara K, Munakata H et al. Pathogenicity of catalytic antibodies: catalytic activity of Bence Jones proteins from myeloma patients with renal impairment can elicit cytotoxic effects. Biol Chem 2006; 387:543-8; PMID:16740125; http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/BC.2006.070.
- Buneva VN, Kanyshkova TG, Vlassov AV et al. Catalytic DNA- and RNA-hydrolyzing antibodies from milk of healthy human mothers. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 1998; 75:63-76; PMID:10214697; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02787709.
- Li L, Paul S, Tyutyulkova S et al. Catalytic activity of anti-thyroglobulin antibodies. J Immunol 1995; 154:3328-32; PMID:7897215.
- Thiagarajan P, Dannenbring R, Matsuura K et al. Monoclonal antibody light chain with prothrombinase activity. Biochemistry 2000; 39:6459-65; PMID:10828960; http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/bi992588w.
- 30. Yang YH, Chang CJ, Chuang YH et al. Identification of anti-prothrombin antibodies in the anti-phospholipid syndrome that display the prothrombinase activity. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2010; 49:34-42; PMID:19920091; http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kep328.
- Wootla B, Dasgupta S, Dimitrov JD et al. Factor VIII hydrolysis mediated by anti-factor VIII autoantibodies in acquired hemophilia. J Immunol 2008; 180:7714-20; PMID:18490775.
- Wootla B, Christophe OD, Mahendra A et al. Proteolytic antibodies activate factor IX in patients with acquired hemophilia. Blood 2011; 117:2257-64; PMID:21131590; http://dx.doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-07-296103.
- Ponomarenko NA, Durova OM, Vorobiev II et al. Autoantibodies to myelin basic protein catalyze site-specific degradation of their antigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103:281-6; PMID:16387849; http://dx.doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0509849103.

- Taguchi H, Planque S, Nishiyama Y et al. Autoantibody-catalyzed hydrolysis of amyloid beta peptide. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:4714-22; PMID:18086674; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M707983200.
- 35. Sun M, Gao QS, Kirnarskiy L et al. Cleavage specificity of a proteolytic antibody light chain and effects of the heavy chain variable domain. J Mol Biol 1997; 271:374-85; PMID:9268666; http://dx.doi. org/10.1006/jmbi.1997.1196.
- Lacroix-Desmazes S, Moreau A, Sooryanarayana et al. Catalytic activity of antibodies against factor VIII in patients with hemophilia. Nat Med 1999; 5:1044-7; PMID:10470082; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/12483.
- Ames PR, Alves J, Murat I et al. Oxidative stress in systemic lupus erythematosus and allied conditions with vascular involvement. Rheumatology (Oxford) 1999; 38:529-34; PMID:10402073; http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/rheumatology/38.6.529.
- Nevinsky GA, Buneva VN. Catalytic antibodies in healthy humans and patients with autoimmune and viral diseases. J Cell Mol Med 2003; 7:265-76; PMID:14594551; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2003. tb00227.x.
- Barrera GJ, Portillo R, Mijares A et al. Immunoglobulin A with protease activity secreted in human milk activates PAR-2 receptors, of intestinal epithelial cells HT-29, and promotes beta-defensin-2 expression. Immunol Lett 2009; 123:52-9; PMID:19428552; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2009.02.001.
- 40. Graille M, Stura EA, Corper AL et al. Crystal structure of a Staphylococcus aureus protein A domain complexed with the Fab fragment of a human IgM antibody: structural basis for recognition of B-cell receptors and superantigen activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:5399-404; PMID:10805799; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.10.5399.
- Neshat MN, Goodglick L, Lim K et al. Mapping the B cell superantigen binding site for HIV-1 gp120 on a V(H)3 Ig. Int Immunol 2000; 12:305-12; PMID:10700465; http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/intimm/12.3.305.
- 42. Graille M, Stura EA, Housden NG et al. Complex between Peptostreptococcus magnus protein L and a human antibody reveals structural convergence in the interaction modes of Fab binding proteins. Structure 2001; 9:679-87; PMID:11587642; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(01)00630-X.
- Goodglick L, Zevit N, Neshat MS et al. Mapping the Ig superantigen-binding site of HIV-1 gp120. J Immunol 1995; 155:5151-9; PMID:7594524.
- 44. Karray S, Zouali M. Identification of the B cell superantigen-binding site of HIV-1 gp120. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94:1356-60; PMID:9037057; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.4.1356.
- Planque S, Nishiyama Y, Taguchi H et al. Catalytic antibodies to HIV: physiological role and potential clinical utility. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:473-9; PMID:18558365; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2008.04.002.
- Paul S, Karle S, Planque S et al. Naturally occurring proteolytic antibodies: selective immunoglobulin M-catalyzed hydrolysis of HIV gp120. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:39611-9; PMID:15269209; http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M406719200.
- Planque S, Mitsuda Y, Taguchi H et al. Characterization of gp120 Hydrolysis by IgA Antibodies from Humans without HIV Infection. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2007; 23:1541-54; PMID:18160012; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1089/aid.2007.0081.
- 48. Bermas BL, Petri M, Berzofsky JA et al. Binding of glycoprotein 120 and peptides from the HIV-1 envelope by autoantibodies in mice with experimentally induced systemic lupus erythematosus and in patients with the disease. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1994; 10:1071-7; PMID:7826694; http://dx.doi. org/10.1089/aid.1994.10.1071.
- Daikh BE, Holyst MM. Lupus-specific autoantibodies in concomitant human immunodeficiency virus and systemic lupus erythematosus: case report and literature review. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2001; 30:418-25; PMID:11404825; http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/sarh.2001.23149.
- Paul S, Li L, Kalaga R et al. Characterization of thyroglobulin-directed and polyreactive catalytic antibodies in autoimmune disease. J Immunol 1997; 159:1530-6; PMID:9233652.
- Nishiyama Y, Karle S, Planque S et al. Antibodies to the superantigenic site of HIV-1 gp120: hydrolytic and binding activities of the light chain subunit. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:2707-18; PMID:17222909; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2006.12.005.
- 52. Urnovitz HB, Murphy WH. Human endogenous retroviruses: nature, occurrence, and clinical implications in human disease. Clin Microbiol Rev 1996; 9:72-99; PMID:8665478.
- Planque S, Salas M, Mitsuda Y et al. Neutralization of genetically diverse HIV-1 strains by IgA antibodies to the gp120-CD4-binding site from long-term survivors of HIV infection. AIDS 2010; 24:875-84; PMID:20186035; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283376e88.
- 54. Odintsova ES, Kharitonova MA, Baranovskii AG et al. Proteolytic activity of IgG antibodies from blood of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2006; 71:251-61; PMID:16545061; http://dx.doi.org/10.1134/S0006297906030047.
- Baranova SV, Buneva VN, Kharitonova MA et al. HIV-1 integrase-hydrolyzing IgM antibodies from sera of HIV-infected patients. Int Immunol 2010; 22:671-80; PMID:20507874; http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ intimm/dxq051.

#### NATURE AND NURTURE OF CATALYTIC ANTIBODIES

- Brody DL, Holtzman DM. Active and passive immunotherapy for neurodegenerative disorders. Annu Rev Neurosci 2008; 31:175-93; PMID:18352830; http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.31.060407.125529.
- Salloway S, Sperling R, Gilman S et al. A phase 2 multiple ascending dose trial of bapineuzumab in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2009; 73:2061-70; PMID:19923550; http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181c67808.
- Kasturirangan S, Boddapati S, Sierks MR. Engineered proteolytic nanobodies reduce Abeta burden and ameliorate Abeta-induced cytotoxicity. Biochemistry 2010; 49:4501-8; PMID:20429609; http://dx.doi. org/10.1021/bi902030m.
- Hifumi E, Morihara F, Hatiuchi K et al. Catalytic features and eradication ability of antibody light-chain UA15-L against Helicobacter pylori. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:899-907; PMID:17991752; http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M705674200.
- Nishiyama Y, Planque S, Mitsuda Y et al. Toward effective HIV vaccination: induction of binary epitope reactive antibodies with broad HIV neutralizing activity. JBiol Chem 2009; 284:30627-42; PMID:19726674; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.032185.
- 61. Planque S, Mitsuda Y, Ghosh D et al. Prototype covalent HIV vaccine for inducing antibodies that neutralize genetically divergent virus strains. XVIII International AIDS Conference (AIDS 2010) 2010; Abstract: TUAA0101. http://pag.aids2010.org/flash/?pid=100572.
- 62. Vercruysse T, Pardon E, Vanstreels E et al. An intrabody based on a llama single-domain antibody targeting the N-terminal alphα-helical multimerization domain of HIV-1 rev prevents viral production. J Biol Chem 2010; 285:21768-80; PMID:20406803; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.112490.
- 63. Savarino A, Mai A, Norelli S et al. "Shock and kill" effects of class I-selective histone deacetylase inhibitors in combination with the glutathione synthesis inhibitor buthionine sulfoximine in cell line models for HIV-1 quiescence. Retrovirology 2009; 6:52; PMID:19486542; http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1742-4690-6-52.
- 64. Planque S, Taguchi H, Burr G et al. Broadly distributed chemical reactivity of natural antibodies expressed in coordination with specific antigen binding activity. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:20436-43; PMID:12668670; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M301468200.
- 65. Nishiyama Y, Mitsuda Y, Taguchi H et al. Towards covalent vaccination: improved polyclonal HIV neutralizing antibody response induced by an electrophilic gp120 V3 peptide analog. J Biol Chem 2007; 282:31250-6; PMID:17728243; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M706471200.
- 66. Durova OM, Vorobiev II, Smirnov IV et al. Strategies for induction of catalytic antibodies toward HIV-1 glycoprotein gp120 in autoimmune prone mice. Mol Immunol 2009; 47:87-95; PMID:19201029; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2008.12.020.
- 67. Paul S, Sun M, Mody R et al. Peptidolytic monoclonal antibody elicited by a neuropeptide. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:13142-5; PMID:1377678.
- Mirshahi M, Shamsipour F, Mirshahi T et al. A novel monoclonal antibody with catalytic activity against beta human chorionic gonadotropin. Immunol Lett 2006; 106:57-62; PMID:16759712; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.imlet.2006.04.008.
- Nishiyama Y, Karle S, Mitsuda Y et al. Towards irreversible HIV inactivation: stable gp120 binding by nucleophilic antibodies. J Mol Recognit 2006; 19:423-31; PMID:16838382; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ jmr.795.

### CHAPTER 6

## NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES IN MEDIATING CLEARANCE OF SENESCENT RED BLOOD CELLS

#### Hans U. Lutz

Institute of Biochemistry, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Hönggerberg, Zurich, Switzerland Email: hans.lutz@bc.biol.ethz.ch

Abstract: Germline-encoded naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) developed about 400 to 450 million years ago to provide specificity for clearance of body waste in animals with 3 germ layers. Such NAbs became a necessity to selectively clear aged red blood cells (RBC) surviving 60 to 120 d in higher vertebrates. IgG NAbs to senescent RBC are directed to the most abundant integral membrane protein, the anion-transport protein or band 3 protein, but only bind firmly upon its oligomerization, which facilitates bivalent binding. The main constituent of RBC, the oxygen-carrying hemoglobin, is susceptible to oxidative damage. Oxidized hemoglobin forms hemichromes (a form of aggregates) that bind to the cytoplasmic portion of band 3 protein, induces their clustering on the cytoplasmic, as well as the exoplasmic side and thereby provides the prerequisites for the low affinity IgG anti-band 3 NAbs to bind bivalently. Bound anti-band 3 NAbs overcome their low numbers per RBC by stimulating complement amplification. An affinity for C3 outside the antigen binding region is responsible for a preferential formation of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes from anti-band 3 NAbs. These complexes first bind oligomeric properdin, which enhances their affinity for factor B in assembling an alternative C3 convertase.

#### INTRODUCTION TO TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

Selective clearance of senescent, apoptotic or of tumor cells, as well as of altered, damaged proteins must have been a major challenge in primitive vertebrates that had for the first time developed a third germ layer. While these animals inherited a primitive complement system and a whole variety of defensins and lectins to fight pathogens, they lacked germline encoded molecules that provided specificity for altered self.

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

Tissues of mesodermal origin could not get rid of their dead or aberrant cells by release into either the entodermal tract or to the surroundings. Correspondingly, the most primitive vertebrates, jawless fish (Agnatha), have acquired a C3-like protein that can be activated via a lectin pathway, but they lack true immunoglobulins.<sup>1</sup> Instead, they have a multitude of humoral effector molecules comprised of leucine-rich repeats, capable of rearranging themselves.<sup>2</sup> Cartilaginous fishes, like sharks, can opsonize pathogens via the lectin pathway. For tissue homeostatic tasks they have, for the first time in evolution, germline-encoded immunoglobulin-like molecules (IgW, "Ig new antigen receptor," and IgM).<sup>3</sup> Existing sharks cannot mount an adaptive immune response. Instead, they upregulate preexisting naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs).<sup>3</sup> Thus, it is likely that germline-encoded immunoglobulins developed about 400 to 450 million years ago to provide specificity for altered self in clearance of body waste. The development of such immunoglobulins required differentiation between altered self and self rather than between self and non-self. Thus, the developing immune system was not based on eliminating self-reactive clones, but on creation of a tuned system taking advantage of accessibility, avidity and patterns as is currently studied in quite some detail.4,5

#### MEANS TO CLEAR SENESCENT RED BLOOD CELLS

Humans have about 5 L of blood containing  $4.5 \times 10^9$  red blood cells/mL. Human red blood cells (RBC) have a lifespan of 120 d. Thus, each of us has to clear daily 20 to 25 g of terminally aged erythrocytes. If a human being were not able to clear senescent RBCs, but were able to mummify and store them somewhere in the body- like a tree its tracheae in form of wood - this person would have gained 430 kg by the age of 60 y. Hence, based on this simple calculation clearance of senescent RBCs is an absolute necessity and has to be secured by redundant means.

RBCs age primarily as a consequence of oxidative damage to which they are exposed while performing their role as oxygen carriers. Oxidative damage to proteins, enzymes and lipids results in loss of functional competence. This impairment cannot be compensated for by de novo protein synthesis, because RBC from higher vertebrates are anucleated and lack the endoplasmic protein synthesis. Damage eventually results in a loss of membrane, ions and an increased cell density. Within  $120 \pm 4$  d RBC have reached the point to be cleared, though several RBC functions remain almost normal. As outlined before, aging RBCs increase in cell density, a property which allows to isolate RBCs of different cell age, most efficiently on self-forming Percoll density gradients,<sup>6</sup> following the removal of leucocytes.<sup>7</sup> The membrane proteins of density-separated RBC reveal on SDS PAGE characteristic changes, the most obvious one is a shift in the content of stainable protein in band 4.1a and 4.1b.<sup>8</sup> The older an RBC the more stainable protein migrates in band 4.1a than 4.1b. The ratio of the protein content in the 2 bands appears as a reliable age parameter for human RBCs, but not for dog RBCs where this ratio increases from the youngest to the middle aged, but not further to the oldest RBC.<sup>9</sup>

Senescent RBC are cleared by phagocytosis, which is dependent on opsonization by autologous IgG. Senescent RBC carry significantly more autologous IgG and thus more IgG naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) than young RBC, and are far more efficiently phagocytosed by macrophages than young RBC, as first firmly established by Kay<sup>10</sup> and confirmed by several groups for human and mouse RBCs.<sup>11-14</sup>

The selective opsonization of senescent RBCs by IgG NAbs had a tough stand, because several groups claimed over the years that desialylation of certain glycoproteins is the hallmark of senescent RBC and results in the loss of negative charges and the exposure of penultimate galactosyl residues that are recognized directly<sup>15-17</sup> or by certain NAbs.<sup>11</sup> Indeed, a neuraminidase treatment accelerated in vivo clearance of RBC in rats and rabbits.<sup>16,17</sup> RBCs can loose individual sugar residues by enzymatic processes or membrane in form of vesicles. A uniform loss of glycoconjugates from aging RBCs, indicative of vesicle release, has been established experimentally by determining glycoconjugates and the total sialic acid content per glycophorin in density-fractionated RBC.<sup>18</sup> Both sets of results strongly suggest that clearance of senescent RBCs is not mediated by recognition of desialylated sites, because the majority of sialic acid molecules is lost along with other glycoconjugates in the form of vesicles.

The selective clearance of senescent RBC by an IgG NAb-dependent phagocytosis was further challenged by findings on apoptotic cells that are cleared when exoplasmically exposed phosphatidylserine (PS) binds to the scavenger receptor on phagocytes.<sup>19</sup> PS is normally located in the inner leaflet of any plasma membrane and the ATP-requiring amino-phospholipid translocase maintains this disequilibrium.<sup>20,21</sup> In accordance with data on apoptotic cells, some authors claimed that aging RBCs from mice<sup>22,23</sup> and healthy humans<sup>24</sup> are recognized and engulfed by phagocytes by virtue of PS being exposed on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. It is correct that an experimentally induced exposure of PS on the exoplasmic leaflet of the membrane results in a PS-dependent clearance of RBC by binding to scavenger receptor on phagocytes.25 Nevertheless, an exoplasmic PS exposure is neither linked to cellular senescence<sup>26</sup> nor to oxidative damage by a variety of agents,<sup>27</sup> but either to energy depletion, a cell age-dependent loss of aminophospholipid translocase activity,<sup>28</sup> or to an induced entry of calcium ions in the process also called ervptosis.<sup>29</sup> Correspondingly, exoplasmic PS exposure can occur independently of cellular aging, as in neocytolysis of young RBC<sup>30</sup> or can accompany an IgG NAb-mediated RBC clearance. This is the case in several forms of anemia, e.g.,  $\beta$ -thalassemia<sup>31</sup> and sickle cell disease,<sup>32</sup> and in chronic hemodialysis patients, where  $\beta$ -2-microglobulin is increased and appears to stimulate exoplasmic PS exposure.33

In contrast to this, the binding of IgG NAbs to RBC and the selective phagocytosis of RBC carrying bound IgG is unique for in vivo aged RBCs, irrespective of whether the senescent RBCs are collected (a) as the most dense cells from a RBC population, or (b) as biotinylated RBCs by capturing them on avidin-coated magnetic beads from blood of a dog which was biotinylated more than 100 d earlier,<sup>34</sup> or (c) as a whole RBC population taken from an animal in which erythropoiesis was dampened by prolonged hypertransfusion.<sup>13</sup>

## THE SPECIFICITY OF NAbs INVOLVED IN CLEARANCE OF SENESCENT RED BLOOD CELLS

The specificity of the IgG NAbs that bind to senescent RBCs and mediate their phagocytosis has been a controversial issue over the years. We found that human IgG contains several types of IgG NAbs that bind to RBC proteins on immunoblots, above all anti-spectrin and anti-band 3 NAbs.<sup>35</sup> In the late 70ties we performed immunoprecipitations with second antibody on Triton extracts of <sup>125</sup>I-iodinated young and old RBC, which were either supplemented with human IgG or not. Precipitates from old RBC revealed label



**Figure 1.** Qualitative analysis of immunoprecipitates from non-ionic detergent extracts of membranes of young and old human RBC by SDS PAGE and autoradiography. A) Immunoprecipitates obtained with second antibody alone from extracts of <sup>125</sup>I-iodinated young (------) and extracts of old red blood cells (----). The creatine ratio was 4.9. The number 3 refers to band 3 protein and the asterisk indicates labeled high molecular weight material. B) Immunoprecipitates obtained from extracts of young cells without any addition (.....), with second antibody alone (-----), or with both 0.2 mg/ mL of autologous IgG and second antibody (-----). A,B) Reprinted from: Lutz et al. Biomedica Biochimica Acta 1983; 42:117–121;<sup>37</sup> ©1983 with permission of Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co.

in band 3 and in 2 high MW regions possibly comprising bound IgG and band 3 dimer (Fig. 1).<sup>36</sup> The components at 100 and 200 kDa shared the peptide composition with that of <sup>125</sup>I-iodinated band 3. Precipitates from young RBC contained a small amount of label in band 3, which was significantly increased by supplementing the extracts with autologous IgG (Fig. 1).<sup>36,37</sup> These findings, and the fact that binding of autologous IgG to blotted band 3 of young and old RBC was the same, allowed the following conclusion: human IgG may contain low affinity IgG anti-band 3 NAbs that bind best to oligomerized or aggregated rather than to monomeric band 3 protein on aged RBC and on immunoblots where the densely packed band 3 mimicked oligomerization. These unexpected findings triggered our interest in the topology of band 3, which we studied in quite some detail by using bivalent, aminogroup-specific cross-linkers on unmodified RBC and on RBC to which we had introduced additional free amino-groups into the sugar side chains of glycoproteins.<sup>38</sup> Less than 2% of band 3 was cross-linkable on RBC of any cell age, independent of whether amino-group supplemented or not. In contrast to this, 20% of band 3 protein were cross-linkable on spectrin-free vesicles, which lack the cytoskeleton. Correspondingly, human IgG binding was 14 times higher to spectrin-free vesicles than to ATP-maintaining RBC.<sup>39</sup> Hence, the cell-age specific antigen with band 3 properties appeared to behave as a monomer when probed with an 11 Angstrom long cross-linker



Band 3 oligomerization

**Figure 2.** How a cell age specific antigen becomes exposed and allows firm, bivalent binding of anti-band 3 NAbs. A) The cell age specific antigen is monomeric, but largely immobilized by interactions with the cytoskeleton. Detachment from the cytoskeleton allows the monomeric protein to form dimers that bind the low affinity NAb bivalently. Reprinted from: Lutz et al. Swiss Medical Weekly 1981; 111:1507-1517;<sup>36</sup> ©1981 with permission of Swiss Medical Weekly. B) Studies of band 3 topology suggest that band 3 exists primarily as cytoskeleton-anchored band 3 dimers, which as such cannot bind anti-band 3 bivalently. By detachment from the cytoskeleton, band 3 tetramers or oligomers are formed which facilitate bivalent binding of anti-band 3 NAbs. Anti-band 3 NAbs bind to an antigenic peptide region on band 3 protein, but do not bind to band 3 carbohydrate (fine lines on band 3).

or IgG, and as such did not allow anti-band 3 NAbs to bind bivalently. These findings led to a scheme, showing that a low affinity IgG NAb selectively binds to senescent RBC, on which a small portion of this cell-age specific antigen with band 3 properties is oligomerized (Fig. 2A). Data from others later showed that band 3 protein exists primarily as a V-shaped dimer,<sup>40</sup> which as such evidently did not allow a bivalent binding of anti-band 3 NAbs.<sup>38</sup> These findings were partly published in "remote" journals.<sup>36,37</sup> Why and how did this come about? We submitted the data on IgG binding to young and old RBC for publication to a well known American journal in 1981. Acceptance was declined with the argument that we had not yet shown that human plasma contains IgG anti-band 3 NAbs. Nevertheless, Kaspar Winterhalter from our Dept at the ETH, who

was at that time a member of the organizers of the meeting of the Swiss Hematology Society, considered our findings highly relevant and invited me for a main presentation, followed by an article in Schw. Med. Wschr.<sup>36</sup> Though this paper, published in 1981, is in German, it contains a detailed abstract in English and Figure 2A. Several overseas colleagues had read our paper on the purification of IgG anti-spectrin NAbs,<sup>35</sup> where the existence of anti-band 3 NAbs was evident from blots. Several had seen the article in Schw. Med Wschr.<sup>36</sup> and in BBA,<sup>39</sup> but Low et al. referred only once<sup>41</sup> among their many papers on this subject to reference 36 as the first publication suggesting that an IgG NAb to band 3 protein bound to oligomerized band 3 protein on aging RBCs.

Low's paper<sup>41</sup> triggered a wide interest in the phenomenon. The authors mimicked the oxidative process of aging by treating RBC with phenylhydrazine, a treatment that results in generation of hemichromes, which evidently formed band 3 clusters that attracted exoplasmically added autologous IgG. The effect of phenylhydrazine was indeed due to band 3 clustering, because an analogous treatment of RBC with acridine orange that oligomerizes band 3 protein without hemichrome generation also greatly increased IgG binding to RBC. One of his collaborators, Drenckhahn, then showed for the first time on old RBC from healthy donors and from those with an unstable hemoglobin that precipitates of hemoglobin (Heinz bodies) are associated with clusters of band 3 protein and clusters of surface-bound IgG, which they could identify as IgG anti-band 3 NAbs.<sup>42</sup> The Low group continued to work on these aspects, and directly demonstrated that Heinz bodies (hemichromes) induce clustering of band 3 in sickle RBC, identified these aggregates as the major sites of autologous IgG binding (IgG being enriched 250-fold at the sites of these aggregates as compared with regions where band 3 was not aggregated).<sup>43</sup> isolated such complexes from dense human RBC,<sup>44</sup> and showed that clustering agents not only stimulated autologous IgG binding, but also deposition of C3 and RBC phagocytosis.45 While most of this happened in the 80s, we published the paper we had been asked for, namely the first paper on the isolation and characterization of IgG anti-band 3 NAbs from IgG of individuals and from IVIG.<sup>46</sup> Purified IgG anti-band 3 NAbs bound to domains within the 55 kDa chymotryptic fragment (this fragment had earlier been referred to a 65 kDa fragment) rather than to the carbohydrate localized in the 38 kDa fragment. The antigenic sites were equally present on blots from membranes of young and old RBCs, implying that conformational and/or topologic rather than enzymatic alterations may reveal the antigenic regions on old RBC. The binding specificity of purified anti-band 3 NAbs<sup>46</sup> and the results from studying protein topology on RBC<sup>38,40</sup> allowed drawing of a more detailed model on how anti-band 3 NAbs selectively bind to oxidatively stressed RBC (Fig. 2B). Work from Beppu et al. confirmed our findings.<sup>47</sup> These authors repeated anti-band 3 NAbs purification and showed that binding of anti-band 3 NAbs to RBC was similarly dependent on moderate oxidation. It was inhibitable by purified band 3 protein and  $\alpha$  to copherol prevented the lipid oxidation and the subsequent IgG binding.<sup>47</sup>

#### THE FINE SPECIFICITY OF ANTI-BAND 3 NAbs

Beppu et al. then used endo-β-galactosidase- or neuraminidase-treated band 3 or similarly treated oligosaccharides thereof to interfere with IgG binding to oxidatively stressed RBC, as measured by binding of labeled anti-human IgG.<sup>48</sup> Both types of treatments destroyed the inhibitory potency of either band 3 or its oligosaccharides by 79 to 99%. The results suggested that the antigenic sites of band 3 are located in sialylated

poly-N-acetyllatosaminyl carbohydrate side chains of band 3 protein. Since these findings completely contradicted our results,<sup>46</sup> we reinvestigated whether the enzymes endo- $\beta$ -galactosidase, neuraminidase, and endoglycosidase H destroyed the antigenic sites on human RBC. RBC were enzyme-treated, membranes prepared, membrane proteins electrophoretically spread and blotted, and blots probed with purified and <sup>125</sup>I-iodinated anti-band 3 NAbs. There was no change (100–103%) in anti-band 3 binding to band 3 protein in these blotted membranes.<sup>49</sup> Moreover, anti-band 3 binding was exclusively to the 55 kDa chymotryptic fragment of band 3, while the carbohydrate-containing 38 kDa fragment was free of bound anti-band 3 NAb.

Beppu et al. did not give up and subsequently published a paper, entitled "Involvement of sialylated poly-N-acteyllactosaminyl sugar chains of band 3 in anti-band 3 autoantibody binding."<sup>50</sup> Young and senescent RBC were probed for their bound autologous IgG by adding <sup>125</sup>I-iodinated anti-human IgG antibody. After incubation the RBC were treated with either glycosidases or glycosidase-treated oligosaccharides. Upon washing RBC-associated radioactivity was determined. A treatment of cells with endo- $\beta$ -galactosidase lowered the cell bound, labeled anti-IgG by one third. This rebuttal in which the carbohydrate-mediated binding of anti-band 3 had decreased from originally 79–99 to about 33% motivated the authors to the following sentence: "We cannot exclude the possibility that other components on senescent erythrocytes are also recognized by natural antibodies distinct from those shown here."

We did not argue and were busy investigating other aspects. Now, in having to review this topic from quite a distance, I think I need to give an explanation why the 2 groups arrived at these opposing positions. Beppu's group continued to work on this subject and published a whole series of papers on how the sialylated poly-N-acetyllactosaminyl sugar chains as found in the 38 kDa fragment of band 3 protein may mediate cell-cell interactions. One paper, however, revealed the pitfall. Ando et al. tried to prove that the antigenic sites on oxidatively treated or senescent RBC are sialylated poly-N-acetyllactosaminyl residues of band 3 protein.<sup>51</sup> For this purpose the authors studied binding of anti-band 3 NAbs not only to blotted band 3 protein, but also to blotted lactoferrin, an 80 kDa iron-binding protein that also contains sialylated poly-N-acetyllactosaminyl sugar chains. Binding of their anti-band 3 NAbs to band 3 and to lactoferrin was very similar and binding to either one was similarly reduced by pretreatment with glycosidase F, endo-β-galactosidase or neurmainidase. By absorption studies on column-bound antigens the authors found that about 67% of anti-band 3 NAbs bound equally to the carbohydrate portion of band 3 and to lactoferrin. This is one type of interpretation. Another explanation of the same finding is that 67% of the antibodies in the anti-band 3 NAb preparation of Ando et al. were anti-lactoferrin antibodies. Why? In checking the methodological details band 3 protein was of comparable quality in our experiments and theirs. Not so the starting material from which they purified anti-band 3 NAbs from. We used Sandoglobulin, an IVIG preparation that did not contain anti-lactoferrin antibodies (brand E in Table 3 in ref. 52). Ando et al., however, used plasma from a blood donor with blood group AB from which they affinity-purified anti-band 3 as well as anti-lactoferrin (see page 640 in ref. 51). Thus, antibodies to the sialylated poly-N-acetyllactosamine structure from lactoferrin were captured by the carbohydrate portion of immobilized band 3 protein, such that the eluted anti-band 3 antibodies not only contained IgG antibodies to the band 3 peptide, but also anti-carbohydrate antibodies, originating from anti-lactoferrin antibodies in the starting material. The authors could and should have checked whether a sequential purification of both types of antibodies from the same starting material yielded the same

results as a parallel purification. Ando et al. were evidently not aware of the fact that anti-lactoferrin antibodies are found in low concentrations with low affinities in milk and plasma of healthy controls (see ref. 53) and are considered a type of NAb,<sup>52</sup> despite their similarities with ANCA type antibodies that occur primarily in sclerosing cholangitis and Crohns' disease.<sup>53</sup> Thus, anti-band 3 NAbs bind to a peptide antigen localized in the 55 kDa chymotryptic fragment as initially reported,<sup>46,49</sup> but not to a carbohydrate-containing portion in the 38 kDa chymotryptic fragment of band 3 protein.

Attempts to further localize the binding sites of these NAbs within band 3 protein have been made by Kay, who passed detergent extracts from young and old RBC over a column containing IgG eluted from senescent RBC.54 Using this method she could recover a polypeptide of 62 kDa of unknown origin, which when added to stored RBC fully prevented their serum-dependent phagocytosis. This fragment was most likely a proteolytic breakdown product of band 3, as we suspected.<sup>36</sup> Kay et al. followed this aspect and showed that the phagocytosis-inducing ability of IgG eluted from senescent RBC was fully absorbed by purified band 3, strongly indicating that band 3 protein or an enzymatically altered band 3 protein may serve as senescent cell antigen.<sup>55</sup> A year later Kay reported that the senescent cell antigen is localized on both chymotryptic fragments (55 and 38 kDa), but neither on the carbohydrate of the 38 kDa fragment nor in the 41 kDa tryptic fragment localized in the cytoplasm.<sup>56</sup> In 1988, when we had already shown that purified anti-band 3 NAbs bind to oxidatively stressed RBC and induce a complement dependent phagocytosis,<sup>57</sup> Kay et al. did not find evidence for the concept that aggregation of band 3 plays a role in generating the senescent cell antigen, and continued to suggest that degradation of band 3 is a critical event in IgG binding to aging RBC.<sup>58</sup> Kay and her group then performed immunoblots on peptides across band 3 protein and incubated the blotted peptides with IgG eluted from senescent RBC.<sup>59</sup> The antigenic peptides were from exoplasmic portions of the 55 kDa chymotryptic fragment (538-554) and the 38 kDa chymotryptic fragment (788–827), but did not include peptides carrying carbohydrates.<sup>59,60</sup> The findings differed from ours<sup>49</sup> in so far as anti-band 3 NAbs appeared to bind not only to a peptide portion within the 55 kDa, but also to a peptide portion within the 38 kDa fragment (788–827). Since this amino acid stretch is part of the most C-terminal exoplasmic loop, which interacts with loop 2 (containing amino acids 538-554) of the next band 3 protein in the process of forming band 3 aggregates on senescent RBC.<sup>59</sup> it may be possible that this region is sterically inaccessible to anti-band 3 NAbs on the partially structured chymotryptic 38 kDa fragment and intact band 3 protein, but becomes accessible when offered in form of short peptides. While this explanation may appear constructed, the opposite situation also exists and is well known for band 3 protein, namely that the Wright<sup>b</sup> antigen (a Diego blood group) in position 658 (Glut) only becomes accessible when band 3 protein interacts with glycophorin A (for a review see ref. 61).

#### FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF NAbs AND HOW A LOW AFFINITY IgG NAb, LIKE ANTI-BAND 3, STIMULATES COMPLEMENT AMPLIFICATION

Tisssue homeostatic IgG NAbs directed to cytoplasmic proteins, like anti-spectrin,<sup>35</sup> anti-actin<sup>62</sup> and many others that have relatively high affinities for their antigens are compatible with life, because such NAbs encounter their antigens in case of danger, when cells lyse. Even IgM NAbs, with their 10 binding arms that provide an extreme avidity,

can be compatible with life when they are directed to unique, exoplasmic neoepitopes whose exposure calls for an immediate and efficient clearance.<sup>63,64</sup> Tissue homeostatic IgG NAbs, like anti-band 3 NAbs that gradually accumulate on aging RBC, differ in many respects from the above mentioned ones. In comparison to IgM NAbs, IgG NAbs have a lower chance to cross-react with related targets, but their bivalent binding provides only a minimal gain in avidity and they are less effective activators of the classical complement pathway than IgM NAbs. If such IgG NAbs bind to an antigen that becomes exposed by either enzymatic or topologic alterations of antigen-precursors, a narrow specificity is mandatory to prevent an inadvertent binding to the precursor. This requirement becomes a major problem in the case of a very abundant protein, like band 3 protein that exists in  $10^6$  copies per RBC. IgG anti-band 3 NAbs fulfill all these requirements with the disadvantage that they have a low affinity (5–7 x  $10^6$  l/mol), exist at low concentrations<sup>46</sup> and poorly fix complement via the classical pathway.

The functional properties of purified anti-band 3 NAbs were studied by using an in vitro phagocytosis assay on RBC oxidatively damaged by diamide, as developed by the group of Arese.<sup>65</sup> In a joint work we studied phagocytosis of diamide-treated RBC as a function of purified NAbs or diamide. Increasing concentrations of diamide induced the formation of SS-bonded band 3 oligomers.<sup>57</sup> The main findings were that phagocytosis of diamide-treated RBC required anti-band 3 NAbs and complement activation.<sup>57</sup> In fact, a 100-fold excess of anti-band 3 NAbs was required to overcome the need of complement, and most surprisingly, anti-band 3 NAbs appeared to stimulate complement deposition best under conditions favoring activation of the alternative complement pathway. This potency appeared to correlate with generation of covalent adducts of C3b with IgG as verified by 2 different approaches.<sup>14</sup> These findings established that purified IgG anti-band 3 NAbs bind to band 3 protein and induce C3b deposition, provided that band 3 is aggregated. In fact, IgG anti-band 3 NAbs induced a C3b deposition that exceeded the number of bound NAbs by 2 orders of magnitude in the presence of Mg<sup>2+</sup> and EGTA.<sup>14</sup> Hence, anti-band 3 NAbs stimulated complement amplification (or activated the alternative complement pathway) and this was evidently accompanied by the formation of covalent complexes between C3b and IgG.<sup>14</sup>

These findings triggered our interest in the mode of how IgG antibodies can stimulate complement amplification. Anti-band 3 NAbs are not the only IgG antibodies capable of activating the alternative complement pathway (AP). The phenomenon has been known for quite some time and was first described in the early 70s<sup>66</sup> for guinea pig IgGs and a group of IgGs with a weak affinity for bacteria (pneumococci, E. coli).<sup>67</sup> These IgG molecules that were considered "natural antibodies" or even their  $F(ab')_2$  fragments appeared as having an affinity for some common surface antigens of these bacteria.68 These antibodies activated AP, because they stimulated lysis of bacteria in the presence of Mg<sup>2+</sup> and EGTA. Likewise, primary antibodies against viruses (mumps, herpes simplex, influenza and measles)69 stimulated lysis of virus-infected cells via the AP as IgG and F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragments by a similarly unknown mechanism. In 1981 Gadd and Reid offered for the first time an explanation on how such low affinity IgG antibodies and their  $F(ab')_2$  fragments may activate AP, namely by generating covalently linked complexes between C3b and IgG, which prolong the half life of the C3 convertase.<sup>70</sup> The C3b<sub>n</sub>-IgG complexes had apparent MWs of 360 and 580 kD, reminiscent of C3b-IgG and C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes similar to those that we had observed years later on senescent but not young RBC.14 The availability of purified anti-band 3 NAbs<sup>46</sup> allowed the investigation of why these NAbs were so effective in stimulating complement amplification. IgG anti-band 3 NAbs and nascent C3b preferentially formed C3b<sub>n</sub>-IgG complexes not only while forming an immune complex with band 3, but even when activated in vitro by trypsin.<sup>71</sup> Whole IgG depleted of anti-band 3 or affinity purified anti-spectrin NAbs did not generate such complexes with C3b.

Nascent C3b forms predominantly  $C3b_2$ -IgG complexes with anti-band 3 NAbs in vitro, and even at a  $10^5$  fold excess of other IgGs on in vivo aged RBC. The 2 C3b molecules are sequentially ester-bonded to one IgG heavy chain (Fig. 1 in ref. 71). The reason for the preferential formation of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes is a unique affinity of anti-band 3 NAbs for C3. The C3 binding domain is not located in the antigen binding region of anti-band 3 NAbs, but somewhere along the Fab portion, because binding of anti-band 3 NAbs to band 3 protein could not be inhibited by a huge excess of C3, whether studied in the presence or absence of physiological IgG concentrations.<sup>72</sup> As originally suggested by Gadd and Reid, C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes are long lived C3 convertase precursors. More importantly the dimeric C3b in these complexes renders them the most powerful C3 convertase precursors by introducing a detour in the assembly of the C3 convertase: instead of binding factor B, the dimeric C3b first interacts with oligomeric properdin, which upon having bound strongly increases the affinity of these complexes for factor B.<sup>73</sup> These results clarify how IgG anti-band 3 NAbs can induce a C3b deposition that is 2 orders of magnitudes higher than that of bound anti-band 3 in the presence of  $Mg^{2+}$  and EGTA. It is likely, but has not been investigated, that the same mechanism is also responsible for stimulation of complement amplification by the many other NAbs known to stimulate AP.74,75

In identifying the C3b-containing complexes that are generated when anti-band 3 NAbs stimulate AP activation, we have named the larger complex C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG and the smaller one C3b-IgG. It turned out that the assignment "C3b-IgG" was wrong in our as well as all other earlier discussions of the subject, because a detailed analysis of these complexes by 2-dimensional SDS PAGE with cleavage of the ester bonds between the dimensions revealed that aside of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes only dimeric C3b rather than C3b-IgG complexes are formed, which release exclusively C3b and no IgG heavy chain upon cleavage of the ester bond.<sup>76</sup> Thus, C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes, rather than C3b-IgG complexes, demonstrate a reduced rate of inactivation by factors H and I,<sup>77</sup> have an enhanced bactericidal activity<sup>78</sup> and markedly stimulate phagocytosis.<sup>79</sup> Several pieces of evidence further suggest that the 2 C3b molecules within C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes are sequentially attached to one IgG heavy chain.<sup>76</sup> Interestingly, the dimeric character of these complexes is maintained following inactivation of C3b, such that iC3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG and C3dg<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes retain their dimeric character which allows their bivalent and therefore efficient binding to the corresponding receptors.<sup>76</sup>

#### ANTI-BAND 3 AUTOANTIBODIES OR ANTI-BAND 3 NAbs IN ANEMIA

The clearance of senescent RBC from splenectomized patients with the unstable hemoglobin "Köln" proceeds by the same mechanism as that of senescent normal RBC as outlined before. Hemichromes induced clusters of band 3 proteins that attracted high amounts of plasma IgG anti-band 3 NAbs.<sup>42</sup> The phenomenon was also studied on RBC from patients with  $\beta$ -thalassemia intermedia<sup>80,81</sup> and from patients with congenital dyserythropoietic anemia Type II (CDA-II).<sup>82</sup> In thalassemia the 2 hemoglobin polypeptides are synthesized to different extents. In  $\beta$ -thalassemia an excess of unpaired  $\alpha$ -hemoglobin chains is formed, which undergoes oxidation and induces band 3 protein clusters that attract exoplasmically an amount of IgG, which was 20-fold higher than in controls.<sup>80</sup> This

high extent of opsonization was most likely not due to the presence of induced pathologic autoantibodies, but the result of anti-band 3 NAbs that were upregulated. A similar mechanism involving anti-band 3 NAbs may be responsible for the accelerated clearance of RBC in congenital dyserythropoietic anemia Type II. In this anemia, band 3 clusters are formed preferentially because band 3 protein contains abnormally short carbohydrate chains, which in their full length would have inhibited oligomerization.<sup>82</sup> Note that band 3 oligomers on CDA-II RBC bind anti-band 3 NAbs despite their band 3 proteins lacking the sialylated N-acetyl-lactosamine carbohydrate in the 38 kDa chymotryptic fragment—yet another argument against the claim that anti-band 3 NAbs recognize carbohydrate in this fragment.<sup>50</sup> Analogous conclusions were drawn from studying mouse RBC infected with Plasmodium chabaudi.<sup>83</sup> Ternynck et al. found that the concentrations of IgG autoantibodies to cytoskeletal proteins and to band 3 protein increased within days following infection, persisted for more than 20 d beyond infection, remained polyspecific and were not preceded by an IgM peak of antibodies as during an induced immune response.

## WHAT ALTERATIONS ARE REQUIRED FOR ANTI-BAND 3 NAbs TO BIND TO BAND 3 CLUSTERS

Oxidative damage is the prerequisite for band 3 oligomerzation, but the effect of SS bond-inducing diamide is dependent on cellular glutathione with the result that prolonged incubations reverse its effect, but not in cells with limited glutathione as in RBC from glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficient patients.<sup>84</sup> In contrast to this, a treatment of RBC with a non-penetrating bivalent crosslinker, bis(sulfosuccinimidyl)suberate (BS<sup>3</sup>), for 5 min at 37°C increased IgG anti-band 3 NAb binding without altering the cellular redox state.<sup>85</sup> The BS<sup>3</sup> treatment induced interdimeric cross-links comprising 30 to 40% of all band 3 protein and thereby stimulated binding of IgG NAbs. This binding of IgG NAbs was, however, significantly higher when determined at 0° than at 37°C,85 most likely because the BS<sup>3</sup> treatment induced band 3 oligomers, which were covalently stabilized only in form of inter-dimeric complexes that remained diffusible at 37°C and allowed higher oligomers to dissociate at 37°C. Hence, it may well be possible that additional alterations on the cytoplasmic side of band 3 protein are required for the formation of stable band 3 clusters. Turrini's group has indeed described that those band 3 proteins that form large band 3 clusters were primarily phosphorylated by Syk kinase and that inhibitors of this type of phosphorylation lowered band 3 clustering and IgG NAb binding.<sup>84</sup> Nevertheless, it is not established whether the use of Syk kinase-specific inhibitors selectively impaired binding of IgG anti-band 3 NAbs, because these studies were performed with human serum IgG that contains aside of anti-band 3 also anti-spectrin NAbs.<sup>35</sup> While the primary role of IgG anti-spectin NAbs is to opsonize hemolyzing RBCs,<sup>86</sup> anti-spectrin NAbs also bind to in vivo aged and oxidatively damaged RBC and stimulate their clearance in homozygous β-thalassemia<sup>87</sup> and in rats.<sup>88</sup> In support of these findings, the BS<sup>3</sup> treatment of RBC stimulated binding of both anti-band 3 and that of anti-spectrin NAbs, despite the BS3 treatment of RBC, did not expose spectrin, as verified by surface iodination.<sup>85</sup> Thus, anti-spectrin NAbs that are somewhat more poly-reactive than anti-band 3 NAbs may bind to band 3-associated proteins and may even enhance anti-band 3 NAb binding, as verified experimentally.85 Future work will have to clarify the extent by which Syk-dependent band 3 phosphorylation modifies binding of IgG anti-band 3 as well as that of IgG anti-spectrin NAbs.

#### **CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK**

Knowing more about the properties and roles of IgG NAbs will further our understanding of tissue homeostatis and how low affinity antibodies overcome their weakness and gain the potency to stimulate complement amplification. A precise location of the C3 binding site within anti-band 3 NAbs will help to design antibodies to other targets capable of stimulating complement amplification. It is unlikely to manipulate the system of NAbs by eradicating one or the other. Far more probable is suppressing or upregulating the effect of one or the other type of NAbs on the basis of the interplay between them. Thus, we ought to study how NAbs interact and how interdependent the role of a particular NAb is. Such knowledge may provide the prerequisites of how to interfere with "negative" effects of NAbs. One example is a pair of NAbs comprising anti-C3 and anti-idiotypic NAbs, which lowers the complement receptor dependent in vivo phagocytosis of RBC from patients with a positive direct antiglobulin test.<sup>89</sup> Elevated concentrations of this pair of NAbs interact with RBC-bound C3b or even C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes and lower the complement receptor-mediated phagocytosis 2–3 fold.

#### REFERENCES

- Sunyer JO, Lambris JD. Evolution and diversity of the complement system of poikilothermic vertebrates. Immunol Rev 1998; 166:39-57. PMID:9914901 doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1998.tb01251.x
- Pancer Z, Cooper MD. The evolution of adaptive immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 2006; 24:497-518. PMID:16551257 doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090542
- Marchalonis JJ, Adelman MK, Schlüter SF et al. The antibody repertoire in evolution: chance, selection, and continuity. Dev Comp Immunol 2006; 30:223-47. PMID:16083959 doi:10.1016/j.dci.2005.06.011
- Baker N, Ehrenstein MR. Cutting edge: selection of B lymphocyte subsets is regulated by natural IgM. J Immunol 2002; 169:6686-90. PMID:12471099
- Capolunghi F, Cascioli S, Giorda E et al. CpG drives human transitional B cells to terminal differentiation and production of natural antibodies. J Immunol 2008; 180:800-8. PMID:18178818
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Fasler S et al. Density separation of human red blood cells on self forming Percoll<sup>R</sup> gradients: correlation with cell age. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1116:1-10. PMID:1371700
- Beutler E, West C, Blume K-G. The removal of leukocytes and platelets from whole blood. J Lab Clin Med 1976; 88:328-33. PMID:956688
- 8. Inaba M, Maede Y. Correlation between protein 4.1a/4.1b ratio and erythrocyte life span. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 944:256-64. PMID:3179290 doi:10.1016/0005-2736(88)90439-7
- Rettig MP, Low PS, Gimm JA et al. Evaluation of biochemical changes during in vivo erythrocyte senescence in the dog. Blood 1999; 93:376-84. PMID:9864184
- Kay MMB. Mechanism of removal of senescent cells by human macrophages in situ. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1975; 72:3521-5. PMID:1059140 doi:10.1073/pnas.72.9.3521
- 11. Alderman EM, Fudenberg HH, Lovins RE. Isolation and characterization of an age-related antigen present on senescent human red blood cells. Blood 1981; 58:341-9. PMID:6788110
- Khansari N, Fudenberg HH. Phagocytosis of senescent erythrocytes by autologous monocytes: requirement of membrane-specific autologous IgG for immune elimination of aging red blood cells. Cell Immunol 1983; 78:114-21. PMID:6687842 doi:10.1016/0008-8749(83)90264-2
- Singer JA, Jennings LK, Jackson CW et al. Erythrocyte homeostasis: antibody-mediated recognition of the senescent state by macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83:5498-501. PMID:3016705 doi:10.1073/pnas.83.15.5498
- 14. Lutz HU, Fasler S, Stammler P et al. Naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies and complement in phagocytosis of oxidatively-stressed and in clearance of senescent red cells. Blood Cells 1988; 14:175-203. PMID:3179455
- Danon D, Marikovsky Y. Difference de charge de surface entre erythrocytes jeunes et âgés. C.R.Acad.Sci (D) Paris. 1962;253:1271-1272.
- 16. Jancik J, Schauer R. Sialic acid-a determinant of the life-time of rabbit erythrocytes. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem 1974; 355:395-400. PMID:4435729 doi:10.1515/bchm2.1974.355.1.395

- Durocher JR, Payne RC, Conrad ME. Role of sialic acid in erythrocyte survival. Blood 1975; 45:11-20. PMID:803103
- Lutz HU, Fehr J. Total sialic acid content of glycophorins during senescence of human red blood cells. J Biol Chem 1979; 254:11177-80. PMID:500635
- Savill J, Fadok V, Henson P et al. Phagocyte recognition of cells undergoing apoptosis. Immunol Today 1993; 14:131-6. PMID:8385467 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(93)90215-7
- Devaux PF, Zachowski A, Morrot G. Control of the transmembrane phospholipid distribution in eukaryotic cells by aminophospholipid translocase. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 1990; 12:517-22. PMID:2288706
- Soupene E, Kuypers FA. Identification of an erythroid ATP-dependent aminophospholipid transporter. Br J Haematol 2006; 133:436-8. PMID:16643453 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06051.x
- Schroit AJ, Madsen JW, Tanaka Y. In vivo recognition and clearance of red blood cells containing phosphatidylserine in their plasma membranes. J Biol Chem 1985; 260:5131-8. PMID:3988747
- Beppu M, Hayashi T, Hasegawa T et al. Recognition of sialosaccharide chains of glycophorin on damaged erythrocytes by macrophage scavenger receptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1268:9-19. PMID:7626668 doi:10.1016/0167-4889(95)00040-Y
- Connor J, Pak CC, Schroit AJ. Exposure of phosphatidylserine in the outer leaflet of human red blood cells - relationship to cell density, cell age, and clearance by mononuclear cells. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:2399-404. PMID:8300565
- Terpstra V, vanBerkel TJC. Scavenger receptors on liver Kupffer cells mediate the in vivo uptake of oxidatively damaged red blood cells in mice. Blood 2000; 95:2157-63. PMID:10706889
- 26. Khandelwal S, Saxena RK. A role of phosphatidylserine externalization in clearance of erythrocytes exposed to stress but not in eliminating aging populations of erythrocyte in mice. Exp Gerontol 2008; 43:764-70. PMID:18556166 doi:10.1016/j.exger.2008.05.002
- de Jong K, Geldwerth D, Kuypers FA. Oxidative damage does not alter membrane phospholipid asymmetry in human erythrocytes. Biochemistry 1997; 36:6768-76. PMID:9184159 doi:10.1021/bi962973a
- Herrmann A, Devaux PF. Alteration of the aminophospholipid translocase activity during in vivo and artificial aging of human erythrocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1027:41-6. PMID:2168752 doi:10.1016/0005-2736(90)90045-P
- Lang KS, Lang PA, Bauer C et al. Mechanisms of suicidal erythrocyte death. Cell Physiol Biochem 2005; 15:195-202. PMID:15956782 doi:10.1159/000086406
- Risso A, Turello M, Biffoni F et al. Red blood cell senescence and neocytolysis in humans after high altitude acclimatization. Blood Cells Mol Dis 2007; 38:83-92. PMID:17188915 doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2006.10.161
- Kuypers FA, Yuan J, Lewis RA et al. Membrane phospholipid asymmetry in human thalassemia. Blood 1998; 91:3044-51. PMID:9531618
- 32. Wood BL, Gibson DF, Tait JF. Increased erythrocyte phosphatidylserine exposure in sickle cell disease: flow-cytometric measurement and clinical associations. Blood 1996; 88:1873-80. PMID:8781447
- Pavone B, Bucci S, Sirolli V et al. Beta2-microglobulin causes abnormal phosphatidylserine exposure in human red blood cells. Mol Biosyst 2010.
- 34. Christian JA, Rebar AH, Boon GD et al. Senescence of canine biotinylated erythrocytes increased autologous immunoglobulin binding occurs on erythrocytes aged in vivo for 104 to 110 days. Blood 1993; 82:3469-73. PMID:8241513
- Lutz HU, Wipf G. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to skeletal proteins from human red blood cells. J Immunol 1982; 128:1695-9. PMID:7061846
- 36. Lutz HU. Elimination of old erythrocytes from the circulation: exposure of a cell-age specific antigen on aging erythrocytes. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1981; 111:1507-17. PMID:6171880
- 37. Lutz HU, Stringaro-Wipf G. Senescent red cell-bound IgG is attached to band 3 protein. Biomed Biochim Acta 1983; 42:S117-21. PMID:6675681
- Schweizer E, Angst W, Lutz HU. Glycoprotein topology on intact human red blood cells reevaluated by cross-linking following amino-group supplementation. Biochemistry 1982; 21:6807-18. PMID:7159563 doi:10.1021/bi00269a029
- Müller H, Lutz HU. Binding of autologous IgG to human red blood cells before and after ATP-depletion. Selective exposure of binding sites (autoantigens) on spectrin-free vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 729:249-57. PMID:6830791 doi:10.1016/0005-2736(83)90491-1
- Cuppoletti J, Goldinger J, Kang B et al. Anion channel in the human erythrocyte exists as a dimer. J Biol Chem 1985; 260:15714-7. PMID:4066693
- Low PS, Waugh SM, Zinke K et al. The role of hemoglobin denaturation and band 3 clustering. Science 1985; 227:531-3. PMID:2578228 doi:10.1126/science.2578228
- 42. Schlüter K, Drenckhahn D. Co-clustering of denatured hemoglobin with band 3: its role in binding of autoantibodies against band 3 to abnormal and aged erythrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83:6137-41. PMID:3461480 doi:10.1073/pnas.83.16.6137
#### NAbs IN MEDIATING CLEARANCE OF SENESCENT RED BLOOD CELLS

- Kannan R, Labotka R, Low PS. Isolation and characterization of the hemichrome-stabilized membrane protein aggregates from sickle erythrocytes. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:13766-73. PMID:2971044
- 44. Kannan R, Yuan J, Low PS. Isolation and partial characterization of antibody-enriched and globin-enriched complexes from membranes of dense human erythrocytes. Biochem J 1991; 278:57-62. PMID:1883341
- 45. Turrini F, Arese P, Yuan J et al. Clustering of integral membrane proteins of the human erythrocyte membrane stimulates autologous IgG binding, complement deposition, and phagocytosis. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:23611-7. PMID:1748639
- 46. Lutz HU, Flepp R, Stringaro-Wipf G. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to exoplasmic and cryptic regions of band 3 protein, the major integral membrane protein of human red blood cells. J Immunol 1984; 133:2610-8. PMID:6481164
- Beppu M, Mizukami A, Nagoya M et al. Binding of anti-band 3 autoantibody to oxidatively damaged erythrocytes. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:3226-33. PMID:2303447
- Beppu M, Mizukami A, Ando K et al. Antigenic determinants of senescent antigen of human erythrocytes are located in sialylated carbohydrate chains of band-3 glycoprotein. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:14691-6. PMID:1378838
- 49. Lutz HU, Gianora O, Nater M et al. Naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies bind to protein rather than to carbohydrate on band 3. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:23562-6. PMID:7693690
- Ando K, Kikugawa K, Beppu M. Involvement of sialylated poly-N-acetyllactosaminyl sugar chains of band 3 glycoprotein on senescent erythrocytes in anti-band 3 autoantibody binding. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:19394-8. PMID:7518456
- 51. Ando K, Kikugawa K, Beppu M. Binding of anti-band 3 autoantibody to sialylated poly-N- acetyllactosaminyl sugar chains of band 3 glycoprotein on polyvinylidene difluoride membrane and Sepharose gel: further evidence for anti-band 3 autoantibody binding to the sugar chains of oxidized and senescent erythrocytes. J Biochem 1996; 119:639-47. PMID:8743563
- 52. Jarius S, Eichhorn P, Albert MH et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins contain naturally occurring antibodies that mimic antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies and activate neutrophils in a TNFalpha-dependent and Fc-receptor-independent way. Blood 2007; 109:4376-82. PMID:17264299 doi:10.1182/ blood-2005-12-019604
- Peen E, Almer S, Bodemar G et al. Antilactoferrin antibodies and other types of ANCA in ulcerative colitis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and Crohn's disease. Gut 1993; 34:56-62. PMID:8432453 doi:10.1136/ gut.34.1.56
- Kay MMB. Isolation of the phagocytosis-inducing IgG-binding antigen on senescent somatic cells. Nature 1981; 289:491-4. PMID:7464917 doi:10.1038/289491a0
- 55. Kay MMB, Goodman SR, Sorensen K et al. Senescent cell antigen is immunologically related to band 3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1983; 80:1631-5. PMID:6572929 doi:10.1073/pnas.80.6.1631
- 56. Kay MMB. Localization of senescent cell antigen on band 3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:5753-7. PMID:6207531 doi:10.1073/pnas.81.18.5753
- Lutz HU, Bussolino F, Flepp R et al. Naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies and complement together mediate phagocytosis of oxidatively stressed human red blood cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:7368-72. PMID:3313392 doi:10.1073/pnas.84.21.7368
- Kay MMB, Bosman GJCGM, Johnson GJ et al. Band-3 polymers and aggregates, and hemoglobin precipitates in red cell aging. Blood Cells 1988; 14:275-95. PMID:2846095
- 59. Kay MMB, Marchalonis JJ, Hughes J et al. Definition of a physiologic aging autoantigen by using synthetic peptides of membrane protein band-3 - Localization of the active antigenic sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990; 87:5734-8. PMID:1696010 doi:10.1073/pnas.87.15.5734
- 60. Kay MMB. Molecular mapping of human band-3 aging antigenic sites and active amino acids using synthetic peptides. J Protein Chem 1992; 11:595-602. PMID:1281633 doi:10.1007/BF01024959
- 61. Poole J. Red cell antigens on band 3 and glycophorin A. Blood Rev 2000; 14:31-43. PMID:10805259 doi:10.1054/blre.1999.0124
- 62. Dighiero G, Guilbert B, Avrameas S. Naturally occurring antibodies against nine common antigens in humans sera. II. High incidence of monoclonal Ig exhibiting antibody activity against actin and tubulin and sharing antibody specificities with natural antibodies. J Immunol 1982; 128:2788-92. PMID:6804567
- 63. Kim SJ, Gershov D, Ma XJ et al. I-PLA(2) activation during apoptosis promotes the exposure of membrane lysophosphatidylcholine leading to binding by natural immunoglobulin M antibodies and complement activation. J Exp Med 2002; 196:655-65. PMID:12208880 doi:10.1084/jem.20020542
- 64. Peng Y, Kowalewski R, Kim S et al. The role of IgM antibodies in the recognition and clearance of apoptotic cells. Mol Immunol 2005; 42:781-7. PMID:15829266 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.045
- 65. Bussolino F, Turrini F, Arese P. Measurement of phagocytosis utilizing <sup>14</sup>C-cyanate-labelled human red cells and monocytes. Br J Haematol 1987; 66:271-4. PMID:3606963 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.1987.tb01311.x
- Sandberg AL, Oliveira B, Osler AG. Two complement interaction sites in guinea pig immunoglobulins. J Immunol 1971; 106:282-5. PMID:5543721

- 67. Winkelstein JA, Shin HS, Wood WB Jr. Heat labile opsonins to Pneumococcus. 3. The participation of immunoglobulin and of the alternate pathway of C3 activation. J Immunol 1972; 108:1681-9. PMID:4402312
- Winkelstein JA, Shin HS. The role of immunoglobulin in the interaction of pneumococci and the properdin pathway. Evidence for its specificity and lack of requirement for the Fc portion of the molecule. J Immunol 1974; 112:1635-42. PMID:4150446
- Perrin LH, Joseph BS, Cooper NR et al. Mechanism of injury of virus-infected cells by antiviral antibody and complement: participation of IgG, F(ab')<sub>2</sub>, and the alternative complement pathway. J Exp Med 1976; 143:1027-41. PMID:177712 doi:10.1084/jem.143.5.1027
- Gadd KJ, Reid KBM. The binding of complement component C3 to antibody-antigen aggregates after activation of the alternative pathway in human serum. Biochem J 1981; 195:471-80. PMID:7316962
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Fasler S. Preferential formation of C3b-IgG complexes in vitro and in vivo from nascent C3b and naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:17418-26. PMID:8349625
- Lutz HU, Nater M, Stammler P. Naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies have a unique affinity for C3. Immunology 1993; 80:191-6. PMID:8262548
- 73. Jelezarova E, Vogt A, Lutz HU. Interaction of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes with complement proteins properdin, factor B and factor H: implications for amplification. Biochem J 2000; 349:217-23. PMID:10861231 doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3490217
- 74. Okada N, Yasuda T, Tsumita T et al. Activation of the alternative complement pathway by natural antibody to glycolipids in guinea-pig serum. Immunology 1983; 50:75-84. PMID:6193057
- Tomlinson S, Nussenzweig V. Human alternative complement pathway-mediated lysis of rabbit erythrocytes is enhanced by natural anti-Gal alpha 1-3Gal antibodies. J Immunol 1997; 159:5606-9. PMID:9548503
- Jelezarova E, Luginbuehl A, Lutz HU. C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes retain dimeric C3 fragments at all levels of inactivation. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:51806-12. PMID:14527961 doi:10.1074/jbc.M304613200
- 77. Fries LF, Gaither TA, Hammer CH et al. C3b covalently bound to IgG demonstrates a reduced rate of inactivation by factors H and I. J Exp Med 1984; 160:1640-55. PMID:6239898 doi:10.1084/jem.160.6.1640
- Joiner KA, Fries LF, Schmetz MA et al. IgG bearing covalently bound C3b has enhanced bactericidal activity for Escherichia coli 0111. J Exp Med 1985; 162:877-89. PMID:3897448 doi:10.1084/jem.162.3.877
- Fries LF, Siwik SA, Malbran A et al. Phagocytosis of target particles bearing C3b-IgG covalent complexes by human monocytes and polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Immunology 1987; 62:45-51. PMID:3653927
- Yuan J, Kannan R, Shinar E et al. Isolation, characterization, and immunoprecipitation studies of immune complexes from membranes of beta-thalassemic erythrocytes. Blood 1992; 79:3007-13. PMID:1586745
- Mannu F, Arese P, Cappellini MD et al. Role of hemichrome binding to erythrocyte membrane in the generation of band-3 alterations in beta-thalassemia intermedia erythrocytes. Blood 1995; 86:2014-20. PMID:7655029
- de Franceschi L, Turrini F, Delgiudice EM et al. Decreased band 3 anion transport activity and band 3 clusterization in congenital dyserythropoietic anemia type II. Exp Hematol 1998; 26:869-73. PMID:9694508
- Ternynck T, Falanga PB, Unterkirscher C et al. Induction of high levels of IgG autoantibodies in mice infected with Plasmodium-chabaudi. Int Immunol 1991; 3:29-37. PMID:2049335 doi:10.1093/intimm/3.1.29
- 84. Pantaleo A, Ferru E, Giribaldi G et al. Oxidized and poorly glycosylated band 3 is selectively phosphorylated by Syk kinase to form large membrane clusters in normal and G6PD-deficient red blood cells. Biochem J 2009; 418:359-67. PMID:18945214 doi:10.1042/BJ20081557
- Hornig R, Lutz HU. Band 3 protein clustering on human erythrocytes promotes binding of naturally occurring anti-band 3 and anti-spectrin antibodies. Exp Gerontol 2000; 35:1025-44. PMID:11121688 doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00126-1
- 86. Salhany JM, Cordes KS, Sloan RL. Characterization of immunoglobulin binding to isolated human erythrocyte membranes: evidence for selective, temperature-induced binding of naturally occurring autoantibodies to the cytoskeleton. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001; 1511:168-80. PMID:11248215 doi:10.1016/S0005-2736(01)00280-2
- Wiener E, Hughes-Jones NC, Irish WT et al. Elution of anti-spectrin antibodies from red cells in homozygous β-thalassemia. Clin Exp Immunol 1986; 63:680-6. PMID:3708907
- Graldi G, Giuliani AL, Unis L et al. Accelerated elimination from the circulation of homologous aged red blood cells in rats bearing anti-spectrin antibodies. Mech Ageing Dev 1999; 107:21-36. PMID:10197786 doi:10.1016/S0047-6374(98)00126-2
- 89. Alaia V, Frey BM, Siderow A et al. A pair of naturally occurring antibodies may dampen complement-dependent phagocytosis of red cells with a positive antiglobulin test in healthy blood donors. Vox Sang 2009; 97:338-47. PMID:19570063 doi:10.1111/j.1423-0410.2009.001214.x

# CHAPTER 7

# NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST β-AMYLOID

# Jan-Philipp Bach and Richard Dodel\*

Department of Neurology, Philipps-University Marburg, Germany \*Corresponding Author: Richard Dodel—Email: dodel@med.uni-marburg.de

Abstract: Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) have been described for more than 30 years. Recently, NAbs against  $\beta$ -Amyloid and against other proteins involved in neurodegenerative disorders have been detected in humans. Based on the current evidence, it is hypothesized that anti-A $\beta$  NAbs can inhibit the fibrillation and toxicity of  $\beta$ -aymloid, can improve cognition in a transgenic mouse model and interfere with oligomers of A $\beta$ . Different functions of these NAbs have been described in the current literature. Based on the results of the diverse studies a Phase-III study using IVIG has been initiated in patients with AD. The results will show whether the application of NAbs will change the fate of the disease. This chapter summarizes our current knowledge on NAbs against A $\beta$ .

# INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer disease (AD) is the most common neurodegenerative disorder and is like other neurodegenerative disorders characterized by the aggregation and deposition of particular proteins. Cortical atrophy, neuronal loss, region-specific amyloid deposition, neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary tangles are the key neuropathological features in the AD brain. Neurofibrillary tangles consist of intracellularly formed hyperphosphorylated tau proteins. Tau is a highly soluble microtubule-associated protein and its main function is to modulate the stability of axonal microtubules.<sup>1</sup> Hyperphosphorylation of the tau protein, however, can result in self-assembly of tangles of paired helical filaments and straight filaments, and consecutively in disintegration and structural dysfunction of the protein. Furthermore, the formation of insoluble  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) peptides may lead to extracellular plaque deposition in the brain. A $\beta$ , a peptide of 38–43 amino acids, arises

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

from a larger precursor protein, the amyloid precursor protein (APP), through enzymatic cleavage by secretases and is deposited as plaques in the diseased brain.<sup>2</sup> Although, evidence exist on processing of  $A\beta$ , only little is known about the intracellular processing, metabolism and the fate of  $A\beta$  following secretase cleavage.

Recently, physiological autoantibodies (naturally occurring autoantibodies, NAbs) against A $\beta$  (anti-A $\beta$  NAbs) have been described to be present in humans.<sup>3,4</sup> Antibodies directed against AB and tau were described in patients with AD as early as 1993.5.6 However, their role in the pathophysiology of AD was unclear and has not been investigated in further detail. Since the description by Du et al., a number of articles have attempted to further characterize those NAbs.<sup>3</sup> Istrin and colleagues<sup>7</sup> demonstrated that preformed fibrils can be dissolved in the presence of anti-Aß NAbs, and that IVIG increases the cellular tolerance to  $A\beta$ , enhances microglial migration toward  $A\beta$  deposits and mediates phagocytosis of AB in primary microglia in vitro. IVIG-treated microglia exhibited a ramified resting morphology, but also high levels of the activation marker CD45, indicating an immunomodulatory effect of IVIG on microglial cells. Another mechanism had been shown by Weksler's group, who identified mono- and polyclonal IgM NAbs that hydrolyse A<sup>8</sup> Hydrolysis of peripheral A<sup>β</sup> by IgMs may induce increased A $\beta$  release from the brain. Catalytic IgMs were found to be increased in AD patients, presumably reflecting a protective autoimmune response. In a histopathological study, Kellner et al. have shown that the majority of neuritic plaques are decorated by IgG and that A $\beta$ -immunized AD patients may develop a reduced plaque burden and an increase in phagocytic microglia.9 While those mechanisms require extraneuronal interaction of antigen and antibody, there is evidence that anti-Aß antibodies can also act by clearance of intraneuronal A $\beta$ . However, this has not yet been demonstrated for anti-AB NAbs.10

The aim of this chapter is to compile the current evidence on physiology, biochemistry and characterization of naturally occurring autoantibodies against  $A\beta$ .

#### **ISOLATION OF ANTI-Aβ NAbs**

IgG anti-A $\beta$  NAbs have been isolated from blood of healthy persons and AD patients, as well as from commercially available IVIG. Several different isolation procedures using affinity chromatography have been described, however, the different isolation procedures have not been compared concerning their efficacy and their ability to recognize particular epitopes. The original affinity purification protocol by Du and colleagues used CNBr-activated sepharose complexed to A $\beta_{1-40}$ .<sup>3</sup> To reduce the risk of steric hindrance and also to permit the interaction of individual and naturally folded A $\beta$  molecules on the column, we later generated an improved affinity purification approach by introducing cysteine to the N-terminal end of A $\beta_{1-40/42}$ . The exposed sulfhydryl group of the Cys-A $\beta$  peptide was then covalently immobilized to the iodoacetyl group at the end of a long spacer molecule, linked to the chromatographic matrix. The subsequent characterization of the antibody fraction eluted from these affinity columns provided convining evidence that the anti-A $\beta$  NAbs preferentially recognize the C-terminal end of A $\beta_{1-40/42}$ . In addition, this study showed that anti-A $\beta$  NAbs bind best to A $\beta$  oligomers but not to the monomeric or fibrillar forms of A $\beta$ .<sup>11</sup> This finding was confirmed by the study from Szabo and coworkers

who used a different experimental approach, applying thiophilic chromatography and using chaotropic salts to dislodge weakly bound antibodies without significantly reducing the binding of specific anti-A $\beta$  NAbs.<sup>12</sup> Using these methods, the study showed that human blood contains polyvalent IgG NAbs that bind to A $\beta$  with relatively low avidity and specificity, as well as IgG NAbs that bind to linear and conformational epitopes on amyloid monomers and aggregates with moderate to high avidity.

# **ORIGIN OF NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES**

NAbs are effectors of the innate immune system and are produced without prior contact to the specific antigen they recognize.<sup>13</sup> The majority of these NAbs are polyclonal, thus binding to several different antigens and displaying predominately the IgM isotype, even though IgG and IgA isotypes also exist.<sup>14</sup> Current evidence exists that B cells producing NAbs are part of a distinct B cell subset, the so called B1 cell pool. The different B cell subsets vary in terms of location, migration ability and dependency on T-cell help for being activated. The knowledge about the function and origin of B1 B cells stems mainly from studies in rodents and the knowledge in humans is limited.<sup>13,15</sup> B1 cells account for approximately 5% of the whole B cell pool in mice, depending on the strain.<sup>16</sup>

B1 cells can further be divided—in relation to their function—into a B1a pool and a B1b pool<sup>17,18</sup> in contrast to circulating and follicular B cells, conventionally termed B2 cells, which are produced in the bone marrow from progenitor cells and require T-cell activation for clonal expansion.

Until recently, it was understood that B1 cells are mainly present in coelomic cavities<sup>19</sup> and not in lymph follicles, thus not undergoing affinity maturation.<sup>20</sup> However, as shown by Ansel<sup>26</sup> B1 cells are capable of circulating into the periphery, which is in line with the recent evidence by Griffin et al.,<sup>20</sup> who characterized the surface markers of human B cells in the human peripheral blood. Interestingly, CD5 has long been used to characterize B1 cells,<sup>21</sup> however, recent data from Griffin et al. demonstrated in B1 cells from umbilical cord blood as well as from human peripheral blood that they display a CD20<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup>CD43<sup>+</sup>CD70<sup>-</sup> pattern.<sup>18</sup> Furthermore, they were able to show that B1 cells not only occur in the peritoneum, but also in the peripheral blood of healthy human donors.

The origin of these B1 cells is still unclear. Two different models have been described, and both are summarized by Dorshkind and Montecino.<sup>19</sup> In brief, the selection model assumes a common progenitor cell for both B1 and B2 cells, whereby selection to one or the other group takes place at the level of surface IgM<sup>+</sup> cells.<sup>22</sup> In contrast, the lineage model hypothesizes that both B1 and B2 cells have different hematopoietic progenitors and represent different lineages. The basis for this model is provided by the observation that irradiation of fetal tissue leads to the production mainly of B1 cells after cell recovery. In contrast, irradiation of bone marrow from adults mainly generates B2 cells.<sup>23</sup>

Currently, no data is available on the subpopulation of B cells from which anti-A $\beta$  NAbs stem from. It may well be that using the above surface markers to identify B1 cells in humans we will soon be able to increase our knowledge about these cells in humans.

# **EPITOPE**

 $A\beta$  is characterized by a number of peptides with different length encompassing amino acids (AA) 1-38/42. Mainly, three regions can be recognized by the currently available antibodies, which characterize 3 epitopes: the N-terminal epitope (~AA1-10), the mid-terminal epitope (~AA17-32) and the C-terminal sequence (~AA32-42). N-terminally directed antibodies bind to aggregated A<sup>β</sup> in vitro as well as to cerebral and vascular deposits and unprocessed APP. The binding ability is primarily a result of the three-dimensional structure of  $A\beta$ , in which the N-terminal region is easily accessible even in higher aggregated states of A<sub>β</sub>. Antibodies against the N-terminal epitope may bind not only to plaques, but also to  $A\beta$  deposited in the vasculature and may carry the potential risk of cerebral microhemorrhages. Mid-terminal directed antibodies apparently bind to AB, but seem to have differential recognition patterns for oligomeric epitopes and less often recognize aggregated AB, plaques and vascular amyloid. However, these antibodies do not bind to AB deposited in plaques, but have been shown to promote clearance by the peripheral sink mechanism, as has been shown for the antibody m266. The third group recognizes the AA32–42 epitope. These antibodies bind to APP and are able to neutralize toxic effects of A $\beta$ . Unfortunately, such antibodies have been less well studied than the other two groups and only one clinical study is currently focusing on an antibody directed against the C-terminus. Recent studies characterizing the anti-AB NAbs epitopes have shown that they preferably bind to the C-terminal sequence.<sup>11</sup>

The  $\beta$  amyloid protein (A $\beta$ ) is believed to play a central role in AD and like several other proteins associated with neurodegeneration, has the ability to form a diverse set of different assemblies starting from dimers all the way up to aggregates or fibrils.<sup>24</sup> Historically, A $\beta$  fibrils, similar to those present in A $\beta$  plaques, have been considered primarily responsible for neuronal dysfunction and death. However, recent data suggest that nonfibrillar, water-soluble assemblies of A $\beta$  may also be important for disease development.<sup>25-27</sup> To date, it is unclear if anti-A $\beta$ NAbs recognize monomeric or oligomeric A $\beta$  or fibrils. First evidence has been provided that anti-A $\beta$ NAbs recognize conformational epitopes present on oligomers and fibrils. These are not present on A $\beta$  monomers.<sup>28</sup>

# **GLYCOSYLATION**

IgG antibodies are glycoproteins to which a sugar chain is covalently linked to asparagine 297 of the Fc region. This sugar chain plays an essential role in the interaction with immune effectors such as the Fc receptor<sup>29</sup> and complement C1q.<sup>30</sup> The removal of this sugar chain reduces the interaction with the Fc receptor and complement C1q without preventing the binding to the antigen.<sup>31</sup> Furthermore, differences in the glycosylation of the Fc domain may affect the Fc-mediated effector-function.<sup>32</sup> It was shown that deglycosylation does not affect the binding affinity of the antibody to the FcRn and the half-life in vivo, but the pro-inflammatory processes in terms of reduced microglia activation. Different glycoforms can influence the antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity and the complement-mediated cytotoxicity. Deglycosylated antibodies against A $\beta$  can sequester A $\beta$  without inducing a neuroinflammatory response.<sup>33</sup> Furthermore, phagocytosis of A $\beta$  was promoted with a consecutively increased cytokine release in primary microglial cultures.<sup>34,35</sup> To our knowledge neither the glycoprotein sidechain nor the sequence have been investigated in further detail on anti-A $\beta$  NAbs.

# ASSAYS USED TO DETECT AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST AB

In the initial description, Du et al. found a significantly decreased anti-Aß NAb titer in the CSF of patients with Alzheimer disease, suggesting that lowered levels of Aβ-specific antibodies may be a factor that contributes to the pathogenesis of AD.<sup>3</sup> These results have been confirmed by several groups.<sup>4,36-41</sup> In contrast, increased titers<sup>42-44</sup> or no difference between AD patients and healthy controls have been reported as well.<sup>45,46</sup> Different methods of measurement may be one explanation for the conflicting data. The peptides that served as antigens differed in the various assays published. In some assays monomeric A $\beta$ , in others oligomeric or fibrillar A $\beta$ , and in even others just certain epitope regions (A $\beta$ 25–35) were employed. Furthermore, as there are no human antibodies available that could serve as an adequate reference antibody in ELISA, quantification is difficult. The autoantibodies are of polyclonal origin and, thus, differing in epitope specificity, affinity and isotype. Therefore, a comparison between the overall levels is not feasible, especially since it is not known which of the antibodies exert a protective role in the homeostasis of  $A\beta$ .<sup>12</sup> Moreover, the groups of AD patients and controls investigated in these different studies are quite heterogeneous. Recently a validated assay was developed by Glabe and coworkers<sup>47</sup> and the company DRG (www.drg-diagnostics.de).

# **METABOLISM OF ANTI-Aβ NAbs**

The fate of anti-A $\beta$  NAbs has only been addressed by a few studies. The half-life of anti-A $\beta$  NAbs (IgG) in humans has been calculated to be around 11 days (personal communication M. Weksler) following infusion of IVIG. Bacher et al. investigated the fate of <sup>111</sup>Indium-conjugated, affinity-purified human NAbs in the transgenic APP23 mice model.<sup>48</sup> In this study, blood clearance half-lives were around 20–30 hours for anti-A $\beta$  NAbs, compared with 29 hours for the commercially available antibodies 4G8 and 27 hours for 6E10 and 50 hours for the CD20 antibody Rituximab, which was used as a reference antibody. Anti-A $\beta$  NAbs were excreted in the urinary tract, nevertheless, liver and kidney uptake of anti-A $\beta$  NAbs increased over time. The brain-to-blood radioactivity ratio for anti-A $\beta$  NAbs at later time points (> 48 hours) was unexpectedly high compared with the other antibodies investigated. In the brain the distribution varied, with highest values found in the hippocampus, indicating a cerebral accumulation of human anti-A $\beta$  NAbs in the APP23 model.

# CLINICAL STUDIES IN ALZHEIMER DISEASE

The observation that IVIG, purified from the plasma of presumably healthy donors, contains naturally occurring anti-A $\beta$  IgG antibodies<sup>7,49,50</sup> and that the sera of patients with AD may have reduced concentrations of these IgGs as compared with age-matched controls,<sup>4,36</sup> has provided the rationale for exploring the therapeutic use of IVIG in these individuals. Several small pilot trials have been initiated for the treatment of AD. A detailed review of the current clinical trials using IVIG has been published recently.<sup>51</sup>

The first description of the use of IVIG in patients with AD was published in 1998/2000 by Kountouris et al.<sup>52</sup> The study included 16 AD patients for a duration of 12 months. Eight patients received 140 g of peracetam (a NSAIDs) for one year only and 8 patients received a complementary monthly dose of IVIG of 0.2 g/kg body weight. The treatment demonstrated "a significant improvement in the group of patients, obtaining the additional treatment with IVIG." Unfortunately, the clinical study was only published as an abstract and thus no information on the rationale, clinical data and detailed results are available. Currently, only data from a total of 37 AD patients following IVIG treatment have been published.<sup>53,54</sup> The primary outcome in the studies was a change in the concentration of A<sub>β</sub> in the blood and CSF. Secondary objectives were the concentration of anti-A $\beta$  NAbs, cognitive function, activities of daily living (ADL) and other AD relevant outcomes. In the available studies a decrease of A $\beta$  in the CSF and an increase in the blood was found. In one study an amelioration of cognitive functions was seen using the Mini Mental Status Examination (MMSE). However, due to the small number of patients in all the studies, an effect of IVIG on cognition must be seen with caution. Side effects in those pilot studies were expectedly low.

A dose-finding study involving 56 AD patients, who were treated with Octagam 10% (IVIG) for 6 months with different doses and dosing intervals (0.1 g/kg/2wks; 0.25 g/kg/2wks; 0.4 g/kg/2wks; 0.2 g/kg/4wks; 0.5 g/kg/4wks; 0.8 g/kg/4wks; Placebo/2wks; Placebo/2wks; Dase of the first quarter 2012.<sup>55</sup> A large Phase III study involving more than 360 AD patients with two doses (0.2 g/kg every 2 wks and 0.4g/kg every 4 wks) is currently underway and results should be available in 2012/2013.<sup>56</sup> The study aims at AD-relevant outcomes including cognitive scores such as Alzheimer Disease Assessment Scale (ADAS-cog) and the clinical global impression scale (CGI).

Further evidence for the effect of IVIG was presented in a study in which anonymized medical claims data was used in a retrospective case-controlled analysis to evaluate the incidence of AD and related disorders in an IVIG treated vs. untreated population.<sup>57</sup> 847 IVIG-treated patients were compared with 84,700 untreated controls matched on age, gender, and other risk factors. The proportion of patients diagnosed with dementia was 2.0 percent among treated cases and 4.2 percent among untreated controls (p < 0.002). The relative risk reported was 0.58 for treated patients vs. controls (p = 0.024), "indicating a 42 percent lower incidence rate of dementia in patients treated with IVIG."

## CONCLUSION

The concept of an innate system for disposing misfolded proteins is interesting and opens a new path in the investigation of neurodegenerative disorders. Further preclinical and clinical research is needed to delineate in greater detail the pathways by which naturally occurring autoantibodies act in the different pathological processes associated with neurodegenerative disorders. These studies are underway in a large number of laboratories and in 2013 the results of a large Phase III clinical trial should be available that may provide evidence that IVIG is an effective treatment for the terrible handicaps associated with Alzheimer disease.

#### REFERENCES

- Ballatore C, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ. Tau-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 2007; 8:663-72; PMID:17684513; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrn2194.
- 2. Selkoe DJ. Alzheimer's disease: Genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev 2001; 81:741-66; PMID:11274343.
- Du Y, Dodel R, Hampel H et al. Reduced levels of amyloid beta-peptide antibody in Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2001; 57:801-5; PMID:11552007.
- Weksler ME, Relkin N, Turkenich R et al. Patients with Alzheimer disease have lower levels of serum anti-amyloid peptide antibodies than healthy elderly individuals. Exp Gerontol 2002; 37:943-8; PMID:12086704; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(02)00029-3.
- Gaskin F, Finley J, Fang Q et al. Human antibodies reactive with beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. J Exp Med 1993; 177:1181-6; PMID:8459212; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.177.4.1181.
- Gaskin F, Kingsley BS, Fu SM. Autoantibodies to neurofibrillary tangles and brain tissue in Alzheimer's disease. Establishment of Epstein-Barr virus-transformed antibody-producing cell lines. J Exp Med 1987; 165:245-50; PMID:3025332; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.165.1.245.
- Istrin G, Bosis E, Solomon B. Intravenous immunoglobulin enhances the clearance of fibrillar amyloid-beta peptide. J Neurosci Res 2006; 84:434-43; PMID:16767774; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jnr.20886.
- Taguchi H, Planque S, Nishiyama Y et al. Autoantibody-catalyzed hydrolysis of amyloid beta peptide. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:4714-22; PMID:18086674; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M707983200.
- Kellner A, Matschke J, Bernreuther C et al. Autoantibodies against beta-amyloid are common in Alzheimer's disease and help control plaque burden. Ann Neurol 2009; 65:24-31; PMID:19194878; http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/ana.21475.
- Tampellini D, Magrane J, Takahashi RH et al. Internalized antibodies to the Abeta domain of APP reduce neuronal Abeta and protect against synaptic alterations. JBiol Chem 2007;282:18895-906; PMID:17468102; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M700373200.
- Dodel R, Balakrishnan K, Keyvani K et al. Naturally occurring autoantibodies against β-amyloid: investigating their role in transgenic animal and in-vitro models of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 2011; 31(15):5847-54; PMID:21490226; http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4401-10.2011.
- Szabo P, Mujalli DM, Rotondi ML et al. Measurement of anti-beta amyloid antibodies in human blood. J Neuroimmunol 2010; 227:167-74; PMID:20638733; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.06.010.
- Kasaian MT, Casali P. Autoimmunity-prone B-1 (CD5 B) cells, natural antibodies and self recognition. Autoimmunity 1993; 15:315-29; PMID:7511005; http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/08916939309115755.
- Elkon K, Casali P. Nature and functions of autoantibodies. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008; 4:491-8; PMID:18756274; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncprheum0895.
- Allman D, Pillai S. Peripheral B cell subsets. Curr Opin Immunol 2008; 20:149-57; PMID:18434123; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.014.
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Honda M et al. Ly-1 B cells: functionally distinct lymphocytes that secrete IgM autoantibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:2494-8; PMID:6609363; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.81.8.2494.
- Casali P, Burastero SE, Nakamura M et al. Human lymphocytes making rheumatoid factor and antibody to ssDNA belong to Leu-1+ B-cell subset. Science 1987; 236:77-81; PMID:3105056; http://dx.doi. org/10.1126/science.3105056.
- Griffin DO, Holodick NE, Rothstein TL. Human B1 cells in umbilical cord and adult peripheral blood express the novel phenotype CD20+CD27+CD43+CD70. J Exp Med 2011; 208:67-80; PMID:21220451; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.20101499.
- 19. Dorshkind K, Montecino-Rodriguez E. Fetal B-cell lymphopoiesis and the emergence of B-1-cell potential. Nat Rev Immunol 2007; 7:213-9; PMID:17318232; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2019.
- 20. Hardy RR. B-1 B cell development. J Immunol 2006; 177:2749-54; PMID:16920907.
- Kasaian MT, Ikematsu H, Casali P. Identification and analysis of a novel human surface CD5-B lymphocyte subset producing natural antibodies. J Immunol 1992; 148:2690-702; PMID:1374094.
- Berland R, Wortis HH. Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5. Annu Rev Immunol 2002; 20:253-300; PMID:11861604; http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064833.
- Martin F, Kearney JF. B1 cells: similarities and differences with other B cell subsets. Curr Opin Immunol 2001; 13:195-201; PMID:11228413; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00204-1.
- Powers ET, Powers DL. Mechanisms of protein fibril formation: nucleated polymerization with competing off-pathway aggregation. Biophys J 2008; 94:379-91; PMID:17890392; http://dx.doi.org/10.1529/ biophysj.107.117168.

- Glabe CG. Structural classification of toxic amyloid oligomers. J Biol Chem 2008; 283:29639-43; PMID:18723507; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R800016200.
- Klein WL, Krafft GA, Finch CE. Targeting small Abeta oligomers: the solution to an Alzheimer's disease conundrum? Trends Neurosci 2001; 24:219-24; PMID:11250006; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0166-2236(00)01749-5.
- Shankar GM, Walsh DM. Alzheimer's disease: synaptic dysfunction and Abeta. Mol Neurodegener 2009; 4:48; PMID:19930651; http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-4-48.
- O'Nuallain B, Acero L, Williams AD et al. Human plasma contains cross-reactive Abeta conformer-specific IgG antibodies. Biochemistry 2008; 47:12254-6; PMID:18956886; http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/bi801767k.
- Radaev S, Sun PD. Recognition of IgG by Fcgamma receptor. The role of Fc glycosylation and the binding of peptide inhibitors. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:16478-83; PMID:11297533; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M100351200.
- Winkelhake JL, Kunicki TJ, Elcombe BM et al. Effects of pH treatments and deglycosylation of rabbit immunoglobulin G on the binding of C1q. J Biol Chem 1980; 255:2822-8; PMID:6965674.
- Jefferis R. Recombinant antibody therapeutics: the impact of glycosylation on mechanisms of action. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2009; 30:356-62; PMID:19552968; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2009.04.007.
- Raju TS. Terminal sugars of Fc glycans influence antibody effector functions of IgGs. Curr Opin Immunol 2008; 20:471-8; PMID:18606225; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.06.007.
- Shields RL, Lai J, Keck R et al. Lack of fucose on human IgG1 N-linked oligosaccharide improves binding to human Fcgamma RIII and antibody-dependent cellular toxicity. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:26733-40; PMID:11986321; http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M202069200.
- Rebe S, Solomon B. Deglycosylation of anti-beta amyloid antibodies inhibits microglia activation in BV-2 cellular model. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2005; 20:303-13; PMID:16273996; http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/153331750502000511.
- 35. Takata K, Hirata-Fukae C, Becker AG et al. Deglycosylated anti-amyloid beta antibodies reduce microglial phagocytosis and cytokine production while retaining the capacity to induce amyloid beta sequestration. Eur J Neurosci 2007; 26:2458-68; PMID:17970733; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05852.x.
- 36. Brettschneider S, Morgenthaler NG, Teipel SJ et al. Decreased serum amyloid beta(1-42) autoantibody levels in Alzheimer's disease, determined by a newly developed immuno-precipitation assay with radiolabeled amyloid beta(1-42) peptide. Biol Psychiatry 2005; 57:813-6; PMID:15820240; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.12.008.
- 37. Hansson SF, Andreasson U, Wall M et al. Reduced levels of amyloid-beta-binding proteins in cerebrospinal fluid from Alzheimer's disease patients. J Alzheimers Dis 2009; 16:389-97; PMID:19221428.
- Jianping L, Zhibing Y, Wei Q et al. Low avidity and level of serum anti-Abeta antibodies in Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2006; 20:127-32; PMID:16917180; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00002093-200607000-00001.
- Moir RD, Tseitlin KA, Soscia S et al. Autoantibodies to redox-modified oligomeric Abeta are attenuated in the plasma of Alzheimer's disease patients. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:17458-63; PMID:15728175; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M414176200.
- Sohn JH, So JO, Hong HJ et al. Identification of autoantibody against beta-amyloid peptide in the serum of elderly. Front Biosci 2009; 14:3879-83; PMID:19273318; http://dx.doi.org/10.2741/3496.
- Song MS, Mook-Jung I, Lee HJ et al. Serum anti-amyloid-beta antibodies and Alzheimer's disease in elderly Korean patients. J Int Med Res 2007; 35:301-6; PMID:17593857.
- 42. Gruden MA, Davudova TB, Malisauskas M et al. Autoimmune responses to amyloid structures of Abeta(25-35) peptide and human lysozyme in the serum of patients with progressive Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004; 18:165-71; PMID:15211072; http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000079197.
- Mruthinti S, Buccafusco JJ, Hill WD et al. Autoimmunity in Alzheimer's disease: increased levels of circulating IgGs binding Abeta and RAGE peptides. Neurobiol Aging 2004; 25:1023-32; PMID:15212827; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2003.11.001.
- 44. Nath A, Hall E, Tuzova M et al. Autoantibodies to amyloid beta-peptide (Abeta) are increased in Alzheimer's disease patients and Abeta antibodies can enhance Abeta neurotoxicity: implications for disease pathogenesis and vaccine development. Neuromolecular Med 2003; 3:29-39; PMID:12665674; http://dx.doi.org/10.1385/NMM:3:1:29.
- 45. Baril L, Nicolas L, Croisile B et al. Immune response to Abeta-peptides in peripheral blood from patients with Alzheimer's disease and control subjects. Neurosci Lett 2004; 355:226-30; PMID:14732472; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2003.10.071.
- 46. Hyman BT, Smith C, Buldyrev I et al. Autoantibodies to amyloid-beta and Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 2001; 49:808-10; PMID:11409436; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ana.1061.

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST β-AMYLOID

- Relkin NR, Mujalli D, Shennoy SA et al. IVIg contains antibodies against oligomers and fibrils of beta amyloid. Alzheimers Dement 2007; 3:S196; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2007.04.021.
- Bacher M, Depboylu C, Du Y et al. Peripheral and central biodistribution of <sup>111</sup>In-labeled anti-beta-amyloid antibodies in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 2009; 449:240-5; PMID:18786612; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.083.
- 49. Dodel R, Hampel H, Depboylu C et al. Human antibodies against amyloid beta peptide: a potential treatment for Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 2002; 52:253-6; PMID:12210803; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ana.10253.
- O'Nuallain B, Hrncic R, Wall JS et al. Diagnostic and therapeutic potential of amyloid-reactive IgG antibodies contained in human sera. J Immunol 2006; 176:7071-8; PMID:16709869.
- Dodel R, Neff F, Noelker C et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins as a treatment for Alzheimer's disease: rationale and current evidence. Drugs 2010; 70:513-28; PMID:20329802; http://dx.doi. org/10.2165/11533070-00000000-00000.
- Kountouris D. Therapeutic effects of piracetam combined with intravenous immunoglobulin premature of Alzheimer type. J Neural Transm 2000; 107:18.
- Dodel RC, Du Y, Depboylu C et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins containing antibodies against beta-amyloid for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2004; 75:1472-4; PMID:15377700; http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2003.033399.
- Relkin NR, Szabo P, Adamiak B et al. 18-Month study of intravenous immunoglobulin for treatment of mild Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Aging 2009; 30:1728-36; PMID:18294736; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2007.12.021.
- www.clinicaltrials.gov. Study of Octagam 10% on the Treatment of Mild to Moderate Alzheimer's Patients. NCT00812565 2009.
- 56. www.clinicaltrials.gov. A Phase 3 Study Evaluating Safety and Effectiveness of Immune Globulin Intravenous (IGIV 10%) for the Treatment of Mild to Moderate Alzheimer's Disease. NCT00818662 2009.
- 57. Fillit H, Hess G, Hill J et al. cIV immunoglobulin is associated with a reduced risk of Alzheimer disease and related disorders. Neurology 2009; 73:180-5; PMID:19620605; http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181ae7aaf.

# CHAPTER 8

# MULTI-FACETED ROLE OF NATURALLY **OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES IN** FIGHTING PATHOGENS

# Hicham Bouhlal\*,1,2 and Srini Kaveri<sup>3-6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>INSERM UMR 925, Amiens, France; <sup>2</sup>Université Jules Verne Picardie (UPJV), UFR de Médecine, Amiens, France; <sup>3</sup>Unité 872, INSERM, Paris, France; <sup>4</sup>Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Équipe 16 - Immunopathology and Therapeutic Immunointervention, Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris 6, UMR S 872, Paris, France; <sup>5</sup>Université Paris Descartes, UMR S 872, Paris, France; <sup>6</sup>International Associated Laboratory IMPACT, INSERM, France - Indian Council of Medical Research, India

Corresponding Author: Hicham Bouhlal-Email: hicham.bouhlal@u-picardie.fr

Abstract: Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) play a vital role in the first line of defense against bacterial and viral infections. Most studies in mice and man have attributed this role to NAbs of the IgM isotype. However, there is also a significant amount of data on the anti-infectious function of NAbs of the IgG isotype. Most of these observations are derived from studies using a privileged source of NAbs, the pooled human IgG for intravenous application, IVIG. In addition to its use as a replacement in humoral immunodeficiencies, IVIG is extensively used in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. The properties of NAbs, the principal components of IVIG, are considered crucial for their immune-regulatory properties, owing to their ability to recognize self-antigens and even autoantibodies. By virtue of these specificities for several cellular antigens, including exposed proteins that act as receptors for a variety of pathogens, certain NAbs in IVIG have a therapeutic role in preventing or modulating infections. We summarize in this chapter several examples that highlight the importance of NAbs in the control of certain bacterial and viral infections.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Normal human serum contains antibodies of the immunoglobulin G (IgG), IgM and IgA isotypes that are produced in the absence of any prior immunization and represent primarily naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs).<sup>1</sup> Several lines of evidence suggest

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

that NAbs are produced by positively selected auto-reactive B lymphocytes.<sup>2</sup> Several physiological functions have been proposed for NAbs including their role in maintaining homeostasis and in defense against infections.<sup>3</sup> In this chapter, we summarize several lines of arguments and examples that highlight the importance of NAbs in the control of certain bacterial and viral infections. Most of these examples originate from the use of IVIG, which is a privileged source of naturally occurring antibodies, as IVIG contains essentially IgG obtained from pools of plasma from several thousands of healthy blood donors.

# NAbs IN THE TREATMENT OF BACTERIAL INFECTIONS

# The Role of NAbs in the Treatment of Clostridium difficile Infection

Clostridium difficile (CD) is the most common cause of nosocomial infectious diarrhea. The high virulence, the frequent relapses and the high prevalence require the development of more effective treatments against CD infections (CDI).<sup>4</sup> Currently, IVIG is among the available treatments administered in cases of severe CDI. It was shown in a retrospective analysis of IVIG-treated patients with five of them with recurrent relapse, who were treated with IVIG at 300 to 500 mg/kg, one to six doses per day. One patient showed a complete response, three patients showed a partial resolution of symptoms and one died without an apparent therapeutic response.<sup>5</sup> A retrospective analysis was conducted by McPherson et al.<sup>6</sup> on 264 patients with CDI, including 14 patients under IVIG treatment. Nine of 14 patients had a complete response, four patients did not show improvement and one patient had a partial response from two doses but died two months later after a recurrence. No complications were attributable to the IVIG in this study. The authors conclude that intravenous immunoglobulin may be effective without side effects for severe, refractory, or recurrent Clostridium difficile diarrhea after conventional treatment failed.<sup>6</sup> Hassett et al.<sup>7</sup> reported on a 49-year-old woman deficient for IgG1 with nine episodes of CDI associated with colitis in two years, who was successfully treated with IVIG in combination with a probiotic agent. This treatment combined oral vancomvcin, metronidazole and rifampicin with 1 g per day of Saccharomyces boulardii probiotic in combination with 30 g of IVIG every 2 weeks to compensate the immune deficiency. The authors conclude that combining the standard therapy with IVIG appears to be more effective in this immunocompromised patient, than standard care alone. All these studies suggest that IVIG may be beneficial in cases of CDI recurrence, but definitive recommendations are not possible with the currently available data. Other studies and other controlled trials should be conducted to clarify the benefits of IVIG in the treatment of infection in CDI. Current guidelines suggest that IVIG may be considered to prevent multiple recurrences in patients with severe CDI.<sup>8</sup>

### NAbs IN THE CONTROL OF VIRAL INFECTION

Intravenous (IV), intramuscular (IM) and virus-specific immunoglobulins (Ig) play an important role in immunotherapies against viral infections. The standard IM Ig is used in some clinical cases of hepatitis A prevention and measles. Hyperimmune globulins against the varicella zoster virus, Hepatitis B and rabies have proven efficacy in post-exposure prophylaxis. Hyperimmune globulins against cytomegalovirus (CMV) are indicated in

prevention of primary CMV infection and effectively reduced CMV infections after liver transplantation. Hyperimmune globulins against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) have been developed and are used to prevent RSV infection in children with high risk. IVIG has demonstrated its therapeutic benefit in the prevention of disease associated with CMV and graft rejection in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. In addition, IVIG in combination with ganciclovir is an effective treatment against the disease associated with CMV infection in bone marrow transplant and that of solid organs.

# Intravenous Immunoglobulins in the Treatment of Dengue Illness

Infection with dengue virus (DV) has a high mortality/morbidity in the world and threatens about 20 million people annually in tropical and subtropical countries.<sup>9</sup> About 250,000–500,000 infected people develop severe dengue illness each year inducing approximately 24 000 deaths. The infection with dengue virus results principally in two syndromes: dengue hemorrhagic fever (DHF) and dengue shock syndrome (DSS) associated with thrombocytopenia, altered homeostasis, and damage to the liver indicated by increase in aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase activity.<sup>9-11</sup>

The high numbers of IgG molecules associated with platelets (PAIgG) in idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) suggested that these antibodies are involved in the induction of thrombocytopenia.<sup>12,13</sup> Several studies similarly suggested that production of PAIgG in patients with secondary infection by DV may be involved in thrombocytopenia by inducing lysis or phagocytosis.<sup>12</sup> The high levels of PAIgG in patients with secondary infection by DV were inversely correlated with platelet counts.<sup>14-16</sup> In fact, Ascher et al.<sup>17</sup> showed an effective clinical response of IVIG in a patient with an acute secondary dengue infection. Ostranoff et al.<sup>18</sup> reported that five patients in Brazil with dengue virus infection and severe thrombocytopenia who were treated with IVIG (500 mg/kg daily infusions for 5 days) improved their platelet counts and clinical signs. However, the only randomized trial published to date evaluating the effect of IVIG on thrombocytopenia associated with dengue infection has shown disappointing results.<sup>19</sup> In this study, patients (mostly children) with acute infection and thrombocytopenia (20,000-80,000/mm<sup>2</sup>) were randomized to receive either IVIG (0.4g/kg/day for 3 days, n = 15) or placebo (n = 16). Despite the small number of patients in this study, the results show that IVIG seems to have no effect on platelet counts, which suggests that many factors other than platelet clearance by macrophages via Fc-y receptors are responsible for thrombocytopenia associated with dengue infection. Another explanation for the lack of efficiency of IVIG in reversing thrombocytopenia could emerge from the observation that during a dengue epidemic in Taiwan in 1998/1999, the auto-reactive antibodies to platelets were of IgM and not IgG isotype.<sup>20</sup> Generally, inefficiency of IVIG in the treatment of severe thrombocytopenia associated with secondary infection by DV suggests that the clearance of platelets by macrophages via a Fc receptor-dependent pathway is not a primary mechanism of thrombocytopenia in secondary dengue virus infection. In addition to the possible effects attributed to the interactions between IVIG and Fc-y receptors, these immunoglobulins may interfere with the process of infection and/or the cascades inducing cytokine production.<sup>21,22</sup> Indeed, it was shown that IVIG selectively triggers the production of receptor antagonist of IL-1 (IL-1ra).<sup>22</sup>

Other immune mechanisms have also been proposed to be responsible for the clearance of platelets, since the levels of complement activation correlated with disease severity.<sup>23-26</sup> Activation of the complement system can be either (1) protective by limiting

viral replication, increasing the virus elimination and inhibiting the antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE); or (2) deleterious following an exacerbated inflammatory response.<sup>27</sup> Bokisch et al. reported on an accelerated complement consumption and a marked reduction in plasma complement components during shock in patients with dengue shock syndrome (DSS).<sup>28</sup> This led to the proposal that complement activation plays an important role in disease pathogenesis<sup>28</sup> and Avirutnan et al. proposed that the major nonstructural DV protein, NS1, is involved in complement activation.<sup>29</sup> A prospective study measuring viral load, the concentration of the viral NS1 protein, and serum complement-activation products in 163 samples from patients infected with DV and 16 patients with other febrile illnesses concluded that NS1 protein in serum is implicated in complement activation. The concentration of viral NS1 protein in plasma and that of the terminal complement complex, SC5b-9, correlate with progression and severity of the disease.<sup>29</sup> Recently, in contrast with this first report, the same author associated with another group reported that viral NS1, which accumulates in blood and is displayed on the surface of infected cells, is implicated in immune evasion.<sup>30</sup> Indeed, the NS1 protein inhibits the classical and lectin complement activation pathways by interacting directly with C4. This interaction reduced the C4b production and thus decreased the enzymatic activity of the C3 convertase (C4b2a). Although the NS1 binds to C4b, it does not degrade C4b and does not block the formation of the C3 convertase nor accelerate the decay of C3 and C5 convertases. Instead, NS1 facilitates cleavage of the C4 protein by recruiting and activating protease C1s. NS1 allows degradation of C4 and C4b and thereby protects DV from lysis by complement.<sup>30</sup>

Circulating high levels of NS1 in the presence of pre-existing heterologous non-neutralizing antibodies may mediate complement activation and trigger plasma leakage that with hemorrhagic syndrome are the clinical features associated with dengue infection.<sup>31</sup> Other studies showed that the endothelial cell binding activity was inhibited by pretreatment with DV NS1 protein. The antibodies against NS1 produced after dengue virus infection may, at least in part, account for the cross-reactivity of patient sera with endothelial cells. Furthermore, dengue patient sera induced endothelial cell apoptosis via a caspase-dependent pathway that was also inhibited by NS1 pretreatment. In addition to apoptosis, patient sera caused cell lysis in the presence of complement, and sera from patients with shock showed higher percentages of cytotoxicity than those from dengue fever patients.<sup>32</sup>

In conclusion and despite benefits in ITP, the studies published so far do not show benefit with IVIG in preventing or treating thrombocytopenia in dengue and therefore no treatment by IVIG is recommended at this time. However, the possible beneficial effects of IVIG on vascular leakage and resultant dengue shock syndrome, one of the main complications and cause of death, remains to be clinically verified. Further studies are warranted to assess the effect of such treatment on mortality associated with the DV infection.

# Antibody Therapy for the Prevention of Severe Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a ubiquitous enveloped RNA paramyxovirus. RSV is the leading cause of bronchiolitis and viral pneumonia in infants and young children. This is a virus whose only known reservoir are human beings and whose transmission is through direct contact with infected secretions. The absence of an effective vaccine against RSV has led to testing the efficacy of preparations enriched in naturally occurring

antibodies against RSV. One named RSV-IGIV (RespiGam, MedImmune, Gaithersburg, MD) was prepared by harvesting RSV-specific immunoglobulins from pooled human plasma. This polyclonal RSV hyperimmune globulin was made from healthy human blood that had a high level of immunoglobulins against RSV without the donors having been immunized. This preparation was approved by the Federal Drug Administration (FDA) in January 1996 and indicated for treatment of infants and children under 24 mo with CLD or a history of preterm birth (< 35 weeks of gestation). The success of RSV-IGIV validated the immunoprophylaxis approach for RSV prevention and led to the development of Synagis (palivizumab; MedImmune, Gaithersburg, MD), a humanized monoclonal antibody (mAb) that binds to the RSV F protein. Palivizumab is a potent anti-RSV mAb that is about 50-fold more potent than RSV-IGIV. In mid 1998 the FDA approved the use of palivizumab. This antibody reduced the severe RSV infection of the lower respiratory tract in infants and children at high risk. Both preparations, palivizumab and RSV-IGIV, decreased the incidence of hospitalization due to RSV infections and admissions to intensive care and their effects appear to be qualitatively similar.<sup>33</sup>

# Intravenous Immunoglobulin in Immunoprophylaxis against Cytomegalovirus Infection

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a ubiquitous herpes virus that infects 60–100% of humans.<sup>34,35</sup> A primary infection occurs most often during the first 2 decades of life. In an immunocompetent person, infection is often asymptomatic or may manifest with a mild febrile illness like mononucleosis. The incidence of CMV infection is highest during the first three months after liver transplantation, particularly in the first six weeks. After pediatric liver transplantation, CMV infection is responsible for a morbidity with an incidence of 40% and a mortality rate reported as 19%. Improved diagnostic tests, immunosuppression and the treatment of CMV infection led to a significant reduction in morbidity/mortality after surgery related to this virus.<sup>36,37</sup> Three main approaches are known as preventive strategies against CMV infection in children: single ganciclovir, ganciclovir and immunoglobulins or more immunoglobulin alone.<sup>38</sup> Cytogam®, Cytomegalovirus Immune Globulin Intravenous (Human) (CMV-IGIV) is a preparation of immunoglobulins G (IgG) containing a standard amount of antibodies against CMV. These immunoglobulins are purified from human plasma of adults selected for their high titers of antibodies against the CMV and are stabilized with 5% sucrose and 1% human albumin.<sup>39</sup> However, treatment by IVIG in the prevention of disease related to CMV infection is limited to pediatric recipients of liver transplantation.<sup>40</sup> In case of solid organ transplantation in adults, the prevention strategy against CMV is mainly based on antiviral treatment with ganciclovir (intravenously for 4 to 12 weeks). However, previous studies have also demonstrated the benefits of IVIG in the case of CMV infection in adult liver transplant recipients.41

### **Intravenous Immunoglobulins and HIV Infection**

#### Naturally Occurring Antibodies against HIV Receptors and Co-Receptors

IVIG preparations have been shown to contain NAbs against several cell surface molecules, including the cluster of differentiation CD4, the  $\beta$ -chemokine (CC) receptor CCR5 (CD195) and the dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing

non-integrin molecule (DC-SIGN, CD209) of which the latter is involved in the binding of HIV-1 to dendritic cells (DCs) and in the transmission of HIV from dendritic cells to T lymphocytes.<sup>42-45</sup> In this chapter, we summarize some in vitro HIV-1 neutralization tests using antibodies to CCR5 and DC-SIGN, purified from IVIG preparations.

#### NAbs against CCR5 in HIV Infection

The role of NAbs in immune regulation has been documented by studies showing the beneficial effect of IVIG therapies in patients with autoimmune diseases. Several mechanisms of action have been reported mainly depending of the presence of NAbs against a multitude of receptors and molecules of interest in regulating the immune response in these IgG preparations. For example, it was reported that IVIG contains NAbs that recognize the cytokine receptors, CD4, CD5, integrins and selectin molecules, and the death receptor FAS (CD95).<sup>43</sup> In addition, IVIG contains NAbs directed against chemokine receptors for X4 and R5 strains, respectively.<sup>46,47</sup> Viruses using CCR5, also called R5-tropic strains, are found in the early stages of infection by HIV and thus described as responsible for mucosal transmission.<sup>48,49</sup> The importance of CCR5 in HIV transmission was demonstrated by the fact that in certain humans, the CCR5 gene has a deletion (Delta 32). Homozygous carriers of this mutation are resistant to infection by R5-tropic HIV strains.<sup>50-52</sup>

The CCR5 molecule is thus considered a potent target for therapeutic strategies aimed to block the entry of HIV.<sup>53</sup> Therefore, NAbs to CCR5, previously found in some HIV-exposed, but uninfected patients may play a protective role against HIV infection. Resistance to the HIV infection is also linked to the existence of antibodies against HLA class I, CD4 and other surface receptors.<sup>54-56</sup> Therefore, the presence of naturally occurring anti-CCR5 antibodies at the sites of viral transmission could be effective in preventing attachment and penetration of HIV. In this context, we have shown that anti-CCR5 NAbs purified from IVIG preparations were able to inhibit the infection of macrophages and CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes by R5 strains of HIV.<sup>44</sup> The anti-CCR5 IgG NAb was purified by affinity chromatography on a synthetic peptide corresponding to a 20-mer motif from the N-terminus of CCR5. The latter region is involved in the interaction with the viral glycoprotein gp120. The purified IgG NAbs were able to recognize immobilized CCR5 protein in an ELISA assay as well as the expressed protein on human macrophages and CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes. The corresponding F(ab)<sub>2</sub> fragments interacted specifically with the binding site for the natural ligand of CCR5, the Chemokine ligand 5 (CCL5), also called RANTES (Regulated upon Activation, Normal T-cell Expressed, and Secreted). Tested in vitro, anti-CCR5 NAbs isolated from IVIG were able to block infection by HIV R5 strains of cells susceptible to infection by these viral strains. No inhibitory effect was obtained on cells susceptible to infection with X4 tropic strains. The degree of inhibition was comparable to that observed with a CCR5-blocking monoclonal antibody (clone 2D7) and RANTES.<sup>41</sup> On the other hand, the presence of anti-CCR5 NAbs has been documented in sera from individuals homozygous for the CCR5 deletion (CCR5delta32), who had been repeatedly exposed to HIV. The anti-CCR5 NAbs compete with the radiolabeled ligand RANTES and blocked its binding to the CCR5 receptor and thus inhibited the infection of mononuclear cells by R5 strains, but not X4 strains.<sup>57</sup> The chimeric immunogenic peptides containing CCR5 incorporated into the capsid protein of Flock House virus makes it possible to maintain a highly immunogenic conformation of peptides. Administered to mice via systemic or mucosal pathways induces the production of anti-CCR5 from IgG and IgA isotypes in serum and vaginal secretions. In analogy with seronegative individuals exposed to HIV, these mice produce anti-CCR5 autoantibodies that significantly reduced expression levels of CCR5 on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. In vitro studies have shown that these mouse antibodies were able to (1) bind specifically to human and mice CD4, (2) reduce the expression of CCR5 on the CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell surfaces, (3) inhibit chemotaxis induced by MIP-1, another ligand of CCR5 and finally (4) block infection by R5 HIV strains. These data suggest that strategies designed to generate anti-CCR5 antibodies at the genital mucosa might be possible and allow induction of protective mucosal immunity against HIV transmission.<sup>58</sup>

Genital mucosa is the primary site of HIV transmission. R5-tropic strains are preferentially transmitted by the mucosal route. In view of the importance of CCR5 as a portal of entry, anti-CCR5 NAbs may block this HIV co-receptor in addition to modulate its surface expression on target cells and thus inhibit the infectivity of R5 strains of HIV-1.<sup>59,60</sup> After crossing the epithelial barrier, the virus spreads rapidly by contact between dendritic cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that promote HIV replication at an early stage of infection.<sup>61-63</sup> Therefore, blocking CCR5 with anti-CCR5 NAbs could inhibit the spread of R5-tropic virus in vivo. CCR5 and CXCR4 co-receptors of strains R5 and X4 tropic HIV-1, respectively, represent a potential target to block viral entry and infection of lymphocytes and macrophages in vivo. A number of monoclonal antibodies have been developed trying to block the interaction of the virus with the co-receptors.<sup>64</sup>

As described previously, IVIG contains anti-CD4 NAbs that block HIV entry.<sup>65</sup> Thus, the presence of anti-CD4 and anti-CCR5 NAbs that both block HIV infection allows the speculation that other NAbs directed against additional HIV coreceptors such as CXCR4, CCR3, CCR2b and DC-SIGN may exist.

# NAbs against DC-SIGN in HIV Infection

Immature dendritic cells (iDCs) present in mucosal tissue are among the first targets of HIV.<sup>66,67</sup> The viral particles are captured by iDCs, then transported to the lymph nodes, where the virus is transmitted efficiently to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes. The interaction of viruses with dendritic cells involves cell surface molecules such as a C-type lectin receptor, DC-SIGN.<sup>68</sup> This molecule also allows the internalization of infectious particles and their recycling to the plasma membrane prior to transmission to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes.<sup>69-71</sup> DC-SIGN (CD209), a C-type lectin, plays a crucial role in binding of HIV to the dendritic cells surface and thus the transmission of HIV to target cells. At mucosal surfaces, dendritic cells are among the first cell targets that come into contact with the virus during sexual transmission. Surface molecules such as C-type lectins facilitate the attachment of the virus at the DC surface, followed by virus internalization. The virus that remains infectious will then be transported to the lymph nodes and transmitted to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells taking advantage of the contact between dendritic cells and lymphocytes during antigen presentation. DC-SIGN is a mannose-binding C-type lectin expressed by DCs in the mucosal tissue, including the rectum, uterus and cervix.72,74 DC-SIGN is organized as an ectodomain with seven complete and one incomplete copy of a 23-residue motif and a calcium-dependent lectin domain.<sup>75</sup> Induced anti-DC-SIGN antibodies are able to inhibit the binding of viral gp120 to target cells and to block HIV transmission.<sup>70</sup> The main site to which the viral ligand gp120 binds is located at the top of the C-type lectin domain of DC-SIGN and includes two Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding sites.<sup>74,75</sup>

IVIG preparations contain NAbs against the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) of DC-SIGN. These anti-DC-SIGN NAbs inhibit HIV transmission *in trans* from DC to autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.<sup>45</sup> The NAbs were purified by affinity chromatography by using a synthetic peptide of the CRD domain, including the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-binding site 2, which is involved in HIV gp120 binding and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-binding site 1, which stabilizes the gp120 binding. Moreover, pre-incubation of virus with peptides derived from the CRD motif prevents binding of HIV to DC-SIGN-containing cells in a dose-dependent manner.<sup>45</sup> Thus, blocking the interaction of gp120 with DC-SIGN may be effective in prophylaxis or therapeutic intervention. Identification of the epitopes of the blocking antibodies against DC-SIGN provides potential targets for vaccine strategies aimed at eliciting mucosal antibodies that inhibit gp120/DC-SIGN interactions. In summary, these observations suggest that affinity purified anti-CCR5 and anti-DC-SIGN NAbs from IVIG could be exploited therapeutically (see Fig. 1).



**Figure 1.** Involvement of DC-SIGN molecule in HIV infection. DC-SIGN is involved in both possible pathways of infection, namely the "cis- and trans-infection." The "cis-infection" comprises dendritic cell infection and/or internalization of infectious viral particles followed by provirus replication and exocytosis of conserved infectious particles. During the antigen presentation through the immunological synapse formation, DC transmit the virus to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes. The importance of DC-SIGN and CCR5 in these mechanisms makes them potential targets of therapeutic strategies using NAbs that bind to these receptors and thereby may block HIV virus infection.

# **IVIG Treatment in HIV-Infected Patients**

Several lines of evidence suggest the existence of other immunopathogenic factors during HIV infection such as increased TNF- $\alpha$  activity.<sup>76</sup> The TNF- $\alpha$  activity may enhance HIV-1 replication and may be implicated in development of immunodeficiency clinical manifestations in HIV-1-infected patients.<sup>77</sup> In the same way, a clear association between activation of the TNF system in vivo and the progression of clinical disease in HIV-1-seropositive patients was reported.<sup>78,79</sup> These elements underline that one possible therapeutic strategies would be to reduce the activity of the TNF system by IVIG adminstration.<sup>80,81</sup> In vivo, it has been suggested that IVIG infusion in patients with primary hypogammaglobulinemia induces increased plasma levels of soluble TNF receptors (sTNFR),<sup>82</sup> which in turn may block various biologic effects mediated by TNF- $\alpha$ .<sup>83,84</sup>

The action of TNF- $\alpha$  is mediated through binding to specific cell surface receptors (p55- and p75-TNFR), and the level of expression of these membrane-bound TNFR is evidently also of importance for the activity of TNF- $\alpha$ .<sup>85</sup> The in vivo down-modulation of TNF- $\alpha$  activity by IVIG administration has been reported in an experimental autoimmune encephalitis model.<sup>81</sup> These studies may provide pointers suggesting potential beneficial effects of IVIG in HIV-1-infected patients. However, placebo-controlled studies are needed to study the possible therapeutic role of IVIG as an immunomodulating agent in combination with antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1 infected children. The effects of IVIG administration (400 mg per kilogram every 28 d) were compared with those of placebo (0.1% albumin) on CD4<sup>+</sup> lymphocyte count variation in HIV-infected children. CD4<sup>+</sup> counts were measured at entry and every 12 weeks. Analysis showed that the CD4<sup>+</sup> count declines by 13.5 cells/mm3 per month in IVIG as compared with the placebo recipients, suggesting beneficial effects of IVIG on the immunodeficiency in HIV-1-infected patients.<sup>86</sup>

The outlook for HIV-1-infected individuals has improved since the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in mid-1990s.<sup>87,88</sup> However, the use of HAART is limited by toxicity, high costs, the need for strict adherence to the medication, and the risk of development of viral resistance against the antiretroviral drugs. HAART suppresses viral replication and indirectly prevents the loss of CD4 and thereby decreases the antigenic activation of the immune system. An alternative therapeutic strategy would be to reduce directly the activation status of the immune system without affecting viral replication. Several immunosuppressive agents have been used for this purpose, such as hydroxurea<sup>89</sup> thalidomide,<sup>90</sup> and cyclosporine A,<sup>91</sup> but have not given interesting results for different reasons.

In another study, six HAART-naive adults with chronic HIV-1 infection were included in an open label and single center study to evaluate the effect of IVIG on the state of chronic immune activation and the plasma viral load (pVL). Patients were treated with IVIG (at a dosage of 400 mg/kg body weight, at week 0 and 4) which was well tolerated. Treatment with IVIG resulted in a small and temporary decrease in T-cell activation.<sup>92</sup> Unfortunately, the limited number of patients and the lack of a control group do not allow recommendations on the use of IVIG as an immunomodulatory agent in inhibiting immune activation. Even though the IVIG effects observed in this study were relatively small as compared with the HAART effects, the immunomodulating therapy by IVIG administration to the chronic HIV-infected patients could contribute to a prolonged asymptomatic phase. Additional trials should be performed to evaluate whether an immunomodulating therapy can indeed be effective in reducing immune activation and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell decline, thus delaying clinical progression with or without HAART.

In HIV-1-infected patients, studies have indicated beneficial effects of IVIG treatment on certain HIV-1 related complications, such as recurrent bacterial infections and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura<sup>93</sup> since evidence was obtained that IVIG decreased the number of serious bacterial infections in HIV-infected children before the availability of zidovudine.<sup>94</sup> The therapeutic management with IVIG has been tested in HIV-positive children. Indeed, in randomized double-blind clinical trials on children with AIDS who received zidovudine as therapy, the effect of IVIG was compared with that of placebo and revealed a decreased risk of bacterial infections in the IVIG group. This effect is only possible in patients not receiving prophylactic treatment against opportunistic infections, trimethoprim-sulfa-methoxazole.<sup>95</sup> Unfortunately, none of the recent studies has evaluated the IVIG therapy in children or adults with AIDS who received the HAART treatment. Although some evidence has been obtained for a prophylactic IVIG treatment in HIV-infected patients to decrease the frequency of serious infections, these data remain controversial as these studies did not take into account the concomitant trimethoprim-sulfa-methoxazole prophylactic treatment.<sup>96</sup> Thus, at the present time, the prophylactic use of IVIG to prevent the occurrence of recurrent bacterial infections in HIV-infected adults cannot be recommended.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, all cited examples illustrate the importance of NAbs in the control of infection. In addition to the well-established role as a first line defense, the naturally occurring antibodies have proven of value in limiting a wide range of bacterial and viral infections in therapeutic settings. Extensive studies on the mechanisms of action of IVIG in autoimmune and inflammatory conditions for the past two decades have revealed that the beneficial effect underlying the anti-infectious properties of NAbs may extend well beyond their ability to neutralize toxins, immobilize microorganisms, neutralize bacterial/viral activity, agglutinate, precipitate and activate complement. Indeed, NAbs may exert anti-infectious roles by their ability to prevent the binding of pathogens to their receptors by virtue of their anti-receptor specificities and by interacting with the cellular compartment of the immune system to enhance the immunostimulatory adjuvant effect. Further research will help in defining the methods of therapeutic exploitation of the anti-infectious properties of NAbs.

### REFERENCES

- Coutinho A, Kazatchkine MD, Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies. Curr Opin Immunol 1995; 7:812-8. doi:10.1016/0952-7915(95)80053-0 PMID:8679125
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA et al. Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells. Science 1999; 285:113-6. doi:10.1126/science.285.5424.113 PMID:10390361
- Ochsenbein AF, Fehr T, Lutz C et al. Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies. Science 1999; 286:2156-9. doi:10.1126/science.286.5447.2156 PMID:10591647
- Bartlett JG, Perl TM. The new Clostridium difficile-what does it mean? N Engl J Med 2005; 353:2503-5. doi:10.1056/NEJMe058221 PMID:16322604
- Wilcox MH. Descriptive study of intravenous immunoglobulin for the treatment of recurrent Clostridium difficile diarrhea. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004; 53:882-4. doi:10.1093/jac/dkh176 PMID:15073160
- McPherson S, Rees CJ, Ellis R et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin for the treatment of severe, refractory, and recurrent Clostridium difficile diarrhea. Dis Colon Rectum 2006; 49:640-5. doi:10.1007/s10350-006-0511-8 PMID:16525744

- Hassett J, Meyers S, McFarland L et al. Recurrent Clostridium difficile infection in a patient with selective IgG1 deficiency treated with intravenous immune globulin and Saccharomyces boulardii. Clin Infect Dis 1995; 20:S266-8. doi:10.1093/clinids/20.Supplement\_2.S266 PMID:7548571
- Gerding DN, Muto CA, Owens RC Jr. Treatment of Clostridium difficile infection. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 46:S32-42. doi:10.1086/521860 PMID:18177219
- WHO. Dengue haemorrhagic fever: diagnosis, treatment, prevention and control. 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1997.
- 10. Halstead SB. Dengue. Lancet 2007; 370:1644-52. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61687-0 PMID:17993365
- Schexneider KI, Reedy EA. Thrombocytopenia in dengue fever. Curr Hematol Rep 2005; 4:145-8. PMID:15720964
- 12. McMillan R. Chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. N Engl J Med 1981; 304:1135-47. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198105073041904 PMID:7012619
- Cines DB, Blanchette VS. Immune thrombocytopenic purpura. N Engl J Med 2002; 346:995-1008. doi:10.1056/NEJMra010501 PMID:11919310
- 14. Oishi K, Inoue S, Cinco MT et al. Correlation between increased platelet-associated IgG and thrombocytopenia in secondary dengue virus infections. J Med Virol 2003; 71:259-64. doi:10.1002/jmv.10478 PMID:12938201
- Saito M, Oishi K, Inoue S et al. Association of increased platelet-associated immunoglobulins with thrombocytopenia and the severity of disease in secondary dengue virus infections. Clin Exp Immunol 2004; 138:299-303. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02626.x PMID:15498040
- Honda S, Saito M, Dimaano EM et al. Increased Phagocytosis of Platelets from Patients with Secondary Dengue Virus Infection by Human Macrophages. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2009; 80:841-5. PMID:19407135
- Ascher DP, Laws HF, Haves CG. The use of intravenous gammaglobulin in dengue fever, a case report. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1989; 20:549-54. PMID:2484144
- Ostronoff M, Ostronoff F, Florencio R et al. Serious thrombocytopenia due to dengue hemorrhagic fever treated with high dosages of immunoglobulin. Clin Infect Dis 2003; 36:1623-4. doi:10.1086/374870 PMID:12802766
- Dimaano EM, Saito M, Honda S et al. Lack of efficacy of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin treatment of severe thrombocytopenia in patients with secondary dengue virus infection. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:1135-8. PMID:18165536
- 20. Lin CF, Lei HY, Liu CC et al. Generation of IgM anti-platelet autoantibody in dengue patients. J Med Virol 2001; 63:143-9. doi:10.1002/1096-9071(20000201)63:2<143::AID-JMV1009>3.0.CO;2-L PMID:11170051
- Sibéril S, Elluru SR, Negi VS et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in autoimmune andinflammatory diseases: more than mere transfer of antibodies. Transfus Apheresis Sci 2007; 37:103-7 doi:10.1016/j. transci.2007.01.012.
- Andersson U, Bjork L, Skansen-Saphir U et al. Pooled human IgG modulates cytokine production in lymphocytes and monocytes. Immunol Rev 1994; 139:21-42. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1994.tb00855.x PMID:7927412
- Cines DB, Bussel JB, Liebman HA et al. The ITP syndrome: pathogenic and clinical diversity. Blood 2009; 113:6511-21. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-01-129155 PMID:19395674
- 24. Avirutnan P, Punyanadee N, Noisaran S et al. Vascular leakage in severe dengue virus infections: a potential role for the nonstructural viral protein NS1 and complement. J Infect Dis 2006; 193:1078-88. doi:10.1086/500949 PMID:16544248
- 25. Kurane I. Dengue hemorrhagic fever with special emphasis on immunopathogenesis. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2007; 30:329-40. doi:10.1016/j.cimid.2007.05.010 PMID:17645944
- Malasit P. Complement and dengue hemorrhagic fever/dengue shock syndrome. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1987; 18:316-20. PMID:3501613
- Morrison TE, Heise MT. The host complement system and arbovirus pathogenesis. Curr Drug Targets 2008; 9:165-72. doi:10.2174/138945008783502485 PMID:18288968
- Bokisch VA, Muller-Eberhard HJ, Dixon FJ. The role of complement in hemorrhagic shock syndrome (dengue). Trans Assoc Am Physicians 1973; 86:102-10. PMID:4132983
- Avirutnan P, Punyadee N, Noisakran S et al. Vascular leakage in severe dengue virus infections: a potential role for the nonstructural viral protein NS1 and complement. J Infect Dis 2006; 193:1078-88. doi:10.1086/500949 PMID:16544248
- Avirutnan P, Fuchs A, Hauhart RE et al. Antagonism of the complement component C4 by flavivirus nonstructural protein NS1. J Exp Med 2010; 207:793-806. doi:10.1084/jem.20092545 PMID:20308361
- Green S, Rothman A. Immunopathological mechanisms in dengue and dengue hemorrhagic fever. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2006; 19:429-36. doi:10.1097/01.qco.0000244047.31135.fa PMID:16940865
- 32. Lin CF, Lei HY, Shiau AL et al. Antibodies from dengue patient sera cross-react with endothelial cells and induce damage. J Med Virol 2003; 69:82-90. doi:10.1002/jmv.10261 PMID:12436482

- 33. Morris SK, Dzolganovski B, Beyene J et al. A meta-analysis of the effect of antibody therapy for the prevention of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. BMC Infect Dis 2009; 9:106-14. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-9-106 PMID:19575815
- 34. Razonable RR, Emery VC. Management of CMV infection and disease in transplant patients. Herpes 2004; 11:77-86. PMID:15960905
- Razonable RR, Paya CV. Herpesvirus infections in transplant recipients: current challenges in the clinical management of cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infections. Herpes 2003; 10:60-5. PMID:14759337
- Bowman JS, Green M, Scnatlebury V et al. OKT3 and viral disease in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Clin Transplant 1991; 5:294-300. PMID:21170278
- 37. Gane E, Saliba F, Valdecasea G et al. Randomised trial of efficiacy and safety of oral ganciclovir in the prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in liver transplant recipients. Lancet 1997; 350:1729-33. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(97)05535-9 PMID:9413463
- Campbell AL, Herold BC. Strategies for the prevention of cytomegalovirus infection and disease in pediatric liver transplantation recipients. Pediatr Transplant 2004; 8:619-27. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3046.2004.00242.x PMID:15598337
- Snydman DR, McIver J, Leszczynski J et al. A pilot trial of a novel cytomegalovirus immune globulin in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 1984; 38:553-7. doi:10.1097/00007890-198411000-00026 PMID:6093299
- 40. Green M. Viral infections and pediatric liver transplantation. Pediatr Transplant 2002; 6:20-4. doi:10.1034/ j.1399-3046.2002.1p048.x PMID:11906638
- Snydman DR, Werner BG, Dougherty NN et al. Cytomegalovirus immune globulin prophylaxis in liver transplantation. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1993; 119:984-91. PMID:8214995
- 42. Hurez V, Kaveri SV, Mouhoub A et al. Anti-CD4 activity of normal human immunoglobulin G for therapeutic use (intravenous immunoglobulin, IVIG). Ther Immunol 1994; 1:269-77. PMID:7584501
- 43. Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Immunomodulation of auto- immune and inflammatory diseases with intravenous immune globulin. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:747-55. doi:10.1056/NEJMra993360 PMID:11547745
- 44. Bouhlal H, Hocini H, Quillent-Gregoire C et al. Antibodies to C-C chemokine receptor 5 in normal human IgG block infection of macrophages and lymphocytes with primary R5-tropic strains of HIV-1. J Immunol 2001; 166:7606-11. PMID:11390517
- 45. Requena M, Bouhlal H, Nasreddine N et al. Inhibition of HIV-1 transmission in trans from dendritic cells to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes by natural antibodies to the CRD domain of DC-SIGN purified from breast milk and intravenous immunoglobulins. Immunology 2008; 123:508-18. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02717.x PMID:17999675
- 46. Moore JP, Trkola A, Dragic T. Co-receptors for HIV-1 entry. Curr Opin Immunol 1997; 9:551-62. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(97)80110-0 PMID:9287172
- 47. Deng, H., Liu R, Ellmeier W et al. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 1996; 381:661-6. doi:10.1038/381661a0 PMID:8649511
- 48. van't Wout AB, Kootstra NA, Mulder-Kampinga GA et al. Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission. J Clin Invest 1994; 94:2060-7. doi:10.1172/JCI117560 PMID:7962552
- Connor RI, Sheridan KE, Ceradini D et al. Change in coreceptor use correlates with disease progression in HIV-1-infected individuals. J Exp Med 1997; 185:621-8. doi:10.1084/jem.185.4.621 PMID:9034141
- 50. Rana S, Besson G, Cook DG et al. Role of CCR5 in infection of primary macrophages and lymphocytes by macrophage-tropic strains of human immunodeficiency virus: resistance to patient-derived and prototype isolates re- sulting from the ccr5 mutation. J Virol 1997; 71:3219-27. PMID:9060685
- Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ et al. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature 1996; 382:722-5. doi:10.1038/382722a0 PMID:8751444
- 52. Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S et al. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. Cell 1996; 86:367-77. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80110-5 PMID:8756719
- Cairns JS, D'Souza MP. Chemokines and HIV-1 second receptors: the therapeutic connection. Nat Med 1998; 4:563-8. doi:10.1038/nm0598-563 PMID:9585229
- 54. Clerici M, Barassi C, Devito C et al. Serum IgA of HIV-exposed uninfected individuals inhibit HIV through recognition of a region within the alpha-helix of gp41. AIDS 2002; 16:1731-41. doi:10.1097/00002030-200209060-00004 PMID:12218383
- 55. Lopalco L, Pastori C, Cosma A et al. Anti-cell antibodies in exposed seronegative individuals with HIV type 1-neutralizing activity. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2000; 16:109-15. doi:10.1089/088922200309458 PMID:10659050

- 56. Lopalco L, Magnani Z, Confetti C et al. Anti-CD4 antibodies in exposed seronegative adults and in newborns of HIV type 1-seropositive mothers: a follow-up study. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1999; 15:1079-85. doi:10.1089/088922299310377 PMID:10461828
- 57. Ditzel HJ, Rosenkilde MM, Garred P et al. The CCR5 receptor acts as an alloantigen in CCR5∆32 homozygous individuals: identification of chemokine and HIV-1-blocking human antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:5241-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.9.5241 PMID:9560260
- Barassi C, Soprana E, Pastori C et al. Induction of murine mucosal CCR5-reactive antibodies as an anti-human immunodeficiency virus strategy. J Virol 2005; 79:6848-58. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.11.6848-6858.2005 PMID:15890924
- 59. Royce RA, Sena A, Cates W et al. Sexual transmission of HIV. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:1072-8. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199704103361507 PMID:9091805
- Reece JC, Handley AJ, Anstee EJ et al. HIV-1 selection by epidermal dendritic cells during trans- mission across human skin. J Exp Med 1998; 187:1623-31. doi:10.1084/jem.187.10.1623 PMID:9584140
- Kahn JO, Walker BD. Acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N Engl J Med 1998; 339:33-9. doi:10.1056/NEJM199807023390107 PMID:9647878
- 62. Hirsch VM, Sharkey ME, Brown CR et al. Vpx is required for dissemination and pathogenesis of SIV(SM) PBj: evidence of macrophage-dependent viral amplification. Nat Med 1998; 4:1401-8. doi:10.1038/3992 PMID:9846578
- Zhang Z, Schuler T, Zupancic M et al. Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells. Science 1999; 286:1353-7. doi:10.1126/science.286.5443.1353 PMID:10558989
- 64. Olson WC, Rabut GE, Nagashima KA et al. Differential inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion, gp120 binding, and CC-chemokine activity by monoclonal antibodies to CCR5. J Virol 1999; 73:4145-55. PMID:10196311
- Hurez V, Kaveri SV, Mouhoub A et al. Anti-CD4 activity of normal human immunoglobulins G for therapeutic use (intravenous immunoglobulin, IVIG). Ther Immunol 1994; 1:269-77. PMID:7584501
- Piguet V, Blauvelt A. Essential roles for dendritic cells in the pathogenesis and potential treatment of HIV disease. J Invest Dermatol 2002; 119:365-9. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.01840.x PMID:12190858
- Belyakov IM, Berzofsky JA. Immunobiology of mucosal HIV infection and the basis for development of a new generation of mucosal AIDS vaccines. Immunity 2004; 20:247-53. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00053-6 PMID:15030769
- Turville SG, Arthos J, Donald KM et al. HIV gp120 receptors on human dendritic cells. Blood 2001; 98:2482-8. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.8.2482 PMID:11588046
- Moris A, Nobile C, Buseyne F et al. DC-SIGN promotes exogenous MHC-I-restricted HIV-1 antigen presentation. Blood 2004; 103:2648-54. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-07-2532 PMID:14576049
- Buseyne F, Le Gall S, Boccaccio C et al. MHC-I-restricted presentation of HIV-1 virion antigens without viral replication. Nat Med 2001; 7:344-9. doi:10.1038/85493 PMID:11231634
- Geijtenbeek TB, Engering A, Van Kooyk Y. DC-SIGN, a C-type lectin on dendritic cells that unveils many aspects of dendritic cell biology. J Leukoc Biol 2002; 71:921-31. PMID:12050176
- Geijtenbeek TB, Kwon DS, Torensma R et al. DC-SIGN, a dendritic cell-specific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances trans-infection of T cells. Cell 2000; 100:587-97. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80694-7 PMID:10721995
- 73. Jameson B, Baribaud F, Pohlmann S et al. Expression of DC-SIGN by dendritic cells of intestinal and genital mucosae in humans and rhesus macaques. J Virol 2002; 76:1866-75. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.4.1866-1875.2002 PMID:11799181
- 74. Geijtenbeek TB, Torensma R, van Vliet SJ et al. Identification of DC-SIGN, a novel dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 receptor that supports primary immune responses. Cell 2000; 100:575-85. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80693-5 PMID:10721994
- Geijtenbeek TB, van Duijnhoven GC, van Vliet SJ et al. Identification of different binding sites in the dendritic cell-specific receptor DC-SIGN for intercellular adhesion molecule 3 and HIV-1. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:11314-20. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111532200 PMID:11799126
- Dalgleish AG. The immune response to HIV: potential for immunotherapy? Immunol Today 1995; 16:356-8. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(95)80156-1 PMID:7576075
- Matsuyama T, Kobayashi N, Yamamoto N. Cytokines and HIV infection: is AIDS a tumor necrosis factor disease? AIDS 1991; 5:1405-17. doi:10.1097/00002030-199112000-00001 PMID:1814326
- Aukrust P, Liabakk NB, Muller F et al. Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a) and soluble TNF receptors in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. Correlation to clinical, immunologic, and virologic parameters. J Infect Dis 1994; 169:420-4. doi:10.1093/infdis/169.2.420 PMID:7906293
- 79. Godfried MH, van der Poll T, Weverling GJ et al. Soluble receptors for tumor necrosis factor as predictor of progression to AIDS in asymptomatic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Infect Dis 1994; 169:739-45. doi:10.1093/infdis/169.4.739 PMID:7907641

- Aukrust P, Frøland SS, Liabakk NB et al. Release of cytokines, soluble cytokine receptors, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist after intravenous immunoglobulin administration in vivo. Blood 1994; 84:2136-43. PMID:7919327
- Achiron A, Margalit R, Hershkoviz R et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment of experimental T-cell– mediated autoimmune disease. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:600-5. doi:10.1172/JCI117012 PMID:8113397
- Aukrust P, Frøland SS, Liabakk NB et al. Release of cytokines, soluble cytokine receptors, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist after intravenous immunoglobulin administration in vivo. Blood 1994; 84:2136-43. PMID:7919327
- Olsson I, Lantz M, Nilsson E et al. Isolation and characterization of a tumor necrosis factor binding protein from human urine. Eur J Haematol 1989; 42:270-5. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0609.1989.tb00111.x PMID:2924890
- 84. Van Zee KJ, Kohno T, Fischer E et al. Tumor necrosis factor soluble receptors circulate during experimental and clinical inflammation and protect against excessive tumor necrosis factor-a in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992; 89:4845-9. PMID:1317575
- 85. Vandenabeele P, Declercq W, Beyaert R et al. Two tumor necrosis factor receptors: structure and function. Trends Cell Biol 1995; 5:392-9. doi:10.1016/S0962-8924(00)89088-1 PMID:14732063
- Mofenson LM, Bethel J, Moye J et al. Effect of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) on CD4/ lymphocyte decline in HIV infected children in a clinical trial of IVIG infection prophylaxis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1993; 6:1103-13. PMID:8105072
- Palella FJJ, Delaney KM, Moorman AC et al. Declining mor- bidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 1998; 338:853-60. doi:10.1056/NEJM199803263381301 PMID:9516219
- Mocroft A, Ledergerber B, Katlama C et al. Decline in the AIDS and death rates in the EuroSIDA study: An observational study. Lancet 2003; 362:22-9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13802-0 PMID:12853195
- Rutschmann OT, Opravil M, Iten A et al. A placebo-controlled trial of didanosine plus stavudine, with and without hydroxyurea, for HIV infection. The Swiss HIV Cohort Study. AIDS 1998; 12:F71-7. doi:10.1097/0002030-199808000-00003 PMID:9631134
- 90. Kaplan G, Thomas S, Fierer DS et al. Thalidomide for the treat- ment of AIDS-associated wasting. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2000; 16:1345-55. doi:10.1089/08892220050140892 PMID:11018854
- Rizzardi GP, Vaccarezza M, Capiluppi B et al. Cyclosporin A in combination with HAART in primary HIV-1 infection. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 2000; 14:79-81. PMID:10763900
- 92. Vermeulen JN, Prins JM, Bunnik E et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) treatment for modulation of immune activation in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infected therapy-naive individuals. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2007; 23:1348-53. doi:10.1089/aid.2006.0210 PMID:18184076
- Yap PL. Does intravenous immune globulin have a role in HIV-infected patients? Clin Exp Immunol 1994; 97(suppl 1):59-67. PMID:8033437
- Mofenson LM, Moye JJr., Bethel J et al. Prophylactic intravenous immunoglobulin in HIV-infected children with CD4b counts of 0.20 x 10(9)/L or more. Effect on viral, opportunistic, and bacterial infections. JAMA 1992; 268:483-8. doi:10.1001/jama.268.4.483 PMID:1352363
- 95. Spector SA, Gelber RD, McGrath N et al. A controlled trial of intravenous immune globulin for the prevention of serious bacterial infections in children receiving zidovudine for advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:1181-7. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199411033311802 PMID:7935655
- 96. Kiehl MG, Stoll R, Broder M et al. controlled trial of intravenous immune globulin for the prevention of serious infections in adults with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156:2545-50. doi:10.1001/archinte.156.22.2545 PMID:8951297

SECTION II

# NAbs MODULATING AND REGULATING CELLS OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

# CHAPTER 9

# IMMUNOREGULATION BY NATURALLY OCCURRING AND DISEASE-ASSOCIATED AUTOANTIBODIES:

# Binding to Cytokines and Their Role in Regulation of T-Cell Responses

# Claus H. Nielsen\* and Klaus Bendtzen

Institute for Inflammation Research, Department of Rheumatology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark \*Corresponding Author: Claus H. Nielsen—Email: claus.henrik.nielsen@rh.regionh.dk

Abstract: The role of naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) in homeostasis and in disease manifestations is poorly understood. In the present chapter, we review how NAbs may interfere with the cytokine network and how NAbs, through formation of complement-activating immune complexes with soluble self-antigens, may promote the uptake and presentation of self-molecules by antigen-presenting cells. Both naturally occurring and disease-associated autoantibodies against a variety of cytokines have been reported, including NAbs against interleukin (IL)-1α, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interferon (IFN)- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , macrophage chemotactic protein-1 and IL-21. NAbs against a variety of other self-antigens have also been reported, and using thyroglobulin as an example we discuss how NAbs are capable of promoting uptake of immune complexes via complement receptors and Fc-receptors on antigen-presenting cells and thereby regulate T-cell activity. Knowledge of the influence of NAbs against cytokines on immune homeostasis is likely to have wide-ranging implications both in understanding pathogenesis and in treatment of many immunoinflammatory disorders, including a number of autoimmune and autoinflammatory diseases.

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

#### IMMUNOREGULATION BY NAbs AND DAbs

# INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring antibodies play an essential role in our defense against invading microorganisms by directly neutralizing viruses and bacteria, by activating the complement system and by enhancement of phagocytosis, as described elsewhere in this book and in reference 1. In contrast, naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) are characterized by binding to self-molecules, and their primary function may involve clearance of senescent cells and metabolic waste products, but they also appear to play important roles in immunoinflammatory processes.<sup>2-6</sup> In the present chapter, we shall focus on the immunomodulatory effects that self-reactive NAbs may have as a result of interactions with cytokines or formation of complement-activating immune complexes (ICs) with other soluble self-antigens and targeting these self-antigens to B cells and presumably other antigen-presenting cells (APCs).

NAbs have been shown to bind a variety of self-molecules, ranging from cytokines and other plasma proteins to tissue-specific antigens, structural proteins, metabolic enzymes, heat shock proteins and DNA (Tables 1 and 2). Some NAbs, including those reacting with various cytokines and thyroglobulin (TG), are relatively specific, while others, e.g., IgM anti-DNA antibodies of all species, tend to be polyreactive.<sup>7</sup> NAbs exist as IgM, IgA and IgG isotypes. The occurrence of the IgG isotype among NAbs is indicative of T-cell involvement in shaping of the autoreactive B-cell repertoire.<sup>8-10</sup> IgM NAbs are already synthesized in newborns, and different babies produce IgM NAbs to a similar set of self-molecules.<sup>10</sup>

# AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST CYTOKINES

Several reports have documented the presence of autoantibodies against cytokines both in healthy individuals (NAbs) and in patients with various immunoinflammatory disorders (disease-associated autoantibodies, DAbs) (Table 1). In most cases, the physiological and/or pathological significance of these antibodies is unclear. However, recent evidence suggests that certain anti-cytokine NAbs have significant, if not decisive, pathogenic roles in rare disorders (reviewed in refs. 9, 11, 12).

#### Naturally Occurring Autoantibodies against Cytokines

The biological roles of NAbs against cytokines are poorly understood. Fab fragments of some of these NAbs bind in a saturable and highly specific manner to their respective cytokine. as for example in the cases of NAbs to IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6 and GM-CSF.<sup>9</sup> In some cases, these antibodies are found at levels at or above 50 nM, for example in healthy blood donors and apparently without untoward effects.<sup>13</sup>

Why and how high-affinity NAbs to some cytokines and not to others are induced in healthy individuals is unknown. Also obscure is whether these in vitro neutralizing antibodies neutralize their respective cytokines in vivo too, or whether they exhibit carrier- or cytokine-regulatory, or even cytokine-protective functions.<sup>5</sup>

### NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES (NAbs)

NAbs against Cytokine	DAbs against Cytokine	Disease Association
Type 1 interferons	Type 1 interferons	
IFN-α/β	IFN-α/β/ω	Viral infections, autoimmune and neoplastic diseases, chronic graft-vshost disease, thymoma, myasthenia gravis, autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome Type I
Type 2 interferons	<i>Type 2 interferons</i>	
IFN-γ	IFN-γ	Viral and mycobacterial infections, multiple sclerosis, Guillain Barré syndrome
Interleukins	Interleukins	
IL-1α	IL-1α	Rheumatoid arthritis, juvenile chronic arthritis, thymoma, myasthenia gravis
IL-2 IL-3	IL-2	inflammatory bowel diseases
IL-6	IL-6	Rheumatoid, arthritis, systemic sclerosis, alcoholic cirrhosis, Type 2 diabetes
IL-10	IL-10 IL-12p35 and IL-12p40	Inflammatory bowel diseases Thymoma, myasthenia gravis
	IL-17A, IL-17F	Thymoma, myasthenia gravis, autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome Type I
IL-21	IL-22	Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome Type I
Growth factors	Growth factors	
GM-CSF G-CSF	GM-CSF G-CSF	Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis Felty's syndrome (rheumatoid arthritis),
TGF-β NGF	TGF-β	systemic lupus erythematosus Inflammatory bowel diseases
Other cytokines	Other cytokines	
LIF TNF-α		
Chemokines	Chemokines	
IL-8	IL-8	Acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome
MCP-1	MIP-α/β	HIV infection

Table 1. Selected cytokines to which naturally occurring autoantibodies have been reported<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Abbreviations: NAbs: naturally occurring autoantibodies; DAbs: disease-associated autoantibodies; IFN: interferon; IL: interleukin; GM-CSF: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; G-CSF: granulocyte colony-stimulating factor; TGF: transforming growth factor; NGF: nerve growth factor; LIF: leukemia inhibitory factor; TNF: tumor necrosis factor; MCP: monocyte chemotactic protein; MIP: macrophage inflammatory protein.

-F	
Acetylcholinesterase <sup>10</sup>	HLA class I <sup>96</sup>
Actin <sup>8,76,87-89</sup>	Hsp40 <sup>10</sup>
Albumin <sup>10,87-89</sup>	Hsp47 <sup>10</sup>
Anion transport protein (band 3) <sup>3</sup>	Hsp60 peptides <sup>10</sup>
Annexin <sup>10</sup>	Hsp90 <sup>97</sup>
Beta-galactosidase90	$IgG^{91}$
Beta2-crystallin <sup>10</sup>	Insulin <sup>90</sup>
Beta2-microglobulin <sup>10</sup>	Keratin <sup>8,10,88</sup>
Cardiolipin <sup>91</sup>	Laminin <sup>94</sup>
Catalase <sup>10</sup>	LDL <sup>10</sup>
CD4 <sup>76</sup>	MOG <sup>10</sup>
Chorionic gonadotropin <sup>10</sup>	Myelin basic protein <sup>65,89</sup>
Collagen <sup>88,92</sup>	Myoglobulin <sup>8,76,87-89,94</sup>
Cytochrome c <sup>88</sup>	Myosin <sup>10,89,94</sup>
dsDNA <sup>8,10,76,89,93,94</sup>	Prolactin <sup>89</sup>
Factor II <sup>10</sup>	Protease <sup>10</sup>
Factor VIII <sup>95</sup>	Pyruvate dehydrogenase91
Factor X <sup>10</sup>	Spectrin <sup>93</sup>
Fetuin <sup>87</sup>	ssDNA <sup>10,91</sup>
Fibrin <sup>10</sup>	T-cell receptors <sup>98</sup>
Fibrinogen <sup>10</sup>	Thyroglobulin <sup>10,58,76,77,79,80,87-89,94,99</sup>
GAD <sup>10</sup>	Thyroid peroxidase <sup>84,89,100</sup>
Galectin 1 and -3 <sup>10</sup>	Transferrin <sup>8,76,87,88</sup>
Geisolin <sup>10</sup>	Tubulin <sup>8,87-89,93</sup>
Hemoglobin- $\alpha^{10}$	Ubiquitin <sup>10</sup>

 Table 2. Selected self-antigens to which naturally occurring autoantibodies have been reported<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The table is not complete with respect to reported antigens and references.

# NAbs against Type 1 and Type 2 Interferons

Low levels of IgG and IgM capable of neutralizing IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$  and IFN- $\gamma$  have been detected in blood of apparently healthy individuals (as reviewed in refs. 14, 15). IgG NAbs against IFN- $\alpha$  are especially frequent, and are easily detectable in pharmaceutical preparations of normal human IgG (IVIG). NAbs against IFN- $\alpha$  have been found in approximately 10% of healthy Caucasians, but the exact frequency is likely to be higher, as these NAbs are often difficult to detect in plasma because they are complexed with native IFN- $\alpha$ .<sup>16</sup> IgG NAbs against IFN- $\alpha$  are of high avidity and specific, as they do not cross-bind IFN- $\beta$  or other cytokines. NAbs to IFN- $\alpha$  have been demonstrated in vivo in bioactive form after treatment with IVIG.<sup>17</sup> As these NAbs neutralize IFN- $\alpha$ , IVIG therapy suppresses both antiviral and other effects of endogenous IFN- $\alpha$ , which may explain some of the many therapeutic effects of IVIG.<sup>5,14,17,18</sup>

# NAbs against Interleukin-1 $\alpha$

NAbs to interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  were first found by direct binding of IgG from normal individuals to radiolabeled, human, recombinant IL-1 $\alpha$  and by IgG-mediated competitive

interference with IL-1 $\alpha$  binding to cellular IL-1 receptors.<sup>19</sup> Subsequently, human IVIG, cord blood and sera of patients with various immunoinflammatory disorders were found to contain high-avidity autoantibodies that bind to and neutralize IL-1 $\alpha$  both in vitro and in vivo.<sup>5,9,17,18,20-22</sup> They bind IL-1 $\alpha$  in a saturable fashion and through the Fab fragments of the IgG isotypes IgG1, IgG2 and IgG4. The occurrence of detectable anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  IgG in sera of healthy individuals vary with age and sex with male preponderance and markedly increased frequency with age (up to 75% positives among elderly males).<sup>16,19,22</sup>

A human anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  autoantibody has been cloned.<sup>23</sup> It is an IgG4/ $\kappa$  monoclonal antibody which reacts with IL-1 $\alpha$ , but not with IL-1 $\beta$ , the IL-1-receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) or several other cytokines. It binds with high affinity (K<sub>d</sub> »10<sup>-10</sup> M), and the presence of somatic mutations in the variable regions suggests antigen-driven affinity maturation.

As IL-1 $\alpha$  from antigen presenting cells is an important co-activator of T cells, particularly in its membrane-bound form, it is important to note that anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  NAbs not only neutralize IL-1 $\alpha$  in lysates of human blood monocytes, but also membrane-associated IL-1 $\alpha$  activity.<sup>21</sup>

#### NAbs against Interleukin-6

IgG NAbs to IL-6 were first reported in sera of normal individuals.<sup>24</sup> Since then, the presence of NAbs to IL-6 and similar antibodies in patients with immunoinflammatory and fibrotic diseases has been confirmed (reviewed in refs. 9, 11, 14, 15). High-affinity IgG NAbs to IL-6 have been detected in up to 15% of normal Danish blood donors with 1% having titers ranging from 64 to greater than 10,000 and 0.1% having exceedingly high titers.<sup>13</sup> The anti-IL-6 NAbs bind to IL-6 through their Fab fragments and they effectively inhibit binding of IL-6 to IL-6 receptors and, hence, neutralize the bioactivity of IL-6. NAb-positive donors with high antibody titers have no overt signs of pathology even though they are likely to be functionally IL-6-deficient. NAbs to IL-6 are detectable in IVIG and are found in bioactive form, binding IL-6 in the circulation following IVIG administration.<sup>17</sup>

#### NAbs against Interleukin-10

IgG NAbs against IL-10 have been reported in normal sera and in preparations of pooled normal human IgG.<sup>15,25</sup> Indeed, 0.4% of healthy Danish blood donors present with these NAbs at such high concentrations and avidity that these blood donors are functionally IL-10-deficient.<sup>26</sup> These NAbs are of the IgG isotype and of polyclonal origin. They prevent IL-10 from binding to its receptor thereby neutralizing IL-10 bioactivity. Anti-IL-10 NAbs are highly specific in that they fail to bind viral forms of IL-10 and other members of the human IL-10 family including IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, IL-26, IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29.

# NAbs against Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor

Using a direct radioligand binding assay, high-affinity NAbs to granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) were reported at very high titers in 4 of 1,238 (0.3%) apparently healthy blood donors.<sup>15</sup> Later, all of 72 tested, apparently

#### **IMMUNOREGULATION BY NAbs AND DAbs**

healthy Japanese individuals were shown to possess low levels of these NAbs such that more than 99% of GM-CSF were bound and neutralized by these antibodies.<sup>27</sup> Anti-GM-CSF NAbs have also been found in human IVIG.<sup>9,18</sup>

#### NAbs against XXC- and CC Chemokines

NAbs to various chemokines have also been reported. For example, IL-8- and macrophage chemotactic protein (MCP)-1-containing IgG-immune complexes have been demonstrated in sera from healthy individuals, where the chemokines themselves are usually not detected. It is hypothesized that circulating IgG NAbs to chemokines may play a role as a sink for the spill-over of chemokines produced in local tissues.<sup>28</sup>

### NAbs against Other Cytokines

IgG NAbs to other cytokines, for example IL-2, IL-3, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), nerve growth factor (NGF), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , and soluble TNF receptors have also been reported in normal and diseased individuals, while IgE antibodies to IL-4, TNF- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\beta$  and various chemokines have been reported in sera of AIDS patients. Some of both isotypes, however, cannot be regarded as NAbs in that they bind the relevant mediator(s) with low avidities and in some cases bind only to cytokines denatured by adsorption to nitrocellulose membranes or plastic surfaces (using ELISA-technologies).

### Disease-Associated Autoantibodies against Cytokines (DAbs)

Anti-cytokine DAbs have been reported in a wide range of pathological disorders, suggesting that pathogenetically obscure diseases may eventually be at least partly explained by the presence of anti-cytokine DAbs (reviewed in refs. 9, 11, 12).

### DAbs against Type 1 and Type 2 Interferons

Anti-Type 1 interferon (IFN) DAbs, preferentially of IgG type, were first reported in patients with varicella-zoster and hepatitis virus infections, in patients with autoimmune and neoplastic diseases, and in a patient with chronic graft-vs.-host disease (reviewed in refs. 1 5, 14, 15, 29, 30). Later reports have documented DAbs that bind to other IFN species, usually in patients with various infectious diseases or severe immunodeficiencies.

Neutralizing DAbs against IFN- $\alpha/\beta/\omega$  have been demonstrated primarily in patients with thymoma and/or myasthenia gravis.<sup>31</sup> However, patients with thymic malignancy/ myasthenia gravis have also been reported to express DAbs to a variety of other cytokines including, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-12 p35 and IL-12p40, and IL-17A.<sup>31</sup>

High-titer DAbs against IFN- $\alpha$ 2 and IFN- $\omega$  have been reported in 100% of European patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome Type I (APS-I).<sup>32</sup> This disease is a result of mutations in the autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE), which impairs thymic self-tolerance induction in developing T cells. The ensuing autoimmunity particularly targets ectodermal and endocrine tissues, but chronic candidiasis is a frequent and early manifestation. Although the underlying immunodeficiency of APS-1 is unclear,

neutralizing anti-IFN DAbs and, most recently, anti-IL-17A and anti-IL-22 DAbs appear to be implicated directly in the pathogenesis, as they appear before development of candidiasis in all informative cases.<sup>33,34</sup>

Anti-IFN- $\gamma$  DAbs have been reported in patients with viral infections and in cerebrospinal fluids from patients with multiple sclerosis and Guillain Barré syndrome (reviewed in ref. 15). Circulating DAbs to IFN- $\gamma$  have also been positively correlated with the severity of both tuberculous and nontuberculous mycobacterial infections (reviewed in ref. 11). It is characteristic that patients with extremely high antibody titers had rapidly progressive disease and severe immunodeficiency, most likely due to DAb-induced blockade of the crucial macrophage-activating effect of IFN- $\gamma$ .

#### DAbs against Interleukin-1 $\alpha$

Although IL-1 $\alpha$  is secreted from cells producing the cytokine, the dominant form of IL-1 $\alpha$  appears to be the cell-associated precursor form that is found both intracellularly and on the surface of many cell types, including keratinocytes and 'professional' APCs such as macrophages and B cells. On these cells IL-1 $\alpha$  is thought to be involved as a juxtacrine co-activator of T cells.<sup>9</sup> IL-1 $\alpha$  is usually absent in the circulation, if present then only at low concentrations. During infection and inflammation, however, substantial amounts of IL-1 $\alpha$  may be found in the blood, most likely released from dying cells.

Cell-associated IL-1 $\alpha$  is biologically active, and its biological activities are neutralized by antibodies to IL-1 $\alpha$ , including IgG anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  NAbs, but not by antibodies against IL-1 $\beta$ .<sup>21</sup>

The prevalence of DAbs to IL-1 $\alpha$  in immunoinflammatory disorders vary considerably. For example, anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  DAbs have been found more commonly and at higher levels in patients with non-destructive forms of arthritis.<sup>35</sup> Progression of joint destruction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis was negatively associated with the occurrence of circulating IL-1 $\alpha$  DAbs, but patients who seroconverted more than two years after the onset of RA showed the most aggressive development of joint erosion. Interestingly, transgenic mice overexpressing the membrane form of human IL-1 $\alpha$  in macrophage-like and fibroblast-like synoviocytes develop severe arthritis, correlating with the degree of membrane expression of IL-1 $\alpha$ , but not circulating IL-1 $\alpha$ .<sup>36</sup> Taken together, this suggests that IL-1 $\alpha$  and/or the lack of IL-1 $\alpha$  DAbs play a role in the erosive processes of rheumatoid arthritis. Along with DAbs to other cytokines, anti-IL-1 $\alpha$  DAbs have also been demonstrated in patients with juvenile chronic arthritis, thymoma and myasthenia gravis.<sup>22,31</sup>

#### DAbs against Interleukin-6

There is an increased prevalence of high-avidity IgG DAbs to IL-6 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and systemic sclerosis, and the presence of these antibodies signals a poor survival in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis, possibly because of an increased risk for recurrent infections.<sup>9,37,38</sup> A 2.5-fold increase in anti-IL-6 DAb-positivity has recently been reported in Type 2 diabetic patients, and mice vaccinated with IL-6 develop obesity and impaired glucose tolerance.<sup>39</sup> These data suggest that an autoimmune reaction against IL-6 may be involved in a subset of Type 2 diabetics.

#### **IMMUNOREGULATION BY NAbs AND DAbs**

# DAbs against Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor

Anti-GM-CSF DAbs are of clinical interest not only because of GM-CSF's growth-potentiating effect on macrophages and granulocytes, but also because GM-CSF appears to be a central mediator affecting bronchial epithelial cells, possibly through its marked effect on eosinophils, both as a chemoattractant, growth promoter and stimulator. In accordance with results obtained in GM-CSF knockout mice, anti-GM-CSF DAbs have been associated with pulmonary alveolar proteinosis (PAP), a rare disease in which surfactant lipids and proteins accumulate in pulmonary alveolar macrophages and alveoli, resulting in respiratory insufficiency and failure.<sup>40</sup> Recently, isolated anti-GMCSF DAbs from a patient with PAP were shown to reproduce the pathologic manifestations of the human disease in previously healthy primates.<sup>41</sup> These findings may have therapeutic implications for the potential use of GM-CSF not only to treat PAP, but also other immunoinflammatory respiratory disorders such as asthma.

## DAbs against Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor

IgG DAbs to granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) have been demonstrated in Felty's syndrome, a relatively rare complication in rheumatoid arthritis, and in some patients suffering from systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) with accompanying neutropenia.<sup>42</sup> IgM antibodies were found in 6 neutropenic and 3 normocytic SLE patients. Interestingly, anti-G-CSF antibodies were associated with an exaggerated serum level of G-CSF and a low neutrophil count. This may suggest that exposure to high levels of intrinsic G-CSF (not known whether bioinactive) may trigger the production of G-CSF DAbs and, further, that these DAbs may have a carrier function in vivo thus slowing the elimination of G-CSF from the circulation.<sup>5</sup>

#### DAbs against Other Cytokines

Using radioimmune and radioreceptor assays, DAbs against macrophage-inhibitory protein (MIP)-1 $\alpha$  and MIP-1 $\beta$  have been demonstrated in about 1% of patients, suffering from HIV infection.<sup>43</sup> These antibodies specifically inhibited receptor binding of both chemokines; there was no association between the presence of antibodies and disease stage, or HIV progression rate.

IgG DAbs against IL-2, IL-10 and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) have recently been demonstrated at relatively high concentrations in up to 33% of patients with inflammatory bowel diseases using ELISA and Western blot assays.<sup>44</sup>

Neutralizing DAbs against IL-12 p35 and IL-12p40 have been demonstrated primarily in patients with thymoma and/or myasthenia gravis.<sup>31</sup> Indeed, patients with thymic malignancy/myasthenia gravis express DAbs to a variety of other cytokines including IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ , IFN- $\omega$ , IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-17A.<sup>31,45</sup> Interestingly, among these patients those with opportunistic infections possess multiple anti-cytokine DAbs, suggesting that these antibodies may be important in the pathogenesis of infections in patients with thymic malignancy.

Most patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome Type I suffer from chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis, and this immunodeficiency was recently associated with high titers of DAbs against IL-17A, IL-17F, and/or IL-22.<sup>46</sup> The DAbs against IL-17A, IL-17F

and IL-22 neutralized these cytokines, but not a host of other cytokines. As these DAbs were not found in healthy controls nor in 102 patients with other immunoinflammatory disorders, DAbs against IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22 may have a causative relationship with the development of chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in patients with this polyendocrine syndrome.

Anti-IL-8 DAbs, often complexed with endogenous IL-8, have been shown to be an important prognostic indicator for the development and outcome of acute lung injury/ acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS).<sup>47</sup> The IL-8/anti-IL-8 complexes purified from lung edema fluids activate and trigger chemotaxis of neutrophils and regulate neutrophil apoptosis via IgG receptor  $Fc\gamma RIIa$ . These ICs promote an inflammatory phenotype of human umbilical vein endothelial cells, and they upregulate the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 on the cell surface. Lung tissues from patients with ARDS also express high levels of ICAM-1. Hence, IL-8/anti-IL-8 complexes may contribute to pathogenesis of lung inflammation by inducing activation of endothelial cells through engagement of IgG receptors.

### Therapy-Induced Autoantibodies to Cytokines (TAbs)

Anti-cytokine TAbs may develop in response to prolonged therapies with natural and recombinant-derived human cytokines. It is unclear whether preexisting anti-cytokine NAbs play a role in this regard, but they are probably not without importance, considering the high avidity and high titers of some of these NAbs (discussed above). In general, however, TAbs develop over time as a result of repeated 'inoculations' with cytokines. They may wax and wane, change in affinity, give rise to side-effects, and/or influence the primary intended therapy.

The development of neutralizing TAbs was first noted in scattered patients undergoing therapies with human fibroblast-derived IFN- $\beta$  and human recombinant IFN- $\alpha$ .<sup>48-51</sup> This finding received little attention at that time, but the increased use of recombinant human cytokines and cytokine constructs for therapeutic purposes have sharpened the awareness of the clinical importance of anti-cytokine TAbs.<sup>52-54</sup> Thus, induction of TAbs has now been reported in patients treated with several human recombinant cytokines and growth factors including IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, GM-CSF, often resulting in therapeutic failure and in rare cases even in serious side-effects (reviewed in refs. 9, 15, 55).

# IMMUNOREGULATORY NAbs AGAINST NON-CYTOKINE SELF-ANTIGENS

While the above-mentioned anti-cytokine NAbs are immunoregulatory by nature, there is evidence to suggest that NAbs against other self-antigens may also be immunoregulatory, as we shall describe in the following.

NAbs against a broad variety of self-antigens has been demonstrated (Table 2), but their physiological functions, if any, has not been fully elucidated. While some of these NAbs have been suggested to play a role in the clearance of senescent cells and metabolic waste products, their role in maintenance (or breakage) of tolerance toward self remains obscure.<sup>2-4</sup>

One mechanism by which NAbs against soluble self-antigens may play a regulatory role is by targeting self-antigens to APCs and thereby affecting self-antigen presentation

to T cells. It is likely that NAbs of IgG isotype are capable of directing captured self-antigens to  $Fc\gamma$ -receptor expressing APCs.<sup>56</sup> Similarly, NAbs of IgM or IgA isotype may direct self-antigens to B cells and macrophages, expressing the  $Fc\alpha/\mu$  receptor.<sup>57</sup> All these events may promote presentation of self-antigens to autoreactive T cells.

One of the self-antigens against which NAbs have been most frequently described is thyroglobulin (TG). In a serum-free environment, a subset comprising 2–4% of normal, circulating B cells is capable of binding TG (this subset presumably represents B cells with polyreactive surface immunoglobulins), while TG binds to the entire B-cell population in the presence of autologous serum.<sup>58</sup> The binding can be substantially inhibited by immunoabsorption of TG-reactive autoantibodies from serum or by heat inactivation of serum complement, suggesting that formation of complement-activating ICs promoted the binding of TG to the B cells. In accordance with this hypothesis, blockade of complement receptors 1 (CR1/CD35) and 2 (CR2/CD21) reduced the binding of TG to B cells by > 90%, and addition of TG to preparations of normal mononuclear cells suspended in sera from healthy individuals lead to increased deposition of C3-fragments on B cells.<sup>58,59</sup> In accordance with these findings using TG as model self-antigen. Thornton et al. showed that normal serum contains NAbs with reactivity against the primary antigen keyhole limpet hemocyanin, and that ICs formed with these NAbs are capable of fixing fragments of complement component 3 (C3) and bind to B cells via CR1 and CR2 (Fig. 1B).<sup>60,61</sup> They further demonstrated that expression of the T-cell co-stimulatory molecule CD80 by B cells required a secondary ligation of IC-associated IgG to FcyRII.60

It is widely accepted that B cells bearing specific antigen-receptors efficiently take up and present antigens to T cells (Fig. 1A).<sup>62</sup> As outlined, non-specific B cells may also engage in antigen presentation provided for the antigen in question is incorporated in complement-opsonized ICs and thereby targeted to CR1, CR2 and FcyRII (Fig. 1B).<sup>60,61,63,64</sup> This recruitment of non-specific B cells increases the number of antigen-presenting B cells from a few antigen-specific ones to the entire B-cell population. However, only B cells bearing specific antigen receptors are eventually stimulated by T-helper (Th) cells for antibody production.<sup>61</sup> Thornton et al. also showed that iC3b-containing TG/NAb complexes were also taken up by neutrophils, via complement receptors CR1 and CR3 (CD11b/CD18), indicating that the formation of ICs with NAbs may also be similarly important for the uptake of self-antigens by myeloid cells (of relevance for dendritic cells).<sup>60</sup> Taken together, these findings suggest that antigen presentation is strongly promoted by incorporation of antigens into complement-activating ICs with NAbs. Correspondingly, the presentation of TG on B cells is proportional to the anti-TG NAb content of the surrounding serum, and is thus considerably higher in the presence of sera from patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) or Graves' disease (GD) with a high content of anti-TG, as compared with sera from healthy individuals.

In analogous studies using myelin basic protein (MBP) as self-antigen, we found that sera from patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) and sera from healthy individuals contained approximately equal concentrations of MBP-reactive IgM.<sup>65</sup> Upon addition of MBP to normal mononuclear cells suspended in patient or control sera, MBP co-deposited with IgM, IgG and C3-fragments on monocytes. While the deposition of IgM and C3 was approximately similar in patient and control sera, the IgG deposition was increased 9-fold in the presence of MS sera, presumably due to the presence of circulating high-affinity IgG DAbs in the patients. Notably,


**Figure 1.** Antigen-presentation by antigen-specific and -nonspecific B cells. B cells may serve as antigen-presenting cells by two routes: A) Antigen-specific B cells take up minute amounts of antigen by virtue of the B-cell antigen receptor (BCR), degrade the antigen into peptides, which are incorporated into major histocompatibility complex class II molecules (MHC II), presented on the cell surface and recognized by T-cell receptors (TCR) of T helper (Th) cells. This, together with co-stimulatory signals mediated through the CD80/CD86–CD28 pathway and others, activates the Th cells. B) Antigen-nonspecific B cells, however, may also contribute to presentation of a given antigen, provided that the antigen is found in complement-activating immune complexes (ICs) generated by preexisting NAbs and/or DAbs. Attached to the ICs, the final degradation product of complement component 3 (C3dg) may bind to complement receptor 2 (CR2) on B cells, which then take up antigen, process it, and present antigen peptides on MHC class II molecules. C3-opsonized NAb/DAb-containing ICs may also be taken up by Fc $\gamma$  receptor IIB (Fc $\gamma$ RIIB). This latter type of interaction stimulates the CD80-dependent binding to Th cells.

the deposition of C3 fragments as well as that of IgM and MBP on monocytes was abrogated by disruption of the tertiary structure of MBP by boiling, as would be expected if complex formation depends upon the interaction of antibodies with conformational epitopes on MBP.

#### **REGULATION OF T-CELL RESPONSES BY NAbs AND COMPLEMENT**

In the presence of untreated serum, even CD4<sup>+</sup> Th cells from healthy individuals respond to a challenge with TG at high concentrations ( $\geq 10 \,\mu$ g/ml), although TG induces increased responses by Th cells (and B cells) from patients with autoimmune thyroid disease.<sup>58,66</sup> Inactivation of serum complement, immunoabsorption of TG-reactive NAbs or disruption of the tertiary structure of TG by boiling.significantly inhibits the TG-induced Th cell proliferation and production of T-cell cytokines such as IL-2 and IL-5. This suggests that Th cell responses to self-antigens are strongly influenced by formation of ICs between the self-antigens and NAbs. Presumably, NAbs target self-antigens to APCs, as has been shown for polyclonal antibodies to foreign antigens, as well as for DAbs to the thyroid self-antigen, thyroid peroxidase (TPO).<sup>67-69</sup>

Moreover, recruitment of T cells to the site of infection may also be influenced by NAbs and complement. Askenase and Tsuji demonstrated that T-cell-dependent contact sensitivity responses to hapten and subsequent rises in local IFN- $\gamma$  levels were absent in pan B-cell- and antibody-deficient mice, but could be restored by adoptive transfer of purified normal peritoneal B-1 cells, or by i.v. injection of antigen-specific IgM monoclonal antibodies.<sup>70</sup> They concluded that the contact sensitivity response was initiated by the formation of complement-activating ICs between hapten and naturally occurring IgM antibodies, followed by complement activation and C5a-mediated release of vasoactive substances by mast cells, facilitating the recruitment of T cells.

It remains to be clarified whether IC-formation with NAbs contributes to maintenance of tolerance, or whether it promotes breakage of tolerance. In mononuclear cell cultures from healthy individuals, grown in media containing autologous serum (30% v/v), TG induces immediate production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-10 by mononuclear cells, followed by an almost exclusive production of IL-10, a regulatory cytokine with a protective role in autoimmune diseases.<sup>71,72</sup> A subset of T cells with a CD45RO memory phenotype seems to orchestrate this IL-10 production, suggesting that the TG-driven T-cell response in healthy individuals is protective and contributes to the maintenance of tolerance.<sup>72</sup> By comparison, the foreign antigen tetanus toxoid induces no IL-10 production, but instead a mixed pro-inflammatory Th1/Th2-response (IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4 and IL-5) under similar conditions.<sup>72</sup> An absolute requirement for an intact tertiary structure of TG and MBP for induction of an IL-10 release by mononuclear cells supports a role for NAbs in maintaining tolerance.<sup>65,73</sup>

#### DIFFERENCES BETWEEN AUTOANTIBODIES IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

NAbs and DAbs against cytokines and other self-antigens as discussed here, differ from one another in terms of isotype distribution and epitope recognition patterns. For example, in autoimmune thyroid disease most of the anti-TG activity is associated with IgG, with only ~1% in the form of IgM, whereas TG-reactive NAbs are predominantly of IgM isotype. Nevertheless, as much as 0.3% of IgG in IVIG preparations for intravenous use are reactive with TG or cytokines such as IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-6.<sup>9,13,74,75</sup> There is also evidence to suggest that the antibody recognition patterns of NAbs differ from those of DAbs. For example, the latter are more restricted in idiotypes and less polyreactive than NAbs.<sup>76</sup> A certain idiotype, T44 Id, is associated with autoimmune thyroid disease and recognizes one of at least six epitopic clusters on human TG, designated region II.<sup>77,78</sup> DAbs derived from sera of patients with Hashimoto's thyreoiditis and Graves' disease recognize primarily region II and occasionally another region (region IV).<sup>79</sup> By contrast, NAbs frequently react with region V and rarely with region II.<sup>80</sup> Thus, recognition of region V may reflect the normal homeostatic recognition of TG.

Interestingly, the reactivity against particular epitopes commonly recognized by both NAbs and DAbs seems to change with aging, without affecting the total IgG anti-TG autoreactivity.<sup>80</sup> We have recently demonstrated that NAbs to thyroid peroxidase (TPO) show a quantitatively different recognition pattern than DAbs from patients with HT. Anti-TPO NAbs recognize an immunodominant region involving two conformational, overlapping epitopes on TPO, referred to as immunodominant regions A (IDR-A) and -B (IDR-B).81,82 In HT, approximately 50% of anti-TPO DAbs are directed to the IDR-B epitope, while DAbs against the IDR-A and non-A/non-B regions are approximately equally distributed.<sup>83</sup> TPO-reactive NAbs, on the other hand, contain a significantly lower proportion of antibodies to IDR-A.<sup>84</sup> Interestingly, the propensity to produce autoantibodies directed against the IDR-A epitope of TPO seems to be inherited. We recently demonstrated that HT patients and their healthy, monozygotic co-twins had higher proportions of IDR-A-reactive anti-TPO antibodies (medians 19% and 18%, respectively) than healthy ordinary siblings to HT patients (9%) and euthyroid controls with no family history of HT (0%).<sup>85</sup> These data confirmed the findings by Jaume et al. based on family studies that IDR-recognition patterns were genetically transmitted.<sup>86</sup> In other words, the propensity to produce certain DAb reactivities may be inherited. Further studies are required to determine whether this applies to DAbs in general.

#### CONCLUSION

We have reviewed the immonoregulatory role of NAbs with special focus on autoantibodies against cytokines and other soluble self-antigens. Based on numerous publications, we and others believe that NAbs against cytokines and other self-molecules may in many cases contribute to homeostasis, and that DAbs may contribute to disease manifestations, in some instances perhaps as causative pathogenetic factors. These diseases likely include both autoimmune and autoinflammatory conditions. Moreover, TAbs may neutralize the effect of a number of "biologic" drugs and give rise to side-effects

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Ochsenbein AF, Fehr T, Lutz C et al. Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies. Science 1999; 286:2156-9. PMID:10591647 doi:10.1126/science.286.5447.2156
- Grabar P. Hypothesis. Auto-antibodies and immunological theories: an analytical review. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1975; 4:453-66. PMID:1239347 doi:10.1016/0090-1229(75)90087-2
- Lutz HU, Flepp R, Stringaro-Wipf G. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to exoplasmic and cryptic regions of band 3 protein, the major integral membrane protein of human red blood cells. J Immunol 1984; 133:2610-8. PMID:6481164
- Lutz HU, Bussolino F, Flepp R et al. Naturally occurring anti-band-3 antibodies and complement together mediate phagocytosis of oxidatively stressed human erythrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:7368-72. PMID:3313392 doi:10.1073/pnas.84.21.7368
- Bendtzen K, Svenson M, Jønsson V et al. Autoantibodies to cytokines friends or foes? Immunol Today 1990; 11:167-9. PMID:2186750 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(90)90068-K
- Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies: From "horror autotoxicus" to "gnothi seauton". Immunol Today 1991; 12:154-9. PMID:1715166
- Marchalonis JJ, Kaveri S, Lacroix-Desmazes S et al. Natural recognition repertoire and the evolutionary emergence of the combinatorial immune system. FASEB J 2002; 16:842-8. PMID:12039866 doi:10.1096/fj.01-0953hyp

#### IMMUNOREGULATION BY NAbs AND DAbs

- Mirilas P, Fesel C, Guilbert B et al. Natural antibodies in childhood: development, individual stability, and injury effect indicate a contribution to immune memory. J Clin Immunol 1999; 19:109-15. PMID:10226885 doi:10.1023/A:1020554500266
- Bendtzen K, Svenson M. Cytokine autoantibodies. In: Shoenfeld Y, Meroni PL, Gershwin ME, eds. Autoantibodies. Elsevier Press, 2007:299-307.
- Merbl Y, Zucker-Toledano M, Quintana FJ et al. Newborn humans manifest autoantibodies to defined self molecules detected by antigen microarray informatics. J Clin Invest 2007; 117:712-8. PMID:17332892 doi:10.1172/JCI29943
- Watanabe M, Uchida K, Nakagaki K et al. High avidity cytokine autoantibodies in health and disease: pathogenesis and mechanisms. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2010; 21:263-73. PMID:20417147 doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.03.003
- Browne SK, Holland SM. Anticytokine autoantibodies in infectious diseases: pathogenesis and mechanisms. Lancet Infect Dis 2010; 10:875-85. PMID:21109174 doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70196-1
- Galle P, Svenson M, Bendtzen K et al. High levels of neutralizing IL-6 autoantibodies in 0.1% of apparently healthy blood donors. Eur J Immunol 2004; 34:3267-75. PMID:15368270 doi:10.1002/eji.200425268
- Bendtzen K, Hansen MB, Ross C et al. High-avidity autoantibodies to cytokines. Immunol Today 1998; 19:209-11. PMID:9613037 doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01252-3
- Bendtzen K, Ross C, Hansen MB et al. Natural and induced anti-cytokine antibodies. In: Ciliberto G, Savino R, eds. Cytokine inhibitors. New York: Marcel Dekker, 2000:53-95.
- Bendtzen K, Hansen MB, Ross C et al. Detection of autoantibodies to cytokines. Mol Biotechnol 2000; 14:251-61. PMID:10890016 doi:10.1385/MB:14:3:251
- Ross C, Svenson M, Nielsen H et al. Increased in vivo antibody activity against interferon a, interleukin-1alpha, and interleukin-6 after high-dose Ig therapy. Blood 1997; 90:2376-80. PMID:9310488
- Wadhwa M, Meager A, Dilger P et al. Neutralizing antibodies to granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-1alpha and interferon-alpha but not other cytokines in human immunoglobulin preparations. Immunology 2000; 99:113-23. PMID:10651949 doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2000.00949.x
- Svenson M, Poulsen LK, Fomsgaard A et al. IgG autoantibodies against interleukin 1a in sera of normal individuals. Scand J Immunol 1989; 29:489-92. PMID:2785711 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1989.tb01149.x
- 20. Svenson M, Hansen MB, Bendtzen K. Distribution and characterization of autoantibodies to interleukin 1a in normal human sera. Scand J Immunol 1990; 32:695-701. PMID:2270440 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1990. tb03212.x
- Svenson M, Hansen MB, Kayser L et al. Effects of human anti-IL-1alpha autoantibodies on receptor binding and biological activities of IL-1. Cytokine 1992; 4:125-33. PMID:1385986 doi:10.1016/1043-4666(92)90047-U
- 22. Müller K, Hansen MB, Zak M et al. Autoantibodies to IL-1alpha in sera from umbilical cords, children, and adults, and from patients with juvenile chronic arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol 1996; 25:164-7. PMID:8668960 doi:10.3109/03009749609080008
- 23. Garrone P, Djossou O, Fossiez F et al. Generation and characterization of a human monoclonal autoantibody that acts as a high affinity interleukin-1alpha specific inhibitor. Mol Immunol 1996; 33:649-58. PMID:8760277 doi:10.1016/0161-5890(96)00017-X
- Hansen MB, Svenson M, Diamant M et al. Anti-interleukin-6 antibodies in normal human serum. Scand J Immunol 1991; 33:777-81. PMID:2047765 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1991.tb02552.x
- Bendtzen K, Hansen MB, Diamant M et al. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to interleukin-lalpha, interleukin-6, interleukin-10 and interferon-alpha. J Interferon Res 1994; 14:157-8. PMID:7822860 doi:10.1089/jir.1994.14.157
- 26. de Lemos Rieper C, Galle P, Pedersen BK et al. A state of acquired IL-10 deficiency in 0.4% of Danish blood donors. Cytokine 2010; 51:286-93. PMID:20638860 doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2010.06.009
- Uchida K, Nakata K, Suzuki T et al. Granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor autoantibodies and myeloid cell immune functions in healthy subjects. Blood 2009; 113:2547-56. PMID:19282464
- Leonard EJ. Plasma chemokine and chemokine-autoantibody complexes in health and disease. Methods 1996; 10:150-7. PMID:8812657 doi:10.1006/meth.1996.0089
- Prümmer O, Seyfarth C, Scherbaum A et al. Interferon-alpha antibodies in autoimmune diseases. J Interferon Res 1989; 9(Suppl. 1):S67-74. PMID:2681443
- 30. Meager A. Natural autoantibodies to interferons. J Interferon Cytokine Res 1997; 17(Suppl. 1):S51-3. PMID:9241617
- 31. Meager A, Wadhwa M, Dilger P et al. Anti-cytokine autoantibodies in autoimmunity: preponderance of neutralizing autoantibodies against interferon-alpha, interferon-omega and interleukin-12 in patients with thymoma and/or myasthenia gravis. Clin Exp Immunol 2003; 132:128-36. PMID:12653847 doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.02113.x
- 32. Meloni A, Furcas M, Cetani F et al. Autoantibodies against type I interferons as an additional diagnostic criterion for autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93:4389-97. PMID:18728167 doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0935

- 33. Kisand K, Link M, Wolff AS et al. Interferon autoantibodies associated with AIRE deficiency decrease the expression of IFN-stimulated genes. Blood 2008; 112:2657-66. PMID:18606876 doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-03-144634
- 34. Kisand K, Boe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. J Exp Med 2010; 207:299-308. PMID:20123959 doi:10.1084/jem.20091669
- 35. Graudal NA, Svenson M, Tarp U et al. Autoantibodies against interleukin 1alpha in rheumatoid arthritis: Association with long-term radiographic outcome. Ann Rheum Dis 2002; 61:598-602. PMID:12079899 doi:10.1136/ard.61.7.598
- Niki Y, Yamada H, Kikuchi T et al. Membrane-associated IL-1 contributes to chronic synovitis and cartilage destruction in human IL-1 alpha transgenic mice. J Immunol 2004; 172:577-84. PMID:14688369
- 37. Homann C, Hansen MB, Graudal N et al. Anti-interleukin-6 autoantibodies in plasma are associated with an increased frequency of infections and increased mortality of patients with alcoholic cirrhosis. Scand J Immunol 1996; 44:623-9. PMID:8972745 doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-344.x
- Graudal N, Jürgens G, Jurik AG et al. Autoantibodies against interleukin-6 in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology 2001; 40:25.
- Fosgerau K, Galle P, Hansen T et al. Interleukin-6 autoantibodies are involved in the pathogenesis of a subset of type 2 diabetes. J Endocrinol 2010; 204:265-73. PMID:20016056 doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0413
- Uchida K, Beck DC, Yamamoto T et al. GM-CSF autoantibodies and neutrophil dysfunction in pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. N Engl J Med 2007; 356:567-79. PMID:17287477 doi:10.1056/NEJMoa062505
- Sakagami T, Beck D, Uchida K et al. Patient-derived granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor autoantibodies reproduce pulmonary alveolar proteinosis in nonhuman primates. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010; 182:49-61. PMID:20224064 doi:10.1164/rccm.201001-0008OC
- 42. Hellmich B, Csernok E, Schatz H et al. Autoantibodies against granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in Felty's syndrome and neutropenic systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46:2384-91. PMID:12355486 doi:10.1002/art.10497
- Meyer CN, Svenson M, Larsen CS et al. Low prevalence of antibodies and other plasma factors binding to CC chemokines and IL-2 in HIV-positive patients. APMIS 2000; 108:122-30. PMID:10737457 doi:10.1034/j.1600-0463.2000.d01-35.x
- 44. Ebert EC, Panja A, Das KM et al. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease may have a transforming growth factor-beta-, interleukin (IL)-2- or IL-10-deficient state induced by intrinsic neutralizing antibodies. Clin Exp Immunol 2009; 155:65-71. PMID:19076830 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03802.x
- Burbelo PD, Browne SK, Sampaio EP et al. Anti-cytokine autoantibodies are associated with opportunistic infection in patients with thymic neoplasia. Blood 2010; 116:4848-58. PMID:20716769 doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-05-286161
- Puel A, Doffinger R, Natividad A et al. Autoantibodies against IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis and autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Exp Med 2010; 207:291-7. PMID:20123958 doi:10.1084/jem.20091983
- 47. Krupa A, Fudala R, Stankowska D et al. Anti-chemokine autoantibody:chemokine immune complexes activate endothelial cells via IgG receptors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2009; 41:155-69. PMID:19109244 doi:10.1165/rcmb.2008-0183OC
- Vallbracht A, Treuner J, Flehmig B et al. Interferon-neutralizing antibodies in a patient treated with human fibroblast interferon. Nature 1981; 289:496-7. PMID:6162104 doi:10.1038/289496a0
- Otsuka S, Handa H, Yamashita J. High titer of interferon (IFN)-neutralizing antibody in a patient with glioblastoma treated with IFN-alpha. Case report. JNeurosurg 1984;61:591-3. PMID:6086859 doi:10.3171/ jns.1984.61.3.0591
- Quesada JR, Rios A, Swanson D et al. Antitumor activity of recombinant-derived interferon alpha in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1985; 3:1522-8. PMID:4056843
- Antonelli G. Development of neutralizing and binding antibodies to interferon (IFN) in patients undergoing IFN therapy. Antiviral Res 1994; 24:235-44. PMID:7526794 doi:10.1016/0166-3542(94)90070-1
- Bendtzen K. Natural and therapy-induced antibodies to cytokines. Drug Discov Today 2004; 9:259. PMID:15003242 doi:10.1016/S1359-6446(03)03004-6
- Schellekens H, Casadevall N. Immunogenicity of recombinant human proteins: causes and consequences. J Neurol 2004; 251(Suppl 2):II4-9. PMID:15264106 doi:10.1007/s00415-004-1202-9
- Bendtzen K. Critical review: Assessment of interferon-beta immunogenicity in multiple sclerosis. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2010; 30:759-66. PMID:20874253 doi:10.1089/jir.2010.0091
- Kromminga A, Schellekens H. Antibodies against erythropoietin and other protein-based therapeutics: An Overview. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005; 1050:257-65. PMID:16014541 doi:10.1196/annals.1313.027
- Nielsen CH, Brix TH, Leslie RG et al. A role for autoantibodies in enhancement of pro-inflammatory cytokine responses to a self-antigen, thyroid peroxidase. Clin Immunol 2009; 133:218-27. PMID:19726232 doi:10.1016/j.clim.2009.07.014

#### **IMMUNOREGULATION BY NAbs AND DAbs**

- Shibuya A, Sakamoto N, Shimizu Y et al. Fc alpha/mu receptor mediates endocytosis of IgM-coated microbes. Nat Immunol 2000; 1:441-6. PMID:11062505 doi:10.1038/80886
- 58. Nielsen CH, Leslie RG, Jepsen BS et al. Natural autoantibodies and complement promote the uptake of a self antigen, human thyroglobulin, by B cells and the proliferation of thyroglobulin-reactive CD4+ T cells in healthy individuals. Eur J Immunol 2001; 31:2660-8. PMID:11536164 doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200109)31:9<2660::AID-IMMU2660>3.0.CO;2-E
- Nielsen CH, Hegedüs L, Leslie RGQ. Autoantibodies in autoimmune thyroid disease promote immune complex formation with self antigens and increase B cell and CD4+ T cell proliferation in response to self antigens. Eur J Immunol 2004; 34:263-72. PMID:14971052 doi:10.1002/eji.200324413
- Thornton BP, Vetvicka V, Ross GD. Natural antibody and complement-mediated antigen processing and presentation by B lymphocytes. J Immunol 1994; 152:1727-37. PMID:8120381
- 61. Thornton BP, Vetvicka V, Ross GD. Function of C3 in a humoral response: iC3b/C3dg bound to an immune complex generated with natural antibody and a primary antigen promotes antigen uptake and the expression of co-stimulatory molecules by all B cells, but only stimulates immunoglobulin synthesis by antigen-specific B cells. Clin Exp Immunol 1996; 104:531-7. PMID:9099940 doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1996.57761.x
- Lanzavecchia A. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. Nature 1985; 314:537-9. PMID:3157869 doi:10.1038/314537a0
- 63. Arvieux J, Yssel H, Colomb MG. Antigen-bound C3b and C4b enhance antigen-presenting cell function in activation of human T-cell clones. Immunology 1988; 65:229-35. PMID:2973431
- Boackle SA, Morris MA, Holers VM et al. Complement opsonization is required for presentation of immune complexes by resting peripheral blood B cells. J Immunol 1998; 161:6537-43. PMID:9862679
- 65. Hedegaard CJ, Chen N, Sellebjerg F et al. Autoantibodies to myelin basic protein (MBP) in healthy individuals and in patients with multiple sclerosis: a role in regulating cytokine responses to MBP. Immunology 2009; 128:e451-61. PMID:19191913 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02999.x
- 66. Nielsen CH, Moeller AC, Hegedüs L et al. Self-reactive CD4(+) T cells and B cells in the blood in health and autoimmune disease: Increased frequency of thyroglobulin-reactive cells in Graves' disease. J Clin Immunol 2006; 26:126-37. PMID:16602033 doi:10.1007/s10875-006-9000-z
- 67. Celis E, Chang TW. Antibodies to hepatitis B surface antigen potentiate the response of human T lymphocyte clones to the same antigen. Science 1984; 224:297-9. PMID:6231724 doi:10.1126/science.6231724
- Perkins KA, Chain BM. Presentation by peritoneal macrophages: modulation by antibody-antigen complexes. Immunology 1986; 58:15-21. PMID:3486817
- 69. Manca F, Fenoglio D, Li Pira G et al. Effect of antigen/antibody ratio on macrophage uptake, processing, and presentation to T cells of antigen complexed with polyclonal antibodies. J Exp Med 1991; 173:37-48. PMID:1985125 doi:10.1084/jem.173.1.37
- Askenase PW, Tsuji RF. B-1 B cell IgM antibody initiates T cell elicitation of contact sensitivity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2000; 252:171-7. PMID:11125474
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL et al. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 2001; 19:683-765. PMID:11244051 doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- 72. Nielsen CH, Galdiers MP, Hedegaard CJ et al. The self-antigen, thyroglobulin, induces antigen-experienced CD4 T cells from healthy donors to proliferate and promote production of the regulatory cytokine, interleukin-10, by monocytes. Immunology 2010; 129:291-9. PMID:19845795 doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2009.03183.x
- 73. Nielsen CH, Hegedüs L, Rieneck K et al. Production of interleukin (IL)-5 and IL-10 accompanies T helper cell type 1 (Th1) cytokine responses to a major thyroid self-antigen, thyroglobulin, in health and autoimmune thyroid disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2007; 147:287-95. PMID:17223970 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03283.x
- 74. McLachlan SM, Pegg CA, Atherton MC et al. Subpopulations of thyroid autoantibody secreting lymphocytes in Graves' and Hashimoto thyroid glands. Clin Exp Immunol 1986; 65:319-28. PMID:3791700
- Bendtzen K, Svenson M, Hansen M. Autoantibodies to cytokines in IVIG. J Rheumatol 1993; 20:2176-7. PMID:8014961
- Hurez V, Dietrich G, Kaveri SV et al. Polyreactivity is a property of natural and disease-associated human autoantibodies. Scand JImmunol 1993; 38:190-6. PMID:8346418 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1993.tb01712.x
- 77. Dietrich G, Kazatchkine MD. Normal immunoglobulin G (IgG) for therapeutic use (intravenous Ig) contain antiidiotypic specificities against an immunodominant, disease-associated, cross-reactive idiotype of human anti-thyroglobulin autoantibodies. J Clin Invest 1990; 85:620-5. PMID:2312717 doi:10.1172/JCI114483
- Dietrich G, Piechaczyk M, Pau B et al. Evidence for a restricted idiotypic and epitopic specificity of anti-thyroglobulin autoantibodies in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis. Eur J Immunol 1991;21:811-4. PMID:1707008 doi:10.1002/eji.1830210340
- 79. Piechaczyk M, Bouanani M, Salhi SL et al. Antigenic domains on the human thyroglobulin molecule recognized by autoantibodies in patients' sera and by natural autoantibodies isolated from the sera of healthy subjects. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1987; 45:114-21. PMID:2441914 doi:10.1016/0090-1229(87)90117-6

- Bouanani M, Piechaczyk M, Pau B et al. Significance of the recognition of certain antigenic regions on the human thyroglobulin molecule by natural autoantibodies from healthy subjects. J Immunol 1989; 143:1129-32. PMID:2473118
- McLachlan SM, Rapoport B. Genetic and epitopic analysis of thyroid peroxidase (TPO) autoantibodies: markers of the human thyroid autoimmune response. Clin Exp Immunol 1995; 101:200-6. PMID:7544244
- 82. Gardas A, Watson PF, Hobby P et al. Human thyroid peroxidase: mapping of autoantibodies, conformational epitopes to the enzyme surface. Redox Rep 2000; 5:237-41. PMID:10994879 doi:10.1179/135100000101535681
- Jastrzebska-Bohaterewicz E, Gardas A. Proportion of antibodies to the A and B immunodominant regions of thyroid peroxidase in Graves and Hashimoto disease. Autoimmunity 2004; 37:211-6. PMID:15497454 doi:10.1080/0891693042000193339
- 84. Nielsen CH, Brix TH, Gardas A et al. Epitope recognition patterns of thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies in healthy individuals and patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2008; 69:664-8. PMID:18363888 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03245.x
- 85. Brix TH, Heged XSL, Gardas A et al. Monozygotic twin pairs discordant for Hashimoto's thyroiditis share a high proportion of thyroid peroxidase autoantibodies to the immunodominant region A. Further evidence for genetic transmission of epitopic "fingerprints". Autoimmunity 2011; 44:188-94. PMID:20883148 doi:10.3109/08916934.2010.518575
- 86. Jaume JC, Burek CL, Hoffman WH et al. Thyroid peroxidase autoantibody epitopic 'fingerprints' in juvenile Hashimoto's thyroiditis: evidence for conservation over time and in families. Clin Exp Immunol 1996; 104:115-23. PMID:8603516 doi:10.1046/j.1365-2249.1996.d01-659.x
- 87. Avrameas S, Guilbert B, Dighiero G. Natural antibodies against tubulin, actin myoglobin, thyroglobulin, fetuin, albumin and transferrin are present in normal human sera, and monoclonal immunoglobulins from multiple myeloma and Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia may express similar antibody specificities. Ann Immunol (Paris) 1981; 132C:231-6. PMID:6171189
- Guilbert B, Dighiero G, Avrameas S. Naturally occurring antibodies against nine common antigens in human sera. I. Detection, isolation and characterization. J Immunol 1982; 128:2779-87. PMID:6176652
- 89. Matsiota P, Blancher A, Doyon B et al. Comparative study of natural autoantibodies in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of normal individuals and patients with multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases. Ann Inst Pasteur Immunol 1988; 139:99-108. PMID:3258758 doi:10.1016/0769-2625(88)90134-1
- 90. Chen ZJ, Wheeler CJ, Shi W et al. Polyreactive antigen-binding B cells are the predominant cell type in the newborn B cell repertoire. Eur J Immunol 1998; 28:989-94. PMID:9541594 doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199803)28:03<989::AID-IMMU989>3.0.CO;2-1
- Ailus K, Palosuo T. IgM class autoantibodies in human cord serum. J Reprod Immunol 1995; 29:61-7. PMID:8531192 doi:10.1016/0165-0378(95)00933-C
- Birk OS, Cohen IR. T-cell autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Curr Opin Immunol 1993; 5:903-9. PMID:8297523 doi:10.1016/0952-7915(93)90104-Z
- Lutz HU, Wipf G. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to skeletal proteins from human red blood cells. J Immunol 1982; 128:1695-9. PMID: 7061846
- Vassilev TL, Veleva KV. Natural polyreactive IgA and IgM autoantibodies in human colostrum. Scand J Immunol 1996; 44:535-9. PMID:8947607 doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-333.x
- Lacroix-Desmazes S, Misra N, Bayry J et al. Autoantibodies to factor VIII. Autoimmun Rev 2002; 1:105-10. PMID:12849066 doi:10.1016/S1568-9972(01)00017-9
- 96. Kaveri S, Vassilev T, Hurez V et al. Antibodies to a conserved region of HLA class I molecules, capable of modulating CD8 T cell-mediated function, are present in pooled normal immunoglobulin for therapeutic use. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:865-9. PMID:8609246 doi:10.1172/JCI118488
- 97. Pashov A, Kenderov A, Kyurkchiev S et al. Autoantibodies to heat shock protein 90 in the human natural antibody repertoire. Int Immunol 2002; 14:453-61. PMID:11978775 doi:10.1093/intimm/14.5.453
- Robey IF, Schluter SF, Yocum DE et al. Production and characterization of monoclonal IgM autoantibodies specific for the T-cell receptor. J Protein Chem 2000; 19:9-21. PMID:10882168 doi:10.1023/A:1007086608036
- 99. Dietrich G, Pereira P, Algiman M et al. A monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody against the antigen-combining site of anti-factor VIII autoantibodies defines and idiotope that is recognized by normal human polyspecific immunoglobulins for therapeutic use (IVIg). J Autoimmun 1990; 3:547-57. PMID:1701301 doi:10.1016/ S0896-8411(05)80020-4
- 100. Jensen EA, Petersen PH, Blaabjerg O et al. Establishment of reference distributions and decision values for thyroid antibodies against thyroid peroxidase (TPOAb), thyroglobulin (TgAb) and the thyrotropin receptor (TRAb). Clin Chem Lab Med 2006; 44:991-8. PMID:16879067 doi:10.1515/CCLM.2006.166
- 101. Nielsen CH, El Fassi D, Hasselbalch HC et al. B-cell depletion with rituximab in the treatment of autoimmune diseases: Graves' ophthalmopathy the latest addition to an expanding family. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2007; 7:1061-78. PMID:17665994 doi:10.1517/14712598.7.7.1061

# CHAPTER 10

# MODULATION OF DENDRITIC CELLS AND REGULATORY T CELLS BY NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES

#### Jaap Kwekkeboom

Laboratory of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC – University Medical Centre Rotterdam, Rotterdam, The Netherlands Email: j.kwekkeboom@erasmusmc.nl

Abstract: Most studies on the effects of naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) on immune cells have been performed in the context of research on the immunomodulatory effects of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG). Among others, IVIG inhibits the differentiation, maturation and functions of dendritic cells (DC), thereby suppressing T-cell activation. In addition, IVIG stimulates expansion and suppressive function of regulatory T cells (Treg) carrying the antigens CD4, CD25 and Foxp3. Current data on the immunomodulatory effects of IVIG on DC and Treg are summarized, and possible molecular interactions between NAbs and DC or Treg that mediate these effects are discussed.

#### INTRODUCTION

Our current knowledge about the effects of NAbs on immune cells is largely derived from studies of the immunomodulatory effects of IVIG. IVIG-formulations consist of human IgG purified from a pool of plasma derived from several thousands of healthy blood donors. IVIG consists largely of IgG, with a few percents of IgA and in some preparations trace amounts of IgM. The IgG-molecules in IVIG-formulations are representative of the NAb repertoire in the human population and the donors' exposure to pathogens as is evident from the content of induced Abs.

Initially, IVIG was used as a substitution therapy in immunoglobulin deficiencies. However, since the demonstration in 1981 that IVIG ameliorates immune thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP),<sup>1</sup> IVIG is increasingly being used for the treatment of a wide range of

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

<sup>©2012</sup> Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.<sup>2</sup> In addition to antibody-mediated diseases, IVIG is also effective in treatment of several disorders caused by derailment of cellular immunity, like Kawasaki disease, multiple sclerosis,<sup>3,4</sup> graft-vs.-host disease in recipients of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplants,<sup>5</sup> and allogeneic organ transplant rejection.<sup>6-9</sup> Studies exploring the mechanisms of action by which IVIG suppresses cellular immune responses show inhibitory effects on Antigen-Presenting Cells (APC), among which the effects on DC have been most extensively investigated, and stimulatory effects on naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Treg). These aspects are reviewed here.

## NAbs AND DENDRITIC CELLS

#### Stimulatory Effects on Dendritic Cells (DC)

Most of the available studies show that IVIG inhibits the differentiation and function of DC. Nevertheless, one report has described the purification of NAbs from IVIG which stimulate DC-functions.10 The authors observed that DC differentiation from monocytes of patients with X-linked agammaglobulinemia is severely impaired, when studied ex vivo in the presence of GM-CSF and autologous plasma. Differentiation of patients' monocytes to DC could be restored by reconstitution of the IgG-content of the autologous plasma by adding IVIG up to physiological levels.<sup>10-12</sup> Since DC differentiation was also restored by addition of anti-CD40 mAb, the authors hypothesized that IVIG might contain NAbs against CD40. They could indeed isolate IgG NAbs reactive with CD40 from IVIG. These anti-CD40 NAbs represented less than 1% of total IgG within the IVIG formulation, and stimulated in vitro differentiation and maturation of human DC from monocytes (Fig. 1, examples 1 and 2).<sup>10</sup> Expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules was upregulated by addition of anti-CD40 NAbs. In contrast to anti-CD40 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), which strongly stimulate production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12 by monocyte-derived DC (mo-DC), the anti-CD40 NAbs stimulated IL-10, but not IL-12 production.<sup>10</sup> The authors showed that these anti-CD40 NAbs do not activate the NF-KB signaling pathway within mo-DC, but induce enhanced levels of the "cAMP-response element-binding protein 1" (CREB-1), which is involved in transcriptional activation of IL-10.10 Patients with primary immuno-deficiencies, like X-linked agammaglobulinemia and common variable immunodeficiency, are highly susceptible to bacterial infections, which is at least partly due to their low serum IgG concentrations. These studies suggest that restoration of DC differentiation and function by anti-CD40 NAbs present in IVIG is another factor contributing to remission from pathological manifestations.<sup>10,11</sup>

#### **Inhibitory Effects on Dendritic Cells**

In contrast to the study discussed above, all other studies show that IVIG at concentrations corresponding to the physiological IgG concentration in human plasma (12–14 mg/ml) inhibits DC *differentiation* from monocytes and DC *maturation*. First, IVIG suppresses GM-CSF-driven *differentiation* of human monocytes to DC.<sup>13</sup> Similarly, IVIG inhibits in vitro *differentiation* of DC from monocytes under the influence of IFN- $\alpha$  present in serum of SLE-patients.<sup>14</sup> DC exhibit two different phases during their life cycle: *Immature* DC are specialized in recognition and uptake of pathogens, and processing of antigens to deliver their peptides for presentation by MHC molecules on



**Figure 1.** Effects of NAbs on differentiation and functions of dendritic cells. 1) Anti-CD40 NAbs stimulate the differentiation of monocytes to DC. 2) Anti-CD40 NAbs stimulate production of anti-inflammatory IL-10 by DC. 3) Other NAbs inhibit differentiation of monocytes to DC by binding to (an) unknown receptor(s). NAbs may bind either via their  $F(ab')_2$  part (by specific recognition of the receptor as an antigen) or via their Fc-part to such receptor(s). 4) NAbs inhibit upregulation of MHC class II molecules and co-stimulatory molecules on DC, and suppress production of pro-inflammatory IL-12 by binding to (an) unknown receptor(s), resulting in decreased T-cell stimulatory capacity. 5) NAbs upregulate expression of the inhibitory Fcyreceptor IIb on DC by binding to (an) unknown receptor(s), resulting in inhibition of DC-functions upon binding of immune complexes. 6) NAbs inhibit binding of immune complexes to activating FcyRIII, thereby suppressing the presentation of antigen contained in immune complexes to T cells.

their surface. After pathogen recognition, they mature to *mature* DC, which possess potent T-cell stimulatory capacity because of enhanced expression of MHC molecules, co-stimulatory molecules, and production of T-cell stimulatory cytokines. IVIG inhibits the *differentiation* of DC from monocytes (Fig. 1, example 3), as well as their *maturation*, resulting in reduced expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules like CD80 and CD86 (Fig. 1, example 4).<sup>13</sup> In addition, IVIG inhibits LPS-induced production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-12, but stimulates secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 by human mo-DC.<sup>13</sup> As a consequence, mo-DC differentiated or matured in the presence of IVIG are impaired in their T-cell stimulatory capacity. Some, but not all, of the inhibitory effects of IVIG on DC-maturation have been confirmed in cultures with primary DC isolated from human blood using anti-CD1c mAb, an antigen expressed on the major subset of circulating DC.<sup>8,15</sup> However, in cultures of primary blood-derived DC IVIG was found to suppress production of both IL-10 and IL-12.<sup>8,15</sup>

While protein antigens are presented to T cells by MHC-molecules, lipid and glycolipid antigens are recognized by TCR in the context of CD1 molecules. Like MHC class II,

the expression of CD1a, CD1b and CD1c on mo-DC is downregulated by IVIG, but expression of CD1d is upregulated. As a result, DC differentiated from monocytes in the presence of IVIG are poor activators of T cells that recognize antigens in the context of CD1a, CD1b or CD1c, but potent stimulators of invariant CD3<sup>+</sup>CD56<sup>+</sup> Natural Killer-T cells (NKT) cells that are restricted by CD1d.<sup>16</sup>

In contrast to the inhibitory effects of IVIG on human DC, IVIG has no effect on the expression of MHC class II or co-stimulatory molecules on DC generated by GM-CSF from mouse bone marrow.<sup>17</sup> The discrepant results observed between human and mouse DC may be due to interspecies differences between DC surface molecules recognized by human NAbs present in IVIG. The limited data that are available suggest that suppression of human DC function by IVIG occurs at least partially via antigen-specific interactions. Both IgG Fc-parts and  $F(ab')_2$  fragments prepared from IVIG bind to the surface of human mo-DC.13 While the effects of Fc-parts on DC maturation and function have not been studied, F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-fragments are able to inhibit LPS-induced phosphorylation of "extracellular signal-regulated kinase" (ERK1/2), an intracellular signaling molecule that mediates the inflammatory response induced by Toll-Like Receptor (TLR)-ligation, in mo-DC.<sup>18</sup> In addition, Fc-fragments have no effect on CD1d-expression on mo-DC.<sup>16</sup> It is far from clear via which DC surface molecules NAbs exert their suppressive effect on DC differentiation and functions. In the following paragraphs I will discuss a few DC-surface molecules that may be involved in mediating the inhibitory effects of NAbs on human DC:

#### 1. DC-SIGN

DC-SIGN is a C-type lectin, which mainly binds mannosylated and fucosylated stuctures. It is expressed on human mo-DC and macrophages, and binds to the HIV envelope protein gp120. DC-SIGN is involved in DC-mediated transmission of HIV from mucosal surfaces to T cells in lymph nodes.<sup>19</sup> Interestingly, NAbs directed against the carbohydrate recognition domain of DC-SIGN have been isolated from IVIG. These NAbs inhibited transmission of HIV to T lymphocytes.<sup>20</sup> In addition, DC-SIGN is involved in modulation of DC maturation and cytokine production by pathogens. Ligation of DC-SIGN with a specific mAb inhibits DC-maturation.<sup>21</sup> While ligation of DC-SIGN by mannose-expressing pathogens or synthetic fucose-containing ligands inhibit LPS-induced production of IL-6 and IL-12 but stimulate the secretion of anti-inflammatory IL-10 by mo-DC.<sup>22</sup>

In the mouse system the anti-inflammatory effects of human IVIG in several models of autoantibody-induced disorders were found to be mediated by IgG molecules that contain two sialic acid molecules bound via an  $\alpha 2$ ,6-linkage to the biantennary, single glycan chain that is attached to the heavy chain within its Fc-region, and could be recapitulated by fully sialylated recombinant IgG Fc molecules.<sup>23,24</sup> These sialylated IgG Fc molecules are recognized by the C-type lectin SIGN-R1,<sup>25</sup> which is expressed on macrophages in the splenic marginal zone of mice and on endothelial cells in the liver and in lymph nodes.<sup>26</sup> It was shown that this interaction is indispensable for the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG in these mouse models.<sup>25</sup>

The human equivalent of SIGN-R1 is L-SIGN, which is expressed on endothelial cells in human liver, lymph nodes and placenta, but not on macrophages or DC.<sup>27</sup> Compared with L-SIGN, human DC-SIGN has less homology to murine SIGN-R1, but its expression

on macrophages and DC and its function in modulation of DC-function by carbohydrate structures suggest that sialylated IgG Fc molecules might exert anti-inflammatory effects in humans via binding to DC-SIGN. Indeed, human DC-SIGN expressed on CHO cells has been shown to bind sialylated human Fc-parts.<sup>25</sup> Recently, by using SIGN-R1-deficient mice in which a transgene of human DC-SIGN was expressed, it was shown that human DC-SIGN could substitute for mouse SIGN-R1 in mediating protection from autoantibody-triggered arthritis by IVIG. In contrast, human L-SIGN did not.<sup>28</sup> Importantly, it has to be realized that the protective effects of sialylated Fc-parts have only been shown in mouse models of antibody-triggered inflammation, and not in T-cell driven inflammatory effects of IVIG in humans remains unclear. The following observations with human cells argue against it: (1)  $\alpha 2,6$ -sialylated IgG Fc portions are dispensable for the inhibition of TLR-mediated activation of human mo-DC<sup>18</sup>; (2) IVIG inhibits cytokine production of primary human blood DC that do not express DC-SIGN.<sup>8,15</sup>

#### 2. Inhibitory FcyRIIb

In several experimental mouse models of autoantibody-induced inflammatory disorders, the inhibitory FcyRIIb was found to be indispensible for the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG.<sup>29-33</sup> IVIG treatment enhances FcyRIIb expression on effector macrophages in mouse spleen,<sup>29</sup> or at the site of inflammation.<sup>31</sup> This raises the threshold concentration of (pathogenic) immune complexes necessary to trigger activation of these effector macrophages. The net result of this pathway is attenuation of the autoantibody-mediated inflammation. Human DC also express FcyRIIb, and ligation of this receptor by a specific antibody results in inhibition of their maturation and functions.<sup>34-36</sup> A recent study shows that FcyRIIb is upregulated on circulating monocytes and B cells during IVIG-therapy in humans,<sup>37</sup> suggesting that its expression may also be upregulated on macrophages and DC in humans in vivo (Fig. 1, example 5). If this were true, the mechanism by which IVIG enhances expression of this receptor is probably indirect, since addition of IVIG to human mo-DC in vitro does not result in enhanced FcyRIIb-expression.<sup>36</sup> This would be in line with the current model for FcyRIIb induction on macrophages in mice, which proposes that 2,6-sialylated IgG molecules bind to SIGN-R1 on regulatory macrophages, thereby stimulating them to secrete a soluble mediator that induces FcyRIIb-expression on macrophages at sites of inflammation.38

#### 3. Activatory FcyRIII

In two different autoimmune disease mouse models, the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG could be recapitulated by administration of IgG-antigen immune complexes.<sup>32</sup> Surprisingly, the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG or those of immune-complexes in these models are mediated by stimulation of DC via the activating FcγRIII. Adoptive transfer of IVIG-treated DC could ameliorate immune thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) in mice, and this effect could be recapitulated by transfer of DC, on which FcγRIII was cross-linked with a specific mAb prior to transfer.<sup>33</sup> How stimulation of DC via an activating receptor, like FcγRIII, ameliorates inflammation is unclear. The results seem to be compatible with the "two-step" model discussed above, in which a regulatory cell type (in this case DC) senses IVIG or immune-complexes, and subsequently suppresses the inflammatory response of effector macrophages. A

recent study, however, challenges this concept, and provides evidence that interaction of IVIG with DC does not inhibit the phagocytic activity of macrophages, but targets platelets, leading to reduced binding of platelets to phagocytes.<sup>39</sup> Although treatment of inflammation by stimulating an activating FcγRIII seems paradoxical, more examples of inhibitory effects of activating FcγRIII signaling are available. In another ITP mouse model it was observed that IVIG suppresses expression of the IFN-γ receptor on macrophages via binding to FcγRIII.<sup>40</sup>

Besides inhibition of DC maturation and cytokine production, NAbs inhibit presentation of peptides derived from IgG-containing immune complexes by DC to T cells. By inhibiting the uptake of immune complexes via activating FcγRIII, IVIG suppresses the generation of antigen-specific T-cell responses in mice immunized with a protein antigen (Fig. 1, example 6).<sup>17</sup> This effect is mediated by the Fc-parts of IgG and requires a high dose of IVIG, consistent with the low affinity of monomeric compared with complexed IgG for this type of FcγR.<sup>41</sup>

Finally, IVIG formulations contain variable amounts of dimeric IgG, depending on the formulation (lyophilized or liquid), the IgG concentration of liquid IVIG, the pH of the IgG solution, the storage temperature, and the size of the donor pool providing the starting material. Idiotype/anti-idiotype interaction between antibodies from distinct donors contribute to the formation of IgG-dimers in therapeutic IVIG-formulations.<sup>42,43</sup> IgG-dimers and multimers present in IVIG stimulate killing of human DC by NK cells by "bridge-formation" between FcγR on DC and NK cells. NK cells are activated via their FcγRIII, and kill DC (Fig. 2).<sup>44</sup> These effects are not observed with monomeric IgG, the form which is present in plasma. However, NAbs in plasma can exert similar effects if complexed to (auto-)antigens.



**Figure 2.** Effects of NAbs on the interaction between DC and NK cells. Immune complexes stimulate killing of DC by NK cells via "bridge-formation" between  $Fc\gamma R$  on the two cell types.

#### NAbs AND T CELLS

The proliferation and cytokine production of human T cells after mitogenic or allogeneic stimulation in vitro are effectively suppressed by therapeutic formulations of IVIG.45-47 The cornerstone of many clinical immunosuppressive regiments are calcineurin inhibitors, like Cyclosporin or Tacrolimus, because of their potency to inhibit T-cell responses. Notably, when added at a concentration comparable to that in human plasma, IVIG inhibits proliferation and cytokine production by human T cells as effectively as calcineurin inhibitors do.<sup>15</sup> Inhibition of T-cell activation by IVIG is at least partly due to the suppressive effects of IVIG on APC, like DC, as described above. There is, however, some evidence that IVIG also suppresses highly purified human T cells in the absence of APC or other accessory cells, demonstrating that NAbs can act directly on human T cells.<sup>46,48</sup> Interestingly, the latter study showed that IgG purified from a single donor suppresses T-cell activation, indicating that the inhibitory effect is not related to possible conformational changes of IgG during processing, neither to the pooling of IgG from different individuals as in IVIG formulations, but is an intrinsic property of native IgG molecules.<sup>48</sup> In addition, there is increasing evidence that IVIG suppresses T-cell responses by stimulation of regulatory T cells (Treg).

The molecular interactions mediating the direct effects of IVIG on conventional T cells are still unclear. They are probably caused by NAbs that are auto-reactive, and bind to their targets by low-affinity interactions. Indeed, it has been shown that the NAb repertoire includes antibodies directed toward T-cell surface signaling molecules, such a TCR- $\beta$  chains<sup>49</sup> and CD4.<sup>50</sup> It has been found that low-affinity interactions of IVIG with TCR can result in altered or inhibitory signaling.<sup>51-53</sup> In contrast to the direct effects of IVIG on human T cells, highly purified mouse CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are not suppressed by IVIG,<sup>17</sup> suggesting that NAbs affecting human T cells recognize surface molecules that are not conserved between man and mice.

## NAbs AND REGULATORY T CELLS

Increasing evidence shows that NAbs can stimulate expansion and the suppressive function of naturally occurring T regulatory cells (Tregs). Several types of Treg have been described, but the most thoroughly studied ones are the naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg. The known effect of NAbs on Treg are summarized in Figure 3. Addition of a physiological concentration of IVIG (6 mg/ml) to human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells cultured in the presence of IL-2 results in upregulation of intracellular expression of Foxp3, the key transcription factor controlling Treg development and function. In addition, the suppressive effects of Treg on cytokine production by conventional CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells were enhanced when IVIG was added to the co-cultures.<sup>54</sup> In an experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model in mice, protection from EAE by an IVIG treatment was associated with increased numbers of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Treg in spleen, lymph nodes and blood.<sup>55</sup> The critical involvement of Treg in prevention of EAE was shown in experiments in which Treg were depleted from the animals and in adoptive transfer experiments. Indeed, transfer of Treg from IVIG-treated mice suppressed symptoms of EAE more effectively than transfer of Treg from mice not treated with IVIG. Moreover, Treg isolated from mice treated with IVIG suppressed proliferation of conventional T cells in vitro more effectively compared with Treg from control mice. To differentiate



**Figure 3.** Effects of NAbs on regulatory T cells. NAbs stimulate expansion, foxp3-expression and suppressive function of Treg by: 1) Presentation of specific peptides derived from their Fc-parts (T-regitopes) to Treg. 2) Binding to (an) unknown receptor(s). Details concerning the symbols are explained in Figure 1.

between expansion of pre-existing Treg and de novo conversion of conventional T cells to Treg, adoptive transfer experiments with TCR-transgenic T cells specific for an influenza peptide, followed by immunization with the peptide, were performed. The results showed that IVIG-therapy stimulates expansion of pre-existing Treg, but not de novo induction of Treg from conventional T cells. Similarly, IVIG stimulated proliferation of Treg, but not of conventional CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells, in vitro.<sup>55</sup> Consistent with these results, it was found that Treg are critically involved in prevention of T helper cell-mediated allogeneic skin graft rejection by IVIG. This was established in a model in which adoptive transfer of syngeneic wild-type CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into T-cell deficient mice resulted in allogeneic skin graft rejection. Intravenous administration of IVIG prevented allograft rejection, but the protective effect of IVIG was completely lost upon selective depletion of Treg from the transferred CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.<sup>56</sup> Together, these studies show that particular NAbs can stimulate expansion and suppressive function of pre-existing CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg in vitro and in two different animal models.

These findings are supported by in vivo findings on humans. Patients with Kawasaki Disease and Guillain-Barré syndrome have significantly lower numbers of circulating Tregs as compared with healthy individuals, or individuals with infections. After IVIG-therapy Treg numbers increase, <sup>57-59</sup> indicating that NAbs stimulate expansion of Treg in humans in vivo. However, whether an IVIG-therapy enhances the suppressive capacity of human Treg in vivo is as yet unknown.

Modulation of Treg by NAbs probably represents among others one of the modes of action involved in the therapeutic effect of IVIG in disorders caused by (hyper-) activation of T cells. However, the molecular mechanisms by which NAbs stimulate Treg expansion and function are still enigmatic. IgG molecules present in IVIG bind to both human and mouse Treg,<sup>55,56</sup> suggesting that the effects are mediated by binding of

(certain) IgG-molecules to molecules expressed on the cell surface of Treg. In support of this concept, we observed that upon culturing Treg with IVIG specifically those Treg are activated that have IVIG bound to their surface.<sup>56</sup> Do IgG molecules bind to FcγR on Treg? Resting T cells do not express FcγR, but upon activation a subset of *mouse* Treg expresses FcγR. In contrast, conventional murine CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells do not express FcγR upon activation. However, upon incubation with IVIG, both FcγR-positive Treg and FcγR-negative Treg from mice bind IgG molecules. Moreover, *human* Treg do not express any known FcγR, also not after activation, while they are able to bind IgG-molecules.<sup>56</sup> Together, these data suggest that NAbs may activate Treg by binding to one or more surface molecules, but that FcγR are most likely not involved in this process.

Another interesting hypothesis is that the Fc-part of IgG contains special epitopes that can be presented by MHC class II molecules, and are specifically recognized by the TCR of Treg. Indeed, two peptides derived from a part of the Fc-region that is conserved in all human IgG allotypes, were found to enhance expression of CD25, Foxp3 and CTLA-4 on human CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells in vitro.<sup>60</sup> Co-incubation of these so-called "Tregitopes" with antigen led to a decreased T-cell response to the antigen. Selective depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg from the cultures demonstrated that the suppressive effect was indeed due to Treg. Administration of a murine homolog of the Fc-region "Tregitope" resulted in suppression of T-cell reactivity and antibody response to a known immunogen in mice.<sup>60</sup> Interestingly, these "Tregitopes" are promiscuous in MHC-class II binding, indicating that they can be recognized in the context of different MHC class II alleles.

The intracellular signaling pathway involved in stimulation of Treg expansion and suppressive capacity by NAbs is unknown. We observed that in vitro addition of IVIG to Treg enhances their suppressive capacity and stimulates phosphorylation of ZAP-70, an intracellular signaling molecule involved in activation of T cells.<sup>56</sup> Although stimulation of ZAP-70 phosphorylation by CD4 mAb also enhances the suppressive capacity of Treg,<sup>61</sup> it is not yet known whether ZAP-70 signaling is similarly involved in the upregulation of the suppressive capacity of IVIG.

### CONCLUSION

In contrast to immunosuppressive drugs, IVIG therapy has no serious adverse effects, even when given life-long at a regular basis. Therefore, IVIG may be considered as prophylaxis or treatment for a wide range of T-cell mediated immune diseases, including organ transplant rejection. However, expansion of its use is hampered by the high costs of IVIG therapy. In addition, there is the danger of an upcoming global shortage of human plasma due to increased demand.<sup>62</sup> Therefore, optimization of its use, or even replacement by recombinant products, will become inevitable. For this purpose, elucidation of the molecular interactions between NAbs within IVIG and DC or Treg is required, as well as the identification of the active components within IVIG that modulate the functions of immune cells. Encouraging results have been obtained by the identification of the minor fraction of IgG molecules within human IVIG with fully sialylated Fc-portions as the active component that protects against disorders caused by autoantibodies in experimental mouse models. Fully sialylated recombinant IgG1 Fc demonstrated comparable anti-inflammatory activity to that obtained with a 300-fold higher dose of IVIG in a mouse arthritis model.<sup>24</sup> However, as argued above, it is unclear whether fully sialylated Fc-fragments are responsible for the beneficial effects of IVIG observed in human diseases.

Furthermore, there is no evidence that IgG molecules with fully sialylated Fc portions are able to modulate T-cell mediated immune disorders. Studies on the molecular interactions between NAbs and human DC and Treg are required to identify the components within IVIG that are responsible for the effects of IVIG-treatment on immunological disorders in humans. Separation of IVIG into two products, an immunosuppressive fraction to be used for immunosuppressive therapy, and the non-immunosuppressive residual IgG for substitution therapy in IgG-deficiencies, will economize the use of IVIG. Such studies are also important for our understanding of how NAbs regulate T-cell mediated immune responses in pathological conditions.

#### REFERENCES

- Imbach P, Barandun S, d'Apuzzo V etal. High-dose intravenous gammaglobulin for idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in childhood. Lancet 1981; 1:1228-31. PMID:6112565 doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(81)92400-4
- Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Immunomodulation of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases with intravenous immune globulin. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:747-55. PMID:11547745 doi:10.1056/NEJMra993360
- 3. Negi VS, Elluru S, Siberil S et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin: an update on the clinical use and mechanisms of action. J Clin Immunol 2007; 27:233-45. PMID:17351760 doi:10.1007/s10875-007-9088-9
- Tha-In T, Bayry J, Metselaar HJ et al. Modulation of the cellular immune system by intravenous immunoglobulin. Trends Immunol 2008; 29:608-15. PMID:18926775 doi:10.1016/j.it.2008.08.004
- Sokos DR, Berger M, Lazarus HM. Intravenous immunoglobulin: appropriate indications and uses in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2002; 8:117-30. PMID:11939601 doi:10.1053/bbmt.2002.v8.pm11939601
- Luke PP, Scantlebury VP, Jordan ML et al. Reversal of steroid- and anti-lymphocyte antibody-resistant rejection using intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 2001; 72:419-22. PMID:11502969 doi:10.1097/00007890-200108150-00010
- Casadei DH, del C Rial M, Opelz G et al. A randomized and prospective study comparing treatment with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin with monoclonal antibodies for rescue of kidney grafts with steroid-resistant rejection. Transplantation 2001; 71:53-8. PMID:11211195 doi:10.1097/00007890-200101150-00009
- Kwekkeboom J, Tha-In T, Tra WM et al. Hepatitis B immunoglobulins inhibit dendritic cells and T cells and protect against acute rejection after liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2005; 5:2393-402. PMID:16162187 doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01029.x
- Bucuvalas JC, Anand R. Treatment with immunoglobulin improves outcome for pediatric liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl 2009; 15:1564-9. PMID:19877216 doi:10.1002/lt.21843
- Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Donkova-Petrini V et al. Natural antibodies sustain differentiation and maturation of human dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101:14210-5. PMID:15381781 doi:10.1073/pnas.0402183101
- Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Hermine O et al. Amelioration of differentiation of dendritic cells from CVID patients by intravenous immunoglobulin. Am J Med 2005; 118:1439-40. PMID:16378810 doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2005.06.028
- Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kazatchkine MD et al. Common variable immunodeficiency is associated with defective functions of dendritic cells. Blood 2004; 104:2441-3. PMID:15226176 doi:10.1182/ blood-2004-04-1325
- Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Carbonneil C et al. Inhibition of maturation and function of dendritic cells by intravenous immunoglobulin. Blood 2003; 101:758-65. PMID:12393386 doi:10.1182/blood-2002-05-1447
- 14. Bayry J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Delignat S et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin abrogates dendritic cell differentiation induced by interferon-alpha present in serum from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2003; 48:3497-502. PMID:14674000 doi:10.1002/art.11346
- Tha-In T, Metselaar HJ, Tilanus HW et al. Superior immunomodulatory effects of intravenous immunoglobulins on human T-cells and dendritic cells: comparison to calcineurin inhibitors. Transplantation 2006; 81:1725-34. PMID:16794540 doi:10.1097/01.tp.0000226073.20185.b1
- Smed-Sorensen A, Moll M, Cheng TY et al. IgG regulates the CD1 expression profile and lipid antigen presenting function in human dendritic cells via Fc {gamma}RIIa. Blood 2008; 11:5037-46 PMID:18337560 doi:10.1182/blood-2007-07-099549.

#### MODULATION OF DENDRITIC CELLS AND REGULATORY T CELLS BY NAbs

- Aubin E, Lemieux R, Bazin R. Indirect inhibition of in vivo and in vitro T-cell responses by intravenous immunoglobulins due to impaired antigen presentation. Blood 2010; 115:1727-34. PMID:19965673 doi:10.1182/blood-2009-06-225417
- Bayry J, Bansal K, Kazatchkine MD et al. DC-SIGN and alpha2,6-sialylated IgG Fc interaction is dispensable for the anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG on human dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:E24; author reply E25.
- Geijtenbeek TB, Gringhuis SI. Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 2009; 9:465-79. PMID:19521399 doi:10.1038/nri2569
- Requena M, Bouhlal H, Nasreddine N et al. Inhibition of HIV-1 transmission in trans from dendritic cells to CD4+ T lymphocytes by natural antibodies to the CRD domain of DC-SIGN purified from breast milk and intravenous immunoglobulins. Immunology 2008; 123:508-18. PMID:17999675 doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2007.02717.x
- Geijtenbeek TB, Van Vliet SJ, Koppel EA et al. Mycobacteria target DC-SIGN to suppress dendritic cell function. J Exp Med 2003; 197:7-17. PMID:12515809 doi:10.1084/jem.20021229
- Gringhuis SI, den Dunnen J, Litjens M et al. Carbohydrate-specific signaling through the DC-SIGN signalosome tailors immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis, HIV-1 and Helicobacter pylori. Nat Immunol 2009; 10:1081-8. PMID:19718030 doi:10.1038/ni.1778
- Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation. Science 2006; 313:670-3. PMID:16888140 doi:10.1126/science.1129594
- Anthony RM, Nimmerjahn F, Ashline DJ et al. Recapitulation of IVIG anti-inflammatory activity with a recombinant IgG Fc. Science 2008; 320:373-6. PMID:18420934 doi:10.1126/science.1154315
- 25. Anthony RM, Wermeling F, Karlsson MC et al. Identification of a receptor required for the anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008; 105:19571-8. PMID:19036920 doi:10.1073/ pnas.0810163105
- 26. Geijtenbeek TB, Groot PC, Nolte MA et al. Marginal zone macrophages express a murine homologue of DC-SIGN that captures blood-borne antigens in vivo. Blood 2002; 100:2908-16. PMID:12351402 doi:10.1182/blood-2002-04-1044
- 27 Pöhlmann S, Soilleux EJ, Baribaud F et al. DC-SIGNR, a DC-SIGN homologue expressed in endothelial cells, binds to human and simian immunodeficiency viruses and activates infection in trans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:2670-5. PMID:11226297 doi:10.1073/pnas.051631398
- Anthony RM, Kobayashi T, Wermeling F et al. Intravenous gammaglobulin suppresses inflammation through a novel T(H)2 pathway. Nature 2011; 475:110-3. PMID:21685887 doi:10.1038/nature10134
- Samuelsson A, Towers TL, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG mediated through the inhibitory Fc receptor. Science 2001; 291:484-6. PMID:11161202 doi:10.1126/science.291.5503.484
- Bruhns P, Samuelsson A, Pollard JW et al. Colony-stimulating factor-1-dependent macrophages are responsible for IVIG protection in antibody-induced autoimmune disease. Immunity 2003; 18:573-81. PMID:12705859 doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00080-3
- 31. Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Madaio MP et al. Pathology and protection in nephrotoxic nephritis is determined by selective engagement of specific Fc receptors. J Exp Med 2006; 203:789-97. PMID:16520389 doi:10.1084/jem.20051900
- 32. Siragam V, Brinc D, Crow AR et al. Can antibodies with specificity for soluble antigens mimic the therapeutic effects of intravenous IgG in the treatment of autoimmune disease? J Clin Invest 2005; 115:155-60. PMID:15630455
- 33. Siragam V, Crow AR, Brinc D et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin ameliorates ITP via activating Fc gamma receptors on dendritic cells. Nat Med 2006; 12:688-92. PMID:16715090 doi:10.1038/nm1416
- 34. Dhodapkar KM, Kaufman JL, Ehlers M et al. Selective blockade of inhibitory Fcgamma receptor enables human dendritic cell maturation with IL-12p70 production and immunity to antibody-coated tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102:2910-5. PMID:15703291 doi:10.1073/pnas.0500014102
- 35. Dhodapkar KM, Banerjee D, Connolly J et al. Selective blockade of the inhibitory Fcgamma receptor (FcgammaRIIB) in human dendritic cells and monocytes induces a type I interferon response program. J Exp Med 2007; 204:1359-69. PMID:17502666 doi:10.1084/jem.20062545
- Boruchov AM, Heller G, Veri MC et al. Activating and inhibitory IgG Fc receptors on human DCs mediate opposing functions. J Clin Invest 2005; 115:2914-23. PMID:16167082 doi:10.1172/JCI24772
- 37. Tackenberg B, Jelcic I, Baerenwaldt A et al. Impaired inhibitory Fcgamma receptor IIB expression on B cells in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106:4788-92. PMID:19261857 doi:10.1073/pnas.0807319106
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory actions of intravenous immunoglobulin. Annu Rev Immunol 2008; 26:513-33. PMID:18370923 doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090232
- 39. Huang HS, Sun DS, Lien TS et al. Dendritic cells modulate platelet activity in IVIG-mediated amelioration of ITP in mice. Blood 2010; 116:5002-9. PMID:20699442 doi:10.1182/blood-2010-03-275123

- 40. Park-Min KH, Serbina NV, Yang W et al. FcgammaRIII-dependent inhibition of interferon-gamma responses mediates suppressive effects of intravenous immune globulin. Immunity 2007; 26:67-78. PMID:17239631 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.11.010
- 41. van Mirre E, Teeling JL, van der Meer JW et al. Monomeric IgG in intravenous Ig preparations is a functional antagonist of FcgammaRII and FcgammaRIIIb. J Immunol 2004; 173:332-9. PMID:15210791
- 42. Tankersley DL. Dimer formation in immunoglobulin preparations and speculations on the mechanism of action of intravenous immune globulin in autoimmune diseases. Immunol Rev 1994; 139:159-72. PMID:7927410 doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1994.tb00861.x
- Vassilev TL, Bineva IL, Dietrich G et al. Variable region-connected, dimeric fraction of intravenous immunoglobulin enriched in natural autoantibodies. J Autoimmun 1995; 8:405-13. PMID:7576001 doi:10.1006/jaut.1995.0032
- 44. Tha-In T, Metselaar HJ, Tilanus HW et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins suppress T-cell priming by modulating the bidirectional interaction between dendritic cells and natural killer cells. Blood 2007; 110:3253-62. PMID:17673603 doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-077057
- 45. Andersson UG, Bjork L, Skansen-Saphir U et al. Down-regulation of cytokine production and interleukin-2 receptor expression by pooled human IgG. Immunology 1993; 79:211-6. PMID:8344700
- 46. Amran D, Renz H, Lack G et al. Suppression of cytokine-dependent human T-cell proliferation by intravenous immunoglobulin. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1994; 73:180-6. PMID:7523013 doi:10.1006/ clin.1994.1186
- Modiano JF, Amran D, Lack G et al. Posttranscriptional regulation of T-cell IL-2 production by human pooled immunoglobin. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1997; 83:77-85. PMID:9073539 doi:10.1006/clin.1997.4329
- MacMillan HF, Lee T, Issekutz AC. Intravenous immunoglobulin G-mediated inhibition of T-cell proliferation reflects an endogenous mechanism by which IgG modulates T-cell activation. Clin Immunol 2009; 132:222-33. PMID:19447680 doi:10.1016/j.clim.2009.04.002
- Marchalonis JJ, Kaymaz H, Dedeoglu F et al. Human autoantibodies reactive with synthetic autoantigens from T-cell receptor beta chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992; 89:3325-9. PMID:1565623 doi:10.1073/ pnas.89.8.3325
- Hurez V, Kaveri SV, Mouhoub A et al. Anti-CD4 activity of normal human immunoglobulin G for therapeutic use. (Intravenous immunoglobulin, IVIG). Ther Immunol 1994; 1:269-77. PMID:7584501
- 51. Kersh GJ, Allen PM. Structural basis for T cell recognition of altered peptide ligands: a single T cell receptor can productively recognize a large continuum of related ligands. J Exp Med 1996; 184:1259-68. PMID:8879197 doi:10.1084/jem.184.4.1259
- Kersh GJ, Allen PM. Essential flexibility in the T-cell recognition of antigen. Nature 1996; 380:495-8. PMID:8606766 doi:10.1038/380495a0
- 53. Germain RN, Stefanova I. The dynamics of T cell receptor signaling: complex orchestration and the key roles of tempo and cooperation. Annu Rev Immunol 1999; 17:467-522. PMID:10358766 doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.17.1.467
- 54. Kessel A, Ammuri H, Peri R et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy affects T regulatory cells by increasing their suppressive function. J Immunol 2007; 179:5571-5. PMID:17911644
- 55. Ephrem A, Chamat S, Miquel C et al. Expansion of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by intravenous immunoglobulin: a critical factor in controlling experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Blood 2008; 111:715-22. PMID:17932250 doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-079947
- 56. Tha-In T, Metselaar HJ, Bushell AR et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins promote skin allograft acceptance by triggering functional activation of CD4+Foxp3+T cells. Transplantation 2010; 89:1446-55. PMID:20463648 doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3181dd6bf1
- Furuno K, Yuge T, Kusuhara K et al. CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in patients with Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr 2004; 145:385-90. PMID:15343196 doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.05.048
- Olivito B, Taddio A, Simonini G et al. Defective FOXP3 expression in patients with acute Kawasaki disease and restoration by intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2010; 28:93-7. PMID:20412712
- Chi LJ, Wang HB, Zhang Y et al. Abnormality of circulating CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cell in patients with Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neuroimmunol 2007; 192:206-14. PMID:17997492 doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2007.09.034
- De Groot AS, Moise L, McMurry JA et al. Activation of natural regulatory T cells by IgG Fc-derived peptide "Tregitopes". Blood 2008; 112:3303-11. PMID:18660382 doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-138073
- Becker C, Kubach J, Wijdenes J et al. CD4-mediated functional activation of human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Eur J Immunol 2007; 37:1217-23. PMID:17407195 doi:10.1002/eji.200636480
- Bayry J, Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Shortage of human intravenous immunoglobulin–reasons and possible solutions. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2007; 3:120-1. PMID:17342189 doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0429

# CHAPTER 11

# CONTROL OF B CELLS EXPRESSING NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES

# Jean Louis Pasquali and Thierry Martin\*

Clinical Immunology Department, National Referral Center for Systemic Autoimmune Diseases, Nouvel Hôpital Civil, Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France \*Corresponding Author: Thierry Martin—Email: thierry.martin@chru-strasbourg.fr

Abstract: Naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) are typically polyreactive, bind with low affinity to a discrete set of autoantigens and are encoded by variable region genes in germline configuration. They differ from disease-associated autoantibodies (autoAb), which are mostly monoreactive, somatically mutated and of high affinities. Structure-function studies have shown that polyreactivity of NAbs relies on the somatically generated complementarity determining region, CDR3, of the heavy chain. This finding suggested that NAb-producing B cells were positively selected from the pre-immune B-cell repertoire. The biological significance of this selection remains, however, unclear. Data originating mainly from transgenic mice have shown that mature NAb-producing B cells are frequently ignorant toward their antigen, possibly due to their low affinity, though active tolerance mechanisms are not excluded. An important issue is whether NAb-producing B cells constitute the pool from which pathologic autoAb emerge after autoantigen-driven maturation. We summarize results obtained in mouse models, showing that some infectious agents are able to induce an autoantigen-driven activation of certain NAb-producing B cells. However direct proof that selection by autoantigen may lead to somatic hypermutation are still lacking. Other data tend to suggest that pathologic autoAbs may derive from non-autoimmune B cells that have diversified by somatic hypermutation of their variable region genes.

#### INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring, autoreactive B cells are thought to be physically eliminated or rendered functionally silent through different mechanisms of tolerance. However, since the original finding from G. Dighiero and S. Avrameas, a large body of evidence has shown that healthy individuals have many autoreactive B cells in their naïve repertoire (reviewed

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

in refs. 1-3). Although this issue has remained controversial for long, recent elegant studies from Nussenzweig's group have shown that autoreactivity decreases with each step of B-cell development, but is not eliminated.<sup>4</sup> The biological significance of this apparent paradox to the clonal tolerance theory remains mysterious, but it now is clear that self-reactivity is physiologic and should be distinguished from autoimmunity. Although NAbs constitute a significant part of serum immunoglobulins, most NAb-expressing B cells do not secrete their (auto)Abs and seem to coexist peacefully with their autoantigen further deepening the paradox. In this chapter we mainly focus on two issues: (1) the structure-function relationships between NAbs and autoantigens, emphasizing that they were the first to indicate that NAb-producing B cells may be positively selected in the normal repertoire; (2) the functional state of NAb-producing B cells in vivo and some mechanisms that may lead to their activation. We also ask whether NAb-producing B cells constitute the pool from which pathologic (autoimmune disease-associated) autoAb can emerge.

## STRUCTURE-ACTIVITY RELATIONSHIPS AMONG NAbs

# Differences between NAbs and Disease-Associated autoAbs

In the current thinking, although data are sometimes contradictory, NAbs are mostly of the IgM isotype, are polyreactive, bind with low affinity to a discrete population of self antigens, and their V genes are in germline configuration. By contrast, autoimmune disease-associated autoAbs are often class-switched, are monoreactive with high affinity and are somatically mutated with patterns suggesting (auto)antigen selection (see for instance refs. 5-7). One should add an often overlooked differential characteristic: in healthy individuals serum concentrations of NAbs are quite low, often contrasting with the high frequencies of NAb-expressing B cells in the repertoire, while it is rather the opposite for disease-associated autoAb. This, for instance, has been long known for rheumatoid factors (RF: autoAb directed against the Fc piece of IgG): 0.2% of peripheral blood B cells can be activated to produce IgM RF, whereas IgM RFs are barely detectable in the serum of healthy individuals.<sup>8</sup> This paradox remains to be explained. The issue of the isotype is probably the weakest one, since it has been established that NAbs can also be IgG and IgA.<sup>2</sup> This is an important point because it shows that NAb-expressing B cells are able upon certain circumstances to undergo class-switching. Other features such as V-gene usage and producing B-cell sub-populations (B-1 or regular follicular B cells) are no longer considered distinctive, at least in humans.

#### **Structural Basis of NAb Polyreactivity**

The most popular distinctive feature of NAbs is their polyreactivity and respective repertoires (the latter being reviewed elsewhere in this book). We must, however, keep in mind that these characteristics have not been studied as extensively in autoAb. A significant breakthrough in the knowledge was the demonstration that specificity and polyreactivity of NAbs in humans were highly dependent of the somatically generated heavy chain CDR3 (HCDR3).<sup>9</sup> This was later confirmed in different models of autoAb by mutagenesis or HCDR3 swapping experiments.<sup>10-13</sup> This result is of significant importance because it provides circumstantial evidence that NAbs may be positively selected in the early B-cell ontogeny. This hypothesis was later sustained by a significant body of work summarized

hereafter. In mice NAbs are mostly produced by B-1 (CD5<sup>+</sup>) B cells. The positive role of self-antigens in selecting B-1 cells was clearly demonstrated by using transgenic mice for a naturally generated autoreactive B-cell receptor (BCR) that recognizes Thy-1 (CD90), a glycoprotein expressed at the membrane of T cells. In fact, Hayakawa and colleagues showed that anti-Thy-1 specific B cells did not accumulate in Thy-1-deficient animals,<sup>14</sup> while the presence of the self-antigen promoted B-1 cell accumulation and thus NAb secretion. A positive role for self-antigen in early B-cell development has also been demonstrated for Fcγ, ssDNA, thyroglobulin and phosphorylcholine.<sup>15-17</sup>

Recently Köhler and colleagues presented evidence that the pre-B-cell receptor and the BCR of NAbs-expressing B cells are functionally equivalent and that they share structural elements involved in multispecific recognition of self-antigens.<sup>13</sup> The pre-B-cell receptor (pre-BCR) is expressed by pre-B cells and is composed of a functionally rearranged heavy (H) chain associated to an invariant surrogate light chain. The surrogate light chain has a structure similar to a kappa light chain and results from the assembly of two proteins, VpreB and  $\lambda 5$ . The expression of the pre-BCR is mandatory for further B-cell development. There has been a long controversy whether the pre-BCR must interact with (auto)antigens or whether the surrogate light chain induces ligand-independent pre-BCR crosslinking and subsequent autonomous signaling which is required for positive selection of B cells expressing a functional H chain. In the study by Köhler and colleagues it is shown that most pre-BCR are self-polyreactive. Polyreactivity is dependent on the  $\lambda 5$  part of the surrogate light chain and/or on the HCDR3 of the heavy chain.<sup>18</sup> The  $\lambda$ 5 region is essential for pre-BCR function and is characterized by carrying multiple arginine residues.<sup>18</sup> It is also known that polyreactive NAbs often have long HCDR3, enriched in positively charged amino acids (i.e. arginine).<sup>11,12,19,20</sup> These residues play a role in polyreactivity and particularly in the binding to negatively charged molecules such as nucleic acids. The same group shows by in vitro chain swapping experiments that the HCDR3 of a polyreactive Ab (but not that of a monoreactive one) can functionally replace the  $\lambda$ 5 chain; and reciprocally, the  $\lambda 5$  region can transfer polyreactivity, when replacing the HCDR3 of a non-polyreactive Ab. Most importantly they show in vivo that expressing a polyreactive pre-BCR or BCR confers a strong selective advantage during early B-cell development. Taken together these findings most readily explain the enrichment of the naïve repertoire with polyreactive, autoreactive B cells. During early B-cell development the polyreactive potential may well lead to ligand-independent direct interactions between pre-BCR (or BCR) complexes, ie. binding to one another independently of antigens. Alternatively polyreactivity might explain why pre-BCR structures interact with galectin-1 or heparan sulfates furthering B-cell differentiation.20,21

The biological significance of positive selection of B cells by autoantigens during the early phases of B-cell development remains intriguing. A large body of evidence indicates that, from a phylogenetic point of view, the adaptive immune system has evolved to components that are less and less dependent on self recognition for their development and functions. In this view, B-cell positive selection by autoantigens in NAb formation might be an evolutionary "byproduct" (ie. a consequence of a useless B-cell positive selection) of B-cell development. In reality, NAbs play important roles in tissue homeostasis (see elsewhere in this book) and in the early defense against pathogens.<sup>22</sup> Positive selection of NAbs could confer a biological advantage, because the selecting antigens, including surface carbohydrates and nucleic acids, may provide them the potential to cross-react with generic molecular patterns frequently expressed by microbes such as PAMPs (Pathogen-associated molecular patterns)

## **REGULATION OF AUTOIMMUNITY**

#### Many NAb-Expressing B Cells Are Autoantigen Ignorant

The naïve pre-immune repertoire is enriched in NAb-expressing B cells because: (1) NAb-expressing B cells are positively selected during early B-cell ontogeny; (2) NAb-expressing B cells are essentially low affinity cells, they escape tolerance mechanisms, most probably because they fall below the threshold for its induction.<sup>23</sup>

Healthy individuals maintain relatively constant levels of circulating IgM, IgA and IgG of which significant proportions are NAbs.<sup>3</sup> However for each set of autoantigens, the concentrations of NAbs are low compared with that of NAb-expressing B cells. This has been clearly demonstrated for rheumatoid factor (RF)-expressing B cells, which represent up to 2/1000 of naïve B cells, whereas RFs are barely detectable in the serum of healthy humans.<sup>8</sup> This is somewhat surprising given that RF-specific B cells are permanently in contact with high concentrations of IgG in different forms (soluble, aggregated, membrane-bound). These observations have led to several questions: (1) Why do B cells with the capacity to produce NAbs coexist peacefully with their autoantigen? (2) Can these B cells be activated to produce NAbs in vivo or are they anergic? (3) Do NAb-expressing B cells (ie. with the potential to produce NAbs) participate in autoimmunity or in other words what are the links between natural self-reactivity and pathologic autoimmunity?

Although B cells with the capacity to produce NAbs are frequent in the repertoire, their follow up and their behavior are extremely difficult to analyze not only in humans, but also in mice. Most of the knowledge on autoAb-producing B cells in general has come from the analysis of transgenic mice (reviewed in ref. 24). The classic transgenic (Tg) models, expressing a single, selected, auto-reactive specificity simplify the analysis of auto-reactive B cells, because they create animals in which the vast majority of the B lymphocytes express the desired self-specificity. The informations obtained from these mice were completed by data where autoreactive B cells were rendered able to switch and to introduce somatic hypermutations (SHM). These "knock-in" Tg mice, containing the rearranged Tg in the immunoglobulin locus after homologous recombination, were developed in order to reduce the frequency of auto-reactive B cells, and to study the peripheral B-cell tolerance mechanisms. These strategies were successful and led to numerous conclusions on the auto-reactive B-cell fate both in the bone marrow and in the periphery. However, very few models focused on transgenic NAbs. The most detailed studies were performed with low affinity RF.

The first model was reported by Shlomchik and colleagues<sup>25</sup> and was of importance because it was possible to control for the presence of self antigens. This classic Tg mice were designed with the heavy chain and light chain of a low affinity, monoreactive RF (AM14), originating from a MRL/lpr mouse, a strain which spontaneously develops a lupus-like disease with high levels of antinuclear and RF autoantibodies. It is therefore not a classical NAb, but its affinity for IgG is in the range of those with RF activity. This RF is specific for the "a" allotype of mouse IgG2a, and does not recognize the "b" allotype. Thus, the Tg mice express a monoreactive IgM-RF specific for IgG2a of the "a" allotype, allowing for the analysis of the RF-expressing B-cell fate in the absence (genetic background with the "b" allotype of the IgG2a), or the presence of the self antigen (genetic background with the "a" allotype of the IgG2a). In the absence of the self-antigen, IgM-RF-producing B cells represent the majority of the peripheral B cells, but this is also true in the presence of the self-antigen. In the latter case, the Tg RF-expressing B cells are not deleted, do not edit a new receptor and are not anergic. Serum levels of RFs are even higher than in control mice without self antigen. These RF-expressing B cells seem ignorant toward their self antigen. We also created Tg lines expressing a chimeric low affinity RF with murine constant regions and human variable regions. Precisely, this RF (designated Smi) is a prototype of a multireactive NAb, reacting with a low affinity with thyroglobulin, myoglobin, ssDNA and IgG ( $K_D = 10^{-6}$ M).<sup>26</sup> Since "Smi RF" does not bind murine IgG, autoreactivity was introduced by crossing Tg mice with knock-in mice, expressing the constant region of the human gamma chain of IgG1 (designated cIgG). The offsprings, designated Smi x cIgG, produce a normal repertoire of chimeric cIgG (murine V regions and human C region). In these mice, RF-expressing B cells are not deleted in the bone marrow, they circulate and populate normally the B zones of peripheral lymphoid organs. They do not edit their receptor and do not present classical features of anergic B cells. Interestingly, akin to Shlomchik's model, these NAb-expressing B cells appear to be autoantigen-ignorant both in vivo and in vitro, since they cannot be activated with human IgG (even if aggregated) and myoglobin. However, they are not anergic, because they can be activated by B-cell receptor-dependent anti-IgM and B-cell receptor-independent means like LPS. In addition, there is no BCR downmodulation in Smix cIgG mice and no abnormal expression of membrane activation markers. This state has been designated as "clonal ignorance" or "clonal indifference," is independent of CD32 expression by B cells (our unpublished data) and has been reproduced in different animal models.<sup>27,28</sup> This phenotype may be related to the low affinity of the Tg autoAb Smi. However, although the affinity of Smi for its autoantigens is below the threshold to induce tolerance mechanisms (deletion, receptor editing or anergy) and to permit the activation of follicular mature B cells, it is high enough to signal through the BCR at certain steps of B-cell development during which the cells are known to be more sensitive to BCR stimuli. Indeed, the constitutive presence of cIgG in Smi x cIgG mice promotes the increase of the RF-expressing Tg B cells.<sup>15,29</sup> These data support the signal strength model of B-cell development which implies that, in addition to antigenic specificity, B cell positive selection could determine in which subset the B-cell receptor-selected clone will reside (B-1, follicular and marginal zone B cells).<sup>30</sup> In addition, the window of affinities allowing them to escape the tolerance mechanisms controlling autoreactive B cells is probably larger than generally thought, since we obtained similar results with mice expressing a RF with slightly higher affinity (Hul,  $K_D = 5 \times 10^{-8} M$ ).<sup>31</sup>

#### Can NAb-Expressing B Cells Be Activated In Vivo?

In otherwise healthy humans significant levels of autoantibodies, including RF, anti-nuclear antibodies and anti-phospholipid antibodies, have recurrently been reported during the active phases of infectious states, usually with no clinical consequences.<sup>32</sup> Similar findings have been described in mouse infectious diseases.<sup>33</sup> These autoAbs usually have the features of NAbs or are NAbs (e.g., see other chapters in this volume). NAb-expressing B cells could be activated because they cross react with infectious agents or because they participate in the hypergammaglobulinemia that occurs during many infectious diseases. As summarized below the mechanisms of how a hypergammaglobulinemia is induced are far from obvious.

# Mechanisms of Polyclonal B-Cell Activation and Induction of Hypergammaglobulinemia in Infections

It is current knowledge that substantial, nonspecific B-cell activation accompanies viral and bacterial infections and possibly also immune responses against inert antigens.<sup>34</sup> Only a small fraction of the newly synthesized immunoglobulins is specific for the eliciting antigen. This phenomenon is thought to contribute to the long-term maintenance of memory B cells in the absence of the antigen.<sup>35</sup> Significant hypergammaglobulinemia can be detected especially during persistent infections. This is well documented in humans during, for instance, subacute endocarditis, tuberculosis, HIV or HCV viral infections; clinical situations during which NAbs are more frequently detected in serum than in healthy donors. This phenomenon also occurs in mice infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV), vaccinia virus, vesicular stomatitis virus and Borrelia burgdorferi.<sup>31,34,36</sup> Earlier notions emphasized the role of cytokines produced by either activated antigen-presenting cells. T cells activated by microbial peptides or by specific B cells stimulated through their BCR. However, recent studies on LCMV-infected mice have shown that the mechanisms of hypergammaglobulinemia were probably more complex, involving virus-specific T cells and cognate T-cell -B-cell interactions independently of BCR specificity.<sup>34</sup> In this model, LCMV-induced hypergammaglobulinemia is polyclonal, mostly of IgG isotype and only a minor proportion of the activated cells produce virus-specific antibodies. Hypergammaglobulinemia requires: (1) virus-specific T-cell help, since it is not induced in T-cell-deficient mice reconstituted with ovalbumin-specific T cells; (2) CD40-CD40L interactions; (3) expression of MHC class II on B cells. It was further shown that B-cell proliferation accompanies this type of hypergammaglobulinemia.<sup>37</sup> Important for autoimmunity, clonal cell division and cognate T-cell help might permit isotype switching and somatic hypermutations. Hunzicker et al. found indeed that a virus-induced hypergammaglobulinemia was accompanied by an isotype shift from IgM to IgG.<sup>34</sup> However, the predominance of IgG may have another explanation, since switched memory human B cells divide extensively in response to bystander T-cell help, whereas IgM memory B cells and naïve B cells are less responsive or unresponsive.<sup>35</sup>

The second type of a polyclonal stimulus that can trigger B-cell activation in the absence of antigen is represented by pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMPs) receptors, of which the best characterized being Toll-like receptors (TLRs).<sup>38</sup> TLRs are expressed on immune cells, including B lymphocytes with some variations between species. TLR ligands are B-cell mitogens in vitro and in vivo. Interestingly, Jellison and colleagues showed that MyD88, the main adaptor of TLR signaling, was not required within the B cells for LCMV-induced polyclonal B-cell activation.<sup>37</sup> Hypergammaglobulinemia also occurs after murine infection with Borrelia burgdorferi (B. burgdorferi).<sup>31,39</sup> In many inbred mouse strains B. burgdorferi induces a chronic, systemic infection. Infection results in a significant increase (at least 3- to 4- fold) of the total number of lymph node B cells and in hypergammaglobulinemia, mostly IgM, a small fraction of which being directed against B. burgdorferi. Activation of B cells through TLRs certainly plays an important role. Lipoproteins including OspA/B (outer surface proteins A/B) possess potent B-cell mitogenic properties, capable of stimulating polyclonal proliferation and Ig production in vitro and involve TLRs, particularly TLR2.<sup>40,41</sup> We have shown that the proliferation of purified B cells induced by B. burgdorferi is completely abolished when MyD88 is inactivated.<sup>31</sup> In vivo, the participation of other cells, expressing TLRs and/or other Pattern Recognition Receptors, is likely but, notably, the process is not dependent on CD4 T cells, since their blockade does not reduce the production of immunoglobulin.

#### **CONTROL OF B CELLS EXPRESSING NAbs**

#### Do NAb-Expressing B Cells Participate in Polyclonal Activation during Infections?

LCMV-induced hypergammaglobulinemia has been shown to involve autoreactivity, including anti-DNA, anti-thyroglobulin, and anti-insulin autoantibody formation.<sup>34</sup> Basically, this may not be surprising if we take for granted that autoreactive B cells present in normal individuals are essentially "natural" low affinity B cells (NAb-expressing B cells) that have escaped tolerance mechanisms because they fall below the threshold for its induction and that are autoantigen-ignorant at the mature state. Then, polyclonal activation could occur similar to that of other B cells and would result in the production of more of these autoantibodies with no requirement for the presence of autoantigen and with no clinical consequences. The induction of an autoimmune disease would necessitate that this process is accompanied by a mechanism of autoantigen-driven affinity maturation. Indeed, most of autoantibodies from patients with autoimmune diseases are isotype-switched and somatically mutated generally with a pattern, suggesting an autoantigen-driven mechanism. Another nonexclusive possibility would be that some NAb-expressing B cells may have sufficient affinity to bind to autoantigens and to receive some type of signal through the BCR. Under normal circumstances such cells would remain ignorant, because a second signal is lacking or because they are kept silent by active immunological ignorance mechanisms. RF again represents an interesting model to address these issues, since they are one of the most frequent autoantibodies detected during infectious diseases in humans. Under normal conditions RF-expressing B cells seem to ignore their autoantigen and do not secrete RF. The Smi x cIgG and Hul x cIgG mice reproduce this physiological situation.<sup>15,26,31</sup> We have demonstrated recently that a chronic infection with *B. burgdorferi* is able to break this state of immunological ignorance: Tg RF-expressing B cells proliferate like other B cells and RFs contribute to the resulting hypergammaglobulinemia.<sup>31</sup> In vitro experiments showed that this autoantigen-specific step is induced by *B. burgdorferi*-IgG immune complexes, but not by anti-B. burgdorferi-IgG or by B. burgdorferi alone. In addition these experiments show that this autoantigen-specific step involves concurrent stimulations of the BCR and a MyD88-dependent, most probably TLR pathway. Previous studies from Roosnek and Lanzavecchia have shown in vitro that RF-expressing B cells can capture exogenous antigens in immune complex form, process them and present antigenic peptides to specific CD4 T cells.<sup>42</sup> Taken together the data are suggestive of the model of tolerance breach depicted in Figure 1. However this Tg model does not allow us to determine whether these mechanisms can lead to class switch and somatic hypermutations.

Several other data further support that autoreactive B-cell tolerance can be broken by concurrent BCR and TLR signaling and extend this mechanism to B cells expressing other types of autoantibodies. Leadbetter et al. have shown that mammalian chromatin-containing IgG immune complexes induce the proliferation of RF-expressing B cells in vitro.<sup>43</sup> Notably they have provided strong evidence that this mechanism results from the sequential engagement of the BCR and TLR9 and requires intact TLR signaling.<sup>44</sup> The clinical relevance of these data may be questioned since, in patients with autoimmune diseases, RF can be detected in the absence of anti-DNA/chromatin or anti-RNA autoantibodies and vice versa. However, recent in vitro evidence supports that chromatin- and RNA-specific B cells can be directly activated by their autoantigen in a similar TLR-dependent fashion at least as measured by cellular proliferation.<sup>45</sup> In addition, Berland et al. using a knock-in mouse model (564Igi), recently demonstrated that B cells expressing a RNA-specific BCR can be activated in vivo to class switch



**Figure 1.** Possible mechanisms of RF-specific B-cell activation during *B. burgdorferi* infection. A) In mice transgenic for Rheumatoid Factor NAbs (Smi or Hul, designated NAb RF) NAb RF-expressing B cells are stimulated by *B. burgdorferi* through TLR (Toll Like Receptor) interaction and produce low levels of RF-specific NAbs. Such activation does not occur if *MyD88* is invalidated in B cells. B) In NAb x clgG animals the presence of anti-*B. burgdorferi* chimeric IgG (with human constant region recognized by the RF Smi and Hul) leads to the formation of *B. burgdorferi*-containing immune complexes which are able to cosignal through TLR (small black or purple arrow) and RF B-cell receptors (small light gray or blue arrow shows recognition of IgG constant region by NAb RF Smi or Hul). The curved medium gray (or green) arrow shows a potential cross-link between the B-cell receptor and the TLR induced by the immune complex. The immune complexes are internalized and *B. burgdorferi* antigens are processed into antigenic peptides. Then CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells which are specific for B burgdorferi peptides cooperate with NAb RF B cells to increase NAb RF production (the large dark gray or red arrow symbolizes T-cell help leading to increased NAb RF production). (Adapted from ref. 31). A color version of this figure is available online at http://www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

and produce autoantibodies in a TLR7-dependent fashion.<sup>46</sup> Since normal individuals harbor many NAb-expressing B cells that are directed to nucleic acids, it is reasonable to conceive that these cells may be activated by exposure to DNA/RNA containing materials from infectious agents. Pisetsky and colleagues have indeed shown that bacterial DNA induces production of cross-reactive anti-dsDNA autoantibodies in pre-autoimmune NZBxNZW mice.<sup>47</sup>

The next question is whether any NAb-expressing B cell can be activated by this mechanism provided that the autoantigen is accessible to the BCR. An important result from the Smi and Hul RF models is that normal human immunoglobulins (i.e., devoid of anti-*B. burgdorferi* antibody) are unable to increase the activation of RF induced by *B. burgdorferi*. This suggests that a physical interaction or a cross-link between the TLR and the BCR may be required. For anti-nucleic acid producing B cells, such interaction

#### **CONTROL OF B CELLS EXPRESSING NAbs**

could occur at the membrane of the TLR7/9-associated subcellular compartment after internalization of the BCR complexed with RNA/DNA fragments. If a cross-link between TLR and the BCR proved to be required, it could together with the high frequencies of RF and anti-nuclear antibodies expressing B cells in the naïve repertoire, account for the fact that these autoantibodies are the most frequently produced ones during infectious diseases. In this view, Rui et al. have demonstrated in the anti-hen-egg lysozyme (HEL) model that stimulation with the antigen is synergistic with CpG DNA through TLR9 signaling and may require charge-based interactions between HEL and CpG DNA.<sup>48</sup>

To our knowledge it has not been proven that an experimental infection can induce anti-chromatin/RNA production by BCR/TLR synergy. In our RF mice models infected by *B. burgdorferi* the autoantigen-dependent step in RF production requires CD4 T-cell help and CD40-CD40L interaction. While it is clear that RF-expressing B cells can present non-self antigens to T cells during an infection, the mechanisms by which anti-nucleic acid-specific B cells could receive such help are less obvious. The scenario proposed by R Zinkernagel in LCMV-infected mice in which B cells can process antigens independently of their BCR specificity, is however a possibility. However it is noteworthy that the infection of NZBxNZW lupus-prone mice by *B. burgdorferi* does not increase anti-nuclear autoantibodies production and does not modify the course of the lupus disease (our unpublished results).

#### Do Disease-Associated autoAbs Originate from the NAb-Expressing B Cell Pool?

As mentioned before, the main difference between NAbs and disease-associated autoAbs is that the latter have undergone somatic hypermutations. Somatic mutations generate variants of higher affinity for the autoAg but also of lower "multireactivity." Some authors have argued that the loss of multireactivity may be at least as important as the increase of affinity for an autoAb to become pathogenic.<sup>3</sup> According to this hypothesis, NAbs would be harmless because their multireactivity would favor interactions between themselves and possibly other serum components with a "natural neutralisation" as a consequence. Somatic mutations generating variants of lower polyreactivity would isolate the clones and expose their pathogenic potential. Possibly illustrating this hypothesis, we recently described a monoclonal antiphospholipid autoAb, CIC15, originating from a patient with recurrent fetal losses.<sup>7</sup> The transfer of CIC15 to pregnant mice reproduced the human disease. CIC15 binds to cardiolipin and is annexin V dependent. This autoAb is somatically mutated. To clarify the role of the somatic mutations, they were reverted to the germline configuration. The resulting "germline" Ab reacted with multiple self-antigens characteristic of NAbs, partially lost its reactivity to cardiolipin and was no longer dependent on annexin V and, more importantly, was no longer pathogenic. These results illustrate that the antigen-driven somatic hypermutations of NAb-expressing B cells can destroy polyreactivity and be responsible for pathogenicity. Given current knowledge on antigen-driven maturations of B cells, it is difficult to imagine how multireactivity may be counterselected for. It may not be a true counterselection, instead somatic mutations in the V regions may have a high probability to destroy polyreactivity.

Other data suggest that disease-associated autoAbs may not derive from the NAb-expressing B-cell pool, but rather by somatic hypermutations from nonautoimmune mature B cells, responding to antigens in the periphery. To demonstrate that pathologic autoAbs originate from NAbs requires the identification of somatic mutations. This is

often problematic, because of V gene polymorphism, especially in humans, but most of all by the imprecision of V<sub>H</sub> to D and D to J<sub>H</sub> rearrangements and by the presence of untemplated nucleotides in the HCDR3 region that are added by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (Tdt). Yet the HCDR3 region plays an important role in antigen binding in general and in NAb specificity in particular. Recently Wysocky and colleagues took advantage of an autoimmune prone mouse model that develops an SLE-like disease and in which all somatic mutations within antinuclear autoAb variable regions, including HCDR3, can be unequivocally identified.<sup>49</sup> Mutation reversion analyses demonstrated that most antinuclear autoAbs arose from nonautoimmune B cells that had diversified immunoglobulin genes by somatic hypermutation. These data emphasize the importance of yet ill defined self-tolerance mechanisms that operate at the postmutational state of B-cell ontogeny (reviewed in ref. 50).

#### CONCLUSION

From the pool of B-cell precursors in the genetically diverse pre-immune repertoire, NAb-expressing B cells are positively selected. The mechanisms enabling this selection from pre-B to fully mature B cells remain unclear. It is also not clear whether all B cells need to be selected to develop into mature B cells. This would imply that all naive newly generated B cells would be autoreactive. The fact that, for example, transgenic B cells knock-in for antibodies with no detectable self-reactivity develop normally, argues against this hypothesis. However, it is very difficult to be sure that a given antibody does not bind with low affinity to some autoantigen. In the periphery NAb-expressing B cells seem ignorant toward their antigen, probably because their affinities fall below the threshold necessary for activation. However, active, regulatory mechanisms may play a role; for instance the role of regulatory T cells has not been studied in detail. In addition, some NAb-expressing B cells may have sufficient affinity to undergo an autoantigen-driven activation provided for that a second and even a third signal is available. In our model the autoantigen-dependent activation of RF-expressing B cells needs TLR signaling and T-cell help. Thus, many NAb-expressing B cells would be unable to undergo such activation, because of the lack of T-cell help. RF-expressing B cells are, however, particular, because they can present antigen captured as an immune-complex. On the other hand, the presence of memory B cells, expressing somatically mutated NAbs in apparently healthy individuals, suggests that other types of NAb-expressing B cells can undergo full activation and even somatic hypermutations.<sup>51</sup> The critical question whether disease-associated autoAbs may derive from the NAb-expressing B-cell pool is still unresolved and needs further investigations.

#### REFERENCES

- Dighiero G, Lymberi P, Guilbert B et al. Natural autoantibodies constitute a substantial part of normal circulating immunoglobulins. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1986; 475:135-45. PMID:3466566 doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1986. tb20863.x
- Coutinho A, Kazatchkine MD, Avramaes S. Natural Autoantibodies. Curr Opin Immunol 1995; 7:812-8. PMID:8679125 doi:10.1016/0952-7915(95)80053-0
- Zelenay S, Moraes-Fontes MF, Fesel C et al. Physiopathology of natural autoantibodies: the case for regulation. J Autoimmun 2007; 29:229-35. PMID:17967665 doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2007.07.011

#### **CONTROL OF B CELLS EXPRESSING NAbs**

- Wardemann H, Yurasov S, Schaefer A et al. Predominant autoantibody production by early human B cell precursors. Science 2003; 301:1374-7. PMID:12920303 doi:10.1126/science.1086907
- Radic MZ, Weigert M. Genetic and structural evidence for antigen selection of anti-DNA antibodies. Annu Rev Immunol 1994; 12:487-520. PMID:8011289 doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.002415
- Shlomchik MJ, Marshak-Rothstein A, Wolfowicz CB et al. The role of clonal selection and somatic mutation in auto-immunity. Nature 1987; 328:805-11. PMID:3498121 doi:10.1038/328805a0
- Lieby P, Poindron V, Roussi S et al. Pathogenic antiphospholipid antibody: an antigen-selected needle in a haystack. Blood 2004; 104:1711-5. PMID:15166038 doi:10.1182/blood-2004-02-0462
- Casali P, Notkins AL. CD5+B lymphocytes, polyreactive antibodies and the human B-cell repertoire. Immunol Today 1989; 10:364-8. PMID:2482031 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(89)90268-5
- Martin T, Duffy SF, Carson DA et al. Evidence for somatic selection of natural autoantibodies. J Exp Med 1992; 175:983-91. PMID:1552291 doi:10.1084/jem.175.4.983
- Martin T, Crouzier R, Weber JC et al. Structure-function studies on a polyreactive (Natural) autoantibody. Polyreactivity is dependent on somatically generated sequences in the third complementarity-determining region of the antibody heavy chain. J Immunol 1994; 152:5988-96. PMID:8207223
- Crouzier R, Martin T, Pasquali JL. Heavy chain variable region, light chain variable region and heavy chain CDR3 influences on the mono and polyreactivity and on the affinity of human monoclonal rheumatoid factors. J Immunol 1995; 154:4526-35. PMID:7722307
- Ichiyoshi Y, Casali P. Analysis of the structural correlates for antibody polyreactivity by multiple reassortments of chimeric human immunoglobulin heavy and light chain V segments. J Exp Med 1994; 180:885-95. PMID:8064239 doi:10.1084/jem.180.3.885
- Köhler F, Hug E, Eschbach C et al. Autoreactive B cell receptors mimic autonomous pre-B cell receptor signaling and induce proliferation of early B cells. Immunity 2008; 29:912-21. PMID:19084434 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.10.013
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA et al. Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells. Science 1999; 285:113-6. PMID:10390361 doi:10.1126/science.285.5424.113
- Julien S, Soulas P, Garaud JC et al. B cell positive selection by soluble self-antigen. J Immunol 2002; 169:4198-204. PMID:12370349
- Wang H, Clarke SH. Evidence for a ligand-mediated positive selection signal in differentiation to a mature B cell. J Immunol 2003; 171:6381-8. PMID:14662836
- Wang H, Clarke SH. Positive selection focuses the VH12 B-cell repertoire towards a single B1 specificity with survival function. Immunol Rev 2004; 197:51-9. PMID:14962186 doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.0098.x
- Ohnishi K, Melchers F. The nonimmunoglobulin portion of lambda5 mediates cell-autonomous pre-B cell receptor signaling. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:849-56. PMID:12897780 doi:10.1038/ni959
- Koralov SB, Novobrantseva TI, Konigsmann J et al. Antibody repertoires generated by VH replacement and direct VH to JH joining. Immunity 2006; 25:43-53. PMID:16860756 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.04.016
- 20. Gauthier L, Rossi B, Roux F et al. Galectin-1 is a stromal cell ligand of the pre-B cell receptor (BCR) implicated in synapse formation between pre-B and stromal cells and in pre-BCR triggering. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:13014-9. PMID:12271131 doi:10.1073/pnas.202323999
- Bradl H, Wittmann J, Milius D et al. Interaction of murine precursor B cell receptor with stroma cells is controlled by the unique tail of lambda 5 and stroma cell-associated heparin sulfate. J Immunol 2003; 171:2338-48. PMID:12928380
- Hardy RR. B-1 cells:development, selection, natural autoantibody and leukemia. Curr Opin Immunol 2006; 18:547-55. PMID:16879952 doi:10.1016/j.coi.2006.07.010
- Von Boehmer H, Melchers F. Checkpoints in lymphocyte development and autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol 2010; 11:14-20. PMID:20016505 doi:10.1038/ni.1794
- Pasquali JL, Soulas-Sprauel P, Korganow AS et al. Auto-reactive B cells in transgenic mice. J Autoimmun 2007; 29:250-6. PMID:17845841 doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2007.07.006
- Shlomchik MJ, Zharhary D, Saunders T et al. A rheumatoid factor transgenic mouse model of autoantibody regulation. Int Immunol 1993; 5:1329-41. PMID:8268138 doi:10.1093/intimm/5.10.1329
- Koenig-Marrony S, Soulas P, Julien S et al. Natural autoreactive B cells in transgenic mice reproduce an apparent paradox to the clonal tolerance theory. J Immunol 2001; 166:1463-70. PMID:11160185
- Aplin BD, Keech CL, de Kauwe AL et al. Tolerance through indifference: autoreactive B cells to the nuclear antigen La show no evidence of tolerance in a transgenic model. J Immunol 2003; 171:5890-900. PMID:14634099
- Hannum LG, Ni D, Haberman AM et al. A disease-related rheumatoid factor autoantibody is not tolerized in a normal mouse: implications for the origins of autoantibodies in autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 1996; 184:1269-78. PMID:8879198 doi:10.1084/jem.184.4.1269
- 29. Soulas P, Koenig-Marrony S, Julien S et al. A role for membrane IgD in the tolerance of pathological human rheumatoid factor B cells. Eur J Immunol 2002; 32:2623-34. PMID:12207347 doi:10.1002/ 1521-4141(200209)32:9<2623::AID-IMMU2623>3.0.CO;2-0

- Cariappa A, Tang M, Parng C et al. The follicular versus marginal zone B lymphocyte cell fate decision is regulated by Aiolos, Btk, and CD21. Immunity 2001; 14:603. PMID:11371362 doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(01)00135-2
- Soulas P, Woods A, Jaulhac B et al. Autoantigen, innate immunity, and T cells cooperate to break B cell tolerance during bacterial infection. J Clin Invest 2005; 115:2257-67. PMID:16041408 doi:10.1172/ JCI24646
- Hansen KE, Arnason J, Bridges AJ. Autoantibodies and common viral illnesses. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1998; 27:263-71. PMID:9572708 doi:10.1016/S0049-0172(98)80047-4
- Ludewig B, Krebs P, Metters H et al. Molecular characterization of virus-induced autoantibody responses. J Exp Med 2004; 200:637-46. PMID:15353556 doi:10.1084/jem.20040358
- Hunziker L, Recher M, Macpherson AJ et al. Hypergammaglobulinemia and autoantibody induction mechanisms in viral infections. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:343-9. PMID:12627229 doi:10.1038/ni911
- Bernasconi NL, Traggiai E, Lanzavecchia A. Maintenance of serological memory by polyclonal activation of human memory B cells. Science 2002; 298:2199-202. PMID:12481138 doi:10.1126/science.1076071
- Recher M, Hunziker L, Ciurea A et al. Public, private and non-specific antibodies induced by non-cytopathic viral infections. Curr Opin Microbiol 2004; 7:426-33. PMID:15358263 doi:10.1016/j.mib.2004.06.008
- 37. Jellison ER, Guay HM, Szomolanyi-Tsuda E et al. Dynamics and magnitude of virus-induced polyclonal B cell activation mediated by BCR-independent presentation of viral antigen. Eur J Immunol 2007; 37:119-28. PMID:17163452 doi:10.1002/eji.200636516
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol 2010; 11:373-84. PMID:20404851 doi:10.1038/ni.1863
- Woods A, Soulas-Sprauel P, Jaulhac B et al. MyD88 negatively controls hypergammaglobulinemia with autoantibody production during bacterial infection. Infect Immun 2008; 76:1657-67. PMID:18227170 doi:10.1128/IAI.00951-07
- Bolz DD, Sundsbak RS, Ma Y et al. MyD88 plays a unique role in host defense but not arthritis development in Lyme disease. J Immunol 2004; 173:2003-10. PMID:15265935
- 41. Alexopoulou L, Thomas V, Schnare M et al. Hyporesponsiveness to vaccination with Borrelia burgdorferi OspA in humans and in TLR1- and TLR2- deficient mice. Nat Med 2002; 8:878-84. PMID:12091878
- Roosnek E, Lanzavecchia A. Efficient and selective presentation of antigen-antibody complexes by rheumatoid factor B cells. J Exp Med 1991; 173:487-9. PMID:1703209 doi:10.1084/jem.173.2.487
- 43. Leadbetter EA, Rifkin IR, Hohlbaum AM et al. Chromatin-IgG complexes activate B cells by dual engagement of IgM and Toll-like receptors. Nature 2002; 416:603-7. PMID:11948342 doi:10.1038/416603a
- 44. Lau ČM, Broughton C, Tabor AS et al. RNA-associated autoantigens activate B cells by combined B cell antigen receptor/Toll-like receptor 7 engagement. J Exp Med 2005; 202:1171-7. PMID:16260486 doi:10.1084/jem.20050630
- Viglianti GA, Lau CM, Hanley TM et al. Activation of autoreactive B cells by CpG dsDNA. Immunity 2003; 19:837-47. PMID:14670301 doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00323-6
- Berland R, Fernandez L, Kari E et al. Toll-like receptor 7-dependent loss of B cell tolerance in pathogenic autoantibody knockin mice. Immunity 2006; 25:429-40. PMID:16973388 doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.07.014
- 47. Gilkeson GS, Pippen AM, Pisetsky DS. Induction of cross-reactive anti-dsDNA antibodies in preautoimmune NZB/NZW mice by immunization with bacterial DNA. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:1398-402. PMID:7883986 doi:10.1172/JCI117793
- Rui L, Vinuesa CG, Blasioli J et al. Resistance to CpG DNA-induced autoimmunity through tolerogenic B cell antigen receptor ERK signaling. Nat Immunol 2003; 4:594-600. PMID:12740574 doi:10.1038/ni924
- Guo W, Smith D, Aviszus K et al. Somatic hypermutation as a generator of antinuclear antibodies in a murine model of systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med 2010; 207:2225-37. PMID:20805563 doi:10.1084/ jem.20092712
- Vinuesa CG, Sanz I, Cook MC. Dysregulation of germinal centres in autoimmune disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2009; 9:845-57. PMID:19935804 doi:10.1038/nri2637
- 51. Lieby P, Soley A, Knapp AM et al. Memory B cells producing somatically mutated antiphospholipid antibodies are present in healthy individuals. Blood 2003; 102:2459-65. PMID:12791657 doi:10.1182/ blood-2003-01-0180

# CHAPTER 12

# GRANULOCYTE DEATH REGULATION BY NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES

## Stephan von Gunten and Hans-Uwe Simon

Institute of Pharmacology, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland Corresponding Author: Stephan von Gunten—Email: stephan.vongunten@pki.unibe.ch

Abstract: Programmed cell death (PCD) plays a central role in the regulation of granulocytes that are key effector cells of the innate immune system. Granulocytes are produced in high amounts in the bone marrow. A safe elimination of granulocytes by cell death (apoptosis) is essential to maintain the numbers of these cells balanced. In many acute and chronic inflammatory diseases, delayed apoptosis is one mechanism that contributes to accumulation of neutrophil and eosinophil granulocytes at the site of inflammation. On the other hand, a safe elimination of granulocytes by cell death is required to avoid unwanted tissue damage for instance by secretion of toxic products from these cells. Recent evidence shows that humans produce an array of naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) with the capacity to regulate granulocyte death, including agonistic and antagonistic NAbs that bind to the receptors Fas, Siglec-8, and Siglec-9. Together with other factors, these various NAbs exhibit different properties in terms of the form of cell death they induce, the molecular signaling pathways they engage, as well as the efficacy or potency by which they induce cell death. Moreover, several regulatory mechanisms seem to exist that control their biological activity. Novel insights support the concept of granulocyte death regulation by NAbs, which might have important implications for our understanding of the pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory diseases, including many autoimmune and allergic disorders.

## INTRODUCTION

Regulation of immune cells by programmed cell death is a key process in the maintenance of immune homeostasis, the control of immune responses, and the

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

<sup>©2012</sup> Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

resolution phase of inflammtion.<sup>1-4</sup> As effector cells of the innate immune system, neutrophil and eosinophil granulocytes are involved in a broad range of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. Unspecific secretion of toxic products and phagocytosis are key functions of these cells and a tight regulation of their lifespan is required to avoid uncontrolled tissue damage.<sup>2,3</sup> Granulocytes are short-living cells that die in the absence of inflammation, within a few days in a process called spontaneous apoptosis. At the site of inflammation, granulocyte apoptosis is delayed by the presence of survival factors including cytokines, a process that supports the often massive accumulation of granulocytes. Certain granulocyte survival factors have the capacity to block caspase-dependent, pro-apoptotic death pathways, as shown for the cytokines granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) or interleukin-5 (IL-5).<sup>23,5</sup> On the other hand, granulocytes express death receptors of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF)/nerve growth factor (NGF) family, including Fas, with the capacity to accelerate the apoptosis of neutrophils and eosinophils.<sup>23,5</sup>

Recent evidence shows that members of the novel receptor family of sialic acid binding immunoglobulin (Ig)-like lectins (Siglecs) are also empowered to transmit death signals into granulocytes.<sup>5</sup> Siglec-8 is expressed on eosinophils, whereas neutrophils express the structurally related family member Siglec-9.<sup>6</sup> Interestingly, Siglec-8- and Siglec-9-mediated granulocyte death is dramatically enhanced in the presence of cytokines.<sup>7,8</sup> By recruitment of alternative caspase-independent death pathways,<sup>8</sup> Siglecs have the capacity to transmit death signals despite an anti-apoptotic microenvironment, such as at the site of inflammation.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, Siglecs are also viewed as "safeguards" to protect from overwhelming immune responses by granulocytes.<sup>5,9</sup>

Evidence is accumulating that human intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) preparations, derived from the pooled plasma of thousands of healthy blood donors, contain functional NAbs to Fas, Siglec-8 and Siglec-9 receptors, that trigger granulocyte death at clinically relevant concentrations.<sup>10,11</sup> IVIG is increasingly being used as a high-dose therapy for the treatment of inflammatory diseases for licensed indications and off-label applications.<sup>12-14</sup> The mode of its anti-inflammatory action is complex and experimental evidence suggests that, among other factors, death regulation of immune cells by NAbs is involved.<sup>10,12,13,15-17</sup> These mechanisms may act in a mutually nonexclusive fashion depending on the pathogenesis of the disease, and may include both F(ab)- and Fc-related processes.<sup>10,12-14</sup> IVIG-induced programmed cell death of granulocytes appears to be F(ab)- and not Fc-mediated, as revealed by experiments using  $F(ab)_2$  fragments of IVIG, Fc $\gamma$  receptor blocking experiments and other controls.<sup>16,18</sup>

In 1998 Viard et al. identified blocking antibodies directed against Fas within IVIG with the capacity to inhibit Fas-mediated keratinocyte apoptosis in toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), also known as Lyell's syndrome.<sup>19</sup> Soon thereafter it became clear that IVIG not only contains blocking, but also agonistic anti-Fas antibodies with the capacity to induce caspase-dependent apoptosis in human neutrophils, monocytes and lymphocytes.<sup>20-22</sup> Both, the protection of tissue cells by blocking anti-Fas antibodies, and the elimination of immune cells by agonistic pro-apoptotic antibodies might contribute to the anti-inflammatory effect of high-dose IVIG treatment. The concurrent presence of agonistic and antagonistic anti-Fas antibodies in IVIG has been confirmed and it has been shown that the resulting effect on granulocyte death is concentration-dependent.<sup>20</sup> The balance between Fas-stimulating and Fas-blocking antibodies has recently been shown to vary among different IVIG preparations.<sup>23</sup>

#### **GRANULOCYTE DEATH REGULATION BY NAbs**

In 2006 we identified NAbs directed against Siglec-9, soon followed by the discovery of anti-Siglec-8 NAbs, showing that regulation of granulocyte death by NAbs is not restricted to Fas, but may include antibodies to several other death-promoting receptors.<sup>16,18</sup> Are these diverse antibodies as regulatory means redundant or complementary? Indeed, there are relevant differences between the systems involving Fas and Siglecs. For instance, as opposed to Fas-mediated apoptosis, Siglec-triggered death effects on granulocytes are cytokine-dependent and dramatically increased in inflammatory, primed granulocytes, as compared with unstimulated, quiescent cells.<sup>8,24</sup> Experimental evidence further suggests that Siglecs have the capacity to turn anti-apoptotic survival factors into killers by recruitment of alternative pathways of programmed cell death.<sup>5</sup> Under inflammatory conditions, Siglec-specific NAbs might therefore play a key role in the regulation of granulocyte death. Compared with the classical death receptor TNF/NGF family, considerably less is known about the novel family of Siglecs, which shall therefore be briefly introduced in the next section.

#### SIGLECS

Siglecs form a family of cell surface receptors that is broadly expressed on immune cells and that characteristically binds to sialic acid-containing carbohydrate structures (sialoglycans).<sup>6,25-28</sup> Interest in Siglecs has grown over the recent years as experimental evidence has accumulated showing that these receptors play an important role in the regulation of the immune system. Siglecs mediate predominantly inhibitory signals, with the exception of a few members that transmit activating signals.<sup>6</sup> Besides induction of cell death, Siglecs have been shown to regulate processes such as cell expansion, cytokine production, cellular activation and cell adhesion processes (reviewed in ref. 6).

Given their carbohydrate-binding characteristics and their subsumption to the immunoglobulin superfamily, Siglecs are classified as I-type lectins. Siglecs are single-pass transmembrane receptors that comprise an extracellular region consisting of a sialic acid-binding N-terminal variable (V)-set immunoglobulin (Ig) domain followed by a series of C2-set Ig domains (1-16), a transmembrane region and a cytosolic tail with tyrosine residues located within characteristic signaling domains. Like other inhibitory immune receptor families such as killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), most but not all Siglecs possess an intracellular immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM). In several members of the so-called CD33-related Siglec (CD33rSiglec) subfamily this ITIM is followed by a more distal ITIM-like signaling domain, as depicted for Siglec-8 and Siglec-9 in Figure 1. Upon engagement of the receptor, ITIMs are tyrosine phosphorylated and recruit inhibitory phosphatases, such as Src homology domain 2 (SH2)-containing tyrosine phosphatase-1 (SHP-1), SHP-2 and SH2-containing inositol phosphatase (SHIP), eventually resulting in inhibitory or death signals depending on the cell type.<sup>5,6,26,27,29,30</sup> In Siglecs, increased tyrosine phophorylation of these motifs has also been observed within a few minutes after cytokine stimulation.<sup>8,31</sup> These phosphorylation events might contribute to the cytokine-dependency of Siglecs-mediated cell death.5

Siglecs are encoded as a large gene cluster on chromosome 19 in humans, which includes the evolutionary conserved members sialoadhesin, CD22, CD33 and myelin-associated glycoprotein, as well as the CD33rSiglec subfamily. The CD33rSiglec



**Figure 1.** Domains arrangement in Siglec-8 and Siglec-9. The extracellular region consists of one sialic acid-binding, N-terminal variable (V)-set immunoglobulin (Ig) domain followed by 2 C2-set Ig domains. The number of C2-set Ig domains may vary in other Siglec family members (1–16). The intracellular regions of Siglec-8 and Siglec-9 contain a proximal immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) followed by a more distal ITIM-like signaling domain. Upon tyrosine phosphorylation these tyrosine-based motifs recruit inhibitory phosphatases, which may result either in inhibitory or death signals depending on the cell type. Art by Aldona von Gunten.

subfamily consists predominantly of inhibitory leukocyte receptors including Siglec-8 and Siglec-9.6 CD33rSiglecs differ significantly between different species, which is reflected by nomenclature, such that for instance CD33rSiglecs in humans are numbered, but lettered in the mouse.<sup>6</sup> Based on a recent comparative genomic analysis of species including primates, rodents, dog, cow, marsupials, amphibians and fish, it has been proposed that CD33rSiglecs expanded in mammals through a major inverse duplication event involving a smaller primordial sub-cluster of Siglec genes over 180 million years ago.<sup>32</sup> While rodents appear to have undergone a loss of CD33rSiglec genes after the inverse duplication, CD33rSiglecs expanded in primates and several are pseudogenes with signaling motifs consistent with activating receptors.<sup>32</sup> It has been proposed that the occurrence of evolutionary changes in their sialic acid ligands, i.e., sialobiology, might have resulted accordingly in rapid adjustments of Siglec receptors.<sup>33</sup> Interestingly, pathogens have acquired various strategies to decorate their surface by sialic acid structures resembling those of vertebrates,<sup>34</sup> and by this means, might evade immune responses through molecular mimicry, eventually by engagement of Siglecs.<sup>26,27,35</sup> The diversification of CD33rSiglecs within mammals may therefore reflect the ongoing evolutionary arms race between host and pathogen.<sup>26,35,36</sup> Provided the widely differing CD33rSiglec repertoires between mammals, investigations in vivo using genetically modified animals will require careful and sophisticated strategies.<sup>5,10</sup>

# NEUTROPHIL DEATH INDUCED BY NATURAL ANTI-SIGLEC-9 AUTOANTIBODIES

Siglec-9 is highly expressed on human neutrophils and monocytes, and at lower levels on subpopulations of lymphocytes.<sup>6</sup> In a study using purified human bone marrow cells, we found that neutrophils gain Siglec-9 late in differentiation, not before the myelocyte stage but before CD16 expression.<sup>8</sup> Siglecs can be masked by binding in cis to endogenous ligands on the same cell surface, as shown for a significant proportion of Siglec-9 receptors on monocytes.<sup>8</sup> In contrast, on neutrophils the majority of Siglec-9 receptors appears to be unmasked,<sup>8</sup> free to bind in trans to ligands on other cells or on structures of the surrounding tissue environment. Functionally, ligation of Siglec-9 by monoclonal antibodies has been shown to result in inhibition of cellular activities in a variety of different cell types, and in cell death of neutrophils.<sup>8,37-39</sup> The recruitment of the inhibitory phosphatases, SHP-1 and SHP-2, upon tyrosine phosphorylation of intracellular signaling domains of the receptor, might be implicated in both inhibitory and death promoting functions of Siglec-9.<sup>5,8,31,37,38</sup>

In analogy to the classical death receptor Fas, ligation of Siglec-9 on human primary neutrophils by a monoclonal antibody induces caspase-dependent apoptosis.<sup>8,40</sup> In striking contrast to Fas, however, neutrophil death induced by Siglec-9 is cytokine-dependent, with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN- $\alpha$ ), and IFN- $\gamma$ , dramatically enhancing the rate of death. Similarly, Siglec-9 mediated death is increased in human neutrophils, isolated and studied ex vivo from inflammatory diseases, such as sepsis or rheumatoid arthritis (Fig. 2A).<sup>8,40</sup> Light and transmission electron microscopic analysis revealed that unstimulated neutrophils undergoing Siglec-9-mediated death show classical features of apoptosis (Fig. 2B).<sup>8</sup> In contrast, GM-CSF-primed inflammatory neutrophils undergoing Siglec-9-mediated death exhibited multiple vacuole-like structures, an observation that prompted us to refer to this kind of death as autophagy-like cell death.<sup>8,17</sup> Siglec-9 in the absence of cytokines triggers classical apoptotic pathways, involving cleavage and activation of caspases, similar to Fas-mediated apoptosis.<sup>8</sup> In contrast, autophagy-like cell death in the presence of cytokines turned out to involve caspase-independent molecular pathways that include reactive oxygen species.<sup>8</sup> Taken together, the cytokine microenvironment appears to greatly influence Siglec-9-mediated neutrophil death, since in inflammatory cells alternative non-apoptotic death pathways are recruited.5

IVIG accelerates the spontaneous apoptosis of neutrophils in vitro at concentrations reached systemically upon IVIG high-dose therapy.<sup>18,20</sup> Ithas been shown that IVIG-mediated cell death is dramatically enhanced among neutrophils primed with cytokines (GM-CSF, IFN-γ) as compared with unstimulated cells.<sup>18</sup> IVIG induced an autophagy-like morphology in neutrophils, reminiscent of cells treated with monoclonal autoantibodies to Siglec-9 (see above). This finding suggested the presence of anti-Siglec-9 NAbs in IVIG. Indeed, the presence of functional anti-Siglec-9 NAbs in IVIG was confirmed by experiments using surface plasmon resonance (Fig. 3A).<sup>18</sup> In flow cytometric experiments, purified anti-Siglec-9 NAbs derived from IVIG exhibited a similar surface staining pattern on neutrophils as a commercial monoclonal anti-Siglec-9 Ab (Fig. 3B).<sup>18</sup>

Treating human neutrophils with IVIG: what impact has the removal of anti-Siglec-9 NAbs on neutrophil viability? In the absence of cytokines treatment of normal neutrophils


**Figure 2.** Inflammatory neutrophils demonstrate increased Siglec-9–mediated cell death that has morphologic characteristics of apoptosis and autophagy-like cell death. A) Blood neutrophils from healthy controls and from patients with sepsis, as well as joint fluid neutrophils from rheumatic arthritis patients were incubated with anti-Siglec-9 mAb in the absence or presence of 25 ng/ml GM-CSF. Cell death was assessed after 24 h \*\*p < 0.01. B) Light microscopy: anti–Siglec-9 cross-linking alone induced neutrophil apoptosis (reduced cell volume and nuclear condensation compared). GM-CSF followed by Siglec-9 engagement resulted in both apoptotic and aberrant death characterized by cytoplasmic vacuolization (arrows). C) Transmission electron microscopy: panel i demonstrates a normal viable neutrophil; panel ii shows an apoptotic neutrophil with condensation of the nucleus and cell shrinkage. Panels iii and iv demonstrate the aberrant morphology of GM-CSF–primed and Siglec-9–stimulated neutrophils. Approximately 25% of these cells showed condensation of the nucleus and cell shrinkage (iv). The plasma membrane appeared to be intact. The cells in panels B and C were from 15-h cultures. Reproduced with permission from von Gunten S et al. Blood 2005; 106:1423-31.<sup>8</sup> ©2005 The American Society of Hematology.



**Figure 3.** IVIG contains NAbs against human Siglec-9 that mediate cytokine-dependent neutrophil death. A) Surface plasma resonance (SPR): Sensorgrams of the binding activity of different fractions of IVIG, affinity purified anti-Siglec-9 from IVIG (anti–Siglec-9 IVIG), and a control anti–Siglec-9 mAb to immobilized recombinant Siglec-9/Fc fusion protein, confirming the existence of autoantibodies against Siglec-9 in IVIG. B) Flow cytometry: Purified human anti–Siglec-9 NAbs from IVIG and mouse anti–Siglec-9 mAb similarly bound to the cell surfaces of freshly isolated neutrophils (black peak: control staining; white peak: anti–Siglec-9 staining). C) DNA fragmentation assay. Both IVIG and anti–Siglec-9-depleted IVIG induced DNA fragmentation in the absence of GM-CSF. In the presence of GM-CSF, IVIG treatment of neutrophils resulted in enhanced DNA fragmentation that was not seen with anti–Siglec-9-depleted IVIG. Reproduced from von Gunten S et al. Blood 2006; 108:4255-9.<sup>18</sup>

with IVIG or anti-Siglec-9-depleted IVIG results in programmed cell death, by both preparations (Fig. 3C).<sup>18</sup> This is expected considering that IVIG contains agonistic anti-Fas NAbs and eventually other redundant pro-apoptotic antibodies that may cause neutrophil death in the absence of anti-Siglec-9 NAbs. In contrast, the situation is different for inflammatory neutrophils. In GM-CSF-primed cells the heavily accelerated IVIG-induced death response observed with total IVIG is almost completely lost, if anti-Siglec-9-depleted IVIG is used.<sup>18</sup> These findings suggest that upon IVIG treatment anti-Siglec-9 NAbs are responsible for the increased and cytokine-dependent death response of inflammatory neutrophils as compared with unstimulated neutrophils. The increased responsiveness of inflammatory neutrophils to Siglec-9-mediated death might provide a feedback mechanism triggered by anti-Siglec-9-NAbs under inflammatory conditions. These findings also suggest that in disease, Siglec-9-dependent effects of IVIG may vary according to the stage of the disease and patient characteristics (Fig. 4). The increased Siglec-9-associated neutrophil cytotoxicity of IVIG in a cytokine-rich environment might contribute to the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG in the broad range of inflammatory diseases involving neutrophils.



**Figure 4.** Schematic representation of proposed factors influencing IVIG-mediated cell death of a neutrophilic granulocyte as a target cell. The efficacy and/or potency of the cytotoxic effects of IVIG depend on the preparation being used and on characteristics of the treated patient or species (experimental models). Engagement of Fas or Siglec-9 by agonistic autoantibodies contained in IVIG induces cell death in neutrophils. Batch-to-batch variations in titer and ratio of agonistic vs. antagonistic anti-Fas autoantibodies result in differential effects on Fas, which are concentration dependent. The systemic or local cytokine profile of the patient may facilitate IVIG-induced neutrophil death, because Siglec-9-mediated cell death is enhanced in the presence of cytokines due to priming effects. For yet unknown reasons, transient resistance may block Siglec-9 death pathways in a subset of patients, depending on the stage of disease. Siglec-E, but not Siglec-9, is expressed in mouse neutrophils. With kind permission from Springer Science+Business Media from von Gunten S et al. J Clin Immunol 2010; 30(Suppl 1):S24-30.<sup>10</sup>

### EOSINOPHIL DEATH INDUCED BY NATURAL ANTI-SIGLEC-8 AUTOANTIBODIES: A ROLE IN ALLERGIC DISEASE?

Siglec-8 is highly expressed on human eosinophilic granulocytes and mast cells, and weakly on basophils.<sup>6,9</sup> Asthma and other forms of allergic inflammation involve selective tissue accumulation and activation of eosinophils, basophils and mast cells.<sup>41</sup> Marked, unexplained blood and tissue eosinophilia is the hallmark of the hypereosinophilic syndrome (HES), which is associated with a variety of clinical manifestations, including idiopathic hypereosinophilic syndrome (IHES), Churg-Strauss syndrome (CSS), and eosinophil-associated gastrointestinal disease (EGID).<sup>42-46</sup> The regulation of eosinophils, basophils or mast cells by cell inhibition or death has important implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of these diseases.<sup>9,41-44,47,48</sup> Recent insights on Siglec-8 biology suggest a potential role of anti-Siglec-8 NAbs in the regulation of these cells.<sup>11</sup>

In eosinophils, ligation of Siglec-8 by monoclonal antibodies results in caspase-, mitochondrial-, and reactive oxygen species-dependent apoptosis.<sup>7,24</sup> In analogy to

Siglec-9 on neutrophils, Siglec-8 mediated eosinophil death is significantly increased by cytokines, including GM-CSF and interleukin (IL)-5.<sup>24</sup> Whereas little is known about Siglec-8 function on basophils, it has become clear that in mast cells Siglec-8 counteracts stimulatory signals, resulting in inhibition of the release of inflammatory mediators.<sup>49</sup> In contrast to eosinophils, Siglec-8 engagement failed to induce human mast cell apoptosis.<sup>49</sup> Targeting of Siglec-8 is currently discussed as a novel treatment strategy for the treatment of asthma, allergies, HES and related disorders, where overproduction and overactivity of eosinophils and mast cells is occurring.<sup>9,48</sup> This notion is supported by results from in vivo models of allergic asthma and hypereosinophilia on Siglec-F,<sup>50-54</sup> which is a closely related functional paralog of human Siglec-8 in mice.<sup>48</sup>

IVIG contains NAbs specific for Siglec-8.<sup>16</sup> The functionality of them has been tested in death assays using primary human eosinophils.<sup>16</sup> Eosinophils, like neutrophils, undergo cell death upon treatment with IVIG in vitro, which is enhanced in the presence of cytokines such as GM-CSF, IL-5, IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and leptin, but not IL-1b and macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) (Fig. 5A).<sup>16</sup> Inflammatory eosinophils from HES patients, presumably exposed to IL-5 in vivo,<sup>55,56</sup> exhibit an increased susceptibility for IVIG-mediated eosinophil death ex vivo.<sup>16</sup> As reported for neutrophils, IVIG-mediated eosinophil death is the result of specific F(ab)-dependent effects of PCD-inducing antibodies within pooled IgG and does not depend on the Fc-portion, as shown in experiments using F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragments of IVIG and Fc $\gamma$  receptor blocking assays.<sup>16</sup>

#### SIMILARITIES AND DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GRANULOCYTE DEATH-INDUCING NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES

Why do humans produce NAbs against divergent death receptors, if the common outcome is death? Current knowledge provides several answers. For instance, one obvious explanation is that the heterogeneity of these antibodies might provide a means for targeting specific cell types, while other cells are exempt, as distinct death receptors exhibit divergent tissue expression. In contrast to Fas, which is widely expressed on cellular surfaces of many tissues, the expression pattern of Siglec-8 and Siglec-9 is narrow and restricted to a defined set of specific immune effector cells. Second, unequal forms of PCD may be triggered by different death receptors upon ligation with NAbs. As discussed, under certain conditions Siglecs recruit alternative caspase-independent cell death pathways in granulocytes that exhibit an autophagy-like morphology, as opposed to Fas, which induces classical and caspase-dependent apoptosis.<sup>5</sup> Third, the sensitivity of cells for death signals triggered by different death receptors is variable. Both the efficacy and potency of agonistic Siglec-specific, but not Fas-directed, NAbs is significantly enhanced in inflammatory granulocytes as opposed to unstimulated cells. This is in line with the hypothesis that the raison d'être of Siglec-mediated death regulation of granulocytes is in inflammatory disease, providing a feedback regulation mechanism to control granulocyte immune responses.<sup>5</sup> Fourth, a divergent range of receptor-associated biological functions has been described for Siglecs and Fas: In addition to cell death regulation, reported functions of Siglecs include the regulation of cell proliferation and cellular activation, cytokine secretion and cell adhesion.<sup>6,26</sup> NAbs to Siglecs might therefore be implicated in the regulation of several of these cellular processes, depending on the cell type. Taken together, the role of NAbs to Fas and Siglecs might differ considerably and depending on the circumstances these antibodies might act mutually exclusive or in concert.



**Figure 5.** A) Eosinophils from patients with hypereosinophilic syndrome (HES) demonstrate increased IVIG-mediated cell death susceptibility. Although spontaneous death of HES eosinophils was delayed, IVIG-mediated death was significantly enhanced compared with eosinophils from healthy individuals. In vitro priming with IL-5, GM-CSF, or leptin had no additional effect on these inflammatory eosinophils, which suggests that blood eosinophils from patients with HES were primed in vivo. \*\*p < 0.01. B) Concentration-effect curves of total IVIG and anti–Siglec-8–depleted IVIG. respectively, in 24-h eosinophil cultures. In the absence of IL-5 pretreatment, both death efficacy and potency of anti–Siglec-8–depleted IVIG was similar to total IVIG. Depletion of anti–Siglec-8 NAbs, however, resulted in loss of IL-5-mediated increase of death efficacy and potency of IVIG. Results of 24-h cultures are shown in all panels. Reproduced from von Gunten S et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 119:1005-11.<sup>16</sup>

## **REGULATION OF GRANULOCYTE DEATH-INDUCING NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES**

The elimination of granulocytes by cell death is one important immunoregulatory process. We now understand that a variety of NAbs exists that act as agonists on granulocyte death receptors, including Fas, Siglec-8 or Siglec-9. Such autoantibodies are thought to contribute to the anti-inflammatory action of IVIG.<sup>10-13,15</sup> On the other hand, regulatory mechanisms must exist that control the activity of these potentially harmful NAbs. Based on recent experimental evidence, the following potential regulatory mechanisms for the control of death-inducing NAbs are currently being discussed:

#### **Antagonistic Antibodies**

As discussed above agonistic and antagonistic autoantibodies to Fas have been detected in human IVIG that compete for binding to the receptor (Fig. 4). The resulting death effect is concentration-dependent and depends on titer and ratio of agonistic vs. antagonistic anti-Fas autoantibodies.<sup>20</sup>

#### **Anti-Idiotypic Antibodies**

We have experimental evidence that humans produce anti-idiotypic (Id) NAbs that bind to anti-Siglec-9 NAbs.<sup>57</sup> Anti-idiotypes are antibodies that are capable of interacting with variable regions of other antibody molecules to form Id-anti-Id complexes. Id-anti-Id complexes are thought to contribute to dimer formation in IVIG.<sup>58</sup> Since both dimeric and monomeric IVIG contain anti-Fas autoantibodies,<sup>57</sup> it is possible that a proportion of these antibodies are bound by anti-idiotypes. Anti-idiotypic regulation<sup>59</sup> might present one means to control the accessibility of NAbs against death receptors on granulocytes.

#### Soluble Receptors

Soluble forms of the Fas receptor exist that protect Fas-bearing sensitive cells from apoptosis induced by agonistic antibodies or by the Fas ligand.<sup>60,61</sup> Soluble Fas molecules could act as scavengers for anti-Fas NAbs and block the interaction of these antibodies with the Fas receptor (Fig. 4).

## Sensitivity of the Target Cell

Due to cytokine-mediated priming effects inflammatory granulocytes exhibit an enhanced sensitivity to Siglec-8- and Siglec-9-triggered cell death compared with non-inflammatory, unstimulated cells. Similarly, cytokine-exposed granulocytes undergo increased cell death induced by IVIG, a phenomenon that has been associated with anti-Siglec NAbs in these preparations.<sup>16,18</sup> Septic shock patients exhibit divergent Siglec-9-mediated neutrophil death responses, ranging from increased susceptibility to yet unexplained transient resistance.<sup>40</sup> The sensitivity of granulocytes for functional Siglec-specific NAbs may depend on patient characteristics, such as the individual cytokine profile (systemically in the blood or locally at the site of inflammation), severity and stage of disease (Fig. 4).<sup>10,11</sup>

## ANTI-Fas AND ANTI-SIGLEC NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES IN INTRAVENOUS IMMUNOGLOBULIN: CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Experimental evidence suggests that the modulation of granulocyte death by NAbs to Fas and Siglecs could contribute to the anti-inflammatory effects of IVIG.<sup>10,11,20</sup> Inflammatory granulocytes exhibit an increased susceptibility for IVIG-mediated death, an effect that is abolished upon depletion or blocking of anti-Siglec-8 and anti-Siglec-9 NAbs in commercial IVIG preparations. We have hypothesized that the increased susceptibility of activated neutrophils and eosinophils toward these NAbs with the recruitment of caspase-independent death pathways might override the anti-apoptotic effects of the local cytokine microenvironment.<sup>11,17</sup> The resulting IVIG-mediated clearance of granulocytes from the site of inflammation would be welcome in the treatment of disorders associated with hyperactivity of or with pathologically increased numbers of granulocytes. For instance in Churg-Strauss syndrome, a disorder associated with (hyper)eosinophilia, IVIG treatments have been shown to reduce eosinophil numbers in the blood, 62 and allowed the reduction of systemic steroid doses.<sup>63</sup> On the other hand, the occurrence of granulocyte death-inducing NAbs in IVIG could lead to unwanted side-effects, since the reduction of granulocyte numbers could be detrimental in certain patients,<sup>11</sup> including sepsis<sup>64</sup> and neonatal neutropenia.<sup>65</sup> The occurrence of obscure IVIG-induced neutropenia has been reported in various disorders,<sup>66-70</sup> and it remains to be shown if this phenomenon is linked to neutrophil death-inducing NAbs.<sup>18</sup> Depending on the application, the enrichment or depletion of anti-Fas and anti-Siglec antibodies in IVIG preparations might have beneficial effects on the outcome of the treated patient.

## CONCLUSION

The recent discovery of functional naturally occurring autoantibodies specific for death receptors suggests a role of these antibodies in the regulation of tissue homeostasis and immune responses.<sup>10-12,17</sup> Since regulation by cell death is central for the control of granulocytes, such death receptor specific NAbs might play an important role in diseases associated with neutrophil or eosinophil responses, including many autoimmune and allergic diseases. The concept that cellular innate immunity is at least partially controlled by NAbs is intriguing.

Future studies are required to further elucidate the regulation of granulocyte death by NAbs. In terms of in vivo studies it is urgent to consider that Siglecs exhibit significant species-specific differences in terms of function, structure, or expression pattern.<sup>6,26</sup> For instance, NAbs to human Siglec-9 would not recognize its paralog Siglec-E in mice (Fig. 4). In vivo investigations, using xenogenic (human) immunoglobulins in animal models will require careful and sophisticated strategies in terms of potential loss-of-function or gain-of-function effects, and it is implicit that experimental evidence needs to be confirmed in a human system.<sup>10</sup> Many open questions remain to be addressed: Can NAbs to Fas or Siglecs become pathogenic? Could failure of control mechanisms or dysregulated activity of these NAbs be involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases? Currently, most studies have been performed using pooled sera as a source of such antibodies, whereas data on single sera are missing. In future studies it would be interesting to determine individual titers of anti-Fas or anti-Siglec NAbs in health and disease, as these might vary depending on factors such as age, gender, genetics and stage of prevailing disease.

#### **GRANULOCYTE DEATH REGULATION BY NAbs**

Granulocyte death regulation by NAbs seems to provide a natural "safe guard" mechanism to control neutrophil- and eosinophil-associated immune responses. Future studies will show if the pharmacological exploitation of this natural regulatory mechanism can be achieved, for instance with monoclonal antibodies in analogy to NAbs, or in form of synthetic molecules that imitate natural ligands of NAb target receptors. A better understanding of granulocyte regulation by NAbs might provide novel insights into the pathogenesis of autoimmune and allergic diseases. Furthermore, it will lead to a better understanding of currently used therapeutics such as IVIG, and eventually pave the way to novel treatment strategies for the therapy of granulocyte-associated chronic inflammatory conditions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research by the authors is supported by grants of the Swiss National Science Foundation; CSL Behring, Bern, Switzerland; and the Novartis Research Foundation, Basel, Switzerland. The authors declare no conflict of interest. The authors thank Aldona von Gunten for the illustration.

#### REFERENCES

- Strasser A, Jost PJ, Nagata S. The many roles of FAS receptor signaling in the immune system. Immunity 2009; 30:180-92. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.001 PMID:19239902
- Simon HU. Regulation of eosinophil and neutrophil apoptosis-similarities and differences. Immunol Rev 2001; 179:156-62. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.790115.x PMID:11292018
- Simon HU. Neutrophil apoptosis pathways and their modifications in inflammation. Immunol Rev 2003; 193:101-10. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003.00038.x PMID:12752675
- Sprent J, Tough DF. T cell death and memory. Science 2001; 293:245-8. doi:10.1126/science.1062416 PMID:11452113
- von Gunten S, Simon HU. Sialic acid binding immunoglobulin-like lectins may regulate innate immune responses by modulating the life span of granulocytes. FASEB J 2006; 20:601-5. doi:10.1096/fj.05-5401hyp PMID:16581967
- von Gunten S, Bochner BS. Basic and clinical immunology of Siglecs. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008; 1143:61-82. doi:10.1196/annals.1443.011 PMID:19076345
- Nutku E, Hudson SA, Bochner BS. Mechanism of Siglec-8-induced human eosinophil apoptosis: Role of caspases and mitochondrial injury. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 336:918-24. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2005.08.202 PMID:16157303
- von Gunten S, Yousefi S, Seitz M et al. Siglec-9 transduces apoptotic and non-apoptotic death signals into neutrophils depending on the pro-inflammatory cytokine environment. Blood 2005; 106:1423-31. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-10-4112 PMID:15827126
- von Gunten S, Bochner BS. Expression and function of Siglec-8 in human eosinophils, basophils, and mast cells. In: Pawankar R, Holgate ST, Rosenwasser LJ, eds. Allergy Frontiers: Classification and pathomechanisms. Vol. 2. Tokyo, Japan: Springer; 2009:297-313.
- von Gunten S, Simon HU. Cell death modulation by intravenous immunoglobulin. J Clin Immunol 2010; 30(Suppl 1):S24-30. doi:10.1007/s10875-010-9411-8 PMID:20405180
- von Gunten S, Simon HU. Natural anti-Siglec autoantibodies mediate potential immunoregulatory mechanisms: Implications for the clinical use of intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIg). Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:453-6. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.03.015 PMID:18558361
- Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Immunomodulation of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases with intravenous immune globulin. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:747-55. doi:10.1056/NEJMra993360 PMID:11547745
- 13. Negi VS, Elluru S, Sibéril S et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin: an update on the clinical use and mechanisms of action. J Clin Immunol 2007; 27:233-45. doi:10.1007/s10875-007-9088-9 PMID:17351760
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory actions of intravenous immunoglobulin. Annu Rev Immunol 2008; 26:513. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090232 PMID:18370923

- Simon HU, Späth PJ. IVIG mechanisms of action. Allergy 2003; 58:543-52. doi:10.1034/ j.1398-9995.2003.00239.x PMID:12823109
- von Gunten S, Vogel M, Schaub A et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin preparations contain anti-Siglec-8 autoantibodies. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 119:1005-11. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.01.023 PMID:17337295
- von Gunten S, Simon HU. Autophagic-like cell death in neutrophils induced by autoantibodies. Autophagy 2007; 3:67-8. PMID:17102587
- von Gunten S, Schaub A, Vogel M et al. Immunological and functional evidence for anti-Siglec-9 autoantibodies in intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) preparations. Blood 2006; 108:4255-9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-05-021568 PMID:16902148
- Viard I, Wehrli P, Bullani R et al. Inhibition of toxic epidermal necrolysis by blockade of CD95 with human intravenous immunoglobulin. Science 1998; 282:490-3. doi:10.1126/science.282.5388.490 PMID:9774279
- Altznauer F, von Gunten S, Späth P et al. Concurrent presence of agonistic and antagonistic anti-CD95 autoantibodies in intravenous Ig preparations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 112:1185-90. doi:10.1016/j. jaci.2003.09.045 PMID:14657880
- Prasad NK, Papoff G, Zeuner A et al. Therapeutic preparations of normal polyspecific IgG (IVIg) induce apoptosis in human lymphocytes and monocytes: a novel mechanism of action of IVIg involving the Fas apoptotic pathway. J Immunol 1998; 161:3781-90. PMID:9759905
- 22. Sooryanarayana, Prasad N, Bonnin E et al. Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 and mitochondrial changes are associated with apoptosis of lymphoblastoid cells induced by normal immunoglobulin G. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 264:896-901. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.1592 PMID:10544027
- Reipert BM, Stellamor MT, Poell M et al. Variation of anti-Fas antibodies in different lots of intravenous immunoglobulin. Vox Sang 2008; 94:334-41. doi:10.1111/j.1423-0410.2008.001036.x PMID:18266779
- Nutku E, Aizawa H, Hudson SA et al. Ligation of Siglec-8: a selective mechanism for induction of human eosinophil apoptosis. Blood 2003; 101:5014-20. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-10-3058 PMID:12609831
- Crocker PR, Clark EA, Filbin M et al. Siglecs: a family of sialic-acid binding lectins. Glycobiology 1998; 8:v-vi. PMID:9498912
- Crocker PR, Paulson JC, Varki A. Siglecs and their roles in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 2007; 7:255-66. doi:10.1038/nri2056 PMID:17380156
- Varki A, Angata T. Siglecs-the major subfamily of I-type lectins. Glycobiology 2006; 16:1R-27R. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwj008 PMID:16014749
- O'Reilly MK, Paulson JC. Siglecs as targets for therapy in immune-cell-mediated disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2009; 30:240-8. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2009.02.005 PMID:19359050
- Yousefi S, Simon HU. SHP-1: a regulator of neutrophil apoptosis. Semin Immunol 2003; 15:195-9. doi:10.1016/S1044-5323(03)00033-2 PMID:14563118
- Daigle I, Yousefi S, Colonna M et al. Death receptors bind SHP-1 and block cytokine-induced anti-apoptotic signaling in neutrophils. Nat Med 2002; 8:61-7. doi:10.1038/nm0102-61 PMID:11786908
- Rashmi R, Bode BP, Panesar N et al. Siglec-9 and SHP-1 are differentially expressed in neonatal and adult neutrophils. Pediatr Res 2009; 66:266-71. doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181b1bc19 PMID:19542910
- 32. Cao H, de Bono B, Belov K et al. Comparative genomics indicates the mammalian CD33rSiglec locus evolved by an ancient large-scale inverse duplication and suggests all Siglecs share a common ancestral region. Immunogenetics 2009; 61:401-17. doi:10.1007/s00251-009-0372-0 PMID:19337729
- Varki A. Glycan-based interactions involving vertebrate sialic-acid-recognizing proteins. Nature 2007; 446:1023-9. doi:10.1038/nature05816 PMID:17460663
- 34. Vimr E, Lichtensteiger C. To sialylate, or not to sialylate: that is the question. Trends Microbiol 2002; 10:254-7. doi:10.1016/S0966-842X(02)02361-2 PMID:12088651
- 35. Angata T. Molecular diversity and evolution of the Siglec family of cell-surface lectins. Mol Divers 2006; 10:555-66. doi:10.1007/s11030-006-9029-1 PMID:16972014
- 36. Cao H, Crocker PR. Evolution of CD33-related siglecs: regulating host immune functions and escaping pathogen exploitation? Immunology 2011; 132:18-26. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03368.x PMID:21070233
- Ikehara Y, Ikehara SK, Paulson JC. Negative regulation of T cell receptor signaling by Siglec-7 (p70/ AIRM) and Siglec-9. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:43117-25. doi:10.1074/jbc.M403538200 PMID:15292262
- 38. Avril T, Floyd H, Lopez F et al. The membrane-proximal immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif is critical for the inhibitory signaling mediated by Siglecs-7 and -9, CD33-related Siglecs expressed on human monocytes and NK cells. J Immunol 2004; 173:6841-9. PMID:15557178
- 39. Carlin AF, Uchiyama S, Chang YC et al. Molecular mimicry of host sialylated glycans allows a bacterial pathogen to engage neutrophil Siglec-9 and dampen the innate immune response. Blood 2009; 113:3333-6. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-11-187302 PMID:19196661
- 40. von Gunten S, Jakob S, Geering B et al. Different patterns of Siglec-9-mediated neutrophil death responses in septic shock. Shock 2009; 32:386-92. doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e3181a1bc98 PMID:19295491

#### **GRANULOCYTE DEATH REGULATION BY NAbs**

- Bochner BS, Schleimer RP. Mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils: distinct but overlapping pathways for recruitment. Immunol Rev 2001; 179:5-15. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.790101.x PMID:11292027
- Simon HU, Blaser K. Inhibition of programmed eosinophil death: a key pathogenic event for eosinophilia? Immunol Today 1995; 16:53-5. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(95)80086-7 PMID:7888065
- Simon HU. Novel therapeutic strategies via the apoptosis pathways to resolve chronic eosinophilic inflammation. Cell Death Differ 1996; 3:349-56. PMID:17180105
- 44. Simon HU, Yousefi S, Schranz C et al. Direct demonstration of delayed eosinophil apoptosis as a mechanism causing tissue eosinophilia. J Immunol 1997; 158:3902-8. PMID:9103460
- Simon H-U, Rothenberg ME, Bochner BS et al. Refining the definition of hypereosinophilic syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 126:45-9. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2010.03.042 PMID:20639008
- 46. Klion AD, Bochner BS, Gleich GJ et al. Approaches to the treatment of hypereosinophilic syndromes: a workshop summary report. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117:1292-302. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2006.02.042 PMID:16750989
- Simon HU. Eosinophil apoptosis-pathophysiologic and therapeutic implications. Allergy 2000; 55:910-5. doi:10.1034/j.1398-9995.2000.055010910.x PMID:11030370
- 48. Bochner BS. Siglec-8 on human eosinophils and mast cells, and Siglec-F on murine eosinophils, are functionally related inhibitory receptors. Clin Exp Allergy 2009; 39:317-24. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03173.x PMID:19178537
- 49. Yokoi H, Choi OH, Hubbard W et al. Inhibition of FcepsilonRI-dependent mediator release and calcium flux from human mast cells by sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectin 8 engagement. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008; 121:499-505. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.10.004 PMID:18036650
- Zhang M, Angata T, Cho JY et al. Defining the in vivo function of Siglec-F, a CD33-related Siglec expressed on mouse eosinophils. Blood 2007; 109:4280-7. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-08-039255 PMID:17272508
- 51. Zimmermann N, McBride ML, Yamada Y et al. Siglec-F antibody administration to mice selectively reduces blood and tissue eosinophils. Allergy 2008; 63:1156-63. doi:10.1111/j.1398-9995.2008.01709.x PMID:18699932
- 52. Cho JY, Song DJ, Pham A et al. Chronic OVA allergen challenged Siglec-F deficient mice have increased mucus, remodeling, and epithelial Siglec-F ligands which are up-regulated by IL-4 and IL-13. Respir Res 2010; 11:154. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-11-154 PMID:21040544
- Song DJ, Cho JY, Lee SY et al. Anti-Siglec-F antibody reduces allergen-induced eosinophilic inflammation and airway remodeling. J Immunol 2009; 183:5333-41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0801421 PMID:19783675
- 54. Song DJ, Cho JY, Miller M et al. Anti-Siglec-F antibody inhibits oral egg allergen induced intestinal eosinophilic inflammation in a mouse model. Clin Immunol 2009; 131:157-69. doi:10.1016/j. clim.2008.11.009 PMID:19135419
- 55. Vassina EM, Yousefi S, Simon D et al. cIAP-2 and survivin contribute to cytokine-mediated delayed eosinophil apoptosis. Eur J Immunol 2006; 36:1975-84. doi:10.1002/eji.200635943 PMID:16761316
- 56. Plötz SG, Simon HU, Darsow U et al. Use of an anti-interleukin-5 antibody in the hypereosinophilic syndrome with eosinophilic dermatitis. N Engl J Med 2003; 349:2334-9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa031261 PMID:14668459
- Schaub A, von Gunten S, Vogel M et al. Dimeric IVIG contains natural anti-Siglec-9 autoantibodies and their anti-idiotypes. Allergy 2011; 66:1030-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02579.x PMID:21385183
- 58. Tankersley DL. Dimer formation in immunoglobulin preparations and speculations on the mechanism of action of intravenous immune globulin in autoimmune diseases. Immunol Rev 1994; 139:159-72. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1994.tb00861.x PMID:7927410
- 59. Jerne NK. Toward a network theory of the immune system. Ann Immunol 1974; 125C:373-89. PMID: 4142565
- Cheng J, Zhou T, Liu C et al. Protection from Fas-mediated apoptosis by a soluble form of the Fas molecule. Science 1994; 263:1759-62. doi:10.1126/science.7510905 PMID:7510905
- Cascino I, Fiucci G, Papoff G et al. Three functional soluble forms of the human apoptosis-inducing Fas molecule are produced by alternative splicing. J Immunol 1995; 154:2706-13. PMID:7533181
- 62. Tsurikisawa N, Taniguchi M, Saito H et al. Treatment of Churg-Strauss syndrome with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2004; 92:80-7. doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61714-0 PMID:14756469
- 63. Takigawa N, Kawata N, Shibayama T et al. Successful treatment of a patient with severe Churg-Strauss syndrome by a combination of pulse corticosteroids, pulse cyclophosphamide, and high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin. J Asthma 2005; 42:639-41. doi:10.1080/02770900500263822 PMID:16266953
- 64. Khan S, Sewell WA. Risks of intravenous immunoglobulin in sepsis affect trial design. Ann Intern Med 2007; 147:813-4. PMID:18056670
- Buenz EJ, Howe CL. Appropriate use of intravenous immunoglobulin in neonatal neutropenia. J Perinatol 2007; 27:196-7. doi:10.1038/sj.jp.7211660 PMID:17314992

- 66. Lassiter HA, Bibb KW, Bertolone SJ et al. Neonatal immune neutropenia following the administration of intravenous immune globulin. Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1993; 15:120-3. doi:10.1097/00043426-199302000-00019 PMID:8447553
- 67. Tam DA, Morton LD, Stroncek DF et al. Neutropenia in a patient receiving intravenous immune globulin. J Neuroimmunol 1996; 64:175-8. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(95)00167-0 PMID:8632059
- Berkovitch M, Dolinski G, Tauber T et al. Neutropenia as a complication of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) therapy in children with immune thrombocytopenic purpura: common and non-alarming. Int J Immunopharmacol 1999; 21:411-5. doi:10.1016/S0192-0561(99)00020-X PMID:10405875
- Niebanck AE, Kwiatkowski JL, Raffini LJ. Neutropenia following IVIG therapy in pediatric patients with immune-mediated thrombocytopenia. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2005; 27:145-7. doi:10.1097/01. mph.0000155871.26380.84 PMID:15750446
- Matsuda M, Hosoda W, Sekijima Y et al. Neutropenia as a complication of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in adult patients with neuroimmunologic disorders. Clin Neuropharmacol 2003; 26:306-11. doi:10.1097/00002826-200311000-00009 PMID:14646610

SECTION III

# NAbs CAN INDUCE DISEASES WHEN COMPARTMENT BORDERS BREAK OR PROTEASES DEGRADE IgG

# CHAPTER 13

# NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODIES MEDIATE ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION-INDUCED TISSUE INJURY

#### Sherry D. Fleming

Division of Biology, Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas, USA Email: sdflemin@ksu.edu

Abstract: Ischemia and reperfusion events within the heart and brain and similar trauma-induced ischemia/reperfusion events lead to significant morbidity and mortality. In the past two decades, an excessive innate immune response has been identified as the mediator of reperfusion-induced tissue damage. Recent evidence indicates that naturally occurring autoantibody (NAb) activation of complement is a major mechanism of injury due to ischemia/reperfusion. This chapter focuses on the antigens exposed by ischemia and recognized by NAbs, the mechanism of complement activation by damaging NAbs and the protective role of IVIG in ischemia/reperfusion-induced pathology.

#### INTRODUCTION

Ischemia, or interruption of blood flow to an organ, results in hypoxia, which induces cellular death and tissue damage. Paradoxically, this damage is significantly enhanced during reperfusion or return of blood flow. Ischemia/reperfusion (IR) events occur in multiple clinical conditions including myocardial infarction, stroke, hemorrhagic shock and organ transplantation. Thus, IR-induced pathology affects many different organs and results in high mortality rates as, for example, myocardial and cerebral IR-induced tissue damage are among the top five leading causes of death in the United States. In addition, the mortality rate for intestinal IR remains at ~70%. Thus, understanding the mechanisms leading to IR-induced damage is currently an area of intense study.

Although the precise mechanisms of reperfusion-induced injury are not known, complement activation and antibodies, specifically naturally occurring autoantibodies

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

(NAbs), play a prominent role. In this chapter we will examine the role of NAbs in IR-induced injury in the context of multiple organs. NAbs and the IR-induced damage and inflammation will be briefly introduced and the specific antigens recognized by the NAbs will be discussed. In addition, the specific complement activation pathways initiated by NAbs in rodent models of IR will be examined. Finally, we will discuss therapeutic use of pooled human antibodies which include multiple NAbs.

### ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION-INDUCED TISSUE DAMAGE AND INFLAMMATION

Ischemia/reperfusion induces an acute response that results in significant tissue damage and inflammation. Clinical events such as myocardial infarction, cerebral ischemic stroke and intestinal ischemia result in cellular damage that is significantly magnified by return of blood flow or reperfusion. Similarly, surgical manipulations to decrease blood flow, tourniquet use during hemorrhage and organ transplants result in reperfusion-induced tissue injury when blood is returned to the tissue. During the ischemic period, multiple cell types undergo mitochondrial changes in pH which increase the cellular sodium and calcium concentrations.<sup>1</sup> The activation of sodium and calcium transporters results in a decrease in ATP production.<sup>2</sup> In addition, ischemia activates multiple enzymatic pathways which lead to increased production of reactive oxygen species and programmed cell death. Within the innate immune response, hypoxia induces signaling through NF-κB and subsequent pro-inflammatory cytokine production (reviewed in refs. 3,4). In the absence of reperfusion the cellular changes will lead to cell death.<sup>5</sup> Paradoxically, re-oxygenation of the tissue enhances the cellular damage and activates an excessive and damaging innate immune response (reviewed in ref. 6). The innate immune response to IR is multifactorial and includes a neutrophil<sup>7,8</sup> and mast cell response,<sup>9</sup> a secretory response of cytokines and eicosanoids and complement activation (reviewed in ref. 10).

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES AND ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION

NAbs are produced in the absence of exogenous stimulation and are generally IgM or IgG3. These unconventional antibodies frequently have a low affinity for multiple self and nonself antigens including bacterial and viral antigens and apoptotic cells.<sup>11-13</sup> Although most NAbs are believed to be produced by long lived, peritoneal, B-1 B cells, evidence exists that some splenic B cells also produce natural antibodies.<sup>14,15</sup>

 $Rag-1^{-/-}$  mice are antibody deficient and resistant to IR-induced tissue damage. Studies by the Carroll group showed that reconstitution of  $Rag-1^{-/-}$  mice with IgM obtained from normal mouse sera restored injury indicating that NAbs are required for IR-induced heart, intestine and skeletal muscle injury.<sup>16-18</sup> In contrast, kidney IR appears to be antibody independent despite a requirement for B cells.<sup>19,20</sup> Based on the requirement for NAbs, it was hypothesized that cells subjected to hypoxic conditions express cryptic or newly exposed antigens on the plasma membrane which are recognized by low affinity binding of NAbs.<sup>16,21,22</sup>

Interestingly, not all NAbs reconstituted IR-induced injury in the  $Rag-1^{-/-}$  mice. For example, NAbs from complement receptor 2 (CD21/CD35; CR2) deficient mice were not sufficient to restore injury in the *Rag-1*<sup>-/-</sup> mouse.<sup>23,24</sup> Recent data indicate that similar to peritoneal B-1 B cells, CR2<sup>hi</sup> marginal zone B cells produce the NAb repertoire necessary to induce tissue damage in response to IR.<sup>25</sup> Together, these data suggest that CR2 is required for the production of the appropriate antibody repertoire.

As a B-cell coreceptor, CR2 (CD21) binds fragments of complement component C3 and enhances antibody production (reviewed in ref. 21). Further evidence indicated that the injury inducing NAbs were more prevalent in autoimmune mice suggesting that production of autoreactive NAbs was upregulated.<sup>26</sup> Since CR2 is required for generation of the "pathogenic antibodies," it was likely that the CR2 ligands are also required. Previous studies indicated that  $C3^{-/-}$  mice were also resistant to IR-induced tissue damage.<sup>17</sup> However, it was not clear if C3 was required for complement activation or for binding CR2 and initiating production of autoreactive NAbs. Recent data indicate that adoptive transfer of splenic B cells (either marginal zone or follicular B cells) or administering serum from CR2 sufficient,  $C3^{-/-}$  mice to the antibody-deficient *Rag-1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice induced wildtype levels of damage in response to IR.<sup>25</sup> Thus, these data indicate that although CR2 is critical, the C3 ligands are not required for production of pathogenic, autoreactive antibodies.<sup>25</sup>

#### ANTIGENS RECOGNIZED BY NAbs IN RODENT MODELS OF IR

As NAbs are critical to intestinal ischemia/reperfusion induced tissue damage, identification of the specific NAb and therefore, the ischemia-exposed antigens recognized by the NAbs has been an area of intense study during the last two decades. Antibody deficient mice (Rag-1<sup>-/-</sup> or Rag-2<sup>-/-</sup>) resist intestinal IR-induced damage unless injected with antibodies which recognize the antigens exposed during ischemia.<sup>16,27</sup> Thus, injection of specific monoclonal antibodies (mAb) which induce tissue damage and inflammation were useful tools in the identification of ischemia-liberated antigens. Multiple antigens have been identified using this method.

# NONMUSCLE MYOSIN TYPE II A AND C AND GLYCOGEN PHOSPHORYLASE

Initial studies generated hybridomas from peritoneal, B-1 B cells and used pooled supernatants to screen for specific clones secreting damaging IgM. Using this method, Zhang et al. identified an IgM producing clone, CM22, which induced significant mucosal damage following intestinal IR when injected into an antibody deficient, IR-resistant *Rag-1<sup>-/-</sup>* mouse.<sup>28</sup> In addition, deposition of the IgM and C3 colocalized within the injured villi. Importantly, the sequence of the Ig variable region indicated > 96% similarity with the germline sequence suggesting the clone produces an IgM NAb.<sup>28</sup> Further studies indicated that the clone recognized nonmuscle myosin heavy chain (NMHC) Type II A and C in the murine model of intestinal IR.<sup>29</sup> In addition, a 12 amino acid peptide sequence from the mouse NMHC II-C isoform prevented injury and intestinal permeability when administered prior to intestinal reperfusion.<sup>29</sup> The same peptide also inhibited injury and deposition of IgM and C3 in a murine model of skeletal muscle ischemia/reperfusion.<sup>28,30</sup> Further studies indicated that the NMHC-specific antibody also bound glycogen phosphorylase in skeletal muscle IR.

This polyclonal activity is typical of NAbs. Finally, consistent with the intestinal and skeletal muscle studies, blockade of the same monoclonal Ab attenuated damage due to myocardial infarction.<sup>31</sup> Administration of a synthetic peptide, mimicking the conserved NMHC II-C epitope, significantly lowered NAb binding.<sup>30</sup> The decreased NAb binding correlated with decreased complement activation, inflammation and tissue damage. Thus, NMHC II-C expression is recognized by NAbs and may provide a therapeutic target for treatment of reperfusion-induced injury.

### NAb RECOGNITION OF ANNEXIN IV

Another group fused peritoneal lymph node and splenic B cells with a myeloma to create hybridomas.<sup>32</sup> Based on the hypothesis that a single cell suspension of intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) would express antigens similar to those expressed during intestinal IR, a second damage-inducing mAb was identified.<sup>32</sup> The hybridoma (B4) secreted an IgM NAb which recognized the phospholipid binding protein, annexin IV, on IEC but did not recognize freshly isolated splenocytes or thymocytes.<sup>32</sup> In addition, after transfer of the mAb, intestinal damage and inflammation ensued in the normally IR-resistant *Rag-1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. Furthermore, annexin IV was recognized by IgM from healthy humans indicating that annexin IV may be recognized by NAbs in humans similar to mice.<sup>32</sup>

Interestingly, the above antigens exposed by ischemia are normally intracellular antigens which are translocated to the cellular membrane presumably during the ischemic period as phospholipid changes occur. Additional antigens exposed by ischemia and recognized by NAbs include either negatively charged phospholipids from the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane or lyso-phospholipids. Some NAbs require the presence of a serum cofactor such as  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I or annexin proteins. At least one NAb, T15/EO6, activates complement after recognition of lyso-phosphatidylcholine<sup>33</sup> suggesting that phospholipid and phospholipid-binding proteins may initiate complement activation resulting in exposure of nonmuscle myosin or annexin IV in the cellular membrane. It is also possible that the flipping of these molecules allows their recognition by NAbs.

# ANTI-PHOSPHOLIPID AND BETA 2 GLYCOPROTEIN I RECOGNITION BY ANTIBODIES

Within 15–30 min postreperfusion, metabolism of the cellular lipids resulted in significant increases in the intestinal lyso-phospholipid and free arachidonic acid production.<sup>34</sup> Corresponding to the total concentration of the parent lipids, phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine, decreased in the intestinal tissue subjected to IR.<sup>34</sup> In addition, the phospholipid binding protein,  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I, binds the ischemic membranes in a similar time frame.<sup>35</sup>

To investigate the role of NAbs directed to antigens that are exposed by ischemia in the mouse IR model, additional studies were performed. Monoclonal antibodies recognizing  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I and cardiolipin, a negatively charged phospholipid, were derived from unimmunized mice which spontaneously develop degenerative cardiovascular disease.<sup>36</sup> Injection of a mixture of anti- $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I and anti-phospholipid mAb resulted in

IR-induced mucosal injury in antibody deficient,  $Rag-1^{-/-}$  mice.<sup>35</sup> However, neither mAb alone was sufficient to induce injury in response to IR.<sup>35</sup> Surprisingly, each antibody individually induced injury in the *CR2* deficient mouse.<sup>35</sup> In the latter mouse model, the anti-phospholipid mAb restored complement activation in response to IR, while the anti- $\beta$ 2 glycoprotein I mAb restored eicosanoid production and cellular infiltration into the local and remote organs which were damaged.<sup>35</sup> Together these data suggest that each mAb induces a specific response and the combination is required for IR-induced mucosal injury.

Recent studies indicated that peptides which compete with  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I for binding to the altered phospholipid bilayer attenuate intestinal IR-induced tissue damage in wildtype mice.<sup>37</sup> These data suggest that  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I recognized changes are instrumental for IR-induced damage. It is not clear if  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I and NAbs recognize phospholipid oxidation changes in the lipid moiety or the head groups.<sup>33,38,39</sup> However, damaging NAbs appear to recognize the changes in the lipids as men with low anti-phosphorylcholine (IgM isotype) levels are more susceptible to atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke when compared with men with higher IgM levels.<sup>40</sup> Although these data suggest that the NAb to the head group are protective, it is possible that a difference exists between the mouse model and humans due to the sequestration of the natural IgM in the atherosclerotic plaques.

### OTHER POSSIBLE ANTIGENS AND NAb ANTIGEN SUMMARY

An additional antigen suggested to be recognized by mAb during reperfusion is the protein-RNA complex, U1-ribonuceloprotein (U1-RNP).<sup>41</sup> Injection of *Rag-1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice with anti-U1-RNP containing sera from autoimmune patients restored IR-induced injury. However, it is unknown if the antibodies were NAb-like or autoimmune antibodies. In addition, the studies did not clearly show that the anti-U1-RNP specific antibodies induced the damage.

The fact that multiple NAbs induce damage in response to ischemia/reperfusion suggests a similarity of the antigens. Although the sequence and location of each of the antigens discussed above are distinct, it is possible to suggest at least one similarity, namely their binding to lipids. Despite acting as an intracellular calcium binding protein, which modulates NF-kB signaling, annexin IV binds to phosphatidylserine and phosphatidic acid under acidic pH such as in response to IR.42 β2-glycoprotein I also recognizes phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells.<sup>43</sup> Finally, NMHC also binds phosphatidylserine<sup>44</sup> and is cleaved during apoptosis to facilitate exposure on the cell surface. Thus, the NAbs appear to bind proteins associated with phosphatidylserine when expressed on the cell surface.<sup>45</sup> Together, these data suggest that ischemia induces an immediate change in phosphatidylserine from the inner leaflet to the outer leaflet (Fig. 1A,B). It is possible that lysis of some cells during the ischemic period may liberate the intracellular antigens and initiate the cascade. Another possibility is that the flipping or scrambling of the lipid bilayer would expose annexin IV and NMHCII A/C on the cell surface. In addition, the serum protein,  $\beta$ 2-glycoprotein I, binds to the phosphatidylserine (Fig. 1C). Thus, it will be critical for future studies to understand the changes within the membrane which expose antigens in response to ischemia which are recognized by NAbs and subsequently activate complement.



**Figure 1.** Ischemia induces lipid bilayer re-arrangement and exposes multiple antigens which are recognized by complement activating NAbs. A) Under normal conditions, the lipid bilayer maintains a polarity which prevents extracellular annexin IV and nonmuscle myosin expression and prevents  $\beta$ 2-GPI binding. B) Ischemic conditions stress the cells and alter the lipid bilayer allowing expression of phospholipids from the inner leaflet. Flipping of the lipids is also associated with extracellular expression of annexin IV and nonmuscle myosin heavy chain. C) Upon reperfusion, NAbs recognize one or more of the multiple ischemia-exposed antigens, including annexin IV,  $\beta$ 2-GPI, nonmuscle myosin heavy chain and/or inner leaflet phospholipids. D) The MBL and C1q recognize bound NAbs, resulting in initiation of the lectin and classical complement pathways. The complement cascade continues resulting in tissue damage.

#### COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION IN RESPONSE TO NAb BINDING TO TISSUE

The complement system consists of more than 30 proteins that form a cascade of proteolytically cleaved products. Complement activation is initiated by one of 3 pathways, classical, lectin and alternative, which converge at complement component C3. Activation of C3 results in release of C3a and deposition of C3b which forms the C5 convertase. The C5 convertase cleaves C5 producing C5a and C5b. As the initiator of the membrane attack complex, C5b deposits on the cell membrane and assembles C6, C7, C8 and multiple C9 components to form the lytic complex. In addition to generating convertases, the classical pathway produces the byproducts, C4a, C3a and C5a which are also immunologically active as anaphylatoxins.

Despite a similar outcome, the complement cascades are initiated by different mechanisms. Via the Fc region, antigen-antibody complexes initiate the classical pathway by formation of the C1q complex which cleaves C2 and C4 and forms the C3 convertase, C2aC4b. The C3 convertase splits C3 generating C3b which binds C2aC4b and becomes C2aC4bC3b, the C5 convertase. The C5 convertase initiates the membrane attack complex.

Recognition of carbohydrates by the mannose binding lectin (MBL) initiates the lectin pathway that cleaves C2 and C4 forming the same C3 and C5 convertases as in the classical pathway. C3b released by either the classical or lectin pathways may stimulate complement amplification via the alternative complement pathway, whereby additional and distinct C3 and C5 convertases are generated.

Although complement activation effectively kills pathogens, inappropriate or excessive complement activation may cause tissue destruction. Depletion of C3 with cobra venom factor or the use of  $C3^{-/-}$  mice indicated that complement was required for IR-induced tissue damage.<sup>46</sup> A recent study also indicated that rodent myocardial infarction was attenuated by treating with a recombinant, humanized cobra venom factor, suggesting a possible therapeutic.<sup>47</sup> In response to intestinal, myocardial or skeletal muscle IR, all three complement initiation pathways appear to play a role<sup>48-50</sup> while only the alternative pathway is critical in kidney IR.<sup>51</sup>

#### **MECHANISM OF COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION BY NAbs**

Early studies indicated a requirement of complement activation for IR-induced tissue damage.<sup>52-54</sup> As NAbs were also required, initial studies suggested that the classical complement initiation pathway mediated the damage.<sup>16,17</sup> In addition, treating mice with a C1q esterase inhibitor attenuated myocardial, 55,56 intestinal, 57 skeletal muscle, 58 and cerebral<sup>59,60</sup> IR-induced damage. Although C1 inhibitor attenuated intestinal damage, C1Inh inhibits both the classical and lectin pathways.<sup>61,62</sup> Therefore, additional studies have also examined IR-induced injury in  $C1q^{-/-}$  and mannose binding lectin (MBL) deficient mice. In response to cerebral,<sup>63</sup> myocardial,<sup>64</sup> kidney,<sup>65</sup> skeletal muscle<sup>50</sup> or intestinal<sup>48</sup> IR-induced injury, Clq<sup>-/-</sup> mice sustained local injury and C3 deposition within the damaged tissue despite protection from systemic lung damage.<sup>50</sup> In vitro binding assays indicate that IgM associates with MBL.<sup>66,67</sup> Subsequent intestinal IR studies illustrated that IgM and MBL colocalized in the intestine of  $Rag-1^{-/-}$  mice after injection with a NMHC-specific NAb.<sup>49</sup> Importantly, MBL<sup>-/-</sup> mice were protected from skeletal,<sup>50</sup> intestinal,<sup>49</sup> and myocardial<sup>68</sup> IR. Correlating with the rodent studies, patients with MBL deficiency sustain less systemic inflammation and multiple organ failure after cardiac surgery than patients with normal levels of MBL.<sup>69</sup> In addition, low MBL levels in kidney, liver and pancreas transplant recipients correlates with increased survival (reviewed in ref. 70). These data suggest that complement activation is via the lectin pathway rather than the classical pathway. Interestingly, factor B, a component of the alternative pathway, also appears to be critical in response to IR within the kidney<sup>71</sup> but not the intestine.<sup>48</sup> However, the alternative pathway does play a role to some extent. As a soluble glycoprotein, factor H (fH) inhibits the alternative pathway by inhibiting C3 activation. Recent studies linked fH with CR2 to target the inhibitor to regions of C3b deposition. Treatment of mice with the targeted inhibitor, CR2-fH, attenuated both myocardial<sup>72</sup> and intestinal<sup>71</sup> IR-induced damage. Together these data suggest that the mechanism of IR-induced tissue damage may differ by organ and that the alternative pathway may be critical for amplification of the quantity of C3b produced.

Thus, in many organs, IR-induced injury appears to require both NAbs and complement activation by the lectin pathway. These data suggested the model shown in Figure 1C,D

with ischemic endothelial cells expressing multiple newly exposed antigens which are recognized by NAbs which induce the lectin pathway of complement activation.<sup>73</sup> This hypothesis was recently confirmed by elegant studies using a myocardial IR model with genetically deficient mice which lacked either IgM or MBL or were deficient in both IgM and MBL. These studies clearly showed that both IgM and MBL were essential for complement-mediated tissue damage in response to IR.<sup>68</sup> Subsequent studies isolated the NAb-complement complex and found MBL and C1q present.<sup>74</sup> Similar to previous results, factor B was not present in the antibody-antigen complex.<sup>74</sup> Thus, during reperfusion, NAbs recognize multiple newly exposed antigens expressed on the ischemic tissue resulting in local and remote organ damage which is mediated by the classical and lectin pathways of complement activation.

#### MULTIPLE HUMAN NAbs IN IVIG APPEAR PROTECTIVE

Antibodies in the form of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) are used therapeutically to treat both inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. IVIG is a preparation of purified human antibodies obtained from plasma of more than one thousand healthy donors. Most IVIG preparations are > 99% pure IgG while other preparations contain low levels of IgA and/or IgM. By containing a wide spectrum of IgG antibodies including NAbs and anti-idiotypic antibodies, IVIG modulates the immune response, although the exact mechanisms are not clear. Initial studies (with unknown IgM or IgA contamination) suggested the mechanism of IVIG protection included binding of active C3b on the cell surface to prevent membrane attack complex formation and subsequent tissue damage.75-77 Subsequently, C3b dimers complexed with IgG (C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes) were identified as potent precursors of alternative C3 convertases, which stimulate complement amplification. Using both in vitro and in vivo studies, IVIG (IgG only) attenuated C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complex production by stimulating their inactivation.<sup>78,79</sup> Thus, high dose IVIG decreased overall complement activation by attenuating amplification by the alternative pathway.<sup>79</sup> Despite activating the classical or lectin pathway activation, IVIG (unknown contaminating IgA or IgM) also downregulates production of C1q, the initiating molecule of the classical pathway.<sup>80</sup> Finally, by preventing activation of the membrane attack complex, IVIG also prevented C5a activity.<sup>81</sup> Thus, understanding the mechanism by which IVIG alters complement activity continues to progress.

In experimental and clinical models, IVIG also appears to modulate the immune response to IR. Administration of human IVIG prevented rat intestinal IR-induced local and remote organ damage and eicosanoid production, despite significant neutrophil infiltration.<sup>82</sup> As neither complement nor antibody was deposited in intestinal tissues, it is likely that the pooled NAbs administered prior to ischemia sequestered C3, degraded C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes and/or blocked antibody binding with the presence of anti-idiotypic antibodies. Importantly, in a mouse model of ischemic stroke, low dose IVIG (containing less than 0.05 mg/ml IgA and trace amounts of IgM) decreases the infarct size by ~50% when administered either prior to ischemia or 3 hours after beginning reperfusion.<sup>83</sup> A recent review of data suggested that IVIG be evaluated as a treatment for human stroke patients.<sup>84</sup> Thus, a bolus of IVIG may provide protection to intestinal and brain IR.

#### **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Myocardial, cerebral IR as well as trauma-induced skeletal muscle and intestinal IR are major causes of morbidity and mortality in the world today. Understanding the mechanism of sterile inflammation which ensues in response to IR is critical to decreasing pathology. NAbs clearly play a role in complement-mediated, IR-induced tissue damage of the skeletal muscle, intestine, heart and brain. Recent progress identified specific antigens which may be expressed due to alterations of the phospholipid bilayer. In addition, the mechanism of complement activation has been explored in rodent models of tissue injury. Although significant advances have identified the role of NAbs and their antigens in rodent models of IR, translation of these findings to larger animals and humans remains to be investigated. It is unknown if the peptides from either NMHC or  $\beta$ 2-GPI which are protective in rodents will provide a similar therapeutic effect in humans. Understanding the mechanism by which NAbs are recognized by the lectin and the classical complement pathways may provide insight of additional therapeutic markers. Finally, as the NAb-containing preparation of IVIG is protective in the same rodent models, understanding the specific mechanism of protection of IVIG remains a critical need. Thus, by linking the innate and adaptive immune responses, NAbs provide a unique mechanism within IR-induced tissue damage.

#### REFERENCES

- Annunziato L, Pignataro G, Boscia F et al. ncx1, ncx2, and ncx3 gene product expression and function in neuronal anoxia and brain ischemia. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007; 1099:413-26. PMID:17446481 doi:10.1196/ annals.1387.050
- Kaljusto ML, Rutkovsky A, Stenslokken KO et al. Postconditioning in mouse hearts is inhibited by blocking the reverse mode of the sodium-calcium exchanger. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2010; 10:743-8. PMID:20139199 doi:10.1510/icvts.2009.217083
- Nizet V, Johnson RS. Interdependence of hypoxic and innate immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 2009; 9:609-17. PMID:19704417 doi:10.1038/nri2607
- Taylor CT, Cummins EP. The role of NF-kappaB in hypoxia-induced gene expression. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2009; 1177:178-84. PMID:19845620 doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05024.x
- Zhao ZQ. Oxidative stress-elicited myocardial apoptosis during reperfusion. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2004; 4:159-65. PMID:15063360 doi:10.1016/j.coph.2003.10.010
- Shea-Donohue T, Anderson J, Swiecki C. Ischemia/reperfusion injury. In: Tsokos GC, Atkins JL, eds. Combat Medicine. Totowa, New Jersey: Humana Press; 2003:219-248.
- Hernandez LA, Grisham MB, Twohig B et al. Role of neutrophils in ischemia-reperfusion-induced microvascular injury. Am J Physiol 1987; 253:H699-703. PMID:3631303
- Sisley AC, Desai T, Harig JM et al. Neutrophil depletion attenuates human intestinal reperfusion injury. J Surg Res 1994; 57:192-6. PMID:8041137 doi:10.1006/jsre.1994.1130
- Abonia JP, Friend DS, Austen WG Jr. et al. Mast cell protease 5 mediates ischemia-reperfusion injury of mouse skeletal muscle. J Immunol 2005; 174:7285-91. PMID:15905575
- Arumugam TV, Magnus T, Woodruff TM et al. Complement mediators in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Clin Chim Acta 2006; 374:33-45. PMID:16872589 doi:10.1016/j.cca.2006.06.010
- 11. Kim SJ, Gershov D, Ma X et al. I-PLA(2) activation during apoptosis promotes the exposure of membrane lysophosphatidylcholine leading to binding by natural immunoglobulin M antibodies and complement activation. J Exp Med 2002; 196:655-65. PMID:12208880 doi:10.1084/jem.20020542
- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC et al. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2000; 192:271-80. PMID:10899913 doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.271
- Boes M. Role of natural and immune IgM antibodies in immune responses. Mol Immunol 2000; 37:1141-9. PMID:11451419 doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00025-6
- Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies: from 'horror autotoxicus' to 'gnothi seauton'. Immunol Today 1991; 12:154-9. PMID:1715166

#### NAbs MEDIATE ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION-INDUCED TISSUE INJURY

- Avrameas S, Ternynck T. Natural autoantibodies: the other side of the immune system. Res Immunol 1995; 146:235-48. PMID:8577986 doi:10.1016/0923-2494(96)80259-8
- Weiser MR, Williams JP, Moore FD et al. Reperfusion injury of ischemic skeletal muscle is mediated by natural antibody and complement. J Exp Med 1996; 183:2343-8. PMID:8642343 doi:10.1084/jem.183.5.2343
- Williams JP, Pechet TT, Weiser MR et al. Intestinal reperfusion injury is mediated by IgM and complement. J Appl Physiol 1999; 86:938-42. PMID:10066708
- Zhang M, Michael LH, Grosjean SA et al. The role of natural IgM in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2006; 41:62-7. PMID:16781728 doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.02.006
- Park P, Haas M, Cunningham PN et al. Injury in renal ischemia-reperfusion is independent from immunoglobulins and T-lymphocytes. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2002; 282:F352-7. PMID:11788450
- Renner B, Strassheim D, Amura CR et al. B-cell subsets contribute to renal injury and renal protection after ischemia/reperfusion. J Immunol 2010; 185:4393-400. PMID:20810984 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903239
- Holers VM, Kulik L. Complement receptor 2, natural antibodies and innate immunity: Inter-relationships in B-cell selection and activation. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:64-72. PMID:16876864 doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2006.07.003
- 22. Ochsenbein AF, Zinkernagel RM. Natural antibodies and complement link innate and acquired immunity. Immunol Today 2000; 21:624-30. PMID:11114423 doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(00)01754-0
- 23. Fleming SD, Shea-Donohue T, Guthridge JM et al. Mice deficient in complement receptors 1 and 2 lack a tissue injury-inducing subset of the natural antibody repertoire. J Immunol 2002; 169:2126-33. PMID:12165541
- Reid RR, Woodcock S, Shimabukuro-Vornhagen A et al. Functional activity of natural antibody is altered in Cr2-deficient mice. J Immunol 2002; 169:5433-5440. PMID:12421918
- Woods KM, Pope MR, Hoffman SM et al. CR2+ Marginal zone B-cell production of pathogenic natural antibodies is C3 independent. J Immunol 2011.
- Fleming SD, Monestier M, Tsokos GC. Accelerated ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury in autoimmunity-prone mice. J Immunol 2004; 173:4230-5. PMID:15356174
- Williams JP, Pechet TTV, Weiser MR et al. Intestinal reperfusion injury is mediated by IgM and complement. J Appl Physiol 1999; 86:938-42. PMID:10066708
- 28. Zhang M, Austen WG, Chiu I et al. Identification of a specific self-reactive IgM antibody that initiates intestinal ischemia/reperfusion injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101:3886-91. PMID:14999103 doi:10.1073/pnas.0400347101
- Zhang M, Alicot EM, Chiu I et al. Identification of the target self-antigens in reperfusion injury. J Exp Med 2006; 203:141-52. PMID:16390934 doi:10.1084/jem.20050390
- 30. Chan RK, Verna N, Afnan J et al. Attenuation of skeletal muscle reperfusion injury with intravenous 12 amino acid peptides that bind to pathogenic IgM. Surgery 2006; 139:236-43. PMID:16455333 doi:10.1016/j.surg.2005.05.028
- 31. Haas MS, Alicot EM, Schuerpf F et al. Blockade of self-reactive IgM significantly reduces injury in a murine model of acute myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 2010; 87:618-27. PMID:20462867 doi:10.1093/cvr/cvq141
- Kulik L, Fleming SD, Moratz C et al. Pathogenic natural antibodies recognizing annexin IV are required to develop intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Immunol 2009; 182:5363-73. PMID:19380783 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803980
- 33. Friedman P, Horkko S, Steinberg D et al. Correlation of antiphospholipid antibody recognition with the structure of synthetic oxidized phospholipids. Importance of Schiffbase formation and aldol condensation. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:7010-20. PMID:11744722 doi:10.1074/jbc.M108860200
- 34. Sparkes BL, Slone EE, Roth M et al. Intestinal lipid alterations occur prior to antibody-induced prostaglandin E2 production in a mouse model of ischemia/reperfusion. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010; 1801:517-525.
- 35. Fleming SD, Egan RP, Chai C et al. Anti-phospholipid antibodies restore mesenteric ischemia/ reperfusion-induced injury in complement receptor 2/complement receptor 1-deficient mice. J Immunol 2004; 173:7055-61. PMID:15557203
- Monestier M, Kandiah DA, Kouts S et al. Monoclonal antibodies from NZW x BXSB F1 mice to beta2 glycoprotein I and cardiolipin. Species specificity and charge-dependent binding. J Immunol 1996; 156:2631-41. PMID:8786329
- Fleming SD, Pope MR, Hoffman SM et al. Domain V peptides inhibit beta2-glycoprotein I-mediated mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion-induced tissue damage and inflammation. JImmunol 2010; 185:6168-78. PMID:20956350 doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002520
- 38. Hörkkö S, Miller E, Dudl E et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies are directed against epitopes of oxidized phospholipids. Recognition of cardiolipin by monoclonal antibodies to epitopes of oxidized low density lipoprotein. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:815-25. PMID:8698874 doi:10.1172/JCI118854
- Witztum JL, Horkko S. The role of oxidized LDL in atherogenesis: immunological response and anti-phospholipid antibodies. Ann NY Acad Sci 1997; 811:88-96; discussion 96-89.

- Sjöberg BG, Su J, Dahlbom I et al. Low levels of IgM antibodies against phosphorylcholine-A potential risk marker for ischemic stroke in men. Atherosclerosis 2009; 203:528-32. PMID:18809177 doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2008.07.009
- 41. Keith MP, Moratz C, Egan R et al. Anti-ribonucleoprotein antibodies mediate enhanced lung injury following mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion in Rag-1(-/-) mice. Autoimmunity 2007; 40:208-16. PMID:17453720 doi:10.1080/08916930701262986
- Zschörnig O, Opitz F, Muller M. Annexin A4 binding to anionic phospholipid vesicles modulated by pH and calcium. Eur Biophys J 2007; 36:415-24. PMID:17440717 doi:10.1007/s00249-007-0147-1
- Balasubramanian K, Maiti SN, Schroit AJ. Recruitment of beta-2-glycoprotein 1 to cell surfaces in extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis. Apoptosis 2005; 10:439-46. PMID:15843904 doi:10.1007/s10495-005-0817-3
- 44. Murakami N, Elzinga M, Singh SS et al. Direct binding of myosin II to phospholipid vesicles via tail regions and phosphorylation of the heavy chains by protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:16082-90. PMID:8206908
- 45. Kato M, Fukuda H, Nonaka T et al. Cleavage of nonmuscle myosin heavy chain-A during apoptosis in human Jurkat T-cells. J Biochem 2005; 137:157-66. PMID:15749830 doi:10.1093/jb/mvi015
- 46. Hill JH, Ward PA. The phlogistic role of C3 leukotactic fragments in myocardial infarcts of rats. J Exp Med 1971; 133:885-900. PMID:4993831 doi:10.1084/jem.133.4.885
- Gorsuch WB, Guikema BJ, Fritzinger DC et al. Humanized cobra venom factor decreases myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. Mol Immunol 2009; 47:506-10. PMID:19747734 doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2009.08.017
- Hart ML, Ceonzo KA, Shaffer LA et al. Gastrointestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury is lectin complement pathway dependent without involving C1q. J Immunol 2005; 174:6373-80. PMID:15879138
- 49. Zhang M, Takahashi K, Alicot EM et al. Activation of the lectin pathway by natural IgM in a model of ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Immunol 2006; 177:4727-34. PMID:16982912
- Chan RK, Ibrahim SI, Takahashi K et al. The differing roles of the classical and mannose-binding lectin complement pathways in the events following skeletal muscle ischemia-reperfusion. J Immunol 2006; 177:8080-5. PMID:17114482
- Zhou W, Farrar CA, Abe K et al. Predominant role for C5b-9 in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest 2000; 105:1363-71. PMID:10811844 doi:10.1172/JCI8621
- Hill J, Lindsay TF, Ortiz F et al. Soluble complement receptor type 1 ameliorates the local and remote organ injury after intestinal ischemia-reperfusion in the rat. J Immunol 1992; 149:1723-8. PMID:1387151
- Davis WD, Brey RL. Antiphospholipid antibodies and complement activation in patients with cerebral ischemia. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1992; 10:455-60. PMID:1458697
- Pemberton M, Anderson G, Vetvicka V et al. Microvascular effects of complement blockade with soluble recombinant CR1 on ischemia/reperfusion injury of skeletal muscle. J Immunol 1993; 150:5104-13. PMID:8496606
- Buerke M, Murohara T, Lefer AM. Cardioprotective effects of a C1 esterase inhibitor in myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. Circulation 1995; 91:393-402. PMID:7805243
- 56. Horstick G, Heimann A, Gotze O et al. Intracoronary application of C1 esterase inhibitor improves cardiac function and reduces myocardial necrosis in an experimental model of ischemia and reperfusion. Circulation 1997; 95:701-8. PMID:9024160
- 57. Karpel-Massler G, Fleming SD, Kirschfink M et al. Human C1 esterase inhibitor attenuates murine mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion induced local organ injury. J Surg Res 2003; 115:247-56. PMID:14697291 doi:10.1016/S0022-4804(03)00192-6
- Nielsen EW, Mollnes TE, Harlan JM et al. C1-inhibitor reduces the ischaemia-reperfusion injury of skeletal muscles in mice after aortic cross-clamping. Scand J Immunol 2002; 56:588-92. PMID:12472670 doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.2002.01173.x
- Akita N, Nakase H, Kaido T et al. Protective effect of C1 esterase inhibitor on reperfusion injury in the rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model. Neurosurgery 2003; 52:395-400; discussion 400-391.
- Storini C, Rossi E, Marrella V et al. C1-inhibitor protects against brain ischemia-reperfusion injury via inhibition of cell recruitment and inflammation. Neurobiol Dis 2005; 19:10-7. PMID:15837556 doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2004.11.001
- Matsushita M, Thiel S, Jensenius JC et al. Proteolytic activities of two types of mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease. J Immunol 2000; 165:2637-42. PMID:10946292
- Nielsen EW, Waage C, Fure H et al. Effect of supraphysiologic levels of C1-inhibitor on the classical, lectin and alternative pathways of complement. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:1819-26. PMID:17101176 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.10.003
- De Simoni MG, Storini C, Barba M et al. Neuroprotection by complement (C1) inhibitor in mouse transient brain ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2003; 23:232-9. PMID:12571454 doi:10.1097/00004647-200302000-00010

#### NAbs MEDIATE ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION-INDUCED TISSUE INJURY

- Walsh MC, Bourcier T, Takahashi K et al. Mannose-binding lectin is a regulator of inflammation that accompanies myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Immunol 2005; 175:541-6. PMID:15972690
- 65. Møller-Kristensen M, Wang W, Ruseva M et al. Mannan-binding lectin recognizes structures on ischaemic reperfused mouse kidneys and is implicated in tissue injury. Scand J Immunol 2005; 61:426-34. PMID:15882434 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2005.01591.x
- 66. Arnold JN, Wormald MR, Suter DM et al. Human serum IgM glycosylation; identification of glycoforms that can bind to mannan-binding lectin. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:29080-7. PMID:15955802 doi:10.1074/ jbc.M504528200
- Roos A, Bouwman LH, Munoz J et al. Functional characterization of the lectin pathway of complement in human serum. Mol Immunol 2003; 39:655-68. PMID:12493641 doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(02)00254-7
- Busche MN, Pavlov V, Takahashi K et al. Myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury is dependent on both IgM and mannose-binding lectin. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2009; 297:H1853-9. PMID:19749170 doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00049.2009
- 69. Bilgin YM, Brand A, Berger SP et al. Mannose-binding lectin is involved in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome after cardiac surgery: effects of blood transfusions. Transfusion 2008; 48:601-8. PMID:18194386 doi:10.1111/j.1537-2995.2007.01585.x
- Berger SP, Daha MR. Emerging role of the mannose-binding lectin-dependent pathway of complement activation in clinical organ transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010.
- 71. Huang Y, Qiao F, Atkinson C et al. A novel targeted inhibitor of the alternative pathway of complement and its therapeutic application in ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Immunol 2008; 181:8068-76. PMID: 19017999
- Atkinson C, Song H, Lu B et al. Targeted complement inhibition by C3d recognition ameliorates tissue injury without apparent increase in susceptibility to infection. J Clin Invest 2005; 115:2444-53. PMID:16127466 doi:10.1172/JCI25208
- Zhang M, Carroll MC. Natural antibody mediated innate autoimmune response. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:103-10. PMID:16876247 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.06.022
- Lee H, Green DJ, Lai L et al. Early complement factors in the local tissue immunocomplex generated during intestinal ischemia/reperfusion injury. Mol Immunol 2010; 47:972-81. PMID:20004473 doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2009.11.022
- Vani J, Elluru S, Negi VS et al. Role of natural antibodies in immune homeostasis: IVIg perspective. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:440-4. PMID:18558359 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.04.011
- Basta M. Modulation of complement-mediated immune damage by intravenous immune globulin. Clin Exp Immunol 1996; 104(Suppl 1):21-5. PMID:8625538
- Basta M, Dalakas MC. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin exerts its beneficial effect in patients with dermatomyositis by blocking endomysial deposition of activated complement fragments. J Clin Invest 1994; 94:1729-35. PMID:7962520 doi:10.1172/JCI117520
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Jelezarova E et al. High doses of immunoglobulin G attenuate immune aggregate-mediated complement activation by enhancing physiologic cleavage of C3b in C3bn-IgG complexes. Blood 1996; 88:184-93. PMID:8704173
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Bianchi V et al. Intravenously applied IgG stimulates complement attenuation in a complement-dependent autoimmune disease at the amplifying C3 convertase level. Blood 2004; 103:465-72. PMID:14512320 doi:10.1182/blood-2003-05-1530
- 80. Raju R, Dalakas MC. Gene expression profile in the muscles of patients with inflammatory myopathies: effect of therapy with IVIg and biological validation of clinically relevant genes. Brain 2005; 128:1887-96. PMID:15857930 doi:10.1093/brain/awh518
- Basta M, Van Goor F, Luccioli S et al. F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-mediated neutralization of C3a and C5a anaphylotoxins: a novel effector function of immunoglobulins. Nat Med 2003; 9:431-8. PMID:12612546 doi:10.1038/nm836
- 82. Anderson J, Fleming SD, Rehrig S et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin attenuates mesenteric ischemia-reperfusion injury. Clin Immunol 2005; 114:137-46. PMID:15639647 doi:10.1016/j. clim.2004.08.018
- Arumugam TV, Tang SC, Lathia JD et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) protects the brain against experimental stroke by preventing complement-mediated neuronal cell death. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104:14104-9. PMID:17715065 doi:10.1073/pnas.0700506104
- Arumugam TV, Okun E, Tang SC et al. Toll-like receptors in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Shock 2009; 32:4-16. PMID:19008778 doi:10.1097/SHK.0b013e318193e333

# CHAPTER 14

# HOW IMMUNE COMPLEXES FROM CERTAIN IgG NAbs AND ANY F(ab')<sub>2</sub> CAN MEDIATE EXCESSIVE COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION

### Hans U. Lutz

Institute of Biochemistry, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, ETH Hönggerberg, Zurich, Switzerland Email: hans.lutz@bc.biol.ethz.ch

In sepsis death follows an excessive inflammatory response involving cytokines Abstract: and complement that is activated primarily via the amplifying C3/C5 convertase. Excessive stimulation of complement amplification requires IgG-containing or F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-containing immune complexes (IC) that capture dimeric C3b on one of their heavy chains or heavy chain fragments. The ability of IgG-IC to capture dimeric C3b by the Fab portion is dependent on an affinity for C3 within the Fab portion, but outside the antigen-binding region. This property is rare among IgG NAbs. In contrast to this, the lack of the Fc portion renders the Fab regions of any  $F(ab')_2$ -IC accessible to nascent C3b, but dimeric C3b deposits only if  $F(ab')_2$ -IC form secondary IC with anti-hinge NAbs that rigidify the complex and thereby promote deposition of dimeric C3b. Both types of complexes, C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG-IC and C3b<sub>2</sub>-F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC/anti-hinge NAbs, are potent precursors of alternative C3 convertases and stimulate complement amplification along with properdin up to 750 times more effectively than C3b and properdin. F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragments are not normally generated, but are formed from NAbs by enzymes from pathogens and neutrophils in sepsis. Unlike IgG-IC F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC are not cleared by Fc-receptor dependent processes and circulate long enough to form secondary IC with anti-hinge NAbs that rigidify the complexes such that they capture dimeric C3b and gain the potency to stimulate complement amplification.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

NAbs are a priori beneficial, but some of them can, under very unique conditions, mediate excessive systemic complement activation and thereby promote disease without

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

having mutated to auto-aggressive antibodies. This phenomenon occurs in diseases that do not exert an evolutionary pressure like infarction or SIRS in sepsis and trauma. For example, the acute inflammatory response as in infarction and ischemia/reperfusion involves NAbs as was first observed by Carroll's group in ischemic skeletal muscle.<sup>1</sup> Ischemia is accompanied by hypoxia and pH changes, which result in sudden exposure of normally hidden autoantigens. The liberated autoantigens get in contact with IgM and IgG NAbs that are present in the locally available plasma. NAbs against many of the exposed proteins exist in plasma to clear such components, when liberated in a homeostatic process. During ischemia the release of such components is, however, massive, such that the large number of liberated autoantigens get more and more in contact with NAbs upon being locally replenished during reperfusion. Immune complexes formed by these NAbs and liberated autoantigens activate complement not only by initiating the classical complement pathway, but to a significant extent by stimulating complement amplification via the alternative complement pathway, since damage to intestinal cells was only 1/3in factor D knockouts subjected to ischemia/reperfusion.<sup>2</sup> The phenomenon is reviewed in Chapter 13 by S.D. Fleming in this volume.

In contrast to the situation in ischemia, excessive complement activation during SIRS appears to be stimulated primarily by immune complexes generated from certain IgG NAbs and any  $F(ab^2)_2$  fragments.<sup>3</sup> SIRS can develop from severe sepsis, but also in patients with trauma having no infections. Excessive complement activation in SIRS can induce paralysis of neutrophils, the cytokine storm of macrophages, the release of tissue factor,<sup>4</sup> and death by destructive processes. As long as nascent C3b deposits to immune complexes that initiate complement activation via the classical complement pathway, the number of excessively produced nascent C3b is limited. If, however, the immune complexes stimulate complement amplification, millions of nascent C3b molecules are generated, many of which bind covalently not only to opsonized pathogens, but also to nearby self components without being opsonized. This destructive process accompanied by proinflammatory cytokines will eventually result in binding, entrapment and phagocytosis of self structures and thereby exerts a devastating role in an organism. Until recently it has remained unclear how immune complexes stimulate excessive complement activation via the alternative complement pathway, but the phenomenon as such is known for 30 to 40 years.<sup>5</sup> The mechanism will be reviewed in this chapter.

# STIMULATION OF COMPLEMENT AMPLIFICATION BY C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG CONTAINING IMMUNE COMPLEXES

Complement amplification is normally stimulated by C3b newly generated by one of the three complement pathways. A newly generated C3b molecule nucleates an alternative C3 convertase (C3bBb) that is stabilized by properdin (C3bBbP) and catalyzes the cleavage of additional C3 molecules to C3a and C3b. This process is eventually limited by factor H and I, which together will inactivate C3b to iC3b. This control is overrun if the number of generated C3b molecules is ten to hundred times higher, implying that the precursor of such superactive C3 convertases must be far more stable than monovalently bound C3b and that the generated precursor or enzyme has to be far more effective than a C3bBb complex. One such effective C3 convertase precursor is formed on IgG immune complexes (IgG-IC) that captured dimeric C3b by one of the heavy chains. Dimeric C3b deposits to immune complexed IgG antibodies that have an affinity for C3



Figure 1. Binding of factor B to C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes before or after preincubation with properdin. Labeled factor B (10–290 nM) was incubated with 1.93 nM C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes without properdin (open squares) or with 147 nM properdin (closed squares) in veronal buffered saline at pH 7.4 with 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Results are from triplicates and are given as means +/- SD. Reproduced with permission, from Jelezarova et al. Biochem J 2000; 349:217–223;<sup>8</sup> ©2000 the Biochemical Society.

outside the antigen-binding sites.<sup>6</sup> An immune complexed IgG NAb having this affinity for C3 preferentially forms C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes<sup>7</sup> and these complexes are far more effective C3 converase precursors than C3b. The reason for their high efficiency is that the dimeric C3b within this complex has a longer half life than C3b<sup>7</sup> and the dimeric C3b provides an increased affinity for properdin that exists in oligomeric form in plasma. As a consequence a C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG containing immune complex first binds oligomeric properdin which in its bound state greatly increases the affinity for factor B (Fig. 1).<sup>8</sup> The prolonged half life of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes and the stimulation by an increased affinity for factor B, render such complexes about 750 times more effective in generating C3 convertases than monovalently bound C3b. Such IgG molecules that stimulate complement amplification appear to be rare, but have not been searched for systematically. They appear to recruit primarily from IgG NAbs<sup>9,10</sup> and remain active in Mg<sup>2+</sup> EGTA- treated human serum.<sup>11</sup> While Valim and Lachmann suggested that the IgG2 subclass predominantly activated the alternative complement pathway,12 Banda et al. claim that IgG molecules capable of initiating the murine alternative complement pathway require N-glycans bound to Asp227 within the Fc portion of the heavy chains.<sup>13</sup> In none of the two cases it has been investigated how complement amplification is stimulated and whether this stimulation was in any way related to the formation of C3b-containing IgG-IC. In contrast to this, generation of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes in the course of an alternative complement pathway stimulation is known for 30 years. In fact, Gadd and Reid were the first to notice that IgG-IC that stimulate complement amplification, capture C3b molecules by one of their heavy chains.<sup>11</sup> While their finding suggested the presence of either monomeric or dimeric C3b on one heavy chain, we could demonstrate by 2-dimensional SDS PAGE with a hydroxylamine treatment between the dimensions that C3b-carrying IgG-IC contain



**Figure 2.** Two-dimensional SDS PAGE of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes. Purified C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes were reduced, alkylated and run on a 6% polyacrylamide gel. Gel strips were cut from top of the separating gel to the  $\beta$  band of C3b, treated with hydroxylamine as described and loaded on an 8% gel for the second dimension. A silver stained gel is shown. The calculated MW of complexes are given in kDa: 263 for  $\alpha$ C3<sub>2</sub>-HC, 208 for  $\alpha$ C3<sub>2</sub>. This figure was originally published as Figure 3B, by Jelezarova E, et al. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:51806–51812;<sup>14</sup> ©2003 the American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology.

exclusively ester-bonded dimeric C3b on one heavy chain, but are contaminated by free C3b dimers (Fig. 2).<sup>14</sup> These findings are in favor of the mechanism that we have suggested for the stimulation of complement amplification by IgG-IC. Long known additional findings support the mechanism further, namely that not only IgG-IC, but also  $F(ab')_2$ -IC stimulate complement amplification at least to the same extent<sup>9-11,15</sup> with up to 56% of C3 being activated in 100% plasma,<sup>16</sup> by generating C3b<sub>2</sub>-F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC.<sup>11,15</sup> These findings demonstrate that the ability of IgG-IC to stimulate complement amplification differed from their ability to activate the classical pathway, because stimulation of complement amplification did not require the Fc portion. The ability of almost any type of F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC to stimulate complement amplification appeared obvious, because the lack of the Fc portion may have increased the accessibility for nascent C3b to deposit to the CH1 domain of F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC complexes.

## ANTI-HINGE NAbs RIGIDIFY F(ab')2-IC TO CAPTURE DIMERIC C3b AND TO STIMULATE COMPLEMENT AMPLIFICATION

Several groups have demonstrated that not only IgG-IC, but also F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC stimulate complement amplification to similar extents.<sup>11,16-19</sup> There is, however, an important difference already discovered in 1971 by Kevin Reid,<sup>16</sup> namely that F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC require aside of the complement proteins an unknown, non-complement serum factor to stimulate complement amplification. In our attempt to search for this serum factor we hypothesized that "IgG anti-hinge NAbs" that had been studied more recently in quite some details

by the group of Terness (for reviews see refs. 20, 21), may represent this serum factor. Anti-hinge NAbs have even earlier been studied and named "pepsin agglutinators," because they agglutinated IgG upon its treatment with pepsin that generates F(ab')<sub>2</sub> and Fc.<sup>22,23</sup> IgG anti-hinge antibodies are germline-encoded NAbs that bind to a conformational hinge region epitope that becomes accessible exclusively upon cleavage of IgG1 by pepsin.<sup>24</sup> Anti-hinge NAbs have an important role in the regulation of the B-cell antibody production. Their plasma concentration increases slightly when B cells start producing antibodies and eventually anti-hinge NAbs stop B-cell antibody production by binding to the hinge region of antigen-carrying B-cell receptor and Fc receptor of the antibody-producing B cell.<sup>21</sup> Thus, anti-hinge NAbs have an important regulatory function within the innate and adaptive immune system.

Despite having this immune regulatory role, the very same IgG NAbs can exert damaging effects. In studying the damaging role of anti-hinge NAbs,  $C3b_2$ -F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC formation and C3 activation induced by these complexes was studied with whole serum, with serum absorbed on F(ab')<sub>2</sub>, and with serum absorbed on F(ab')<sub>2</sub> to which purified anti-hinge NAbs were added. Anti-hinge NAbs had the expected effect and restored complex formation and C3 activation in serum absorbed on F(ab')<sub>2</sub>, although at a 10 time higher concentration than expected, presumably because the purity of the material was not yet 100%.<sup>25</sup> Interestingly, F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC added to serum generated complexes that carried two and even three C3b molecules on one of the shortened heavy chains. Hence, our data strongly suggest that anti-hinge NAbs represent Reid's serum factor which rigidifies F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC and thereby facilitates covalent binding of dimeric C3b to the Fd region of one arm of an immune-complexed F(ab')<sub>2</sub> in generating a potent C3 convertase precursor (Fig. 3).

We have also verified this hypothesis on  $F(ab')_2$ -IC from affinity-purified anti-spectrin NAbs. Since these NAbs lack a CH1-mediated affinity for C3, they stimulate complement amplification as  $F(ab')_2$ -IC, but not as IgG-IC in normal human serum. Absorption of



**Figure 3.** Generation of potent C3 convertase precursors. A. Anti-hinge NAbs form secondary IC with  $F(ab')_2$ -IC. (B).  $F(ab')_2$ -IC rigidified by anti-hinge NAbs allow nascent C3b to deposit as ester-linked C3b dimer onto the shortened and rigidified heavy chain of a  $F(ab')_2$ . Reproduced with permission from Fumia et al. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:2951–2961.<sup>25</sup> ©2008 Elsevier.

normal serum on immobilized  $F(ab')_2$  removed anti-hinge NAbs and abrogated the ability of  $F(ab')_2$ -IC to stimulate complement amplification, while supplementation with purified anti-hinge NAbs restored stimulation of complement amplification.<sup>25</sup> Thus, anti-hinge NAbs represent the serum factor that is required to rigidify  $F(ab')_2$ -IC such that nascent C3b can deposit as a dimer to one Fab portion of  $F(ab')_2$ -IC. This finding may further explain why the efficacy by which  $F(ab')_2$ -IC stimulate complement amplification is high with human serum, but decreases with serum from more primitive species that are known to have lower concentrations of anti-hinge NAbs.<sup>26</sup>

# F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-CONTAINING IMMUNE COMPLEXES FORM SECONDARY IC WITH ANTI-HINGE NAbs IN PLASMA OF SEPTIC PATIENTS

 $F(ab')_2$  fragments from IgG molecules may be dangerous, because they can form immune complexes with autoantigens and eventually potent alternative complement pathway C3 convertases. The reason is that  $F(ab')_2$ -IC persist long enough in plasma to form secondary immune complexes with IgG anti-hinge NAbs, because  $F(ab')_2$ -IC, unlike IgG-IC are not cleared via Fc-receptor carrying phagocytes. Eventually, anti-hinge NAbs bind to  $F(ab')_2$ -IC and stabilize antigen-bound  $F(ab')_2$  to the point that the rigidified  $F(ab')_2$  captures dimeric C3b on one Fab and thereby forms an effective C3 convertase precursor.

The most specific enzyme that generates  $F(ab')_2$  fragments from IgG molecules, pepsin, is restricted to the gastrointestinal tract in higher organisms. However, a number of other proteases that can also cleave IgG into  $F(ab')_2$  and  $F(ab')_2$ -like fragments (in which only one heavy chain is cleaved) can occur in blood during inflammation and bacterial infections. These  $F(ab')_2$ -generating proteases originate from endogenous sources, like neutrophils (elastase),<sup>27-29</sup> from pathogens like Staphylococci<sup>30</sup> (glutamyl endopeptidase), from Streptococci (streptococcal immunoglobulin-degrading enzyme, IdeS),<sup>31</sup> and many others.

It was our goal to investigate whether F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragments are generated during severe sepsis and whether these fragments upon complexing autoantigens form secondary  $F(ab')_2$ -IC with anti-hinge NAbs and give rise to excessive complement activation. Nine patients in intensive care with several types of bacterial infection, elevated CRP values and neutrophil numbers have been studied for elastase, generation of  $F(ab')_2$  fragments, factor Bb concentration, and formation of secondary immune complexes comprised of  $F(ab')_2$ -IC and anti-hinge NAbs. Both the concentration of  $F(ab')_2$  and that of the activated complement factor B (Bb) increased linearly with the total concentration of elastase in plasma (Fig. 4).<sup>25</sup> These results provide suggestive evidence for the role of elastase in generating  $F(ab^2)_2$  from IgG and the ability of secondary IC to act as potent precursors of alternative C3 convertases. Gelfiltrations on plasma proteins from these patients revealed that the total concentration of  $F(ab')_2$  was about three  $\mu g/ml$  plasma, but less than 10% of this material migrated with its MW of about 100 kDa.<sup>3</sup> The majority of  $F(ab')_2$  (1.7  $+/-0.4 \mu g/ml$ , n = 9) was recovered in pool A with MWs in the range from 200 to 800 kDa and  $0.4+/-0.1 \mu g/ml$  migrated in pool B with MWs of about 150 kDa. In contrast to this, none of the pools from controls contained measurable concentrations of  $F(ab')_2$ . Hence, these results do not only confirm the formation of  $F(ab')_2$  during severe sepsis, but illustrate the formation of secondary immune complexes, of which the largest one (pool A) contained aside of  $1.7 \,\mu$ g/ml F(ab')<sub>2</sub>, unknown antigens, and  $0.9 \,\mu$ g/ml anti-hinge NAbs.<sup>25</sup> At first it appears that a total concentration of F(ab')<sub>2</sub> of 3µg/ml is minute, but



**Figure 4.** The plasma concentration of  $F(ab')_2$  and that of activated factor B (Bb) correlated with that of elastase in plasma from septic patients. The total concentration of  $F(ab')_2$  in plasma (A), data from patients number 4–12) and that of activated factor B (B), data from patients number 1–12). Values from control plasma are shown by open symbols. Reproduced with permission from Fumia et al. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:2951–2961.<sup>25</sup> ©2008 Elsevier.

if all the F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC in pool A formed pairwise secondary immune complexes, of which all captured dimeric C3b and each of them allowed assembly of C3 convertases, these convertases would have generated theoretically 600  $\mu$ g/ml C3b. This estimate would mean activation of 50% of C3, a huge portion, but not unrealistic for immune complexes that stimulate complement amplification.

## HOW TO PREVENT F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-IC FROM STIMULATING COMPLEMENT AMPLIFICATION?

Theoretically there are mainly two routes by which the massive complement amplification induced by  $F(ab')_2$ -IC could be stopped. One calls for inhibitors of elastase and similar types of proteases, another route prevents  $F(ab')_2$ -IC from being rigidified by

anti-hinge NAbs. The latter goal is reached by injecting a sufficient amount of irrelevant  $F(ab')_2$  fragments that bind to anti-hinge NAbs and thereby prevent them from rigidifying  $F(ab')_2$ -IC. This approach has been taken by Dr. Dietrich 45 years ago in form of Gamma Venin, a  $F(ab')_2$  preparation from pooled whole human IgG.<sup>32</sup> It turned out to be quite effective in nine patients with severe sepsis. His explanation of why the treatment was effective, was, however, inappropriate on the basis of what was known. He argued that the many types of  $F(ab')_2$  helped clearing pathogens, although efficient clearance normally requires immune complex formation by IgG antibodies and their recognition by phagocytic receptors via the Fc portion of these antibody molecules. Therefore the immunologists may have concluded that IgG should have been used instead of  $F(ab')_2$  and they convinced the companies to isolate and pool human IgG for intravenous application (IVIG).

In the meantime the argument of Dietrich has turned out to be partially correct, because work from Yano et al.<sup>26</sup> and Brezski et al.<sup>33</sup> indeed suggested that anti-hinge NAbs can aid in clearance of targets that have bound antigen-specific  $F(ab')_2$ . This type of cooperation of anti-hinge NAbs with  $F(ab')_2$  is, however, highly dependent on the relative concentrations of total  $F(ab')_2$ , antigen-specific  $F(ab')_2$  and anti-hinge NAbs. For example, anti-hinge NAbs that existed in varying concentrations in nonhuman primates induced a rapid clearance of about 75% of platelets purposely tagged with a monoclonal anti-platelet  $F(ab')_2$  in 5 of 30 animals.<sup>26</sup> On the other hand, an injection of  $F(ab')_2$  from pooled human IgG in amounts that can complex all available anti-hinge NAbs, as performed by Dietrich, must have prevented anti-hinge NAbs from binding to newly generated  $F(ab')_2$ -IC and thereby exerted a beneficial effect in patients with a severe sepsis.

Intact IgG (IVIG) as a replacement of  $F(ab')_2$  from pooled human IgG cannot exert an analogous effect, because the binding site for anti-hinge NAbs is not accessible in intact IgG. Expectedly, IVIG failed to cure patients with severe sepsis irrespective of the brand.<sup>34</sup> Nevertheless, high concentrations of IVIG stimulate factor I and H dependent inactivation of C3b<sub>2</sub>-containing complexes by a factor of two,<sup>35</sup> a value evidently too small to cure from severe sepsis. IVIG has since been used successfully in an increasing number of autoimmune diseases, where it suppresses autoaggressive antibody formation by several means.<sup>36</sup> Hence, it may be appropriate to repeat isolation of  $F(ab')_2$  from pooled whole human IgG (Gamma Venin) and to study its efficacy in treating patients with sepsis and SIRS.

The other route in treating patients with massive complement overreaction calls for inhibitors of elastase and similar proteases capable of generating  $F(ab')_2$  from IgG. This approach has been used successfully in disease models using animals.<sup>37-39</sup> Recently elastase inhibitors have also been applied to humans. In patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS/SIRS) sivelestat had beneficial effects on pulmonary functions.<sup>40</sup> Among patients with multi organ failure sivelestat reduced hospital mortality from 33 to 6 percent.<sup>41</sup> Togo et al. studied the effect of sivelestat on survival of patients who developed gastrointerstinal septic ARDS and found that sivelestat was most effective if patients were well oxygenated.<sup>42</sup> In all cases treatment with the elastase inhibitor reduced the inflammatory process, but none of the authors has so far related the benefit of such a treatment to the inhibition of  $F(ab')_2$  generation. In general they referred to the reduced degradation of elastin and matrix proteins resulting in reduced lung injury<sup>38</sup> and its inhibiting effect on NF-kappaB.<sup>43</sup> Thus, there is ample room for clinical trials in which effective drugs like sivelestat are applied and the patients studied for IgG cleavage and the parameters of complement amplification.

#### CONCLUSION

The results summarized have revealed that in sepsis and SIRS proteases from neutrophils and pathogens can generate  $F(ab')_2$  fragments from IgG NAbs and preformed Abs. In case these  $F(ab')_2$  fragments form immune complexes (IC) with autoantigens the  $F(ab')_2$ -IC have a high probability to form secondary IC with anti-hinge NAbs. Binding of anti-hinge NAbs to  $F(ab')_2$ -IC rigidifies these complexes and thereby enables them to capture C3b dimers. Bound C3b dimers are precursors of alternative C3 convertases, being about 750 times more effective than bound C3b. The extent to which the generated C3 convertases stimulate excessive complement activation via the amplification loop is difficult to predict. Excessive complement activation is dependent on the concentration of anti-hinge NAb-stabilized  $F(ab')_2$ -IC and thus is a function of antigen-specific  $F(ab')_2$ , the concentration of immune complexes, and that of anti-hinge NAbs. The process is inhibitable by irrelevant  $F(ab')_2$  fragments that bind to anti-hinge NAbs and prevent it from stabilizing  $F(ab')_2$ -IC. The findings can explain why  $F(ab')_2$  from whole human IgG, but not IgG itself (IVIG), was effective in stopping severe sepsis.

#### REFERENCES

- Weiser MR, Williams JP, Moore FD et al. Reperfusion injury of ischemic skeletal muscle is mediated by natural antibody and complement. J Exp Med 1996; 183:2343-8. PMID:8642343 doi:10.1084/jem.183.5.2343
- Stahl GL, Xu Y, Hao L et al. Role for the alternative complement pathway in ischemia/reperfusion injury. Am J Pathol 2003; 162:449-55. PMID:12547703 doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63839-4
- Lutz HU, Fumia S. Stimulation of complement amplification by F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-containing immune complexes and naturally occurring anti-hinge antibodies, possible role in systemic inflammation. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:508-13. PMID:18558371 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.04.017
- 4. Ward PA. The dark side of C5a in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol 2004; 4:133-42. PMID:15040586 doi:10.1038/ nri1269
- Ratnoff WD, Fearon DT, Austen KF. The role of antibody in the activation of the alternative complement pathway. Springer Semin Immunopathol 1983; 6:361-71. PMID:6364431 doi:10.1007/BF02116280
- Lutz HU, Nater M, Stammler P. Naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies have a unique affinity for C3. Immunology 1993; 80:191-6. PMID:8262548
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Fasler S. Preferential formation of C3b-IgG complexes in vitro and in vivo from nascent C3b and naturally occurring anti-band 3 antibodies. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:17418-26. PMID:8349625
- Jelezarova E, Vogt A, Lutz HU. Interaction of C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes with complement proteins properdin, factor B and factor H: implications for amplification. Biochem J 2000; 349:217-23. PMID:10861231 doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3490217
- Nelson B, Ruddy S. Enhancing role of IgG in lysis of rabbit erythrocytes by the alternative pathway of human complement. J Immunol 1979; 122:1994-9. PMID:376729
- Schenkein HÅ, Ruddy S. The role of immunoglobulins in alternative complement pathway activation by zymosan. I. Human IgG with specificity for zymosan enhances alternative pathway activation by zymosan. J Immunol 1981; 126:7-10. PMID:6778918
- Gadd KJ, Reid KBM. The binding of complement component C3 to antibody-antigen aggregates after activation of the alternative pathway in human serum. Biochem J 1981; 195:471-80. PMID:7316962
- 12. Lucisano Valim YML, Lachmann PJ. The effect of antibody isotype and antigenic epitope density on the complement-fixing activity of immune complexes a systematic study using chimaeric anti-NIP antibodies with human Fc regions. Clin Exp Immunol 1991; 84:1-8. PMID:1707767 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.1991. tb08115.x
- Banda NK, Wood AK, Takahashi K et al. Initiation of the alternative pathway of murine complement by immune complexes is dependent on N-glycans in IgG antibodies. Arthritis Rheum 2008; 58:3081-9. PMID:18821684 doi:10.1002/art.23865
- Jelezarova E, Luginbuehl A, Lutz HU. C3b<sub>2</sub>-IgG complexes retain dimeric C3 fragments at all levels of inactivation. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:51806-12. PMID:14527961 doi:10.1074/jbc.M304613200

#### IMMUNE COMPLEXES MEDIATE EXCESSIVE COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION

- 15. Gadd KJ, Reid KB. Importance of the integrity of the inter-heavy-chain disulphide bond of rabbit IgG in the activation of the alternative pathway of human complement by the F(ab')<sub>2</sub> region of rabbit IgG antibody in immune aggregates. Immunology 1981; 42:75-82. PMID:6780451
- Reid KB. Complement fixation by the F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-fragment of pepsin-treated rabbit antibody. Immunology J 1971; 20(5):649-58. PMID:5006125
- Sissons JG, Cooper NR, Oldstone MB. Alternative complement pathway-mediated lysis of measles virus infected cells: induction by IgG antibody bound to individual viral glycoproteins and comparative efficacy of F(ab')<sub>2</sub> and Fab' fragments. J Immunol 1979; 123:2144-9. PMID:489977
- Akagaki Y, Inai S. Activation of the alternative complement pathway by the immune precipitate formed with F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragment of human IgG antibody. Mol Immunol 1983; 20:1221-6. PMID:6419059 doi:10.1016/0161-5890(83)90146-3
- Joiner KA, Goldman RC, Hammer CH et al. Studies of the mechanism of bacterial resistance to complement-mediated killing. V. IgG and F(ab')<sub>2</sub> mediate killing of E. coli 0111B4 by the alternative complement pathway without increasing C5b-9 deposition. J Immunol 1983; 131:2563-9. PMID:6355296
- Terness P, Opelz G. Natural anti-immunoglobulin autoantibodies: Irrelevant by- products or immunoregulatory molecules? Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1998; 115:270-7. PMID:9566349 doi:10.1159/000069457
- Terness PI, Navolan D, Dufter C et al. Immunosuppressive anti-immunoglobulin autoantibodies: Specificity, gene structure and function in health and disease. Cell Mol Biol 2002; 48:271-8. PMID:12030431
- Kormeier LC, Ing JT, Mandy WJ. Specificity of antiglobulin factors in normal human serum reacting with enzyme digested gamma-G-globulin. J Immunol 1968; 100:612-21. PMID:4966843
- Heimer R, Wolfe LD, Abruzzo JL. The specificity of antibodies to the F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragment of human IgG. Arthritis Rheum 1985; 28:562-8. PMID:3873943 doi:10.1002/art.1780280516
- 24. Terness P, Kohl I, Hübener G et al. The natural human IgG anti-F(ab')<sub>2</sub> antibody recognizes a conformational IgG1 hinge epitope. J Immunol 1995; 154:6446-52. PMID:7539020
- Fumia S, Goede JS, Fischler M et al. Human F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-containing immune complexes together with anti-hinge natural antibodies stimulate complement amplification in vitro and in vivo. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:2951-61. PMID:18339427 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2008.01.029
- 26. Yano S, Kaku S, Suzuki K et al. Natural antibodies against the immunoglobulin F(ab')<sub>2</sub> fragment cause elimination of antigens recognized by the F(ab')<sub>2</sub> from the circulation. Eur J Immunol 1995; 25:3128-33. PMID:7489753 doi:10.1002/eji.1830251121
- 27. Baici A, Knöpfel M, Fehr K et al. Kinetics of the different susceptibilities of the four human immunoglobulin G subclasses to proteolysis by human lysosomal elastase. Scand J Immunol 1980; 12:41-50. PMID:6902981 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1980.tb00039.x
- Donnelly SC, MacGregor I, Zamani A et al. Plasma elastase levels and the development of the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1428-33. PMID:7735596
- 29. Gardinali M, Padalino P, Vesconi S et al. Complement activation and polymorphonuclear neutrophil leukocyte elastase in sepsis. Correlation with severity of disease. Arch Surg 1992; 127:1219-24. PMID:1417490
- 30. Konstan MW, Hilliard KA, Norvell TM et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage findings in cystic fibrosis patients with stable, clinically mild lung disease suggest ongoing infection and inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150:448-54. PMID:8049828
- 31. Ryan MH, Petrone D, Nemeth JF et al. Proteolysis of purified IgGs by human and bacterial enzymes in vitro and the detection of specific proteolytic fragments of endogenous IgG in rheumatoid synovial fluid. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:1837-46. PMID:18157932 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2007.10.043
- Dietrich H. Report on the experience in the treatment of septic diseases with Gamma-Venin. Dtsch Med J 1966; 17:709-10. PMID:4167085
- Brezski RJ, Luongo JL, Petrone D et al. Human anti-IgG1 hinge autoantibodies reconstitute the effector functions of proteolytically inactivated IgGs. J Immunol 2008; 181:3183-92. PMID:18713989
- 34. Werdan K, Pilz G, Bujdoso O et al. Score-based immunoglobulin G therapy of patients with sepsis: The SBITS study\*. Crit Care Med 2007; 35:2693-701. PMID:18074471 doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000295426.37471.79
- 35. Lutz HU, Stammler P, Jelezarova E et al. High doses of immunoglobulin G attenuate immune aggregate-mediated complement activation by enhancing physiologic cleavage of C3b in C3b<sub>n</sub>-IgG complexes. Blood 1996; 88:184-93. PMID:8704173
- 36. Vani J, Elluru S, Negi VS et al. Role of natural antibodies in immune homeostasis: IVIg perspective. Autoimmun Rev 2008; 7:440-4. PMID:18558359 doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2008.04.011
- 37. Kambe M, Bessho R, Fujii M et al. Sivelestat reduces myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury in rat hearts even when administered after onset of myocardial ischemia. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2009; 8:629-34. PMID:19279053 doi:10.1510/icvts.2008.195933
- Toda Y, Takahashi T, Maeshima K et al. A neutrophil elastase inhibitor, sivelestat, ameliorates lung injury after hemorrhagic shock in rats. Int J Mol Med 2007; 19:237-43. PMID:17203197
- Suda K, Takeuchi H, Hagiwara T et al. Neutrophil elastase inhibitor improves survival of rats with clinically relevant sepsis. Shock 2010; 33:526-31. PMID:19953005

#### NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES (NAbs)

- Okayama N, Kakihana Y, Setoguchi D et al. Clinical effects of a neutrophil elastase inhibitor, sivelestat, in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Anesth 2006; 20:6-10. PMID:16421669 doi:10.1007/ s00540-005-0362-9
- Hoshi K, Kurosawa S, Kato M et al. Sivelestat, a neutrophil elastase inhibitor, reduces mortality rate of critically ill patients. Tohoku J Exp Med 2005; 207:143-8. PMID:16141683 doi:10.1620/tjem.207.143
- 42. Togo S, Matsuo K, Ishibe A et al. Usefulness of a selective neutrophil elastase inhibitor (sivelestat) in septic ARDS patients after gastrointestinal surgery. Hepatogastroenterology 2008; 55:967-73. PMID: 18705309
- 43. Hagiwara S, Iwasaka H, Togo K et al. A neutrophil elastase inhibitor, sivelestat, reduces lung injury following endotoxin-induced shock in rats by inhibiting HMGB1. Inflammation 2008; 31:227-34. PMID:18536984 doi:10.1007/s10753-008-9069-z

196

SECTION IV

UNIQUE PROPERTIES OF NAbs
### CHAPTER 15

### THE NATURAL AUTOANTIBODY REPERTOIRE IN NEWBORNS AND ADULTS: A Current Overview

# Asaf Madi,<sup>1,2</sup> Sharron Bransburg-Zabary,<sup>1,2</sup> Dror Y. Kenett,<sup>2</sup> Eshel Ben-Jacob\*,<sup>2,3</sup> and Irun R. Cohen\*,<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel; <sup>2</sup>School of Physics and Astronomy, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel; <sup>3</sup>The Center for Theoretical and Biological Physics, University of California San Diego, La Jolla, California, USA; <sup>4</sup>Department of Immunology, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel \*Corresponding Author: Irun R. Cohen—Email: irun.cohen@weizmann.ac.il

Abstract: Antibody networks have been studied in the past based on the connectivity between idiotypes and anti-idiotypes-antibodies that bind one another. Here we call attention to a different network of antibodies, antibodies connected by their reactivities to sets of antigens-the antigen-reactivity network. The recent development of antigen microarray chip technology for detecting global patterns of antibody reactivities makes it possible to study the immune system quantitatively using network analysis tools. Here, we review the analyses of IgM and IgG autoantibody reactivities of sera of mothers and their offspring (umbilical cords) to 300 defined self-antigens; the autoantibody reactivities present in cord blood represent the natural autoimmune repertories with which healthy humans begin life and the mothers' reactivities reflect the development of the repertoires in healthy young adults. Comparing the cord and maternal reactivities using several analytic tools led to the following conclusions: (1) The IgG repertoires showed a high correlation between each mother and her newborn; the IgM repertoires of all the cords were very similar and each cord differed from its mother's IgM repertoire. Thus, different humans are born with very similar IgM autoantibodies produced in utero and with unique IgG autoantibodies found in their individual mothers. (2) Autoantibody repertoires appear to be structured into sets of reactivities that are organized into cliques-reactivities to particular antigens are correlated. (3) Autoantibody repertoires are organized as networks of reactivities in which certain key antigen reactivities dominate the network-the dominant antigen reactivities manifest a "causal" relationship to sets of other correlated reactivities. Thus, repertoires of autoantibodies in healthy subjects, the immunological homunculus, are structured in hierarchies of antigen reactivities.

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The immune system is a key player in daily body maintenance and defense and its proper functionality is vital both to the survival of the individual and to its well-being. The immune system is composed of complex networks of molecules, cells and organs that act together to maintain and repair the body and protect it.<sup>1-6</sup> The immune system is dynamic, a constantly evolving network whose complexity is comparable to that of the central nervous system.

Every exposure to an antigen, be it an invader (bacteria, virus) or a self component alters the immune state and the antibody repertoire. Antibodies binding to molecules of the body itself—autoantibodies—are associated with the pathologic inflammatory processes that cause autoimmune diseases. However, autoantibodies in healthy individuals, in contrast to pathogenic autoantibodies, are thought to function in body maintenance and healing. It appears that naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) and auto-reactive T cells in healthy individuals are directed to a selected, limited set of self-molecules. The autoimmune repertoire serves the immune system as an internal representation of the body, and has been termed the immunological homunculus.<sup>1,2</sup> Natural autoimmune T cells and B cells and autoantibodies may provide an early immune response to pathogens, expressing molecules that are cross-reactive with particular self-antigens. An example is the response to bacterial heat shock proteins and to other molecules that are highly conserved. Natural autoimmunity has also been proposed to prevent pathogenic autoimmunity by generating regulatory circuits or by blocking access by potentially pathogenic agents to key self-antigens.<sup>7</sup>

To characterize the immunological homunculus network (IHN), we used informatics tools to study patterns of antibody reactivity to hundreds of self-molecules (of our design) arrayed on glass slides—an antigen chip.<sup>8-11</sup> This immune microarray (Fig. 1) consists of various antigens covalently linked to the surface of a glass slide. A drop of blood serum (or any other body fluid) is tested for antibody reactivity by measuring antibody binding to each antigen spot using fluorescence labeling. Note that the binding of antibodies to a spotted antigen cannot tell us about the stimulus that induced the antibodies, and it cannot define the affinity or the specificity of any particular antibody or collective of antibodies. Indeed, a positive antigen-binding signal probably reflects a polyclonal mixture of antibodies binding to a variety of structural epitopes exposed by each spotted antigen.

Results using the antigen chip suggest that the particular self-reactivities comprising the IHN could serve as a set of biomarkers that help the immune system to initiate and regulate the inflammatory processes that maintain the body.<sup>7</sup> A full description of the immunological homunculus network would require information about an individual's T-cell antigen specificities (repertoire) and frequencies of T-cell functional types (Th1, Th2, Th3, CTL, Treg and so forth), their B-cell repertoire and B-cell types, autoantibody repertoire and antibody isotypes, and innate immune cells (macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and so forth). Most of this information is not accessible-in fact, much of it is not characterized in detail but known only in general terms. Nevertheless, antibodies are precisely measurable and the pattern of one's global repertoire of autoantibodies in blood and body fluids is accessible. The autoantibody homunculus, at least, can be consulted. Moreover, microarray technology combined with advanced system-level analysis methods has opened new opportunities for approaching the vast information stored in antibody repertoires. Therefore, it has been proposed that the global pattern of autoantibodies can reveal various states of the immune network and provide some insights about the body state of the individual.7,10



**Figure 1.** Schematic flow of the antigen chip from production to analysis. Step 1—Hybridization of antigen microarrays with serum samples: The tested body fluid (serum in this case) is hybridized on the antigen microarray to react with the chosen antigens. Then, secondary antibodies labeled with fluorescent dyes (Cy3 and Cy5) are added to assess the amount of antibody reactivity to each antigen. Step 2—Image acquisition and optimization: After incubating, washing and drying, the microarray is ready for reading and the fluorescence intensities are scanned. Step 3—Feature quantification: The scanned fluorescence includes optimization of the background reading and removal of problematic spots. Step 4—Data analysis: This step includes illuminating information hidden in the data using appropriate algorithms, to be explained in the text.

### THE MATERNAL AND NEWBORN AUTOANTIBODY REPERTOIRES

The immune system expresses both the genetic endowment of the individual and the life experience of the individual. During pregnancy, the immune system has a very special role in the mother–offspring dyad by providing not only defense against infectious agents, but also IgG antibodies of the mother, which are actively transferred to the fetus. Immediately after birth, the immune system deals with post-natal adaptation to life in a continuous and dynamic process. Like the central nervous system, the immune system is *self-organizing*: it begins with genetically coded, primary instructions, to which it adds information retrieved from the individual's experience with the environment in



**Figure 2.** The normalized antibody reactivities of newborns (x axis) and mothers (y axis) as scatter plots. For the IgG scatter plot (A), most of the antigens exhibit similar reactivities of newborns and mothers, where only a small fraction of the antigens shows significant deviations from this behavior. We note the relatively small but significant group of antigens marked by an ellipse indicating antigens with higher reactivities in the newborns. For the IgM scatter plot (B), 2 types of antigen populations can be detected, the vast majority of antigens are characterized by relatively low reactivities of the newborns compared with their mothers, but a second group (marked by an ellipse) is characterized by high levels of reactivities, where the newborns' reactivities are somewhat higher than the mothers'.

health and disease. Just as each person develops a unique brain, each person develops an individualized immune system.<sup>2</sup>

To characterize the development of natural autoantibodies from birth to adulthood, we re-examined the antibody binding of 10 pairs of mothers (blood sample) and their newborns (umbilical cord sample) to 300 (mostly self) antigens previously reported by Merbl et al.<sup>12</sup> Figure 2 depicts the normalized antibody reactivities of the newborns (x axis) and their mothers (y axis) as scatter plots, such that each point in the graph represents a specific antigen reactivity in the maternal-newborn plan.

For the IgG isotype (Fig. 2A), we observed basically similar reactivity levels of the mothers and their newborns, reflected by the fact that the points form approximately a symmetric distribution along the diagonal. This can be explained by the fact that most of the fetal IgG antibodies originate from the mother, actively transported across the placenta.<sup>13</sup> Note, however, that there is a relatively small but significant group of antigen reactivities marked by the gray ellipse indicating higher reactivities in the newborns. Several factors might explain this phenomenon: selective transfer of certain IgG antibodies, the accumulation of such antibodies in the fetus, dissociation of maternal IgG-IgM antibody complexes during active transfer across the placenta and active production by the fetus of IgG antibodies to these antigens. Indeed, it has been suggested by Akilesh et al.<sup>14</sup> that, in addition to the role of the placental FcR (FcRn) in transferring maternal IgG to the fetus, the placenta also protects bound IgG from catabolism and maintains high IgG serum levels. Therefore, an accumulation of certain IgG antibodies could take place if these antibodies are transferred more than others and the rate of antibody catabolism differs between the fetus and the mother.

### ANTIGEN-REACTIVITY CORRELATIONS

For many autoantibodies of the IgM isotype (Fig. 2B), the levels of the mothers are generally higher than those of their newborns; but certain antibody-reactivities manifest higher reactivity in the newborns. In contrast to IgG, IgM antibodies do not cross the placenta, so IgM autoantibodies in cord blood must have been produced by the developing fetus before birth.<sup>12,15</sup> Therefore, it is not surprising that some fetal reactivities differ from those of the mother.

Recently, we extended the study reported by Merbl et al.<sup>12</sup> by a different analysis of additional data from five females, who were not pregnant, and from eight newborns at birth and at day seven.<sup>15</sup> The analysis was performed from the perspective of the immune system as a complex functional network of antibodies by correlating their reactivities among themselves. We analyzed the correlations of antigen reactivities and of subjects to detect relationships between particular antigen-reactivities in the populations of mothers and newborns in both their IgG and IgM repertoires (Fig. 3).

The IgG subject correlation matrix in Figure 3A depicts a high correlation (light gray or white) between each mother and her offspring (red squares), again, indicating the maternal source of the IgG fetal repertoire. The high correlation values between each newborn at day 1 and again at day 7 (green squares) indicate conservation of the IgG autoantibody repertoire. Note that there are low correlation values between each of the adults and each of the infants and between the groups, indicating the individual nature of the IgG repertoire.



**Figure 3.** The subject correlation matrices for the IgG (A) and IgM (B) isotypes, color coded from low correlation (dark gray) to high correlation (white). The matrices are ordered according to the mothers (1-10), and their newborns (11-20), five females (21-25) and the additional newborns at birth (26-33) and at day 7 (34-41). The white diagonal lines are formed by the absolute correlations between each subject in both the x and y axes. A) The IgG correlation matrix: note that there are additional white diagonals in the red squares; this signifies the high correlation between each mother and her newborn; the additional diagonals in the green squares signify the high correlation between each newborn at day 1 and day 7. B) The IgM correlation matrix: note the strong correlation between all the newborns (blue squares) and the very weak correlation between each mother and her newborn. The high correlation values inside the green squares indicate that the IgM autoantibody repertoires changed very little in the first 7 d of life. We are now studying whether antibodies to bacteria develop in the first few weeks after birth and the effect of bacterial colonization of the gut on the development of the autoantibody repertoire.

The IgM subject correlation matrix (Fig. 3B) shows very weak correlation values (dark gray and black) between each mother and her newborn, with strong correlations between all the newborns (blue square) indicating the universal (common) nature of the congenital IgM repertoire.

### MODULAR ORGANIZATION AND ANTIGEN CLIQUES

The antigen correlation matrices described above were analyzed using the functional holography (FH) method of Baruchi et al.,<sup>16</sup> originally devised for analyzing recorded brain activity, and also shown to be useful in the analysis of gene-expression data. In a recent work, this method was used to identify expression relations between genes and gene network motifs.<sup>17</sup> By using this approach on the antigen reactivity data, we were able to unveil new information about functional relations between self-antigens—modular organization of the autoantibody network and the formation of self-antigen cliques.

The modular organization of IgM antibodies is shown in Figure 4 for the 10 mothers and added women (A) and for the newborns (B). It was found that the mothers and the added women exhibit modular organization of their IgM repertoires (Fig. 4A) into antigen cliques—distinct subgroups of highly correlated antigen reactivities. In contrast to the IgM of the mothers, the IgM repertoires of the newborns were not organized into separate antigen cliques (Fig. 4B). The presence of IgM cliques of reactivity in the mothers and their lack in the newborns suggest that humans develop coordinated sets of IgM autoantibody reactivities during healthy post-natal development. The IgG reactivities of the newborns are more organized than their IgM reactivities (data not shown), as expected from the transfer of maternal IgG to the fetus.



**Figure 4.** IgM antigen cliques. We present the antigen-reactivity correlation information in a 3-dimensional principal component analysis (PCA) space, whose axes are the three leading principal vectors computed by the PCA algorithm. Each antigen is placed in this space according to its three "eigenvalues" for the three leading principal vectors. Note that antigens that manifest high normalized correlations will be placed in close vicinity in the PCA space. A) The antigen network of the 45 antigens that compose the strong cliques in the maternal data set. B) The antigen network for the large cluster of 150 antigens identified for the newborns. In the presentation of the antigen networks, nodes (antigens) with high correlations (< 0.85) are shown linked by the orange lines. A color version of this image is available online at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

### **IMMUNE NETWORK ARCHITECTURE AND IMMUNE TREES**

Natural antibody networks have been studied in the past based on the connectivity between idiotypes and anti-idiotypes—antibodies that bind one another.<sup>18-20</sup> More recently, we extended our analysis of autoantibody reactivities<sup>15</sup> by applying graph and network theory analysis methods.<sup>21-23</sup> This approach calls attention to a different network of antibodies, autoantibodies associated by their reactivities to sets of self-antigens. In this immune network, the nodes (circles) represent the antigen reactivities and the links between the nodes (often called edges) represent the relationships between the autoantibody reactivities calculated for each group of subjects. In other words, an immune network for a given group of subjects corresponds to the network of similarities between antigen reactivities within that group of subjects.

In the complete network of antigen correlations every node is linked to all other nodes. However, most of the links are not significant as they correspond to very weak correlations. Therefore, the complete graph contains a high level of non-significant information that may mask the essential motifs. To extract the relevant information, it is possible to generate a condensed representation of the complete network by using various methods such as the Minimal Spanning Tree (MST) methodology,<sup>24-27</sup> which we employed here. The MST is a widely used sub-graph of the complete network which is constructed using a special algorithm that enables us to extract the most relevant information from the full network.<sup>28</sup> The idea of the MST algorithm is to select the subset of more informative links (about the hierarchical structure of the system) and reduce the complete all-to-all network (that contains N(N-1) links) to a representative sub-graph (that contains only *N*-1 links). Hence, generating the maximum information immune networks (or immune trees) by the MST, makes it possible to investigate essential organizational motifs, such as the network topological organization. Moreover, similar to neuronal and gene networks, the immune system can exhibit activated and inhibited reactivities, such that both positive and negative antigen correlations contain important information. While the typical construction of the correlation-based MST has a bias toward strong positive correlations, we analyzed here the absolute value of the antigen-antigen correlations, in order to give equal importance to both strong positive and negative correlations.<sup>29</sup> We thus constructed the immune MST for each group of subjects (mothers/newborns), each isotype (IgG/IgM) and integrated isotype tree for each group<sup>29</sup> (Fig. 5).

We assessed and compared the topological organization of the IgG and IgM immune trees of the mothers and newborns. Next, the networks of the two subject groups, mothers and newborns, were compared by employing the widely used divergence rate measure.<sup>30</sup> The analysis revealed a high topological similarity between the newborns' and mothers' IgG networks and significant topological differences between the newborns' and the maternal IgM networks. These results indicate partial conservation of the IgG immune network topology from birth to adulthood, and significant reorganization of the IgM immune networks during the healthy development of the immune system, also shown above using other types of analysis.

Our previous work<sup>29</sup> uncovered previously unrecognized features of natural autoantibody networks. It was shown that the repertoires of mother and newborn manifest generally different network architectures: the composite tree of IgG and IgM reactivities shows that the nodes of IgG and IgM reactivities are largely overlapping in the mothers, but are mostly distinct in the newborns; it is quite possible that the overlap between the isotypes in the mothers results from adaptive immune responses to particular antigens.



**Figure 5.** Hierarchical organization of the "integrated similarity immune trees" for the IgM and IgG isotypes. A) The Minimum Spanning Tree (MST) of the maternal data set, and B) the MST of the newborns. The black squares and white circles (nodes) represent the IgG and IgM isotypes respectively. We present the negative correlations between two nodes by the use of red or black lines, reflecting the fact that the organization of these immune networks can exhibit activated and inhibited reactivity responses. Note that many clusters or sub-trees are composed of a single isotype in the newborns, but less so for the mothers, where the sub-trees of IgG and IgM appear to overlap to a great extent.

Both negative and positive relations between antigen reactivities participate in connectivity throughout the MST network, reflecting the fact that the organization of these immune networks can exhibit activated as well as inhibited reactivity response.

This methodology is unique in its description of the network-tree architecture of the natural autoantibody repertoires in healthy mothers and newborns; the causal mechanisms responsible for this network architecture and for the differences between mothers and newborns need to be investigated.

# ANTIGEN DEPENDENCY NETWORKS AND INFLUENTIAL ANTIGEN-REACTIVITIES

In this section we introduce a system-level analysis of antigen-dependency networks as a step toward the inference of causal relations between antigens.<sup>31</sup> The analysis is based on the measure of "partial correlations," which are becoming ever more widely used to investigate complex systems. Examples range from studies of biological systems such as gene networks<sup>30,32</sup> to financial systems.<sup>33,34</sup>

In simple words, the partial (or residual) correlation is a measure of the effect (or contribution) of a given antigen-reactivity, say j, on the correlations between another pair of antigen-reactivities, say i and k. This partial correlation approach enables one to define the hypothetical influence of antigen-reactivity j, as the sum of the influence of that antigen-reactivity (j) on all other antigen-reactivities i.<sup>31</sup> In this construction of "antigen dependency networks," the nodes represent the antigens spotted on the chip and the arrows between the nodes indicate the directionality of the influence—which antigen-reactivity influences which other antigen-reactivities; the approach defines a kind of causal influence of one reactivity on other reactivities. It's as if immunization to





C



one particular antigen induces an immune reaction to other antigens. The colors indicate the strength of the system-level influence (SLI) of each antigen on the correlations between all other antigen pairs, from the most affecting antigens (dark red) to the least affecting antigen (dark blue) in the network. In other words, a dependency network for a given group of subjects corresponds to the network of dependencies between antigen reactivities within that group of subjects. A concrete example can be seen in the case where autoimmunization to one myelin antigen epitope in multiple sclerosis patients might lead to "spreading" to other antigen reactivities in the course of myelin damage.<sup>35</sup> Influential antigen-reactivities act as "drivers" for additional reactivities to form a network.

We constructed the "antigen dependency networks" for the groups of mothers and newborns.<sup>31</sup> We first constructed the IgG, IgM and combined IgG and IgM "networks of antigen dependencies" for the two groups (Fig. 6). Next, the networks of the two subject groups were compared by employing two technical measures that were developed in the context of network theory and are widely used—the divergence rate<sup>30</sup> and modularity score.<sup>4</sup> The first method was used to compare the position of each antigen-reactivity and its connections. The second method was used to assess the differences in the modular organization between the two networks—maternal and newborn. We found a higher modularity for the maternal IgG network. We found that the most influential "driver" antigens in the mothers and newborns are composed of both IgG and IgM isotypes, which points to a role for the maternally transferred IgG in influencing the newborn's network. Thus, the analysis of antigen dependency networks enabled us to unveil driver self-antigens?

The analysis of the system-level influence (SLI) revealed that about 10-15% of the antigen reactivities are drivers (colored in red and orange in Fig. 6); these antigen-reactivities manifest significantly higher driver influences than the other antigen reactivities. These driver reactivities tend to be evenly spread in the dependency networks. We found that the driver antigen reactivities of the IgG networks are prominently composed of epitopes of Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs) (~50% of the top 20 most influential antigens (antigens with high SLI scores) are HSP60 related and ~20% are HSP70 related). It is true that the array of antigens spotted on the chip contains many HSP peptide epitopes (~30% of all the spots). However, the enrichment of highly-ranked HSP molecules in the IgG networks and the absence of HSP epitopes as drivers in the IgM networks suggest that the dominance of these HSP epitopes for the IgG repertoires is not merely an artifact. Note that HSP60 appears to function as a biomarker of inflammation and stress for the immune system,<sup>7,36</sup> which suits the position of HSPs as drivers in the maternal and newborn networks.

### DISCUSSION

The results presented here support the concept of the immunological homunculus<sup>1,37-39</sup> the idea that the healthy immune system includes autoreactivity to a selected set of particular self-molecules. Indeed, the homunculus idea triggered the development of our antigen microarray chip.<sup>10</sup> The fact that the primary autoantibody homunculus arises during the uterine life of the fetus, an environment normally free of foreign antigens, suggests that self-molecules are likely to serve as the immunogenic stimulus inducing IgM and IgA autoantibodies. The exact mechanism of this stimulus is still unknown, but it seems that the development of B cells, like that of T cells, may involve positive selection for self-reactivity.<sup>40</sup> As we have shown here, the B-cell arm of the immune system has evolved to produce IgM autoantibodies to certain self-molecules even before birth; hence it is reasonable to conclude that these autoantibodies may provide potential advantages that offset the occasional autoimmune disease in post-natal life associated with their target autoreactivities.<sup>1,41</sup> It is conceivable that NAbs, in recognizing specific body molecules, help the immune system gather and integrate essential information about the state of the body and thus provide potential health benefits.<sup>2</sup> In any case, the inclusion of some major disease–associated self antigens in the innate autoantibody repertoire suggests that autoimmune disease could arise through a lapse in the regulation of natural, otherwise benign, autoimmunity.<sup>42</sup>

For the IgM autoantibodies, which are not transferred from mother to fetus, we found that all the newborns shared a universal innate immune profile, in agreement with the concept of the immunological homunculus—the immune system's internal image of key body molecules.<sup>42</sup> On the other hand, the maternal IgM and IgG autoantibody repertoires are highly diverse, implying that healthy development of the autoimmune state from birth to adulthood arises from immunological learning according to one's personal life experience. In other words, it seems that the immunological homunculus is not static but responds with personal immune experience. At present, we do not know whether a healthy maturation of the autoantibody repertoire is induced by immune experience with foreign antigens cross-reactive with self and/or by autoimmune contact with sets of self-antigens during normal body maintenance.<sup>2,3</sup> Study of the autoantibody repertoires developing in germ-free and antigen-free animals would shed light on this question. Moreover, it would be important to study whether particular types of autoimmune eigens.<sup>9,10</sup>

Analyzing the maternal IgM and IgG autoantibody correlations, we found that immune state diversity goes hand in hand with the development of a modular organization, reflected by the formation of antigen reactivity cliques or functional immune groups. The dominance of HSP epitopes<sup>43</sup> as "drivers" of other autoantibody reactivities is another indication of the intrinsic organization of natural autoimmunity.

The observation of an organized network of autoantibodies in mothers and newborns challenges the Clonal-Selection Theory (CST) of adaptive immunity, which has dominated immunological thinking for the past half-century.<sup>44</sup> The classical CST<sup>2,45</sup> discourse emphasized the functional independence of individual immune cells and so a network of antibody reactivities was outside of CST expectations. Moreover, according to the CST, it was inconceivable that the healthy immune system recognizes components of the body, since any recognition of self-molecules was thought to produce an autoimmune disease. Thus, the CST postulates that the immune repertoire, during development, must be purged of lymphocytes bearing receptors that could bind self-molecules. The self, as viewed by the CST, goes unnoticed and autoimmunity is forbidden. The present results do not fit the worldview of the CST. The present findings indicate that the healthy immune system, even before birth as the self-reactive IgM in the umbilical cord illustrates, recognizes self-molecules and, moreover, does so in a highly ordered architecture of reactivities. However, larger data sets are needed to verify the existence of autoantibody cliques and the complete identification of the antigen reactivities of each clique.

In general, the results presented here are consistent with the concept of the Immunological Homunculus, the idea that healthy immune repertoires contain certain T cells and B cells that have been positively selected to respond to key body molecules to form a functional "internal image" of the body.<sup>2,3,7,36</sup> This homunculus theory is

based on the regularity of immune self-recognition, consistently observed in healthy individuals. In practice, autoreactivity is not the aberration proposed by the CST, but is actually structured within the functional architecture of the immune system. The dominant position of particular antigen-reactivities, such as HSP epitopes would seem to reflect the biases of selected targets of self-recognition.<sup>32</sup> Note that both the CST and the anti-idiotypic network paradigms are based on individual differences between the immune repertoires developed by individual subjects; the immunological homunculus idea, in contrast, highlights the existence of antigen reactivities shared by individuals within a population. The relative uniformity of IgM autoantibody repertoires in newborns as a group<sup>12,15</sup> fits the homunculus idea: The demonstration of antigen dependency networks with dominant driver reactivities provides an additional way to view the homunculus.

The prevalence of dominant NAbs to body molecules, such as HSPs, suggests that such autoantibodies might provide some advantage to the organism. In fact, it has been suggested that NAbs might function to prevent autoimmune disease<sup>46</sup> or serve as immune biomarkers of the body state.<sup>7,36</sup> The persistence of dominant driver reactivities from newborns to mothers might account for the reports that IgM repertoires show little change from birth.<sup>47,49</sup> These other studies<sup>49-51</sup> were done using crude tissue blots of undefined self-molecules, while the antigen microarray technology used here apparently made it possible to detect the changes, despite the persisting drivers, in fine specificity of the autoimmune repertoire occurring subsequent to birth.

At present, we can view the newborn and maternal repertoires as snapshots of the dynamic evolution of the autoantibody repertoire during healthy maturation. It is reasonable to consider that the mothers at their own births arrived outfitted with the common IgM autoantibody repertoire we found shared by all the newborns.<sup>12,15</sup> Thus, we might reason that the state of the maternal repertoire probably reflects its physiological evolution from the newborn state. To test this hypothesis, we are presently undertaking a longitudinal study of the evolution of the antibody repertoires of individual humans from birth to an array of antigens including both self and foreign molecules.

Niels Jerne proposed that, in addition to the recognition of foreign antigens, lymphocytes and antibodies also respond to the unique antigen receptors—idiotopes of other lymphocytes.<sup>19,20</sup> The interactions between idiotopes create an anti-idiotypic regulatory network. The Jerne idiotypic network theory views the immune system as a dynamical network of continuously interacting cells and antibodies,<sup>50-52</sup> even in the absence of external antigens.<sup>53</sup> Hence, in contrast to the CST concept of clonal independence, Jerne proposed that the immune response to a foreign antigen takes place when the entry of an antigen into the system perturbs the internal homeostasis of interacting idiotopes.<sup>19,20,54</sup> The organized autoantigen-reactivity networks expressed at the level of the newborn population, however, adds a level of organization to the concept of the individualized anti-idiotypic networks proposed by Jerne.

### CONCLUSION

The discovery and analysis of immune system network architecture shown here and elsewhere<sup>55</sup> serve as an introduction to basic questions in systems immunology: What mechanisms are responsible for driver antigen-reactivities; what is the dynamic function of the relatively large number of most influential antigens that serve as drivers; and how is the architecture of the immune network modified by vaccinations, infections, neoplasia, autoimmune diseases and other perturbations of immune homeostasis? The antigen microarray provides one tool to study these questions.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Cohen IR. The cognitive principle challenges clonal selection. Immunol Today 1992; 13:441-4. PMID:1476598 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(92)90071-E
- 2. Cohen IR. Tending Adam's Garden: Evolving the Cognitive Immune Self. London: Academic Press; 2000.
- Cohen IR. Discrimination and dialogue in the immune system. Semin Immunol 2000; 12:215-9., discussion 57-344. PMID:10910742 doi:10.1006/smim.2000.0234
- 4. Janeway CA, Travers P. Immunobiology: the Immune System in Health and Disease. New York: Garland Science; 2005.
- 5. Perelson AS. Immune network theory. Immunol Rev 1989; 110:5-36. PMID:2477327 doi:10.1111/ j.1600-065X.1989.tb00025.x
- 6. Tauber AI. The Immune Self: Theory or Metaphor?: Cambridge University Press; 1994.
- Cohen IR. Biomarkers, self-antigens and the immunological homunculus. J Autoimmun 2007; 29:246-9. PMID:17888625 doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2007.07.016
- Quintana FJ, Cohen IR. The natural autoantibody repertoire and autoimmune disease. Biomed Pharmacother 2004; 58:276-81. PMID:15194162 doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2004.04.011
- Quintana FJ, Hagedorn PH, Elizur G et al. Functional immunomics: microarray analysis of IgG autoantibody repertoires predicts the future response of mice to induced diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101(Suppl 2):14615-21. PMID:15308778 doi:10.1073/pnas.0404848101
- 10. Quintana FJ, Merbl Y, Sahar E et al. Antigen-chip technology for accessing global information about the state of the body. Lupus 2006; 15:428-30. PMID:16898177 doi:10.1191/0961203306lu2328oa
- 11. Robinson WH. Antigen arrays for antibody profiling. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2006; 10:67-72. PMID:16406767 doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2005.12.028
- Merbl Y, Zucker-Toledano M, Quintana FJ et al. Newborn humans manifest autoantibodies to defined self molecules detected by antigen microarray informatics. J Clin Invest 2007; 117:712-8. PMID:17332892 doi:10.1172/JCI29943
- Hanson LA, Korotkova M, Lundin S et al. The transfer of immunity from mother to child. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003; 987:199-206. PMID:12727640 doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb06049.x
- 14. Akilesh S, Christianson GJ, Roopenian DC et al. Neonatal FcR expression in bone marrow-derived cells functions to protect serum IgG from catabolism. J Immunol 2007; 179:4580-8. PMID:17878355
- Madi A, Hecht I, Bransburg-Zabary S et al. Organization of the autoantibody repertoire in healthy newborns and adults revealed by system level informatics of antigen microarray data. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106:14484-9. PMID:19667184 doi:10.1073/pnas.0901528106
- Baruchi I, Grossman D, Volman V et al. Functional holography analysis: simplifying the complexity of dynamical networks. Chaos 2006; 16:015112. PMID:16599778 doi:10.1063/1.2183408
- 17. Madi A, Friedman Y, Roth D et al. Genome holography: deciphering function-form motifs from gene expression data. PLoS ONE 2008; 3:e2708. PMID:18628959 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002708
- Jerne NK. The natural-selection theory of antibody formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1955; 41:849-57. PMID:16589759 doi:10.1073/pnas.41.11.849
- 19. Jerne NK. Various basic problems of current immunology. Landarzt 1967; 43:1526-30. PMID:5594622
- Jerne NK. Towards a network theory of the immune system. Ann Immunol (Paris) 1974; 125C:373-89. PMID:4142565
- Mantegna RN, Stanley HE. An Introduction to Econophysics: Correlations and Complexity in Finance. Cambridge UK: Cambridge University Press; 2000.
- Newman MEJ. The structure and function of complex networks. SIAM Rev 2003; 45:167-256 doi:10.1137/ S003614450342480.
- Reka A, Barabasi AL. Statistical mechanics of complex networks. Rev Mod Phys 2002; 74:47-97 doi:10.1103/ RevModPhys.74.47. [AU1: Medline indexes "Rev Mod Phys" but cannot find a listing for reference 23 "Reka, Barabasi, 2002". Please check the reference for accuracy. ]
- Chazelle B. A minimum spanning tree algorithm with inverse-Ackermann type complexity. J ACM 2000; 47:1028-47 doi:10.1145/355541.355562.
- Graham RL, Hell P. On the history of the minimum spanning tree problem. IEEE Ann Hist Comput 1985; 7:43-57 doi:10.1109/MAHC.1985.10011.
- 26. Kruskal JB. On the shortest spanning subtree of a graph and the traveling salesman problem. Proc Am Math Soc 1956; 7:48-50 doi:10.1090/S0002-9939-1956-0078686-7.

- Xu Y, Olman V, Xu D. Minimum spanning trees for gene expression data clustering. Genome Inform 2001; 12:24-33. PMID:11791221
- 28. West DB. An Introduction to Graph Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 2001.
- Madi A, Kenett DY, Bransburg-Zabary S et al. Network theory analysis of antibody-antigen reactivity data: the immune trees at birth and adulthood. PLoS One 2011.
- 30. Lee U, Kim S. Classification of epilepsy types through global network analysis of scalp electroencephalograms. Phys Rev E Stat Nonlin Soft Matter Phys 2006; 73:041920. PMID: 16711849 doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.73.041920
- Madi A, Kenett DY, Bransburg-Zabary S et al. Analyses of antigen dependency networks unveil immune system reorganization between birth and adulthood. Chaos 2011.
- 32. Cohen IR. Natural autoantibodies might prevent autoimmune disease. In: Atlan H, editor. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1989.
- 33. Kenett DY, Tumminello M, Madi A et al. Dominating clasp of the financial sector revealed by partial correlation analysis of the stock market. PLoS ONE 2010; 5:e15032 DOI:doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015032. PMID:21188140
- 34. Shapira Y, Kenett DY, Ben-Jacob E. The index cohesive effect on stock market correlations. Eur J Phys B 2009.
- 35. Sercarz EE. Driver clones and determinant spreading. J Autoimmun 2000; 14:275-7. PMID:10882052 doi:10.1006/jaut.2000.0380
- Cohen IR. Real and artificial immune systems: computing the state of the body. Nat Rev Immunol 2007; 7:569-74. PMID:17558422 doi:10.1038/nri2102
- Cohen IR, Young DB. Autoimmunity, microbial immunity and the immunological homunculus. Immunol Today 1991; 12:105-10. PMID:2059311 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(91)90093-9
- Nobrega A, Haury M, Grandien A et al. Global analysis of antibody repertoires. II. Evidence for specificity, self-selection and the immunological "homunculus" of antibodies in normal serum. Eur J Immunol 1993; 23:2851-9. PMID:8223861 doi:10.1002/eji.1830231119
- Poletaev AB. The immunological homunculus (immunculus) in normal state and pathology. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2002; 67:600-8. PMID:12059783 doi:10.1023/A:1015514732179
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA et al. Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells. Science 1999; 285:113-6. PMID:10390361 doi:10.1126/science.285.5424.113
- Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies: from 'horror autotoxicus' to 'gnothi seauton'. Immunol Today 1991; 12:154-9. PMID:1715166
- Cohen IR. The cognitive paradigm and the immunological homunculus. Immunol Today 1992; 13:490-4. PMID:1463581 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(92)90024-2
- Quintana FJ, Cohen IR. The HSP60 immune system network. Trends Immunol 2011; 32:89-95. PMID:21145789 doi:10.1016/j.it.2010.11.001
- 44. Burnet FM. A modification of Jerne's theory of antibody production using the concept of clonal selection. CA Cancer J Clin 1976; 26:119-21.
- 45.Nossal GJ, Lederberg J. Antibody production by single cells. Nature 1958; 181:1419-20. PMID:13552693 doi:10.1038/1811419a0
- 46. Cohen IR, Cooke A. Natural autoantibodies might prevent autoimmune disease. Immunol Today 1986; 7:363-4 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(86)90026-5. [AU2: Medline indexes "Immunol Today" but cannot find a listing for reference 46 "Cohen, Cooke, 1986". Please check the reference for accuracy.]
- 47. Lacroix-Desmazes S, Mouthon L, Coutinho A et al. Analysis of the natural human IgG antibody repertoire: life-long stability of reactivities towards selfantigens contrasts with age-dependent diversification of reactivities against bacterial antigens. Eur J Immunol 1995; 25:2598-604. PMID:7589132 doi:10.1002/eji.1830250929
- Lacroix-Desmazes S, Mouthon L, Kaveri SV et al. Stability of natural self-reactive antibody repertoires during aging. J Clin Immunol 1999; 19:26-34. PMID:10080102 doi:10.1023/A:1020510401233
- Mouthon L, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Nobrega A et al. The self-reactive antibody repertoire of normal human serum IgM is acquired in early childhood and remains conserved throughout life. Scand J Immunol 1996; 44:243-51. PMID:8795718 doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-306.x
- de Boer RJ, Perelson AS. Size and connectivity as emergent properties of a developing immune network. J Theor Biol 1991; 149:381-424. PMID:2062103 doi:10.1016/S0022-5193(05)80313-3
- Pandey RB. Growth and decay of a cellular population in a multicell immune network. J Phys Math Gen 1990; 23:4321 doi:10.1088/0305-4470/23/19/017.
- Zorzenon RM, Copelli M. Long term and short term effects of perturbations in an immune network model. Braz J Phys 2001; 33:628-33.
- Parisi G. A simple model for the immune network. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990; 87:429-33. PMID:2296597 doi:10.1073/pnas.87.1.429
- Tauber AI. Moving beyond the immune self? Semin Immunol 2000; 12:241-8. PMID:10910746 doi:10.1006/ smim.2000.0237
- Frankenstein Z, Alon U, Cohen IR. The immune-body cytokine network defines a social architecture of cell interactions. [r.]. Biol Direct 2006; 1:32. PMID:17062134 doi:10.1186/1745-6150-1-32

### CHAPTER 16

## ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY: What Does It Matter?

Jordan D. Dimitrov,<sup>1</sup> Anastas D. Pashov<sup>2</sup> and Tchavdar L. Vassilev<sup>\*,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>INSERM UMRS 872, Paris, France; <sup>2</sup>Institute of Microbiology, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia, Bulgaria \*Corresponding Author: Tchavdar L. Vassilev—Email: vassilev@microbio.bas.bg

Abstract: Polyspecificity (polyreactivity) is currently considered an intrinsic property of a subset of antibodies, primarily of naturally occurring autoantibodies. Polyspecificity is no longer viewed as a biologically irrelevant stickiness. Furthermore, the capacity to bind defined sets of unrelated antigens finds its structural explanation. What is most intriguing, the elucidation of the role of polyspecificity may promote a better understanding of specific recognition as a function of the entire immune system. The early events of immune recognition depend on polyspecific binding. Thus, the completeness of the naïve repertoires of antigen receptors is ensured. The process of immunologically-relevant antigen recognition that is initiated goes beyond simple molecular interaction with the antigenic determinants. It involves cellular cooperation and culminates in antibody response maturation. Recent findings also pave the way for the clinical application of posttranslationally induced polyspecificity.

### INTRODUCTION

The community of immunologists has had some difficulty in accepting the existence of polyspecific antibodies. The problem originates from an immunological paradigm. Some 80 years ago, the convincing experiments of Karl Landsteiner showed that antibodies could engage antigens in a strikingly monospecific manner.<sup>1</sup> Ever since, antibodies have embodied the analytical power of the immune system associated with affinity and specificity. These properties even made them an indispensable tool in immunology and related fields.

There are no universally accepted criteria for defining an antibody as being polyspecific, but detection of comparable and significant reactivity to more than one structurally

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

<sup>©2012</sup> Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

unrelated self- or foreign antigens is sufficient to classify an antibody as polyspecific. While none of the different panels of antigens, used traditionally for testing, provide sufficient breadth to rule out possible polyspecificity, arrays of  $n \times 10^4$  antigens may reach the exhaustive level that strictly defines an individual antibody as monospecific. Nevertheless, a considerable portion of antibodies exhibit polyspecificity even when tested on a small panel of self- and non-self antigens.

The ability of a single immunoglobulin molecule to bind to several unrelated antigens was formally proven by studying monoclonal immunoglobulins (i) isolated from patients with B-cell malignancies, (ii) produced by the hybridoma technology as well as (iii) by Epstein-Barr virus transfected B lymphocytes.<sup>2-4</sup> It became obvious at this stage that polyspecific antibodies could not only be of IgM, but also of IgG and IgA isotypes.<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, the spectrum of antigens, bound by a single antibody, could be modified by physical and chemical agents—"induced polyspecificity," which is not a laboratory artifact, but can be observed in vivo too.<sup>6</sup>

### **BIOPHYSICAL MECHANISMS OF POLYSPECIFIC ANTIGEN BINDING**

Antibody binding is often used synonymously with antibody recognition. Strictly speaking, binding relates only to the molecular interaction while recognition relates to its functional relevance and happens at a systemic level.<sup>7</sup> Considering molecular interactions, polyspecificity involves the capacity of a single binding site to bind different ligands. For instance, using a polyreactive IgE antibody, James and Tawfik showed that it binds different antigens through a set of specific hydrogen bonds.<sup>8</sup> Thus, in contrast to non-specific stickiness, such antibodies do bind specifically to a set of ligands.

The structural basis of polyspecificity relates to properties of the variable domains, mostly of the heavy chain.<sup>9,10</sup> Polyspecificity can be transferred to a monoreactive antibody by grafting only the CDR3 of the heavy Ig chain from a polyspecific one.<sup>11</sup> These findings are supported by other studies using site-directed mutagenesis of the CDRH3 region of the polyspecific IgMk antibody SMI, which is derived from a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Some of these amino acid replacements alone are sufficient to render the antibody monospecific.<sup>12,13</sup> Some mutations in the CDRH3 do not affect SMI polyspecificity, while others increased it even further. These findings are not unexpected, as CDR3 is known for its central role in antigen binding. Interestingly, all attempts to find any differences between the structure, the length or the amino acid composition of HCDR3 from monospecific and from polyspecific antibodies have been so far unsuccessful.<sup>14</sup> Furthermore, these results suggest that a single amino acid replacement away from the binding site could completely abolish polyspecificity.<sup>2</sup> Thus, polyspecificity does not depend only on restricted features of the variable loops but also on the overall structure of the whole variable domain. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain this phenomenon.<sup>14,15</sup> At present, a conformational plasticity of the paratope is the favored one.<sup>16-19</sup> A variable degree of conformational changes in the antigen-binding sites has been observed in the very early X-ray diffraction analyses of antigen-antibody complexes. Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) with variable regions in germline configuration were found to undergo the most extensive conformational changes.<sup>17</sup>

The same group compared the bound- and free Fab fragment structures of the esterolytic antibody 48G7. Interestingly, the binding to the antigen was not accompanied by structural changes, i.e., the 48G7 paratope was pre-organized in an optimal binding

#### ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY

conformation. In complex with the same antigen, the respective germline antibody underwent significant conformational adjustments converging with the conformation of 48G7 in its bound state. Thus, the role of the somatic mutations in this germline antibody was to rigidify the paratope and fix the most appropriate conformation for the bound state. Further studies have demonstrated that the maturation of 48G7 optimized not only the geometry of the antigen-binding site, but also the short-range electrostatics of the immunoglobulin molecule.<sup>17,20</sup> In another system, the conformational changes in the germline progenitor and in the mature form of the 28B4 antibody, which catalyzes the oxidation of p-nitrotoluene-methyl sulfide, were similar to those in 48G7.<sup>21</sup> In addition, the affinity maturation of 28B4 was accompanied by replacements in amino acids that established direct contacts with the antigen. In these as well as in other studies the maturation of the antibody was accompanied by a decrease in the flexibility of the antigen-binding sites.

The X-ray structural analysis of proteins is an indirect qualitative method that sheds light on the final states of the interacting molecules. Jimenez et al. have performed quantitative analyses of the molecular flexibility changes of antibodies in the process of affinity maturation. Using spectroscopy, they followed the response of an anti-fluorescein antibody molecule to mechanical stress induced by photo excitation of the bound antigen (a fluorescein molecule).<sup>22</sup> These investigations quantitatively measured the decrease of the molecular flexibility of antigen-binding sites that paralleled the accumulation of somatic mutations. Furthermore, thermodynamic analyses of a set of monoclonal germline and induced antibodies revealed that the maturation of immune repertoires was accompanied by a decrease in the negative value of the association entropy (increased order).<sup>16</sup> The entropy changes depend to a great extent on the molecular flexibility of the interacting partners. The results obtained demonstrated that the maturation of the antibodies was accompanied by restrictions in the conformational freedom of their paratopes. The high negative value of association entropy had an unfavorable contribution to the free energy of interaction of germline antibodies. This means that high flexibility of the paratope results in high activation energy of the binding reaction or low reaction rate and high temperature dependence. Finally, the thermodynamic analyses confirmed that germline antibodies with flexible paratopes were poly specific.

Induced fit- and conformational selection are the main modes of flexible binding.<sup>23-25</sup> The induced fit concept evolved from the previously described "lock and key" enzyme/ substrate binding, stating that the complementarity is a result of the interaction.<sup>26</sup> Although thermodynamically reasonable, this mode may often be too slow for biologically meaningful interactions, since the formation of any unstable complex is rate-limiting.<sup>24</sup> An alternative hypothesis states that instead of inducing a flexible change in the ligands the binding depends rather on the selection among pre-existing diverse conformations. Compared with the former model, the latter ensures much higher reaction rates. Indeed, a growing body of evidence supports the second hypothesis.<sup>24,27</sup>

On the other hand, a set of flexible antigens could bind to the same antibody and, thus, render it functionally polyspecific.<sup>28</sup> This may be the case with some carbohydrates and peptides. Carbohydrate and peptide ligands are intrinsically flexible and this probably allows for cross-reactivity with antibodies that do not need to have flexible paratopes. As a practical application of this phenomenon, a single peptide could mimic multiple carbohydrate epitopes facilitating vaccine development.<sup>29</sup> At the other extreme, identical rigid binding footprints on different antigens are the basis for "public" epitopes. Antibodies, binding to different molecules through "public" epitopes, would be characterized as

polyspecific. Such epitopes are also often found on carbohydrates. For instance, E5, an antibody to Schistosoma mansoni with specificity for the Lewis X antigen, is also a HIV-1 virus-neutralizing antibody. Actually, the ligand does not have to express the exact chemical moiety the recognized epitope is part of. A constellation of atoms that provides the same or a very similar footprint, consisting, for instance, of a set of hydrogen donors or acceptors with the right directionality, would suffice. Such a footprint may belong to a completely different molecule. Like all other forms of polyspecificity, this is also a basis for molecular mimicry.<sup>30-32</sup>

Structural data has demonstrated that antibodies bind most often to protein epitopes limited to three to seven amino acids.<sup>33-36</sup> Therefore, the antibody binding sites often exceed the size of the respective epitope and could engage in different interactions using its different regions. This type of polyspecificity does not depend on paratope flexibility. Another type of binding site, flexible in its free state, could attain the same rigid conformation upon binding diverse ligands.<sup>37</sup> A similar mechanism in the case of the NKG2D receptor was referred to as rigid adaptation.<sup>28</sup> Thus, plasticity could channel a flexible epitope into binding different ligands using a single conformation in the bound state.

Finally, sometime ago it was proposed that glycosylation may contribute to polyspecificity.<sup>38</sup> However, other groups have found no significant effect.<sup>39</sup> It is conceivable that the stability of the immunoglobulin molecule and, therefore, the spectrum of antigens bound by a flexible paratope could be affected by different glycosylation. These effects most probably are indirect at best.

The main mechanisms of polyspecific binding are illustrated in Figure 1.

### **BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF POLYSPECIFIC ANTIBODIES**

Initially, the antigen binding activity of the pre-immune serum was dismissed as "background." It was later shown that this "background" activity was due to the presence of polyspecific NAbs,<sup>40</sup> the biological significance of which has still been questioned because of their low titers. Yet, a titer operationally is a measure of the reserve binding capacity of the undiluted serum. In real life, antigens are bound by the antibodies in the plasma without prior dilution. The concentration and affinity of these antibodies in plasma are sufficient to form immune complexes with invading pathogens or their toxins. Indeed, numerous studies in the last two decades have provided solid evidence for the role of polyspecific antibodies as an innate defense mechanism. Polyspecific NAbs have been proven to delay the dissemination of bacteria, helminths and viruses after experimental infection.<sup>41-44</sup>

A.L. Notkins et al. have studied in detail the biological properties of polyspecific antibodies. Unlike monospecific ones, several polyspecific monoclonals were shown to inhibit bacterial growth, enhance phagocytosis and, in the presence of complement, to lyse bacteria. Human serum IgM had been enriched in polyspecificity by immunoaffinity purification on three structurally unrelated antigens. The polyspecificity-enriched, but not the depleted human IgM, suppressed the LPS-induced matrix metalloproteinase-1 production in the absence of complement and lysed *E. coli* in the presence of complement.<sup>45</sup>

The two antigen binding sites of a single polyspecific IgG antibody could well bind to different antigens. Michel Nussenzweig et al. recently demonstrated the biological importance of this phenomenon naming it "heteroligation."<sup>46</sup> The authors observed avid binding of anti-HIV gp140 antibodies, which is highly improbable when homotypic



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of the main types of polyspecific binding of antibodies. The gray shapes represent the variable region. A—flexible binding, B—large paratope and C—public epitope.

because of the low copy number of gp140 on the surface of HIV virions. Most of the studied anti-gp140 antibodies proved to be polyspecific. One of the binding sites of such an antibody interacted with high affinity to its nominal antigen (gp140), while the other interacted with high affinity to a different virus surface antigen. Heteroligation may be a mechanism of virus neutralization that is more common than expected.

The beneficial activity of antibodies with natural or induced polyspecificity may go beyond preventing pathogen dissemination in the pre-immune host. Almost 20 years ago, Antonio Coutinho and Stratis Avrameas hypothesized that polyspecific NAbs that bind both foreign- and self-antigens may represent a physiological buffering system of the blood plasma that is able to prevent brisk changes of the levels of biologically active molecules—hormones, cytokines, etc.<sup>47</sup>

Another aspect of immune function depends also on polyspecificity. Although the germline antibody repertoire is extremely diverse, it consists of a finite number of clones that have also undergone a negative selection. Yet, it is postulated to be functionally complete. The completeness of this repertoire seems to depend at least as much on the combinatorial diversity of the B-cell receptors as on their polyspecificity. Although such a solution to the "complete repertoire" problem jeopardizes self-tolerance, this is generally overcome by subsequent control by a network of cellular interactions during an immune response.

It should be noted that there are also reports of polyspecific antibodies that have highly mutated variable regions.<sup>48</sup> The evolution of the antibody response in the germinal centers is driven by a competition for the antigenic signal.<sup>49,50</sup> Therefore, the property that is optimized is the affinity of the BCRs for the right epitope. Thermodynamically, affinity depends on mechanisms different from those that ensure specificity.<sup>51</sup> Reducing the entropic penalty of flexibility does not have to be the only way to increase affinity and in some cases mature antibodies may retain to some extent their polyspecificity.<sup>52</sup>

Despite those exceptions, germline-encoded antigen receptors are by default polyspecific.<sup>53</sup> The initial flexibility of the paratope seems to be a prerequisite for a successful maturation. It seems to determine the direction of the somatic evolution of

antibodies. Affinity maturation of highly flexible germline variable regions was found to produce antibodies of a significantly higher affinity as compared with those of a limited flexibility.<sup>54</sup> Thus, understanding antigen-specific recognition depends on understanding the mechanism of polyspecificity and its stepwise restriction by the affinity maturation process. Interestingly, the specificity of an antibody could under some circumstances also change in the opposite direction.

# INDUCED POLYSPECIFICITY—POSTTRANSLATIONAL TUNING OF ANTIGEN-BINDING

Several groups, including ours, have shown that the polyspecificity of an individual antibody molecule can be inherent as well as induced. The in vitro exposure of some monoclonal or polyclonal antibody preparations to protein-modifying agents resulted in the emergence of polyspecificity. The list of these treatments includes chaotropic agents, low and high pH, high-salt concentration, elevated temperature, etc.<sup>55-60</sup> In their native state these antibodies behave as typical monoreactive ones. After the transient exposure to any of the protein destabilizing factors listed above they acquire numerous novel antigen-binding specificities. Interestingly, the recognition of antigens by these antibodies is characterized by physiologically relevant binding affinities. Such antibodies with novel, induced antigen-binding specificities, have been called by various authors "masked," "hidden," "cryptic," "silent," "latent," etc. 61-65 The revealing of novel antigenic specificities was observed only after exposure to mild protein-modifying conditions. Thus, exposure of polyclonal IgG to increasing concentrations of hypochlorite initially results in gradual increase in the repertoire of recognized antigens. However, at a certain point further increase in the concentration of the oxidant resulted in loss of antigenic specificities.<sup>66</sup> These observations can be explained by the irreversible denaturation of the immunoglobulins by higher concentrations of pro-oxidative agents (Fig. 2).

Previously, it was assumed that the generation of new antigen-binding specificities after exposure to protein-destabilizing factors was due to the dissociation of "masking" molecules. Bouvet et al. have ruled out this possibility by demonstrating that the appearance of novel specificities was due to modifications of the antibody molecules. The authors hypothesized that the transient exposure to low pH or urea resulted in conformational changes of sensitive paratopes, allowing interactions with novel, structurally unrelated epitopes.<sup>58</sup>

We applied biophysical techniques to investigate the molecular mechanisms responsible for the induced polyspecificity of Z2 (mouse monoclonal IgG) exposed to urea, ferrous ions or heme.<sup>59,66-68</sup> Using real time kinetic analyses, it was shown that the polyspecificity of Z2 induced by exposure to ferrous ions or to urea did not change the affinity to its nominal antigen.<sup>67,68</sup> However, the kinetic constants of the latter interaction were profoundly affected—the association and dissociation rate constants were both decreased. The slow association rate in protein-protein interactions usually implies an insufficient structural complementarity and an induced fit-type of interaction.<sup>69,70</sup> Indeed, using thermodynamic analysis we observed that the induction of polyspecificity by exposure to urea or ferrous ions was accompanied by unfavorable changes in the entropy of association, indicating an increased flexibility of the antigen-binding sites. To summarize, a transient exposure to protein-destabilizing agents results in structural changes in sensitive paratopes. This increases their plasticity, allowing the interaction



Figure 2. Effect of hypochlorite on immunreactivity of pooled human IgG (IVIG). IVIG (10  $\mu$ M) was exposed to increasing concentrations of HOCL and the reactivity of 1  $\mu$ M IVIG to tubulin and factor IX was tested by ELISA.

with various epitopes, most probably due to a partial denaturation of the variable regions. All factors able to induce polyspecificity are protein-denaturing agents, per se. Sensitive variable regions seem unable to return to their native conformation after such a treatment and probably comprise a larger conformational space. The unknown degree of partial denaturation of the variable regions opens the door to criticism, relating polyspecificity to stickiness due to exposed hydrophobic regions. However, the immunoglobulins modified by exposure to ferrous ions or to low pH do behave as intact antibodies. An indiscriminate stickiness due to denaturation is accompanied by aggregation. Several lines of evidence ruled this out in the case of antibodies with induced polyspecificity:

- 1. The molecular composition of pooled IgG exposed to ferrous ions did not differ from that of the native preparation as shown by size-exclusion analyses performed by HPLC.<sup>71</sup>
- 2. The presence of aggregated IgG after ferrous ions exposure was also ruled out by the fact that modified IgG do not cause activation of the complement as shown by the test according to Pharmacopoeia requirements for pooled therapeutic IVIG (unpublished data).
- 3. The antibodies with induced polyspecificity bind to a broad spectrum of structurally unrelated antigens but never to all tested antigens, i.e., they do not become indiscriminately "sticky" as would be expected by aggregated molecules. Moreover, the patterns of antigens recognized by pooled IgG differ depending on the chemical agents used to reveal the hidden specificities, thus suggesting a specific effect.<sup>66</sup>

The induction of polyspecificity of antibodies after exposure to heme has a different molecular mechanism (Fig. 3).<sup>59</sup> In contrast to protein-destabilizing factors, heme is a



**Figure 3.** Induction of polyspecificity of human IgG by treatment with heme. Reactivity of IVIG to antigens from Pseudomonas aeruginosa was compared by immunoblot. Strips 1 and 6 show the binding of native IVIG. The same preparation at 10  $\mu$ M was exposed to increasing concentrations of heme: strip 2–1  $\mu$ M heme, strip 3–5  $\mu$ M heme, strip 4–10  $\mu$ M heme and strip 5–20  $\mu$ M heme. The membranes were incubated with 0.5  $\mu$ M IgG.

structure-forming agent, i.e., its interaction with proteins rigidifies their polypeptide chains as demonstrated by kinetic and thermodynamic analyses.<sup>68,72</sup> Rigidifying of the variable region is counterintuitive with regard to polyspecificity mechanisms. However, heme is a hydrophobic macrocyclic compound that is able to establish many types of non-covalent interactions (hydrophobic-, hydrogen bonds, van der Waals-, ionic- and coordinative-interactions) and to bind promiscuously to many different proteins. Thus, heme may qualify also as a prostetic group of antibody polyspecificity.<sup>73</sup>

### ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY

### IN VIVO INDUCTION OF ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY— THE ROLE OF ROS

Activated phagocytes release in the inflammation sites large quantities of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their derivatives resulting in cell and tissue damage and in oxidative modification of macromolecules.<sup>74</sup> In addition, inflammation leads to the liberation of free iron ions and iron-containing cofactors (heme).<sup>74,75</sup> The prooxidative potential of the "labile iron pool" can further exacerbate the local oxidative stress. Thus, inflammation provides locally several polyspecificity-inducing factors.<sup>59,67</sup> The contact of sensitive antibodies with activated neutrophils, known to secrete large quantities of ROS, results in an enhancement of the recognition of bacterial antigens.<sup>67</sup> Polyspecificity induced in sites of inflammation, may arm pre-existing antibodies by augmenting their capacity to act as a first line of defense.

Recent findings have demonstrated that immunoglobulins are not only passive targets of ROS but they can also catalyze their generation.<sup>76,77</sup> All immunoglobulins, regardless of class and antigen specificity, possess a conservative catalytic center, where oxidation of water molecules can take place. The antibody-dependent ROS production was hypothesized to synergize in antibacterial defense with that of phagocytes.<sup>77,78</sup> We tested the capacity of antibodies to affect recursively their own polyspecificity by the catalytic generation of ROS. Providing conditions for antibody-mediated ROS catalysis resulted in an induction of novel antigen binding specificities. These results allowed us to hypothesize that the catalysis of water oxidation by antibodies and the generation of novel antigenic specificities by the products (and/or substrates) of the catalytic process represent two synergizing parts of an innate defense mechanism.<sup>67,79</sup>

In numerous disease conditions such as hemolysis, ischemia-reperfusion, hemorrhages, major trauma, etc., large quantities of hemoproteins can be released into the circulation.<sup>80,81</sup> Outside of the cells hemoproteins easily lose their prosthetic group. There are several heme-sequestering proteins in plasma, such as hemopexin, albumin and  $\alpha$  microglobulin that are involved in its binding and in shielding the toxicity of free heme.<sup>80,81</sup> However, under conditions of excessive release of hemoproteins, heme-scavenging proteins may be saturated and the concentration of free heme may reach more than 20 µM.82 As immunoglobulins are one of the most abundant plasma proteins, they would inevitably encounter free heme in the circulation. McIntyre et al. have demonstrated that the exposure of immunoglobulins from healthy individuals to heme results in the appearance of new reactivities toward phospholipids and many other self-antigens.<sup>83,84</sup> The authors observed that the binding to phospholipids of heme-exposed antibodies, isolated from healthy donors, does not differ from that of autoantibodies isolated from patients with anti-phospholipid syndrome. In addition to the appearance of reactivity for self-antigens, heme exposure resulted in generation of reactivities toward particular bacterial antigens and intact bacteria.59 This phenomenon explained the enhanced ability of heme-exposed IgG to initiate complement mediated bacterial killing.<sup>59</sup> Opsonization of pathogens by antibodies with induced polyspecificity may result in the deposition of complement fragments and in an increased immunogenicity, as proposed for the polyreactive NAbs. It should be mentioned that certain pathogenic bacteria induce hemolysis in order to obtain heme as vital iron-containing growth factor. Induction of novel antibacterial specificities of the heme-sensitive antibody fraction may represent a mechanism to delay the infection by hemolytic bacteria until an adaptive immune response develops.

Under certain pathological conditions, the redox agents-mediated generation of novel antigen binding specificities may also have detrimental consequences. Ischemia-reperfusion injury represents a severe inflammatory response resulting in critical tissue damage, mediated by an inappropriate activation of the complement system. It has been demonstrated that this process is initiated by NAbs.<sup>85,86</sup> The initial hypoxia and release of reactive oxygen species (ROS), heme and/or transition redox-active metals may result in cellular damage and in the display of cryptic epitopes on the cell surface. These new epitopes are recognized by the circulating polyspecific NAbs, the reactivity of which may have been augmented in the process. The formed immune complexes fix complement and result in tissue damage.

# THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES WITH INDUCED POLYSPECIFICITY

It has been suggested previously<sup>87</sup> and later proven<sup>6</sup> that some antibodies acquire polyspecificity after circulating through sites of inflammation. As mentioned above, A. Coutinho and S. Avrameas have hypothesized in 1992 that polyspecific NAbs form a physiological buffering system that controls the kinetics of circulating biologically active molecules.<sup>47</sup> Interestingly, inflammatory cytokines seem to be among the preferred autoantigens of NAbs.<sup>88,89</sup> Our recent data on the beneficial effect of the passive immunotherapy with ferrous ions- and heme-exposed IVIG preparations provide indirect evidence in support of this idea.

Normal pooled therapeutic immunoglobulins are highly polyreactive preparations. Their exposure to protein-modifying agents (see above) increases further the panel of self- and foreign antigens they bind to. These modified IVIG acquire a new clinically relevant property. They become protective when used to treat animals with experimental sepsis induced by the injection of live *E.coli*, of bacterial LPS, <sup>58,67</sup> of zymosan as well as by the colon puncture and ligation technique. The native IVIG preparation had no effect on survival in the same experiments and the protective activity was not due to a more efficient neutralization of LPS.<sup>67</sup> Sepsis is a syndrome caused by the severe and generalized activation of body defense mechanisms in response to invading pathogens. It is characterized by the uncontrolled release of pro-inflammatory cytokines ("cytokine storm") and uncontrolled activation of coagulation, complement and apoptotic pathways. The studies on the beneficial effect of modified IVIG have found lower plasma levels of pro-inflammatory molecules and normal coagulation parameters in the treated animals (manuscript in preparation). While Fe(II)- and heme-exposed IVIG are investigational drugs, immunoglobulin preparations modified by pH 4.0 exposure are already licensed and commercially available.90

If natural antibody reactivities are meant to buffer cytokines at times, why doesn't this compromise the signaling function in general? It is possible that, unlike IVIG with additionally induced polyspecificity, the natural buffer of a "cytokine storm" is represented by IgM NAbs. IgMs circulate almost exclusively in the plasma compartment and would protect mostly against systemic increase of cytokine levels but would not affect their local function in tissues. NAbs are mostly of the IgM isotype, produced by B1 cells and their repertoire is positively selected on self antigens during the fetal period. IgG antibodies, on their part, are mostly derived from B2-responses and belong to a repertoire selected in a different manner that includes a strong negative selection stage. It is possible that

#### ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY

the buffering function is an evolutionary adaptation specific for the B1-derived IgM repertoire but artificially inducible in B2-derived IgG NAbs. This hypothesis is being currently tested.

#### CONCLUSION

For many immunologists, the role of antibody polyspecificity in immunity remains counterintuitive. Recent studies of antibody function emphasize the importance of understanding specificity of antigen receptors as a continuous spectrum. Modern system biology thinking necessitates a careful separation of molecular interaction phenomena from system functions. Relating mechanically, the terms immunoglobulins, antibodies and specific recognition might be encouraging errors of reductionist thinking. On the other hand, as a result of understanding better natural and induced polyspecificity, the range of potential immunoglobulin-based therapeutic approaches will expand, while the existing ones are further optimized.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Landsteiner K. The Specificity of Serological Reactions. Harvard: Harvard University Press, 1947.
- Dighiero G, Guilbert B, Avrameas S. Naturally occurring antibodies against nine common antigens in humans sera. II. High incidence of monoclonal Ig exhibiting antibody activity against actin and tubulin and sharing antibody specificities with natural antibodies. J Immunol 1982; 128:2788-92. PMID:6804567
- Avrameas S. Natural autoantibodies: from 'horror autotoxicus' to 'gnothi seauton.'. Immunol Today 1991; 12:154-9. PMID:1715166
- Casali P, Notkins AL. Probing the human B-cell repertoire with EBV: Polyreactive antibodies and CD5+ B lymphocytes. Annu Rev Immunol 1989; 7:513-35. PMID:2469441 doi:10.1146/annurev. iy.07.040189.002501
- Quan CP, Berneman A, Pires R et al. Natural polyreactive secretory immunoglobulin A autoantibodies as a possible barrier to infection in humans. Infect Immun 1997; 65:3997-4004. PMID:9316998
- Mihaylova NM, Dimitrov JD, Djoumerska-Alexieva IK et al. Inflammation-induced enhancement of IgG immunoreactivity. Inflamm Res 2008; 57(1):1-3. PMID:18209958 doi:10.1007/s00011-007-6213-4
- van Regenmortel MH. Molecular design versus empirical discovery in peptide-based vaccines. Coming to terms with fuzzy recognition sites and ill-defined structure-function relationships in immunology. Vaccine 1999; 18:216-21. PMID:10506645 doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(99)00192-9
- James LC, Tawfik DS. The specificity of cross-reactivity: promiscuous antibody binding involves specific hydrogen bonds rather than nonspecific hydrophobic stickiness. Protein Sci 2003; 12:2183-93. PMID:14500876 doi:10.1110/ps.03172703
- Ditzel HJ, Itoh K, Burton DR. Determinants of polyreactivity in a large panel of recombinant human antibodies from HIV-1 infection. J Immunol 1996; 157:739-49. PMID:8752924
- Crouzier R, Martin T, Pasquali JL. Heavy chain variable region, light chain variable region and heavy chain CDR3 influences on the mono- and polyreactivity and on the affinity of human monoclonal rheumatoid factors. J Immunol 1995; 154:4526-35. PMID:7722307
- Ichiyoshi Y, Casali P. Analysis of the structural correlates for antibody polyreactivity by multiple reassortments of chimeric human immunoglobulin heavy and light chain V segments. J Exp Med 1994; 180:885-95. PMID:8064239 doi:10.1084/jem.180.3.885
- Martin T, Crouzier R, Weber JC et al. Structure-function studies on a polyreactive (natural) autoantibody. Polyreactivity is dependent on somatically generated sequences in the third complementarity-determining region of the antibody heavy chain. J Immunol 1994; 152:5988-96. PMID:8207223
- Polymenis M, Stollar BD. Critical binding site amino acids of anti-Z-DNA single chain Fv molecules. Role of heavy and light chain CDR3 and relationship to autoantibody activity. J Immunol 1994; 152(ll):5318-29. PMID:8189049
- Notkins AL. Polyreactivity of antibody molecules. Trends Immunol 2004; 25:174-9. PMID:15039043 doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.02.004

- Mariuzza RA. Multiple paths to multispecificity. Immunity 2006; 24:359-61. PMID:16618592 doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.03.009
- Manivel V, Bayiroglu F, Siddiqui Z et al. The primary antibody repertoire represents a linked network of degenerate antigen specificities. J Immunol 2002; 169:888-97. PMID:12097393
- Wedemayer GJ, Patten PA, Wang LH et al. Structural insights into the evolution of an antibody combining site. Science 1997; 276:1665-9. PMID:9180069 doi:10.1126/science.276.5319.1665
- Yin J, Beuscher AE, Andryski SE et al. Structural plasticity and the evolution of antibody affinity and specificity. J Mol Biol 2003; 330:651-6. PMID:12850137 doi:10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00631-4
- Zimmermann J, Romesberg FE, Brooks CL 3<sup>rd</sup> et al. Molecular description of flexibility in an antibody combining site. J Phys Chem B 2010; 114:7359-70. PMID:20455589 doi:10.1021/jp906421v
- Yang PL, Schultz PG. Mutational analysis of the affinity maturation of antibody 48G7. J Mol Biol 1999; 294:1191-201. PMID:10600377 doi:10.1006/jmbi.1999.3197
- Yin J, Mundorff EC, Yang PL et al. A comparative analysis of the immunological evolution of antibody 28B4. Biochemistry 2001; 40:10764-73. PMID:11535051 doi:10.1021/bi010536c
- Jimenez R, Salazar G, Yin J et al. Protein dynamics and the immunological evolution of molecular recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101(II):3803-8. PMID:15001706 doi:10.1073/pnas.0305745101
- James LC, Roversi P, Tawfik DS. Antibody multispecificity mediated by conformational diversity. Science 2003; 299:1362-7. PMID:12610298 doi:10.1126/science.1079731
- 24. Bosshard HR. Molecular recognition by induced fit: how fit is the concept? News Physiol Sci 2001; 16:171-3. PMID:11479367
- Berger C, Weber-Bornhauser S, Eggenberger J et al. Antigen recognition by conformational selection. FEBS Lett 1999; 450(1-2):149-53. PMID:10350075 doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00458-5
- Koshland DE. Application of a theory of enzyme specificity to protein synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1958; 44:98-104. PMID:16590179 doi:10.1073/pnas.44.2.98
- Leder L, Berger C, Bornhauser S et al. Spectroscopic, calorimetric and kinetic demonstration of conformational adaptation in peptide-antibody recognition. Biochemistry 1995; 34:16509-18. PMID:8845380 doi:10.1021/ bi00050a035
- Margulies DH. Molecular interactions: stiffor floppy (or somewhere in between?). Immunity 2003; 19:772-4. PMID:14670294 doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00331-5
- Pashov AD, Plaxco J, Kaveri SV et al. Multiple antigenic mimotopes of HIV carbohydrate antigens: relating structure and antigenicity. J Biol Chem 2006; 281:29675-83. PMID:16899462 doi:10.1074/jbc.M604137200
- Pashov A, Canziani G, Monzavi-Karbassi B et al. Antigenic properties of peptide mimotopes of HIV-1-associated carbohydrate antigens. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:28959-65. PMID:15955803 doi:10.1074/ jbc.M502964200
- Kieber-Emmons T, Murali R, Greene M. Therapeutic peptides and peptidomimetics. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1997; 8:435-41. PMID:9265722 doi:10.1016/S0958-1669(97)80065-1
- Olsson L. Molecular mimicry of carbohydrate and protein structures by hybridoma antibodies. Bioessays 1987; 7:116-9. PMID:2446599 doi:10.1002/bies.950070306
- Ghiara JB, Ferguson DC, Satterthwait AC et al. Structure-based design of a constrained peptide mimic of the HIV-1 V3 loop neutralization site. J Mol Biol 1997; 266(1):31-9. PMID:9054968 doi:10.1006/ jmbi.1996.0768
- 34. Young AC, Valadon P, Casadevall A et al. The three-dimensional structures of a polysaccharide binding antibody to Cryptococcus neoformans and its complex with a peptide from a phage display library: implications for the identification of peptide mimotopes. J Mol Biol 1997; 274:622-34. PMID:9417940 doi:10.1006/jmbi.1997.1407
- Murali R, Kieber-Emmons T. Molecular recognition of a peptide mimic of the Lewis Y antigen by an anti-Lewis Y antibody. J Mol Recognit 1997; 10:269-76. PMID:9770651 doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1352(199711/12)10:6<269::AID-JMR370>3.0.CO;2-9
- Luo P, Canziani G, Cunto-Amesty G et al. A molecular basis for functional peptide mimicry of a carbohydrate antigen. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:16146-54. PMID:10748116 doi:10.1074/jbc.M909121199
- Sethi DK, Agarwal A, Manivel V et al. Differential epitope positioning within the germline antibody paratope enhances promiscuity in the primary immune response. Immunity 2006; 24:429-38. PMID:16618601 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.02.010
- Fernández C, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Sverremark E. Polyreactive binding of antibodies generated by polyclonal B-cell activation. II. Crossreactive and monospecific antibodies can be generated from an identical Igrearrangement by differential glycosylation. Scand J Immunol 1997; 45:240-7. PMID:9122612 doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.1997.d01-398.x
- Donadel G, Calabro A, Sigounas G et al. Human polyreactive and monoreactive antibodies: effect of glycosylation on antigen binding. Glycobiology 1994; 4:491-6. PMID:7827411 doi:10.1093/glycob/4.4.491
- Casali P, Notkins AL. CD5+ B lymphocytes, polyreactive antibodies and the human B-cell repertoire. Immunol Today 1989; 10:364-8. PMID:2482031 doi:10.1016/0167-5699(89)90268-5

#### ANTIBODY POLYSPECIFICITY

- Sancho D, Mourao-Sa D, Joffre OP et al. Tumor therapy in mice via antigen targeting to a novel, DC-restricted C-type lectin. J Clin Invest 2008; 118:2098-110. PMID:18497879 doi:10.1172/JCI34584
- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC et al. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2000; 192:271-80. PMID:10899913 doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.271
- Ochsenbein AF, Fehr T, Lutz C et al. Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies. Science 1999; 286:2156-9. PMID:10591647 doi:10.1126/science.286.5447.2156
- 44. McCoy KD, Stoel M, Stettler R et al. Polyclonal and specific antibodies mediate protective immunity against enteric helminth infection. Cell Host Microbe 2008; 4:362-73. PMID:18854240 doi:10.1016/j. chom.2008.08.014
- Zhou ZH, Tzioufas AG, Notkins AL. Properties and function of polyreactive antibodies and polyreactive antigen-binding B-cells. J Autoimmun 2007; 29:219-28. PMID:17888628 doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2007.07.015
- Mouquet H, Scheid JF, Zoller MJ et al. Polyreactivity increases the apparent affinity of anti-HIV antibodies by heteroligation. Nature 2010; 467:591-5. PMID:20882016 doi:10.1038/nature09385
- 47. Coutinho A, Avrameas S. Speculations on immunosomatics: potential diagnostic and therapeutic value of immune homeostasis concepts. Scand J Immunol 1992; 36:527-32. PMID:1411298 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.1992.tb03220.x
- Ikematsu H, Kasaian MT, Schettino EW et al. Structural analysis of the VH-D-JH segments of human polyreactive IgG mAb. Evidence for somatic selection. J Immunol 1993; 151:3604-16. PMID:8376796
- Cyster JG. Signaling thresholds and interclonal competition in preimmune B-cell selection. Immunol Rev 1997; 156:87-101. PMID:9176702 doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997.tb00961.x
- Rajewsky K. Clonal selection and learning in the antibody system. Nature 1996; 381:751-8. PMID:8657279 doi:10.1038/381751a0
- Janin J. Principles of protein-protein recognition from structure to thermodynamics. Biochimie 1995; 77:497-505. PMID:8589061 doi:10.1016/0300-9084(96)88166-1
- Pauyo T, Hilinski GJ, Chiu PT et al. Genetic and fluorescence studies of affinity maturation in related antibodies. Mol Immunol 2006; 43:812-21. PMID:16137768 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2005.07.001
- Babor M, Kortemme T. Multi-constraint computational design suggests that native sequences of germline antibody H3 loops are nearly optimal for conformational flexibility. Proteins 2009; 75:846-58. PMID:19194863 doi:10.1002/prot.22293
- Furukawa K, Akasako-Furukawa A, Shirai H et al. Junctional amino acids determine the maturation pathway of an antibody. Immunity 1999; 11:329-38. PMID:10514011 doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80108-9
- Saenko VA, Rott GM, Poverennyi AM. Latent autoantibodies to cardiolipin in the blood serum of healthy subjects. Biull Eksp Biol Med 1989; 107:217-9. PMID:2923980
- Bobrovnik SA. Transformation of serum immunoglobulins and monoclonal antibodies into polyreactive immunoglobulins. Ukr Biokhim Zh 1997; 69:97-109. PMID:9606831
- 57. McMahon MJ, O'Kennedy R. Polyreactivity as an acquired artefact, rather than a physiologic property, of antibodies: evidence that monoreactive antibodies may gain the ability to bind to multiple antigens after exposure to low pH. J Immunol Methods 2000; 241:1-10. PMID:10915844 doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(00)00196-4
- Bouvet JP, Stahl D, Rose S et al. Induction of natural autoantibody activity following treatment of human immunoglobulin with dissociating agents. J Autoimmun 2001; 16:163-72. PMID:11247642 doi:10.1006/ jaut.2000.0472
- Dimitrov JD, Roumenina LT, Doltchinkova VR et al. Antibodies use heme as a cofactor to extend their pathogen elimination activity and to acquire new effector functions. J Biol Chem 2007; 282:26696-706. PMID:17636257 doi:10.1074/jbc.M702751200
- 60. Djoumerska-Alexieva IK, Dimitrov JD, Voynova EN et al. Exposure of IgG to an acidic environment results in molecular modifications and in enhanced protective activity in sepsis. FEBS J 2010; 277:3039-50. PMID:20546303 doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07714.x
- 61. Fish F, Ziff M. Hidden anti-double stranded DNA antibodies in autoimmune mice. Clin Exp Immunol 1982; 49:587-97. PMID:6756722
- Saenko VA, Kabakov AE, Poverenny AM. Hidden high-avidity anti-DNA antibodies occur in normal human gammaglobulin preparations. Immunol Lett 1992; 34:1-5. PMID:1282496 doi:10.1016/0165-2478(92)90019-K
- 63. Cabiedes J, Cabral AR, Alarcon-Segovia D. Hidden anti-phospholipid antibodies in normal human sera circulate as immune complexes whose antigen can be removed by heat, acid, hypermolar buffers or phospholipase treatments. Eur J Immunol 1998; 28:2108-14. PMID:9692879 doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1521-4141(199807)28:07<2108::AID-IMMU2108>3.0.CO;2-R
- 64. St-Amour I, Laroche A, Bazin R et al. Activation of cryptic IgG reactive with BAFF, amyloid beta peptide and GM-CSF during the industrial fractionation of human plasma into therapeutic intravenous immunoglobulins. Clin Immunol 2009; 133:52-60. PMID:19604724 doi:10.1016/j.clim.2009.06.005

- 65. Zöller-Utz IM, Esslinger B, Schulze-Krebs A et al. Natural hidden autoantibodies to tissue transglutaminase cross-react with fibrinogen. J Clin Immunol 2010; 30:204-12. PMID:19943187 doi:10.1007/ s10875-009-9347-z
- Dimitrov JD, Planchais C, Kang J et al. Heterogeneous antigen recognition behavior of induced polyspecific antibodies. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010; 398:266-71. PMID:20599726 doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2010.06.073
- Dimitrov JD, Ivanovska ND, Lacroix-Desmazes S et al. Ferrous ions and reactive oxygen species increase antigen-binding and anti-inflammatory activities of immunoglobulin G. J Biol Chem 2006; 281:439-46. PMID:16246843 doi:10.1074/jbc.M509190200
- Dimitrov JD, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kaveri SV et al. Transition towards antigen-binding promiscuity of a monospecific antibody. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:1854-63. PMID:17097144 doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2006.10.002
- Willcox BE, Gao GF, Wyer JR et al. TCR binding to peptide-MHC stabilizes a flexible recognition interface. Immunity 1999; 10:357-65. PMID:10204491 doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80035-7
- Boniface JJ, Reich Z, Lyons DS et al. Thermodynamics of T-cell receptor binding to peptide-MHC: evidence for a general mechanism of molecular scanning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:11446-51. PMID:10500196 doi:10.1073/pnas.96.20.11446
- Djoumerska-Alexieva IK, Dimitrov JD, Nacheva J et al. Protein destabilizing agents induce polyreactivity and enhanced immunomodulatory activity in IVIg preparations. Autoimmunity 2009; 42:365-7. PMID:19811303 doi:10.1080/08916930902832181
- Dumont ME, Corin AF, Campbell GA. Noncovalent binding of heme induces a compact apocytochrome c structure. Biochemistry 1994; 33:7368-78. PMID:8003502 doi:10.1021/bi00189a043
- Dimitrov JD, Vassilev TL. Cofactor-mediated protein promiscuity. Nat Biotechnol 2009; 27:892. PMID:19816439 doi:10.1038/nbt1009-892a
- Darley-Usmar V, Halliwell B. Bloodradicals: reactive nitrogen species, reactive oxygen species, transition metal ions and the vascular system. Pharm Res 1996; 13:649-62. PMID:8860419 doi:10.1023/A:1016079012214
- Biemond P, Swaak AJ, van Eijk HG et al. Superoxide dependent iron release from ferritin in inflammatory diseases. Free Radic Biol Med 1988; 4:185-98. PMID:2833431 doi:10.1016/0891-5849(88)90026-3
- Wentworth AD, Jones LH, Wentworth P Jr. et al. Antibodies have the intrinsic capacity to destroy antigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:10930-5. PMID:11005865 doi:10.1073/pnas.97.20.10930
- Wentworth P Jr., McDunn JE, Wentworth AD et al. Evidence for antibody-catalyzed ozone formation in bacterial killing and inflammation. Science 2002; 298:2195-9. PMID:12434011 doi:10.1126/ science.1077642
- Nieva J, Wentworth P Jr. The antibody-catalyzed water oxidation pathway—a new chemical arm to immune defense? Trends Biochem Sci 2004; 29:274-8. PMID:15130564 doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2004.03.009
- Wentworth P Jr., Nieva J, Takeuchi C et al. Evidence for ozone formation in human atherosclerotic arteries. Science 2003; 302:1053-6. PMID:14605372 doi:10.1126/science.1089525
- Wagener FA, Volk HD, Willis D et al. Different faces of the heme-heme oxygenase system in inflammation. Pharmacol Rev 2003; 55:551-71. PMID:12869663 doi:10.1124/pr.55.3.5
- Kumar S, Bandyopadhyay U. Free heme toxicity and its detoxification systems in human. Toxicol Lett 2005; 157:175-88. PMID:15917143 doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2005.03.004
- Balla J, Vercellotti GM, Nath K et al. Haem, haem oxygenase and ferritin in vascular endothelial cell injury. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18(Suppl 5):v8-12. PMID:12817058 doi:10.1093/ndt/gfg1034
- McIntyre JA. The appearance and disappearance of antiphospholipid autoantibodies subsequent to oxidation-reduction reactions. Thromb Res 2004; 114:579-87. PMID:15507294 doi:10.1016/j. thromres.2004.08.008
- McIntyre JA, Wagenknecht DR, Ramsey CJ. Redox-reactive antiphospholipid antibody differences between serum from Alzheimer's patients and age-matched controls. Autoimmunity 2009; 42:646-52. PMID:19886736 doi:10.3109/08916930903074833
- Zhang M, Michael LH, Grosjean SA et al. The role of natural IgM in myocardial ischemia- reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2006; 41:62-7. PMID:16781728 doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.02.006
- Zhang M, Carroll MC. Natural antibody mediated innate autoimmune response. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:103-10. PMID:16876247 doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.06.022
- Bobrovnik SA. Mechanisms for increasing the activity of polyreactive immunoglobulins in vivo. Ukr Biokhim Zh 1999; 71:129-35. PMID:10609340
- Hansen MB, Svenson M, Diamant M et al. Interleukin-6 autoantibodies: Possible biological and clinical significance. Leukemia 1995; 9:1113-5. PMID:7630180
- Meager A. Natural autoantibodies to interferons. J Interferon Cytokine Res 1997; 17(Suppl 1):S51-3. PMID:9241617
- 90. Djoumerska I, Tchorbanov A, Pashov A et al. The autoreactivity of therapeutic intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) preparations depends on the fractionation methods used. Scand J Immunol 2005; 61:357-63. PMID:15853919 doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2005.01568.x

### CHAPTER 17

### POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE SELECTION OF NATURAL AUTOREACTIVE B CELLS

### Richard R. Hardy\* and Kyoko Hayakawa

Fox Chase Cancer Center, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA Corresponding Author: Richard R. Hardy—Email: rr\_hardy@fccc.edu

Naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs) produced by CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B cells include Abstract: those with specificity for thymocytes (anti-thymocyte autoantibody, ATA). Here we describe a prototypic example, encoded by an unmutated immunoglobulin  $\mu/\kappa$  heavy chain/light chain. Studies with ATA- $\mu$  ("heavy chain only") transgenic mice demonstrated a critical requirement for self-antigen in the accumulation of B cells with this specificity and for the production of high levels of serum ATA NAb. Furthermore, analysis of B-cell development in ATA-uk ("heavy and light chain") transgenic mice revealed two distinct responses by B cells to expression of this B-cell receptor (BCR). (1) Most B cells developing from bone marrow of adult mice were blocked at an immature stage in spleen and only escaped apoptosis by editing their BCR to eliminate the ATA specificity. (2) Some B cells differentiated to antibody-forming cells without altering their specificity, produced high levels of serum ATA, and many ATA-secreting plasma cells were observed in spleen. Finally, examination of B-cell development and ATA NAb production in ATA-µĸ transgenic mice with levels of Thy-1 autoantigen varying from very low to above physiologic reveals a clear relationship between BCR crosslinking by antigen and B-cell fate. Low levels of Thy-1 autoantigen resulted in diversion of ATA B cells into the marginal zone B-cell compartment, presumably because of reduced BCR signaling. Thus, our studies demonstrate a key positive selection step in the development of NAb-producing B cells and show that most of these cells in adult mice bearing such specificities fail to reach a mature stage. Importantly, because these specificities are isolated from B-1 B cells and, when expressed as transgenes, guide development into the B-1 or marginal zone B-cell pool, we identify these B cells as a major source of natural autoantibodies in mice.

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz. ©2012 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The discovery of a B-cell subpopulation expressing the pan-T-cell surface glycoprotein CD5, then called Ly-1, in the autoimmune-prone mouse strain NZB, led to an investigation of the antibodies produced by these cells.<sup>1</sup> This analysis revealed that certain natural autoantibodies were produced by CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells, based on experiments altering their numbers, either by cell sorting or by analysis of certain mutant mouse strains such as xid and MeV.<sup>2,3</sup> In fact, a population of CD5<sup>+</sup> (B-1) B cells was found to be strongly associated with the production of naturally occurring autoantibodies (NAbs) to a determinant exposed on mouse red blood cells by treatment with the proteolytic enzyme bromelain. Since earlier work had shown that B cells with this specificity were abundant in the peritoneal cavity, <sup>5,6</sup> this led to experiments with B cells washed out of the peritoneal cavity of normal non-autoimmune mice that clearly demonstrated the presence of large numbers of B cells in this site that expressed CD5,<sup>4</sup> and that could produce several types of NAbs.<sup>2</sup>

The initial experiments with this distinctive NAb-producing B-cell population focused on use of CD5 expression as a novel marker that distinguishes them from all other B cells. Later work expanded the definition of this population, based on a combination of cell surface markers, and led to renaming them as "B-1 B cells," distinguishing them from the major pool of follicular B cells, referred to as "B-2 B cells." In this chapter we describe the development and function of B cells that produce a prototypic NAb associated with the CD5<sup>+</sup>B-1 B-cell subset, termed anti-thymocyte autoantibody or ATA. This specificity is germline-encoded and typical of a class of IgM autoantibodies that are abundant in sera of certain autoimmune mouse strains, such as NZB, but that are also present in the serum of normal animals.

### A NATURALLY OCCURRING AUTOANTIBODY SPECIFIC FOR THYMOCYTES

In our screen of hybridomas made from sorted CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells we isolated a panel of 15 hybridomas that secreted IgM capable of binding to thymocytes, as revealed by staining and flow cytometry analysis.<sup>7</sup> The binding of 8 of these could be blocked by pre-incubation of thymocytes with an anti-Thy-1 monoclonal antibody. Staining by most of these IgM was lost if thymocytes were first treated with sodium metaperiodate, an agent that oxidizes terminal sialic groups on carbohydrates. Based on the periodate sensitivity and the observation that some Thy-1<sup>+</sup> cells, particularly peripheral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and many CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, were not stained by these antibodies, we hypothesized that the determinant is a specific glycosylation present on certain Thy-1 molecules whose expression is regulated with differentiation. Half of these hybridomas, including the group that produced antibody staining thymocytes most intensely, contained a recurrent rearranged immunoglobulin (Ig) heavy chain (from the V<sub>H</sub>3609 family). The prototypic anti-thymocyte/Thy-1 autoantibody (ATA) (clone 1–6C10, from hybridoma SM6C10), paired this heavy chain with an Ig light chain from the Vκ21 family (Vκ21c).

This antibody, abbreviated as 6C10 ATA, binds to a tissue- and differentiation stage-specific N-glycosylated epitope on Thy-1 (also known as CD90), as we could immunoprecipitate a fraction of the Thy-1 peptides from a thymocyte lysate, shown by 2-D gel analysis and protein gel blotting.<sup>8</sup> The epitope is species-specific, as 6C10 ATA antibody does not bind to Thy-1 in rat. In mouse, the epitope is tissue specific,

because Thy-1 glycoforms expressed on neural tissue and on hematopoietic stem cells are not detected by this antibody. Curiously, we observed that the 6C10 epitope on Thy-1 (Thy1<sup>6C10</sup>), abundantly expressed on immature thymocytes, was sharply downregulated as CD4<sup>+</sup> single-positive T cells were generated, but then was reexpressed at high levels on many peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.<sup>8,9</sup> The functional significance of a NAb binding to such a developmentally regulated carbohydrate epitope remains unknown.

### ATA-μ TRANSGENIC MICE: EVIDENCE FOR B-CELL POSITIVE SELECTION

The observation that the 6C10 ATA epitope was critically dependent on expression of Thy-1 suggested a novel approach to study the development of autoreactive B cells: namely by eliminating the natural autoantigen, e.g., by analyzing the development of Thy1–6C10-specific ATA B cells in mutant animals that lacked Thy-1, produced by gene targeting.<sup>10</sup> Since the normal frequency of B cells with the prototypic anti-thymocyte autoantibody rearrangement (V<sub>H</sub>3609/6C10) is low, we generated heavy chain transgenic mice bearing this specific VDJ- $\mu$  and then first studied development of B cells in these mice on a Thy-1 wild-type background.<sup>11</sup> We found that ATA- $\mu$  transgenic mice had a high titer of serum ATA, easily demonstrable by its capacity to bind to thymocytes, as revealed by fluorescence staining. By generating monoclonal antibodies specific for ATA Ig heavy chain segments we were able to show that most B cells in these mice expressed the transgenic Ig heavy chain, paired with a diverse set of light chains. Only a small fraction of B cells paired the ATA heavy chain with a V $\kappa$ 21c light chain to generate the thymocyte-binding specificity. Such cells were readily detectable in the peritoneal cavity, where they had a CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1a cell phenotype.

Importantly, the antigenic determinant recognized by the monoclonal ATA NAb is a glycoform epitope restricted to the cell surface protein CD90/Thy-1. Mutant mice that completely lack this protein have been generated by gene targeting of CD90/Thy-1, so that they do not express the ATA NAb target antigen. These mice are otherwise normal, so it was possible, for the first time, to study the development of B cells expressing a natural autoantibody, but where the natural autoantigen was missing. In contrast to results in normal wildtype Thy-1<sup>+</sup> mice, analysis of the ATA-u transgene on a Thy-1 null (gene-deleted) background revealed a completely different picture: the serum ATA titer was essentially absent and the CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B-cell population in the peritoneal cavity predominantly consisted of non-ATA<sup>+</sup> B cells, instead expressing endogenous Ig heavy chains (Endo-IgH). Thus, when the self-antigen recognized by the ATA transgenic Ig was eliminated, entry into the B-1 B-cell pool depended on expression of different Igs that could only be produced by rearrangement of endogenous Ig genes, a process relatively rare in Ig transgenic mice. These rare cells then accumulated to occupy the B-1 B-cell pool in Thy-1 null ATA transgenic mice. Restoration of Thy-1 (self-antigen) expression in these Thy-1 null ATA transgenic mice could be accomplished by transfer of hematopoietic stem cells from Thy-1 wildtype mice, engrafting large numbers of Thy-1<sup>+</sup> T cells. When this was done, serum ATA and accumulation of ATA Tg<sup>+</sup> B-1 B cells were both also restored, demonstrating that both the accumulation of ATA CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells and elevated levels of serum ATA were dependent on the presence of the autoantigen, Thy-1. We described this as the first example of a positive selection of auto-reactive B cells, as diagrammed in Figure 1.

229



Figure 1. The ATA (anti-thymocyte autoantibody) u heavy chain transgenic model system demonstrates a critical positive role that antigen (Thy-1 in this case) plays in the accumulation of both ATA<sup>+</sup> B cells and ATA immunoglobulin in serum. Precursor cells (that all contain the transgenic heavy chain, ATA µ) rearrange and begin to express light chain (indicated by Vk⇒Jk) as they progress to the newly formed (NF) B-cell stage. In a normal Thy-1 wildtype microenvironment: (a) in fetal liver, B cells that pair the ATA- $\mu$  Tg heavy chain with a V $\kappa$ 21c light chain (ATA BCR; pie slice with hatched fill pattern) are selected into the B-1 B-cell pool and are responsible for serum ATA IgM; (b) B cells arising from bone marrow that generate the ATA BCR are either deleted (note absence of hatched pie slice) or undergo receptor editing to a different specificity (note pie slice has a different fill pattern). Most B cells rearrange a light chain other than V $\kappa$ 21c, therefore do not express a self reactive BCR (represented by the white section of the pie diagram), and so develop to typical follicular B cells. In contrast, in a Thy-1 null microenvironment: (c) B-1 B cells with an ATA BCR do not accumulate due to the absence of the Thy-1 selecting antigen; (d) bone marrow development generates follicular B cells efficiently, even for B cells that rearrange the V $\kappa$ 21c light chain and express the ATA specificity. The limited numbers of cells capable of supporting ATA B-cell maturation to the B-1 B-cell fate is indicated by showing a smaller pie diagram (a and c), in contrast with the much large number (b and d) that do not support this.

In a transgenic model of a pathogenic autoantibody, B cells with an anti-erythrocyte specificity developed in the peritoneal cavity due to their sequestration from antigen, suggesting that a lack of negative selection may allow development of self-reactive B cells.<sup>12,13</sup> To test whether large amounts of Thy-1 antigen might negatively impact ATA B cells in the peritoneal cavity, we injected Thy-1<sup>+</sup> thymocytes into the peritoneal cavity of newborn and adult ATA Tg mice. This treatment had no appreciable effect on either the frequency of ATA B cells or the level of serum ATA, demonstrating that the ATA B cells in these mice had not simply escaped deletion by development within the peritoneum. This illustrates a clear distinction between natural and pathogenic autoantibody.

## ATA-μκ TRANSGENIC MICE: EVIDENCE FOR B-CELL NEGATIVE SELECTION

To understand more about this selection process, we cloned the prototype V $\kappa$ 21c light chain from the ATA hybridoma and produced transgenic mice expressing both  $6C10 V_{H}3609$  heavy chain (ATA- $\mu$ ) and V $\kappa$ 21c kappa light chain, referred to as ATA- $\mu\kappa$ transgenic mice.<sup>14</sup> We examined B-cell development in these transgenic mice, both on wildtype (Thy-1<sup>+</sup>) and Thy-1 null backgrounds. Unlike ATA-µ transgenic B cells which pair the ATA heavy chain with a diverse set of Ig light chains, in ATA-uk transgenic animals all newly formed B cells in bone marrow express the ATA specificity (Fig. 2). That is, in "heavy chain only" ATA transgenic mice, a very small fraction (less than 1%) of newly formed B cells will pair the transgenic heavy chain with the specific light chain required to generate the ATA NAb specificity, but when both ATA Ig chains are expressed as transgenes, all rearrangements are blocked and essentially all newly formed B cells are self-reactive. The availability of ATA-uk transgenic mice facilitated a careful assessment of the consequences of this self-reactive B-cell receptor (BCR) on bone marrow B-cell development. We found that ATA-μκ B cells in a Thy-1<sup>+</sup> environment became arrested at an immature stage in the spleen, shortly after exiting the bone marrow. By examining several independently generated ATA-uk transgenic lines, we found two outcomes: in some lines the newly formed arrested B cells died; in other lines these cells revised their BCR, pairing the ATA transgenic heavy chain with a non-transgenic light chain produced by rearrangement of the normal (endogenous) kappa locus, thereby eliminating the ATA specificity and progressed to later stages in development (Fig. 2). Arrested B cells in spleen showed an immature cell surface phenotype by flow cytometry and had a high turnover (i.e., were short-lived), typical of immature/transitional B cells. Furthermore, also similar to immature B cells, these cells did not proliferate when exposed to antigen. Thus, in all respects these cells were similar to self-reactive B cells in "classical B-cell tolerance models" for negative selection, such as with anti-HEL/HEL, anti-MHC class I, and anti-dsDNA, where the presence of self antigen exerts a negative impact, resulting in deletion, functional silencing (anergy), or alteration of the Ig B-cell receptor (receptor editing).<sup>15-18</sup>

As expected, this maturation arrest did not occur on a Thy-1 null background, where instead cells progressed to a typical follicular B-cell stage (Fig. 2). These cells responded robustly to antigen exposure. Interestingly, even with the obvious negative impact of Thy-1 antigen on ATA B-cell maturation in Thy-1+ ATA-µk transgenic mice, we nevertheless detected high levels of ATA IgM in the serum; this level was significantly decreased in the absence of Thy-1, similar to results with ATA-µ transgenic mice. We sought to determine whether this ATA production derived from B-1 B cells or instead from the maturation-arrested population of B cells in spleen. First we transferred either spleen ATA B cells or peritoneal cavity cells (containing ATA B cells) from ATA-µk transgenic mice into B-cell deficient  $J_{\rm H}$  null mice and monitored the production of serum ATA. Although serum ATA was readily detectable in the recipients of peritoneal cavity cells, none was detected in recipient mice that received maturation-arrested B cells from spleen. Concerned that the staining and sorting process might have led to the functional incompetence of transferred spleen B cells, we also tried a different approach to assess production of ATA by spleen B cells. Adult ATA-uk transgenic mice were splenectomized and then monitored for any decrease in serum ATA levels. Some decrease was found



**Figure 2.** Analysis of bone marrow and spleen B-cell development in ATA heavy/light chain transgenic mouse lines reveals extensive negative selection (light chain editing or cell death) as a consequence of antigen encounter during adult B-cell development. In a Thy-1 wildtype microenvironment: (a) there is abundant ATA IgM in serum, derived from differentiation of some B-1 type B cells; (b) however most developing ATA B cells become arrested at a short-lived immature transitional stage in spleen and only survive by altering their specificity (receptor editing) away from ATA to a diverse BCR repertoire. In contrast, in a Thy-1 null microenvironment: (c) ATA B cells do not enter the B-1 B-cell pool, but die instead; consequently serum ATA levels are low; (d) ATA B-cell maturation is efficient in bone marrow, generating a follicular B-cell pool consisting exclusively of the transgene-encoded (non-autoreactive) BCR.

shortly after the operation; however, ATA levels remained at a persistent high level over a two month post-op monitoring period, indicating that the spleen is not the only site for production of natural autoantibody. We concluded that most bone marrow developing ATA B cells in a Thy-1 wildtype mouse reach the spleen, become inactivated, and then either die or revise their BCR specificity away from ATA. In contrast, a minor fraction of cells in peritoneal cavity (and spleen) is responsible for ATA production, with some cells showing a B-1 B-cell phenotype.

Thus, we found both positive and negative impacts of self-antigen on B-cell development and production of serum ATA NAb in these ATA-μκ transgenic mice, indicating that at least some developing B cells with this self-reactive specificity could be selected by interaction with antigen to become antibody-forming cells. The reason for ATA B cells adopting these two different cell fates, either negative selection for most bone marrow generated cells or positive selection, with development to B-1 B cells and some differentiation to antibody-forming cells, is currently under investigation. Analysis of the kinetics of development suggests one possible explanation based on homeostasis: the B cells initially generated in neonatal animals are critically dependent on strong signaling through the BCR for their survival and respond positively to self-antigen exposure,

whereas, once such a population becomes established, with attendant production of antigen-antibody complexes, the B cells developing afterwards experience BCR signaling in conjunction with non-BCR signals (immune complexes binding to cell surface receptors) and so respond negatively.

### ALTERING ATA BCR CROSSLINKING: MARGINAL ZONE B-CELL DEVELOPMENT

The experiments described above illustrate two distinct ATA BCR signaling states, one with little or no signaling in the absence of Thy-1 antigen and one with strong BCR signaling in the presence of Thy-1 (on a wildtype background). We next decided to investigate the consequences of intermediate signaling states by providing different levels of Thy-1 antigen to developing ATA BCR B cells.<sup>19</sup> We cloned and expressed Thy-1 as a transgene in T cells and selected mouse lines with different expression levels, likely due to variation in the number of transgene copies per genome. Sub-physiologic levels of ATA self-antigen could be obtained with transgenic lines that showed abnormally low levels of Thy-1 on a Thy-1 null background. Super-physiologic levels of the ATA self-antigen were obtained using a "high copy" line (where many copies of the Thy1 transgene were stably integrated into the genome) on a Thy-1 wildtype background. Extremely low levels of Thy-1 self-antigen exposure could be accomplished by simply using Rag-1 null (gene-deleted) mice, where T-cell development is blocked at a very early stage due to the failure of T-cell receptor rearrangement, decreasing the number of Thy1-bearing cells 100-fold. It is important to note that Thy-1 is not an integral membrane protein, but rather is attached to the cell by a glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI) linkage, and so can be shed into serum where it may act to modulate B-cell development. Considering the relative paucity of T cells in bone marrow, it is likely that developing B cells encounter shed Thy-1, and so the altered levels of Thy-1 expression result in different concentrations of Thy-1 antigen in serum. The precise nature of Thy-1 antigen that immature B cells encounter in vivo, whether intact soluble protein or else Thy-1 bound to the surface of antigen presenting cells, remains to be determined.

We had already established in prior work that ATA BCR B cells developed to follicular (Fo) B cells in the absence of self-antigen (that is, they developed similarly to the majority of B cells in spleen). The striking finding for ATA B-cell development with low levels of Thy-1 self-antigen was the decreased production of Fo B cells and instead the generation of ATA BCR B cells with a marginal zone (MZ) B-cell phenotype. These results suggest that different levels of BCR crosslinking (none vs. some) can guide developing B cells into very different B-cell subpopulations that localize in tissue differently and exhibit different functional responses. Furthermore, when the ATA BCR was bred onto the Rag-1 null background, with even lower levels of serum Thy-1, we obtained the same result: most B cells in spleens showed a MZ B-cell phenotype. This variation of ATA B-cell fate depending on the level of BCR crosslinking is diagrammed in Figure 3. Importantly these MZ B phenotype cells localized in the spleen at the border of the white and red pulp, the distinctive zone where marginal zone B cells are normally found. In addition, these cells exhibited normal functions characteristic of MZ B cells, such as rapid calcium flux when exposed to Thy1 antigen, more rapid and more intense than ATA BCR B cells with a follicular B phenotype (that were generated in the complete absence of antigen). Thus, B cells

233


**Figure 3.** BCR crosslinking intensity and B-cell fate. Newly formed (immature) bone marrow ATA B cells that encounter different levels of Thy-1 self-antigen experience different cell fates: (1) those encountering 100–130% of physiologic Thy-1 level experience maturation arrest and die; (2) those encountering 60% of physiologic Thy-1 level become arrested as anergic cells and persist; (3) those encountering 1–10% of physiologic Thy-1 level enter the marginal zone B-cell pool if appropriately signaled by Notch-2<sup>20</sup> or else become arrested as anergic cells; and (4) those encountering no Thy-1 (0%, Thy-1 null background) mature to constitute a follicular B-cell pool.

with the same ATA BCR could enter functionally and phenotypically different B-cell populations depending on the strength of BCR cross-linking that they experienced: the follicular fate with little or no crosslinking, the MZ B-cell fate with some BCR crosslinking and appropriate non-BCR signals, or the B-1 cell fate with a higher level of BCR crosslinking. An important caveat for recruitment to the B-1 cell fate is that most bone marrow B cells did not progress to a long-lived mature B-1 cell fate when their BCR was cross-linked (signaled) at this high level, as described above. Since a significant portion of the B-1 cell pool is generated during fetal/neonatal life, we consider this issue in the next section.

### DEVELOPMENTAL CHANGES IN NATURAL AUTOANTIBODY B-CELL SELECTION

Our earliest cell transfer experiments designed to fully reconstitute CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B cells in irradiated recipients were unsuccessful when we employed bone marrow from adult (> 2 mo old) mice as a source of B-cell progenitors. Instead we could repopulate CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 cells (and all other B-cell populations) when we used progenitors from fetal or newborn animals.<sup>4</sup> This prompted us to suggest that the CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B-cell generation was developmentally biased, predominantly from precursors present in fetal or neonatal animals. In later experiments we purified pro-B stage cells (B220<sup>+</sup>CD43<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup>) from fetal liver and bone marrow by cell sorting, then transferred the cells to SCID mice that lack lymphoid cells.<sup>23</sup> These experiments demonstrated that most committed B cells in liver did not develop into classic follicular B cells in this transfer model, whereas those from bone marrow could. Furthermore most bone marrow pro-B stage cells did not

generate B-1a (CD5<sup>+</sup>) phenotype B cells. It seems reasonable to hypothesize that intrinsic differences at the pre-B and immature B-cell stage in developing fetal/neonatal B lineage cells allow maturation of cells with moderately self-reactive BCRs. Indeed, in the neonate, in the absence of a developed immune system capable of supplying non-BCR survival signals, such self-reactivity may facilitate B maturation, thereby resulting in a repertoire that favors the production of natural autoantibodies. In the context of BCR vs. non-BCR survival signals, it is significant to note that only B-1 B cells are intact in BAFF null mice (that lack this well-characterized non-BCR B-cell survival signal), demonstrating that B-1 B-cell development and maintenance is BAFF independent.<sup>21,22</sup>

In contrast, intrinsic differences at the pre-B and immature B-cell stage in developing bone marrow B lineage cells appear to favor those cells with BCRs that do not show such high levels of self-reactivity. Bone marrow B cells that do generate such BCRs are likely arrested at an immature stage, hence non-functional and short-lived, or else die by apoptosis, unless they revise their BCR by receptor editing, as demonstrated in several transgenic models of B-cell tolerance. Probably some cells with moderately self-reactive BCRs can enter the marginal zone pool or possibly the CD5<sup>-</sup> B-1b B-cell subset. Thus, as shown in Figure 4, we propose an overall model for B-cell selection and production of NAbs that changes with development, and where the level of BCR crosslinking strongly influences entry into one of the three mature B-cell pools, Fo, MZ, or B-1.



**Figure 4.** Overall model for development of B cells into three mature subpopulations, follicular (Fo), marginal zone (MZ) and B-1, dependent on signals from the BCR and additional cell surface receptors (such as growth factor receptors). In contrast to the largely negative selection experienced by bone marrow newly formed (NF) or transitional (T1, T2) B cells, a portion of B cells (predominating in fetal/neonatal life) respond to antigen encounter by adopting a B-1 B-cell fate and can produce natural serum autoantibody. The intermediate BCR signaling that results in entry into the MZ B-cell fate also requires Notch2 signaling, shown on the lines leading to this cell fate. The failure of most bone marrow ATA B cells to enter the B-1 pool is indicated by a blocked line. Solid lines indicate major pathways; possible minor pathways are indicated by dashed lines.

### IMPORTANCE OF SPECIFICITY OF NATURAL AUTOANTIBODIES

Our analysis of B-cell development and serum autoantibody production in the ATA transgenic mouse lines has highlighted an important feature of this process: specificity. In the ATA-u transgenic model, greater than 80% of the serum antibody consists of the transgenic heavy chain paired with a specific light chain, resulting in an antibody recognizing a distinct glycoform of the Thy-1 protein. The affinity of this antibody is sufficient for its use as a staining reagent.<sup>9</sup> In the same transgenic line on a Thy-1 null background most of the serum antibody is not transgene-derived and the B-1 B cells that can be detected in the peritoneal cavity show endogenous heavy chain expression, presumably selected for by diverse self-antigens unrelated to Thy-1. Thus, at least for the  $V_{\rm H}3609/6C10$ -encoded antibody, only the Thy-1<sup>6C10</sup> determinant can serve as the selecting antigen, generating an antibody where this heavy chain is paired with a specific light chain, Vx21c. This means that it is probably not generally correct that the B cells serving as the source for most NAbs are selected by chance for "cross-reactivity," and therefore exhibit "poly-reactivity." In the example described here both the antibody and the determinant recognized are very specific and so these ATA B cells are highly dependent on the unique Thy-1 glycoform for positive selection. However, this does not rule out the possibility that certain other BCR structures (Ig heavy and light chains) have been selected into the germline because of particular cross-reactivities between self-determinants and epitopes present on pathogens, one explanation for the functional significance of some NAbs. It seems likely that the population of natural autoantibody is heterogeneous, generated by several mechanisms. Clearly a significant portion derives from B-1 B cells and some likely comes from MZ B cells, both populations selected by self-reactivity into these functionally distinct populations.

### CONCLUSION

CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B cells are a major source of NAbs in healthy mice. In this chapter we have highlighted a key feature illustrated by our studies of ATA produced by B-1 B cells: the critical role that antigen plays in establishing the long-term B-1 B-cell pool and inducing production of NAbs. Selection by self-antigen probably holds for all CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B-cell-derived NAbs, but remains to be assessed for NAbs that may be generated by other mechanisms. CD5<sup>+</sup> B-1 B cells appear to require higher levels of BCR signaling than B cells in other subsets, particularly follicular B cells.<sup>24</sup> In the future it will be important to determine the mechanism(s) mediating positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells, to understand how their population size is maintained throughout life, and to delineate the function(s) of produced NAbs within the immune system. It is already clear that certain specificities among B-1 B cells play a critical role in host defense.<sup>25,26</sup> Finally, it is important to note that the breakdown of normal growth regulation in such a long-lived, self-reactive cell population carries serious implications for development of autoimmune pathologies and even B-cell leukemia,<sup>27,28</sup> highlighting the clinical relevance of such work.

### REFERENCES

- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Parks DR et al. The "Ly-1 B" cell subpopulation in normal, immunodefective, and autoimmune mice. J Exp Med 1983; 157:202-18; PMID:6600267; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.157.1.202.
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Honda M et al. Ly-1 B cells: functionally distinct lymphocytes that secrete IgM autoantibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:2494-8; PMID:6609363; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.81.8.2494.
- Sidman CL, Shultz LD, Hardy RR et al. Production of immunoglobulin isotypes by Ly-1+ B cells in viable motheaten and normal mice. Science 1986; 232:1423-5; PMID:3487115; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.3487115.
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR, Herzenberg LA et al. Progenitors for Ly-1 B cells are distinct from progenitors for other B cells. J Exp Med 1985; 161:1554-68; PMID:3874257; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.161.6.1554.
- Cunningham AJ. Large numbers of cells in normal mice produce antibody components of isologous erythrocytes. Nature 1974; 252:749-51; PMID:4140475; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/252749a0.
- Cunningham AJ, Steele EJ. Ontogeny of the autoimmune reaction in normal mice to antigens in erythrocytes and gut. Clin Exp Immunol 1981; 44:38-48; PMID:7021025.
- Hayakawa K, Carmack CE, Hyman R et al. Natural autoantibodies to thymocytes: origin, VH genes, fine specificities, and the role of Thy-1 glycoprotein. J Exp Med 1990; 172:869-78; PMID:1974916; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.172.3.869.
- Gui M, Wiest DL, Li J et al. Peripheral CD4+ T cell maturation recognized by increased expression of Thy-1/CD90 bearing the 6C10 carbohydrate epitope. J Immunol 1999; 163:4796-804; PMID:10528179.
- Hayakawa K, Hardy RR. Murine CD4+T cell subsets defined. J Exp Med 1988; 168:1825-38; PMID:2903214; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.168.5.1825.
- Nosten-Bertrand M, Errington ML, Murphy KP et al. Normal spatial learning despite regional inhibition of LTP in mice lacking Thy-1. Nature 1996; 379:826-9; PMID:8587606; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/379826a0.
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA et al. Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells. Science 1999; 285:113-6; PMID:10390361; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.285.5424.113.
- Murakami M, Tsubata T, Okamoto M et al. Antigen-induced apoptotic death of Ly-1 B cells responsible for autoimmune disease in transgenic mice. Nature 1992; 357:77-80; PMID:1574128; http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/357077a0.
- Okamoto M, Murakami M, Shimizu A et al. A transgenic model of autoimmune hemolytic anemia. J Exp Med 1992; 175:71-9; PMID:1730928; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.175.1.71.
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA et al. Positive selection of anti-thy-1 autoreactive B-1 cells and natural serum autoantibody production independent from bone marrow B cell development. J Exp Med 2003; 197:87-99; PMID:12515816; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.20021459.
- Goodnow CC, Crosbie J, Jorgensen H et al. Induction of self-tolerance in mature peripheral B lymphocytes. Nature 1989; 342:385-91; PMID:2586609; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/342385a0.
- Nemazee DA, Burki K. Clonal deletion of B lymphocytes in a transgenic mouse bearing anti-MHC class I antibody genes. Nature 1989; 337:562-6; PMID:2783762; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/337562a0.
- Erikson J, Radic MZ, Camper SA et al. Expression of anti-DNA immunoglobulin transgenes in non-autoimmune mice. Nature 1991; 349:331-4; PMID:1898987; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/349331a0.
- Gay D, Saunders T, Camper S et al. Receptor editing: an approach by autoreactive B cells to escape tolerance. J Exp Med 1993; 177:999-1008; PMID:8459227; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.177.4.999.
- Wen L, Brill-Dashoff J, Shinton SA et al. Evidence of marginal-zone B cell-positive selection in spleen. Immunity 2005; 23:297-308; PMID:16169502; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.007.
- Tanigaki K, Han H, Yamamoto N et al. Notch-RBP-J signaling is involved in cell fate determination of marginal zone B cells. Nat Immunol 2002; 3:443-50; PMID:11967543; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ni793.
- Schiemann B, Gommerman JL, Vora K et al. An essential role for BAFF in the normal development of B cells through a BCMA-independent pathway. Science 2001; 293:2111-4; PMID:11509691; http://dx.doi. org/10.1126/science.1061964.
- 22. Schneider P, Takatsuka H, Wilson A et al. Maturation of marginal zone and follicular B cells requires B cell activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor family and is independent of B cell maturation antigen. J Exp Med 2001; 194:1691-7; PMID:11733583; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.194.11.1691.
- Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. A developmental switch in B lymphopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88:11550-4; PMID:1722338; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.24.11550.
- Casola S, Otipoby KL, Alimzhanov M et al. B cell receptor signal strength determines B cell fate. Nat Immunol 2004; 5:317-27; PMID:14758357; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ni1036.

- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC et al. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2000; 192:271-80; PMID:10899913; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.192.2.271.
- Choi YS, Baumgarth N. Dual role for B-1a cells in immunity to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med 2008; 205:3053-64; PMID:19075288; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.20080979.
- Pennell CA, Arnold LW, Haughton G et al. Restricted Ig variable region gene expression among Ly-1+ B cell lymphomas. J Immunol 1988; 141:2788-96; PMID:3139765.
- 28. Haughton G, Arnold LW, Bishop GA et al. The CH series of murine B cell lymphomas: neoplastic analogues of Ly-1+ normal B cells. Immunol Rev 1986; 93:35-51; PMID:3491037; http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.1986.tb01501.x.

## CHAPTER 18

## NATURALLY OCCURRING ANTIBODIES/ AUTOANTIBODIES IN POLYCLONAL IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATES

### Peter J. Späth<sup>1</sup> and Hans U. Lutz<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Pharmacology, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland; <sup>2</sup>Institute of Biochemistry, ETH-Hönggerberg, Zurich, Switzerland Corresponding Author: Peter J. Späth—Email: peter.spaeth@pki.unibe.ch

Abstract: It was a long way from the use of hyperimmune animal sera for the treatment of toxin-producing infections to the production of polyclonal, polyspecific human immunoglobulin preparations and the use of NAbs as therapeutic tools for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Some highlights of the development of knowledge in blood fractionation techniques, basic science and clinical wisdom are reviewed in this chapter. Proudly we mention the outstanding contribution of Swiss scientists and clinicians in the development of IVIG as clinical tool for some otherwise untreatable diseases or taking advantage of its low adverse event profile in long-term treatment of other chronic autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. This chapter summarizes some of the characteristics and the effects in humans of NAbs which are present in IgG concentrates. We call attention to the fact that the human data remain, at least in part, incomplete, among others because even with the most efficient large-scale techniques available not more than approximately 50% of the total IgG in plasma can be fractionated into an immunoglobulin G concentrate.

### **INTRODUCTION**

In the late 1970s a few European scientists embarked on the study of physiological autoantibodies<sup>1,2</sup> and one group studied their role in tissue homeostasis and focused on the interaction of NAbs with senescent RBC in the process of selective removal of 20 to 25 g of senescent human RBC per day.<sup>3-5</sup> For such studies NAbs were isolated from immunoglobulin concentrates containing > 97% IgG. Embarking on NAbs research was tough at a time when immunology was governed by 'T-cell only' and the T cell

Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs), edited by Hans U. Lutz.

<sup>©2012</sup> Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

was forging the chances for getting grant proposals accepted. Meanwhile the existence of NAbs has been acknowledged even by those having had a strong T cells oriented view of immunity<sup>6</sup> and many clinical and laboratory investigations using IgG NAb have established a role of NAbs for therapeutic purposes.

The chapters of this book give an update on the present knowledge about NAbs. It is reassuring that human IgG NAbs exist and apparently not all self-reactive human IgG is associated with disease. In this chapter we are reviewing aspects of human NAbs in polyclonal, polyspecific immunoglobulin concentrates.

### NAbs IN IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATES: HISTORICAL ASPECT OF THE DETECTION OF THEIR THERAPEUTIC USE

It was shortly after the introduction of the first 'close to native' immunoglobulin concentrate for intravenous use, IVIG, which was termed initially IgG-SRK (SRK = Swiss Red Cross), that the immuno-modulatory effect of IVIG was reported for the first time in an international journal.<sup>7</sup> Although there is no direct link demonstrable between the clinical outcome and the availability of IgG-SRK, such availability for sure has paved the road for the rapid spread of getting clinical advantage from the immuno-modulatory and anti-inflammatory effect of IVIG for the benefit of patients suffering from various autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Quite soon it became obvious that the Fc and the F(ab')<sub>2</sub> parts of the involved IgG molecules were necessary for an optimal immuno-modulatory and anti-inflammatory effect of IVIG.

Before the door could be opened for the routine clinical use of the effects of NAbs contained in IVIG, some important milestones in polishing processes of 'standard' IgG had to be achieved. Subsequent to the very first report on anti-diphtheria toxin activities in plasma,<sup>8</sup> from 1893 onward, the first immunoglobulin concentrates were hyperimmune preparations isolated from animal plasma (reviewed by Peter Gronski<sup>9</sup>) (for details on the various IgG concentrates see Addendum). Beside immunization by animal proteins, these "antitoxins" induced adverse events (AEs) in recipients. The frequency and intensity of these AEs could be reduced by ammonium sulfate precipitation and further by a "method for purification of antitoxins and the like" and the "disaggregation" or "autolysis" of the antitoxins by pepsin treatment.<sup>10-12</sup> The detection of antibody deficiency in humans strengthened the clinical importance of immunoglobulin concentrates as a therapeutic tool. The very first report about primary antibody deficiency dates back to 1952 and was an abstract by several authors, describing five patients.<sup>13</sup> In the full publication the number of patients was'reduced' to one, published by a single author.<sup>14</sup> Through the work of Edwin Cohn and his collaborators,<sup>15,16</sup> a human "standard" IgG preparation was already available in 1952 and was ready to be used for replacement therapy. Replacement in the first patient was via the subcutaneous route of application.<sup>14</sup> From the very beginning, the treatment of severe infections in normogammaglobulinemic patients,<sup>17</sup> or the replacement therapy in antibody deficiency aimed at a rapid increase of IgG in the circulation, which was most efficiently achieved by application of the immunoglobulin concentrate via the intravenous route. However, antibody deficient patients proved particularly reactive to "standard" IgG.<sup>18</sup> During the isolation procedure IgG molecules are inevitably altered and tend to form aggregates that remained in the "standard" IgG preparations because the production process did not include polishing steps to get rid of the altered/aggregated IgG molecules. The particular reactivity of antibody deficient patients made it impossible to apply "standard" IgG preparations via the intravenous route. Interestingly, the intramuscular application of "standard" IgG concentrates became clinical practice for replacement therapy (IMIG), not the originally used subcutaneous route.<sup>19</sup> Dose limitations and the slow increase of IgG in the circulation of antibody deficient patients remained a driving force for the development of an IVIG. A first avenue taken to achieve intravenous tolerability was by heavy protease treatment (pepsin, plasmin), a process which resulted in a short in vivo half-life of the infused IgG fragments.<sup>20-22</sup> Another avenue taken to achieve intravenous tolerability was by irreversible or partially reversible chemical modification of the IgG molecules.<sup>23-27</sup> All these early IVIG products suffered from partial loss in their effector functions.<sup>28</sup>

The formulation of the first 'close to native' IVIG with full Fab and Fc effector functions was achieved mainly by five Swiss (Alfred Hässig, Silvio Barandun, Hans Nitschmann, Peter Kistler and Henri Isliker) after more than two decades worth of laboratory and clinical research. These five were embedded in a fertile environment of interest in protein chemistry and they had the same strong interest for fractionation methods of human plasma and in particular they were searching for an IgG concentrate with intravenous tolerability. The interest in protein chemistry was created by Alexander von Muralt, professor of physiology in Berne. Von Muralt stayed from 1928 to 1930 at the Harvard Medical School and was working in the department of Edwin Cohn.<sup>29</sup> After World War II, von Muralt was instrumental in helping Swiss science catch up with the level of the USA and Great Britain by motivating and supporting scientist to stay for a few years in US and UK laboratories. One of those scientists was Hans Nitschmann, professor of organic/protein chemistry who was studying cold ethanol fractionation in Cohn's laboratory. Back to Berne, together with his scholar Peter Kistler and the strong support of the Central Laboratory of the Swiss Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service, they developed the 'Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier' cold ethanol fractionation method.<sup>30,31</sup> The widely used Cohn-Oncley fractionation method developed in Boston<sup>15,16</sup> provided plasma proteins at high purity at quite low recovery. In contrast the 'Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier' method of cold ethanol fractionation provided better recoveries for "standard" IgG and albumin at somewhat lower purity and at considerably lower production cost. Alfred Hässig was the first head of the Central Laboratory of the Swiss Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service. He had the mind of an MD deeply dedicated to patients and he was aware of the ethical dimensions of collecting blood. However, he combined dedication with a healthy sense for business. The precious nature of human blood/plasma as starting material for fractionation of plasma-derived medicinal products (stable blood products) was for him a driving force for the strong support of Kistler and Nitschmann<sup>32</sup> and very soon also the other Swiss listed above. The development of the Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier cold-ethanol fractionation method by the Central Laboratory of the Swiss Red Cross in Berne allowed the sister Red Cross organizations to introduce this technique at no costs for development. The consequence was that plasma fractionation in post-war Europe was mainly performed by the Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier technique in a non-for-profit environment of Red Cross organizations. In the USA, under the need for albumin on the battlefields, the transfer of the cold ethanol fractionation technique from Cohn's laboratory to Armour Pharma was completed already in 1943 and first reports on the use of "standard" IgG date back to 1944.<sup>33</sup> After the war plasma fractionation remained in an industrial for-profit environment. However, one exception existed: the American Red Cross let toll-fractionate US plasma in Berne. Independent of the fractionation method used, the final product was a 16% "standard" IgG concentrate for intramuscular application (IMIG).

In the early post WW II days of plasma fractionation albumin and blood coagulation factors were the main plasma products while "standard" IgG concentrate made only a small percent of what could have been obtained by the newly introduced 'Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier' fractionation method. Alfred Hässig was concerned of discarding a large part of the human IgG because of lack of use and thus became the driving force in the second wave of plasma protein research, the development of a 'close to native' IVIG with full Fab and Fc effector functions. In Berne, Silvio Barandun had identified one of the two first antibody-deficient individuals in Switzerland and became interested in replacement therapy.<sup>34</sup> Barandun's patient, Albert L,<sup>35</sup> eventually became an employee of the Central Laboratory in Berne (sharpening needles for blood collection; needles at that time were reused). He got IgG replacement for free but had to accept the infusion of some experimental intravenous preparations what let him become quite an experienced person regarding AEs of intravenous replacement therapy. These AEs let rise the interest of Barandun in studying the mediators of AEs present in "standard" IgG concentrates which made them unsuitable for intravenous application. Barandun finally identified these mediators of early onset severe AEs as IgG aggregates which promoted spontaneous complement activation in the recipient's circulation.<sup>18</sup> It should be mentioned that Barandun was aware that there is also a late onset type of adverse events to immunoglobulin concentrates, which he termed a "phlogistic reaction." Decades later it was observed that at least in part such late onset adverse events were mediated by IgG dimer-induced release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF $\alpha$  in the absence of relevant spontaneous complement activation. At IgG dimer levels of < 12% in IVIG such AEs could be avoided.<sup>36,37</sup>

The fifth person collaborating in the development of a 'close to native' IVIG was Henri Isliker who in the 1950s also visited the laboratory of Edwin Cohn. His strong skills in complement research rendered Isliker the perfect partner for Barandun. Together they showed that the aggregate content of "standard" IgG concentrate mediated spontaneous complement activation in the circulation of the recipients.<sup>18</sup> The effect was termed 'anti-complement activity' (ACA) and later the absence of such activity became a release criterion for IVIG.<sup>38</sup> The method how to get a 'close to native' immunoglobulin G concentrate suitable for intravenous application is an example of serendipity in research. Barandun and Isliker were doing in vitro experiments with pepsin treatment of "standard" IgG concentrate. One evening the technician of Isliker, Rudolf S., was in a hurry to get to a jazz concert. He lowered the pH of the IgG solution but forgot to add the pepsin. The incubation at low pH in the absence of pepsin resulted in an IgG solution devoid of ACA.<sup>18</sup> To make the low pH treatment a reproducible and stable step suitable for large scale fractionation, minute amounts of pepsin were reintroduced into the low pH process.<sup>39</sup> Adhering to the ideas of the Red Cross Organizations, the low pH/ traces of pepsin treatment of IgG was never patented but was made available to sister organizations. IVIG which underwent correct low pH/traces of pepsin treatment never transmitted disease and the introduction of this production step was for Alfred Hässig the "lucky strike." The low pH treatment has remained to this day a valuable example of how to achieve pathogen safety of IVIG.

Having available an intravenously applicable immunoglobulin concentrate which did not undergo extensive enzymatic or chemical treatment during the production process and was a product containing IgGs with full biologic activity, including NAbs, allowed rapid infusion of relative high doses of NAbs. The observation by Imbach and colleagues<sup>7</sup> that IVIG was able to rise the thrombocyte counts in patients suffering from

immune thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) was the first report on the effect of NAbs in an international journal. The publication opened a new and very fruitful field of research and clinical use of IVIG. Only in retrospect did it become apparent that the observation of the beneficial effect of IgG in ITP was made in Berne twice; the very first report by Gugler<sup>40</sup> was some 16 years before (as reviewed by Barandun et al.<sup>41</sup>). The Imbach publication showed the following principle of NAbs in a clinical setting: patients suffering from a pathological IgG-mediated autoimmune disease, i.e., ITP,<sup>42,43</sup> could benefit from normal IgG present in an IVIG which was obtained from a large pool of healthy donors. It was concluded that the transfused IgG (i.e., NAbs) from healthy individuals is able to inhibit the effects of pathogenic autoantibodies and that for the sake of benefit of the recipient the transfused IgG must be able to recognize the recipient's "immunological structures" in an allo-reactive manner. In turn the recipient's immune system recognizes the infused IgG molecules.

The publication by Imbach et al. set the dose of a treatment cycle at 2 g/kg b.w. In those initial years, having a 3% solution at hand, the total dose was given over 5 days, a quite convenient setting, i.e., Monday through Friday, guarantying freedom over the weekend for patient, nurses and treating physician. The background for the dose of 2 g/kg b.w. remains obscure. However, a major route of thinking was that the intravenous supply of a large amount of intact IgG (i.e.NAbs) should modify the immunologic condition of patients in such a way that pathological autoantibodies were displaced from the surface of platelets to a level which was clinically no more relevant.<sup>41</sup>

In 1984 the first specificity of NAbs as part of the immuno-modulatory effect of IVIG was reported.<sup>44</sup> In the development of the proof of the idiotype/anti-idiotype network concept (Id/anti-Id), as being a part of the mechanism of action of IVIG, Alfred Hässig was instrumental as well. In 1962 he was the laureate of the highest scientific award of Switzerland, the Benoist Prize (http://www.marcel-benoist.ch/index.php?option=com co ntent&task=view&id=91&Itemid=55). The Prize was awarded for his work on antigenic structures of paraproteins, among others.<sup>45</sup> He immunized rabbits with myeloma proteins and he showed that the rabbit antibodies in part recognized common structures however in part structures unique to individual myeloma proteins. At that time the terms of isotypes or idiotypes were not known yet. It is not clear when Hässig came across with Id/anti-Id network possibly being a mechanism of action of IVIG. However, in early spring 1980 he already talked about Id/anti-Id to PJS. On the initiative of Alfred Hässig later in the year 1980 Urs Nydegger joined the Central Laboratory of the Swiss Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service. He in turn intensified his collaboration with Michel Kazatchkine. Nydegger and Kazatchkine became close friends in the late 70s while they were working in the laboratory of KF Austen, Boston. Hässig and Nydegger introduced Kazatchkine into the world of IVIG. Kazatchkine already before 1980 became interested in coagulation complications. The opportunity to compare plasma from spontaneously recovered and IVIG-induced anti-FVIII coagulation complications brought the breakthrough for establishing the mechanism of action of Id/anti-Id network.<sup>44</sup> Since the Sultan publication research on the mechanism of action and the clinical use of IVIG have followed the tow line of steadily growing knowledge in immunology. Today, the range of autoimmune diseases more or less successfully treated with high doses of IVIG is considerable.<sup>46</sup> There exists hesitation to accept that such a wide range of diseases can profit from the action of a "single" drug, like an immunoglobulin concentrate. In fact an immunoglobulin product is composed of an extremely high number of "different drugs," the immunoglobulin molecules with their extreme wide range of antibody specificities. Clinical efficacy of immunoglobulin concentrates in various clinical conditions can be more easily understood when it is considered that such concentrates offer to all recipients the wide range of activities. The particular clinical efficacy is due to the fact that an individual patient profits from the action of that part of the IgG molecules in the immunoglobulin concentrate which he/she is missing and that the 'action' of the concentrate depends on the actual immunologic status of the patient.

# THE ORIGIN OF NAbs AND THEIR FRACTIONATION INTO IMMUNOGLOBULIN CONCENTRATES

### NAbs Producing Cells in Humans

Immunoglobulin concentrates derive from pooled plasma of healthy donors. The immunoglobulins in a plasma pool of healthy donors are believed to contain immune antibodies of the adaptive immune system and NAbs. Immune antibodies and NAbs are fundamentally different. NAbs, when defined as being physiologic and being able to bind to altered/senescent structures of the human body conserved during the evolution (molecular mimicry) are physiological self-reactive antibodies with tissue homeostatic activities while NAbs able to recognize the same conserved structures on pathogens are antibodies of the first-line-defense.<sup>47</sup> The challenging question is whether immune antibodies and NAbs are produced by fundamentally different B-cell subpopulations. The ultimate origin of B cells in humans is the fetal liver<sup>48</sup> and the omentum.<sup>49</sup> In human fetal bone marrow surface-bound IgM positive (sIgM<sup>+</sup>) B lymphocytes are present by 17 weeks of development.<sup>50,51</sup>

During embryonic life of mice distinct waves of B cells are produced and B-cell subpopulations emerge which differ in their capacity to respond to antigens. At birth about 50% of the lymphocyte population is of the B1 phenotype<sup>52</sup>: sIgM<sup>high</sup>, sIgD<sup>low</sup>, CD11b<sup>low</sup>. Particularly the CD5<sup>+</sup>B1 cells of the mouse, the B1a lymphocytes, are lacking mechanisms of V-gene rearrangement, isotype switching, somatic hypermutation and synthesize IgM in an immunization-independent manner.<sup>53,54</sup> The B1a cells of mice are the candidates for NAb producing cells. It is not entirely clear which B-cell subpopulation in humans might be equivalent to B1/B1a-lymphocytes.<sup>55</sup> sIgM<sup>+</sup>, CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells appear by 14–24 weeks of embryonic life. Such cells account for about 40% of the B cells.<sup>56</sup> Furthermore, sIgM<sup>+</sup>, CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells of the human fetal spleen secrete self-reactive IgM.<sup>57</sup> After birth a significant part of the sIgM<sup>+</sup>, CD5<sup>+</sup> B lymphocytes are homed in the peritoneal cavity.<sup>58</sup>

In summary, the knowledge regarding the progenitors of NAb producing cells in humans, the innate-like B cells, remains quite limited. There is evidence that innate-like B cells in humans exist in istotype switched forms.

### The Human Plasma as Starting Material for Immunoglobulin Concentrates Containing NAbs

Human plasma is available in quite large, still increasing but not unlimited quantities. The human origin adds some ethical aspects and declares plasma as a high-value starting material for fractionation. Furthermore, safety standards for blood collection and processing which have been established by authorities and the blood fractionation industry, makes plasma an expensive starting material. To ensure the best use of the precious starting material, plasma has to be pooled to enable cost-effective processes. Pooling is considered essential in ensuring antibody diversity and immuno-modulatory potential of immunoglobulin concentrates. Complying with the directives of authorities, the pool size has to be within the limits of 1000 to 60,000 donors. Last but not least, ethical considerations and maintenance of economical fitness of manufacturers requires that from one liter of plasma as many different proteins should be isolated as ever possible.

Collection and processing of plasma have to follow strictly current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) and the recommendations by authorities. Plasma can be collected either from whole blood after separation from blood cells or with help of machines which are returning the blood cells to the donor. Plasma obtained by the former method is termed 'recovered' plasma and accounts for about 25% of plasma collected worldwide. Plasma collected through apheresis is termed 'apheresis' or 'source' plasma and accounts for about 75% of all plasma collected worldwide. Differences between the two plasma types might exist, at least in protein contents of the plasma donated. More recent comparisons of the plasma protein content indicate that the type of collection is less decisive than the total volume donated per year and donor. Donation of recovered plasma is restricted to maximal 1.5 L per year per donor. In Europe the maximal volume of apheresis plasma allowed to be donated is 10–35 L per year and donor, depending of the member state, while in the USA up to 90 L per year and donor are allowed to be collected. Indeed, the immunoglobulin concentration drops following donation of high volumes by a single individual and the frequent donations might generate an acute-phase-like condition, as is seen by an increase of a known acute-phase protein, C1-esterase inhibitor.<sup>59</sup> It is not known whether the differences in protein content also influence the quality of immunoglobulin concentrates and particularly of NAbs. Based on studies on the strength of anti-measles virus antibodies in a single brand of IVIG there are hints that such differences might indeed transfer into a final product.<sup>60</sup> If one assumes NAbs to behave similarly as immune antibodies, qualitative differences might be expected for NAbs in immunoglobulin concentrates derived from plasma pools collected from high- and low-volume donors.

A particular starting material is plasma for polyclonal hyperimmune globulin preparations (hyper-Ig). The plasma origin of hyper Ig is either high-titer plasma selected from common blood donations or it derives from selected reconvalescent donors or from donors immunized and boosted. There exists evidence that the relative NAb content of high-titer plasma or plasma from individuals immunized and boosted differ compared with plasma of normal donors. It can be expected that following immunization or boosting the mechanisms of counter regulation let rise e.g., anti-idiotypic antibody titers and might have consequences on product characteristics.<sup>61</sup> To the best of our knowledge a clinical role of NAbs in hyper-Ig has not been investigated.

### Possible Influences of Fractionation Techniques and Polishing Steps on the NAb Content of IVIG

Little is known whether the fractionation technique and the polishing steps applied to obtain immunoglobulin concentrates might influence the NAb content relative to that of the total immunoglobulin in the final preparation. Today there are two principal techniques of isolation of IgG in use, i.e., the cold ethanol fractionation and its variants<sup>15,16,30,31</sup> and the more recent chromatographic methods.<sup>62-65</sup> The latter allows to achieve an increase in recovery at high purity (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Outline of the various fractionation methods and the resulting immunoglobulin concentrates. In general fractionation starts with separation of cryoprecipitates from the starting plasma pool followed by the separation of albumin and immunoglobulins which is achieved by ethanol precipitation. The resulting gamma globulin paste can further be purified by several steps of cold ethanol precipitation following Cohn-Oncley<sup>15,16</sup> or Kistler-Nitschmann-Lergier.<sup>30,31</sup> The resulting "standard" IgG concentrate is a relative crude fraction. After application of a few polishing steps old-fashioned intramuscular, subcutaneous and hyperimmune preparations are obtained. These preparations are not suitable for intravenous use. The IgG bulk can undergo processes to reach intravenous tolerability (see Addendum for more details). IVIGs of our days undergo mild polishing procedures which ensure full functional integrity of the IgG molecules in the preparation. IVIG might be provided in lyophilized or liquid form and preparations have been/are applied at strengths of 3-12%. IVIGs also have been applied via the subcutaneous route. IgG paste undergoing the chromatographic avenue of purification first has to be delipidated. Ion-exchange chromatographic steps are followed by polishing steps in order to get the final product. The IVIG products are 10% ready-to-use solutions, while the unique chromatographic product tentatively developed for subcutaneous application is a 20% ready-to-use solution. There exists one chromatographically purified hyperimmune globulin anti-Rh(D). The purification process of the anti-Rh(D) takes advantage of the relative narrow range of isoelectric points of the anti-Rh(D) IgG molecules.

Despite the many efforts in optimizing protein recovery from the precious starting material, the pooled human plasma, the loss of IgG from fractionation step to fractionation step sums up to a total of  $\geq 50\%$ .<sup>66</sup> It is neither known whether during the fractionation and the polishing steps the relative loss of NAbs and that of immune antibodies is balanced, nor whether the loss varies form technique to technique. However, we like to report from two hints indicating that selected chromatographic production steps might result in enrichment or depletion of NAb populations relative to total IgG in IVIG. An antibody population can be enriched in case the population is restricted to a relative narrow range of isoelectric points. Applying the correct conditions, IgGs with isoelectric points outside the range are discarded while the population of interest is enriched. This principle is applied in a modern chromatographically purified anti-Rh(D) hyperimmune globulin.<sup>62</sup> Depletion



**Figure 2.** Examples of the effect of a polishing step on NAb content of the final product during production of IVIG. Two brands of IVIGs were analyzed for their content in anti-C3 NAbs.<sup>68,69</sup> The preparations were used without any further processing. An ELISA assay was performed as described elsewhere, using plates to which C3b was covalently bound<sup>67</sup> at an IgG concentration of 200 µg/ mL. The purification of the IgG preparations (A-N, S) differed from those labeled 1–5 only in a chromatographic polishing step applied to No. 1–5, which was introduced in order to reduce the IgA content.<sup>70</sup> The introduction of the polishing step resulted in a diminution of the anti-C3 NAb content relative to that of total IgG. Panel A depicts standardized results, among which one lot was arbitrarily selected as standard (S). In a first run parent lots A-H were compared with a single lot of the polished product (1). Being aware of the pitfalls of misinterpretations of results due to lot-to-lot variations of anti-pathogen and immuno-modulatory antibodies<sup>71</sup> in a single brand of IVIG, the analysis of anti-C3 NAbs in the polished lots could be confirmed. Please note: in panel B no standardization was performed; the scaling of the ordinate is different from that in panel A.

of an antibody population by a particular polishing step during IgG fractionation might occur as well. We have compared various IVIG brands for their content in IgG anti-C3 NAbs that modulate complement C3 amplification as described elsewhere.<sup>67-69</sup> Among the various preparations analyzed, there were two which differed only by introduction of chromatographic polishing steps in order to reduce the content in IgA.<sup>70</sup> Several lots of the parent IVIG showed the inherent but limited lot-to lot fluctuation known to exist for anti-pathogen, immuno-modulatory and anti-inflammatory antibodies.<sup>71</sup> In a single lot of the preparation undergoing the additional chromatographic polishing step, the titer in anti-C3 NAbs was considerably lower (Fig. 2A). To make sure the difference was not just due to extreme lot-to-lot variation, the analysis was repeated with two lots of the parent product and four lots of polished preparations. The difference in titers of anti-C3 NAbs in the two products could be confirmed (Fig. 2B). Finally, it was possible to elute from the polishing chromatographic column beds IgG molecules highly enriched in anti-C3 NAbs (Fig. 3).

We conclude that donation practices, fractionation and polishing methods may have an effect on the NAb content relative to total IgG in an immunoglobulin concentrate.



**Figure 3.** Enrichment of anti-C3 NAbs by ion-exchange chromatography introduced as polishing step to eliminate IgA from IVIG. Chromatography column beds from experiments shown in Figure 2 were acid-eluted and assayed for the relative content in anti-C3 NAbs. Results from three individual desorption experiments are shown (1–3). A lot of the parent IVIG served as control (C). The ELISA assay was performed with 182  $\mu$ g /mL IgG of each preparation.

### Some Aspects of NAbs in IVIG Produced by Large-Scale Fractionation

### NAbs and Dimers in IVIG

As mentioned above, the interaction of exogenous NAbs with the recipient's immune system and tissue is in a strict sense an allo-immune type of reaction. This includes the Id/ anti-Id interaction among infused IgG molecules and immunoglobulins of the recipient. In IVIG Id/anti-Id interactions can only occur between IgG molecules. These interactions are not observed in an immunoglobulin concentrate isolated from a single donor most likely because the counterparts being immunoglobulins of other Ig classes and these are removed during the fractionation process. However, as the number of donors increases from whom the plasma pool was generated, the number of molecules able to interact with each other is increasing due to alloimmune type of Id/anti-Id interactions. Thus, in IVIG from a single donor no dimers are found while with increasing numbers of donors the concentration of IgG dimers in the pooled plasma rises,<sup>72</sup> and such dimers can be found in IVIG.<sup>73</sup>

Dimer formation in liquid IVIG is a challenge for the fractionation industry. Immunoglobulin solutions, when stored, are forming an equilibrium between dimers monomers and probably oligomers.<sup>74,75</sup> Only a part of the dimer population is of the Id/anti-Id type. The other populations of dimers are most likely results of hydrophobic interactions of IgG molecules. Apparently IVIG with high dimer content is passing ACA release criterion because dimers are poor complement activators,<sup>76</sup> while dimers

apparently induce release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF $\alpha$  leading to severe adverse events in recipients.<sup>36,77</sup> On the one hand the challenge for the fractionating industry is to limit dimer/oligomer formation over the shelf-life of a product without removal of IgG molecules potentially able to form dimers because the IgG molecules able to form dimers might harbor a particular fraction of IgG, including NAbs, and Id/anti-Id dimers might be of advantage for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Recently it emerged that the fraction of dimers in IVIG apparently have enriched some properties usually considered being of benefit for patients affected by autoimmune and inflammatory diseases<sup>78-80</sup> or for patients needing first-line defense because of infection.<sup>80a</sup> Thus, after the crude fractionation and the polishing steps appropriate stabilizers have to be added in order not to reduce the content in IgG molecules having the potential to form dimers, while keeping effective complex formation low. Two amino acids have proven efficacy in this regard: glycine and L-proline.

### Terminal Sialic Acid on IgG and Immuno-Modulatory Potential

In recent years it emerged that some of the clinically well established, beneficial effects of IVIG might be due to particular carbohydrates in the Fc portion of the IgG molecules. For example, the anti-inflammatory effect of human IVIG in an animal model of ITP appears to be due to the presence of sialic acid residues within the biantennary carbohydrate bound to Asp 297 of the heavy chain (Fc portion).<sup>81</sup> The conclusion was based on sialic acid enriched IgG concentrate that was affinity purified from IVIG on Sambucus nigra lectin. The sialic acid enriched IgG concentrate revealed a 10-fold higher anti-inflammatory effect than the starting total IVIG.<sup>82</sup> Stadlmann et al.<sup>83</sup> showed, however, that IVIG binding to the Sambucus nigra lectin was dependent on N-glycans located in the variable region, while the N-glycans of the CH2 domain remained inaccessible to the lectin. Hence, it remains unclear whether the observed function of lectin-purified IgG concentrate is indeed dependent on sialic acid residues in the Fc-part of the IgG molecules. The lectin-purified IgG concentrate appears to induce an anti-inflammatory effect by binding to DC-SIGN instead of FcyRIIB.<sup>84</sup> However, others have shown that  $\alpha 2.6$  sialylated IgG and DC SIGN are dispensable for the IVIG-mediated anti-inflammatory effect on human dendritic cells.<sup>85</sup> Others further demonstrated by using differently glycosylated mAbs that increasing levels in sialylation resulted in decreasing activity of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity.<sup>86</sup> Glycosylation of IgG heavy chain will continue to provide difficulties, not only with regard to purification and synthesis, but also with regard to carbohydrate-imposed conformational properties. It is not known whether the accessibility/efficacy of the terminal sialic acid is the same or not whether located on certain IgG subclasses or particular IgG NAbs. This will certainly be a subject of research in the near future.

### What Might Be the Clinically Appropriate Immuno-Modulatory Dose

The background for the immuno-modulatory dose of a treatment cycle of 2 g/kg b.w. remains obscure (see above), but it is believed to be the hallmark of clinical efficacy. It is of particular interest whether the repeated rapid doubling or even tripling of levels of circulating IgG in a single treatment course is or is not of fundamental importance for

obtaining a clinically sufficient immuno-modulatory effect. There is little doubt that the content of individual NAbs with an immunoregulatory potential in IVIG is low and this makes high dosing plausible. Studies comparing various doses for immunomodulation are scarce and the need to confirm the high dose is repeatedly expressed by clinicians. A corner point of immunomodulation by NAbs in IVIG is ITP. Godeau and collaborators found that the initial treatment with 1 g/kg b.w. of IVIG appeared to be more effective than 0.5 g/kg b.w. in adults with acute ITP and that some adults who did not respond to 1 g IgG/ kg b.w. responded to an even higher dose.<sup>87</sup> Benesch and collaborators in a study of pediatric ITP confirmed this observation by reporting that "for patients with very low platelet counts, doses higher than 0.6 g/kg seem to be more effective".88 In one of the very rare clinical trials studying 'personalized' doses for ITP an initial dose of 0.8 g/kg body weight was comparably efficient to standard dosing when those patients showing no sufficient platelet count rise were re-treated on day 3.89 Last but not least an IgG level in serum close to normal or within the normal range apparently is not sufficient to prevent ITP in patients suffering from primary antibody deficiency.<sup>90-92</sup> Another cornerstone for an immuno-modulatory and anti-inflammatory effect of NAbs in IVIG is Kawasaki disease (KD). In KD a minimal effective dose of 1 g IgG/kg b.w. was found while 2 g IgG/kg b.w. was more effective.93 Others confirmed in KD the minimal effective dose of 1g IgG/kg body weight.<sup>94</sup> There are hints that not the total dose given at one cycle might be the only decisive parameter for clinical outcome but also the kinetic of increase of exogenous IgG in the circulation. In KD patients the infusion of a total dose of 1.6 g IgG/kg b.w. in 4 daily doses was less efficient than one single shot of 1 g IgG/kg body weight.<sup>95</sup> Taking into account results from other autoimmune and inflammatory diseases benefiting from NAbs in IVIG, the rapid and sufficient elevation of NAbs in the circulation seems to be the key for clinical efficacy. There is some chance to confirm or withdraw the clinical importance of peaking IgG and/or maintaining high IgG levels in the circulation for immunomodulation by dividing the intravenous dose given all three to four weeks into aliquots given subcutaneously e.g. once a week (SCIG). The results of the increasing number of reported studies treating various chronic inflammatory autoimmune conditions with SCIG will provide new insights.<sup>96-107</sup> Applying SCIG does not lead to peaking of IgG in the circulation, but does increase circulating IgG. First results seem to indicate that maintenance of IgG levels in the circulation close or above the normal range might be beneficial in some chronic autoimmune and inflammatory conditions.

### CONCLUSION

The route leading to the detection of a clinical benefit from the NAb-containing polyclonal, polyspecific immunoglobulin concentrate was a long, hard clinical and scientific work and was helped by serendipidity. Low adverse event profiles in chronic autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, despite the high costs, render the clinical use of IVIG and its NAbs attractive.

### **DEDICATION**

We like to dedicate this book chapter to late professor Alfred Hässig, who was a great mentor of our work. Alfred Hässig strongly and continuously supported our scientific work. A part of his always generous support was a huge amount of outdated IVIG for free.

## ADDENDUM

Hints and reports on the presence of functional NAbs in polyclonal, polyspecific human immunoglobulin concentrates with an IgG content > 93%. The table does not list all related publications which might have been published. For details on fractionation, see also Figure 1.

Type of Immunoglobulin Concentrate <sup>a</sup>	Hints and Reports for the Presence of Functional NAbs	
Early IgG Concentrates not Suitable for Intravenous Use <sup>15,16,31</sup>		
"Standard" IgG for intramuscular or subcutaneous application <sup>108-113,b</sup>	<ul> <li>Direct, retrospectively recognized demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>First description of IgG-induced platelet rise in an ITP patient<sup>40</sup></li> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs</li> <li>Effect reported for chronic autoimmune peripheral neuropathies<sup>97</sup></li> </ul>	
Hyperimmune globulins of the first generation for intramuscular or subcutaneous application <sup>b</sup>	<ul> <li>Direct demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>Anti-idiotypic antibodies in anti-Rh(D) hyperimmune globulin<sup>61</sup></li> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials</li> <li>No effect seen in one patient with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy<sup>114</sup></li> <li>Effect reported in one patient with autoimmune neutropenia<sup>115</sup></li> </ul>	
Modified Immunoglobulin Concentrates Suitable for Intravenous Use		
Enzymatically digested <sup>e</sup> • Pepsin treatment <sup>20</sup> • Plasmin treatment <sup>22</sup>	<ul> <li>PEPSIN-TREATED:</li> <li>Direct demonstration of functional NAbs:</li> <li>Inhibition of the binding of anti-gpIIb-IIIa anti-platelet antibodies<sup>116</sup></li> <li>Diminished inhibition of FcγRII-dependent platelet activation<sup>117</sup></li> </ul>	

continued on next page

Addendum (continued)		
Type of Immunoglobulin Concentrate <sup>a</sup>	Hints and Reports for the Presence of Functional NAbs	
Modified Immunoglobulin Concentrates Suitable for Intravenous Use (continued)		
	<ul> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from in vitro and clinical trials:</li> <li>5S IgG showed beneficial effects in sepsis/ SIRS,<sup>118</sup> presumably by complexing anti-hinge NAbs<sup>119</sup></li> <li>Abrogated effects on DC maturation and function otherwise seen with intact IgG<sup>120</sup></li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Effect reported in ITP; in some studies the effect is partially lost<sup>121-123</sup></li> <li>No effect in myasthenia gravis<sup>124</sup></li> <li>Ineffective in Kawasaki disease<sup>93</sup> <i>Comment:</i></li> <li>NAb activity must be impaired in case Fc-effector function is part of the biologic activity</li> <li>PLASMIN-TREATED</li> <li><i>Direct demonstration of NAbs:</i></li> <li>Ex vivo effect on T cells subsets<sup>125</sup></li> <li><i>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials:</i></li> <li>Partial to full effect in acute or chronic ITP<sup>121,125-127</sup></li> <li>Limited effect in one patient with AIHA<sup>128</sup></li> <li>Some effect in Kawasaki disease<sup>129</sup></li> </ul>	
Chemically modified <sup>e</sup> • Limited S-sulfonation <sup>24,130</sup> • Reduction or reduction and alkylation <sup>23,25,27</sup> • β-propiolacton <sup>26</sup> (beside IVIG several hyperimmune globulins)	<ul> <li>S-sulfonated IVIG Direct demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>Ex vivo effect on T cells subsets<sup>125</sup></li> <li>Inhibition of the binding of anti-gpIIb-IIIa anti-platelet antibodies<sup>116</sup></li> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials:</li> <li>Can mediate platelet count rise in ITP patients<sup>121,126</sup></li> <li>Effect reported in Kawasaki disease<sup>131</sup></li> <li>Effect reported in Guillain-Barré syndrome<sup>132</sup></li> <li>REDUCED/ALKYLATED IVIG Direct demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>Not reported Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials:</li> <li>Effect reported in chronic ITP<sup>133</sup> β-PROPIOLACTON-TREATED IVIG</li> </ul>	

Addendum (continued)

continued on next page

Type of Immunoglobulin Concentrate <sup>a</sup>	Hints and Reports for the Presence of Functional NAbs	
	<ul> <li>Direct demonstration of functional NAbs:</li> <li>Diminished inhibition of FcγRII-dependent platelet activation<sup>117</sup></li> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials:</li> <li>Effect reported in myasthenia gravis<sup>124</sup></li> <li>Effect reported in post-transfusion purpura<sup>134</sup></li> <li>Effect reported in Guillain-Barré syndrome<sup>135</sup></li> <li>Reduced<sup>123</sup> or similar effect<sup>133</sup> in ITP when compared with other IVIG brands</li> <li>Inferior to other IVIGs in Kawasaki disease<sup>136,137</sup></li> </ul>	
'Unmodified' Immunoglobulin Concentrates for Intravenous Use (the IVIGs)		
<ul> <li>Manufacturing entirely by one of the variations of the cold ethanol fractionation<sup>d</sup></li> <li>Manufacturing predominantly by chromatography<sup>63;138,139,e</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>IVIGS OBTAINED BY COLD ETHANOL FRACTIONATION</li> <li><i>Direct demonstration</i> of a wide range of NAb specificities (among others: see chapters of this book)</li> <li><i>Evidence based</i> support for presence of functional NAbs (among others: see chapters of this book)</li> <li>IVIGS MANUFACTURED PREDOMINANTLY BY COLUMN CHROMATOGRAPHY</li> <li><i>Direct demonstration of NAbs:</i></li> <li>Efficacy reported in a cell culture model of immune neuropathy<sup>140</sup></li> <li>Presence of Aβ<sub>1-42</sub> antibodies<sup>141</sup></li> <li>Anti-HLA antibodies and inhibition of C3 deposition<sup>142</sup></li> <li>Anti-α-synulcein antibodies<sup>143</sup></li> <li>Maturation of TLR 4-primed peripheral blood monocytes<sup>120</sup></li> <li>Antiinflammatory effect<sup>144</sup></li> <li>CD200-dependent suppression NK cell cytolytic activity in vitro<sup>145</sup></li> <li><i>Indirect evidence for or against functional</i> <i>NAbs from clinical trials:</i></li> <li>Case report of effect in fulminant myocarditis<sup>146</sup></li> <li>Randomized controlled study shows efficacy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating radiculoneuropathy<sup>64</sup></li> <li>Dose finding study shows no efficacy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis<sup>147</sup></li> </ul>	

Addendum (continued)

continued on next page

Addendum (continued)		
Type of Immunoglobulin Concentrate <sup>a</sup>	Hints and Reports for the Presence of Functional NAbs	
'Modern' Immunoglobulin Concentrates for Subcutaneous application		
Subcutaneous application of modern IVIGs in clinical trials <sup>148–151,e</sup>	<ul> <li>Direct demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>See 'unmodified' immunoglobulin concentrates for intravenous use</li> <li>Indirect evidence for or against functional NAbs from clinical trials</li> <li>Not reported</li> </ul>	
Developed for subcutaneous application exclusively <sup>152-156,f</sup>	<ul> <li>Direct demonstration of NAbs:</li> <li>See 'unmodified' IVIGs</li> <li>Indirect evidence for functional NAbs:</li> <li>Support for efficacy by results from treating chronic autoimmune and inflammatory conditions<sup>96-101,103-107,157,158</sup></li> </ul>	
AIHA: autoimmune hemolytic anemia		

ITP: Immune thrombocytopenia

NK cell: natural killer cell

PTP: post-transfusion purpura

TLR: toll-like receptor

<sup>a</sup>Parameters of early IgG concentrates can be obtained from Römer et al.<sup>159,160</sup>

<sup>b</sup>Provided as 16% solutions for clinical use

<sup>c</sup>Marketed to be used in a strength of 5% or 10%; irreversible chemical modification by β-propiolactone in order to achieve intravenous tolerability or partially reversible chemical modification by limited S-sulfonation or reduction/alkylation

<sup>d</sup>In clinical use in a range of strength of 3–12%; lyophilized or liquid formulation provided by several manufacturers

<sup>e</sup>Liquid prepartions for clinical use as 10% solutions

<sup>f</sup>Liquid preparations for subcutaneous application at 10%, 16% and 20% protein strength

### REFERENCES

- 1. Coutinho A. The self-nonself discrimination and the nature and acquisition of the antibody repertoire. Ann Immunol (Paris) 1980; 131D:235-53; PMID:7013649.
- 2. Dighiero G, Guilbert B, Avrameas S. Naturally occurring antibodies against nine common antigens in humans sera. II. High incidence of monoclonal Ig exhibiting antibody activity against actin and tubulin and sharing antibody specificities with natural antibodies. J Immunol 1982; 128:2788-92; PMID:6804567.
- 3. Lutz HU. [Elimination of old erythrocytes from the circulation: exposure of a cell-age specific antigen on aging erythrocytes] Elimination alter Erythrozyten aus der Zirkulation: Freilegung eines zellater-spezifischen Antigens auf alternden Erythrozyten. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1981; 111:1507-17; PMID:6171880.
- 4. Lutz HU, Wipf G. Naturally occurring autoantibodies to skeletal proteins from human red blood cells. J Immunol 1982; 128:1695-9; PMID:7061846.
- 5. Lutz HU, Bussolino F, Flepp R et al. Naturally occurring anti-band-3 antibodies and complement together mediate phagocytosis of oxidatively stressed human erythrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:7368-72; PMID:3313392; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.21.7368.
- 6. Ochsenbein AF, Fehr T, Lutz C et al. Control of early viral and bacterial distribution and disease by natural antibodies. Science 1999; 286:2156-9; PMID:10591647; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5447.2156.
- 7. Imbach P, Barandun S, D'Apuzzo V et al. High-dose intravenous gammaglobulin for idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in childhood. Lancet 1981; 1:1228-31; PMID:6112565; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(81)92400-4.

### Addandum (continued)

- Behring E, Kitasato S. Über das Zustandekommen der Diphtherie-Immunität und der Tetanus-Immunität bei Thieren. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1890; 16:1113-4; http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1207589.
- Gronski P, Seiler FR, Schwick HG. Discovery of antitoxins and development of antibody preparations for clinical uses from 1890 to 1990. Mol Immunol 1991; 28:1321-32; PMID:1749381; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0161-5890(91)90034-H.
- Hansen A. [Reinigung und Konzentrierung von Diphtherie-Antitoxin durch Adsorption nach Autolyse mit Pepsin. Biochemistry 1938; 299:377.
- Parfentjew IA. Inventors. Method for purification of antitoxins and the like. United States Patent Office patent 2,065,196. 1936.
- 12. Pope CG. Disaggregation of protein by enzymes. British Journal of experimental Pahtology 1938;19:245-251.
- Bruton OC, Apt L, Gitlin D et al. Absence of serum gamma-globulins. Ama Am J Dis Child 1952; 84:632; PMID:12984834.
- 14. Bruton OC. Agammaglobulinemia. Pediatrics 1952; 9:722-8; PMID:14929630.
- Cohn EJ, Strong LE, Hughes WLJ et al. Preparation and properties of serum and plasma proteins. IV: A system for the separation into fractions of the protein and lipoprotein components of biological tissues and fluids. J Am Chem Soc 1946; 68:459-75; PMID:21015743; http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja01207a034.
- 16. Oncley JL, Melin M, Richert DA et al. The separation of the antibodies, isoagglutinins, prothrombin, plasminogen and β1-lipoprotein into subfractions of human plasma. J Am Chem Soc 1949; 71:541-50; PMID:18112064; http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja01170a048.
- Cohn EJ. Blood proteins and their therapeutic value. Science 1945; 101:51-6; PMID:17840912; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.101.2612.51.
- Barandun S, Kistler P, Jeunet F et al. Intravenous administration of human γ-globulin. Vox Sang 1962; 7:157-74; PMID:13864762; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1962.tb03240.x.
- Janeway CA. The development of clinical uses of immunoglobulins: a review. In: Merler E, ed. Immunoglobulins Biological aspects and clinical uses. Washington D.C: National Academy of Sciences; 1970;3-14.
- Schultze HE, Schwick G. [On new possibilities of intravenous gamma globulin administration] Über neue Möglichkeiten intravenöser Gammaglobulin-Applikation. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1962; 87:1643-44; PMID:13909529; http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1113997.
- Schroeder DD, Dumas ML. A preparation of modified immune serum globulin (human) suitable for intravenous administration. Further characterization and comparison with pepsin-treated intravenous gamma globulin. Am J Med 1984; 76:33-9; PMID:6424455; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(84)90317-6.
- Sgouris JT. The preparation of plasmin-treated immune serum globulin for intravenous use. Vox Sang 1967; 13:71-84; PMID:4166592.
- Fernandes PM, Lundblad JL. Preparation of a stable intravenous gamma-globulin: process design and scale up. Vox Sang 1980; 39:101-12; PMID:6169202; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1980.tb01844.x.
- 24. Masuho Y, Tomibe K, Matsozawa K et al. Development of an intravenous γ-globulin with Fc activities. I. Preparation and characterization of S-sulfonated human γ-globulin. Vox Sang 1977; 32:175-81; PMID:67713; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1977.tb00622.x.
- Schroeder DD, Tankersley DL, Lundblad JL. A new preparation of modified immune serum globulin (human) suitable for intravenous administration. I. Standardization of the reduction and alkylation reaction. Vox Sang 1981; 40:373-82; PMID:7293114; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1981.tb00725.x.
- 26. Stephan W. [Elimination of complement fixation of γ-globulin by chemical modification with β-propiolactone] Beseitigung der Komplementfixierung von γ-Globulin durch chemische Modifizierung mit β-Propiolacton. Z Klin Chem Klin Biochem 1969; 7:282-6; PMID:4187787.
- Wright JK. Reduced immunoglobulin G activates complement system with decreased cooperativity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1978; 83:1284-90; PMID:697861; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0006-291X(78)91360-8.
- Schreiber JR, Barrus VA, Siber GR. Decreased protective efficacy of reduced and alkylated human immune serum globulin in experimental infection with Haemophilus influenzae type b. Infect Immun 1985; 47:142-8; PMID:3871195.
- von Muralt A. A life with several facets. Annu Rev Physiol 1984; 46:1-13; PMID:6370100; http://dx.doi. org/10.1146/annurev.ph.46.030184.000245.
- 30. Kistler P, Nitschmann H. Large scale production of human plasma fractions: Eight years experience with the alcohol fractionation procedure of Nitschmann, Kistler and Lergier. Vox Sang 1962; 7:414-24; PMID:14033119; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1962.tb03274.x.
- Nitschmann H, Kistler P, Lergier W. Vereinfachtes Verfahren zur Gewinnung von humanem Albumin und γ-Globulin aus Blutplasma mittels Alkoholfällung. Helv Chim Acta 1954; 37:866-73; http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/hlca.19540370327.
- Hässig A. 50 Jahre Blutspendedienst des Schweizerischen Roten Kreuzes. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1991; 121:156-9; PMID:2003212.

- 33. Stokes J, Gellis SS. Chemical, clinical, and immunological studies on the products of human plasma fractionation. XI. The use of concentrated normal human serum gammaglobulin (human immune serum globulin) in the prophylaxis and treatment of measles. J Clin Invest 1944; 23:531-40; PMID:16695129; http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI101518.
- 34. Barandun S, Büchler H, Hässig A. Agammaglobulinämie. Helv Med Acta 1955; 22:456-7.
- Barandun S, Büchler H, Hässig A. Das Antikörpermangelsyndrom Agammaglobulinämie. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1956; 86:33-8; PMID:13298668.
- 36. Schnorf J, Arnet B, Burek-Kozlowska A et al. Laboratory parameters measured during infusion of immunoglobulin preparations for intravenous use and related tolerability. In: Kazatchkine MD, Morell A, eds. Intravenous Immunoglobulin - Research and Therapy. London: The Parthenon Publishing Group; 1996;312-313.
- Spycher MO, Bolli R, Hodler G et al. Well-tolerated liquid intravenous immunoglobulin G preparations (IVGG) have a low immunoglobulin G dimer (IgG-dimer) content. J Autoimmun 1999; 96(Suppl. 1):S96A.
- Buchacher A, Schluga P, Mullner J et al. Anticomplementary activity of IVIG concentrates Important assay parameters and impact of IgG polymers. Vox Sang 2010; 98:e209-18; PMID:20432511; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2009.01271.x.
- Barandun S, Isliker H. The development of immunoglobulin preparations for intravenous use. Vox Sang 1986; 51:157-60; PMID:3535252; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1986.tb00235.x.
- Gugler E. Die kindlichen Thrombopenien. In: Rossi E, ed. Pädiatrischer Fortbildungskurs Blutkrankheiten im Kindesalter. Basel: Karger; 1964;11-12.
- Barandun S, Imbach P, Morell A et al. Clinical indications for immunoglobulin infusions. In: Nydegger UE, ed. Immunohemotherapy. A guide to immunglobulin prophylaxis and therapy. London: Academic Press; 1981;275-282.
- Harrington WJ, Minnich V, Hollingsworth JW et al. Demonstration of a thrombocytopenic factor in the blood of patients with thrombocytopenic purpura. J Lab Clin Med 1951; 38:1-10; PMID:14850832.
- 43. Shulman NR, Marder VJ, Weinrach RS. Similarities between known antiplatelet antibodies and the factor responsible for thrombocytopenia in idiopathic purpura. Physiologic, serologic and isotopic studies. Ann NY Acad Sci 1965; 124:499-542; PMID:5214832; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1965.tb18984.x.
- 44. Sultan Y, Kazatchkine MD, Maisonneuve P et al. Anti-idiotypic suppression of autoantibodies to factor VIII (antihaemophilic factor) by high dose intravenous gammaglobulin. Lancet 1984; 2:765-8; PMID:6148519; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)90701-3.
- 45. Hässig A. Antigenanalytische Untersuchungen an Paraproteinen. Fortschr Med 1962; 80:151-8.
- Provan D, Nokes TJC, Agrawal S et al. Clinical Guidelines for immunoglobulin use. 2nd, 1-91. 2008. London, UK, UK Department of Health.
- Baumgarth N, Tung JW, Herzenberg LA. Inherent specificities in natural antibodies: a key to immune defense against pathogen invasion. Springer Semin Immunopathol 2005; 26:347-62; PMID:15633017; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00281-004-0182-2.
- Hofman FM, Danilovs J, Husmann L et al. Ontogeny of B cell markers in the human fetal liver. J Immunol 1984; 133:1197-201; PMID:6430996.
- Solvason N, Kearney JF. The human fetal omentum: a site of B cell generation. J Exp Med 1992; 175:397-404; PMID:1370683; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.175.2.397.
- Gathings WE, Lawton AR, Cooper MD. Immunofluorescent studies of the development of pre-B cells, B lymphocytes and immunoglobulin isotype diversity in humans. Eur J Immunol 1977; 7:804-10; PMID:412679; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830071112.
- Kamps WA, Cooper MD. Microenvironmental studies of pre-B and B cell development in human and mouse fetuses. J Immunol 1982; 129:526-31; PMID:6806373.
- 52. Zhou ZH, Notkins AL. Polyreactive antigen-binding B (PAB-) cells are widely distributed and the PAB population consists of both B-1+ and B-1- phenotypes. Clin Exp Immunol 2004; 137:88-100; PMID:15196248; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02511.x.
- Casali P, Schettino EW. Structure and function of natural antibodies. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1996; 210:167-79; PMID:8565555.
- Feeney AJ. Lack of N regions in fetal and neonatal mouse immunoglobulin V-D-J junctional sequences. J Exp Med 1990; 172:1377-90; PMID:1700054; http://dx.doi.org/10.1084/jem.172.5.1377.
- Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. Nat Rev Immunol 2011; 11:34-46; PMID:21151033; http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri2901.
- Bofill M, Janossy G, Janossa M et al. Human B cell development. II. Subpopulations in the human fetus. J Immunol 1985; 134:1531-8; PMID:3871452.
- Bhat NM, Kantor AB, Bieber MM et al. The ontogeny and functional characteristics of human B-1 (CD5+ B) cells. Int Immunol 1992; 4:243-52; PMID:1377947; http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/intimm/4.2.243.

- Donze HH, Lue C, Julian BA et al. Human peritoneal B-1 cells and the influence of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis on peritoneal and peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) composition and immunoglobulin levels. Clin Exp Immunol 1997; 109:356-61; PMID:9276533; http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-2249.1997.4541352.x.
- 59. Laub R, Baurin S, Timmerman D et al. Specific protein content of pools of plasma for fractionation from different sources: impact of frequency of donations. Vox Sang 2010; 99:220-31; PMID:20840337; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2010.01345.x.
- Fernandez-Cruz E, Kaveri SV, Peter HH et al. 6th International Immunoglobulin Symposium: Poster presentations. Clin Exp Immunol 2009; 158:60-7; PMID:19883425; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2249.2009.04028.x.
- Gronski P, Haas T, Kanzy EJ et al. Indications of neutralising anti-idiotypic antibodies and selective proteolytic fragmentation in polyclonal anti-D IgG preparations. Biologicals 2003; 31:191-201; PMID:12935808; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1045-1056(03)00057-5.
- Stucki M, Moudry R, Kempf C et al. Characterisation of a chromatographically produced anti-D immunoglobulin product. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 1997; 700:241-8; PMID:9390735; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4347(97)00319-8.
- 63. Bertolini J. Chromatographic purification of immunoglobulins. Downstream 1998; 31:21-2.
- 64. Hughes RAC, Donofrio P, Bril V et al. Intravenous immune globulin (10% caprylate-chromatography purified) for the treatment of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (ICE study): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol 2008; 7:136-44; PMID:18178525; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70329-0.
- Stucki M, Schäfer W, Hostettler T et al. Pathogen safety of a new 20% liquid immunoglobulin product. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123:S89; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.12.314.
- 66. Waller C. Historical perspective on blood & plasma products, the stakeholders and the issues. In: Valverde JL, ed. Blood, Plasma and Plasma proteins: A Unique Contribution to Modern Health Care. Volume 7, 2005,2006 ed. Amsterdam, NL: IOS Press; 2006;7-19.
- Jelezarova E, Lutz HU. Assembly and regulation of the complement amplification loop in blood: the role of C3b-C3b-IgG complexes. Mol Immunol 1999; 36:837-42; PMID:10698337; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0161-5890(99)00104-2.
- Lutz HU, Stammler P, Jelezarova E et al. High doses of immunoglobulin G attenuate immune aggregate-mediated complement activation by enhancing physiologic cleavage of C3b in C3bn-IgG complexes. Blood 1996; 88:184-93; PMID:8704173.
- 69. Lutz HU, Stammler P, Bianchi V et al. Intravenously applied IgG stimulates complement attenuation in a complement-dependent autoimmune disease at the amplifying C3 convertase level. Blood 2004; 103:465-72; PMID:14512320; http://dx.doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-05-1530.
- Borte M, Davies SV, Touraine JL et al. Clinical properties of a novel liquid intravenous immunoglobulin: studies in patients with immune thrombocytopenic purpura and primary immunodeficiencies. Transfus Med Hemother 2004; 31:126-34; http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000079071.
- Simon HU, Späth PJ. IVIG Mechanisms of action. Allergy 2003; 58:543-52; PMID:12823109; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1034/j.1398-9995.2003.00239.x.
- Roux KH, Tankersley DL. A view of the human idiotypic repertoire Electron microscopic and immunologic analyses of spontaneous idiotype-anti-idiotype dimers in pooled human IgG. J Immunol 1990; 144:1387-95; PMID:2303712.
- Tankersley DL, Preston MS, Finlayson JS. Immunoglobulin G dimer: An idiotype-anti-idiotype complex. Mol Immunol 1988; 25:41-8; PMID:3343971; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0161-5890(88)90088-0.
- 74. Gronski P. IgG dimers in multidonor-derived immunoglobulins: Aspects of generation and function. Curr Pharm Des 2006; 12:181-90; PMID:16454735; http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/138161206775193154.
- Gronski P, Schridde C, Forsterling HD. Polyreactive antibodies in multidonor-derived immunoglobulin G: theory and conclusions drawn from experiments. Immunobiology 2010; 215:356-69; PMID:19592128; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2009.06.015.
- Wright JK, Tschopp J, Jaton JC et al. Dimeric, trimeric and tetrameric complexes of immunoglobulin G fix complement. Biochem J 1980; 187:775-80; PMID:6985362.
- Kroez M, Kanzy EJ, Gronski P et al. Hypotension with intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: importance of pH and dimer formation. Biologicals 2003; 31:277-86; PMID:14624798; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. biologicals.2003.09.001.
- 78. Schaub A, Wymann S, Heller M et al. Self-reactivity in the dimeric intravenous immunoglobulin fraction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007; 1110:681-93; PMID:17911483; http://dx.doi.org/10.1196/annals.1423.071.
- Schaub A, Von Gunten S, Vogel M et al. Dimeric IVIG contains natural anti-Siglec-9 autoantibodies and their anti-idiotypes. Allergy 2011; 66:1030-7; PMID:21385183; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02579.x.

- Wymann S, Ghielmetti M, Schaub A et al. Monomerization of dimeric IgG of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) increases the antibody reactivity against intracellular antigens. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:2621-8; PMID:18280568; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2007.12.020.
- 80a. Wymann S, Zürcher AW, Schaub A et al. Monomeric and dimeric IgG fractions show differential reactivity against pathogen-derived antigens. Scand J Immunol 2011;74:31-41; PMID: 21338382; http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02537.x.
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory actions of intravenous immunoglobulin. Annu Rev Immunol 2008; 26:513-33; PMID:18370923; http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090232.
- Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation. Science 2006; 313:670-3; PMID:16888140; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1129594.
- Stadlmann J, Weber A, Pabst M et al. A close look at human IgG sialylation and subclass distribution after lectin fractionation. Proteomics 2009; 9:4143-53; PMID:19688751; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ pmic.200800931.
- Anthony RM, Nimmerjahn F, Ashline DJ et al. Recapitulation of IVIG anti-inflammatory activity with a recombinant IgG Fc. Science 2008; 320:373-6; PMID:18420934; http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.1154315.
- 85. Bayry J, Bansal K, Kazatchkine MD et al. DC-SIGN and α2,6-sialylated IgG Fc interaction is dispensable for the anti-inflammatory activity of IVIg on human dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106:E24; PMID:19237553; http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900016106.
- Scallon BJ, Tam SH, McCarthy SG et al. Higher levels of sialylated Fc glycans in immunoglobulin G molecules can adversely impact functionality. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:1524-34; PMID:17045339; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2006.09.005.
- Godeau B, Caulier MT, Decuypere L et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin for adults with autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura: results of a randomized trial comparing 0.5 and 1 g/kg bw. Br J Haematol 1999; 107:716-9; PMID:10606875; http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01766.x.
- Benesch M, Kerbl R, Lackner H et al. Low-dose versus high-dose immunoglobulin for primary treatment of acute immune thrombocytopenic purpura in children: results of a prospective, randomized single-center trial. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2003; 25:797-800; PMID:14528103; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00043426-200310000-00011.
- Blanchette V, Imbach P, Andrew M et al. Randomised trial of intravenous immunoglobulin G, intravenous anti-D, and oral prednisone in childhood acute immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Lancet 1994; 344:703-7; PMID:7915773; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92205-5.
- Heath J, Goldman FD. Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in a boy with ataxia telangiectasia on immunoglobulin replacement therapy. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2010; 32:e25-7; PMID:20051773; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1097/MPH.0b013e3181bf29b6.
- Michel M, Chanet V, Galicier L et al. Autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura and common variable immunodeficiency: analysis of 21 cases and review of the literature. Medicine (Baltimore) 2004; 83:254-63; PMID:15232313; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.md.0000133624.65946.40.
- Wang J, Cunningham-Rundles C. Treatment and outcome of autoimmune hematologic disease in common variable immunodeficiency (CVID). J Autoimmun 2005; 25:57-62; PMID:15994061; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jaut.2005.04.006.
- Shulman ST. IVGG therapy in Kawasaki disease: mechanism(s) of action. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1989; 53:S141-6; PMID:2477184; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0090-1229(89)90079-2.
- 94. Yeo JS, Choi JW. Effectiveness of medium-dose intravenous immunoglobulin (1 g/kg) in the treatment of Kawasaki Disease. Korean Circ J 2010; 40:81-5; PMID:20182593; http://dx.doi.org/10.4070/ kcj.2010.40.2.81.
- Barron KS, Murphy DJ Jr., Silverman ED et al. Treatment of Kawasaki syndrome: a comparison of two dosage regimens of intravenously administered immune globulin. J Pediatr 1990; 117:638-44; PMID:2213395; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(05)80707-3.
- Danieli MG, Pettinari L, Moretti R et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin in polymyositis and dermatomyositis: A novel application. Autoimmun Rev 2011; 10:144-9; PMID:20858553; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. autrev.2010.09.004.
- 97. Eftimov F, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy for multifocal motor neuropathy. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2009; 14:93-100; PMID:19691531; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1529-8027.2009.00218.x.
- Harbo T, Andersen H, Jakobsen J. Long-term therapy with high doses of subcutaneous immunoglobulin in multifocal motor neuropathy. Neurology 2010; 75:1377-80; PMID:20938030; http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181f735ce.
- Köller H, Schroeter M, Feischen H et al. Subcutaneous self-infusions of immunoglobulins as a potential therapeutic regimen in immune-mediated neuropathies. J Neurol 2006; 253:1505-6; PMID:16972122; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00415-006-0258-0.

- 100. Kuitwaard K, van Doorn PA. Newer therapeutic options for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Drugs 2009; 69:987-1001; PMID:19496628; http://dx.doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200969080-00004.
- 101. Lee DH, Linker RA, Paulus W et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin infusion: A new therapeutic option in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Muscle Nerve 2008; 37:406-9; PMID:17918749; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.20909.
- 102. Misbah SA, Baumann A, Fazio R et al. A smooth transition protocol for patients with multifocal motor neuropathy going from intravenous to subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy: an open-label proof-ofconcept study. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2011;16:92-7; PMID:21692906; http://dx.doi.org/1111/j.1529-8027.2011.00330.x.
- 103. Schleinitz N, Jean E, Benarous L et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin administration: An alternative to intravenous infusion as adjuvant treatment for dermatomyositis? Clin Rheumatol 2008; 27:1067-8; PMID:18463936; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10067-008-0892-2.
- 104. Sladky JT. What is the best initial treatment for childhood chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: Corticosteroids or intravenous immunoglobulin? Muscle Nerve 2008; 38:1638-43; PMID:19016535; http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.21058.
- 105. Tayal U, Burton J, Dash C et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy for immunomodulation in a patient with severe epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. Clin Immunol 2008; 129:518-9; PMID:18848500; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2008.08.003.
- 106. van Schaik IN. What's new in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy in 2007-2008? J Peripher Nerv Syst 2008; 13:258-60; PMID:19192063; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1529-8027.2008.00189.x.
- Woodall A, Jones S. Switching to home-based SCIg for multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN). Br J Nurs 2010; 19(Suppl 5):S27-31.
- Berger M, Cupps TR, Fauci AS. Immunoglobulin replacement therapy by slow subcutaneous infusion. Ann Intern Med 1980; 93:55-6; PMID:7396316.
- 109. Chapel HM, Spickett GP, Ericson D et al. The comparison of the efficacy and safety of intravenous versus subcutaneous immunoglobulin replacement therapy. J Clin Immunol 2000; 20:94-100; PMID:10821460; http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1006678312925.
- 110. Gardulf A, Hammarström L, Smith CIE. Home treatment of hypogammaglobulinaemia with subcutaneous gammaglobulin by rapid infusion. Lancet 1991; 338:162-6; PMID:1712881; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016 /0140-6736(91)90147-H.
- 111. Gardulf A, Andersson E, Lindqvist M et al. Rapid subcutaneous IgG replacement therapy at home for pregnant immunodeficient women. J Clin Immunol 2001; 21:150-4; PMID:11332654; http://dx.doi. org/10.1023/A:1011051704960.
- 112. Gaspar J, Gerritsen B, Jones A. Immunoglobulin replacement treatment by rapid subcutaneous infusion. Arch Dis Child 1998; 79:48-51; PMID:9771252; http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/adc.79.1.48.
- 113. Van Beem R, Damen A, Zoethout R et al. Retrospective analysis on clinical experiences with subcutaneous administration of GammaQuin®. Vox Sang 2010; 99(Suppl S1):238-9; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2010.01343\_2.x.
- 114. Vermeulen M, van Schaik IN, Brand A. Anti-D immunoglobulin treatment in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995; 58:383-4; PMID:7897433; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.58.3.383-a.
- 115. Mascarin M, Ventura A. Anti-Rh(D) immunoglobulin for autoimmune neutropenia of infancy. Acta Paediatr 1993; 82:142-4; PMID:8386573; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.1993.tb12625.x.
- 116. Blockmans D, Deckmyn H, Pieters G et al. Commercially available intravenous immunoglobulins (IV Ig's) inhibit binding of anti-glycoprotein (GP)IIb-IIIa antibodies to their antigens in chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) patients. Thromb Haemost 1991; 65:1065.
- 117. Greinacher A, Möckel M, Mueller-Eckhardt C. [Inhibition of FcRII by intravenously applicable immunnoglobulin is dependent on the mode how to achieve intravenous tolerance] Die Hemmung des FcRII durch intravenös applizierbares IgG ist abhängig vom Herstellungsverfahren der Immunglobuline. Beitr Infusionsther Transfusionsmed 1994; 32:211-3; PMID:9480090.
- 118. Dietrich H. [Report on the experience in the treatment of septic diseases with Gamma-Venin] Erfahrungsbericht bei der Behandlung septischer Erkrankunger mit Gamma-Venin. Dtsch Med J 1966; 17:709-10; PMID:4167085.
- 119. Fumia S, Goede JS, Fischler M et al. Human F(ab')<sub>2</sub>-containing immune complexes together with anti-hinge natural antibodies stimulate complement amplification in vitro and in vivo. Mol Immunol 2008; 45:2951-61; PMID:18339427; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2008.01.029.
- Ballow M, Allen C. Intravenous immunoglobulin modulates the maturation of TLR 4-primed peripheral blood monocytes. Clin Immunol 2011; 139:208-14; PMID:21406333; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. clim.2011.02.006.

- 121. Abe T, Matsuda J, Kawasugi K et al. Clinical effect of intravenous immunoglobulin on chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. Blut 1983; 47:69-75; PMID:6683578; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02482640.
- 122. Burdach SE, Evers KG, Geursen RG. Treatment of acute idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura of childhood with intravenous immunoglobulin G: comparative efficacy of 7S and 5S preparations. J Pediatr 1986; 109:770-5; PMID:2430084; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(86)80691-6.
- 123. Laosombat V, Wiriyasateinkul A, Wongchanchailert M. Intravenous gamma globulin for treatment of chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in children. J Med Assoc Thai 2000; 83:160-8; PMID:10710885.
- 124. Fateh-Moghadam A, Wick M, Besinger U et al. High-dose intravenous gammaglobulin for myasthenia gravis. Lancet 1984; 1:848-9; PMID:6200741; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92294-3.
- 125. Dammacco F, Iodice G, Campobasso N. Treatment of adult patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura with intravenous immunoglobulin: effects on circulating T cell subsets and PWM-induced antibody synthesis in vitro. Br J Haematol 1986; 62:125-35; PMID:3484633; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1986. tb02908.x.
- 126. Emmerich B, Hiller E, Woitinas F et al. Dose-response relationship in the treatment of idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura with intravenous immunoglobulin. Klin Wochenschr 1987; 65:369-72; PMID:3295380; http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01745575.
- 127. Follea G, Souillet G, Clerc M et al. Intravenous plasmin-treated gammaglobulin therapy in idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol 1985; 27:5-10; PMID:3157922.
- 128. Bussel A, Jaisson F, Janvier M et al. [Use of high-dose intravenous gamma globulins in the treatment of autoimmune hemolytic anemia] Utilisation des gammaglobulines intraveineuses a fortes doses dans le traitement des anémies hémolytiques auto-immunes. Presse Med 1983; 12:2628; PMID:6197710.
- 129. Hsu CH, Chen MR, Hwang FY et al. Efficacy of plasmin-treated intravenous gamma-globulin for therapy of Kawasaki syndrome. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1993; 12:509-12; PMID:8345983; http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/00006454-199306000-00010.
- 130. Gronski P, Hofstaetter T, Kanzy EJ et al. S-Sulfonation: a reversible chemical modification of human immunoglobulin permitting intravenous application. I. Physicochemical and binding properties of S-sulfonated and reconstituted IgG. Vox Sang 1983; 45:144-54; PMID:6604365; http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.1983.tb01899.x.
- Furusho K, Kamiya T, Nakano H et al. High-dose intravenous gammaglobulin for Kawasaki disease. Lancet 1984; 2(8411):1055-8; PMID: 6209513.
- 132. Brandstetter H, Hauser H, Stünkel S. Polyradikulitis Gullain-Barré: Verlauf bei einem 2 jährigen Mädchen unter Immunglobulintherapie. Pädiat Prax 1993; 45:253-5.
- Schmidt RE, Budde U, Broschen Zywietz C et al. High-dose gammaglobulin therapy in adults with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), clinical effects. Blut 1984; 48:19-25; PMID:6197117; http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00320713.
- 134. Becker T, Panzer S, Maas D et al. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin for post-transfusion purpura. Br J Haematol 1985; 61:149-55; PMID:4052323; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1985.tb04071.x.
- 135. al-Qudah AA. Immunoglobulins in the treatment of Guillain-Barré syndrome in early childhood. J Child Neurol 1994; 9:178-80; PMID:8006371; http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/088307389400900215.
- 136. Stiehm ER. Lessons from Kawasaki disease: All brands of IVIG are not equal. J Pediatr 2006; 148:6-8; PMID:16423589; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.09.019.
- 137. Tsai MH, Huang YC, Yen MH et al. Clinical responses of patients with Kawasaki disease to different brands of intravenous immunoglobulin. J Pediatr 2006; 148:38-43; PMID:16423595; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.08.024.
- 138. Cramer M, Frei R, Sebald A et al. Stability over 36 months of a new liquid 10% polyclonal immunoglobulin product (IgPro10, Privigen(c)) stabilized with L-proline. Vox Sang 2009; 96:219-25; PMID:19207169; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2008.01143.x.
- Roifman CM, Schroeder H, Berger M et al. Comparison of the efficacy of IGIV-C, 10% (caprylate/ chromatography) and IGIV-SD, 10% as replacement therapy in primary immune deficiency. A randomized double-blind trial. Int Immunopharmacol 2003; 3:1325-33; PMID:12890430; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S1567-5769(03)00134-6.
- 140. Zhang G, Lopez PHH, Sheikh KA. Comparison of different brands of IVIg in an in vitro model of immune neuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 2006; 173:200-3; PMID:16413615; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jneuroim.2005.12.001.
- 141. Klaver AC, Finke JM, Digambaranath J et al. Antibody concentrations to Aβ1-42 monomer and soluble oligomers in untreated and antibody-antigen-dissociated intravenous immunoglobulin preparations. Int Immunopharmacol 2010; 10:115-9; PMID:19840873; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2009.10.005.
- 142. Machimoto T, Guerra G, Burke G et al. Effect of IVIG administration on complement activation and HLA antibody levels. Transpl Int 2010; 23:1015-22; PMID:20412537; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1432-2277.2010.01088.x.

- 143. Patrias LM, Klaver AC, Coffey MP et al. Specific antibodies to soluble alpha-synuclein conformations in intravenous immunoglobulin preparations. Clin Exp Immunol 2010; 161:527-35; PMID:20646004; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04214.x.
- 144. Elluru S, Van Huyen JPD, Bayry J et al. Comparative study of the anti-inflammatory effect of two intravenous immunoglobulin preparations manufactured by different processes. Immunol Lett 2006; 107:58-62; PMID:16952403; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2006.07.009.
- 145. Clark DA, Wong K, Banwatt D et al. CD200-dependent and nonCD200-dependant pathways of NK cell suppression by human IVIG. J Assist Reprod Genet 2008; 25:67-72; PMID:18256920; http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s10815-008-9202-9.
- 146. Nalli C, Couture C, Bernier M et al. A rare case of fulminant myocarditis succesfully treated with immunoglobulin therapy. Am J Case Rep 2010; 11:166-8.
- 147. Fazekas F, Lublin FD, Li D et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a dose-finding trial. Neurology 2008; 71:265-71; PMID:18645164; http://dx.doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000318281.98220.6f.
- Desai SH, Chouksey A, Poll J et al. A pilot study of equal doses of 10% IGIV given intravenously or subcutaneously. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 124:854-6; PMID:19767071; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jaci.2009.07.051.
- 149. Leibl H, Wasserman RL, Melamed I et al. Pharmacokinetic analysis (PK) of immune globulin subcutaneous (human), 10% (IGSC) administered intravenously or subcutaneously in subjects with primary immunodeficiency diseases (PIDD). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; 127:AB17; http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.077.
- 150. Levy R, Chen J, Roberts R et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of subcutaneous immune globulin (human), 10% caprylate/chromatography purified (IGIV-C) in patients with primary immunodeficiency disease (PID). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125:AB140; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.549.
- 151. Wasserman RL, Irani AM, Tracy J et al. Pharmacokinetics and safety of subcutaneous immune globulin (human), 10% caprylate/chromatography purified in patients with primary immunodeficiency disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2010; 161:518-26; PMID:20550549; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04195.x.
- 152. Epsom M, Tang MLK, Rozen L et al. Evogam, the first locally produced SCIG; A study of efficacy, safety, and acceptablity in PID. 22nd Annual Scientific Meeting - Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology & Allergy (ASCIA); 11 Sep 7-11 Sep 9.
- 153. Fasth A, Nystrom J. Safety and efficacy of subcutaneous human immunoglobulin in children with primary immunodeficiency. Acta Paediatr 2007; 96:1474-8; PMID:17850391; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1651-2227.2007.00485.x.
- 154. Gardulf A, Nicolay U, Math D et al. Children and adults with primary antibody deficiencies gain quality of life by subcutaneous IgG self-infusions at home. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114:936-42; PMID:15480339; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2004.06.053.
- 155. Knight E, Carne E, Novak B et al. Self-administered hyaluronidase-facilitated subcutaneous immunoglobulin home therapy in a patient with primary immunodeficiency. J Clin Pathol 2010; 63:846-7; PMID:20671049; http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jcp.2010.076828.
- 156. Maeder W, Lieby P, Sebald A et al. Local tolerance and stability up to 24 months of a new 20% proline-stabilized polyclonal immunoglobulin for subcutaneous administration. Biologicals 2011; 39:43-9; PMID:21257320; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2010.11.004.
- 157. Cocito D, Serra G, Falcone Y et al. The efficacy of subcutaneous immunoglobulin administration in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy responders to intravenous immunoglobulin. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2011; 16:150-2; PMID:21692916; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8027.2011.00340.x.
- 158. Misbah SA, Baumann A, Fazio R et al. A smooth transition protocol for patients with multifocal motor neuropathy going from intravenous to subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy: an open-label proof-of-concept study. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2011; 16:92-7; PMID:21692906; http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1529-8027.2011.00330.x.
- 159. Römer J, Morgenthaler JJ, Scherz R et al. Characterization of various immunoglobulin preparations for intravenous application. I. Protein composition and antibody content. Vox Sang 1982; 42:62-73; PMID:6977944.
- 160. Römer J, Späth PJ, Skvaril F et al. Characterization of various immunoglobulin preparations for intravenous application. II. Complement activation and binding to staphylococcus protein A. Vox Sang 1982; 42:74-80; PMID:6461133.

## INDEX

## **Symbols**

β2-glycoprotein I 177, 178 β-amyloid (Aβ) 4-6, 52, 53, 62, 64, 68, 91-96, 133, 146, 147, 153, 161, 177, 194

## A

Adaptive selection 58, 60 Allergic disease 164, 168, 169 Alternative complement pathway (AP) 84, 85, 180, 187, 188, 191 Alzheimer disease 3, 44, 52, 53, 58, 64, 68, 91, 95, 96 Anemia 78, 85, 86, 254 Anergy 149, 231 Anion transport protein 76, 119, see also Band 3 Annexin IV 177-179 Anti-band 3 NAb 76, 78-87 Anticardiolipin 14, 15 Anti-DNA autoantibody 151 Antigen clique 203 Antigen microarray chip 198, 208 Anti-hinge NAb 186, 189-191, 193, 194 Anti-idiotypic network 210 Anti-thymocyte autoantibody (ATA) 227-236 Anti-tumor cytotoxic antibody 28, 34, 35, 39

Apoptosis 3, 4, 15-17, 22, 27, 32, 36-38, 45, 103, 124, 157-159, 161, 162, 164, 165, 167, 178, 227, 235 Apoptotic cell 5-9, 14-23, 78, 175, 178 clearance 19, 20 Arthritis 14, 22, 23, 44, 48, 49, 118, 122, 123, 137, 141, 161, 162 Atherosclerosis 2, 3, 4, 9, 10, 178 Autoantibody (autoAb) 4, 10, 14, 19, 23, 28, 30, 44, 45, 52, 53, 63-65, 76, 77, 82, 85, 86, 91-93, 95, 96, 100, 106, 116-121, 124, 125, 127, 128, 133, 136, 137, 141, 145, 146, 148, 149, 151-154, 157, 161, 163-165, 167, 168, 174, 198-205, 208-210, 213, 221, 227-230, 232, 234-236, 239, 243 Autoantigen 20, 28, 30, 56, 58, 59, 61, 63, 65, 145-149, 151-154, 187, 191, 194, 210, 222, 227, 229 Autoimmune disease 7, 22, 23, 56, 58, 61, 63, 65-68, 105, 127, 137, 146, 151, 168, 181, 193, 199, 209, 211, 243 Autoimmunity 3, 14, 47, 64, 121, 146, 148, 150, 199, 209 Autoreactive B lymphocyte 101, 117, 145, 147-149, 151, 154, 227, 229,

232, 236

## B

- B-1 B cell 29, 93, 175, 176, 227-232, 234-236
- Bacterial and viral infection 100, 101, 109
- Band 3 76, 78-87, 119, see also Anion transport protein
- B cell 7, 9, 14-18, 23, 29, 30, 35, 39, 44, 48, 49, 56-60, 62, 65-67, 69-71, 93, 101, 117, 122, 125-127, 137, 145-177, 190, 199, 208, 209, 214, 217, 227-236, 244 development 146, 147, 149, 227, 231-233, 235, 236 ontogeny 146, 148, 154 positive selection 147 receptor (BCR) 9, 56, 60, 65, 66,
- 69-71, 126, 147, 149-153, 190, 217, 227, 230-236 superantigen 56, 57, 65, 66 tolerance 148, 151, 231, 235
- Biomarker 3, 10, 199, 208, 210
- Blood brain barrier (BBB) 50 Bone marrow 22, 34, 93, 102, 136, 148,
- 149, 157, 161, 227, 230-235, 244

## С

Clg 7, 16, 19-22, 94, 179-181 C3 19, 20, 22, 38, 76, 77, 81, 84, 85, 87, 103, 125, 126, 176, 179-181, 186-192, 194, 247, 248, 253 Carbohydrate antigen 27, 30, 31, 34, 39 Cardiovascular disease 10, 177 Catalytic antibody 56, 60-69, 71, 72 CCR5 (CD195) 70, 104-107 CD90 see Thy-1 Cellular senescence 78 Classical complement pathway 14, 21, 84, 179, 182, 187 Class switching 151 Clinical trial 45, 46, 48, 95, 96, 109, 193, 250-254 Clinical use 240, 243, 250, 254 Clonal selection 17, 59, 60, 65 Clostridium difficile 101

Complement 8, 14, 19-22, 27, 36, 38, 39, 45, 76, 83-85, 87, 94, 102, 103, 109, 116, 117, 125-127, 174-182, 186-194, 216, 219, 221, 222, 242, 247, 248 activation 19, 20, 36, 84, 102, 103, 127, 174-182, 186, 187, 191, 194, 242 amplification 76, 83-85, 87, 180, 181, 186-193 receptor 2 (CR2/CD21) 125, 126, 175, 176, 178, 180 Constitutive antibody 56, 58, 59, 66, 72 Cytokine 19, 21, 22, 45, 60, 94, 102, 105, 116-124, 127, 128, 134-139, 150, 158, 159, 161, 163-165, 167, 168, 175, 186, 187, 217, 222, 242, 249 Cytomegalovirus (CMV) 101, 102, 104 Cytoskeleton 47, 79, 80

## D

Danger associated molecular pattern (DAMP) 3 DC-SIGN 105-107, 136, 137, 249 Dendritic cell (DC) 14, 20-22, 38, 104-107, 125, 133-139, 141, 142, 199, 249, 252 Dengue virus (DV) 102, 103 Disease-associated autoantibody (DAb) 116-118, 121-128, 145, 146, 153, 154 Driver antigen 208, 210

## E

Elastase 191-193 Electrophilic antigen 71 Epitope 2-10, 16, 27, 28, 30, 31, 36, 39, 56, 58, 62, 64, 66, 67, 69-71, 92-95, 107, 126-128, 141, 177, 190, 199, 208, 210, 215-219, 222, 228, 229, 236 Epstein Barr virus (EBV) 44, 48, 49, 214

Excessive complement activation 180, 186, 187, 191, 194

264

## F

F(ab')2 50, 84, 135, 136, 165, 186, 187, 189-194, 240
Fas 36, 105, 157-159, 161, 163-165, 167, 168
Fc receptor 45, 68, 94, 102, 190
Fcγ receptor IIB (FcγRIIB) 126, 249
Fcγ receptor III (FcγRIII) 135, 137, 138
Fetal liver 17, 230, 234
Follicular B cell 93, 146, 176, 228, 230-232, 234, 236
Fractionation 45, 68, 239, 241, 242, 244-249, 251, 253

methods of plasma 68, 241, 242

## G

- Germinal center 217
- Germline 2, 5-7, 10, 17, 27, 28, 45, 56, 57, 60-62, 65, 66, 76, 77, 145, 146, 153, 176, 190, 214, 215, 217, 218, 228, 236
- Glycoprotein 15, 16, 19, 28, 31, 32, 34, 78, 79, 94, 105, 147, 159, 177, 178, 180, 228
- Glycosylation 31, 32, 34, 36, 94, 216, 228, 249
- gp120 56, 66, 67, 70, 71, 105-107, 136 Granulocyte 116, 118, 120, 121, 123, 157-159, 161, 164, 165, 167-169

## Η

- Homeostasis 2, 16, 22, 45, 52, 56, 58, 59, 61, 72, 76, 95, 101, 102, 116, 128, 147, 157, 168, 210, 211, 232, 239
- Human antibody 47, 48, 95, 175, 181 Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) 18, 56, 58, 66, 67, 69-71, 104-109, 118, 123, 136, 150, 216, 217 HIV infection 58, 66, 67, 69, 104-108, 118, 123
- Hypoxia 174, 175, 187, 222

## I

Immune complex 19, 20, 22, 23, 61-63, 68, 71, 85, 116, 117, 121, 126, 135, 137, 138, 151, 152, 186-188, 191-194, 216, 222, 233 network 199, 204, 205, 211 tree 204, 205 Immunization 4, 7, 9, 23, 47, 52, 60, 69, 70-72, 100, 140, 205, 240, 244, 245 Immunoglobulin G (IgG) 4, 6, 10, 14, 18, 19, 22, 23, 30, 31, 33, 34, 44, 45, 47, 48, 50-52, 57, 62, 63, 65, 67, 68, 71, 76-87, 92-95, 100-102, 104-106, 117, 119-125, 127, 128, 133, 134, 136-142, 146, 148-152, 165, 181, 186-191, 193, 194, 198, 200-205, 207-209, 214, 216, 218-223, 239-252, 254 IgG-dimer 138, 242, 248 Immunoglobulin M (IgM) 2-10, 14-16, 18-23, 27, 29, 30, 33-36, 38, 39, 44, 45, 47-53, 57, 62, 63, 66, 68, 77, 83, 84, 86, 92, 93, 100, 102, 117, 119, 123, 125-127, 133, 146, 148-150, 175-178, 180, 181, 187, 198, 201-205, 207-210, 214, 216, 222, 223, 228, 230-232, 244 IgM antibody 2, 4, 6, 8-10, 14, 18, 22, 23, 27, 29, 35, 36, 39, 63, 66, 123, 127, 201-203 Immunological homunculus 198, 199, 209, 210 Immunomodulation 250 Immunoregulation 116 Immunosuppression 104 Induced polyspecificity 213, 214, 217-219, 221-223 Infection 5, 15, 16, 19, 29, 30, 35, 47, 56-59, 61, 65-69, 72, 86, 100-109, 118, 121-123, 127, 134, 140, 150-153, 187, 191, 211, 216, 221, 239, 240, 249 Inflammation 14, 15, 22, 23, 53, 122, 124, 137, 138, 157, 158, 164, 167, 168, 175-177, 180, 182, 191, 208, 221, 222

Inflammatory disease 2, 9, 10, 100, 134, 157, 158, 161, 163, 165, 239, 240, 249, 250

- Innate immunity 168
- Interferon (IFN) 22, 116, 118, 119, 121-124, 127, 134, 138, 161, 165
- Interleukin (IL) 5, 8, 22, 102, 116-124, 127, 134-136, 139, 158, 165, 166
- Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) 30, 36, 44-46, 50, 52, 53, 68, 81, 82, 91, 92, 95, 96, 100-109, 119-121, 127, 133-142, 158, 161, 163-169, 174, 181, 182, 193, 194, 219, 220, 222, 239-243, 245-254

Intravenous tolerability 241, 246, 254

Ischemia 174-179, 181, 187, 221, 222 Isotype 10, 19, 22, 27, 30, 31, 33, 34,

36, 45, 47, 50-52, 57, 93, 95, 100, 102, 106, 117, 120, 121, 125, 127, 146, 150, 151, 178, 199, 201, 202, 204, 205, 207, 208, 214, 222, 243, 244

## L

Lipid peroxidation 2, 3, 5, 9, 65

## Μ

Macrophage 7-9, 14-16, 18-22, 68, 77, 102, 105, 106, 116, 118, 120-123, 125, 136-138, 158, 161, 165, 187, 199 Malondialdehyde 3, 4, 8, 14, 16, 17 Mannose binding lectin (MBL) 16, 19-22, 179-181 Marginal zone B cell 29, 149, 176, 227, 233, 234 Membrane complement regulatory protein (mCRP) 38 CD35 (CR1) 38, 125, 175 CD46 (MCP) 20, 22, 38, 118, 121 CD55 (DAF) 20, 31, 35-38 CD59 (Protectin) 38 Membrane microdomain 53 Monoclonal gammopathy 48 Monocyte-derived dendritic cell (mo-DC) 134-137

Mother 29, 198, 200-205, 208-210 Multiple sclerosis (MS) 3, 44-50, 53, 118, 122, 125, 134, 208 Myelin 44, 47-50, 53, 63, 119, 125, 159, 208 Myosin 176, 177, 179

## Ν

Natural autoantibody 198, 201, 204, 205, 227-229, 232, 234-236 Negative selection 15, 17, 217, 222, 227, 230-232, 235 Neoepitope 84 Neuritis 46, 50 Neurodegenerative disorder 91, 96 Neutrophil 123-125, 157, 158, 161-165, 167-169, 181, 186, 187, 191, 194, 199, 221 Newborn 30, 117, 198, 200-205, 207-210, 230, 234 Nonmuscle myosin 176, 177, 179

## 0

Oligodendrocyte 47-51, 53 Oligomerization 76, 79, 86 Optic neuritis 46, 50 Oxidation 2-10, 16, 17, 81, 85, 178, 215, 221 Oxidation-specific epitope 2-10

## P

Peptide bond hydrolysis 64 Peritoneal B-1 cell 29, 127, 175, 176 Phagocytosis 14, 19-23, 77, 78, 81, 83-85, 87, 92, 94, 102, 117, 158, 187, 216 Phosphatidylserine 14, 15, 21, 78, 178 Phospholipid 4, 5, 7, 9, 14-19, 78, 149, 177-179, 182, 221 Phosphorylcholine 14, 15, 17, 18, 21, 147, 178 Plaque 9, 18, 91, 92, 94, 178 Polyreactivity 2, 6, 145-147, 153, 213 Polyspecificity 213, 214, 216-223 Positive selection 10, 147, 149, 208, 227, 229, 232, 236

### INDEX

Pre-B cell 147 receptor 60, 147 Protein topology 81 Proteolytic antibody 65

## R

Red blood cell (RBC) 15, 76-87, 228, 230, 239 Regulatory T cell (Treg) 133, 134, 139-142, 154, 199 Remyelination 44, 47-53 Reperfusion 174-179, 181, 187, 221, 222 Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) 102-104

## S

Senescent 15, 76-78, 80, 82-85, 117, 124, 239, 244 Sepsis 161, 162, 186, 187, 191, 193, 194, 222, 252 Serine protease 68 Siglec-8 157-160, 164-168 Siglec-9 157-168 Systemic inflammation 180 Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) 3, 18, 19, 118, 123, 134, 154

## Т

T-cell activation 93, 108, 133, 139 T-cell help 9, 93, 150, 152-154 Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) 47-50, 52 Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen (CD176) 31-37 Thy-1 (CD90) 147, 227-234, 236 Tissue 2, 3, 10, 22, 31, 32, 35, 36, 38, 44, 48-50, 53, 66, 69, 70, 76, 77, 84, 87, 93, 106, 117, 121, 124, 147, 157, 158, 161, 164, 165, 168, 174-182, 187, 210, 221, 222, 228, 229, 233, 239, 244, 248 Tolerance 14, 20, 21, 92, 121, 122, 124, 127, 145, 146, 148, 149, 151, 154, 217, 231, 235 Tregitope 141 Tumor-specific carbohydrate 31 Tumor surveillance 27, 28, 31, 33, 35, 39

## V

Vaccination 33, 39, 56, 58, 59, 67, 69-72, 103, 107, 122, 211, 215 Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) 63

Viral infection 100, 101, 109, 118, 122, 150